Advances in Polymer Science 287

R. Jayakumar M. Prabaharan *Editors* 

# Chitosan for Biomaterials III

Structure-Property Relationships



# **Advances in Polymer Science**

Volume 287

#### **Editorial Board Members**

Akihiro Abe, Tokyo Polytechnic University, Yokohama, Japan Ann-Christine Albertsson, KTH Royal Institute of Technology, Stockholm, Sweden Geoffrey W. Coates, Cornell University, Ithaca, NY, USA Jan Genzer, North Carolina State University, Raleigh, NC, USA Shiro Kobayashi, Kyoto Institute of Technology, Kyoto Sakyo-ku, Japan Kwang-Sup Lee, Hannam University, Daejeon, Korea (Republic of) Ludwik Leibler, Ecole Supèrieure de Physique et Chimie Industrielles (ESPCI), Paris, France Timothy E. Long, Virginia Tech, Blacksburg, VA, USA Martin Möller, RWTH Aachen DWI, Aachen, Germany Oguz Okay, Istanbul Technical University, Istanbul, Turkey Virgil Percec, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, USA Ben Zhong Tang, The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology (HKUST), Hong Kong, China Eugene M. Terentjev, University of Cambridge, Cambridge, UK Patrick Theato, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology (KIT), Karlsruhe, Germany Brigitte Voit, Leibniz Institute of Polymer Research Dresden (IPF), Dresden, Germany Ulrich Wiesner, Cornell University, Ithaca, NY, USA

Xi Zhang, Tsinghua University, Beijing, China

#### Aims and Scope

The series Advances in Polymer Science presents critical reviews of the present and future trends in polymer and biopolymer science. It covers all areas of research in polymer and biopolymer science including chemistry, physical chemistry, physics, and material science.

The thematic volumes are addressed to scientists, whether at universities or in industry, who wish to keep abreast of the important advances in the covered topics.

Advances in Polymer Science enjoys a longstanding tradition and good reputation in its community. Each volume is dedicated to a current topic, and each review critically surveys one aspect of that topic, to place it within the context of the volume. The volumes typically summarize the significant developments of the last 5 to 10 years and discuss them critically, presenting selected examples, explaining and illustrating the important principles, and bringing together many important references of primary literature. On that basis, future research directions in the area can be discussed. Advances in Polymer Science volumes thus are important references for every polymer scientist, as well as for other scientists interested in polymer science - as an introduction to a neighboring field, or as a compilation of detailed information for the specialist.

Review articles for the individual volumes are invited by the volume editors. Single contributions can be specially commissioned.

Readership: Polymer scientists, or scientists in related fields interested in polymer and biopolymer science, at universities or in industry, graduate students.

More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/12

R. Jayakumar • M. Prabaharan Editors

# Chitosan for Biomaterials III

Structure-Property Relationships

With contributions by

S. Amirthalingam  $\cdot$  M. Anraku  $\cdot$  N. Ashok  $\cdot$  K. Azuma  $\cdot$ 

P. Dandekar  $\cdot$  R. Desai  $\cdot$  P. K. Dutta  $\cdot$  C. D. Hoemann  $\cdot$ 

S. Ifuku  $\cdot$  R. Jain  $\cdot$  R. Jayakumar  $\cdot$  P. Mani  $\cdot$  M. Másson  $\cdot$ 

G. K. Mehrotra · L. S. Y. Nanduri · R. Pachpore · A. Patil ·

A. Pradeep · A. K. Rajendran · J. Rangasamy ·

G. -E. Rivard · M. Sankaran · M.-C. Shih · M. P. Subbaiah ·

W. Tachaboonyakiat  $\cdot$  C.-C. Tsai  $\cdot$  M.-L. Tsai  $\cdot$  S.-T. Wang  $\cdot$  S. Yadav



*Editors* R. Jayakumar Centre for Nanosciences and Molecular Medicine Amrita Vishwa Vidyapeetham (University) Kochi, India

M. Prabaharan Department of Chemistry Hindustan Institute of Technology and Science Padur, Chennai, India

 ISSN 0065-3195
 ISSN 1436-5030
 (electronic)

 Advances in Polymer Science
 ISBN 978-3-030-83806-5
 ISBN 978-3-030-83807-2
 (eBook)

 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-83807-2
 ISBN 978-3-030-83807-2
 (eBook)

 ${\ensuremath{\mathbb C}}$  The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are solely and exclusively licensed by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG. The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

### Preface

This volume summarizes the chemical modification, structure-property relationship, biological interaction and biomedical applications of chitosan and its derivatives. It consists of twelve chapters. Chapter "Perspectives and Challenges of Using Chitosan in Various Biological Applications" describes the perceptions and challenges of using chitosan and its derivatives in different biological applications, while the chapter "Review of the Structure of Chitosan in the Context of Other Sugar-Based Polymers" focuses on the structure and properties of chitosan and its interactions with other sugar polymers. Chapter "Synthesis & Modification Strategies of Chitosan and Its interaction with Metal Ions" deals with the interactions of chitosan-metal ions and their applications in wastewater treatment. Chapter "Synthesis-Structure Relationship of Chitosan Based Hydrogels" presents various methods that are employed in the preparation of chitosan-based hydrogels and the associated structural changes as well as their uses in drug delivery, haemostasis, tissue engineering and wound healing. Chapter "Antimicrobial Properties of Chitosan and Its Derivatives" describes the antimicrobial properties of chitosan and its derivatives, while the chapter "Flavor-Related Applications of Chitin and Chitosan in Foods: Effect of Structure and Properties on the Efficacy" explains the physicochemical properties and applications of chitin and chitosan as flavoring agents in the food industry. Chapter "Modified Chitosan Films/Coatings for Active Food Packaging" contains information on chemically modified chitosan films/ coatings and their structure-property relationship and uses as a green substitute for plastics. Chapter "Chitosan-Based Biosensor Fabrication and Biosensing Applications" provides different strategies of utilizing chitosan as a substrate for biosensors and the chapter "Physical and Chemical Modification of Chitin/Chitosan for Functional Wound Dressing" describes the physicochemical modification of chitin and chitosan for the effective wound healing processes. Chapter "Preparation of Chitin Nanofiber and Its Derivatives from Crab Shell and Their Efficient Biological Properties" contains information about the preparation of chitin nanofiber and its derivatives from crab shells and their biological properties, whereas the chapter "Chitosan-Platelet Interactions" describes in detail the chitosan-platelet interactions. Finally, the chapter "Chitosan-Stem Cell Interactions" summarizes the chitosan-stem cell interactions and their importance in regenerative medicine.

This volume of chapters will be highly helpful to researchers working in the field of biomaterials, biopolymers, polymer chemistry, materials science, drug delivery, tissue engineering, wound healing, biosensors, environmental science and wastewater research. The volume also offers a platform for all researchers to perform research on chitosan-based biomaterials mainly towards their structure, properties and biomedical applications. The volume of chapters also covers recent improvements in the area as well as projections about the future research and development of chitosan-based biomaterials.

Kochi, India Chennai, India R. Jayakumar M. Prabaharan

# Contents

Perspectives and Challenges of Using Chitosan in Various Biological Applications	1
Review of the Structure of Chitosan in the Context of Other Sugar-Based Polymers Ranjeet Desai, Radhika Pachpore, Ashwini Patil, Ratnesh Jain, and Prajakta Dandekar	23
Synthesis and Modification Strategies of Chitosan and Its Interactionwith Metal IonsMuthu Prabhu Subbaiah and Meenakshi Sankaran	75
Synthesis-Structure Relationship of Chitosan Based Hydrogels Nivethitha Ashok, Aathira Pradeep, and R. Jayakumar	105
Antimicrobial Properties of Chitosan and Its Derivatives	131
Flavor-Related Applications of Chitin and Chitosan in Foods: Effect of Structure and Properties on the Efficacy	169
Modified Chitosan Films/Coatings for Active Food Packaging P. K. Dutta, Srasti Yadav, and G. K. Mehrotra	203
<b>Chitosan-Based Biosensor Fabrication and Biosensing Applications</b> Sivashanmugam Amirthalingam and Jayakumar Rangasamy	233
Physical and Chemical Modification of Chitin/Chitosan for FunctionalWound DressingsWanpen Tachaboonyakiat	257

Preparation of Chitin Nanofiber and Its Derivatives from Crab Shell	
and Their Efficient Biological Properties	301
Shinsuke Ifuku, Makoto Anraku, and Kazuo Azuma	
Chitosan–Platelet Interactions C. D. Hoemann and GE. Rivard	319
Chitosan–Stem Cell Interactions	343

Adv Polym Sci (2021) 287: 1–22 https://doi.org/10.1007/12\_2021\_107 © The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 Published online: 5 August 2021

# Perspectives and Challenges of Using Chitosan in Various Biological Applications



Sivashanmugam Amirthalingam, Arun Kumar Rajendran, Prabaharan Mani, and Jayakumar Rangasamy

#### Contents

1	Intro	duction	2
2	Current Status and Challenges of Using Chitosan and Its Derivatives		
	2.1	Chitosan in Biosensor Applications	3
	2.2	Application of Chitosan in Food Coating	4
	2.3	Chitosan in Drug Delivery Applications	5
	2.4	Chitosan in Antimicrobial Applications	7
	2.5	Chitosan in Wound Dressing Application	9
	2.6	Chitosan in Hemostatic Applications	11
	2.7	Applications of Chitosan in Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine	12
3	Conc	lusion	14
Re	ferenc	es	14

Abstract Chitosan is a cationic biopolymer that is derived from chitin by the alkaline deacetylation technique. It has randomly distributed D-glucosamine and N-Acetyl-D-glucosamine units in its backbone. Due to the presence of primary hydroxyl and amino groups, chitosan can be modified into various derivatives with desired functionalities. Chitosan and its derivatives are considered as potential biomaterials to be utilized in various biological applications because of their easy availability, nontoxicity, biocompatibility, biodegradability, and gelling properties. This chapter provides a detailed review on the current status and challenges of using chitosan-based materials as biosensors, food coatings, drug delivery carriers,

P. Mani

Sivashanmugam Amirthalingam and Arun Kumar Rajendran contributed equally to this work.

S. Amirthalingam, A. K. Rajendran, and J. Rangasamy (🖂)

Centre for Nanosciences and Molecular Medicine, Amrita Vishwa Vidyapeetham, Kochi, India e-mail: rjayakumar@aims.amrita.edu

Department of Chemistry, Hindustan Institute of Technology and Science, Chennai, India

antimicrobial agents, wound dressings, hemostatic agents, and tissue engineering scaffolds.

Keywords Antimicrobial  $\cdot$  Biosensors  $\cdot$  Chitosan  $\cdot$  Hemostatic  $\cdot$  Tissue engineering  $\cdot$  Wound dressings

#### 1 Introduction

Chitosan is one of the biopolymers which can be extracted in large amounts in an environmentally viable manner for biological applications [1]. Chitosan is majorly obtained by processing the shellfish wastes, such as shells of crabs, shrimp, and squids [2]. Chitosan can be further processed to obtain various derivatives such as carboxymethyl chitosan, oxidized chitosan, deaminated chitosan, and so on [3, 4]. The basic structural unit such as N-acetyl D-glucosamine present in chitosan is one of the major components of the mammalian extracellular matrix (ECM) [5, 6]. Due to this advantage chitosan and derivatives can be processed for biological and biomedical applications. Another major advantage of chitosan and its products is that they can be processed into various forms such as powders, flakes, membranes, sponges, fibers, and hydrogels (Fig. 1) [5–9]. Furthermore, chitosan and its derivatives have various useful biological properties such as bioadhesion, biocompatibility, antimicrobial effect, and enhanced wound healing ability once placed in a biological system, thus proving to be an excellent biomaterial [10-13]. This chapter describes briefly the perspectives of chitosan and its derivatives in real-world applications and the challenges that are present to overcome.



Fig. 1 Schematic showing various ways in which chitosan can be processed into various forms

#### 2 Current Status and Challenges of Using Chitosan and Its Derivatives

#### 2.1 Chitosan in Biosensor Applications

Recent years have seen a remarkable interest in the biosensing field with applications toward environmental monitoring, food processing, agricultural practices, and medical products [14-16]. In the preparation of an effective and reliable biosensor, immobilization of biological response elements (BRE) onto the biosensor is very critical for providing a suitable concentration of BREs immobilization and its specificity [17]. In this aspect, chitosan and its nanocomposites act as suitable immobilization surfaces. Chitosan, an aminoglucopyran, is a biocompatible, biodegradable, and gellable polymer [6, 7]. The presence of amino and hydroxyl groups in chitosan provides crosslinking moieties for immobilizing BREs onto the chitosan substrate [7, 18]. Another aspect of chitosan is that it can be easily processed into the hydrogel, providing a 3D architecture for immobilization of BREs and stability for immobilized BREs [7]. Additionally, chitosan could be utilized in a dry environment, wherein chitosan can be processed into a 3D dry scaffold, with the pore size in the range of microns. The porous structure provides an additional advantage of increasing the specific surface area of the chitosan scaffold, thereby providing more room for the BRE immobilization. Increasing the concentration of BREs per unit volume would be advantageous in the biosensor, as it would provide amplification of the output signal [5, 19] (Fig. 2).

Chitosan can be coated onto the electrode surface by simple dip-coating, as chitosan can be dissolved in acidic pH and regenerates into a hydrogel mass in pH 7–9 [7, 20]. Alternatively, spin-coating and layer-by-layer technique, thus helping to achieve a thin and dense layer of chitosan coating [21, 22]. Unfortunately, these methods are suitable for coating onto a smooth surface of the electrode, as a coating in a complex and porous electrode would result in local accumulation and uneven coating [8]. To circumvent these problems, chitosan can be deposited onto



Fig. 2 Advantages of using chitosan in biosensor applications

electrode through electrodeposition. Wu et al. showed spatial-selective deposition of chitosan on to gold band electrode with a resolution of the coating 20  $\mu$ m [23]. With further optimization, Buckhout-White et al. presented the resolution of electrodeposition technique could be achieved as low as 0.5–1  $\mu$ m [24]. Thus, the electrodeposition technique could be utilized to coat the miniature electrodes including micro- and nano-arrayed electrodes, which are not realizable in the conventional coating techniques.

Besides utilizing pristine chitosan as the immobilization surface, nanocomposite chitosan has been utilized as it could provide higher electrical conductivity and surface uniformity than pristine chitosan [25, 26]. Here, chitosan would act as a substrate matrix and as a nanomaterial carrier. Nanomaterials such as carbon nanotubes, graphene, and carbon nanodots are hydrophobic, however, they get homogenously dispersed in the chitosan matrix, thereby proving stability to the biosensor [8, 27]. Thus, nanocomposite chitosan substrate opens the possibilities for high-performance biosensors.

Many studies have shown the use of chitosan-based biosensor with BRE as DNA [28–31], enzyme [32–34], antibody [35–37], and aptamers [38]. Recent studies have indicated that the incorporation of nanomaterials with chitosan could exhibit sensitivity and specificity in electrochemical biosensing without the use of BREs [18]. Mane et al. reported an atropine biosensor, coating made of single-walled carbon nanotube (SWCNTs) dispersed in chitosan matrix on to glassy carbon electrode [39]. Similarly, the chitosan-graphite composite showed detection specificity for dopamine [40]. These studies indicate that the nanocomposite chitosan could acquire new chemo-physical properties, which are based on the inclusion of the nanomaterial onto the chitosan. Furthermore, Al-Mokaram et al. reported non-enzymatic glucose biosensor based on chitosan-Iron oxide-polypyrrole nanocomposite coating [41]. These approaches open a new window of BRE-free biosensors.

Chitosan is bio-compatible biodegradable and cost-effective polymer. It's physical properties could be tuned based on the requirements for biosensing applications. However, more detailed studies should be focused on the stability of biosensors for a long-time application in field-conditions, which lack sophisticated facilities and have harsh environment conditions, large temperature variations, and humidity variations. Thus, the ultimate goal of developing chitosan-based biosensors should be engrossed to improve the sensitivity and specificity of competitive commercial products.

#### 2.2 Application of Chitosan in Food Coating

Coatings are defined as coherent layers of coating material onto the substrate, either directly onto the consumable food as an edible coating or onto the surface of packaging material to functionalize them [42, 43]. In edible coating, chitosan has been widely studied as an active coating material for extending the shelf-life of food

products, especially fruits, vegetables, meat, and so on [43]. The coatings are applied directly onto the food product as a film by dip-coating, brushing, spraying, or fluidizing [44]. Chitosan coating in vegetables and fruits can reduce water loss, delay ripening, and decay [45–50]. In the case of chitosan coating in meat products, the coating can improve the meat quality by preventing moisture loss, reducing lipid oxidation and discoloration, and increasing the product appearance [51–53]. The coating could also act as a carrier for functional food additives. Additionally, chitosan coating could act as a gaseous exchange barrier [54], antimicrobial property of chitosan could hinder microbial growth and these properties could synergistically enhance the shelf-life of the coated food products [51, 53].

Current studies showed that addition of functional compounds such as antimicrobial and antioxidant agents onto chitosan coating not only helps in water loss and retard decay but also enhances the intrinsic antimicrobial property. The functional active compounds, such as a natural extract from plants, phenolic extract, or essential oils, would provide antimicrobial, antioxidant properties and enhance the food taste, thus improving shell-life for the food product and functional quality of it [47, 53]. This is attractive against conventional coating, as they would help in water loss and prevent the decaying of food products [55]. Additionally, edible chitosan coating plays a very important role in ecologically responsive packing [19]. Moreover, there is an increasing number of consumers looking for greener product coating and, in this aspect, chitosan coating is attractive (Table 1).

Chitosan as an active coating material for food products has been extensively studied for improving the shelf-life of the food products, as chitosan is regarded as a generally recognized as safe (GRAS) material by the United States Food and Drug Administration (US FDA) and its intrinsic bioactive properties. However, their performance in terms of mechanical, thermal, and water seepage properties needs to be improved for commercial viable usage. Blends and composite, including nanocomposite coatings, have been explored and need improvisation in mechanical properties [43, 56, 57]. For cost-effectiveness, chitosan with green plasticizers (glycerol, xylitol, sorbitol, and choline) [43, 58] could be explored as it is a promising technology that helps to take the materials at the industrial level and provides mechanical and thermal properties to chitosan.

#### 2.3 Chitosan in Drug Delivery Applications

Drug delivery system is principally consisting of one or more active pharmaceutical agents with a suitable carrier. The first critical factor is to achieve the drug concentration in the therapeutic window, which could be addressed through the usage of carrier polymer. As mentioned earlier, chitosan is regarded as GRAS by US FDA. Chitosan could be easily modified, as it has hydroxyl and amino groups in its structure. Functionalization of chitosan in the –OH and –NH<sub>2</sub> groups would result in N-modified, O-modified, and N, O-modified chitosan which would have

Food products	Functional materials	Storage conditions (°C)	Advantages	Refs.
Tomato	Pomegranate peel extract (PPE)	23 and 4	Tomatoes coated with chitosan containing PPE improved post-harvest quality at room and cold temperature storage	[45]
Cashew nuts	Mango leaf extract (MLE)	23	Indicated higher oxidation resistance, hydrophobicity, tensile strength com- pared to commercial polyethylene films. The addition of MLE provided anti- oxidative properties	[46]
Broccoli	Essential oils and bioactive compounds	5–7	Pristine chitosan or functional active product enriched chitosan showed reduced mesophilic and psychrotrophic populations. The coating didn't affect the food taste quality	[47]
Guava	PPE	10	Coating with PPE enriched chitosan found to be most effective in maintaining the overall quality of guavas for up to 20 days at 10°C storage	[48]
Cape gooseberry	Rue essential oil	$18 \pm 2$	Coating with rue essential oil enriched chitosan reduced the weight loss and retarded the microbial growth up to 12 days than control	[49]
Fresh-cut apples	Ascorbic acid	5	Coating with chitosan and ascorbic acid reduced browning, retained flesh firmness and held the phenolic contents	[50]
Chicken wingettes	Eugenol	4	Chitosan coating fortified with eugenol effectively reduced <i>C. jejuni</i> and aerobic bacterial contamination	[51]
Fresh chicken meat	Artemisia fragrans essen- tial oil (AFEO)	4	Coated samples showed higher phenolic contents and organoleptic contents. The coating also inhibited antimicrobial growth, thiobarbituric acid reactive sub- stances, and total volatile base nitrogen	[52]
Pork chops	Green tea aque- ous extract	0	Green tea extract inclusion in chitosan reduced pH, lipid oxidation, color change, and microbial load	[53]

Table 1 Chitosan edible coatings on vegetables, fruits, and meat products

numerous physio-chemical properties and improved biological activities [3, 59, 60]. For example, quaternized and phosphorylated chitosan has enhanced antimicrobial and solubility properties compared to pristine chitosan, whereas thiolated chitosan has shown improved mucoadhesive properties. Sulfated chitosan has been shown to increase the growth factor binding, whereas N, O-carboxymethyl chitosan is shown to dissolve in neutral pH [3, 59]. Non-selective N, O-modification in chitosan can be achieved by an electrophilic substitution reaction. Selective O-modification in chitosan is achieved by using acids, as the acids protonate the

amino group, thereby providing the -OH group to undergo modification, whereas N-modification in chitosan is achieved by protecting the hydroxyl group [61]. Various modified chitosan and its synthesis route are depicted in Fig. 3. Chitosan NPs could be prepared in numerous methods including ionotropic gelation, microemulsion, co-precipitation, emulsion-coalescence, polyelectrolyte complexation, solvent evaporation, spraying drying, and high-pressure homogenization [59, 61]. Selection of the nanoparticle preparation method solely relies on end-product characteristics such as particle size and its size distribution range, stability, drug release kinetics, and particle shape. The ionotropic gelation method involves the usage of anionic crosslinkers such as sodium tripolyphosphate (STPP), which forms amphoteric ion-pair with chitosan [62, 63]. The molar ratio of chitosan and STPP would control the mean particle size, distribution, and drug release kinetics. One of the limitations of using this method is that chitosan NPs are relatively unstable in acidic pH and have poor drug loading capacity for large molecular weight drug payloads [64, 65]. Thus, depending on the end-product, the chitosan NPs synthesis method could be appropriately selected.

The therapeutic efficacy of the developed drug delivery system mainly relies on pharmacokinetics, tissue absorption, and metabolism. In this aspect, many studies have indicated the pharmacokinetic advantages for chitosan NPs over other polymeric NPs [66-68]. For instance, El-Shabouri found that chitosan NPs showed the highest  $C_{\text{max}}$  compared to gelatin and glycocholate NPs for cyclosporine-A delivery [68]. Recent studies have focused on stimuli-responsive drug delivery, wherein the microenvironment-triggered [69–71] or external stimuli-responsive [72, 73] delivery systems could be designed. These systems would help in achieving higher therapeutic dose at the site of requirement, thus alleviating the disease condition at the earliest [74]. Targeted drug delivery [75–78] and theragnostic [79, 80] applications using chitosan have been explored. All the studies have looked at improving the bio-distribution, drug release kinetics, and targeting. A chitosan-based nasal formulation of morphine (Rylomine<sup>TM</sup>), as an absorption enhancer, is currently in clinical trials [81, 82]. We expect that Rylomine<sup>™</sup> would go to the market soon and it would pave a path for other chitosan-based formulations to reach for clinical use, as it can help in discerning any unanticipated concerns in clinical use. We look forward to future works focusing on the long-term toxicity effects of the chitosan NPs. Most of the in vivo studies show the bioavailability and biocompatibility for 2-4 days after the administration. This is not sufficient for the long-circulating NPs to fully represent the drug distribution and the biodegradation in such a short time.

#### 2.4 Chitosan in Antimicrobial Applications

Tackling and reducing microbial infections is one of the major treatment protocols in modern medicine. Humankind has been in continuous search of newer molecules aiding in antimicrobial activity to treat various infections, to be used as prophylaxis and to sterilize the surfaces [83]. Among various antimicrobial agents, the





antimicrobial properties of chitosan have been long known and have been potentially utilized in various forms and formulations [11, 13]. Chitosan has been prepared in the form of films, sponges, nanoparticles, fiber sheets, gels, and 3D printed hydrogels [6, 84–87]. The properties such as bioadhesiveness and biodegradability further add a great advantage to chitosan-based products to be used as antimicrobials. It has been known that chitosan by itself can act as an antibacterial agent [88, 89]. This occurs mainly due to the electrostatic interaction of cations of chitosan with the anionic walls of gram-positive bacteria. This binding onto bacterial cell walls can inactivate the bacterial proteins, cause DNA damage, rupture the cell wall, and lead to cell death. In gram-negative bacterial species, chitosan can block the nutrient channels in the cell wall, thus cutting off the nutrition and leading to the death of bacterial cells [90]. Furthermore, chitosan has been formulated along with different antimicrobial agents such as tetracycline, amphotericin B, lysostaphin, silver, copper ions, zinc oxide, and iron oxide [91-96]. For example, micro and NPs of chitosan loaded with curcumin have shown good efficacy against Staphylococcus aureus and Pseudomonas aeruginosa [97]. Chitosan has also been utilized to deliver chlorhexidine in the intracanal spaces of the tooth to successfully combat Enterococcus faecalis [98]. In recent years, improvements have also been made to impart antibacterial as well as antimycotic activity in chitosan formulations. For example, both ciprofloxacin and fluconazole have been loaded into chitosan ban-

Although chitosan has great potential by itself to act as an antimicrobial agent and a very good carrier to deliver various antibiotics and antimycotics, there are few bottlenecks to overcome in practical scenarios. It has been found that chitosan's antimicrobial effect is most pronounced in pH below 6 [13]. Although this could be advantageous in some of the localized infections where the microenvironmental pH is known to be acidic, chronic wounds tend to be in alkaline pH, where the real potential of chitosan could be hindered [100]. To overcome this, chemical modifications are required, so that chitosan can act at very wide ranges of pH. Also, it has been noted that the antimicrobial effect of chitosan depends on its molecular weight. Therefore, a batch-wise strict control of the molecular weight of chitosan in largescale productions is required to achieve the maximum effect. The methods to improve the narrow molecular weight distributions during production and further processing should be taken care of. Furthermore, a small percentage of people can elicit allergic responses when in contact with chitosan due to its origin. When these bottlenecks have been overcome, chitosan-based antimicrobial medical devices would have great reach among the masses.

#### 2.5 Chitosan in Wound Dressing Application

dages to provide multi-microbial efficacy [99].

Wounds are a very common issue in day-to-day life, occurring almost to everyone. Based on the origin of the wound, wounds can be classified as superficial, incised, crush, lacerated, stab, contused, and secondary wounds [101]. Generally, wounds



Fig. 4 Schematic describing some of the major advantages of chitosan-based wound dressing materials

can arise through either trauma or pathological conditions. Almost in every case, to have uneventful healing, a wound dressing material is required. Wound dressings can play a very important role in wound healing such as protecting the wound, from further damage, preventing the microbial contamination of the wound, acting as hemostatic by stopping the bleeding thereby preventing blood loss, absorbing the wound exudates, providing a moist environment for the underlying tissues and can also deliver medicinal components to rapidly heal [6, 12, 101, 102]. The search for a versatile material that could aid in the above-mentioned functions is always on the research. One such material that could be utilized in different forms is chitosan and its derivatives. As described earlier, the biodegradable biopolymer chitosan is made up of a component of human ECM glycosaminoglycan that can be very beneficial in wound healing [9].

Chitosan and derivatives can be formed into porous sponges, membranes, or sheets in varied sizes so that they can be easily applied over the wound surface. The inherent bioadhesiveness of the chitosan, when hydrated, is very advantageous as the dressing material can attach itself to the wound surface without any external aid [10, 12] (Fig. 4). Furthermore, the sponge form of chitosan-based wound dressings can easily absorb the exudates several times their dry weight, due to the porous nature [103]. After absorbing the excess of exudates, the chitosan-based wound dressing materials can act as a hydrogel and could also maintain the moist environment for the underlying tissue, thus helping in the growth of new tissue, by preventing the drying out of the wound [104]. Chitosan-based wound dressings biodegrade into n-acetyl glucosamine, which can be utilized by the newly forming tissues to create a new ECM, thus reducing the scarring. Chitosan and its derivativesbased wound dressings have also been loaded with various antimicrobials such as tetracycline, ciprofloxacin, thymol, naproxen, silver sulfadiazine. silver nanoparticles, copper, and glucan [91, 95, 99, 105–108]. Apart from all these advantages, chitosan is derived majorly from waste shells of crabs, shrimps, and squid, thus reducing the cost to the end-user. However, one of the serious issues that are associated with the use of chitosan and derivatives for wound dressing is that chitosan can elicit immune responses in some individuals. Being in very close contact with the open tissues where the chitosan will be in close contact with the immune cells, it should be taken care that proper sensitivity tests carried out to rule out the possible allergic reactions before applying to people. Furthermore, modifications can also be done to chitosan-based products like coating with other polymers such as hyaluronic acid, PEG, and so forth, so that the immunogenicity is reduced, thus proving a safe and wide use.

#### 2.6 Chitosan in Hemostatic Applications

Hemostats are very vital components in first aid and also during various surgical procedures. Hemostats are agents that can arrest the bleeding in a very short period, preferable in seconds to minutes and maintaining the seal of the ruptured blood vessel, thus preventing a life-threatening condition [109]. Blood loss due to rupture of blood vessels can occur in various instances such as surgery, road traffic accidents, workplace mishaps, trauma, battle wounds, animal attacks, and natural disasters [110]. A good hemostat that could reduce the bleeding time and stabilize the blood vessel rupture even a few seconds faster could save an individual's life. A good hemostat should be easy and ready to apply, should preferably adhere to the bleeding surface, should rapidly induce the clotting of blood, should hold the blood clot together in place, thus preventing delayed bleeding, preferably should form a good seal for the ruptured blood vessel and also it will be an added advantage if it could also seal the wound, thus preventing contaminations and infections and also does not interfere in the wound healing process [111, 112].

Chitosan-based hemostats have been researched extensively so that at present there are numerous hemostats available commercially, some even recognized for military uses [110, 113]. Chitosan has an excellent blood clotting ability by itself, owing to its polycationic chemical composition. The presence of numerous amino groups, that has positive charges, can easily interact with the negatively charged blood cells such as platelets and red blood cells and initiate the blood clotting cascade (Fig. 5) [114]. The very common form of chitosan-based hemostat is the dry chitosan flakes or powders that can be rapidly applied to a variety of wounds. Such chitosan flakes or powders, due to the ability to absorb and swell up, can easily plug and seal deep wounds and form an artificial clot-like structure upon contact with blood. Various other forms such as gauzes, gels, hydrogels, sponges have also been used as hemostats [115]. Various researchers have tried to improve the blood clotting ability of chitosan-based hemostats through chemical modifications such as adjusting the degree of deacetylation, crosslinking with glutamic and aspartic acid, combining with alginic acid, zeolite, zinc ions, cellulose, kaolin, graphene oxide,



nemostatic action by chitosan based products

Fig. 5 Schematic showing the various modes of action of chitosan-based hemostats

and gelatin [116–122]. Recently developed chitosan-based injectable hydrogel containing potassium aluminium sulfate as a vasoconstrictor and calcium chloride as a coagulation activator was able to rapidly stop the femoral artery hemorrhage as quick as  $105 \pm 31$  s in rat models. Furthermore, it was able to control the bleeding from the rat liver puncture model within  $20 \pm 10$  s of application, thus proving to be a great hemostatic agent [123]. With further improvements in the chitosan hemostatic formulations such as the incorporation of molecules that aid in blood clotting, adding components that could form a very tight adhesive seal of the arteries we could expect much more rapid hemostats in the future. Further, newer formulations such as gels, injectable hydrogels, superabsorbent gellable powders would help the common people and clinicians in stopping the bleeding and saving lives.

#### 2.7 Applications of Chitosan in Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine

Tissue engineering and regenerative medicine are some of the rapidly growing fields in medicine to improve the quality of life of people suffering from loss of tissue due to various reasons such as trauma, pathological tissue removals, cancers, and developmental anomalies [124]. Biomaterials that could aid in tissue regeneration and provide rapid and uneventful healing are on continuous exploration. Among the current biodegradable biopolymeric biomaterials, chitosan and its derivatives seem to be a great option when considering various advantages such as unlimited and ecologically friendly source as it is derived from shellfish waste, large-scale production, easy processability into different forms, the ability to incorporate various chemical functionalities, the versatility to load and blend different polymers and



**Fig. 6** Schematic listing the various advantages of utilizing chitosan and its derivatives for tissue engineering and regenerative medicine applications. Green boxes show the physical and chemical advantages and the orange boxes show the biological advantages

drugs and most of all the biodegradation product results in N-acetyl D-glucosamine which can be utilized by human cells to produce ECM (Fig. 6) [1, 2].

Chitosan when processed in certain ways, such as sponges, can give rise to porous structures which would help the cells to move in, attach themselves, and act as a great scaffold for new tissue to be formed [125]. Chitosan scaffolds have been used as a successful aid for almost all sorts of tissue regeneration such as skin, bone, tendon, cartilage, cardiac tissues, neurons, dental pulp, and periodontium [126– 133]. The physicochemical and biological properties of chitosan and its derivatives-based scaffolds can be greatly enhanced for tissue engineering and regenerative medicine by blending with different biopolymers such as alginate, hyaluronic acid, chondroitin sulfate, collagen, gelatin, fibrin, synthetic polymers such as poly(glycolic acid), poly(lactic acid), poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid), poly (caprolactone), poly(hydroxybutyrate), poly(vinyl alcohol), and so on [125]. For utilizing the chitosan-based scaffolds in bone regeneration bioceramics such as calcium sulfate, calcium phosphate, hydroxyapatite, bioglass, and so forth have been tried upon and shown to have a good potential [134-136]. Similarly, electrically conductive components such as graphene oxide, carbon, nanotubes, gold and silver NPs, and polypyrrole have been added and utilized greatly for tissue engineering of electrically conductive tissues such as neurons, muscles, and heart [7, 137]. Researchers have also successfully loaded a variety of growth factors, peptides, and small molecules such as FGF, VEGF, BMP-2, CEMP1, NGF, RGD, PTH derived peptides, dexamethasone, and ascorbic acid for enhancing regeneration of specific tissues [6, 127, 133, 138, 139]. The ability of chitosan to be processed into injectable hydrogels, even along with the bioceramics and other components, is one of the greatest advantages so that it could be injected easily into the defects through small surgical keyholes, having a great defect filling and adaption to the defect margins thus providing a perfect continuous bridge for the cells and nutrients to migrate into the scaffold and resulting in better healing [140]. Some researchers have even utilized chitosan to deliver DNA and RNA to enhance tissue regeneration [141, 142]. Thus, if the processing methods to reduce the batch to batch variations of chitosan, strict control of the molecular weight of chitosan, strategies to reduce the allergic responses in some people are improved, chitosan would prove as a great viable material to be utilized in the field of tissue engineering and regenerative medicine in the upcoming years.

#### 3 Conclusion

In this chapter, we have provided a brief overview of the current status and challenges in using chitosan for biosensing, active food packaging, drug delivery antimicrobial, wound healing, hemostatic, tissue engineering, and regenerative medicine applications. In summary, the future potential of chitosan in various biomedical applications is very promising. The increased interest in chitosan has also driven the expansion of chitosan industries. Currently, many chitosan-based products are available in the market for hemostatic and wound healing applications. In the similar line, commercial utilization of chitosan in other fields would also be anticipated in near future. We believe that a serious awareness of the emergence of protocols in assessing the quality of chitosan could increase the momentum of chitosan usage in various biological applications.

#### References

- El Knidri H, Belaabed R, Addaou A, Laajeb A, Lahsini A (2018) Extraction, chemical modification and characterization of chitin and chitosan. Int J Biol Macromol 120:1181–1189
- Abhinaya M, Parthiban R, Kumar PS, Vo DN (2021) A review on cleaner strategies for extraction of chitosan and its application in toxic pollutant removal. Environ Res 196:110996
- Tharanathan RN, Kittur FS (2003) Chitin-the undisputed biomolecule of great potential. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr 43:61–87
- 4. Wang WQ, Meng QY, Li Q, Liu JB, Zhou M, Jin Z, Zhao K (2020) Chitosan derivatives and their application in biomedicine. Int J Mol Sci 21:487
- Deepthi S, Venkatesan J, Kim SK, Bumgardner JD, Jayakumar R (2016) An overview of chitin or chitosan/nano ceramic composite scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. Int J Biol Macromol 93:1338–1353
- Anitha A, Sowmya S, Kumar PTS, Deepthi S, Chennazhi KP, Ehrlich H, Tsurkan M, Jayakumar R (2014) Chitin and chitosan in selected biomedical applications. Prog Polym Sci 39:1644–1667
- Baranwal A, Kumar A, Priyadharshini A, Oggu GS, Bhatnagar I, Srivastava A, Chandra P (2018) Chitosan: an undisputed bio-fabrication material for tissue engineering and bio-sensing applications. Int J Biol Macromol 110:110–123

- 8. Koev ST, Dykstra PH, Luo X, Rubloff GW, Bentley WE, Payne GF, Ghodssi R (2010) Chitosan: an integrative biomaterial for lab-on-a-chip devices. Lab Chip 10:3026–3042
- 9. Kumar MNVR (2000) A review of chitin and chitosan applications. React Funct Polym  $46{:}1{-}27$
- Sanandiya ND, Lee S, Rho S, Lee H, Kim IS, Hwang DS (2019) Tunichrome-inspired pyrogallol functionalized chitosan for tissue adhesion and hemostasis. Carbohydr Polym 208:77–85
- Moeini A, Pedram P, Makvandi P, Malinconico M, Gomez d'Ayala G (2020) Wound healing and antimicrobial effect of active secondary metabolites in chitosan-based wound dressings: a review. Carbohydr Polym 233:115839
- Miguel SP, Moreira AF, Correia IJ (2019) Chitosan based-asymmetric membranes for wound healing: a review. Int J Biol Macromol 127:460–475
- Sahariah P, Masson M (2017) Antimicrobial chitosan and chitosan derivatives: a review of the structure-activity relationship. Biomacromolecules 18:3846–3868
- Kirsch J, Siltanen C, Zhou Q, Revzin A, Simonian A (2013) Biosensor technology: recent advances in threat agent detection and medicine. Chem Soc Rev 42:8733–8768
- 15. Bhavaniramya S, Vanajothi R, Vishnupriya S, Premkumar K, Al-Aboody MS, Vijayakumar R, Baskaran D (2019) Enzyme immobilization on nanomaterials for biosensor and biocatalyst in food and biomedical industry. Curr Pharm Design 25:2661–2676
- Nakamura H (2018) Current status of water environment and their microbial biosensor techniques – part II: recent trends in microbial biosensor development. Anal Bioanal Chem 410:3967–3989
- 17. Lowe CR (1985) An introduction to the concepts and technology of biosensors. Biosensors 1:3–16
- Jiang Y, Wu J (2019) Recent development in chitosan nanocomposites for surface-based biosensor applications. Electrophoresis 40:2084–2097
- Alvarado N, Abarca RL, Linares-Flores C (2021) Two fascinating polysaccharides: chitosan and starch. Some prominent characterizations for applying as eco-friendly food packaging and pollutant remover in aqueous medium. Progress in recent years: a review. Polymers 13:1737
- Mohandas A, Sun W, Nimal TR, Shankarappa SA, Hwang NS, Jayakumar R (2018) Injectable chitosan-fibrin/nanocurcumin composite hydrogel for the enhancement of angiogenesis. Res Chem Intermediat 44:4873–4887
- 21. Zhang D, Sun Y, Wu Q, Ma PY, Zhang H, Wang YP, Song DQ (2016) Enhancing sensitivity of surface plasmon resonance biosensor by Ag nanocubes/chitosan composite for the detection of mouse IgG. Talanta 146:364–368
- 22. Pedano ML, Martel L, Desbrieres J, Defrancq E, Dumy P, Coche-Guerente L, Labbe P, Legrand JF, Calemczuk R, Rivas GA (2004) Layer-by-layer deposition of chitosan derivatives and DNA on gold surfaces for the development of biorecognition layers. Anal Lett 37:2235–2250
- Wu LQ, Gadre AP, Yi HM, Kastantin MJ, Rubloff GW, Bentley WE, Payne GF, Ghodssi R (2002) Voltage-dependent assembly of the polysaccharide chitosan onto an electrode surface. Langmuir 18:8620–8625
- Buckhout-White SL, Rubloff GW (2009) Spatial resolution in chitosan-based programmable biomolecular scaffolds. Soft Matter 5:5044–5044
- Ates M (2013) A review study of (bio) sensor systems based on conducting polymers. Mat Sci Eng C-Mater 33:1853–1859
- Hassanein A, Salahuddin N, Matsuda A, Kawamura G, Elfiky M (2017) Fabrication of biosensor based on chitosan-ZnO/polypyrrole nanocomposite modified carbon paste electrode for electroanalytical application. Mat Sci Eng C-Mater 80:494–501
- George SM, Tandon S, Kandasubramanian B (2020) Advancements in hydrogelfunctionalized immunosensing platforms. ACS Omega 5:2060–2068

- Heydarzadeh S, Roshanfekr H, Peyman H, Kashanian S (2020) Modeling of ultrasensitive DNA hybridization detection based on gold nanoparticles/carbon-nanotubes/chitosan-modified electrodes. Colloid Surf A 587:124219
- Qian P, Ai SY, Yin HS, Li JH (2010) Evaluation of DNA damage and antioxidant capacity of sericin by a DNA electrochemical biosensor based on dendrimer-encapsulated Au-Pd/chitosan composite. Microchim Acta 168:347–354
- 30. Qian XC, Qu Q, Li L, Ran X, Zuo LM, Huang R, Wang Q (2018) Ultrasensitive electrochemical detection of *clostridium perfringens* DNA based morphology-dependent DNA adsorption properties of CeO<sub>2</sub> nanorods in dairy products. Sensors 18:1878
- 31. Xu SC, Zhang YY, Dong K, Wen JN, Zheng CM, Zhao SH (2017) Electrochemical DNA biosensor based on graphene oxide-chitosan hybrid nanocomposites for detection of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. Int J Electrochem Sci 12:3443–3458
- 32. Devaraj M, Rajendran S, Jebaranjitham JN, Ranjithkumar D, Sathiyaraj M, Manokaran J, Sundaravadivel E, Santhanalakshmi J, Ponce LC (2020) Horseradish peroxidase-immobilized graphene oxide-chitosan gold nanocomposites as highly sensitive electrochemical biosensor for detection of hydrogen peroxide. J Electrochem Soc 167:147517
- 33. Juska VB, Pemble ME (2020) A dual-enzyme, micro-band array biosensor based on the electrodeposition of carbon nanotubes embedded in chitosan and nanostructured Au-foams on microfabricated gold band electrodes. Analyst 145:402–414
- 34. Kim HS, Lee JS, Il Kim M (2020) Poly-gamma-glutamic acid/chitosan hydrogel nanoparticles entrapping glucose oxidase and magnetic nanoparticles for glucose biosensing. J Nanosci Nanotechnol 20:5333–5337
- 35. Devarakonda S, Singh R, Bhardwaj J, Jang J (2017) Cost-effective and handmade paper-based immunosensing device for electrochemical detection of influenza virus. Sensors 17:2597
- Sarkar T, Bohidar HB, Solanki PR (2018) Carbon dots-modified chitosan based electrochemical biosensing platform for detection of vitamin D. Int J Biol Macromol 109:687–697
- Soares AC, Soares JC, Rodrigues VC, Oliveira ON, Mattoso LHC (2020) Controlled molecular architectures in microfluidic immunosensors for detecting *Staphylococcus aureus*. Analyst 145:6014–6023
- Hills KD, Oliveira DA, Cavallaro ND, Gomes CL, McLamore ES (2018) Actuation of chitosan-aptamer nanobrush borders for pathogen sensing. Analyst 143:1650–1661
- 39. Mane S, Narmawala R, Chatterjee S (2018) Selective recognition of atropine in biological fluids and leaves of *datura stramonium* employing a carbon nanotube-chitosan film based biosensor. New J Chem 42:10852–10860
- 40. Palanisamy S, Thangavelu K, Chen SM, Gnanaprakasam P, Velusamy V, Liu XH (2016) Preparation of chitosan grafted graphite composite for sensitive detection of dopamine in biological samples. Carbohydr Polym 151:401–407
- AL-Mokaram AMAAA, Yahya R, Abdi MM, Mahmud HNME (2016) One-step electrochemical deposition of polypyrrole-chitosan-iron oxide nanocomposite films for non-enzymatic glucose biosensor. Mater Lett 183:90–93
- Vasile C (2018) Polymeric nanocomposites and nanocoatings for food packaging: a review. Materials 11:1834
- Souza VGL, Pires JRA, Rodrigues C, Coelhoso IM, Fernando AL (2020) Chitosan composites in packaging industry-current trends and future challenges. Polymers 12:417
- 44. Garavand F, Cacciotti I, Vahedikia N, Rehman A, Tarhan O, Akbari-Alavijeh S, Shaddel R, Rashidinejad A, Nejatian M, Jafarzadeh S, Azizi-Lalabadi M, Khoshnoudi-Nia S, Jafari SM (2020) A comprehensive review on the nanocomposites loaded with chitosan nanoparticles for food packaging. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr 12:1–34
- 45. Kumar N, Neeraj P, Trajkovska Petkoska A (2021) Improved shelf life and quality of tomato (solanum lycopersicum l.) by using chitosan-pullulan composite edible coating enriched with pomegranate peel extract. ACS Food Sci Technol 1:500–510

- 46. Rambabu K, Bharath G, Banat F, Show PL, Cocoletzi HH (2019) Mango leaf extract incorporated chitosan antioxidant film for active food packaging. Int J Biol Macromol 126:1234–1243
- 47. Alvarez MV, Ponce AG, Moreira MD (2013) Antimicrobial efficiency of chitosan coating enriched with bioactive compounds to improve the safety of fresh cut broccoli. LWT Food Sci Technol 50:78–87
- 48. Nair MS, Saxena A, Kaur C (2018) Effect of chitosan and alginate based coatings enriched with pomegranate peel extract to extend the postharvest quality of guava (*Psidium guajava* 1.). Food Chem 240:245–252
- 49. Gonzalez-Locarno M, Pautt YM, Albis A, Lopez EF, Tovar CDG (2020) Assessment of chitosan-rue (*Ruta graveolens* 1.) essential oil-based coatings on refrigerated cape gooseberry (*Physalis peruviana* 1.) quality. Appl Sci 10:2684
- Ozdemir KS, Gokmen V (2019) Effect of chitosan-ascorbic acid coatings on the refrigerated storage stability of fresh-cut apples. Coatings 9:503
- 51. Wagle BR, Upadhyay A, Shrestha S, Arsi K, Upadhyaya I, Donoghue AM, Donoghue DJ (2019) Pectin or chitosan coating fortified with eugenol reduces Campylobacter jejuni on chicken wingettes and modulates expression of critical survival genes. Poult Sci 98:1461–1471
- 52. Yaghoubi M, Ayaseh A, Alirezalu K, Nemati Z, Pateiro M, Lorenzo JM (2021) Effect of chitosan coating incorporated with artemisia fragrans essential oil on fresh chicken meat during refrigerated storage. Polymers 13:716
- 53. Montano-Sanchez E, Torres-Martinez BDM, Vargas-Sanchez RD, Huerta-Leidenz N, Sanchez-Escalante A, Beriain MJ, Torrescano-Urrutia GR (2020) Effects of chitosan coating with green tea aqueous extract on lipid oxidation and microbial growth in pork chops during chilled storage. Foods 9:766
- Dutta PK, Tripathi S, Mehrotra GK, Dutta J (2009) Perspectives for chitosan based antimicrobial films in food applications. Food Chem 114:1173–1182
- 55. de Fatima FSN, Pires AC, Camilloto GP, Santiago-Silva P, Espitia PJ, Silva WA (2009) Recent patents on active packaging for food application. Recent Pat Food Nutr Agric 1:171–178
- Liu YW, Wang SY, Lan WT, Qin W (2017) Fabrication and testing of PVA/chitosan bilayer films for strawberry packaging. Coatings 7:109
- 57. Souza VGL, Pires JRA, Vieira ET, Coelhoso IM, Duarte MP, Fernando AL (2019) Activity of chitosan-montmorillonite bionanocomposites incorporated with rosemary essential oil: from in vitro assays to application in fresh poultry meat. Food Hydrocoll 89:241–252
- Jakubowska E, Gierszewska M, Nowaczyk J, Olewnik-Kruszkowska E (2021) The role of a deep eutectic solvent in changes of physicochemical and antioxidative properties of chitosanbased films. Carbohydr Polym 255:117527
- Jhaveri J, Raichura Z, Khan T, Momin M, Omri A (2021) Chitosan nanoparticles-insight into properties, functionalization and applications in drug delivery and theranostics. Molecules 26:272
- Choi C, Nam JP, Nah JW (2016) Application of chitosan and chitosan derivatives as biomaterials. J Ind Eng Chem 33:1–10
- 61. Rizeq BR, Younes NN, Rasool K, Nasrallah GK (2019) Synthesis, bioapplications, and toxicity evaluation of chitosan-based nanoparticles. Int J Mol Sci:20
- 62. Mahmood MA, Madni A, Rehman M, Rahim MA, Jabar A (2019) Ionically cross-linked chitosan nanoparticles for sustained delivery of docetaxel: fabrication, post-formulation and acute oral toxicity evaluation. Int J Nanomedicine 14:10035–10046
- 63. Lakshmanan VK, Snima KS, Bumgardner JD, Nair SV, Jayakumar R (2011) Chitosan-based nanoparticles in cancer therapy. Adv Polym Sci 243:55–91
- 64. Budi S, Suliasih BA, Rahmawati I, Erdawati (2020) Size-controlled chitosan nanoparticles prepared using ionotropic gelation. ScienceAsia 46:457–461

- 65. Desai KGH (2016) Chitosan nanoparticles prepared by ionotropic gelation: an overview of recent advances. Crit Rev Ther Drug 33:107–158
- 66. Xue MY, Hu S, Lu YF, Zhang Y, Jiang XT, An S, Guo YB, Zhou X, Hou HM, Jiang C (2015) Development of chitosan nanoparticles as drug delivery system for a prototype capsid inhibitor. Int J Pharm 495:771–782
- Bagre AP, Jain K, Jain NK (2013) Alginate coated chitosan core shell nanoparticles for oral delivery of enoxaparin: in vitro and in vivo assessment. Int J Pharm 456:31–40
- El-Shabouri MH (2002) Positively charged nanoparticles for improving the oral bioavailability of cyclosporin-A. Int J Pharm 249:101–108
- 69. Saravanakumar K, Sathiyaseelan A, Mariadoss AVA, Jeevithan E, Hu XW, Shin S, Wang MH (2020) Dual stimuli-responsive release of aptamer AS1411 decorated erlotinib loaded chitosan nanoparticles for non-small-cell lung carcinoma therapy. Carbohydr Polym 245:116407
- 70. Sabourian P, Ji J, Lotocki V, Moquin A, Hanna R, Frounchi M, Maysinger D, Kakkar A (2020) Facile design of autogenous stimuli-responsive chitosan/hyaluronic acid nanoparticles for efficient small molecules to protein delivery. J Mater Chem B 8:7275–7287
- 71. Fernandez-Quiroz D, Loya-Duarte J, Silva-Campa E, Arguelles-Monal W, Sarabia-Sainz AI, Lucero-Acuna A, del Castillo-Castro T, San Roman J, Lizardi-Mendoza J, Burgara-Estrella AJ, Castaneda B, Soto-Puebla D, Pedroza-Montero M (2019) Temperature stimuli-responsive nanoparticles from chitosan-*graft*-poly(*N*-vinylcaprolactam) as a drug delivery system. J Appl Polym Sci 136:47831
- 72. Ansari S, Masoum S (2020) Ultrasound-assisted dispersive solid-phase microextraction of capecitabine by multi-stimuli responsive molecularly imprinted polymer modified with chitosan nanoparticles followed by HPLC analysis. Microchim Acta 187:1–11
- 73. Mohapatra A, Harris MA, Levine D, Ghimire M, Jennings JA, Morshed BI, Haggard WO, Bumgardner JD, Mishra SR, Fujiwara T (2018) Magnetic stimulus responsive vancomycin drug delivery system based on chitosan microbeads embedded with magnetic nanoparticles. J Biomed Mater Res B 106:2169–2176
- 74. Sabourian P, Tavakolian M, Yazdani H, Frounchi M, van de Ven TGM, Maysinger D, Kakkar A (2020) Stimuli-responsive chitosan as an advantageous platform for efficient delivery of bioactive agents. J Control Release 317:216–231
- 75. Wei X, Liao JH, Davoudi Z, Zheng H, Chen JR, Li D, Xiong X, Yin YH, Yu XX, Xiong JH, Wang Q (2018) Folate receptor-targeted and GSH-responsive carboxymethyl chitosan nanoparticles containing covalently entrapped 6-mercaptopurine for enhanced intracellular drug delivery in leukemia. Mar Drugs 16:439
- 76. Beidokhti HRN, Ghaffarzadegan R, Mirzakhanlouei S, Ghazizadeh L, Dorkoosh FA (2017) Preparation, characterization, and optimization of folic acid-chitosan-methotrexate core-shell nanoparticles by box-behnken design for tumor-targeted drug delivery. AAPS Pharm Sci Tech 18:115–129
- 77. Antoniraj MG, Ayyavu M, Henry LJK, Rao GN, Natesan S, Sundar DS, Kandasamy R (2018) Cytocompatible chitosan-graft-mPEG-based 5-fluorouracil-loaded polymeric nanoparticles for tumor-targeted drug delivery. Drug Dev Ind Pharm 44:365–376
- 78. Taghavi S, Ramezani M, Alibolandi M, Abnous K, Taghdisi SM (2017) Chitosan-modified PLGA nanoparticles tagged with 5TR1 aptamer for in vivo tumor-targeted drug delivery. Cancer Lett 400:1–8
- Uthaman S, Huh KM, Park IK (2018) Tumor microenvironment-responsive nanoparticles for cancer theragnostic applications. Biomater Res 22:1–11
- Asik MD, Kaplan M, Çetin B, Saglam N (2021) Synthesis of iron oxide core chitosan nanoparticles in a 3D printed microfluidic device. J Nanopart Res 23:1–11
- Casettari L, Illum L (2014) Chitosan in nasal delivery systems for therapeutic drugs. J Control Release 190:189–200
- Bellich B, D'Agostino I, Semeraro S, Gamini A, Cesaro A (2016) "The good, the bad and the ugly" of chitosans. Mar Drugs 14:99

- Aminov RI (2010) A brief history of the antibiotic era: lessons learned and challenges for the future. Front Microbiol 1:134
- 84. Bakshi PS, Selvakumar D, Kadirvelu K, Kumar NS (2020) Chitosan as an environment friendly biomaterial – a review on recent modifications and applications. Int J Biol Macromol 150:1072–1083
- Kurakula M, Naveen NR (2020) Prospection of recent chitosan biomedical trends: evidence from patent analysis (2009-2020). Int J Biol Macromol 165:1924–1938
- 86. Palekar G, Bhalodiya HP, Archik S, Trivedi K (2021) Retrospective study on implantation of autologous-cultured osteoblasts for the treatment of patients with avascular necrosis of the femoral head. Orthop Res Rev 13:15–23
- Rajabi M, McConnell M, Cabral J, Ali MA (2021) Chitosan hydrogels in 3D printing for biomedical applications. Carbohydr Polym 260:117768
- Vaz JM, Taketa TB, Hernandez-Montelongo J, Chevallier P, Cotta MA, Mantovani D, Beppu MM (2018) Antibacterial properties of chitosan-based coatings are affected by spacer-length and molecular weight. Appl Surf Sci 445:478–487
- Yildirim-Aksoy M, Beck BH (2017) Antimicrobial activity of chitosan and a chitosan oligomer against bacterial pathogens of warmwater fish. J Appl Microbiol 122:1570–1578
- Kravanja G, Primozic M, Knez Z, Leitgeb M (2019) Chitosan-based (nano)materials for novel biomedical applications. Molecules 24:1960
- Alavarse AC, Silva FWD, Colque JT, da Silva VM, Prieto T, Venancio EC, Bonvent JJ (2017) Tetracycline hydrochloride-loaded electrospun nanofibers mats based on PVA and chitosan for wound dressing. Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl 77:271–281
- 92. Murali S, Aparna V, Suresh MK, Biswas R, Jayakumar R, Sathianarayanan S (2018) Amphotericin B loaded sulfonated chitosan nanoparticles for targeting macrophages to treat intracellular *Candida glabrata* infections. Int J Biol Macromol 110:133–139
- 93. Nithya S, Nimal TR, Baranwal G, Suresh MK, Anju CP, Kumar VA, Mohan CG, Jayakumar R, Biswas R (2018) Preparation, characterization and efficacy of lysostaphinchitosan gel against *Staphylococcus aureus*. Int J Biol Macromol 110:157–166
- 94. Senthilkumar P, Yaswant G, Kavitha S, Chandramohan E, Kowsalya G, Vijay R, Sudhagar B, Kumar DSRS (2019) Preparation and characterization of hybrid chitosan-silver nanoparticles (chi-Ag NPs); a potential antibacterial agent. Int J Biol Macromol 141:290–298
- 95. Rubina MS, Vasil'kov AY, Naumkin AV, Shtykova EV, Abramchuk SS, Alghuthaymi MA, Abd-Elsalam K (2017) Synthesis and characterization of chitosan-copper nanocomposites and their fungicidal activity against two sclerotia-forming plant pathogenic fungi. J Nanostructure Chem 7:249–258
- Nehra P, Chauhan RP, Garg N, Verma K (2018) Antibacterial and antifungal activity of chitosan coated iron oxide nanoparticles. Br J Biomed Sci 75:13–18
- 97. Saranya TS, Rajan VK, Biswas R, Jayakumar R, Sathianarayanan S (2018) Synthesis, characterisation and biomedical applications of curcumin conjugated chitosan microspheres. Int J Biol Macromol 110:227–233
- 98. Savitha A, SriRekha A, Vijay R, Ashwija CC, Jaykumar T (2019) An in vivo comparative evaluation of antimicrobial efficacy of chitosan, chlorhexidine gluconate gel and their combination as an intracanal medicament against *Enterococcus faecalis* in failed endodontic cases using real time polymerase chain reaction (qPCR). Saudi Dent J 31:360–366
- 99. Raveendran NT, Mohandas A, Menon RR, Menon AS, Biswas R, Jayakumar R (2019) Ciprofloxacin and fluconazole containing fibrin-nanoparticle-incorporated chitosan bandages for the treatment of polymicrobial wound infections. ACS Appl Bio Mater 2:243–254
- Wallace LA, Gwynne L, Jenkins T (2019) Challenges and opportunities of pH in chronic wounds. Ther Deliv 10:719–735
- 101. Percival NJ (2002) Classification of wounds and their management. Surgery (Oxford) 20:114–117
- 102. Cutting KF (2010) Wound dressings: 21st century performance requirements. J Wound Care 19:4–9

- 103. Saporito F, Sandri G, Rossi S, Bonferoni MC, Riva F, Malavasi L, Caramella C, Ferrari F (2018) Freeze dried chitosan acetate dressings with glycosaminoglycans and traxenamic acid. Carbohydr Polym 184:408–417
- 104. Zhang YW, Jiang MM, Zhang YQ, Cao QP, Wang X, Han Y, Sun GW, Li Y, Zhou JH (2019) Novel lignin-chitosan-PVA composite hydrogel for wound dressing. Mater Sci Eng C 104:110002
- 105. Koosehgol S, Ebrahimian-Hosseinabadi M, Alizadeh M, Zamanian A (2017) Preparation and characterization of in situ chitosan/polyethylene glycol fumarate/thymol hydrogel as an effective wound dressing. Mater Sci Eng C 79:66–75
- 106. Mishra SK, Mary DS, Kannan S (2017) Copper incorporated microporous chitosanpolyethylene glycol hydrogels loaded with naproxen for effective drug release and antiinfection wound dressing. Int J Biol Macromol 95:928–937
- 107. Yassue-Cordeiro PH, Zandonai CH, Genesi BP, Lopes PS, Sanchez-Lopez E, Garcia ML, Fernandes-Machado NRC, Severino P, Souto EB, da Silva CF (2019) Development of chitosan/silver sulfadiazine/zeolite composite films for wound dressing. Pharmaceutics 11:535
- 108. Abdel-Mohsen AM, Frankova J, Abdel-Rahmang RM, Salem AA, Sahffie NM, Kubena I, Jancar J (2020) Chitosan-glucan complex hollow fibers reinforced collagen wound dressing embedded with *aloe vera*. II. Multifunctional properties to promote cutaneous wound healing. Int J Pharm 582:119349
- 109. Lew WK, Weaver FA (2008) Clinical use of topical thrombin as a surgical hemostat. Biologics 2:593
- 110. Chaturvedi A, Dowling MB, Gustin JP, Scalea TM, Raghavan SR, Pasley JD, Narayan M (2017) Hydrophobically modified chitosan gauze: a novel topical hemostat. J Surg Res 207:45–52
- 111. Samudrala S (2008) Topical hemostatic agents in surgery: a surgeon's perspective. AORN J 88:S2–S11
- 112. Khoshmohabat H, Paydar S, Kazemi HM, Dalfardi B (2016) Overview of agents used for emergency hemostasis. Trauma Mon 21:e26023
- 113. Shen JL, Nada AA, Abou-Zeid NY, Hudson SM (2020) Synthesis of chitosan iodoacetamides via carbodiimide coupling reaction: effect of degree of substitution on the hemostatic properties. Carbohydr Polym 229:115522
- 114. Sundaram MN, Amirthalingam S, Mony U, Varma PK, Jayakumar R (2019) Injectable chitosan-nano bioglass composite hemostatic hydrogel for effective bleeding control. Int J Biol Macromol 129:936–943
- 115. Hu Z, Zhang DY, Lu ST, Li PW, Li SD (2018) Chitosan-based composite materials for prospective hemostatic applications. Mar Drugs 16:273
- 116. Radwan-Praglowska J, Piatkowski M, Deineka V, Janus L, Korniienko V, Husak E, Holubnycha V, Liubchak I, Zhurba V, Sierakowska A, Pogorielov M, Bogdal D (2019) Chitosan-based bioactive hemostatic agents with antibacterial properties-synthesis and characterization. Molecules 24:2629
- 117. Jesus S, Marques AP, Duarte A, Soares E, Costa JP, Colaco M, Schmutz M, Som C, Borchard G, Wick P, Borges O (2020) Chitosan nanoparticles: shedding light on immunotoxicity and hemocompatibility. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 8:100
- 118. Kim GH, Im JN, Kim TH, Lee GD, Youk JH, Doh SJ (2018) Preparation and characterization of calcium carboxymethyl cellulose/chitosan blend nonwovens for hemostatic agents. Text Res J 88:1902–1911
- 119. Bal-Ozturk A, Karal-Yilmaz O, Akguner ZP, Aksu S, Tas A, Olmez H (2019) Sponge-like chitosan-based nanostructured antibacterial material as a topical hemostat. J Appl Polym Sci 136:47522
- 120. Sun X, Tang ZH, Pan M, Wang ZC, Yang HQ, Liu HQ (2017) Chitosan/kaolin composite porous microspheres with high hemostatic efficacy. Carbohydr Polym 177:135–143

- 121. Zhang Y, Guan J, Wu JM, Ding S, Yang J, Zhang JH, Dong AJ, Deng LD (2019) N-alkylated chitosan/graphene oxide porous sponge for rapid and effective hemostasis in emergency situations. Carbohydr Polym 219:405–413
- 122. Ranjbar J, Koosha M, Chi H, Ghasemi A, Zare F, Abdollahifar MA, Darvishi M, Li TD (2021) Novel chitosan/gelatin/oxidized cellulose sponges as absorbable hemostatic agents. Cellul 28:3663–3675
- 123. Sundaram MN, Mony U, Varma PK, Rangasamy J (2021) Vasoconstrictor and coagulation activator entrapped chitosan based composite hydrogel for rapid bleeding control. Carbohydr Polym 258:117634
- 124. Lanza R, Langer R, Vacanti JP, Atala A (2007) Principles of tissue engineering. Academic Press, San Diego
- 125. Islam MM, Shahruzzaman M, Biswas S, Sakib MN, Rashid TU (2020) Chitosan based bioactive materials in tissue engineering applications – a review. Bioact Mater 5:164–183
- 126. Huang L, Zhu ZY, Wu DW, Gan WD, Zhu SS, Li WQ, Tian JH, Li LH, Zhou CR, Lu L (2019) Antibacterial poly (ethylene glycol) diacrylate/chitosan hydrogels enhance mechanical adhesiveness and promote skin regeneration. Carbohydr Polym 225:115110
- 127. Sivashanmugam A, Charoenlarp P, Deepthi S, Rajendran A, Nair SV, Iseki S, Jayakumar R (2017) Injectable shear-thinning CaSO<sub>4</sub>/FGF-18-incorporated chitin PLGA hydrogel enhances bone regeneration in mice cranial bone defect model. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 9:42639–42652
- 128. Sundaram MN, Deepthi S, Mony U, Shalumon KT, Chen JP, Jayakumar R (2019) Chitosan hydrogel scaffold reinforced with twisted poly(*l* lactic acid) aligned microfibrous bundle to mimic tendon extracellular matrix. Int J Biol Macromol 122:37–44
- 129. Lin IC, Wang TJ, Wu CL, Lu DH, Chen YR, Yang KC (2020) Chitosan-cartilage extracellular matrix hybrid scaffold induces chondrogenic differentiation to adipose -derived stem cells. Regen Ther 14:238–244
- Tamimi M, Rajabi S, Pezeshki-Modaress M (2020) Cardiac ECM/chitosan/alginate ternary scaffolds for cardiac tissue engineering application. Int J Biol Macromol 164:389–402
- 131. Habibizadeh M, Nadri S, Fattahi A, Rostamizadeh K, Mohammadi P, Andalib S, Hamidi M, Forouzideh N (2021) Surface modification of neurotrophin-3 loaded PCL/chitosan nanofiber/ net by alginate hydrogel microlayer for enhanced biocompatibility in neural tissue engineering J Biomed Mater Res A 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.37208
- 132. Anggrarista KAN, Cecilia PH, Nagoro AAB, Saskianti T, Surboyo MDC (2021) SHED, PRF, and chitosan as three-dimensional of tissue engineering for dental pulp regeneration. Dent Hypotheses 12:43–46
- 133. Sowmya S, Mony U, Jayachandran P, Reshma S, Kumar RA, Arzate H, Nair SV, Jayakumar R (2017) Tri-layered nanocomposite hydrogel scaffold for the concurrent regeneration of cementum, periodontal ligament, and alveolar bone. Adv Healthc Mater 6:1601251
- 134. Kumar A, Sivashanmugam A, Deepthi S, Bumgardner JD, Nair SV, Jayakumar R (2016) Nano-fibrin stabilized CaSO<sub>4</sub> crystals incorporated injectable chitin composite hydrogel for enhanced angiogenesis & osteogenesis. Carbohydr Polym 140:144–153
- 135. Li WY, He XH, Liu K, Wen W, Lu L, Liu MX, Zhou CR, Luo BH (2020) Creating ultrastrong and osteogenic chitin nanocomposite hydrogels via chitin whiskers with different surface chemistries. ACS Sustain Chem Eng 8:17487–17499
- 136. Thibault MH, Comeau C, Vienneau G, Robichaud J, Brown D, Bruening R, Martin LJ, Djaoued Y (2020) Assessing the potential of boronic acid/chitosan/bioglass composite materials for tissue engineering applications. Mater Sci Eng C 110:110674
- 137. Sayyar S, Murray E, Thompson BC, Chung J, Officer DL, Gambhir S, Spinks GM, Wallace GG (2015) Processable conducting graphene/chitosan hydrogels for tissue engineering. J Mater Chem B 3:481–490
- 138. Ferreira NN, Granja S, Boni FI, Prezotti FG, Ferreira LMB, Cury BSF, Reis RM, Baltazar F, Gremiao MPD (2020) Modulating chitosan-PLGA nanoparticle properties to design a

co-delivery platform for glioblastoma therapy intended for nose-to-brain route. Drug Deliv Transl Res 10:1729–1747

- 139. Zargar V, Asghari M, Dashti A (2015) A review on chitin and chitosan polymers: structure, chemistry, solubility, derivatives, and applications. ChemBioEng Rev 2:204–226
- 140. Sivashanmugam A, Kumar RA, Priya MV, Nair SV, Jayakumar R (2015) An overview of injectable polymeric hydrogels for tissue engineering. Eur Polym J 72:543–565
- 141. Abrica-Gonzalez P, Zamora-Justo JA, Sotelo-Lopez A, Vazquez-Martinez GR, Balderas-Lopez JA, Munoz-Diosdado A, Ibanez-Hernandez M (2019) Gold nanoparticles with chitosan, N-acylated chitosan, and chitosan oligosaccharide as DNA carriers. Nanoscale Res Lett 14:1–14
- 142. Lichtenberg SS, Nuti K, DeRouchey J, Tsyusko OV, Unrine JM (2020) Efficacy of chitosan/ double-stranded RNA polyplex nanoparticles for gene silencing under variable environmental conditions. Environ Sci Nano 7:1582–1592

Adv Polym Sci (2021) 287: 23–74 https://doi.org/10.1007/12\_2021\_89 © The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 Published online: 2 July 2021

# **Review of the Structure of Chitosan** in the Context of Other Sugar-Based Polymers



Ranjeet Desai, Radhika Pachpore, Ashwini Patil, Ratnesh Jain, and Prajakta Dandekar

#### Contents

1	Introduction		
2	Structure and Composition		
	2.1	Structure of Chitin and Chitosan	27
	2.2	Structural Comparison of Chitosan with Other Sugar-Based Polymers	29
3	Intera	action of Chitosan with Other Sugar Polymers	32
	3.1	Interaction Between Chitosan and Starch	33
	3.2	Interaction Between Chitosan and Cellulose	34
	3.3	Interaction of Chitosan and Alginate	34
4	Prop	erties of Chitosan	35
	4.1	Solubility of Chitosan and Other Sugar Polymers	37
	4.2	Thermal Properties of Chitosan and Other Sugar Polymers	39
	4.3	Crystallinity of Chitosan and Other Sugar Polymers	41
	4.4	Non-toxicity of Chitosan and Other Sugar Polymers	42
	4.5	Mucoadhesiveness of Chitosan and Other Sugar Polymers	43
	4.6	Biodegradability of Chitosan and Other Sugar Polymers	44
	4.7	Biocompatibility of Chitosan and Other Sugar Polymers	45
5	Appl	ications of Chitosan as Compared to the Other Sugar-Based Polymers	46
	5.1	Drug Delivery	47
	5.2	Vaccine Delivery	49
	5.3	Tissue Engineering	58

Ranjeet Desai, Radhika Pachpore, and Ashwini Patil contributed equally to this work.

R. Desai, R. Pachpore, A. Patil, and P. Dandekar (🖂)

Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences and Technology, Institute of Chemical Technology, Mumbai, Maharashtra, India e-mail: pd.jain@ictmumbai.edu.in

R. Jain

Department of Chemical Engineering, Institute of Chemical Technology, Mumbai, Maharashtra, India

	5.4	Anti-microbial Applications	61
6	Summ	nary	62
Ret	ference	es	64

**Abstract** Chitosan is a natural amino polysaccharide composed of multiple reactive functional groups. It is a cationic polymer that is biodegradable, biocompatible and non-toxic. The structure of chitosan allows diverse modifications via its hydroxyl and amino groups, which can enhance its properties and also allow complex formation with other polysaccharides. The physicochemical properties of chitosan, such as solubility, viscosity, thermal stability, etc., majorly depend on the degree of acetylation and molecular weight. The unique physicochemical properties of chitosan enable its use in a range of biomedical applications such as tissue engineering, drug delivery and anti-microbial applications. This chapter focuses on the structure of chitosan and its interactions with other sugar polymers, highlighting its properties that have paved its way in a variety of biomedical applications.

**Keywords** Alginate · Biomedical applications · Cellulose · Chitosan · Functional groups · Starch · Sugar-based polymer

#### 1 Introduction

Biologically derived polymers or biopolymers are naturally occurring polymers produced by living organisms like plants, animals, bacteria and fungi. They are older than the synthetic polymers, like plastics, and have been on the earth from billions of years. They represent one of the most abundantly available biomaterials that display a huge diversity with respect to their individual monomers and secondary structures. The main groups of biopolymers include proteins, nucleic acids, polyhydroxyalkanoates, polyphenols and polysaccharides. Polysaccharides, also known as sugar-based polymers or glycans, are linear or branched polymeric carbohydrate structures that are composed of long chains of monosaccharide units and/or oligosaccharide units, which are bound together by glycosidic linkages. Upon hydrolysis, they give rise to individual monosaccharide units or oligosaccharides. There are two types of polysaccharides, viz. the homo-polysaccharides and heteropolysaccharides. A homo-polysaccharide contains repeating units of only one type of monosaccharide, like cellulose, starch, glycogen, chitin, etc. A heteropolysaccharide is composed of more than one type of monosaccharide, like hyaluronic acid, peptidoglycans, etc. In both types of polysaccharide, the monosaccharides are linked either linearly or they can branch out into complex formations. The structure of monomers governs the structures and properties of the resulting polysaccharides [1]. Among the widely studied polysaccharides, cellulose,



Fig. 1 Natural polysaccharides classified according to their origin

starch, chitin, glycogen and hyaluronic acids are some of the important examples. They can also be classified based on their origin, as depicted in Fig. 1.

The main functions of polysaccharides include the provision of structural support and as energy reservoirs in plants and animals. In their natural environment, they also mediate gelation, hydration and lubrication and play a role in cellular communication. Natural polysaccharides fulfil numerous functions, such as provision of energy reserves for plants (i.e. starch), as structural support to vegetal cells (i.e. cellulose in plants and chitin in crustaceans), as gelling agents to form the intercellular matrix and as reserves of several ions such as sodium, calcium and magnesium (i.e. alginate in the brown algae) [2]. They are employed for a wide range of applications due to their availability from renewable agricultural or marine food resources, versatility and biodegradability. Owing to their remarkable properties, polysaccharides are currently being used as a thickening, stabilizing, gelling, filmforming and emulsifying agents in various industrial sectors. Due to their chemical and structural diversity, biopolymers are widely used in food, pharmaceutical and biomedical industries, as sustainable, renewable, biodegradable and non-toxic raw materials. Some biopolymers like cellulose, starch, chitin and polysaccharides from seaweeds are commercially important in several fields, ranging from the food processing industry to the paper industry. A list of different biopolymers and their roles has been stated in Table 1.

Being environment-friendly and sustainable materials, development of sugarbased biopolymers has attracted increasing attention. Chitin is a structural biopolymer that plays a role analogous to that of collagen in higher animals and cellulose in terrestrial plants. It is considered to be the second plentiful biopolymer after cellulose and is of ace significance. Annually, this biomaterial is estimated to be produced in a quantity similar to cellulose as it is the major source of coastal pollution. Chitin is an amino polysaccharide polymer and is the building material that gives strength to the exoskeletons of crustaceans, insects and the cell walls of fungi [3]. Molluscs, crustaceans, insects, fungus, algae and related organisms approximately produce

Polymer	Туре	Monomer units	Role
Amylose	Homo	D-Glucose	Energy storage in plants
Amylopectin	Homo	D-Glucose	Energy storage in plants
Glycogen	Homo	D-Glucose	Energy storage in bacteria and animal cells
Cellulose	Homo	D-Glucose	Structural: gives rigidity and strength to plant cell walls
Chitin	Homo	N-Acetylglucosamine	Structural: gives rigidity and strength to the exoskeleton of insects and crustaceans
Alginate	Hetero	D-Mannuronic acid and L- Guluronic acid	Structural: gives rigidity and strength to the cell wall of brown algae
Peptidoglycans	Hetero	N-acetylglucosamine (NAG) and N-acetylmuramic acid (NAM)	Structural: gives rigidity and strength to the bacterial envelope
Proteoglycans	Hetero	Glycosaminoglycans and core protein	Structural: viscosity and lubrica- tion in joints of vertebrates
Glycosaminoglycan (hyaluronate)	Hetero	Uronic acid and GlcNAc/ GalNAc	Structural: extracellular matrix in skin, connective tissue

 Table 1
 Biopolymers and their roles

around ten billion tons of chitin, annually. It has gained interest not only due to its high availability and limited exploration but also as a functional biomaterial due to its high potential in various fields. Chitin is a bio-renewable, environmentally friendly, bio-functional, biocompatible and biodegradable material. It owes its biodegradability to the action of chitinase enzymes that are widely distributed in nature. The application scope of chitosan, the deacetylated derivative of chitin, is multi-dimensional, as a biodegradable pressure-sensitive adhesive tape, chelating agent, water treatment additive, drug carrier, wound-healing agent and good adhesive material for sorption. Because of these advantages, this unique biopolymer has gained much attention [4]. The commercial exploitation of chitin is mainly focused on regenerating this raw material from marine waste, mainly waste constituted by shellfish, such as shrimp, crabs, lobsters and squids. Another reason for the high interest in this polymer is its wide range of physical forms and its amenability to numerous chemical modifications, which further enhance its solubility and widen its applications. The presence of multiple reactive functional groups in chitosan renders it as an ideal biomolecule for diverse manipulations, to provide a broad spectrum of derivatives for specific end-applications in different areas, as mentioned earlier. Chitosan is gaining more interest due to its strong biocompatibility and ability to promote cellular adhesion. This is majorly due to its ability to form polyelectrolyte complexes with polyanions in solutions at a low pH [5]. This chapter will focus on the structure and biological applications of chitosan and its derivatives, particularly in the context of other sugar-based biopolymers like starch, cellulose and alginate.

#### 2 Structure and Composition

#### 2.1 Structure of Chitin and Chitosan

Chitin  $(C_8H_{13}O_5N)n$  is a linear polysaccharide, a homopolymer of N-acetyl-Dglucosamine, containing  $\beta$ -(1-4) glycosidic bonds, as depicted in Fig. 2. Chitin is a white, hard, nitrogenous polysaccharide, which is inelastic and present in the exoskeleton as well as in the internal structures of invertebrates. It is the second most prevalent, natural form of polymerized carbon [6]. Based on its source, chitin occurs in two main polymorphic forms, namely  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  forms. The polymorphic forms of chitin differ in the packing and polarities of near chains in successive sheets. In the  $\beta$ -form, all chains are arranged in parallel mode, whereas the  $\alpha$ -chains present an anti-parallel arrangement of its individual chains. The reactivity of  $\beta$ -chitin isomorphs is greater than the  $\alpha$ -isomorphs, which is important for enzymatic and chemical transformations of chitin. In these two structures, the chains are organized in sheets and held by intra-sheet hydrogen bonds. Also, in  $\alpha$ -chitin, inter-sheet hydrogen bonds prevent diffusion of small molecules into the crystalline phase, whereas inter-sheet hydrogen bonds are absent in the crystal structure of  $\beta$ -chitin. This leads to swelling of  $\beta$ -chitin in presence of polar guest molecules, ranging from water to alcohols and amines, which penetrate the crystal lattice without disturbing the sheet organization and the crystallinity of the sample. The removal of polar molecules allows reversion to the original state of anhydrous  $\beta$ -chitin. The reactivity of  $\beta$ -chitin isomorph is larger than the  $\alpha$ -isomorph, which is important for enzymatic and chemical transformations of chitin. Recent investigations have revealed the presence of a minor form, Y-chitin, which is a variant of the  $\alpha$ -form [4, 7].

Chitosan is an unbranched cationic polysaccharide, composed of randomly distributed  $\beta$ -linked D-glucosamine and N-acetyl-D-glucosamine, precisely  $\beta$ -(1-4)-linked 2-amino-2-deoxy- $\beta$ -D-glucopyranose and partially of  $\beta$ -(1-4)-linked



Fig. 2 Structural units of chitosan and chitin


Fig. 3 Structures of chitin and chitosan

2-acetamido-2-deoxy- $\beta$ -D-glucopyranose units, wherein  $\beta$ -linked D-glucosamine units are pre-dominant in the polymeric chains. The glycosidic bonds consist of an oxygen molecule that bridges two carbon rings and is formed when a hydroxyl group is lost from the carbon of one molecule, while hydrogen is lost from the hydroxyl group of another monosaccharide. The amine groups in chitosan become protonated at acidic pH and exhibit a strong positive electrical charge, which attracts and binds to the negatively charged molecules. Chitosan is obtained by the removal of enough number of acetyl groups from chitin, via a process known as deacetylation (depicted in Fig. 3), which is conducted under alkaline conditions or via enzymatic hydrolysis in presence of chitin deacetylase. The major difference between chitin and chitosan is their percentage of acetyl groups. In general, when the content of N-acetyl groups is >50%, the polymer is considered as chitin, while for lower values, it is considered as chitosan. The relationship between chitin and chitosan is based on the transformation degree of N-deacetylation.

### 2.1.1 Degree of Deacetylation of Chitosan

The degree of deacetylation (DD%) is defined as the molar fraction of glucosamine residues in chitosan, which is composed of N-acetylglucosamine and glucosamine. The DD is proportional to the degree of transformation of chitin into chitosan, which depends on several factors, including the concentration of alkali (like sodium hydroxide), the reaction temperature and time of reaction. It is one of the most important characteristics that influence the performance of chitosan in numerous applications. The higher the degree of deacetylation, the more active is the chitosan polymer. The degree of acetylation (DA) is defined as the reciprocal of the degree of deacetylation (DD). N-acylation with acetic anhydrides deposit acid amide groups within chitosan [5]. Chitosan has three types of reactive functional groups that allow chemical modifications of this biomaterial, under mild reaction conditions, to alter its properties. These functional groups include the amino or amido groups at C-2 position as well as the primary and secondary hydroxyl groups at C-6 and C-3 positions, respectively. Introduction of small functional groups on the primary amino groups and the secondary hydroxyl groups of chitosan enable its derivatization. These multiple functional groups in the chitosan chains provide versatility for preparing molecularly imprinted polymers and for conducting structural modifications. For instance, the introduction of the carboxymethyl group in chitosan drastically increases its solubility at neutral and alkaline pH values, without affecting its cationic nature [8].

# 2.2 Structural Comparison of Chitosan with Other Sugar-Based Polymers

#### 2.2.1 Structural Comparison of Chitosan and Cellulose

Cellulose ( $C_6H_{10}O_5$ )n is a sugar-based linear chain homopolymer containing several hundred to many thousands of  $\beta(1-4)$ linked D-glucose units (Fig. 4b). It is a highly abundant natural polysaccharide that is considered as the backbone of the plant kingdom. It is an important structural component of the primary cell wall of green plants and makes up about half of the biomass of photosynthetic organisms [2]. The only difference between the two polysaccharides is the side chains attached to the carbon rings of the monosaccharides, i.e. the amine ( $-NH_2$ ) groups present at the C-2 position of chitosan instead of the hydroxyl (-OH) groups found in cellulose. However, unlike the latter, chitosan possesses cationic charge, which gives it the ability to chemically bind with negatively charged fats, lipids, cholesterol, metal ions, proteins and macromolecules [5]. As a result, chitin and chitosan have attracted increasing commercial attention due to their suitable characteristics, including biocompatibility, biodegradability, and ability to form films, adsorb heavy metals and chelate metal ions.

#### 2.2.2 Structural Comparison of Chitosan and Starch

Starch ( $C_6H_{10}O_5$ )n (amylum) is a semi-crystalline polymer composed of two polysaccharides, viz. amylose and amylopectin (Fig. 4c). It is used as an energy reservoir in plants. Amylose, a linear chain, typically consists of up to 3,000 glucose molecules, primarily interconnected by  $\alpha$ -1,4 glycosidic linkages. Amylopectin is a large branched polymer, containing  $\alpha$ -1,4 linkages, that serve as the backbone, and  $\alpha$ -1,6 bridges at the branching points. The difference between chitosan and starch is the linear nature of chitosan, as compared to the branched structure of starch. Furthermore, there are amino (–NH<sub>2</sub>) groups present at the C-2 positions of chitosan, instead of the hydroxyl (–OH) groups found in starch. Owing to hydrophilic and semicrystalline nature of starch, it can be difficult to process this polymer since it is highly prone to absorbing moisture and is susceptible to changes in temperature. This biomaterial also has a greater structural rigidity than conventional synthetic polymers. Thus, the relatively greater hydrophobic nature of chitosan is anticipated to provide it with moisture barrier properties and water resistance. Furthermore, this



Fig. 4 Chemical structure of chitosan, cellulose, starch and alginate

biomaterial offers dimensional stability to starch films, when blended with the latter [9].

#### 2.2.3 Structural Comparison of Chitosan and Alginate

Alginate  $(C_6H_8O_6)$  is a naturally occurring polymer found in brown algae and is anionic in nature. It is a linear, unbranched polymer containing covalently linked blocks of  $\alpha(1-4)$ -linked L-Guluronic acid (G block) and  $\beta(1-4)$ -linked D-mannuronic acid (M block) residues (Fig. 4d). The alginate polymer is formed by joining of these monomers at the C-1 and C-4 positions. An ether-oxygen bridge joins the carbon at the first-position in one molecule to that at the fourth-position of another molecule.  $\alpha$ -L-guluronate is the C-5 epimer of  $\beta$ -D-mannuronate. Alginate is a structural element that is located within the cell walls and the intercellular matrix, and thereby confers mechanical strength and flexibility to the marine plants to withstand the force of water in which the seaweed grows. Alginate-producing species may exhibit different compositions as the proportions of the two acids vary between species and in different parts of the same seaweed [10]. The major difference between chitosan and alginate is the presence of amino (-NH<sub>2</sub>) group at the C-2 position of chitosan, instead of the hydroxyl (-OH) groups found in alginate and the presence of carboxylic groups at the C-5 position of alginate, instead of (-OH) groups in chitosan. These functional groups render alginate hydrophilic in nature. Although alginate is best suitable for designing drug carriers meant for oral drug, its hydrophilic nature makes it difficult to arrange alginate at the oil-water phase during the preparation process, resulting in unstable emulsions. Hence, alginate is mixed with chitosan to improve its hydrophilic properties, while retaining its biological compatibility and pH sensitivity [11].

These naturally occurring polysaccharides, like cellulose, alginate, starch, etc., are neutral or acidic, whereas chitosan is an example of a highly basic polysaccharide. When dissolved, the amino groups (–NH2) of glucosamine are protonated to – NH3+ and the cationic polyelectrolyte readily forms electrostatic interactions with other anionic groups. Therefore, the cationic chitosan molecules interact with the negatively charged surfaces that modify their physicochemical characteristics. Chitosan has three types of reactive functional groups. Its amino groups have both, primary and secondary hydroxyl groups at the C2-, C3- and C6-positions and these groups permit modification of chitosan [12]. The degree of deacetylation (DDA), crystallinity and molecular weight (MW) are the main aspects in which chitosan can be modified to obtain materials with different physiomechanical properties. These structural modifications of chitosan contribute to its unique functional properties. The comparisons between structural properties of chitosan and other sugar polymers are presented in Table 2.

Parameter of				
comparison	Chitin/chitosan	Cellulose	Starch	Alginate
Glucose unit linkages	Chitin constitutes their glucose resi- dues as N-acetyl-D- glucosamine with $\beta$ -(1-4) glycosidic bonds. Chitosan consti- tutes their glucose residues as $\beta$ -(1-4) linked D-glucos- amine and N-ace- tyl-D-glucosamine	Cellulose consti- tutes their glu- cose residues as $\beta$ -(1-4) glycosidic bonds	Starch contains glucose residues as $\alpha$ -(1-4) glycosidic bonds in amylose, while amylopectin has $\alpha$ -(1-6) glyco- sidic linkages at the branching points and $\alpha$ (1-4) linkages, at other locations	Alginate residues contain cova- lently linked blocks of $\alpha(1-4)$ - linked L- guluronic acid (G block) and $\beta(1-4)$ -linked D- mannuronic acid (M block)
Structural difference	The second carbon of glucose binds to an acetyl amine group in chitin and an amino group in chitosan	The second car- bon of glucose binds to a hydroxyl group	The second carbon of glucose binds to a hydroxyl group	The fifth carbon of glucose binds to a carboxylic group
Molar mass	Chitin- 203.1925 g/mol The molar mass of chitosan varies	162.1406 g/mol	359.33 g/mol	398.32 g/mol
Nitrogen	Present	Absent	Absent	Absent
Type of chain	These are long, straight and unbranched chains	These are long, straight and unbranched chains forming H-bonds with the adjacent chains	They are coiled and unbranched (amylose) or long, branched (amylopectin)	They are linear and unbranched
Function	They are structural components of exoskeletons of crustaceans, insects and the cell walls of fungi	It is a structural component of the cell wall of plants	It is the storage carbohydrate source in plants	It is a structural component of the cell wall of brown algae

 Table 2
 Comparison of structural properties of sugar-based polymers

# 3 Interaction of Chitosan with Other Sugar Polymers

The interaction of chitosan with other sugar polymers depends upon the miscibility of their components at the molecular level, which in turn depends upon the specific interactions between these components. Interaction of chitosan with other biopolymers is of great interest due to improved properties and widened application scope of these combinations. It results in blends that exhibit unique properties that neither of the parent polymers demonstrates. Chitosan contains high-polarity groups that can form hydrogen bonds with the functional groups of other sugar polymers, which enhances their compatibility with each other. Among the natural polymers, chitosan and its blends with the other sugar polymers have always been seen with interest due to their versatility and diverse applicability. The most common interactions include formation of hydrogen bonds, ionic and dipole bonds,  $\pi$ -electrons and chargetransfer complexes that facilitate the absorption, distribution and controlled release of therapeutic molecules [13]. Techniques such as thermal analysis, electron microscopy, viscometric measurements and dynamic mechanical studies have been used to investigate the polymer–polymer miscibility in solution or in solid state. The interactions between chitosan and other sugar polymers are known to enhance its hydrophilicity, mechanical properties, as well as improve its blood compatibility and anti-bacterial property. The selection of polymers to be blended with the chitosan depends on the desired properties of the target materials. Chitosan has been blended with several polymers, such as gelatin, silk fibroin and cellulose, to enhance its mechanical and anti-bacterial properties [14].

## 3.1 Interaction Between Chitosan and Starch

Native starch exhibits limitations as a matrix material for active compounds as it has multihydroxyl structure and hydrophilic groups, which release the encapsulated molecules before they can reach the target site. The applicability of starch films is limited by their mechanical properties and efficient barrier against low polarity compounds. The semi-crystalline nature and hydrophilicity of starch can complicate its processing, especially due to its susceptibility to moisture and temperature and its greater structural rigidity than the conventional synthetic polymers. Thus, researchers have attempted to improve the properties of this biomaterial by blending it with other polymers or through chemical modifications. To overcome such shortcomings, starch-based composite films can be prepared by blending with other non-starch biopolymers, including carboxymethyl cellulose and chitosan [15]. Modifications in starch have been found to improve crystallinity, hydrophobicity and amphiphilic properties of starch. Blends of chitosan with starch have been found to improve the moisture barrier properties and water resistance, including the dimensional stability of starch films. A combination of hydrogen bonding and electrostatic interaction between cationic chitosan and anionic starch, their hydrophilicity and water compatibility enable good interaction between these polymers. The solubility of chitosan in aqueous solutions is mediated by the protonation of amine groups in the acidic environment. Chemical cross-linking was developed to prepare starch and chitosan-based hydrogels. The mixture of carboxymethyl sago or cassava starch and chitosan was used to produce bio-hydrogel through chemical cross-linking with methacrylic acid as a cross-linking agent [16].

## 3.2 Interaction Between Chitosan and Cellulose

Cellulose and chitosan have similar molecular structures, both containing  $\beta$ -glycoside linkages. The two polymers differ only in that the latter has a deoxy amino group instead of the hydroxyl group at C-2 of the pyranose ring. Cellulose and chitosan are both biocompatible, non-toxic, and naturally occurring biopolymers that have been used extensively for biomedical applications. Many researchers have reported the combined use of both these polymers. Introduction of amino groups into cellulose is important to facilitate its chemical modification. However, it is generally difficult to introduce sufficient amounts of amino groups into cellulose by simple and efficient reactions, without significant degradation of cellulose chains. Cellulose-chitosan blends have thus been used as an alternative approach to develop amino groups containing cellulosic system. Such blends are more amenable for chemical derivatization because the amino group in chitosan is much more reactive than the acetamide group in chitin. Cellulose and chitosan complexes have exhibited sufficient physical strength that can be explored in various biomedical applications [17]. Complexes of these biopolymers have been studied in the form of fibres, films and microspheres, and have been employed as a drug carrier, wound healing agents, as adsorbents, and as a range of other functional materials. Duan et al have reported that  $\beta$ -CD-chitosan/Fc-cellulose (beta-cyclodextrin-chitosan/ferrocene-cellulose) gel prepared at room temperature formed inclusion complexes. In this complex, cellulose and chitosan associated with each other by intermolecular inclusion interaction that resulted in self-healing properties due to host-guest interactions [18]. Roz et al reported that oxidation of cellulose films could increase adhesion between cellulose and chitosan. Oxidation produced carboxylic acid groups, that electrostatically interacted with the amino groups in chitosan, forming ion pairs. This molecularlevel interaction was proved using FTIR studies. The IR spectra indicated that NH groups were involved in these molecular-level interactions, which were ultimately responsible for the enhanced interaction between chitosan and oxidized cellulose. This interaction also induced morphological changes, with increased the roughness of the film based on the combination of chitosan and cellulose. The successful adsorption of chitosan onto cellulose has paved a way for a number of applications, based on their combined properties such as biocompatibility, anti-microbial properties or bactericidal activities [19].

## 3.3 Interaction of Chitosan and Alginate

Polyelectrolyte complexes are useful in various applications like encapsulation of drug substances, controlled drug delivery, membranes for water treatment. These polyelectrolytes are resulted from the strong electrostatic interaction between oppositely charged polymers like chitosan (positive polyelectrolyte) and alginate (negative polyelectrolyte). As discussed earlier, chitosan is a linear polysaccharide made

up of D-glucosamine and N-acetyl glucosamine units. In addition, it consists of reactive groups: primary and secondary hydroxyl groups at C-2, C-3 and C-6 positions and amino/acetamide group. Due to multidirectional biological activities, chitosan is used in complex composition instead of other cationic natural polymers like cellulose, dextran and gelatine. Alginate is known for its ability to bind divalent metal ions like Mg2+, Mn2+ and Ca2+. The ability to bind these cations is dependent on chemical composition of alginate and binding affinity [20]. The monomers of alginate are basically epimers which are oriented in different direction, and guluronic acid is oriented in such a manner that it allows the carboxylate moieties available for ionic cross-linking [21]. Polyelectrolyte material formation with these two polysaccharides may be used to enhance specific functional properties of each component and to minimize their disadvantages. The polyelectrolyte network is formed by the interaction of a cationic amino group of chitosan and an anionic carboxyl group of alginate, intra- and inter-chain hydrogen bonding between different polysaccharide groups [20]. As both the polysaccharides are important in tissue engineering, they are often combined to improve their mechanical properties and cell interaction. Cross-linking of these materials in the hydrogel is used to provide materials with enhanced stability in physiological solutions [22].

### **4 Properties of Chitosan**

Chitosan is the N-deacetylated product of chitin. Chitin is present in abundance and has high mechanical strength. However, due to its poor solubility, it has limited applications, which has shifted attention towards chitosan [23]. Chitosan exhibits various biological properties, such as biodegradability, biocompatibility, non-toxicity, anti-bacterial and anti-fungal effects, wound healing potential, ability to stimulate the immune system, anti-tumour activity, etc. [24, 25]. These properties make it an attractive and promising polymer for biomedical applications, such as gene therapy, tissue engineering, blood anti-coagulant, wound dressing, controlled drug/vaccine/enzyme delivery, drug dissolution, excipient for tablets, bone regeneration biomaterial, bacteriostatic, fungistatic, spermicidal agent, anti-carcinogen, anti-cholesteremic, anti-thrombogenic agent, absorption enhancer as well as suitability for biosensor/biomembrane fabrication [26–28].

In the case of chitosan, the physical properties are controlled by the molecular weight of precursor, degree of deacetylation and depolymerization, interactions with amine and hydroxyl groups present in the polymer structure [29]. The structural and biological properties of chitosan such as its cationic nature, solubility in aqueous medium, biodegradability and mucoadhesivity are results of its polysaccharide structure. It is composed of alternating repetitive units of N-acetylglucosamine and D-glucosamine linked by  $\beta$ -(1-4) glycosidic bonds [30]. Most of the functional properties of chitosan such as its solubility, bioactivity, biocompatibility, biodegradation depend upon its degree of acetylation [31]. Chitosan can differ in size, degree of acetylation and other physicochemical properties like crystallinity, acetylation

pattern and polydispersity depending on the source of chitin and conditions of its production [32].

Chitosan is a pH-sensitive polysaccharide, which dissolves only at a low pH. It has been used to fabricate nanoparticles, fibres, films and hydrogels [28]. It can bind with proteins, fats, cholesterol and metal ions, due to which it has also been explored as a chelating agent. Properties such as in situ gelling, hydrophilic character, mucoadhesion make it ideal for drug delivery functions [33]. As a result of its cationic nature, chitin and chitosan possess anti-bacterial properties, which are absent in cellulose [34]. The anti-microbial activity of chitosan can be further enhanced by combining it with metal nanoparticles, such as ZnO, TiO<sub>2</sub> and Ag. The anti-microbial property, analgesic effect and haemostatic effect of chitosan make it suitable as a wound dressing material [23].

Other polymers, such as starch, cellulose, chitin, glycogen, are also known for their biomedical applications. Starch is a biodegradable, biocompatible, non-toxic and soluble polymer. But it exhibits limitations such as poor processability, poor long-term stability, high water sensitivity and low mechanical properties, which restrict its widespread applications [35].

Glycogen is a natural, high molecular weight, biodegradable polymer. It is inert to amylases present in the bloodstream, but debranching enzymes intracellularly degrade it. Due to its high molecular weight, the kidneys without biodegradation cannot directly eliminate it. After internalization into the cells, it is rapidly degraded into D-glucose [36]. Bacterial cellulose exhibits no activity against bacterial infections, which are commonly observed in wounds and severe injuries [37]. The low solubility of cellulose in water and most organic solvents, due to its hydrogenbonded structure, is the main limitation of cellulose-based hydrogels. The properties of cellulose can be enhanced by producing hybrids with other polymers like chitosan [29]. Collagen can be used in tissue regeneration. But its high degradation rate and poor mechanical properties restrict its biomedical applications [29].

Most of the commercial natural polysaccharides, such as cellulose, dextran, heparin, pectin, agarose and many others, are either neutral or acidic, whereas chitin and chitosan are highly basic polysaccharides. This basic nature is due to the primary amino groups present in their structures. These polymers display some specific properties, such as polyelectrolyte complexation with oppositely charged polymers, chelating action, film-forming property and polyoxy salt formation [38]. The antacid and anti-ulcer activities of chitosan are due to its gel-forming property at slightly acidic pH. The anti-tumour activity of chitin and chitosan is enhanced by the activation of macrophages [25]. This is because chitosan induces expression of macrophage activation markers, such as macrophage inflammatory protein (MIP)-2, transferrin receptor, Fas and mannose receptor [39].

Researchers have developed drug delivery systems of chitosan for the treatment of colon and hepatic diseases. Several chitosan-based hydrogels have been formulated to encapsulate radioisotope drugs which are used in site-specific cancer therapy [29]. Chitosan hydrogels can be produced in the form of micro- or nano-sized beads. These beads swell in acidic conditions and release the drug. Chitosan hydrogels are soft, flexible, non-toxic and have controlled pore size. These properties of chitosan hydrogels are important in their biomedical applications such as drug delivery and tissue engineering [40].

Bionanocomposites are biohybrid materials having diverse morphology and structure. The properties of nanocomposites are enhanced by using a limited amount of nanofillers in the matrix. The addition of nanofillers like carbon, polysaccharides, phyllosilicates, etc. enhance the properties of bionanocomposites [41]. Chitosan is also used for the production of biocomposites. Recent studies described the production of cellulose-chitosan, gelatin-chitosan, starch-chitosan, chitosan- $\alpha$  chitin biocomposites, which have shown improved properties [42, 43].

Cellulose is a stable, water-insoluble, fibrous polysaccharide and plays a role in structural organization and maintenance of tensile strength. In the case of cellulose and its derivatives, their solubility acts as a major limitation in their applications. Recent studies have demonstrated that these limitations can be overcome by hydrolysis of high molecular weight cellulose into smaller fragments, which possess enhanced water solubility [44].

The most commonly used polysaccharides for drug delivery systems include chitosan, dextran, alginate, pectin and starch. Glycogen is comparatively less explored as it is degraded into D-glucose by intracellular enzymes and metabolized by physiological glycolysis [45].

## 4.1 Solubility of Chitosan and Other Sugar Polymers

Chitosan is insoluble in water and most organic solvents. It is soluble in acidic aqueous conditions (pH <6.3), but insoluble at higher pH, i.e. in neutral or basic conditions (pH >6.5). At lower pH, it has gel-forming property [27]. The solubility of chitosan majorly depends upon its degree of deacetylation, molecular weight, pH and protonation of free amino groups [38]. Thus, changes in molecular weight and degree of acetylation of chitosan affect its solubility [30]. The solubility of chitosan increases with a decrease in its molecular weight [46]. The solubility of chitosan also depends upon its structure; for example, the presence of protonated amino groups in the chitosan structure renders it soluble in dilute acidic solutions [24]. Highly deacetylated chitosan demonstrates higher solubility in the solutions with pH up to 6.5, but its solubility decreases with a decrease in the degree of deacetylation [25, 30]. Different types of chemical and physical interactions are involved in the solubilization of chitosan, which include hydrogen bonds, van der Waals forces, hydrophobic interactions, etc. [46].

Chitosan exhibits limited reactivity and processability. One of the major limiting factors is its poor water solubility. The poor solubility of chitosan in water and solvents of higher pH, high viscosity and its aggregation with proteins at high pH may restrict its applications [26, 34]. Due to the poor solubility of chitosan at neutral pH, its anti-bacterial activity is observed only in acidic conditions. Its solubility can be increased based on the number of unsubstituted amine groups [28]. The unmodified chitosan aggregates, at neutral pH, result in low cell penetration,

which can be overcome by modifications such as quaternization of chitosan [47]. The solubility of chitosan can be enhanced by chemical modifications such as cationization, quaternization, carboxymethylation or surface modification with metal or metal oxide nanoparticles [34]. The three reactive functional groups of chitosan, namely the amino group and the primary and secondary hydroxyl groups on C2, C3 and C6, respectively, are highly susceptible to chemical modifications [26]. Partial hydrolysation of chitosan also enhances some of its properties. The viscosity of chitosan affects its biological properties, such as wound healing, biodegradation by lysozyme. Chitosan can form gels at acidic pH due to its hydrophilic nature. These gels are used in applications such as a slow-release drug delivery system [38].

The cationic nature of chitosan is unique as compared to the other neutral or negatively charged polymers. The pH of the solution affects the charged state and properties of chitosan [25]. The solubility and ionization of polyelectrolytes are controlled by the ability of acidic media to protonate the polymer [46]. Solubility depends on the protonated amino groups in the structure and thus on the proportion of acetylated and non-acetylated D-glucosamine units [25]. The ionization of chitosan is based on the amino groups present in its structure. These amino groups can be protonated [31]. Ionization at low pH occurs due to the formation of chitosan-NH<sub>3</sub><sup>+</sup>. This protonation of amines results in positive charge, which increases the solubility of chitosan. As the pH increases (neutral or basic conditions), the amines get deprotonated and the polymer loses its charge, due to which the polymer becomes insoluble. This results in precipitation or gelation of the polymer [25, 46]. The soluble-insoluble transition is observed at the pKa of chitosan (pH 6-6.5). The conformation of chitosan molecules in dilute solutions depends upon its chemical, structural characteristics (degree of deacetylation, chain length, unit distribution, etc.) and also on solution parameters including pH, ionic strength temperature, etc. [31].

Chitosan (CS) can be modified into various forms such as N-trimethylene chloride, ester forms like CS glutamate, CS phthalate and CS succinate. The N-trimethylene chloride is a quaternary derivative of CS that exhibits enhanced aqueous solubility, higher absorption of neutral and cationic peptide analogues at a wide pH range and intestinal permeability. The ester forms show different solubility, i.e. they are insoluble in acidic conditions and show a sustained release in basic conditions [38]. Solubility of chitosan in water can be enhanced by catechol conjugation. It makes chitosan soluble even at a neutral pH, while the conjugate is a partially soluble conjugate at a basic pH [48]. The net cationic charge of chitosan decreases at higher pH resulting in decreased oligonucleotide affinity. Microcapsules and nanoparticles of chitosan and its derivatives thus exhibit pH sensitivity and hence can control the release of encapsulated drugs [49].

Chitosan dissolves in organic acids, such as acetic, formic and lactic acids. Chitosan is most commonly dissolved in 1% acetic acid (pH 4), 1% hydrochloric acid and dilute nitric acid. But it is insoluble in sulphuric and phosphoric acids [25]. Based on its solubility, chitosan can be produced in different forms such as nanofibres, films, hydrogels, powder form [23]. The cross-linking of chitosan using

glutaraldehyde results in decreased solubility. As the concentration of cross-linking agent increases, the swelling property of chitosan decreases [38]. A weaker intermolecular hydrogen bonding results in a parallel arrangement of the main chains, which leads to the swelling of this polymer [25].

Chitin has lower applicability, as compared to chitosan, due to its insolubility and chemical non-reactivity. In case of chitin, inter- and intra-molecular hydrogen bonds are formed with acetyl, amino and hydroxyl groups in the polysaccharide chain, which aggregates chitin. Due to this, chitin is insoluble in regular solvents like water, mild acidic or basic solutions, organic solvents, etc. [46]. There is a growing interest in chemical modifications of chitin and chitosan to increase their solubility and applications [32]. The solubility of chitin is increased by converting it into chitosan, which has a favourable pKa value and degree of deacetylation [46].

Alginate is stable in acidic pH, but it swells and dissolves in alkaline pH. In chitosan-alginate biocomposites, chitosan strengthens the structure of alginate and increases its stability in the alkaline pH [50]. In alginate, the O-acetyl group affects properties such as its solubility, water capacity, polymer confirmation, etc. Due to the better interaction of chains with water molecules, acetylated alginate absorbs more water [51].

In case of starch, its applications are limited due to its water solubility, brittleness and poor mechanical properties [52]. These limitations of starch can be overcome by blending starch with other polymers such as chitosan, polyvinyl alcohol, cellulose, alginate, etc. Blending with chitosan leads to the formation of intermolecular hydrogen bonds between hydroxyl groups of starch and amino and hydroxyl groups of chitosan. This results in improved mechanical strength and lower solubility, i.e. water resistance [53].

Cellulose is insoluble in water and in many organic solvents. It is soluble in solvents such as N-methylmorpholine N-oxide and ionic liquids such as 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride (BMIMCl) and 1-allyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride (AMIMCl) [54, 55].

# 4.2 Thermal Properties of Chitosan and Other Sugar Polymers

The physicochemical properties of chitosan such as solubility, viscosity, thermal stability majorly depend on the degree of acetylation and molecular weight. The thermal behaviour of chitosan and its derivatives is important for specific industrial applications [56]. Characterization of the thermal properties of composites is helpful for the processing of biomaterials. Semi-crystalline polymers show non-isothermal crystallization behaviour. Most of the processing techniques are melt-based and occur under non-isothermal conditions. The resulting properties, including mechanical, physical and biodegradable behaviour, thus depend on the morphology and extent of crystallization [57]. In starch, the thermal stability increases with increase

in the content of amylopectin. The more the content of amylopectin, as compared to amylose, the more is the thermal energy required to break the molecular chains of starch [58]. Chitosan is a labile molecule, susceptible to different degradative mechanisms, including thermal degradation. It cannot withstand higher temperature (200–220°C). Its poor thermal stability can be overcome by the addition of certain stabilizing agents, such as hydroxyapatite, calcium carbonate or nanoclay, etc. These materials offer a shielding effect to chitosan, due to which it requires higher activation energy for thermal degradation of composites. Thus, stabilizing agents increase the barrier properties and insulating properties, which result in improvement in the thermal stability of chitosan [59]. Thermal stability of chitosan in chitosan-silica hybrid films is very high due to the high content of silylating agents. Also, the silica content in aerogel prevents thermal degradation of chitosan [60].

As compared to chitosan, cellulose is more stable at temperatures up to  $200-300^{\circ}$ C, possibly due to the extensive inter- and intra-molecular hydrogen bonding [61]. Studies have shown that thermal stability is enhanced in cellulose-chitosan composite materials. At high chitosan concentration (about 45%), the highest thermal stability was observed. This was due to the formation of intermolecular reaction between cellulose and chitosan, which may have improved the cohesive energy resulting in high thermal stability [62].

As a polysaccharide with high hydrogen content, chitosan degrades thermally before reaching its glass transition temperature. Therefore, chitosan solutions are used for the preparation of films, fibres, gels, particles and sponges. In the solution state, the amino and hydroxyl groups in chitosan are more susceptible for chemical modification, which enables enhancement in the functional properties of this polymer [31]. High molecular weight chitosan is considered more stable as it shows thermal stability. Various factors such as strong acids, high temperature, mechanical shearing, irradiation affect its molecular weight. The inter-chain cross-linking between free amino groups enhances the stability of polymer structure, which results in slower thermal depolymerization of chitosan [63]. Also, as discussed previously, incorporation of chitosan in composites, at higher concentrations, improves thermal stability [62]. Other polymers such as alginate exhibit various limitations, such as susceptibility to heat, poor stability, low barrier properties, incompatibility with heavy metals, etc. These properties can be enhanced by combining alginate with other biopolymers such as chitosan, cellulose [64]. In case of starch, thermal degradation and instability are important limitations with its use [65]. Thermal stability of starch is improved either by its chemical modifications, such as acetylation, or by increasing its degree of substitution (DS). The DS is the substitution of alkyl ether groups of starch by hydroxyl groups which improves the thermal stability of starch [66]. Another way of improving the thermal stability of starch is its mixing it with other polymers, such as chitosan. Studies have shown that chitosan is a good reinforcing agent and also improves the thermal stability of starch-based biodegradable films [67].

## 4.3 Crystallinity of Chitosan and Other Sugar Polymers

The crystallinity of a polymer defines the degree of structural order and regularity in molecular arrangements. A higher degree of crystallinity results in higher hardness and density of the polymer. In the crystalline state, the high intermolecular bonding leads to increased strength of the polymer [68]. The crystallinity of chitosan has been studied by XRD [69]. It is an important physical characteristic that controls the accessibility of amine groups of chitosan, as well as its functions such as metal sorption rate and total uptake [25]. The degree of deacetylation and crystallinity controls the sorption rate by controlling the swelling and diffusion properties of chitosan. The sorption properties can be improved by modifications such as manufacturing gel beads and decreasing crystallinity [70]. The crystalline structure of chitosan majorly depends on the deacetylation process and its chitin polymorphic form [71].

The chemical structure of chitosan, just as in case of the parent polymer – chitin, is expected to lead to the formation of a highly ordered super-molecular structure, containing a large number of intra- and inter-molecular hydrogen bonds, having a high degree of crystallinity [72]. There are three polymorphic forms of chitin, namely  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$ , which differ in the arrangement of chains in the crystalline region. The  $\alpha$ -chitin contains anti-parallel chains, while  $\beta$ -chitin contains parallel chains, whereas  $\gamma$ -chitin is a combination of  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -chitin [71]. The crystalline form of chitosan is insoluble in aqueous solutions with a pH higher than 7. The protonated free amino groups in dilute acids facilitate solubility of this biopolymer [32]. In case of  $\beta$ -chitosan, a higher solubility with lower crystallinity has been reported, which results in better functional properties as compared to  $\alpha$ -chitosan [71].

The crystallinity and polymorphism of chitosan vary depending on its origin and also the treatment conducted during the extraction process. Maximum crystallinity was observed in chitin (0% deacetylated) and fully deacetylated chitosan (100% deacetylated). In acidic conditions, chitosan acted as an excellent viscosity-enhancing agent. It also behaved as a pseudo-plastic material, leading to a decrease in the viscosity with increasing shear rate. The viscosity of the chitosan solution depended on various factors. It increased with an increase in the chitosan concentration, decrease in temperature and an increase in the degree of deacetylation [73]. The degree of deacetylation of chitosan products majorly depends on the deacetylation process parameters than on the crystalline structure [71].

In case of chitosan-alginate composites, the decreased crystallinity of the hydrogel was due to the ionic interaction between chitosan and alginate, resulting in good compatibility [74].

The crystallinity of cellulose is a major reason for its insolubility. Cellulose forms extended crystalline regions. As compared to the amorphous forms, the crystalline forms have lower free energy. As a result, crystalline cellulose is more difficult to dissolve than amorphous form of cellulose [54]. In case of chitosan-cellulose films, chitosan prevents crystallization of cellulose, resulting in decreased crystallinity of

cellulose with an increasing chitosan content [75]. In anti-bacterial cellulosechitosan composites, the crystallinity decreased due to integration of chitosan molecules with the cellulose micro-fibrils. Here, the chitosan molecule disrupted the hydrogen bonding within cellulose chains, resulting in the lower crystallinity of the composite [76].

### 4.4 Non-toxicity of Chitosan and Other Sugar Polymers

The molecular weight, degree of deacetylation, source, purity and polydispersity affect the toxicity of chitosan [77]. Toxicity of chitosan depends upon the degree of deacetylation, its molecular weight and charge density. At a higher degree of deacetylation, the toxicity can be linked with its molecular weight and concentration, while at a low degree of deacetylation, toxicity is lower and less dependent on molecular weight. The toxicity of chitosan increases with increasing density [77]. Studies have clearly indicated that chitosan has low toxicity. Its reported toxicity is as low as 16 g/kg body weight, which is similar to that of sugar or table salt [31]. Chitin and chitosan are considered safe due to their low toxicity in animal investigations. They are not expected to be digested or absorbed in the human gastrointestinal tract [25].

However, modifications of chitosan such as covalent cross-linking in the formation of hydrogels, microparticles and nanoparticles production make it more toxic [77]. The most common cross-linkers used to cross-link chitosan are glyoxal and glutaraldehyde, which are effective but toxic. Glutaraldehyde is neurotoxic, while glyoxal is mutagenic. The presence of free unreacted dialdehydes, even after purification of microparticles of chitosan, can induce toxic effects. This can be overcome by using other cross-linking agents such as diethyl squarate, genipin, oxalic acid, etc. [25]. Thus, employment of chitosan-based drug delivery systems requires in vivo toxicity testing after prolonged administration [77].

Chitosan displays lower toxicity as compared to other cationic polymers such as polyarginine, polylysine, polyethyleneimine, etc. Due to this, chitosan is also used for non-viral gene delivery systems [78]. Composites of chitosan with other sugar polymers have been proven as safe for biomedical applications due to their low toxicity. For example, studies showed that alginate/chitosan/lovastatin nanoparticles (ACL) could lower serum cholesterol and were safe and non-toxic [79]. Alginate-chitosan composite microspheres were safe and effective for delivery of vancomycin and maintained effective drug concentration [80].

# 4.5 Mucoadhesiveness of Chitosan and Other Sugar Polymers

Mucoadhesiveness is an important property of a polymer which plays an essential role in drug delivery application. In this case, the drug delivery system (DDS) adheres to the mucous membrane, which increases the residence time of the drug and enhances concentration gradient. This leads to the controlled drug release and prolonged therapeutic effect of the drug [81]. Mucoadhesive polymers have been used for local or systemic drug delivery, via different routes such as dermal, oral, buccal, vaginal, etc. [82]. As compared to other polymers, such as starch or cellulose, chitosan presents mucoadhesive properties due to its functional amino and hydroxyl groups [83].

Cationic chitosan exhibits strong mucosal adhesion due to its electrostatic interactions with the negatively charged mucin. Along with electrostatic interactions, hydrogen bonding and hydrophobic interactions are also responsible for mucoadhesion of chitosan [84].

The mucoadhesive nature of chitosan increases with the increase in the degree of deacetylation as more positively charged amino groups become available for interaction with the negatively charged mucus. Due to this, highly deacetylated chitosan is used for drug delivery applications. Mucoadhesion results in prolonged retention at the site of action [30]. At acidic conditions, chitosan displays a cationic nature due to the protonation of amino groups. These positive charges bind with negatively charged residues (e.g. sulphated glycans and sialic acid residues) in mucin, resulting in improved mucoadhesiveness [24].

The flexibility of the molecular structure of chitosan facilitates its chemical modifications, which improve its mucoadhesion and solubility [30]. The mucoadhesive property of chitosan gels enhances the bioavailability of the loaded drugs loaded in these, which in turn leads to enhanced drug delivery [29]. The swollen form of chitosan demonstrates excellent mucoadhesiveness, due to its adherence to hard and soft tissues. A better adhesion is seen in case of epithelial tissues and mucus layer present on the tissue surfaces [73]. The mucoadhesive and absorption enhancing properties of chitosan and its derivatives result in the improvement of mucosal and trans-mucosal delivery of drugs [30].

Mucoadhesion of chitosan transiently and reversibly opens the tight junctions between the epithelial cells, resulting in enhancement of para-cellular permeability. The exposure to chitosan increases claudin-4 (CLDN-4) gene transcription in the cell. Chitosan treatment results in intracellular redistribution of CLDN-4, followed by its degradation in the lysosome. Therefore, because of its ability to bind to mucin, chitosan regulates the tight junctions by inducing changes in CLDN4 protein [85].

Alginate is an anionic polymer with carboxylic groups. It displays higher mucoadhesiveness as compared to the other polymers such as chitosan, cellulose [86]. Hence alginate-chitosan complexes can be produced and used to overcome the limitations of both these polymers. Thus, these complexes have been explored for intravaginal drug delivery, for the treatment of bacterial vaginosis [87].

## 4.6 Biodegradability of Chitosan and Other Sugar Polymers

Biodegradation of biopolymers is a natural process that involves living organisms or enzymes in tissues, which degrade, mineralize and redistribute biomaterials through carbon or nitrogen cycles [31]. The degradation products of chitosan are non-toxic, non-immunogenic, non-carcinogenic and do not produce any toxic or inflammatory reactions [26]. Biodegradable polymers usually degrade quickly within a few months or 2 years. The biomaterial is easily degraded and excreted from the body by the hydrolytic process. In the body, the biomaterial undergoes loss of its mechanical strength resulting in the recovery of the body system with no toxicity or any other biological effect [88]. Chemical and enzymatic degradation are the two major routes of chitosan degradation. Chemical degradation of chitosan is an acidcatalysed degradation. On the other hand, the enzymatic degradation of chitosan results in hydrolysis of glucosamine–glucosamine, glucosamine–N-acetyl-glucosamine and N-acetyl-glucosamine–N-acetyl-glucosamine linkages [77].

Chitosan is a polysaccharide that contains cleavable glycosidic bonds. It is degraded in vivo by several proteases and majorly by lysozyme. The biodegradation of chitosan results in the formation of oligosaccharides having variable lengths, which are either used in metabolic pathways such as glycosaminoglycan and glycoprotein pathways or excreted directly via the urine [24]. The non-degradable materials can accumulate intracellularly or within different organs. Hence, while considering the acute and long-term toxicity, the biodegradability of chitosan becomes crucial. Studies have shown that chitosan is highly biodegradable as a result of digestion of its molecular chains by either chitinase, that is produced by normal intestinal flora, or by lysozyme, that is present in the mucosal surfaces [30].

The most common enzymes that degrade chitosan include chitinases, chitobiases, lysozyme and other proteases that are abundantly present in nature. The enzymatic degradation of chitosan results in the release of amino sugars. Degradation of chitosan by lysozyme and several proteinases requires suitable conditions of temperature, pH and ionic strength [31]. Degradation is important for various applications of chitosan, such as the release of the small and large molecules and in functional tissue regeneration. Hence, investigating and controlling the degradation rate of chitosan-based polymers is essential [73]. The rate of degradation of chitosan is majorly related to its molecular mass, degree of deacetylation and also to the distribution of N-acetyl D-glucosamine residues in the polymer [24]. Chitosan of larger molecular size undergoes degradation by chemical or enzymatic routes to result in fragments that are suitable for renal clearance [77].

The rate and extent of biodegradation of chitosan are inversely related to its degree of deacetylation [77]. Also, the biodegradation is inversely proportional to the degree of crystallinity, which in turn is controlled by the degree of deacetylation. The biodegradability of chitosan is also affected by the distribution of acetyl groups, rearrangement of acetyl groups and their homogenous distribution, which results in lower rates of enzymatic degradation [73]. Also et al. suggested that the variations in the distribution of acetamide groups in chitosan result in differences in degradation

[89]. These differences occur due to variations in deacetylation, which lead to changes in inter- or intra-molecular repulsive forces and result in influencing the viscosity of chitosan [73].

The biodegradability of chitosan is an important consideration during drug delivery. In case of oral delivery, hydrolytic degradation due to acidity of the gastric medium should be considered while determining the efficacy of drug delivery [30]. Cellulose is also a biodegradable polymer, which is degraded by cellulase enzyme present in nature, but is absent in the human body. Therefore, buffers, solvents, polymers are used for its modification to enhance its degradation and bioabsorption in a living system [88].

Similar to cellulose, alginate is also non-degradable in mammals due to the lack of enzyme alginase. The ionically cross-linked alginate gels can be dissolved. But the average molecular weight of the alginate is higher than the renal clearance threshold of the kidneys and thus it cannot be removed completely from the body. Partial oxidation of alginate chains is used to make alginate degradable [90]. Starchbased biodegradable polymers are used in bone tissue engineering and also as a drug delivery system. Mostly microsphere or hydrogel forms of starch are used for drug delivery. Starch-gelatin blend microparticles are used for controlled release drug delivery of water-soluble drugs [91]. Studies have proved that chitosan with low degree of deacetylation is degraded by lysozyme. But in case of chitosanalginate polyelectrolyte complex, the effect of lysozyme mediated degradation is very low due to strong interactions between the polymers [92]. A larger quantity of chitosan in the composite may prolong its degradation by bacteria. Chitosan coated cellulose was found to be resistant against the cellulase enzyme. Along with chitosan content, the amount of carbonyl and carboxyl groups present in the cellulose also affects the biodegradability of the composite film [93].

## 4.7 Biocompatibility of Chitosan and Other Sugar Polymers

Biocompatibility is the ability of a compound to get in contact with a living system without producing any harmful effect [31]. Biocompatibility of chitosan is important for its biomedical applications, such as wound dressing, sutures and artificial skins. This biomaterial has been used in the products such as HemCon bandages (manufactured by Tricol Biomedical Inc.), which have been approved for wound dressing by the US FDA in 2003 [24, 94].

The biocompatibility of chitosan varies with its physicochemical characteristics and experimental conditions [31]. It also depends upon its degree of deacetylation. The biocompatibility increases with increase in the degree of deacetylation. When the positive charge of chitosan increases, its interaction with the cells increases, which in turn results in improved biocompatibility [24]. Biocompatibility of biomaterials also depends on the protein sorption. When a material comes in contact with body fluid or blood, protein adsorption occurs. It is influenced by the surface properties of the material such as its chemistry, hydrophilicity, roughness and charge. The matrix network in hydrogel-based materials also influences the protein sorption [28]. Various studies have proved the cytocompatibility of chitosan with different cell types, such as keratinocytes, vascular, endothelial, fibroblasts, chondrocytes, osteoblasts, neurons, hepatocytes, cancerous cells, etc. The degree of acetylation of chitosan inversely affects the cell adhesion and proliferation, i.e. the higher the degree of acetylation, the lower the cell adhesion is. The biomedical applications of chitosan, such as in drug delivery, cell scaffolds and tissue engineering, are based on its adherence to the cells and its biocompatibility [31]. The biocompatibility of chitosan, in turn, depends on several parameters such as the polymer behaviour, individual characteristics such as age, sex, health and the structure of carriers such as size, crystallinity, morphology, degradation capacity, surface characteristics and products [30]. Chitosan hydrogels exhibit high biocompatibility, due to which they are most commonly used for wound dressing and tissue engineering [28]. Biocompatibility of chitosan minimizes local inflammation. It can be moulded into porous structures, which allow the osteoconduction phenomenon [69].

Other polymers such as alginate also present good biocompatibility but are composed of inert monomers which lack bioactive ligands required for cell anchoring [95]. In case of cellulose (mostly bacterial cellulose), its biocompatibility is improved by producing cellulose composites with other polymers such as chitosan, collagen, gelatine, starch, etc. Along with biocompatibility, other properties such its water holding capacity, water release rate, thermal stability of cellulose are also improved in the cellulose-chitosan composites [96].

# 5 Applications of Chitosan as Compared to the Other Sugar-Based Polymers

Natural sugar-based polysaccharides like cellulose, starch, chitosan, alginate are considered to be superior to other polymers due to their biocompatibility, bioactivity, homogeneity and bio-adhesive properties. These application areas have been listed in Table 3. Also, they are renewable and can mimic the extracellular matrix (ECM) [97]. Among the plant-derived polysaccharides, the most abundant and naturally available polysaccharide is cellulose [98]. Also, it can be produced by certain bacteria like *Acetobacter, Sarcina ventriculi* and *Agrobacterium*, etc. [99]. Starch is another biopolymer, which is found in plants, green and red algae. Commercially available chitosan is mainly from animal origin [100]. Chitosan can be obtained from shells of crustaceans like crabs, shrimps, lobsters, as well as fish scales and many other organisms like insects and fungi, etc. [12]. Alginate is another important polysaccharide typically obtained from brown seaweed. Commercially available alginate is normally extracted from brown algae (*Phaeophyceae*) [90].

These materials have been engineered into biologically superior variants by numerous physical and chemical methods like copolymer grafting, atom transfer

Polysaccharide	Advantages	Disadvantages	Applications	References
Chitosan	Biocompatibility, anti-microbial, innocuous, easily degradable, adsorbability, film formation	Low water solu- bility, poor spinnability, poor strength	Drug delivery car- rier, gene transfer, haemostasis mate- rial, medical dress- ing, hydrogels, tissue engineering	[12, 97, 98, 99]
Alginate	Low toxicity, bio- compatibility, tumour suppressor, immunity booster	Bad biodegrad- ability, cell attachment poor	Pharmaceutical excipient, medical dressing	[90, 100, 101]
Starch	Abundant sources, low price, degrada- tion products safe and non-toxic, non-antigenic	Poor mechanical strength, more hydrophilic, poor blocking performance	Haemostasis mate- rial, tissue- engineered scaffold, drug delivery carrier, bone repair material	[102, 103, 104, 105]
Cellulose	Abundant sources, low-cost material	Rare adverse reactions	Pharmaceutical adjuvant	[102, 106, 107]

Table 3 Polysaccharides, advantages, disadvantages and main application areas

radical polymerization, etc. to make them suitable materials for biomedical applications [101].

Among these polymers, chitosan is significantly more versatile and is hence employed for numerous applications, as discussed subsequently.

## 5.1 Drug Delivery

Delivering drugs at different target sites, along with controlling the concentration delivered over a specific period, is a challenging task. The uptake of drug by the organs surrounding the intended site of action can lead to side effects. If the drug is delivered in exceptionally higher amounts, they can cause adverse reactions or toxicity. Hence, targeted drug delivery systems that are able to control the rate of drug release are being developed [102]. Starch has been employed in conventional as well as specialized drug delivery systems [103, 104].

Starch nanoparticles and matrix systems have been fabricated for targeted drug therapy. Starch-based delivery systems, such as polymeric micelles, polymeric capsules, grafts and hydrogels, etc., have been explored for controlled release of anti-cancer drugs. Similarly, these systems have also been investigated for drug delivery to the lungs via the nasal pathway [105]. Starch-polyethylene glycol copolymer micelles have been designed by grafting this biopolymer with carboxyl-terminal polyethylene glycol. This copolymer was cross-linked with lipoic acid via disulphide bonds and the resulting glutathione responsive system was employed for intracellular delivery of doxorubicin [106].

Although a versatile drug carrier, certain properties make starch less efficient in conventional and innovative formulations. The absorption of water by starch varies with the relative atmospheric humidity, the presence of numerous hydroxyl groups in starch and its derivatives, which can modify its interaction with drug molecules and the morphology of starch. This is also known to facilitate the breakdown of these carriers, leading to the release of active substances contained within [107]. This hydrophilic nature and the intrinsic moisture content of starch are among the important factors that will affect the particular formulation by affecting properties like flow, compaction and tensile strength in drug delivery platforms like granules and tablets. These problems associated with native starch are being overcome through the development of modified starch such as pregelatinized starch, cyclodextrin, carboxymethyl starch, etc. [103, 107].

The drug loading capacity of natural cellulose is significantly low due to the extensive intra- and inter-molecular hydrogen bonding. Thus, modified cellulose is being used as a carrier for drug delivery applications [108]. Due to its extensive intramolecular bonding and low solubility in comparison with starch, the use of cellulose is limited for drug delivery [109]. In recent years, efforts have been made to overcome this limitation through hydrolysis of high molecular weight cellulose into smaller fragments, which can increase its solubility. Commercially available cellulose derivatives such as ethylcellulose, carboxymethyl cellulose are excellent starting materials having superior functions in drug delivery, formulations, wound dressing [97]. Nanocellulose, derived from native cellulose, can result in drug release within several minutes to several days. The release time primarily depends on the formation of nanocellulose and the active pharmaceutical ingredient encapsulated in it. Thus, nanocellulose can be used as a versatile carrier via different delivery routes [110]. In 2015, Hosseinidoust et al. suggested that nanocellulose could stress cells due to its high charge density. In 2017, Seabra et al. reviewed the in vivo and in vitro investigations related to nanocellulose. It was observed that nanocellulose resulted in very low toxicity in several models. However, due to the occasional severe toxicity reported, further investigations with nanocellulose were recommended by researchers [111, 112].

Alginate is known for the delivery of variety of low molecular weight drugs. It is most useful when a primary or secondary bond between drug and alginate is to be broken to regulate the kinetics of drug release leading to rapid release of drug molecule. Alginate has been widely studied in many drug delivery applications, in combination with chitosan, as their combination forms ionic complex, which is useful in drug release [90]. Multiparticulate system of alginate and chitosan containing triamcinolone were prepared by ionotropic gelation method for colonic drug delivery [113].

Chitosan and cellulose have an overall similar structure, the only difference being the presence of the amino group at the C-2 position in chitosan, while cellulose having a hydroxyl group at this position. Therefore, these two materials are miscible with each other and the resulting composite material has improved mechanical properties (due to cellulose) and anti-bacterial properties (due to chitosan) [114]. Among the aforementioned natural sugar-based polymers, chitosan is widely used in drug delivery systems [115]. Chitosan has gained enormous importance in the pharmaceutical industry because of its wide availability, non-toxic nature, biocompatibility and biodegradability, which make it an ideal carrier for drug therapy. Some other biological activities of chitosan include its haemostatic, bacteriostatic, anticholesteremic, anti-carcinogenic, fungistatic actions, etc. [116]. Also, it has distinct structural similarity to the mammalian glycosaminoglycans (GAGs), which are a family of hetero-polysaccharides in mammals that are primarily located on the surface of cells and in the extracellular matrix (ECM) [117].

The polycationic property of chitosan gives it remarkable mucoadhesive property due to its positive charge. Because of this, it has better and longer adhesion to mucous, which in turn can enhance the efficiency of drug delivery by providing enhanced contact time for drug penetration [78]. However, the lower solubility of chitosan is the major drawback. Thus, this material has been modified into different formulations like microspheres, tablets, nanoparticles, nanofibres, beads, films, hydrogels, conjugates, etc. for diverse applications [118]. These systems have overcome the issues associated due to low solubility, poor stability, toxicity, various side effects, low selectivity of diverse drug molecules. Chitosan nanoparticles are a good example of a drug carrier that has displayed controlled drug release, along with improvising drug solubility and stability, enhancing efficacy and reducing toxicity. Their small size has enabled them to traverse various cell barriers, like the bloodbrain barrier, etc., thus allowing them to deliver drugs at various sites within the body [78]. Existing work in the area of chitosan and its combinations with other sugar polymers being utilized for drug delivery has been summarized in Table 4.

## 5.2 Vaccine Delivery

Vaccines have significantly improved human health by offering protection against many life-threatening diseases. Traditional vaccines are composed of either whole pathogen or its parts to induce a robust immune response. In case of infections caused by the human immunodeficiency virus, mycobacterium tuberculosis, hepatitis C virus, etc., the traditional vaccines have limited efficacy or cause severe adverse effects. Thus, vaccine makers shifted their focus on subunit vaccine, nucleic acid vaccines, peptide vaccines, which were safe as well as efficacious and employed additional immune-stimulating materials, known as adjuvants. Numerous compounds like lecithin, saponin, mineral oil, agar have been studied for their ability to enhance the effectiveness of antigens, most of which are toxic and unsuitable for human use. At present, aluminium-based compounds are largely used in the human vaccine. Recently, biopolymer-based vaccine delivery systems and adjuvants have emerged as alternatives for aluminium-based compounds [141]. We will focus mainly on the role of sugar-based polymers in vaccine delivery.

	Polysaccharide and their	Delivery			
Drug	combination used	route	Summary of work done	Results	references
Insulin	Chitosan: Carboxylated chitosan/ poly (methyl methacrylate) nanoparticles	Oral	A system based on carboxylated chitosan grafted poly(methyl methacrylate) nanoparticles was prepared and loaded with insulin and tested on normal and diabetic rats to examine its drug release properties	The results indicated that the pre- pared system can be used as a car- rier for protein drugs like insulin	[611]
	<i>Alginate and chitosan</i> : Alginate- chitosan nanoparticles	Oral	Nanoparticles were prepared by ionotropic pre-gelation of an algi- nate core followed by chitosan polyelectrolyte complexation and insulin encapsulated into them	Orally delivered nanoparticles lowered basal serum glucose levels by more than 40% with 50 and 100 IU/kg doses sustaining hypoglycaemia for over 18 h	[120]
	Starch: Starch and polyethylene glycol	Oral	Polyethylene glycol(PEG) was conjugated with starch acetate. After its incubation with insulin solution, self-aggregated nanoparticles with mean particle size of 32 nm are formed	PEGylated starch acetate nanoparticles are highly bio-adhesive and can be utilized as a carrier system for controlled delivery of insulin	[121]
	Cellulose: Carboxymethyl cellu- lose/poly(acrylic acid) hybrid hydrogels	Oral	Biodegradable and pH-responsive carboxymethyl cellulose/poly (acrylic acid) hybrid hydrogels are synthesized. The hydrogels are synthesized. The hydrogels are de-swell in acidic artificial gastric fluid but rapidly swell in neutral artificial intestinal fluid (AIF), ren- dering selective enzymatic degra- dation of the gels as well as accelerated drug release from insulin-loaded hydrogels in AIF	Oral administration of insulin- loaded hydrogels to streptozotocin- induced diabetic rats leads to con- tinuous decline in the fasting blood glucose level within 6 h post- administration, and the relative pharmacological availability increased more than ten times compared to free insulin solution.	[122]

 Table 4
 Combination of drugs and polysaccharides, route of administration, work done and its results

<ul> <li>gosac</li> <li>comption oxidized oxidized durage r</li> <li>oxidized durage r</li> <li>oxidized durage r</li> <li>by polo</li> <li>methoo</li> <li>system and as</li> <li>release</li> <li>inied oi</li> <li>Intra-</li> <li>Methoc</li> <li>system and as</li> <li>release</li> <li>release<!--</th--></li></ul>
- Trin - Trin - Trin by p by by by by here syste syste syste - Sodi - Sodi - Carb bility bility pare CBZ

Table 4 (continued)					
Drug	Polysaccharide and their combination used	Delivery route	Summary of work done	Results	references
			characterized with respect to IR, DSC, XRD, SEM and dissolution kinetic studies		
	Chitosan: Carboxymethyl chitosan nanoparticles	Nasal	With the purpose of increasing the concentration of carbamazepine for the treatment of epilepsy, it was loaded on carboxymethyl chitosan nanoparticles to be used nasally in mice models	The system was capable of enhancing drug bioavailability and its delivery to brain	[128]
	Chitosan- alginate: Chitosan- sodium alginate carbamazepine microspheres	1	Chitosan-sodium alginate micro- spheres loaded with carbamazepine and studied for its controlled release	The formulation provided a desired carbamazepine loaded sodium alginate microspheres with the controlled release drug delivery and can be used in treatment of epilepsy	[129]
Progesterone	Chitosan: Glycol chitosan/ superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles	1	A polymeric-metallic hybrid nanoparticles of Fe3O4 was pre- pared and coated with glycol chitosan. To test the capability of system for drug release, it was loaded with progesterone and was studied for characterization	Satisfying biocompatibility and suitable controlled drug release of the model drug were observed	[130]
	Chitosan and alginate: Chitosan- sodium alginate nanoparticles	Nasal	Progesterone-loaded hydrogel nanoparticle formulations have been prepared by polyelectrolyte complex formation between trimethyl chitosan and sodium alginate	In vivo studies on male rats dem- onstrated five-fold increase in brain progesterone concentrations com- pared to basal progesterone level after 30 min of hydrogel nanopar- ticle inhalation	[36]

	rafted by carboxymethyl- yclodextrin		grafted chitosan nanoparticles were synthesized and tested for oral delivery of bovine serum albumin in simulated gastric fluid (SGF), simulated colonic fluid (SCF) to have a system with ability of effi- cient oral drug delivery of protein	cient in releasing drug in SIF and SCF than in SGF. Overall results indicated that protein drugs can be delivered orally by the prepared system	2
<u>ی ک</u>	<i>ellulose</i> : Cellulose-g-poly (crylic acid) hydrogels	Oral	Bovine serum albumin (BSA), a model protein drug, was loaded into the hydrogels, and the release profile in simulated gastrointestinal fluids was investigated	Increased steady release of less than 10% in simulated gastric fluid demonstrated the potential of these hydrogels to protect BSA from the acidic environment of the stomach	[132]
itaxel C. pc	<i>hitosan</i> : Chitosan/ linoleic acid/ oly (L-malic acid)	Intra- venous (IV)	Chitosan was modified by linoleic acid and poly(L-malic acid) to form double grafted chitosan nanoparticles which were later loaded by paclitaxel and tested in vitro and in vivo for drug load- ing and releasing capacity and anti- tumour activity	The developed system exhibited sustained release and tumour inhi- bition effect, suggesting that it can be utilized as drug carrier for IV administration of hydrophobic, anti-cancer drugs	[133]
U	'ellulose: Cellulose nanomaterial	Oral	Paclitaxel encapsulated in cellulose nanomaterial, as naïve paclitaxel degrades faster during its delivery	High release rate was observed on first day, also paclitaxel accumula- tion in tumour tissues increased	[134]
SI	tarch: Porous starch	1	Paclitaxel was loaded into porous starch in the form of nanoparticles (PNPS), and the properties of PNPS were investigated by using raw paclitaxel and the system of paclitaxel directly loaded into	Compared with raw paclitaxel and PPS, PNPS exhibited the more prominent dissolution rate and bioavailability, in which the bio- availability of PPS and PNPS were	[135]

Table 4 (continued)					
Drug	Polysaccharide and their combination used	Delivery route	Summary of work done	Results	references
			porous starch (PPS) as control groups	2.94 and 5.42 times of that of raw paclitaxel, respectively	
Lidocaine HCl, Ketoprofen, Dexamethasone	Chitosan: Chitosan/catechol	Buccal	A mucoadhesive hydrogel com- posed of chitosan and catechol was fabricated and cross-linked by genipin. Prepared hydrogel was loaded with drugs and was tested for the capability for buccal deliv- ery of the drug in rabbit models	Sustained release of drug was observed in vitro. Mucoadhesion and biocompatibility of the hydro- gel were also favourable. In vivo study confirmed the same. So, the fabricated hydrogel has potential for buccal drug delivery	[136]
Lidocaine	<i>Cellulose and alginate:</i> Alginate/ carboxymethyl cellulose/polyeth- ylene oxide nanofibre films	Buccal	The drug release behaviour was controlled by cross-linking lido- caine-loaded alginate/ carboxymethyl cellulose/polyeth- ylene oxide nanofibre films pre- pared by electrospinning	An excellent anti-adhesion barrier was developed that can be applied to treat patients in the medical field	[137]
Dexamethasone	<i>Starch</i> : Starch and polycaprolactone	1	A polymeric blend of starch with polycaprolactone was used to pro- duce a microparticle carrier for the controlled release of dexamethasone	The in vitro release studies showed a sustained release pattern with 48% of the encapsulated drug being released for a period of 30 days	[138]
Tamoxifen	Chitosan: Lecithin and chitosan	Oral	Tamoxifen loaded on phospho- lipid, chitosan nanoformulation, tamoxifen released from lecithin/ chitosan nanoparticles across excised rat intestinal wall mounted in an Ussing chamber was investigated	Compared to tamoxifen citrate suspension, the amount of the drug permeated in intestinal wall using the nanoformulation was increased from 1.5 to 90 times	[139]
Morphine	Chitosan	Nasal			[140]

54

The chitosan-morphine na	1 for- Results showed that the nasal for
mulations tested in health	volun- mulation was rapidly absorbed
teers in comparison with	low within 15 min or less and bio-
intravenous infusion (over	0 min) availability of nearly 60%
of morphine	

### 5.2.1 Starch-Based Vaccine Delivery Systems

Earlier studies have shown that the starch alone has low immunogenicity, but starch derivatives can be used as adjuvants for intranasal vaccination. Recently it was found that raw starch microparticles have immunostimulant properties in mice vaccinated with BCG and challenged with *Mycobacterium tuberculae* [142]. These microparticles conjugated with human serum albumin have resulted in robust antibody response in mice, when administered intraperitoneally, intramuscularly, intravenously [143]. However, the physical properties of starch such as its hydrophilic nature and low mechanical strength may be disadvantageous for vaccine preparations.

### 5.2.2 Cellulose-Based Vaccine Delivery Systems

Cellulose derivatives such as hydroxyethyl cellulose, carboxymethyl cellulose (CMC), hydroxypropyl cellulose and hydroxypropyl methylcellulose have been routinely used for controlled delivery of vaccines. In one experiment, Yongbo et al. prepared novel cellulose nanoparticles using charged CMC and quaternized cellulose (QC) and evaluated their potential for the in vitro delivery of DNA vaccine. At higher concentration of CMC (0.1 mg mL<sup>-1</sup>), DNA dissociated too early so resulted in low transfection efficiency. However, a lower concentration of CMC (0.05 mg mL<sup>-1</sup>) effectively reduced the binding between QC and DNA and therefore provided an efficient transfer, which was comparable to Lipofectamine. The improvement in transfection efficiency, while maintaining low toxicity, indicated suitability of CMC–QC nanoparticles for DNA vaccine delivery [144].

Wooyoung et al. developed a vaccine using microcrystalline cellulose (Avicel PH-101) as a delivery carrier of recombinant protein-based antigen against erysipelas. For studying its immunogenicity, groups of mice were immunized with different constructs, like soluble cellulose-binding domain (CBD)-surface protective protein (SpaA), Avicel coated with CBD SpaA, whole bacterin of *E. rhusiopathiae* (positive control), and PBS (negative control). After 2 weeks the mice were challenged with  $1 \times 10^7$  CFU of *E. rhusiopathiae*. It was observed that the 100% survival rate could be achieved using the Avicel coated with antigen in *E. rhusiopathiae*-challenged mice [145].

### 5.2.3 Alginate-Based Vaccine Delivery System

Alginate nanoparticles are hydrophilic carriers of antigen that prolong the antigen release and due to their adjuvant property enhance the immunogenicity than the traditional vaccines. Also, in nasal and oral administration of the vaccine, because of mucoadhesive properties and increasing permeability, they reduce the degradation of antigen in an acidic environment. Diphtheria toxoid loaded alginate nanoparticles were prepared by ionic gelation method and characterized. The loading of toxoid on the nanoparticles resulted in high loading capacities and subsequent release studies showed long release profile. When guinea pigs were immunized with diphtheria toxoid loaded alginate nanoparticles, they showed the highest humoral immune response than conventional vaccine [146]. To prevent immediate desorption of antigens from chitosan carriers in the gastrointestinal tract, bovine serum albumin (BSA) loaded chitosan microparticles were coated with sodium alginate by layer-bylayer technology. The alginate coating on chitosan microparticles could result in the protection of BSA, in in vitro acidic conditions, for 2 h and thus was deemed to be effective for oral administration of vaccine [147].

The live Bacille Calmette–Guérin (BCG) and *Mycobacterium indicus pranii* (MIP) were encapsulated in 2–4  $\mu$ m alginate particles and mice were immunized with liquid aerosol and dry powder aerosol containing alginate encapsulated mycobacterium particles. It was found that the dry powder aerosol of alginate encapsulated mycobacterium particles resulted in superior immune response than the liquid aerosol [148].

#### 5.2.4 Chitosan-Based Vaccine Delivery Systems

Among the sugar polymers, chitosan has been known as the most suitable material for vaccine delivery. Chitosan has displayed adjuvant properties, which are important for vaccine delivery [149]. In the formulation of vaccines, chitosan has been used to adsorb or encapsulate the antigen for enhancing the efficiency of administration [150].

In case of mucosal vaccination by nasal route, chitosan has been reported to increase the residence time of antigen and hence result in a higher antigen uptake due to its mucoadhesive properties [151]. Achievement of prolonged local delivery of immunomodulatory cytokines to improve immune response is one of the goals in the vaccine delivery system. Zaharoff et al. reported that subcutaneous injection of recombinant granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (rGM-CSF) formulated in chitosan solution resulted in longer retention of rGM-CSF at the injection site. This caused a significant enhancement in antigen presentation and overall protective response, as compared to the other lipid-based adjuvants [152].

Most of the studies that have employed chitosan as an adjuvant or carrier for protein and subunit vaccines exhibited the potential effect of chitosan on the immunogenicity of vaccine administered. Chitosan in soluble form as well as in particulate system can improve antigen uptake at mucosal epithelia, which allows vaccine access to sub-epithelial antigen-presenting cells (APCs) and results in increase in local immune response. In some cases, improvement of immunogenicity of DNA vaccine was achieved through the use of cationic liposomes and chitosan-based particulate delivery systems. These carrier systems were able to enhance the uptake of antigens by APCs and could induce T-cell response, which resulted in improved immunogenic response, especially by the mucosal route [153]. Due to the cationic nature of chitosan in weak acidic conditions, highly negative charged DNA

forms strong electrostatic interaction with it, which enables efficient vaccine delivery [154]. Illum et al. formulated a flu vaccine as chitosan-DNA nanoparticle complex. Upon intranasal and intramuscular administration of these complexes in BALB/c mice, elevated antibody titres were observed as compared to the administration of naked DNA [155]. Cui and Mumper evaluated the topical application of DNA nanoparticles. DNA chitosan nanoparticles and DNA coated on chitosan/ carboxymethyl cellulose nanoparticles were applied topically in mice. Both the systems showed increased titres of IgG over a prolonged period, showing that topical application of chitosan-DNA vaccine could stimulate the immune system [156].

Oral vaccination is better than systemic administration of vaccine as it avoids pain and risk of infection associated with the injection. It is also cost-effective and makes vaccination easy for the large population. Oral vaccination can induce both, mucosal and systemic immune response [157]. An effective T-cell immunity can be achieved at a lower dose of plasmid DNA if the delivery system can be targeted to the APCs and induce endolysosomal DNA vaccine release [158]. Mannose bearing chitosan was found to target APCs and provide sustained release of DNA vaccine [159]. Murthy et al. demonstrated that rapid degradation of chitosan particles in the lysosomal compartment after cellular uptake can result in dissociation of DNA from the polymer. The DNA vaccine is then expressed and processed, which results in MHC-I restricted antigen presentation and successive higher immune response than the administration of DNA alone [160].

## 5.3 Tissue Engineering

Tissue engineering is a field of biomaterial development which involves combining cells, scaffolds, biologically active molecules into a functional tissue. The objective of tissue engineering is to prepare a functional construct that can restore, maintain or improve damaged tissue or organ [161]. For use in tissue engineering, the polymer must be biocompatible and should possess specific mechanical, biochemical and physical properties [162]. Various natural sugar-based polymers like cellulose, starch and chitosan, alginate have been investigated for their use in repair and regeneration of compromised tissues [62, 163, 164].

Alginate exhibits excellent biocompatibility and biodegradability and thus has been employed for tissue engineering and drug delivery. It can be readily processed for constructing three-dimensional scaffolds, such as hydrogels, microspheres, sponges, etc. [165]. Alginate gels have been widely explored as vehicles to deliver proteins or cell populations that can direct the regeneration or engineering of various tissues and organs in the body [90].

Cellulose, being polymer of glucose, is an ideal candidate for biomaterial manufacturing because of its chemical, physical and mechanical properties. Cellulose is the most abundant polymer in nature and also presents a low-cost platform for tissue engineering. Cellulose-based biomaterials satisfy the criteria of biocompatibility, bioactivity required for tissue engineering [166].

Also, due to tunable mechanical properties, drug-releasing capabilities and moisture maintenance, cellulose is an interesting candidate for preparing artificial skin and wound dressings. However, cellulose does not exhibit anti-microbial properties, which are important for wound healing. Therefore, anti-microbial agents can be combined with cellulose biomaterials [162]. Nanofibrillar cellulose dressings have been used to heal and regenerate the skin of burn victims. Hakkarainen et al. demonstrated that functionalized cellulose dressing could be superior to the existing commercially available products, like Suprathel®. Epithelial skin regeneration and lack of inflammation for cellulose dressing were the major benefits observed. The dressing attached easily on the wound and detached on their own after skin regeneration [167]. Moreover, anti-microbial properties were conferred by synthesizing composite materials containing chitosan due to its efficacy against a wide range of microorganisms [168]. Tran et al. developed composite material using cellulose and chitosan. The composite material displayed combined advantages of both components, namely chemical and mechanical stability due to cellulose and excellent antimicrobial due to chitosan. This composite material could inhibit the growth of a wide range of microbes, such as *methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA), vancomycin-resistant Enterococcus (VRE), Staphylococcus aureus and Escherichia coli [169].

Various scientists have shown that chitosan and its derivatives can be used to repair or replace a part or whole tissues like skin, cartilage, bone, ligaments, tendon, blood vessels, intervertebral disc, etc. Here, chitosan is often co-grafted or combined with natural/semisynthetic/synthetic polymers, such as polyvinyl alcohol, polyacrylic acid and polyethylene glycol, etc., to increase its strength. Cross-linked silk fibroin/chitosan sponges have better thermal stability than sponge made up of pure silk fibroin or pure chitosan and it can be a potential scaffold material for the development of new tissues and organs [170]. There are many applications of chitosan in tissue culture as discussed in the following sections.

#### 5.3.1 Skin Tissue Engineering

Skin healing is a complicated process consisting of four overlapping stages – haemostasis, inflammation, proliferation and tissue remodelling. It involves blood elements, extracellular components, soluble factors and cells. Therefore there is a requirement of treating skin lesions with dressings that can ensure physical protection, along with the enhancement of healing and provide anti-microbial protection and reduce scar formation [164]. Chitosan is a promising skin substitute material due to its biocompatibility, biodegradability, haemostatic nature, enhanced fibroblast synthesis, scar-free healing and accelerated tissue regeneration [170].

The cationic nature and presence of C-2 amino and C-3, C-6 hydroxyl group affords important biological properties to chitosan. The cationic chitosan and negatively charged blood cells interact with each other and result in the haemostatic activity [171].

Polysaccharide	Commercial haemostatic products	References
Chitosan	Axiostat <sup>®</sup> , Chitoflex <sup>®</sup> , Chitoseal <sup>®</sup> , Celox <sup>®</sup>	[177]
Starch	PerClot <sup>®</sup> , Instantaneous <sup>®</sup>	[178]
Cellulose	Surgicel <sup>®</sup> , Traumastem <sup>®</sup> , Haemostem <sup>®</sup>	[180, 181, 182]
Alginate	Algisite M, Sorbsan, Cutimed <sup>®</sup> Sorbact <sup>®</sup>	[101, 183, 184]

Table 5 Commercial haemostatic products containing sugar polymers

Fei Han et al. developed novel gelatin-chitosan sponges. Biocompatibility and in vivo studies showed that the sponges could improve cell adhesion, proliferation and provided effective support to promote wound healing. The developed scaffold was proposed as a potential skin tissue engineering material, exhibiting good biocompatibility and physical properties [172]. Chitosan has very strong haemostatic activity, which is primarily dependent on its molecular weight, irrespective of the host coagulation pathway [173]. Chitosan with higher molecular weight can increase pro-coagulation effect due to higher interaction with polyelectrolytes [174]. The wound-healing effect of chitosan is dependent on its molecular weight, degree of deacetylation and also on its physical states like microspheres, fibres, hydrogels, films, membranes, etc. [175]. The moderate deacetylation caused by the formation of mesh-like structure within chitosan enhances its interaction with the blood components. With higher deacetylation, chitosan forms hydrogen bond within itself, leading to the formation of a crystalline structure that exhibits limited interaction with the blood cells [176]. The commercial haemostatic products based on sugar polymers have been stated in Table 5.

#### 5.3.2 Bone Tissue Engineering

In bone tissue engineering, biodegradable substitute acts as a temporary skeleton to support the bone tissue regeneration by gradual self-degradation and is eventually replaced by new bone tissue. In the case of treating a vertebral fracture, bone cement must possess proper injectability, bioactivity, rapid setting time, stiffness, low setting temperature [179].

Alginate, an anionic polymer, has gained more importance in bone tissue engineering due to its biocompatibility and gel-forming activity. Many composite materials such as alginate-chitosan, alginate-gelatin, alginate biosilica, and alginate ceramic have been investigated till date. These materials show enhanced biochemical suitability in terms of porosity, mechanical strength, biocompatibility, cell proliferation and osteogenic differentiation [180]. However, one critical drawback of ionically cross-linked alginate gel is limited long-term stability in physiological conditions, because these gels can dissolve after the release of divalent ions into surrounding [90]. This drawback can be minimized by combining alginate with chitosan, these composites are more stable as electrostatic interactions as well as hydrogen bonding between these two play important role in the increased stability of the composite [20]. Polymers like starch, chitosan exhibit many advantageous properties for the aforementioned orthopaedic applications [181, 182]. Starch-based scaffolds support attachment, proliferation and differentiation of bone marrow stromal cells. Also, scaffolds based on starch and gelatin exhibit high porosity, up to 52.51%, which is suitable for cell interaction, cell growth and vascularization [183]. Bone cement based on corn starch blended with cellulose acetate was prepared by polymerization, via the free radical technique. This construct promoted the healing process at the implantation site [184]. However, these polymers present several drawbacks such as difficulty in processing, very high water uptake, low mechanical strength and instability for long-term application. Also, the chemical modifications can give rise to toxic by-products and reduce the degradation rate of starch-based biomaterials [185, 186].

Chitosan can be alternative for above polysaccharides as along with its other biological properties, it is capable of supporting matrix deposition by osteoblast, osteoconduction and local inflammatory action, which are important in bone tissue engineering [182]. The mechanical properties of chitosan were improved by the addition of the hydroxyapatite due to its similarity with bone inorganic components [187]. Addition of hydroxyapatite to the matrix resulted in compressive strength increase compared to chitosan alone [164]. Also, other composites such as nanozirconia/chitosan, nano calcium-zirconate/chitosan, strontium-modified montmorillonite composite with comparable mechanical properties were developed [188]. The polycationic nature of chitosan was used to produce complexes with polyanionic polymers to improve the mechanical properties of the resulting composite scaffolds [189]. The layering of chitosan on top of metal implants (e.g., titanium) increased osteointegration [190]. Nowadays, chitosan is being used in 3D printing for various tissue engineering applications. Chitosan hydroxyapatite hydrogel was prepared by the thermal cross-linking reaction, using glycerol phosphate disodium salt and was printed successfully. The cells seeded on the printed scaffold were found with enhanced osteogenic marker expression in comparison with 3D printed alginate and alginate-hydroxyapatite scaffolds [191].

Similarly, chitosan silk fibroin blend is useful in cartilage regeneration. Chitosan has structural similarity to sulphated glycosaminoglycans, which provided a compatible microenvironment for chondrocyte proliferation, extracellular matrix synthesis and chondrogenesis [192]. Chitosan could interact with collagen via electrostatic interaction between abundant amino and sulfo groups [193].

### 5.4 Anti-microbial Applications

Polysaccharides like cellulose, alginate, starch are not intrinsically anti-microbial and they require chemical incorporation of an antibiotic compound. Chitin and chitosan have been investigated as anti-microbial materials against a wide range of target organisms like algae, bacteria, yeasts and fungi in in vivo and in vitro experiments involving different forms of chitosan, such as solutions, films and composites. Although the exact mechanism is not known, three anti-bacterial mechanisms of chitosan have been reported: (1) the ionic surface interaction leading to cell wall leakage, (2) the inhibition of mRNA and protein synthesis via penetration of chitosan in the microbial cell, (3) the formation of an external barrier, chelating metals and provoking the suppression of essential nutrients for microbial growth [168].

The anti-fungal mechanism of chitosan interferes with cell wall morphogenesis and affect fungal growth [194]. The microscopic observation showed that the chitosan oligomers diffuse inside hyphae, interfering enzyme activity responsible for fungal growth [195].

Several studies have shown that the anti-microbial property of chitosan depends on the molecular weight and degree of deacetylation, the lower the molecular weight and degree of deacetylation, the higher the effect on reducing microbial growth [168]. Studies carried out on *Bacillus cereus*, *E. coli*, *Staphylococcus aureus*, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, *Salmonella enterica*, *B. subtilis*, *Listeria monocytogenes* and *Klebsiella pneumoniae* proved that lower the molecular weight of chitosan, the greater was the effect on reduction in the microbial growth [196].

Similarly, some studies proved that the anti-microbial effectiveness of chitosan increased as the degree of deacetylation was lowered. Experiments on chitosan having different degrees of deacetylation were carried out against fungi such as Aspergillus fumigatus, Aspergillus parasiticus, Candida albicans, Fusarium oxysporum; gram-positive organisms like Bacillus cereus, Listeria monocytogenes, Staphylococcus aureus, Staphylococcus saprophyticus and gram-negative bacteria such as Escherichia coli, Enterococcus faecalis, Salmonella typhimurium, Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Aeromonas hydrophila, Shigella dysenteriae, Vibrio cholerae, Vibrio parahaemolyticus. Results showed that the anti-microbial activity increased with decreasing deacetylation degree [197]. Combination of silver nanoparticles (AgNPs) and chitosan nanoparticles was more efficient in inhibiting growth of E. coli, compared with either AgNPs or chitosan alone. The positively charged chitosan enhances the binding of AgNPs to the negatively charged surface of cells. It is believed that it leads to leakage of intracellular constituents and other proteins, therefore inactivating the bacteria. The addition of AgNPs to chitosan prevented formation of biofilm specific to E. coli thus helping purification of water [198].

### 6 Summary

Chitosan, the deacetylated form of chitin, has both, amino and hydroxyl groups, which can form stable covalent bonds with other naturally occurring sugar complexes. The protonated amino group becomes a polycation that can form ionic complexes with a variety of natural or synthetic anionic species. The amino groups in chitosan structure can be protonated, providing solubility in diluted acidic aqueous solutions, which confers several remarkable properties to chitosan and offers it unique opportunities in the biomedical field. The versatility and unique

characteristics, such as hydrophilicity, film-forming ability, biodegradability, biocompatibility, anti-bacterial activity and non-toxicity of chitosan, have all contributed to the successful development of various blends for medical applications. Chitosan is one of the most commonly used biopolymers in the biomedical field. It exhibits various biological properties, such as biocompatibility, biodegradability, non-toxicity, anti-bacterial, anti-fungal, anti-tumour activity, mucoadhesiveness, etc. The structural and functional properties of chitosan such as its cationic nature, solubility, bioactivity depend upon its molecular weight and degree of deacetylation. The insolubility of chitosan in water and most organic solvents and poor thermal stability can act as limiting factors for its applications. These limitations of insolubility and thermal instability can be overcome by chemical modifications such as cationization, quaternization, partial hydrolysation and by addition of stabilizing agents, such as hydroxyapatite, calcium carbonate or nanoclay, etc. Other properties of chitosan such as mucoadhesiveness and biodegradability play an essential role in drug delivery applications. Biocompatibility of chitosan is essential for its use in wound dressing, sutures, etc. Chitosan can be used as a chelating agent due to its binding property with proteins, fats, cholesterol and metal ions. Chitosan can also be blended with some other sugar polymers such as alginate, cellulose, starch, etc., to form biocomposites, films, beads, nanoparticles, etc. These combinations have improved biophysical and mechanical properties and overcome their limitations, such as poor long-term stability, low solubility, poor mechanical properties, etc.

Chitosan, alginate, cellulose and starch are useful polymers due to their biocompatibility, bioactivity, homogeneity and bio-adhesive properties. These polymers are derived from natural sources and have various applications in the biomedical field. Their properties can be enhanced by various chemical and physical modifications so that they can be used in drug delivery, tissue engineering and other pharmaceutical applications. In the drug delivery applications, these polysaccharides play important role in carrying various drugs at the target site. Starch, alginate, cellulose have been employed for various drug delivery applications, but are met with drawbacks such as the poor mechanical properties and hydrophilic nature of starch, poor cell interaction of alginate, low drug loading capacity of cellulose. These drawbacks can be minimized by use of chitosan and its derivatives, due to their non-toxic nature, biocompatibility and biodegradability and also the haemostatic, bacteriostatic, anticholesteremic, anti-carcinogenic, fungistatic actions of chitosan. Also, the polycationic property of chitosan gives mucoadhesive property, which helps in enhanced contact time for drug delivery. Raw starch microparticles can be used in vaccine preparation against Mycobacterium tuberculae due to its immunostimulant property. Cellulose derivatives, like CMC and QC, are useful in DNA vaccine delivery. Alginate can prolong the antigen release and can result in better immunity than the traditional vaccines. Chitosan has been used as a carrier for various antigens, as well as DNA molecules. It has also been used to encapsulate or adsorb the antigen molecules on its surface, enhance its efficacy during administration and enhance the antigen uptake by APCs. Due to the cationic charge of chitosan, it can bind efficiently with negatively charged DNA and result in efficient transfer of DNA vaccines.
In the field of tissue engineering, alginate, cellulose, starch can be used for preparing hydrogels and scaffolds due to its biocompatibility, bioactivity and tuneable mechanical properties. Also, various skin dressing materials, based on these polysaccharides, are commercially available. But due to lack of anti-microbial property, there is often a requirement of adding anti-microbial agents, while using the above polymers for tissue engineering applications. The composite materials made from cellulose and chitosan have suitable mechanical strength, as well as antimicrobial activity, which can be useful against many types of microorganisms. The cationic chitosan and negatively charged blood cells interact with each other and result in haemostatic activity, which is helpful in skin tissue engineering applications. Various haemostatic products are commercially available in market. Alginate, starch, cellulose exhibit many advantageous properties for the orthopaedic applications, such as suitability for osteoblast attachment, proliferation and differentiation. The limitations of difficulty in processing, very high water uptake, low mechanical strength and instability for long-term make them less applicable in bone tissue engineering. Chitosan can be an alternative for the above-mentioned polysaccharides as along with its other biological properties it is capable of supporting matrix deposition by osteoblast, osteoconduction, and local inflammatory action, which are important in bone tissue engineering. Among these polymers, chitosan has displayed innate anti-microbial properties against a wide range of organisms like algae, bacteria, yeasts and fungi, in in vivo and in vitro experiments involving different forms of chitosan, such as solutions, films and composites. Cellulose, alginate and starch have their own unique properties and limitations as discussed earlier. The structural and chemical nature of chitosan makes them better candidates, as compared with native polysaccharides, for their use in the biomedical field.

## References

- D'Ayala GG, Malinconico M, Laurienzo P (2008) Marine derived polysaccharides for biomedical applications: chemical modification approaches. Molecules 13:2069–2106. https:// doi.org/10.3390/molecules13092069
- Torres FG, Troncoso OP, Pisani A et al (2019) Natural polysaccharide nanomaterials: an overview of their immunological properties. Int J Mol Sci 20:5092. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms20205092
- 3. Dutta P, Dutta J, Tripathi V (2003) Chitin and chitosan: chemistry, properties and applications. J Sci Ind Res 63:22
- Zargar V (2015) A review on chitin and chitosan polymers: structure, chemistry, solubility, derivatives, and applications. ChemBioEng Rev 2:204
- Sahoo D, Sahoo S, Mohanty P, Sasmal S (2009) Chitosan: a new versatile bio-polymer for various applications. Designed Monomers Polymers 12:377–404. https://doi.org/10.1163/ 138577209X12486896623418
- 6. El Knidri H, Laajeb A, Lahsini A (2020) Chitin and chitosan: chemistry, solubility, fiber formation, and their potential applications. In: Gopi S, Thomas S, Pius A (eds) Handbook of chitin and chitosan. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 35–57
- 7. Chitin and chitosan preparation from marine sources. Structure, properties and applications. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4377977/. Accessed 12 Nov 2020

- Akakuru OU, Louis H, Amos PI, Akakuru OC, Nosike EI, Ogulewe EF et al (2018) The chemistry of chitin and chitosan justifying their Nanomedical utilities. Biochem Pharmacol 7:1. https://doi.org/10.4172/2167-0501.1000241
- Luchese C, Frick J, Santos N et al (2018) Effect of chitosan addition on the properties of films prepared with corn and cassava starches. J Food Sci Technol 55:8. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s13197-018-3214-y
- 10. Pereira L, Cotas J (2020) Alginates a general overview. IntechOpen, Rijeka
- 11. Thai H, Thuy Nguyen C, Thi Thach L et al (2020) Characterization of chitosan/alginate/ lovastatin nanoparticles and investigation of their toxic effects in vitro and in vivo. Sci Rep 10:909. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-57666-8
- Periayah MH, Halim AS, Saad AZM (2016) Chitosan: a promising marine polysaccharide for biomedical research. Pharmacogn Rev 10:39–42. https://doi.org/10.4103/0973-7847.176545
- Elhefian E (2014) Chitosan-based polymer blends: current status and applications. J Chem Soc Pakistan 36:11–27
- 14. Rajeswari A, Gopi S, Jackcina Stobel Christy E et al (2020) Current research on the blends of chitosan as new biomaterials. In: Gopi S, Thomas S, Pius A (eds) Handbook of chitin and chitosan. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 247–283
- Hu X, Jia X, Zhi C et al (2019) Improving the properties of starch-based antimicrobial composite films using ZnO-chitosan nanoparticles. Carbohydr Polym 210:204–209. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2019.01.043
- Sunarti TC, Febrian MI, Ruriani E, Yuliasih I (2019) Some properties of chemical crosslinking biohydrogel from starch and chitosan. Int J Biomater 2019:1542128. https://www. hindawi.com/journals/ijbm/2019/1542128/. Accessed 22 Dec 2020
- Isogai A, Atalla RH (1992) Preparation of cellulose-chitosan polymer blends. Carbohydr Polym 19:25–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/0144-8617(92)90050-z
- Duan J, Han C, Liu L et al (2015) Binding cellulose and chitosan via intermolecular inclusion interaction: synthesis and characterisation of gel. J Spectrosc 2015:1–6. https://doi.org/10. 1155/2015/179258
- Róz A, Leite F, Pereiro LV et al (2010) Adsorption of chitosan on spin-coated cellulose films. Carbohydr Polym 80:65–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2009.10.062
- Kulig D, Zimoch-Korzycka A, Jarmoluk A, Marycz K (2016) Study on alginate<sup>-</sup>chitosan complex formed with different polymers ratio. Polymers (Basel) 8:167. https://doi.org/10. 3390/polym8050167
- Interactions between alginate and chitosan biopolymers characterized using FTIR and XP. Biomacromolecules. https://pubs.acs.org/doi/10.1021/bm070014y. Accessed 11 Jan 2021
- Baysal K, Aroguz AZ, Adiguzel Z, Baysal BM (2013) Chitosan/alginate crosslinked hydrogels: preparation, characterization and application for cell growth purposes. Int J Biol Macromol 59:342–348. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2013.04.073
- Muxika A, Etxabide A, Uranga J et al (2017) Chitosan as a bioactive polymer: processing, properties and applications. Int J Biol Macromol 105:1358–1368. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijbiomac.2017.07.087
- 24. Ibrahim HM, El-Zairy EMR (2015) Chitosan as a biomaterial—structure, properties, and electrospun nanofibers, concepts, compounds and the alternatives of antibacterials. IntechOpen, Rijeka
- Chawla SP, Kanatt SR, Sharma AK (2015) Chitosan. In: Ramawat KG, Mérillon J-M (eds) Polysaccharides: bioactivity and biotechnology. Springer, Cham, pp 219–246
- Vunain E, Mishra A, Mamba BB (2017) Fundamentals of chitosan for biomedical applications, pp 3–30
- Kas HS (1997) Chitosan: properties, preparations and application to microparticulate systems. J Microencapsul 14:689–711. https://doi.org/10.3109/02652049709006820
- Shariatinia Z, Jalali AM (2018) Chitosan-based hydrogels: Preparation, properties and applications. Int J Biol Macromol 115:194–220. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2018.04.034

- 29. Hydrogels for biomedical applications: cellulose, chitosan, and protein/peptide derivatives. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6318613/. Accessed 16 Nov 2020
- Rodrigues S, Dionísio M, López CR, Grenha A (2012) Biocompatibility of chitosan carriers with application in drug delivery. J Funct Biomater 3:615–641. https://doi.org/10.3390/ jfb3030615
- Lizardi-Mendoza J, Argüelles-Monal W, Goycoolea F (2016) Chemical characteristics and functional properties of chitosan, pp 3–31
- 32. Kumirska J, Weinhold MX, Thöming J, Stepnowski P (2011) Biomedical activity of chitin/ chitosan based materials—influence of physicochemical properties apart from molecular weight and degree of N-acetylation. Polymers 3:1875–1901. https://doi.org/10.3390/ polym3041875
- 33. Ibrahim HM, EMRE Z (2015) Chitosan as a biomaterial structure, properties, and electrospun nanofibers. In: Concepts, compounds and the alternatives of antibacterials. IntechOpen, Rijeka. https://doi.org/10.5772/61300
- 34. Khattak S, Wahid F, Liu L-P et al (2019) Applications of cellulose and chitin/chitosan derivatives and composites as antibacterial materials: current state and perspectives. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 103:1989–2006. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-018-09602-0
- Zakaria NH, Muhammad N, Abdullah MMAB (2017) Potential of starch nanocomposites for biomedical applications. IOP Conf Ser Mater Sci Eng 209:012087. https://doi.org/10.1088/ 1757-899X/209/1/012087
- Filippov SK, Sedlacek O, Bogomolova A et al (2012) Glycogen as a biodegradable construction nanomaterial for in vivo use. Macromol Biosci 12:1731–1738. https://doi.org/10.1002/ mabi.201200294
- Picheth GF, Pirich CL, Sierakowski MR et al (2017) Bacterial cellulose in biomedical applications: a review. Int J Biol Macromol 104:97–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac. 2017.05.171
- Applications of chitosan and chitosan derivatives in drug delivery. https://www.researchgate. net/publication/228468813\_Applications\_of\_Chitosan\_and\_Chitosan\_Derivatives\_in\_Drug\_ Delivery. Accessed 12 Nov 2020
- Mori T, Murakami M, Okumura M et al (2005) Mechanism of macrophage activation by chitin derivatives. J Vet Med Sci 67:51–56. https://doi.org/10.1292/jvms.67.51
- Croisier F, Jérôme C (2013) Chitosan-based biomaterials for tissue engineering. Eur Polym J 49:780–792. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpolymj.2012.12.009
- 41. Shafiq F, Aisha N, Mahmood A et al (2020) Glycogen-based bionanocomposites. Wiley, London, pp 259–266
- 42. Effect of degree of deacetylation of chitosan on thermal stability and compatibility of chitosanpolyamide blend. BioResources. https://bioresources.cnr.ncsu.edu/. Accessed 16 Nov 2020
- Julkapli NM, Akil HM, Ahmad Z (2011) Preparation, properties and applications of chitosanbased biocomposites/blend materials: a review. Compos Interf 18:449–507. https://doi.org/10. 1163/156855411X610232
- 44. A review of natural polysaccharides for drug delivery applications: special focus on cellulose, starch and glycogen. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/326836016\_A\_review\_of\_natural\_polysaccharides\_for\_drug\_delivery\_applications\_Special\_focus\_on\_cellulose\_starch\_and\_glycogen. Accessed 12 Nov 2020
- 45. Gálisová A, Jirátová M, Rabyk M et al (2020) Glycogen as an advantageous polymer carrier in cancer theranostics: straightforward in vivo evidence. Sci Rep 10:10411. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41598-020-67277-y
- 46. Solubility of Chitin: Solvents, Solution Behaviors and Their Related Mechanisms. IntechOpen. https://www.intechopen.com/books/solubility-of-polysaccharides/solubility-ofchitin-solvents-solution-behaviors-and-their-related-mechanisms. Accessed 13 Nov 2020
- 47. Zubareva A, Shagdarova B, Varlamov V et al (2017) Penetration and toxicity of chitosan and its derivatives. Eur Polym J 93:743–749. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpolymj.2017.04.021

- Ryu JH, Hong S, Lee H (2015) Bio-inspired adhesive catechol-conjugated chitosan for biomedical applications: a mini review. Acta Biomater 27:101–115. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.actbio.2015.08.043
- Designing polymers with sugar-based advantages for bioactive delivery applications. https:// pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26423239/. Accessed 12 Nov 2020
- Morales-Burgos AM, Carvajal-Millan E, Sotelo-Cruz N et al (2018) Polysaccharides in alternative methods for insulin delivery. In: Thakur VK (ed) Biopolymer grafting. Elsevier, pp 175–197
- 51. Moradali MF, Ghods S, Rehm BHA (2018) Alginate biosynthesis and biotechnological production. In: Rehm BHA, Moradali MF (eds) Alginates and their biomedical applications. Springer, Singapore, pp 1–25
- Xu Y, Kim KM, Hanna M, Nag D (2005) Chitosan-starch composite film: preparation and characterization. Ind Crop Prod 21:185–192. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2004.03.002
- Wu W-C, Hsiao P-Y, Huang Y-C (2019) Effects of amylose content on starch-chitosan composite film and its application as a wound dressing. J Polym Res 26:137. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10965-019-1770-0
- 54. Medronho B, Romano A, Miguel MG et al (2012) Rationalizing cellulose (in)solubility: reviewing basic physicochemical aspects and role of hydrophobic interactions. Cellul 19:581–587. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10570-011-9644-6
- Mohd N, Draman SFS, Salleh MSN, Yusof NB (2017) Dissolution of cellulose in ionic liquid: a review. İstanbul, p 020035
- Delezuk J, Pavinatto A, Campana S (2014) Effects of chitosan characteristics on its thermal stability. Brazilian J Thermal Anal 3:36. https://doi.org/10.18362/bjta.v3i3-4.27
- 57. Wang (2005) Thermal and thermomechanical behaviour of polycaprolactone and starch/ polycaprolactone blends for biomedical applications. In: Macromolecular materials and engineering. Wiley, New York. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/ mame.200500003. Accessed 12 Nov 2020
- Liu X, Wang Y, Yu L et al (2013) Thermal degradation and stability of starch under different processing conditions. Starch 65:48–60. https://doi.org/10.1002/star.201200198
- 59. Puchalska A, Mucha M (2011) Thermogravimetry of chitosan with nanofillers. Prog Chem Appl Chitin 16:31–42
- Ebisike K, Okoronkwo AE, Alaneme KK (2020) Synthesis and characterization of chitosansilica hybrid aerogel using sol-gel method. J King Saud Univ Sci 32:550–554. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jksus.2018.08.005
- Temperature stability of cellulose fibrils. https://www.exilva.com/blog/temperature-stabilityof-cellulose-fibrils. Accessed 5 Jan 2021
- 62. Cai Z, Chen P, Jin H-J, Kim J (2009) The effect of chitosan content on the crystallinity, thermal stability, and mechanical properties of bacterial cellulose—chitosan composites. Proc Inst Mech Eng C J Mech Eng Sci 223:2225–2230. https://doi.org/10.1243/09544062JMES1480
- Szymańska E, Winnicka K (2015) Stability of chitosan—a challenge for pharmaceutical and biomedical applications. Mar Drugs 13:1819–1846. https://doi.org/10.3390/md13041819
- 64. Gheorghita Puscaselu R, Lobiuc A, Dimian M, Covasa M (2020) Alginate: from food industry to biomedical applications and management of metabolic disorders. Polymers 12:2417. https:// doi.org/10.3390/polym12102417
- Proteomics: thermal stability analysis. In: Creative proteomics https://www.creativeproteomics.com/services/thermal-stability-analysis.htm. Accessed 1 Jan 2021
- 66. Liu (2013) Starch. In: Thermal degradation and stability of starch under different processing conditions. Wiley, New York. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/star.201200198. Accessed 11 Jan 2021
- 67. Akter N, Khan R, Tuhin M et al (2012) Thermomechanical, barrier, and morphological properties of chitosan-reinforced starch-based biodegradable composite films. J Thermoplast Compos Mater 27:933. https://doi.org/10.1177/0892705712461512

- 68. Balani K, Verma V, Agarwal A, Narayan R (2014) Physical, thermal, and mechanical properties of polymers. In: Biosurfaces. Wiley, New York, pp 329–344
- Biomedical applications of chitosan. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/320740302\_ Biomedical\_Applications\_of\_Chitosan. Accessed 12 Nov 2020
- 70. Chauhan S (2015) Modification of chitosan for sorption of metal ions. J Chem Pharmaceut Res 7(4):49–55
- 71. Jampafuang Y, Tongta A, Waiprib Y (2019) Impact of crystalline structural differences between α- and β-chitosan on their nanoparticle formation via ionic gelation and superoxide radical scavenging activities. Polymers 11:2010. https://doi.org/10.3390/polym11122010
- Mogilevskaya EL, Akopova TA, Zelenetskii AN, Ozerin AN (2006) The crystal structure of chitin and chitosan. Polym Sci Ser A 48:116–123. https://doi.org/10.1134/ S0965545X06020039
- 73. Chitosan—a versatile semi-synthetic polymer in biomedical applications ScienceOpen. https://www.scienceopen.com/document?vid=f786c11b-583d-45ab-932e-0adbb39b5b69. Accessed 12 Nov 2020
- 74. Wang G, Wang X, Huang L (2017) Feasibility of chitosan-alginate (chi-Alg) hydrogel used as scaffold for neural tissue engineering: a pilot study in vitro. Biotechnol Biotechnol Equip 31:766–773. https://doi.org/10.1080/13102818.2017.1332493
- 75. Hasegawa M, Isogai A, Onabe F et al (1992) Characterization of cellulose–chitosan blend films. J Appl Polym Sci 45:1873–1879. https://doi.org/10.1002/app.1992.070451101
- 76. Ul-Islam M, Shah N, Ha JH, Park JK (2011) Effect of chitosan penetration on physicochemical and mechanical properties of bacterial cellulose. Korean J Chem Eng 28:1736. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11814-011-0042-4
- 77. Kean T, Thanou M (2010) Biodegradation, biodistribution and toxicity of chitosan. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 62:3–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2009.09.004
- Elgadir MA, Uddin MS, Ferdosh S et al (2015) Impact of chitosan composites and chitosan nanoparticle composites on various drug delivery systems: a review. J Food Drug Anal 23:619–629. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfda.2014.10.008
- 79. Thai H, Chinh N, Thach L et al (2020) Characterization of chitosan/alginate/lovastatin nanoparticles and investigation of their toxic effects in vitro and in vivo. Sci Rep 10:909. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-57666-8
- Mao Y, Zhao M, Ge Y, Fan J (2016) Novel alginate–chitosan composite microspheres for implant delivery of vancomycin and in vivo evaluation. Chem Biol Drug Des 88:434–440. https://doi.org/10.1111/cbdd.12771
- Chitosan and its derivatives for application in mucoadhesive drug delivery systems CORE Reader. https://core.ac.uk/reader/152132830. Accessed 5 Jan 2021
- Gök MK, Özgümüş S, Demir K et al (2016) Development of starch based mucoadhesive vaginal drug delivery systems for application in veterinary medicine. Carbohydr Polym 136:63–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2015.08.079
- 83. Chitosan derivatives with mucoadhesive and antimicrobial properties for simultaneous nanoencapsulation and extended ocular release formulations of dexamethasone and chloramphenicol drugs. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32604758/. Accessed 5 Jan 2021
- Sogias I, Williams A, Khutoryanskiy V (2008) Why is chitosan mucoadhesive? Biomacromolecules 9:1837–1842. https://doi.org/10.1021/bm800276d
- Mechanism and consequence of chitosan-mediated reversible epithelial tight junction opening. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/51191331\_Mechanism\_and\_consequence\_of\_ chitosan-mediated\_reversible\_epithelial\_tight\_junction\_opening. Accessed 1 Jan 2021
- 86. The use of chitosan, alginate, and pectin in the biomedical and food sector—biocompatibility, bioadhesiveness, and biodegradability. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/ PMC6918388/. Accessed 1 Jan 2021
- Tentor F, Siccardi G, Sacco P et al (2020) Long lasting mucoadhesive membrane based on alginate and chitosan for intravaginal drug delivery. J Mater Sci Mater Med 31:25. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10856-020-6359-y

- Torgbo S, Sukyai P (2020) Biodegradation and thermal stability of bacterial cellulose as biomaterial: the relevance in biomedical applications. Polym Degrad Stab 179:109232. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymdegradstab.2020.109232
- Aiba S (1992) Studies on chitosan: 4. Lysozymic hydrolysis of partially N-acetylated chitosans. Int J Biol Macromol 14:225–228. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0141-8130(05)80032-7
- Lee KY, Mooney DJ (2012) Alginate: properties and biomedical applications. Prog Polym Sci 37:106–126. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.progpolymsci.2011.06.003
- Pokhrel S (2015) A review on introduction and applications of starch and its biodegradable polymers. Int J Environ 4:114. https://doi.org/10.3126/ije.v4i4.14108
- 92. Li X, Xie H, Lin J et al (2009) Characterization and biodegradation of chitosan-alginate polyelectrolyte complexes. Polym Degrad Stab 94:1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. polymdegradstab.2008.10.017
- 93. Hosokawa J, Nishiyama M, Yoshihara K, Kubo T (1990) Biodegradable film derived from chitosan and homogenized cellulose. Industr Eng Chem Res 29:800
- Wedmore I, McManus JG, Pusateri AE, Holcomb JB (2006) A special report on the chitosanbased hemostatic dressing: experience in current combat operations. J Trauma Acute Care Surg 60:655–658. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.ta.0000199392.91772.44
- Alginate-based biomaterials for regenerative medicine applications. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/28809210/. Accessed 5 Jan 2021
- Torres FG, Commeaux S, Troncoso OP (2012) Biocompatibility of bacterial cellulose based biomaterials. J Funct Biomater 3:864–878. https://doi.org/10.3390/jfb3040864
- 97. Gopinath V, Saravanan S, Al-Maleki AR et al (2018) A review of natural polysaccharides for drug delivery applications: special focus on cellulose, starch and glycogen. Biomed Pharmacother 107:96–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2018.07.136
- Klemm D, Heublein B, Fink H-P, Bohn A (2005) Cellulose: fascinating biopolymer and sustainable raw material. Angew Chem Int Ed 44:3358–3393. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie. 200460587
- 99. Jonas R, Farah LF (1998) Production and application of microbial cellulose. Polym Degrad Stab 59:101–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0141-3910(97)00197-3
- 100. Martinez-Garcia M, Stuart MCA, van der Maarel MJEC (2016) Characterization of the highly branched glycogen from the thermoacidophilic red microalga Galdieria sulphuraria and comparison with other glycogens. Int J Biol Macromol 89:12–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijbiomac.2016.04.051
- 101. Pawar HA (2014) An overview of natural polysaccharides as biological macromolecules: their chemical modifications and pharmaceutical applications. Biol Med (Aligarh) 7:1. https://doi. org/10.4172/0974-8369.1000224
- 102. Lesher-Perez SC, Segura T, Moraes C (2016) Getting there is half the battle: recent advances in delivering therapeutics. Integr Biol 8:8–11. https://doi.org/10.1039/C5IB90052B
- Builders PF, Arhewoh MI (2016) Pharmaceutical applications of native starch in conventional drug delivery. Starch 68:864–873. https://doi.org/10.1002/star.201500337
- 104. Krogars K, Antikainen O, Heinämäki J et al (2002) Tablet film-coating with amylose-rich maize starch. Eur J Pharm Sci 17:23–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0928-0987(02)00134-3
- 105. Odeku OA (2013) Potentials of tropical starches as pharmaceutical excipients: a review. Starch 65:89–106. https://doi.org/10.1002/star.201200076
- 106. Zhang A, Zhang Z, Shi F et al (2013) Disulfide crosslinked PEGylated starch micelles as efficient intracellular drug delivery platforms. Soft Matter 9:2224–2233. https://doi.org/10. 1039/C2SM27189C
- 107. Garcia MAVT, Garcia CF, Faraco AAG (2020) Pharmaceutical and biomedical applications of native and modified starch: a review. Starch 72:1900270. https://doi.org/10.1002/star. 201900270
- 108. Wang H, Roman M (2011) Formation and properties of chitosan-cellulose nanocrystal polyelectrolyte-macroion complexes for drug delivery applications. Biomacromolecules 12:1585–1593. https://doi.org/10.1021/bm101584c

- Liu K, Jiang X, Hunziker P (2016) Carbohydrate-based amphiphilic nano delivery systems for cancer therapy. Nanoscale 8:16091–16156. https://doi.org/10.1039/C6NR04489A
- 110. Production of nanocellulose and its applications in drug delivery: a critical review. ACS Sustain Chem Eng. https://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/acssuschemeng.9b02744. Accessed 10 Nov 2020
- 111. Hosseinidoust Z, Alam MN, Sim G et al (2015) Cellulose nanocrystals with tunable surface charge for nanomedicine. Nanoscale 7:16647–16657. https://doi.org/10.1039/C5NR02506K
- 112. Seabra AB, Bernardes JS, Fávaro WJ et al (2018) Cellulose nanocrystals as carriers in medicine and their toxicities: a review. Carbohydr Polym 181:514–527. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.carbpol.2017.12.014
- 113. Lucinda-Silva RM, Salgado HRN, Evangelista RC (2010) Alginate-chitosan systems: in vitro controlled release of triamcinolone and in vivo gastrointestinal transit. Carbohydr Polym 81:260–268. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2010.02.016
- 114. Ma B, Zhang M, He C, Sun J (2012) New binary ionic liquid system for the preparation of chitosan/cellulose composite fibers. Carbohydr Polym 88:347–351. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. carbpol.2011.12.020
- 115. Liechty WB, Kryscio DR, Slaughter BV, Peppas NA (2010) Polymers for drug delivery systems. Annu Rev Chem Biomol Eng 1:149–173. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevchembioeng-073009-100847
- 116. Saikia C, Gogoi P (2015) Chitosan: a promising biopolymer in drug delivery applications. J Molecr Genet Med 4:5. https://doi.org/10.4172/1747-0862.S4-006
- Chan BP, Leong KW (2008) Scaffolding in tissue engineering: general approaches and tissuespecific considerations. Eur Spine J 17:467–479. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00586-008-0745-3
- 118. Jabbal-Gill I, Watts P, Smith A (2012) Chitosan-based delivery systems for mucosal vaccines. Expert Opin Drug Deliv 9:1051–1067. https://doi.org/10.1517/17425247.2012.697455
- Preparation, characterization, and oral delivery of insulin loaded carboxylated chitosan grafted poly(methyl methacrylate) nanoparticles. Biomacromolecules. https://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10. 1021/bm900035u. Accessed 15 Dec 2020
- Sarmento B, Ribeiro A, Veiga F et al (2007) Alginate/chitosan nanoparticles are effective for Oral insulin delivery. Pharm Res 24:2198–2206. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-007-9367-4
- 121. Minimol PF, Paul W, Sharma CP (2013) PEGylated starch acetate nanoparticles and its potential use for oral insulin delivery. Carbohydr Polym 95:1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. carbpol.2013.02.021
- 122. Gao X, Cao Y, Song X et al (2014) Biodegradable, pH-responsive carboxymethyl cellulose/ poly(acrylic acid) hydrogels for oral insulin delivery. Macromol Biosci 14:565–575. https:// doi.org/10.1002/mabi.201300384
- 123. Akhlaghi SP, Tiong D, Berry RM, Tam KC (2014) Comparative release studies of two cationic model drugs from different cellulose nanocrystal derivatives. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 88:207–215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2014.04.012
- 124. Li S, Xiong Y, Zhang X (2017) Poloxamer surface modified trimethyl chitosan nanoparticles for the effective delivery of methotrexate in osteosarcoma. Biomed Pharmacother 90:872–879. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2017.04.004
- Ciekot J, Psurski M, Jurec K, Boratyński J (2020) Hydroxyethylcellulose as a methotrexate carrier in anticancer therapy. Invest New Drugs. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10637-020-00972-9
- 126. Santhi K, Dhanraj SA, Nagasamyvenkatesh D et al (2005) Preparation and optimization of sodium alginate nanospheres of methotrexate. Indian J Pharm Sci 67:691–696
- 127. Ali MT, Fule R, Sav A, Amin P (2013) Porous starch: a novel carrier for solubility enhancement of carbamazepine. AAPS PharmSciTech 14:919–926. https://doi.org/10.1208/s12249-013-9985-6
- 128. Liu S, Yang S, Ho PC (2018) Intranasal administration of carbamazepine-loaded carboxymethyl chitosan nanoparticles for drug delivery to the brain. Asian J Pharm Sci 13:72–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajps.2017.09.001

- 129. Ramesh K, Paul A, Nair SC (2017) Preparation and evaluation of chitosan sodium alginate carbamazepine microspheres. Asian J Pharm Clin Res 10:271–276. https://doi.org/10.22159/ ajpcr.2017.v10i3.16145
- 130. Mohammed L, Ragab D, Lin S et al (2017) Preparation and characterization of glycol chitosan-Fe3O4 core-shell magnetic nanoparticles for controlled delivery of progesterone. J Biomater Tissue Eng 7:561–570. https://doi.org/10.1166/jbt.2017.1603
- 131. Song M, Li L, Zhang Y et al (2017) Carboxymethyl-β-cyclodextrin grafted chitosan nanoparticles as oral delivery carrier of protein drugs. React Funct Polym 117:1. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.reactfunctpolym.2017.05.008
- 132. Ahmad N, Amin MCIM, Mahali SM et al (2014) Biocompatible and Mucoadhesive bacterial cellulose-g-poly(acrylic acid) hydrogels for Oral protein delivery. Mol Pharm 11:4130–4142. https://doi.org/10.1021/mp5003015
- 133. Zhao Z, He M, Yin L et al (2009) Biodegradable nanoparticles based on linoleic acid and poly (β-malic acid) double grafted chitosan derivatives as carriers of anticancer drugs. Biomacromolecules 10:565–572. https://doi.org/10.1021/bm801225m
- 134. Nahrowi R, Setiawan A, Noviany N et al (2019) The improvement of paclitaxel cytotoxicity using nanocellulose based nature resources. JESR 1:7–11. https://doi.org/10.23960/jesr.v1i1.3
- 135. Wang L, Zhao X, Yang F et al (2019) Loading paclitaxel into porous starch in the form of nanoparticles to improve its dissolution and bioavailability. Int J Biol Macromol 138:207–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2019.07.083
- 136. Xu J, Strandman S, Zhu JXX et al (2015) Genipin-crosslinked catechol-chitosan mucoadhesive hydrogels for buccal drug delivery. Biomaterials 37:395–404. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2014.10.024
- 137. Baek S, Park H, Park Y et al (2020) Development of a lidocaine-loaded alginate/CMC/PEO electrospun nanofiber film and application as an anti-adhesion barrier. Polymers (Basel) 12:618. https://doi.org/10.3390/polym12030618
- 138. Balmayor ER, Tuzlakoglu K, Marques AP et al (2008) A novel enzymatically-mediated drug delivery carrier for bone tissue engineering applications: combining biodegradable starchbased microparticles and differentiation agents. J Mater Sci Mater Med 19:1617–1623. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10856-008-3378-5
- 139. Barbieri S, Buttini F, Rossi A et al (2015) Ex vivo permeation of tamoxifen and its 4-OH metabolite through rat intestine from lecithin/chitosan nanoparticles. Int J Pharm 491:99–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2015.06.021
- 140. Illum L, Watts P, Fisher AN et al (2002) Intranasal delivery of morphine. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 301:391–400. https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.301.1.391
- 141. Bose RJ, Kim M, Chang JH et al (2019) Biodegradable polymers for modern vaccine development. J Ind Eng Chem 77:12–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jiec.2019.04.044
- 142. Moreno-Mendieta SA, Guillén D, Espitia C et al (2014) A novel antigen-carrier system: the Mycobacterium tuberculosis Acr protein carried by raw starch microparticles. Int J Pharm 474:241–248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2014.07.041
- 143. Degling L, Stjärnkvist P (1995) Biodegradable microspheres XVIII: the adjuvant effect of polyacryl starch microparticles with conjugated human serum albumin. Vaccine 13:629–636. https://doi.org/10.1016/0264-410X(94)00031-H
- 144. Song Y, Zhou Y, van DL den Hurk S, Chen L (2014) Cellulose-based polyelectrolyte complex nanoparticles for DNA vaccine delivery. Biomater Sci 2:1440–1449. https://doi.org/10.1039/ C4BM00202D
- 145. Microcrystalline cellulose for delivery of recombinant protein-based antigen against erysipelas in mice. https://www.hindawi.com/journals/bmri/2018/7670505/. Accessed 18 Dec 2020
- 146. Sarei F, Dounighi NM, Zolfagharian H et al (2013) Alginate nanoparticles as a promising adjuvant and vaccine delivery system. Indian J Pharm Sci 75:442–449. https://doi.org/10. 4103/0250-474X.119829
- 147. Li X, Kong X, Shi S et al (2008) Preparation of alginate coated chitosan microparticles for vaccine delivery. BMC Biotechnol 8:89. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6750-8-89

- 148. Nagpal PS, Kesarwani A, Sahu P, Upadhyay P (2019) Aerosol immunization by alginate coated mycobacterium (BCG/MIP) particles provide enhanced immune response and protective efficacy than aerosol of plain mycobacterium against M.tb. H37Rv infection in mice. BMC Infect Dis 19:568. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-019-4157-2
- 149. Ilium L (1998) Chitosan and its use as a pharmaceutical excipient. Pharm Res 15:1326–1331. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1011929016601
- 150. van der Lubben IM, Verhoef JC, Borchard G, Junginger HE (2001) Chitosan for mucosal vaccination. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 52:139–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0169-409x(01) 00197-1
- 151. Biodegradable mucoadhesive particulates for nasal and pulmonary antigen and DNA delivery. Eur PMC. https://europepmc.org/article/med/15560949. Accessed 10 Nov 2020
- 152. Zaharoff DA, Rogers CJ, Hance KW et al (2007) Chitosan solution enhances the immunoadjuvant properties of GM-CSF. Vaccine 25:8673–8686. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. vaccine.2007.10.037
- Esmaeili F, Heuking S, Junginger HE, Borchard G (2010) Progress in chitosan-based vaccine delivery systems. J Drug Deliv Sci Technol 20:53–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1773-2247 (10)50006-6
- 154. Roy K, Mao HQ, Huang SK, Leong KW (1999) Oral gene delivery with chitosan--DNA nanoparticles generates immunologic protection in a murine model of peanut allergy. Nat Med 5:387–391. https://doi.org/10.1038/7385
- 155. Illum L, Jabbal-Gill I, Hinchcliffe M et al (2001) Chitosan as a novel nasal delivery system for vaccines. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 51:81–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0169-409x(01)00171-5
- 156. Cui Z, Mumper RJ (2001) Chitosan-based nanoparticles for topical genetic immunization. J Control Release 75:409–419. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0168-3659(01)00407-2
- 157. McGhee JR, Mestecky J, Dertzbaugh MT et al (1992) The mucosal immune system: from fundamental concepts to vaccine development. Vaccine 10:75–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0264-410x(92)90021-b
- 158. Bivas-Benita M, van Meijgaarden KE, Franken KLMC et al (2004) Pulmonary delivery of chitosan-DNA nanoparticles enhances the immunogenicity of a DNA vaccine encoding HLA-A\*0201-restricted T-cell epitopes of Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Vaccine 22:1609–1615. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2003.09.044
- 159. Controlled release of PEI/DNA complexes from mannose-bearing chitosan microspheres as a potent delivery system to enhance immune response to HBV DNA vaccine. Eur PMC. https:// europepmc.org/article/pmc/126484. Accessed 10 Nov 2020
- 160. Goh SL, Murthy N, Xu M, Fréchet JMJ (2004) Cross-linked microparticles as carriers for the delivery of plasmid DNA for vaccine development. Bioconjug Chem 15:467–474. https://doi. org/10.1021/bc034159n
- 161. Tissue engineering. Science. https://science.sciencemag.org/content/260/5110/920. Accessed 10 Nov 2020
- 162. Hickey RJ, Pelling AE (2019) Cellulose biomaterials for tissue engineering. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2019.00045
- 163. Koski C, Onuike B, Bandyopadhyay A, Bose S (2018) Starch-hydroxyapatite composite bone scaffold fabrication utilizing a slurry extrusion-based solid freeform fabricator. Addit Manuf 24:47–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addma.2018.08.030
- 164. Sultankulov B, Berillo D, Sultankulova K et al (2019) Progress in the development of chitosan-based biomaterials for tissue engineering and regenerative medicine. Biomol Ther 9:470. https://doi.org/10.3390/biom9090470
- 165. Sun J, Tan H (2013) Alginate-based biomaterials for regenerative medicine applications. Materials (Basel) 6:1285–1309. https://doi.org/10.3390/ma6041285
- 166. Mohite B, Patil S (2014) A novel biomaterial: bacterial cellulose & its new era applications. Biotechnol Appl Biochem 61:101. https://doi.org/10.1002/bab.1148

- 167. Hakkarainen T, Koivuniemi R, Kosonen M et al (2016) Nanofibrillar cellulose wound dressing in skin graft donor site treatment. J Control Release 244:292–301. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jconrel.2016.07.053
- 168. Goy RC, de Britto D, Assis OBG (2009) A review of the antimicrobial activity of chitosan. Polímeros 19:241–247. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0104-14282009000300013
- 169. Tran CD, Duri S, Harkins AL (2013) Recyclable synthesis, characterization and antimicrobial activity of chitosan-based polysaccharide composite materials. J Biomed Mater Res A 0:2248–2257. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.34520
- 170. Pandey A, Singh U, Momin M, Bhavsar C (2017) Chitosan: application in tissue engineering and skin grafting. J Polym Res 24:125. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10965-017-1286-4
- 171. Smith J, Wood E, Dornish M (2004) Effect of chitosan on epithelial cell tight junctions. Pharm Res 21:43–49. https://doi.org/10.1023/b:pham.0000012150.60180.e3
- 172. Preparation, characteristics and assessment of a novel gelatin-chitosan sponge scaffold as skin tissue engineering material. Eur PMC. https://europepmc.org/article/med/25275938. Accessed 10 Nov 2020
- 173. Khan MA, Mujahid M (2019) A review on recent advances in chitosan based composite for hemostatic dressings. Int J Biol Macromol 124:138–147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac. 2018.11.045
- 174. Hattori H, Ishihara M (2015) Changes in blood aggregation with differences in molecular weight and degree of deacetylation of chitosan. Biomed Mater 10:015014. https://doi.org/10. 1088/1748-6041/10/1/015014
- 175. Değim Z, Celebi N, Sayan H et al (2002) An investigation on skin wound healing in mice with a taurine-chitosan gel formulation. Amino Acids 22:187–198. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s007260200007
- 176. Hu Z, Lu S, Cheng Y et al (2018) Investigation of the effects of molecular parameters on the hemostatic properties of chitosan. Molecules 23:3147. https://doi.org/10.3390/ molecules23123147
- 177. Hu Z, Zhang D-Y, Lu S-T et al (2018) Chitosan-based composite materials for prospective hemostatic applications. Mar Drugs 16:273. https://doi.org/10.3390/md16080273
- 178. MacDonald MH, Wang AY, Clymer JW, et al (2017) An in vivo comparison of the efficacy of hemostatic powders, using two porcine bleeding models. In: medical devices: evidence and research. https://www.dovepress.com/an-in-vivo-comparison-of-the-efficacy-of-hemostaticpowders-using-two%2D%2Dpeer-reviewed-fulltext-article-MDER. Accessed 15 Dec 2020
- 179. Service RF (2000) Tissue engineers build new bone. Science 289:1498–1500. https://doi.org/ 10.1126/science.289.5484.1498
- 180. Venkatesan J, Bhatnagar I, Manivasagan P et al (2015) Alginate composites for bone tissue engineering: a review. Int J Biol Macromol 72:269–281. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac. 2014.07.008
- 181. Roslan MR, Nasir NFM, Cheng EM, Amin NAM (2016) Tissue engineering scaffold based on starch: a review. In: 2016 international conference on electrical, electronics, and optimization techniques (ICEEOT), pp 1857–1860
- 182. Di Martino A, Sittinger M, Risbud MV (2005) Chitosan: a versatile biopolymer for orthopaedic tissue-engineering. Biomaterials 26:5983–5990. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials. 2005.03.016
- 183. Sundaram J, Durance TD, Wang R (2008) Porous scaffold of gelatin-starch with nanohydroxyapatite composite processed via novel microwave vacuum drying. Acta Biomater 4:932–942. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2008.01.019
- 184. Espigares I, Elvira C, Mano JF et al (2002) New partially degradable and bioactive acrylic bone cements based on starch blends and ceramic fillers. Biomaterials 23:1883–1895. https:// doi.org/10.1016/s0142-9612(01)00315-5
- 185. Ribba L, Garcia N, D'Accorso N, Goyanes S (2017) Disadvantages of starch-based materials, feasible alternatives in order to overcome these limitations. In: Starch-based materials in food

packaging: processing, characterization and applications. Academic Press, Amsterdam, pp  $37\-\!76$ 

- 186. Xie F, Pollet E, Halley PJ, Avérous L (2013) Starch-based nano-biocomposites. Prog Polym Sci 38:1590–1628. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.progpolymsci.2013.05.002
- 187. Elkholy S, Yahia S, Awad M, Elmessiery M (2018) In vivo evaluation of β-CS/n-HA with different physical properties as a new bone graft material. Clin Implant Dent Relat Res 20:416–423. https://doi.org/10.1111/cid.12599
- 188. Gaihre B, Jayasuriya AC (2018) Comparative investigation of porous nano-hydroxyapaptite/ chitosan, nano-zirconia/chitosan and novel nano-calcium zirconate/chitosan composite scaffolds for their potential applications in bone regeneration. Korean J Couns Psychother 91:330–339. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2018.05.060
- Habibovic P, Barralet JE (2011) Bioinorganics and biomaterials: bone repair. Acta Biomater 7:3013–3026. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2011.03.027
- 190. Zhang L, Wu K, Song W et al (2015) Chitosan/siCkip-1 biofunctionalized titanium implant for improved osseointegration in the osteoporotic condition. Sci Rep 5:1. https://doi.org/10.1038/ srep10860
- 191. Demirtaş TT, Irmak G, Gümüşderelioğlu M (2017) A bioprintable form of chitosan hydrogel for bone tissue engineering. Biofabrication 9:035003. https://doi.org/10.1088/1758-5090/ aa7b1d
- 192. Freedman BR, Mooney DJ (2019) Biomaterials to mimic and heal connective tissues. Adv Mater 31:1806695. https://doi.org/10.1002/adma.201806695
- 193. Liu J, Fang Q, Yu X et al (2018) Chitosan-based nanofibrous membrane unit with gradient compositional and structural features for mimicking calcified layer in osteochondral matrix. Int J Mol Sci 19:8. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms19082330
- 194. Ghaouth A, Arul J, Grenier J, Asselin A (1992) Antifungal activity of chitosan on two pathogens of strawberry fruits. Phytopathology 82:398–402
- 195. Ing LY, Zin NM, Sarwar A, Katas H (2012) Antifungal activity of chitosan nanoparticles and correlation with their physical properties. Int J Biomater 2012:1–9. https://doi.org/10.1155/ 2012/632698
- 196. Jing YJ, Hao YJ, Qu H et al (2007) Studies on the antibacterial activities and mechanisms of chitosan obtained from cuticles of housefly larvae. Acta Biol Hung 58:75–86. https://doi.org/ 10.1556/ABiol.57.2007.1.7
- 197. Hongpattarakere T, Riyaphan O (2008) Effect of deacetylation conditions on antimicrobial activity of chitosans prepared from carapace of black tiger shrimp. Songklanakarin J Sci Technol 30:1–9
- 198. Sanpui P, Murugadoss A, Prasad P et al (2008) The antibacterial properties of a novel chitosan–ag-nanoparticle composite. Int J Food Microbiol 124:142–146. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2008.03.004
- 199. Han J, Zhao D, Li D et al (2018) Polymer-based nanomaterials and applications for vaccines and drugs. Polymers (Basel) 10:31. https://doi.org/10.3390/polym10010031
- 200. ALGISITE M calcium alginate dressing. Smith & Nephew US Professional. https://www. smith-nephew.com/professional/products/advanced-wound-management/algisite-m/. Accessed 18 Dec 2020
- 201. Traumastem, bioactive healing and effective haemostasis made of oxidized cellulose cotton. http://www.traumastem.eu/en. Accessed 15 Dec 2020
- 202. Haemostem haemostat. http://www.millpledgeveterinary.co.uk/haemostem-c2x13358934. Accessed 15 Dec 2020
- 203. Sorbsan dressings datacard. http://www.dressings.org/Dressings/sorbsan.html. Accessed 18 Dec 2020
- 204. Cutimed<sup>®</sup> Sorbact<sup>®</sup>. https://www.bsnmedical.com/products/wound-care-vascular/categoryproduct-search/advanced-wound-care/wound-bed-preparation/cutimedr-sorbactr.html. Accessed 18 Dec 2020

Adv Polym Sci (2021) 287: 75–104 https://doi.org/10.1007/12\_2021\_88 © The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 Published online: 9 July 2021

# Synthesis and Modification Strategies of Chitosan and Its Interaction with Metal Ions



Muthu Prabhu Subbaiah and Meenakshi Sankaran

## Contents

1	Introduction	76
2	Chemistry of Chitosan	77
	2.1 Covalent Functionalization of Chitosan Without Metal Ions	77
	2.2 Functionalization of Chitosan with Metal Ions	79
3	Applications of Chitosan for Environmental Remediation	79
	3.1 Fluoride Retention Using Metal–Chitosan Based Composites	79
	3.2 Newly Developed Chitosan-Derivatives for Arsenic Adsorption	82
	3.3 Metal and Metal-Free Chitosan Materials for Phosphate and Nitrate Adsorption	89
4	Summary and Outlooks	93
Re	ferences	<b>98</b>

**Abstract** Chitosan is one of the most important and widely available biomaterials produced by nature for remediation of its resources. It is obtained by deacetylation of chitin extracted from marine waste materials and highly useful to adsorb the toxic ions existing in the water body as it has a large number of active functionalities of hydroxyl and amine groups. The chitosan has several advantages including low cost, bio-degradable, and bio-compatibility over other chemically synthesized materials in the laboratory. Different chitosan-based materials have been identified and tested in the removal of toxic anions, especially, metals, metalloids, dyes, hydrocarbons,

M. P. Subbaiah

M. Sankaran (🖂)

Department of Chemistry, Gandhigram Rural Institute – Deemed to be University, Dindigul, Tamil Nadu, India

Department of Earth Resources and Environmental Engineering, Hanyang University, Seoul, South Korea

Department of Chemistry, Gandhigram Rural Institute – Deemed to be University, Dindigul, Tamil Nadu, India

organic pesticides, etc. In this review, we focused on the functionalized forms of chitosan with metal ions and their adsorption on toxic ions, such as fluoride, phosphate, nitrate, and arsenic from waters using batch experiments. Also, it intensively focused on the synthetic methods, feasibility, and the regeneration/reusability of the materials. The results of this review indicated that the metal-loaded chitosan-based composite materials have shown much higher efficiency than the raw forms of chitosan and metal/metal oxides or hydroxides due to the synergistic interaction and the affinity of the materials. In particular, the mechanism of interactions of toxic ions and the metal ions present in the composites was thoroughly reviewed using analytical and the experimental data that existed in the literature. The reported adsorption densities, collected by recently reported materials, and the selectivity test results were much higher than those of other bio-based materials and inorganic nanocomposites. This review critically discussed the real-water analvsis, cost-effectiveness of the reported materials. Importantly, the clean-up and the disposal methods for the pollutant sorbed materials and other areas requiring further research were addressed.

Keywords Adsorption · Arsenic · Chitosan · Fluoride · Nitrate · Phosphate

#### 1 Introduction

A large amount of biomass waste is discarded into the environment without pretreatment. For example, shrimp shell waste is generated in huge quantities from the shrimp industries throughout the world, and it is primarily disposed of into the sea, resulting in intense environmental pollution [1]. India is a major producer of shrimp, which is more than 1,00,000 tons of shrimp bio-waste generated annually and only an insignificant amount of that bio-waste is utilized for the extraction of chitin while the rest is discarded. According to the report in 2012, a total of 250 chitinolytic bacteria from 68 different marine samples were screened by employment enrichment method which utilized native chitin as the sole carbon source. The shrimp shell waste is utilized for the production of natural biopolymers like chitin, chitosan, N-acetyl glucosamine, chitooligosaccharide, other essential amino acids, etc. [2]. Chitin was prepared by a two-step extraction method from shrimp shells using citric acids and deep eutectic solvents. The acids could effectively remove some minerals and proteins followed by deep eutectic solvents with the assistance of microwave and the deproteinization efficiency was more than 88% [3]. It is a linear amino polysaccharide comprised of  $\beta$ -(1,4)-2-deoxy-2-acetamido-D-glucopyranose structure and the deacetylated form of chitin is known as chitosan, i.e.,  $\beta$ -(1,4)-2deoxy-2-amino-D-glucopyranose using NaOH and the chitin with a degree of deacetylation of above 70% is considered as chitosan. Chitosan is insoluble in water but soluble in acetic acid solvents below pH 6. Monoprotic acids such as formic, acetic, hydrochloric, and lactic acids are used for dissolving chitosan, and mostly 1% acetic acid solution used to dissolve chitosan. But it does not dissolve in diprotic and polyprotic acids such as sulfuric and phosphoric acids and it has poor stability over pH 7 due to precipitation/gelation that takes place in the alkali pH range. Chitosan solution forms a poly–ion complex with anionic hydrocolloid to produce a gel.

#### 2 Chemistry of Chitosan

# 2.1 Covalent Functionalization of Chitosan Without Metal Ions

Chitosan is used to modify chemically to change its structure and properties to meet the requirements of specific applications. The free amine groups are strongly reactive and can be easily modified chemically or physically. One simple modification of chitosan is protonation. Besides, the protonation of amine groups in acidic solutions gives the chitosan a cationic behavior and consequently the potential for attracting the negatively charged species [4]. The protonated form of chitosan is useful to attract negatively charged species like fluoride, chromate ions, and anionic dyes from water through electrostatic interactions [5, 6]. Initially, Viswanathan and Meenaksi have developed protonated chitosan beads (PCB) for fluoride removal from water, in which they found a maximum uptake of fluoride ions of 1664 mg/kg [5], then for copper uptake densities on chemically functionalized chitosan beads were 52, 86, and 126 mg/g for protonated chitosan beads, carboxylated chitosan beads, and grafted chitosan beads, respectively [7] using the same adsorbent was Pokhrel et al. have reported a review article on the chemical functionalization of chitosan and their applications, in which the chemical and physical functionalization of chitosan without altering the degrees of solubilization [8]. Amine groups were responsible to modify chemically with other functional groups rather than hydroxyl groups due to their basic nature for various applications. In 2015, Macquarrie and Hardy have reviewed the chemically bonded groups on chitosan without metal ions for catalysis inorganic transformations [9]. Recently, Mincke et al. [10] have developed chemically functionalized chitosan adsorbents for selective recovery of palladium and platinum groups from acidic aqueous solutions. In this article, the authors have used various functionalities, viz. 1,10-phenanthroline-2,9-dicarbaldehyde (Ch-PDC), [2,2'-bipyridine]-5,5'-dicarbaldehyde (Ch-BPDC), and glutaraldehyde cross-linked chitosan grafted with 8-hydroxyquinoline-2-carbaldehyde (Ch-GA-HQC) for selective recovery of Pd(II) and Pt(IV) metal ions from waters. The obtained maximum adsorption densities based on Langmuir isotherm were 340.3 and 203.9 mg/g for Pb(II) and Pt(IV), respectively, on (Ch-GA-HQC). The sorption mechanism established by external mass transfer is followed by the intra-particle diffusion process and chemisorption [10]. Likewise, a 3D sponge of 11-mercaptoundecanoic acid-functionalized chitosan (MUA) as an effective adsorbent for methyl orange adsorption was also used for antibiotic-free antibacterial activity. The maximum uptake of methyl orange was 388 mg/g, which is much higher



Fig. 1 Schematic overview of the (a) synthesis of Ch-PDC, Ch-BPDC, and Ch-GA-HQC and (b) the chelating and cross-linking compounds. The figure was adapted with permission from Ref. [10]

adsorption densities compared to many chitosan-based adsorbents in the literature [11]. Interestingly, to improve the adsorption efficiencies of the metals from water, the chitosan moiety was functionalized with more amine groups which tend to be complexed with metal ions easily. Zarghami et al. have developed polyamidoamine (PAMAM)-grafted dendrimer through a divergent growth approach, in which the Pb (II) ions were successful [12]. Moreover, the chemical functionalization of chitosan using different strategies was proposed by Ji et al. for drug delivery systems in detail [13]. Padmaja group has delivered a superabsorbent, namely chitosan-thiobarbituric acid showed maximum uptake capacities of 1,357.69, 2,504.86, and 2,475.38 mg/g for respective Hg°, Hg<sup>2+</sup>, and CH<sub>3</sub>Hg<sup>+,</sup> and the adsorbent could be reused several times using 0.01 N thiourea, perchloric acid, and 0.2 N NaCl solutions [14]. However, this review aims to present the metal ion interaction on the raw and functionalized forms of chitosan (Fig. 1).

#### 2.2 Functionalization of Chitosan with Metal Ions

Functionalization of chitosan in its amine and hydroxyl groups with various toxicfree metal ions is used for adsorption of toxic ions removal from water, which provides higher adsorption densities, hydrophilic character, and faster adsorption kinetics. Different types of metal ions were immobilized on the surface functionalities of chitosan through in situ and ex situ synthetic methods. These reactive functional groups may interact with metal ions through different mechanisms depending on the metal, the pH, and the matrix of the solution. The free-electron doublet on nitrogen may bind metal cations at pH close to neutrality (or weak acidity). The donation of lone paired electrons plays an important role in the amine-metal interaction. The interaction of metals on amine moiety present in the chitosan was studied using Raman spectroscopy and density functional theory (DFT). The most obvious change of the surface Raman spectra pattern arises from the amino group. It's interesting to note that NH<sub>2</sub> vibration modes show a significant frequency shift and an abnormal Raman enhancement in the measurements. Zhao et al. [15] have explained well about the aniline adsorption on the metal centers via Raman spectroscopy with the substantial aid of DFT calculations. In this paper, the amine-metal interaction mainly arises from the donation of amino lone pair orbital to metal unoccupied s band as described well [15]. According to Pearson's hard and soft acid-based (HSAB) concept, the hard acid metals tend to bind with hard base moieties to form a stable adduct and the same phenomenon for soft-based metals. Based on this concept, the NH<sub>2</sub> groups of chitosan considered as hard base the loading of metal ions should be hard acid behavior which leads to forming a stable interaction between them (Fig. 2).

#### **3** Applications of Chitosan for Environmental Remediation

## 3.1 Fluoride Retention Using Metal–Chitosan Based Composites

Fluoride is one of the essential microelements required in trace amounts for the normal growth and development of various organs in our body more prominently bone and teeth. Fluoride is thus considered beneficial in drinking water at levels of about 0.5 mg/L but it is harmful once it exceeds 1.5 mg/L which is the World Health Organization (WHO) limit being followed in most of the nations. The Bureau of Indian standards has fixed a permissible limit of fluoride in drinking water as 1 mg/L. The excess of fluoride content in the groundwater sources is one of the major environmental health issues with the continuing growth of population and human intervention in alteration of water quality being one of the prominent causes. In India, 230 districts of 20 states are at risk of high levels of fluoride in drinking water. There are two types of fluorides: (1) ionizable/non-ionizable and (2) organic/



Fig. 2 Alumina cross-linked chitosan with HPMC (hydroxypropyl methylcellulose). The figure was adapted from Ref. [16]

inorganic, in which organic fluoride does not dissolve rapidly in water until fluoride ion is released via any chemical reaction. Mostly the inorganic fluoride ions come from rock phosphates, minerals, and earth crust (950 mg/L) in its ionic form. Excessive intake of fluoride contained water may pose serious health concerns like dental, skeletal, and non-skeletal forms of fluorosis depending upon the concentration of the fluoride contents in water [17]. There are several technologies used in the defluoridation of water: reverse osmosis, nanofiltration, dialysis and electro-dialysis, and adsorption. Among them, adsorption appears to be the most appropriate solution because it is cost-effective, simple to operate, and produces high-quality treated water [18]. Recently, chitosan-based composites using metals, metal oxides, and bimetals have been receiving large attention as alternative sorbents in water treatment processes as these kinds of materials yield high adsorption densities. To date, several successful attempts made toward the development of new materials with the maximum adsorption densities have been undertaken by employing the following strategies: (1) metal ions encapsulations, (2) magnetic nanoparticle coatings, and (3) combination of both (1) and (2) in the chitosan matrix. Viswanathan and Meenakshi have started working on chitosan and modified forms of the chitosan for fluoride removal from waters. The chemically modified forms of the chitosan, i.e., protonated and carboxylated forms beads showed excellent fluoride adsorption densities were 1.66 and 1.33 mg/L at the initial concentration of 10 mg/L [5, 19]. Then, to enhance the adsorption performance of fluoride, metal-loaded chitosan beads were prepared which showed higher adsorption densities than the protonated and carbolated forms of beads. The fluoride adsorption capacities on Laand Fe-loaded chitosan beads were 4.71 and 4.23, respectively. To continue this, La-Zr bimetallic chitosan beads were prepared by Prabhu and Meenakshi later [20], where the adsorption capacities were  $\sim 3.8$  times higher than the protonated forms. Also, the material was regenerated with 0.1 M NaOH about 6 times for maximum reuse of the materials. Further, the authors have synthesized metals  $(A1^{3+}, Ce^{3+}, La^{3+})$ and Zr<sup>4+</sup>) incorporated chitosan grafted polyamidoamine dendrimers for the adsorption of fluoride from water. The results showed that Zr-loaded PAAGCB was more selective with the maximum adsorption densities of 17.47 mg/g than the other metal ions loaded PAAGCB. The thermodynamic study results indicated that the adsorption process was spontaneous and endothermic. The Zr-PAAGCB material could be effectively utilized as an adsorbent for fluoride adsorption [21]. Similar adsorption densities were obtained for magnetic materials on the chitosan matrix. The order of the magnetic materials prepared by several authors and the capacities was arranged in decreasing order as  $Fe_3O_4$ /chitosan/Al(OH)<sub>3</sub> beads [22] > magnetic hydrocalumite-chitosan [23] > magnetic hydrotalcite-chitosan [24] > magnetic hydroxyapatite [25]. The main advantages of these magnetic materials are easy separation of materials from solution and it suppresses separation process time and the cost of the process. Chitosan modified with highly electropositive metals and a supported material delivered high adsorption capacities. For example, Ce-chitosan (153 mg/g), Aloe vera supported Nano Zr chitosan [26] and Al-chitosanhydroxypropyl methylcellulose [27]. The Aloe vera supported Zr nanoparticles were prepared by a simple method. The extract of *Aloe vera* was used as a reducing agent to develop Zr nanoparticles and further the nanoparticles were embedded in the chitosan matrix. Recently, a record high adsorption densities of fluoride were obtained by Affonso et al. [28] using carbon nanotube functionalized with chitosan sponge from effluent of fertilizer production industry. These adsorbents have shown a record high maximum adsorption density of 975.4 mg/g based on the kinetic and freundlich isotherm analysis results. The high adsorption caapacity was attributed to the chitosan functional groups and the high interaction area promoted by sponge form and the carbon nanotube. Additionaly, the material was reused for about



Fig. 3 A schematic illustration of fluoride adsorption mechanism onto the magnetic MgFe2O4– chitosan–CaAl composite. The figure was adapted with permission from Ref. [27]

5 times with the aid of 0.1 M NaOH solution as an eluent [28]. Mostly the developed materials for fluoride adsorption were regenerated with NaOH with the cycles range between 5 and 10 (Fig. 3). As a result, the metal-incorporated chitosan composites proved to be more efficient adsorbents than their chemically modified counterparts. The other chitosan-based materials reported for fluoride sorption are displayed in Table 1.

# 3.2 Newly Developed Chitosan-Derivatives for Arsenic Adsorption

Arsenic exists as oxides in soil, sediments, and water in many parts of the world and originates from both natural and anthropogenic processes. Arsenic existed in four different types of states as -3, +3, 0, and +5, in which +3 form, called arsenite (H<sub>3</sub>ASO<sub>3</sub>, As(III)) and arsenate (HAsO<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup>, As(V)) occurs naturally in predominant forms. Arsenite is more toxic (50 times) than arsenate due to the less mobility in the

		Fluoride adsorption	Regeneration	Regeneration			
S. No.	Adsorbent material	capacity (mg/g)	eluent	cycles	Isotherm model	Kinetics	Ref.
-	Protonated chitosan beads	1.66	0.1 M HCI	1	Langmuir– Freundlich	Pseudo-second- order	[2]
5	Carboxylated chitosan beads	1.39	0.1 M HCI	1	Langmuir- Freundlich	Pseudo-second- order	[19]
ŝ	La-chitosan beads	4.71	1	1	Freundlich	Pseudo-seond- order	[29]
4	Fe-chitosan beads	4.23	1	1	Freundlich	Pseudo-second- order	[30]
5	La-Zr mixed oxide-chitosan beads	6.41	0.1 M NaOH	90	Langmuir	Pseudo-second- order	[20]
9	Zr-chitosan dendrimer beads	17.47	1	I	Freundlich	Pseudo-second- order	[21]
7	La-rare earth metal oxide/chitosan	22.35	0.5 M NaOH	07	Freundlich	Pseudo-second- order	[31]
8	Chitosan-Fe(III) beads	45.45	5% NaCl	14	Freundlich	Pseudo-second- order	[32]
6	Fe <sub>3</sub> O <sub>4</sub> /chitosan/Al(OH) <sub>3</sub> beads	76.63	1	1	Langmuir	Pseudo-second- order	[22]
10	Magnetic nanohydroxyapatite- chitosan	4.77	0.1 M NaOH	04	Langmuir	Pseudo-second- order	[25]
11	Magnetic hydrotalcite-chitosan	5.03	0.1 M NaOH	05	Langmuir	Pseudo-second- order	[24]
12	La-silica gel/chitosan	4.90	1	1	Langmuir	Pseudo-second- order	[33]
13	Magnetic hydrocalumite-chitosan	6.80	1	I	Langmuir	Pseudo-second- order	[23]
14	Bentonite clay/chitosan	9.80	0.1 M NaOH	05	Freundlich		[34]

 Table 1
 Functionalized forms of chitosan for fluoride removal from water

(continued)

Table 1	(continued)						
S. No.	Adsorbent material	Fluoride adsorption capacity (mg/g)	Regeneration eluent	Regeneration cycles	Isotherm model	Kinetics	Ref.
						Pseudo-second- order	
15	Chitosan-polyaniline/zirconium	8.71	0.1 M NaOH	05	Freundlich	Pseudo-second- order	[35]
16	Zr <sup>4+-</sup> chitosan/gelatin composite	12.13	0.05 M NaOH	05	Langmuir	Pseudo-second- order	[36]
17	La-synthetic resin@chitosan	17.50	0.01 M NaOH	06	Freundlich	Pseudo-second- order	[37]
18	Al-La oxyhydroxides-chitosan	49.54	0.1 M NaOH	05	Freundlich	Pseudo-second- order	[38]
19	Fe-Al-Mn oxyhydroxide-chitosan	$55 \pm 0.5$	1	I	Freundlich	Pseudo-second- order	[39]
20	Silica/chitosan	58.80	1 M NaOH	10	Langmuir	Pseudo-second- order	[40]
21	Aloe vera supported Nano Zr chitosan	96.58	0.1 M NaOH	10	Langmuir	Pseudo-second- order	[26]
22	Al-chitosan-hydroxypropyl methyl cellulose	125.1	Methanol	04	Langmuir	Pseudo-second- order	[16]
23	Ce-chitosan composite	153.3	2 M NaOH	03	Langmuir	Pseudo-second- order	[41]
24	MgFe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>4</sub> -chitosan-CaAl composite	263.15	0.1 M NaOH	05	Langmuir	Pseudo-second- order	[27]
25	Carbon nanotube/chitosan sponge	975.4	0.1 M NaOH	05	Freundlich	Pseudo-first- order	[28]

(continued	
Η	
Table	

water. The chemistry of arsenic and its toxicity was well explained in the previous review article by Hao et al. [42]. The maximum permissible limit of arsenic in groundwater is 10  $\mu$ g/L, described by WHO. The removal mechanisms of the toxic inorganic pollutants on chitosan adsorbents are controversial with theories including chemisorption and complexation. It is reported that the uptake of arsenic on amine moiety in chitosan through coordination with unprotonated amine groups and the protonated form of amine groups would tend to adsorb arsenic via an electrostatic interaction at different pH conditions [43]. Chitosan in its unmodified form had lower adsorption capacities than the metal incorporated chitosan moiety due to its lack of active sites for adsorption as listed out in Table 2. Kwok et al. have reported the mechanisms of arsenic removal on chitosan and nano chitosan in detail at different pH conditions and the adsorption-desorption behavior for arsenic at various eluents [43]. Further, the unmodified chitosan was used for the removal of arsenite and arsenate ions from water at pH 5 and found that the maximum adsorption densities were 1.83 and 1.94 mg/g, respectively. The chitosan was regenerated with  $0.5-0.1 \text{ M H}_2\text{SO}_4$  for about 15 cycles, which is far preferable to the mere three cycles afforded by coconut husk carbon in arsenic recovery [44]. To improve its adsorption capacities, the chitosan was modified with chelating resins, and the densities were improved drastically to 62.42 mg/g with pseudo-second-order kinetic models for arsenate removal, and the materials were regenerated using 0.2 M NaOH and utilized materials for further five times with maximum adsorption densities. Metal impregnation is proposed to increase arsenic uptake capacity and favor chitosan selectivity over other metal ions and co-ions. The metals such as lanthanum, zirconium, iron, molybdenum, aluminum, and manganese are known to form complexes with arsenic ions and for their strong affinity for chitosan [45]. Salih et al. [54] have recently reported chitosan/diatomaceous composite beads as an effective adsorbent for the removal of toxic ions from water. The binary maximal adsorption densities of  $A_{s}(III)$  and  $A_{s}(V)$ , as determined from the Langmuir isotherms were 87.81 and 44.07 at a pH 6, respectively. The presence of phosphate as co-existing anions has an obvious impact on the adsorption of arsenic species due to isomeric forms of phosphate and arsenic. In the desorption experiments, the chitosan/diatomaceous composite beads were examined using 0.2 M NaOH as an eluent and the adsorbents were reused for five consecutive cycles and the losses in bead mass after 5 regeneration cycles were measured as approximately 8% and 11% for As(III) and As(V) loaded beads, respectively. Likewise, a microsphere using iron-loaded chitosan was prepared by Lin et al. (2019) for the removal of toxic As(III) ions from water [46]. The As(III) ions tend to bind with the Fe-rich surface of chitosan through electrostatic interaction at acidic pH conditions and over pH 8, the result was contrary, the excess of -OH ions would compete with arsenite ions and the densities were decreased. The mechanisms of interaction was confirmed by FTIR and XPS studies, in which the FTIR studies confirmed that the presence of NH stretching vibration mode was shifted to 1,371 cm<sup>-1</sup> from 1,387 cm<sup>-1</sup> and a new peak was observed at 819 cm<sup>-1</sup> corresponded to Fe-O-As after adsorption. The magnetic chitosan bead and composie were made by two different groups and found that the adsorption densities were higher at composet form rather the beads, due to higher

		Ref.	4	[49]	[50]	[5]	[52]	[53]	[46]	[54]	[55]	[56]	[57]	[58]	[59]	[47]
		Kinetics	First-order	Pseudo-second- order	Pseudo-second- order	1	Pseudo-second- order	Pseudo-second- order	Pseudo-first- order	Pseudo-second- order	Pseudo-second- order	Pseudo-second- order	Pseudo-second- order	Pseudo-first- order	Pseudo-second- order	Pseudo-second- order
		Isotherm model	I	Langmuir	Langmuir	Langmuir	Langmuir	Langmuir	Freundlich	Langmuir	Langmuir	Langmuir	Langmuir	Freundlich	Langmuir	Langmuir
	Regeneration	Cycles	15	05	10	05	05	90	03	05	05	05	05	1	1	04
	Regeneration	eluent	0.5-0.1 M H <sub>2</sub> SO <sub>4</sub>	0.2 M NaOH	0.5 M HCI	0.01 M NaOH	0.1 M NaOH	0.5 M NaOH	1.0 M NaOH	0.2 M NaOH		0.1 M NaOH	Na <sub>2</sub> EDTA		1	1.0 M NaOH
n capacity		Arsenate	1.94	62.42	1	200.0	35.3	190.0	I	44.07	63.69	79.49	65.5	33.87	120.77	167.79
Adsorption	(mg/g)	Arsenite	1.83	I	9.355	142.9	35.7	I	95.97	87.81	I	73.69	I	I	I	1
		Adsorbent material	Chitosan	Chitosan-chelating resin	α-Fe2O3 impregnated chitosan beads	Chitosan/PVA/Fe <sup>0</sup>	Magnetic chitosan beads	Zr-chitosan composite	Fe-chitosan microsphere	Chitosan/diatomaceous	Fe-chitosan/ZnO@ alginate microsphere	Fe <sub>3</sub> O <sub>4</sub> -chitosan composite	Magnetic chitosan bead	Chitosan-iron oxide films	Ionotropic chitosan microspheres	Chitosan-Fe-Al LDH@rGO
		S. No.		7	n	4	Ś	6	٢	~	6	10	11	12	13	14

 Table 2
 Adsorbents used for the removal of arsenite and arsenate from waters

15	Goethite/GO/chitosan composite	289.42	Ι	0.5 M NaOH	05	Freundlich and	Pseudo-second-	[48]
						Sips	order	
16	Molybdate loaded chitosan beads	Ι	75.0	0.1 M phosphoric	03	Langmuir	Pseudo-second-	[09]
				acid			order	
17	Lanthanum-chitosan nanofiber	I	83.6	8% in mass NaOH	02	Langmuir	Pseudo-seond-	[0]
							order	
18	Chitosan-diatomite	I	11.95	0.1 M NaOH	90	Langmuir	Pseudo-second-	<mark>62</mark>
							order	
19	Fe-Mn@ chitosan/alginate	24.06	I	NaOH	04	Freundlich	Pseudo-second-	[63]
							order	
20	Fe-chitosan	I	14.95	1% NaOH	04	Langmuir	Pseudo-second-	<u>4</u>
							order	
21	Fe-chitosan nanosheets	108.6	I	0.5 M NaOH	04	Langmuir	Pseudo-second-	[ <mark>65</mark> ]
							order	
22	Chitosan-Zr <sub>x</sub> Al <sub>1-x</sub> OOH composite	06.69	I	0.1 M NaOH	04	Langmuir	Pseudo-second-	[90]
							order	
23	Chitosan-iron sand filters	26.0	56.0	1	1	Langmuir	Pseudo-first-	
							order	
24	Chitosan-montmorillonite	48.7	I	$0.1 \mathrm{M} \mathrm{H}_2 \mathrm{PO}_4$	03	Freundlich	Pseudo-second-	
	composites						order	
25	Chitosan electrospun nanofibers	I	11.2	0.003 M NaOH	10	Freundlich	Pseudo-second-	
							order	

surface area and more active sites existed in the composite form. The respective adsorption densities of arsenite and arsenate were 73.69 and 79.49 mg/g on magnetic chitosan composite which is higher adsorption densities than the magnetic chitosan beads (65.5 mg/g). Lanthanum and molybdenum ions are considered as hard acids which tend to bind with arsenate, a hard base, by well understood HSAB principle.

Bimellaic assembled chitosan materials were utilized to maximize the adsorption efficiencies of both As(III) and As(V) from waters. Recently, Priva et al. [47] have developed a material consisting of Fe-Al layered double hydroxides on chitosan with graphene oxide materials. The nanocomposite was successfully prepared by hydrothermal and ex situ polymerization process with an enhanced surface area which provides more number of active sites. The LDH moieties were attached with GO groups through electrostatic interaction and the negatively charged arsenic species interacted with this nanocomposite through coordination, ligand exchange, and electrostatic interaction mechanisms. The adsorption capacities of the materials were found to be 167.80 mg/g, which is higher than the pristine forms of the materials [47]. Another group from China has recently developed goethite/graphene oxide/chitosan nanocomposite materials for the removal of As(III) from water. They found that the multifunctional groups such as NHCO, C-O, O-H, and Fe-O were responsible for adsorption of arsenite ions from water. The maximum adsorption density of 289.42 mg/g was calculated using the Langmuir isotherm model and the material was used five consecutive times with the minimal loss of its efficiencies [48].

Chitosan-supported mixed metal oxyhydroxides ( $Zr_xAl_{1-x}OOH$ ) were prepared by Prabhu and Sasaki for the simultaneous removal of toxic fluoride and arsenite ions from single and binary solutions. A higher amount of arsenite was adsorbed in binary solutions than the single solutions, through electrostatic interaction and ligand exchange mechanisms at different pH conditions. Further, the material was supplied to remove the three-component system of natural co-existing anions and found no significant decrement in the adsorption densities. The material could be reused about four times using 0.1 M NaOH as an eluent. Again bimetallic rich chitosan–alginate biopolymeric nanocomposite was developed by Zeng et al. (2020) that materials showed a surface area of 128.16 m<sup>2</sup>/g and showed maximum efficiencies of 24.06 mg/g [63]. The mechanism of attraction of arsenic by complexation and the desorption by NaOH could be used for four adsorption and desorption cycles (Fig. 4). The other materials used for the removal of toxic arsenite and arsenate using chitosan-based materials are listed in Table 2.



**Fig. 4** A schematic view of mechanism of intercalation and ex situ polymerization of chitosan and its adsorption of arsenate from water. The figure was adapted with permission from Ref. [47]

# 3.3 Metal and Metal-Free Chitosan Materials for Phosphate and Nitrate Adsorption

The nutrients pollution in a water body such as nitrogen and phosphorus are serious environmental issues worldwide. The dissolved nutrients species ammonium, nitrate, and phosphate are particularly important pollutants, resulting in aquatic eutrophication, which is an abundance of aquatic plants, growth of algae, and depletion of dissolved oxygen [67]. The nitrate ion in drinking water is 40 mg/L set by WHO, when it exceeds causes public health hazards including infant methemoglobinemia called Blue baby syndrome and the other forms of carcinogenic nitrosamines and nitrosamides. Agricultural fertilizers, aquaculture, agri-food industries, municipal wastewaters, and detergent manufacturing industries are the main sources of nitrate and phosphate release in the waterbody. Also, thermal power plants discharge their wastes into water that contains large amounts of nitrate ions [68]. A lot of materials were tried to remove the maximum amount of nitrate and phosphate ions through adsorption method. A few review articles explained well the materials used for the removal of those ions from water. This review is currently updating the chitosan-based materials used for the removal of phosphate and nitrate ions from water. Kumar et al. [69] investigated the  $NO_3^{-1}$  and  $PO_4^{3-1}$  adsorption properties of chitosan encapsulated lanthanum oxide admixed Aegle marmelos (La<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>AM@CS) composite beads. The hydrothermal supported La<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>AM@CS composite beads possess the  $NO_3^-$  and  $PO_4^{3-}$  adsorption capacity of 27.84 and 34.91 mg/g, respectively [69]. The pH influences the  $NO_3^-$  and  $PO_4^{3-}$  adsorption capacity of La<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>AM@CS composite beads, and SO<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup> ion mainly competes with  $NO_3^{-}$  and  $PO_4^{3-}$  adsorption due to charge and size effects. They also reported that the chitosan-supported metal/bentonite composite beads viz. Zr@CSBent, La@CSBent, and Ce@CSBent for NO3<sup>-</sup> adsorption from water. Among the studied materials, Zr@CSBent composite beads showed a higher adsorption capacity of 23.89 mg/g [70]. Banu et al. reported the Zr<sup>4+</sup> ions implanted chitosan-soybean husk activated bio-char composite beads (Zr-CS-SAC) for NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> and PO<sub>4</sub><sup>3-</sup> adsorption and possesses the maximum adsorption capacity of 90.09 and 131.29 mg/g at 30°C

[71]. Jiang et al. [72] synthesized the  $Fe_3O_4/ZrO_2/chitosan$  composite using a low-cost method at the mild condition. The developed Fe<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub>/ZrO<sub>2</sub>/chitosan composite has an adsorption capacity of 89.3 mg/g and 26.5 mg P/g for  $NO_3^-$  and  $PO_4^{3-}$ , respectively [72]. Karthikeyan et al. developed the lanthanum-loaded chitosan membrane (La@CS) by casting technique, and the La@CS membrane showed the  $PO_4^{3-}$  and  $NO_3^{-}$  adsorption capacity of 76.6 and 62.6 mg/g, respectively [73]. The same authors also developed  $Fe^{3+}$  cross-linked chitosan/alginate (Fe-CS-Alg) hybrid beads for  $PO_4^{3-}$  and  $NO_3^{-}$  from an aqueous solution and having the maximum adsorption capacity of 84.74 and 69.10 mg/g, respectively [74]. Further, they moved to prepare the cerium loaded chitosan- $\beta$ -cyclodextrin (Ce-CS- $\beta$ -CD) microspheres and applied for the removal of PO<sub>4</sub><sup>3-</sup> and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>. which exhibited the excellent adsorption capacity of 88.54 and 72.12 mg/g for  $PO_4^{3-}$  and  $NO_3^{-}$ , respectively [75]. They also prepared zirconium fixed chitosan– starch membrane (Zr-CS-ST) for  $PO_4^{3-}$  and  $NO_3^{-}$  removal, which possesses the adsorption capacities of 86.28 and 70.88 mg/g, respectively [76]. An environmentally friendly Al<sup>3+</sup> incorporated chitosan and gelatin (Al@CS-Ge) microspheres were fabricated by Karthikevan et al. [77] and utilized as an effective adsorbent for the removal of  $PO_4^{3-}$  and  $NO_3^{-}$ . The main interaction between the two biopolymeric materials entrapped with metal ions would tend to adsorb more nitrate and phosphate ions due to the availability of the active sites for adsorption. The electrostatic interaction, complexation, and ion-exchange mechanisms were the mainly governed factors for adsorption of nitrate and phosphate ions from waters [77]. Kim et al. [78] have applied iron oxide nanoparticle-chitosan (ION-chitosan) composites for  $PO_4^{3-}$  removal from the natural water. The ION-chitosan composite is not pH sensitive between the pH values of 5.0 to 9.0 and has the  $PO_4^{3-}$  removal capacity of 0.059 mg P/g [78]. Kumar and Viswanathan prepared multivalent metal ions like Zr<sup>4+</sup>, Fe<sup>3+</sup>, and Ca<sup>2+</sup> cross-linked chitosan bentonite composites Zr@CSBent, Fe@CSBent, and Ca@CSBent, respectively. The developed composites possess the efficient  $PO_4^{3-}$  adsorption capacities of 40.86, 22.15, and 13.44 mg/ g than the specific CSBent composite [79]. The  $Zr^{4+}$ -imprinted chitosan (CCP-Zr) was prepared by forming-membrane and cross-linking method by Liu et al. [80]. The CCP-Zr have the maximum monolayer adsorption capacity of 71.68 mg/g at pH 3 and 30°C [80]. The chitosan beads modified with zirconium (ZCB) were developed by Liu and Zhang for  $PO_4^{3-}$  removal from an aqueous medium, which possesses the maximum monolayer adsorption capacity of 60.6 mg/g [81]. Mahaninia and Wilson cross-linked the chitosan beads with glutaraldehyde and epichlorohydrin and used for the removal of phosphate dianion  $(HPO_4^{2-})$  from an aqueous solution at pH 8.5 and 22°C and possesses adsorption capacity of 22.4–52.1 mg/g [82]. Nthumbi et al. [83] prepared chitosan/polyacrylamide nanofibers and used them for the removal of  $PO_4^{3-}$ . The nanofibers had an adsorption capacity of 392 mg/g and removal efficiencies of 97.4% in synthetic and field water samples [83]. Sowmya and Meenakshi have developed various types of chitosan-based adsorbent materials

including quaternized chitosan beads (OCB) [84], hydrotalcite/chitosan (HT/CS) composite, quaternized chitosan-melamine-glutaraldehyde resin (OCMGR) [85], protonated a carboxylated cross-linked chitosan bead (PCB), (CCB) [86], La(III)loaded silica-chitosan composite (LSCC) [87], Zr(IV) cross-linked chitosan beads (ZrCB) [88], zinc-loaded cross-linked chitosan beads (ZnCB) and zinc-loaded carboxylated cross-linked chitosan beads (ZnCCB) for the removal of both  $PO_4^{3-}$ and  $NO_3^{-}$  from water [89]. The reported the adsorbent materials possess very good adsorption capacity for the removal of  $PO_4^{3-}$  and  $NO_3^{-}$  from synthetic and realwater samples. The LSCC material exhibited the highest affinity for phosphate removal and nitrate removal from water out of all the developed materials. Based on this scenerio, Banu et al. (2018) [90] synthesized the La<sup>3+</sup>-incorporated chitosanmontmorillonite composite (La-CS-MMT) for the effective removal of  $PO_4^{3-}$  from aqueous solution, which successfully removed 92% of the  $PO_4^{3-}$  within 30 min. By electrostatic attraction, the phosphate ions were adsorbed on La-CS-MMT to form an outer-sphere complex, as confirmed by the D-R isotherm, and the adsorbed material was then desorbed with 0.1 M NaOH. In regard to MMT and CS, hydrogen bonding is a common mechanism for their interaction with phosphate and nitrate. Zavareh et al. [91] reported the magnetic Cu-chitosan/Fe<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub> nanocomposite for selective and effective removal of  $PO_4^{3-}$ . The synthesized magnetic adsorbent has the maximum adsorption capacity of 88 mg P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>/g, which is higher than the neat chitosan and chitosan/Fe<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub> according to the Langmuir isotherm [91]. Kumar and Viswanathan have prepared the tetra amine copper(II) salt grafted chitosan (TAC@CS) composite beads for  $PO_4^{3-}$  adsorption, and the TAC@CS composite beads posses the enhanced adsorption capacity of  $41.42 \pm 0.071$  mg/g compared to other prepared adsorbent materials [92]. Kumar and Viswanathan have developed magnetic adsorbents like amine-grafted magnetic gelatin (AGMGel) composite, magnetic-chitosanassisted hydrotalcite (MCSHT), and magnetic-alginate-assisted hydrotalcite (MAlgHT) composite beads for the adsorption of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> and PO<sub>4</sub><sup>3-</sup> from water. The researchers also synthesized zirconium oxyhydroxide (Zr@CSKN) composite by hydrothermal method for enhanced nitrate and phosphate adsorption [93–95].

Zhao and Feng reported the modified chitosan beads for  $PO_4^{3-}$  and  $NO_3^{-}$  adsorption with different pH, the initial concentration, contact time, and adsorbent dosage. The results displayed that modified chitosan beads are an excellent adsorbent for the removal of  $NO_3^{-}$  and  $PO_4^{3-}$  with an adsorption capacity of 32.15 and 33.90 mg/g, respectively [96]. Golie and Upadhyayula have synthesized chitosan/ bentonite, chitosan/titanium oxide, and chitosan/alumina (ChBT, ChTi, and ChAl, respectively) for  $NO_3^{-}$  adsorption from aqueous solution by batch biosorption experiments, and the composites possess the adsorption capacity of 35.68 and 43.62 and 45.38 mg/g, respectively [97]. Banu and Meenakshi reported the one-pot synthesis of chitosan grafted quaternized resin for the removal of  $NO_3^{-}$  and  $PO_4^{3-}$  from water. The removal efficiency of  $NO_3^{-}$  and  $PO_4^{3-}$  on chitosan quaternized resin was 78% and 90%, respectively, with 0.1 g of adsorbent and the initial concentration as 100 mg/L [98]. A granular chitosan–Fe<sup>3+</sup> complex with high chemical stability and good environmental adaptation was developed by Hu et al.

and used for the adsorption of  $NO_3^-$  and possesses the adsorption capacity of 8.35 mg  $NO_3$ –N/g based on Langmuir–Freundlich model [99]. Zhang et al. (2018) and Zhao et al. (2020) have developed the composites like Fe(III)-doped chitosan (CTS-Fe) [100] and cross-linked Fe(III)-chitosan (CTS-Fe-CL) [101] for the removal of phosphorus. The maximum phosphate adsorption capacity for CTS-Fe and CTS-Fe-CL was 15.7 and 10.2 mg P/g at 30°C, respectively. Lanthanum-chitosan hydrogel coated with polydopamine (La-CS@PDA) was synthesized with abundant amino groups, and the composite followed the Langmuir isotherm model with an adsorption capacity of 195.3 mg/g. Chitosan/Zeolite Y/Nano ZrO<sub>2</sub> nanocomposite adsorbent was synthesized by Teimouri et al. [102] and applied for the removal of  $NO_3^-$  from the aqueous solution. The  $NO_3^-$  adsorption process was described by Langmuir isotherm model with the adsorption capacity of 23.58 mg/g [102].

The nanochitosan-graphene oxide composite (NCS@GO) was prepared by Salehi and Hosseinifard, which is examined for adsorption of  $PO_4^{3-}$  and  $NO_3^{-}$  from aqueous solutions. The zirconium loading was optimized in NCT@GO composite to make it selective for the adsorbate anions, and NCS@GO/H-Zr established a very good PO<sub>4</sub><sup>3-</sup> and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> uptake of 172.41 mg P/g and 138.88 mg N/g, respectively. The removal capacity of P and N anions was also assessed in bi-component systems and the Freundlich isotherm fitted well, suggesting the multilayer formation. Real samples analysis indicated that the prepared material works well for the removal of P and N anions from contaminated waters [103]. Yazdani et al. [104] reported the zinc (II)<sup>-</sup>chitosan complexes as a bio-sorbent for PO<sub>4</sub><sup>3-</sup> removal from aqueous solutions. The zinc(II) ions into chitosan expand its performance towards  $PO_4^{3-}$  removal from 1.45 to 6.55 mg/g. Using functionalized nanochitosan/clinoptilolite (Nano-CS/ Clino) composites, nitrate ions were removed from water. The Nano-CS/ Clino@PEHA composite was found to have a higher nitrate adsorption capacity of 277.77 mg/g than Nano-CS/Clino@H (227.27 mg/g) and Nano-CS/Clino (185.18) [104, 105]. More recently, Fu et al. [106] developed the polyethylenimine-grafted chitosan core-shell (Fe<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub>/CS/PEI) magnetic nanoparticles and utilized them for adsorbing  $PO_4^{3-}$  in water. The adsorption isotherms of  $PO_4^{3-}$  on Fe<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub>/CS/PEI particles were well fit by the Langmuir equation, and its maximum adsorption was 48.2 mg/g at an equilibrium pH of 3.0 and 25°C [106]. Non-cross-linked lanthanumchitosan (La-CTS-0X) and cross-linked lanthanum-chitosan (La-CTS-1X/2X) composites were prepared as new complex biosorbents for effective  $PO_4^{3-}$  removal from wastewater by Liu et al. [107]. The maximum  $PO_4^{3-}$  adsorption capacity for La-CTS-0X/1X/2X was 47.28, 57.84, and 31.01 mg/g at pH 6, respectively [107].

The materials used for the removal of phosphate and nitrate were mostly regenerated with NaCl and NaOH at different concentrations depending upon the metal concentrations of composites/hybrids and the maximum re-useable cycles are between 5 and 10. The metal-loaded chitosan-based composites showed extraordinary performance than the pristine forms due to the hydroxide ions and the metal affinity towards the nitrate and phosphate ions from water. The quarternized forms of



**Fig. 5** Mechanism of phosphate adsorption using Fe(III)-doped chitosan and cross-linked Fe(III)-doped chitosan. The figure was adapted with permission from Ref. [100]

chitosan materials attract phosphate and nitrate ions through a ligand-exchange mechanism which can be confirmed by an ion-chromatogram, where the  $Cl^-$  ions concentrations can measure periodically and the phosphate and nitrate ions concentration can be measured simultaneously (Fig. 5 and Table 3).

#### 4 Summary and Outlooks

Recently, studies have proposed the synthesis of novel, new, and eco-friendly nanomaterials that use adsorbent technologies to remove toxic ions from waters and wastewaters. Overall, the reported materials with the background of chitosan showed ultra-high adsorption densities toward the removal of fluoride, arsenic, phosphate, and nitrate ions from water under batch experiments. Mostly, the materials used for this review were prepared by conventional method and a few of them were synthesized by in situ and ex situ synthetic methods which significantly improved the stability of the materials. Besides, the surface area of the materials was also enhanced due to the synergistic interaction of the active material with the chitosan background. At different pH levels, the mechanisms of interactions with toxic ions include electrostatic interactions, inner-and outer-sphere complexation, and ligand exchange. Despite the wide applications were adopted for new generation material for the removal of fluoride, arsenic, phosphate, and nitrate from water, some drawbacks still exist.

			Ref.	69		[70]			[71]		[72]		[73]		[74]		[75]		[76]		[77]		[78]			[67]		
			Kinetics	I		Pseudo-	first-order		Pseudo-	first-order	Pseudo-	first-order	Pseudo-	first-order	Pseudo-	first-order	Pseudo-	first-order	Pseudo-	first-order	Pseudo-	first-order	Pseudo-	second-	order	Pseudo-	first-order	
			Isotherm	Freundlich		Freundlich			Freundlich		Langmuir		Freundlich		Freundlich		Freundlich		Freundlich		Freundlich		Freundlich			Freundlich		
		Regeneration	cycles	6		6			5		1		5		5		5		5		5		9					
-		Regeneration	eluent	NaOH		0.01 M NaOH			0.1 M NaCl		1		0.1 M NaOH		0.1 M NaOH		0.1 M NaOH		0.1 M NaOH		0.1 M NaOH		0.001 M NaOH			1		
	pacity	Nitrate	(mg/g)	27.84		23.89,	19.54	and 16 63	90.09		89.3		62.6		69.10		72.12		70.88		74.15		I			I		
	Adsorption ca	Phosphate	(mg/g)	34.91		I			131.29		26.5		76.6		84.74		88.54		86.28		90.14		0.059			40.86,	22.15, and	13.44
			Adsorbent material	Chitosan	Encapsulated lanthanum oxide	$Zr^{4+}$ , La <sup>3+</sup> , and Ce <sup>3+</sup> cross-linked chitosan	assisted bentonite composite		Zr <sup>4+</sup> ions embedded chitosan-soybean husk	activated bio-char composite beads	Fe <sub>3</sub> O <sub>4</sub> /ZrO <sub>2</sub> /chitosan composite		Lanthanum incorporated chitosan membrane		Fe <sup>3+</sup> loaded chitosan and alginate biopolymeric	hybrid beads	Cerium incorporated chitosan-β-cyclodextrin		Zirconium entrenched chitosan-starch	membrane	Al <sup>3+</sup> incorporated chitosan and gelatin	microspheres	Iron oxide nanoparticle-loaded chitosan	composites		Zr <sup>4+</sup> , Fe <sup>3+</sup> , and Ca <sup>2+</sup> chitosan-supported ben-	tonite composite	
			S. No.	-		2			3		4		5		6		7		8		6		10			11		

Table 3 Removal of phosphate and nitrate ions from water using chitosan-based sorbents

		Ref.	[06]			[91]			[92]			[96]			[77]			[98]			[93]			[94]			[95]		_
		Kinetics	Pseudo-	second-	Ianio	Pseudo-	second-	order	Pseudo-	second-	order	Pseudo-	second-	order	Pseudo-	second-	order	Pseudo-	second-	order	Pseudo-	second-	order	Pseudo-	second-	order	Pseudo-	second-	order
		Isotherm	Freundlich			Langmuir	and	Freundlich	Freundlich			Langmuir			Freundlich			Freundlich			Freundlich			Freundlich			Freundlich		
		Regeneration cycles	5			5			4			4			7			7			8			6			6		
		Regeneration eluent	0.1 M NaOH			CuSO <sub>4</sub>			0.25 M NaOH			0.1 M NaOH			NaCl			0.1 M NaCl			0.1 M NaOH			0.025 M NaOH			0.1 M NaOH		
marity	1 pactry	Nitrate (mg/g)	I			I			I			32.15			45.38			23.7			38.40			31.83			I		
A deamation of	Musulpuoli va	Phosphate (mg/g)	128.5			88.0			41.42			33.90			I			30.4			42.95			38.34			35.98		
		Adsorbent material	Lanthanum (III) encapsulated chitosan-	montmorillonite composite		Cu-chitosan/Fe <sub>3</sub> O <sub>4</sub>	Nanocomposite		Tetra-amine copper(II) chitosan beads			Modified chitosan microspheres			Chitosan/bentonite, chitosan/titanium oxide,	and chitosan/ alumina composite		Chitosan quaternized resin			Amine-grafted chitosan hybrid beads			Zirconium oxyhydroxide capped chitosan/kao-	lin framework		Magnetic-chitosan-assisted hydrotalcite beads		
		S. No.	23			24			25			26			27			28			29			30			31		

96

Table 3 (continued)

5       Freundlich       Pseudo-         5       Freundlich       Pseudo-         -       Langmuir       Pseudo-         10       Freundlich       Pseudo-         -       Sips       Pseudo-         3       Freundlich       Pseudo-         5       Langmuir       Pseudo-         33       Freundlich       Pseudo-         5       Langmuir       Elovich         33       Freundlich       Pseudo-         second-       order       order         3       Freundlich       Pseudo-         3       Freundlich       Pseudo-         3       Freundlich       Pseudo-         3       Langmuir       Elovich         3       Langmuir       Pseudo-         second-       order       order         5       Freundlich       Pseudo-         second-       order       order         3       Langmuir       Pseudo-         second-       order       order         5       Freundlich       Pseudo-         second-       order       order         5       Fangmuir       pseudo-         <	osan–Fe <sup>3+</sup> complex – 8.35 0.1 M NaCl	- 8.35 0.1 M NaCl	8.35 0.1 M NaCl	0.1 M NaCl		I	Langmuir– Freundlich	Pseudo- second-	[66]
1 NaOH       5       Freundlich       Pseudo-         -       -       Langmuir       second-         0 rder       -       berudo-       second-         10       Freundlich       Pseudo-       second-         10       Freundlich       Pseudo-       second-         10       Freundlich       Pseudo-       second-         NaOH       3       Freundlich       Pseudo-         NaOH       3       Freundlich       Pseudo-         M NaOH       5       Langmuir       Elovich         MoOH       3       Freundlich       Pseudo-         aCl and       5       Freundlich       Pseudo-         MaOH       5       Langmuir       Elovich         MoOH       3       Freundlich       Pseudo-         MoOH       3       Freundlich       Pseudo-         MoOH       3       Langmuir       Pseudo-         Mreo       3								order	
M Na <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub> 10 Ereundlich Pseudo- second- order Pseudo- second- order Pseudo- second- order Pseudo- second- order Pseudo- second- order Pseudo- second- nder Bips Pseudo- order Pseudo- nder Bips Pseudo- ture Biovich Pseudo- model NaOH 5 Langmuir Elovich model M NaOH 3 Langmuir Pseudo- ture Bips Pseudo- order Pseudo- protor Pseudo- order Pseudo- protor Pseudo- order Pseudo- protor Pseudo- ps	II)-doped chitosan and cross-linked Fe(III)- $ 15.7$ $0.5$	- 15.7 0.5	15.7 0.5	0.5	M NaOH	5	Freundlich	Pseudo-	[100
-     Langmuir     Pseudo- second- order       5 M Na <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub> 10     Freundlich     Pseudo- second- order       -     Sips     Pseudo- order       M NaOH     3     Freundlich     Pseudo- order       M NAOH     3     Freundlich     Pseudo- order       M NAOH     3     Freundlich     Pseudo- order       5 M NAOH     5     Langmuir     Elovich       M NAOH     5     Freundlich     Pseudo- order       M NAOH     5     Langmuir     Elovich       M NAOH     3     Langmuir     Pseudo- order		10.2	allu 10.2					order	
M Na <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub> 10     Freundlich     second- order       M Na <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub> 10     Freundlich     Pseudo- second- order       M NaOH     -     Sips     Pseudo- order       M NaOH     3     Freundlich     Pseudo- order       M NaOH     5     Langmuir     Elovich       M NaOH     5     Freundlich     Pseudo- order       M NaOH     5     Freundlich     Pseudo- order       M NaOH     5     Freundlich     Pseudo- order       M NaOH     3     Langmuir     Elovich       M NaOH     3     Langmuir     Pseudo- order       M NaOH     3     Langmuir     pseudo- order	osan/zeolite Y/Nano zirconium oxide – 23.58 –	- 23.58 -	23.58 –	T		I	Langmuir	Pseudo-	2
M Na2CO310FreundlichPseudo- second- orderM Na2H-SipsPseudo- orderM NaOH3FreundlichPseudo- second- orderM NaOH3FreundlichPseudo- second- orderM NaOH5LangmuirElovichM NaOH5FreundlichPseudo- second- orderM NaOH5LangmuirPseudo- second- orderM NaOH3LangmuirPseudo- second- orderM NaOH3LangmuirPseudo- second- order	ocomposites							second- order	
M NaOH - Sips second- order M NaOH 3 Freundlich Pseudo- order 5 M NaOH 5 Langmuir Elovich M NaOH 5 Freundlich Pseudo- second- order M NaOH 3 Tangmuir Elovich model M NaOH 3 Langmuir Pseudo- second- order M NaOH 3 Langmuir Pseudo- order M NaOH 3 Langmuir Pseudo- order M NaOH 3 Langmuir Pseudo- order	onium functionalized nanochitosan- 172.41 138.88 0.	172.41 138.88 0.	138.88 0.	0	5 M Na <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub>	10	Freundlich	Pseudo-	12
M NaOH - Sips Pseudo- second- order order breudlich Pseudo- second- order order order breudlich Pseudo- second- model M NaOH 5 Freundlich Pseudo- second- xture M NaOH 3 Langmuir Pseudo- order pseudo- order order nodel	hene oxide composite							second-	
-     >ips     Pseudo-second-second-order       M NaOH     3     Freundlich     Pseudo-second									
M NaOH 3 Freundlich second- order order 5 M NaOH 5 Langmuir Elovich model NaCl and 5 Freundlich Pseudo- ature M NaOH 3 Langmuir Pseudo- second- magnuir Pseudo- order order order order order order	c(II)-chitosan complexes  7.37  -  -	7.37 – – –		L		I	Sips	Pseudo-	<u></u>
M NaOH     3     Freundlich     Pseudo- second- order       5 M NaOH     5     Langmuir     Elovich model       6 NaCl and     5     Freundlich     Pseudo- second- order       6 M NaOH     5     Treundlich     Pseudo- second- order       7 M NaOH     3     Langmuir     Pseudo- order								second-	
M NaOH 3 Freundlich Pseudo- second- order 5 Langmuir Elovich model NaCl and 5 Freundlich Pseudo- M NaOH 3 Langmuir Pseudo- second- xture 2 Langmuir Elovich second- second- order 2 cond- order 2 cond- order 2 cond- order 2 cond- second-								order	
S M NaOH     5     Langmuir     second- order       S M NaOH     5     Langmuir     Elovich       NaCl and     5     Freundlich     Pseudo- order       M NaOH     3     Langmuir     Rodel       M NaOH     3     Langmuir     second- order	ochitosan/clinoptilolite pentaethylene- – 277.77	- 277.77	277.77		1 M NaOH	3	Freundlich	Pseudo-	10
SS M NaOH     5     Langmuir     Elovich       Image: S M NaOH     5     Langmuir     Elovich       Image: NaCl and     5     Freundlich     Pseudo-       Image: M NaOH     3     Langmuir     Elovich       Image: M NaOH     3     Langmuir     Pseudo-       Image: M NaOH     3     Langmuir     Pseudo-       Image: M NaOH     3     Langmuir     Pseudo-	umine composite							second-	
S M NaOH     5     Langmuir     Elovich       NaCl and     5     Freundlich     Pseudo-       M NaOH     5     Freundlich     Pseudo-       M NaOH     3     Langmuir     Pseudo-       M NaOH     3     Langmuir     Pseudo-								order	
NaCl and     5     Freundlich     Pseudo-       M NaOH     5     Freundlich     Pseudo-       M NaOH     3     Langmuir     Pseudo-       M NaOH     3     Langmuir     Pseudo-	ethylenimine-grafted $Fe_3O_4$ © chitosan $50.8$ – (0	50.8 - (	<u> </u>	$\overline{}$	0.05 M NaOH	5	Langmuir	Elovich	[10
NaCl and 5 Freundlich Pseudo- M NaOH second- xture M NaOH 3 Langmuir Pseudo- second- order order	-shell magnetic nanoparticles							model	
M NaOH second- xture order order M NaOH 3 Langmuir Pseudo- second-	dopamine on lanthanum-chitosan 195.3 –	- 195.3	1	_	0.3 NaCl and	5	Freundlich	Pseudo-	<u> </u>
xture order order M NaOH 3 Langmuir Pseudo-second-order order orde	.ogel				0.1 M NaOH			second-	
M NaOH 3 Langmuir Pseudo- second- order					mixture			order	
second- order	ss-linked lanthanum-chitosan 57.84 –	57.84 –	I		0.1 M NaOH	3	Langmuir	Pseudo-	[107
order								second-	
_								order	

- 1. The chitosan-based materials can be easily dissolved in 1–2% acetic acid and they can be modified in various forms by adding the metal ions in it. But the adsorption takes place at acidic conditions and most of the metal ions may undergo dissolution which leads to taking the secondary treatment to recover the metal nanoparticles from water. Also, the excess loading of metal ions might block the active sites and the metal hydroxide is the only one responsible for the removal of toxic ions from water. The water quality parameters before and after the treatment were analyzed using standard methods for the determination of residual toxicity.
- 2. The regeneration of the chitosan-based materials is mandatory to reduce the cost factor of the process and the feasibility of the studies. Most of the studies were focused on batch adsorption and only a few were reported with column experiments. Regeneration studies of the materials were rarely reported in this study. In order to develop the model for domestic and community models, the column study can be applied to promote the next step of development. Only a few of the reported studies were focused on the recovery of adsorbed material and desorbed metals. Newly developed desorption techniques for metallic ions using recyclable chemicals reduce the consumption of concentrated acids and alkalis.
- 3. Real-water analysis is the fundamental factor in deciding the applicability of the adsorbent. Naturally, the groundwater contains several anions, cations that interfere with the adsorption of toxic ions from water. It is important to choose adsorbents that are able to withstand even higher concentrations of interference without affecting their adsorption capacities. After the ions were adsorbed, the adsorbents were disposed in landfills or ponds, easily contaminating water, soil, and the air is referred to as secondary pollution. The arsenic and fluoride-sorbed materials were carefully stabilized before disposed of. There are few reports about the stabilization of Cs<sup>+</sup>, Sr<sup>2+</sup> using fly-ash-based zeolite materials, which helps to avoid releasing them into the environment again.
- 4. Adsorbents cost factors are the important parameter for practical feasibility. This will be done by comparing the cost of the method developed in the laboratory and that of other commercially available models.

Acknowledgment SMP would like to thank the National Research Foundation of Korea (NRF) (2020H1D3A1A04106215) for the Korea Post-doctoral fellowship program.

### References

- Suresh PV (2012) Biodegradation of shrimp processing bio-waste and concomitant production of chitinase enzyme and N-acetyl-D-glucosamine by marine bacteria: production and process optimization. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 28:2945–2962
- Suryawanshi N, Jujjavarapu SE, Ayothiraman S (2019) Marine shell industrial wastes-an abundant source of chitin and its derivatives: constituents, pretreatment, fermentation, and pleiotropic applications – a revisit. Int J Environ Sci Technol 16:3877–3898

- Zhao D, Huang W-C, Guo N, Zhang S et al (2019) Two-step separation of chitin from shrimp shells using citric acid and deep eutectic solvents with the assistance of microwave. Polymers (Basel) 11:409
- 4. Guibal E (2004) Interactions of metal ions with chitosan-based sorbents: a review. Sep Purif Technol 38:43–74
- 5. Viswanathan N, Sundaram CS, Meenakshi S (2009) Removal of fluoride from aqueous solution using protonated chitosan beads. J Hazard Mater 161:423–430
- Kousalya GN, Rajiv Gandhi M, Meenakshi S (2010) Sorption of chromium(VI) using modified forms of chitosan beads. Int J Biol Macromol 47:308–315
- Rajiv Gandhi M, Kousalya GN, Viswanathan N, Meenakshi S (2011) Sorption behaviour of copper on chemically modified chitosan beads from aqueous solution. Carbohydr Polym 83:1082–1087
- Pokhrel S, Yadav PN (2019) Functionalization of chitosan polymer and their applications. J Macromol Sci A 56:450–475
- 9. Macquarrie DJ, Hardy JJE (2005) Applications of functionalized chitosan in catalysis. Ind Eng Chem Res 44:8499–8520
- 10. Mincke S, Asere TG, Verheye I, Folens K et al (2019) Functionalized chitosan adsorbents allow recovery of palladium and platinum from acidic aqueous solutions. Green Chem 21:2295–2306
- 11. Carvalho IC, Medeiros Borsagli FGL, Mansur AAP, Caldeira CL et al (2019) 3D sponges of chemically functionalized chitosan for potential environmental pollution remediation: biosorbents for anionic dye adsorption and 'antibiotic-free' antibacterial activity. Environ Technol:1–21
- Zarghami Z, Akbari A, Latifi AM, Amani MA (2016) Design of a new integrated chitosan-PAMAM dendrimer biosorbent for heavy metals removing and study of its adsorption kinetics and thermodynamics. Bioresour Technol 205:230–238
- Ji J, Wang L, Yu H, Chen Y et al (2014) Chemical modifications of Chitosan and its applications. *Polym.-Plast. Technol.* Engineering 53:1494–1505
- 14. Bhatt R, Kushwaha S, Bojja S, Padmaja P (2018) Chitosan-thiobarbituric acid: a superadsorbent for mercury. ACS Omega 3:13183–13194
- 15. Zhao L-B, Huang R, Bai M-X, Wu D-Y, Tian Z-Q (2011) Effect of aromatic amine-metal interaction on surface vibrational raman spectroscopy of adsorbed molecules investigated by density functional theory. J Phys Chem C 115:4174–4183
- Barik B, Nayak PS, Achary LSK, Kumar A, Dash P (2020) Synthesis of alumina-based crosslinked chitosan–HPMC biocomposite film: an efficient and user-friendly adsorbent for multipurpose water purification. New J Chem 44:322–337
- 17. Mohapatra M, Anand S, Mishra BK, Giles DE, Singh P (2009) Review of fluoride removal from drinking water. J Environ Manage 91:67–77
- Wambu EW, Ambusso WO, Onindo C, Muthakia GK (2015) Review of fluoride removal from water by adsorption using soil adsorbents – an evaluation of the status. J Water Reuse Desalin 6:1–29
- Viswanathan N, Sundaram CS, Meenakshi S (2009) Sorption behaviour of fluoride on carboxylated cross-linked chitosan beads. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces 68:48–54
- Muthu Prabhu S, Meenakshi S (2014) Enriched fluoride sorption using chitosan supported mixed metal oxides beads: synthesis, characterization and mechanism. J Water Process Eng 2:96–104
- Muthu Prabhu S, Meenakshi S (2015) A dendrimer-like hyper branched chitosan beads toward fluoride adsorption from water. Int J Biol Macromol 78:280–286
- 22. Hu H, Yang L, Lin Z, Xiang X et al (2018) Preparation and characterization of novel magnetic Fe<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub>/chitosan/Al(OH)<sub>3</sub> beads and its adsorption for fluoride. Int J Biol Macromol 114:256–262
- Pandi K, Viswanathan N, Meenakshi S (2019) Hydrothermal synthesis of magnetic iron oxide encrusted hydrocalumite-chitosan composite for defluoridation studies. Int J Biol Macromol 132:600–605
- 24. Pandi K, Periyasamy S, Viswanathan N (2017) Remediation of fluoride from drinking water using magnetic iron oxide coated hydrotalcite/chitosan composite. Int J Biol Macromol 104:1569–1577
- Pandi K, Viswanathan N (2015) Synthesis and applications of eco-magnetic nano-hydroxyapatite chitosan composite for enhanced fluoride sorption. Carbohydr Polym 134:732–739
- Prasad KS, Amin Y, Selvaraj K (2014) Defluoridation using biomimetically synthesized nano zirconium chitosan composite: kinetic and equilibrium studies. J Hazard Mater 276:232–240
- Ghanbarian M, Ghanbarian M, Mahvi AH, Tabatabaie T (2020) Enhanced fluoride removal over MgFe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>-chitosan-CaAl nanohybrid: response surface optimization, kinetic and isotherm study. Int J Biol Macromol 148:574–590
- Affonso LN, Marques JL, Lima VVC, Gonçalves JO et al (2020) Removal of fluoride from fertilizer industry effluent using carbon nanotubes stabilized in chitosan sponge. J Hazard Mater 388:122042
- Viswanathan N, Meenakshi S (2008) Enhanced fluoride sorption using La(III) incorporated carboxylated chitosan beads. J Colloid Interface Sci 322:375–383
- Viswanathan N, Meenakshi S (2008) Selective sorption of fluoride using Fe(III) loaded carboxylated chitosan beads. J Fluor Chem 129:503–509
- Liang P, An R, Li R, Wang D (2018) Comparison of La<sup>3+</sup> and mixed rare earths-loaded magnetic chitosan beads for fluoride adsorption. Int J Biol Macromol 111:255–263
- 32. Tandekar S, Saravanan D, Korde S, Jugade R (2020) Gamma degraded chitosan-Fe(III) beads for defluoridation of water. Mater Today: Proc 29:726–732
- Viswanathan N, Pandi K, Meenakshi S (2014) Synthesis of metal ion entrapped silica gel/chitosan biocomposite for defluoridation studies. Int J Biol Macromol 70:347–353
- 34. Nagaraj A, Pillay K, Kishor Kumar S, Rajan M (2020) Dicarboxylic acid cross-linked metal ion decorated bentonite clay and chitosan for fluoride removal studies. RSC Adv 10:16791–16803
- Muthu Prabhu S, Meenakshi S (2016) Defluoridation of water using dicarboxylic acids mediated chitosan-polyaniline/zirconium biopolymeric complex. Int J Biol Macromol 85:16–22
- 36. Preethi J, Karthikeyan P, Vigneshwaran S, Meenakshi S (2021) Facile synthesis of Zr<sup>4+</sup> incorporated chitosan/gelatin composite for the sequestration of chromium(VI) and fluoride from water. Chemosphere 262:128317
- 37. Muthu Prabhu S, Elanchezhiyan SS, Lee G, Meenakshi S (2016) Defluoridation of water by *Tea-bag* model using La<sup>3+</sup> modified synthetic resin@chitosan biocomposite. Int J Biol Macromol 91:1002–1009
- Muthu Prabhu S, Subaramanian M, Meenakshi S (2016) A simple one-pot in-situ method for the synthesis of aluminum and lanthanum binary oxyhydroxides in chitosan template towards defluoridation of water. Chem Eng J 283:1081–1089
- 39. Chaudhary M, Rawat S, Jain N, Bhatnagar A, Maiti A (2019) Chitosan-Fe-Al-Mn metal oxyhydroxides composite as highly efficient fluoride scavenger for aqueous medium. Carbohydr Polym 216:140–148
- 40. Srivastava A, Kumari M, Ramanathan A, Selvaraj K et al (2020) Removal of fluoride from aqueous solution by mesoporous silica nanoparticles functionalized with chitosan derived from mushroom. J Macromol Sci A 57:619–627
- Zhu T, Zhu T, Gao J, Zhang L, Zhang W (2017) Enhanced adsorption of fluoride by cerium immobilized cross-linked chitosan composite. J Fluor Chem 194:80–88
- Hao L, Liu M, Wang N, Li G (2018) A critical review on arsenic removal from water using iron-based adsorbents. RSC Adv 8:39545–39560
- 43. Kwok KCM, Koong LF, Chen G, McKay G (2014) Mechanism of arsenic removal using chitosan and nanochitosan. J Colloid Interface Sci 416:1–10

- 44. Chen CC, Chung YC (2006) Arsenic removal using a biopolymer chitosan sorbent. J Environ Sci Health A Tox Hazard Subst Environ Eng 41:645–658
- 45. Pontoni L, Fabbricino M (2012) Use of chitosan and chitosan-derivatives to remove arsenic from aqueous solutions – a mini review. Carbohydr Res 356:86–92
- 46. Lin X, Wang L, Jiang S, Cui L, Wu G (2019) Iron-doped chitosan microsphere for As(III) adsorption in aqueous solution: kinetic, isotherm and thermodynamic studies. Korean J Chem Eng 36:1102–1114
- 47. Priya VN, Rajkumar M, Magesh G, Mobika J, Sibi SPL (2020) Chitosan assisted Fe-Al double layered hydroxide/reduced graphene oxide composites for As(V) removal. Mater Chem Phys 251
- 48. Shan H, Peng S, Zhao C, Zhan H, Zeng C (2020) Highly efficient removal of As(III) from aqueous solutions using goethite/graphene oxide/chitosan nanocomposite. Int J Biol Macromol 164:13–26
- 49. Abou El-Reash YG, Otto M, Kenawy IM, Ouf AM (2011) Adsorption of Cr(VI) and As (V) ions by modified magnetic chitosan chelating resin. Int J Biol Macromol 49:513–522
- 50. Liu B, Wang D, Li H, Xu Y, Zhang L (2011) As(III) removal from aqueous solution using  $\alpha$ -Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> impregnated chitosan beads with As(III) as imprinted ions. Desalination 272:286–292
- Chauhan D, Dwivedi J, Sankararamakrishnan N (2014) Novel chitosan/PVA/zerovalent iron biopolymeric nanofibers with enhanced arsenic removal applications. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 21:9430–9442
- 52. Wang J, Xu W, Chen L, Huang X, Liu J (2014) Preparation and evaluation of magnetic nanoparticles impregnated chitosan beads for arsenic removal from water. Chem Eng J 251:25–34
- 53. Ren L, Zhou W, Sun B, Li H et al (2019) Defects-engineering of magnetic γ-Fe2O3 ultrathin nanosheets/mesoporous black TiO2 hollow sphere heterojunctions for efficient charge separation and the solar-driven photocatalytic mechanism of tetracycline degradation. Appl Catal Environ 240:319–328
- 54. Salih SS, Mahdi A, Kadhom M, Ghosh TK (2019) Competitive adsorption of As(III) and As (V) onto chitosan/diatomaceous earth adsorbent. J Environ Chem Eng 7
- 55. Zhang S, Liu Y, Gu P, Ma R et al (2019) Enhanced photodegradation of toxic organic pollutants using dual-oxygen-doped porous g-C3N4: mechanism exploration from both experimental and DFT studies. Appl Catal Environ 248:1–10
- 56. Ayub A, Raza ZA, Majeed MI, Tariq MR, Irfan A (2020) Development of sustainable magnetic chitosan biosorbent beads for kinetic remediation of arsenic contaminated water. Int J Biol Macromol 163:603–617
- 57. de Brião, G. V., de Andrade, J. R., da Silva, M. G. C., Vieira, M. G. A., Removal of toxic metals from water using chitosan-based magnetic adsorbents. A review. Environ Chem Lett 2020, 18, 1145–1168
- Kloster GA, Valiente M, Marcovich NE, Mosiewicki MA (2020) Adsorption of arsenic onto films based on chitosan and chitosan/nano-iron oxide. Int J Biol Macromol 165:1286–1295
- 59. Lobo C, Castellari J, Colman Lerner J, Bertola N, Zaritzky N (2020) Functional iron chitosan microspheres synthesized by ionotropic gelation for the removal of arsenic (V) from water. Int J Biol Macromol 164:1575–1583
- 60. Sierra-Trejo PV, Guibal E, Louvier-Hernández JF (2020) Arsenic sorption on chitosan-based sorbents: comparison of the effect of molybdate and tungstate loading on As(V) sorption properties. J Polym Environ 28:934–947
- 61. Tan P, Zheng Y, Hu Y (2020) Efficient removal of arsenate from water by lanthanum immobilized electrospun chitosan nanofiber. Colloids Surf A Physicochem Eng Asp 589
- 62. Yang Q, Gong L, Huang L, Xie Q et al (2020) Adsorption of As(V) from aqueous solution on chitosan-modified diatomite. Int J Environ Res Public Health 17

- Zeng H, Wang F, Xu K, Zhang J, Li D (2020). Optimization and regeneration of chitosanalginate hybrid adsorbent embedding iron-manganese sludge for arsenic removal. Colloids Surf A 607:125500
- 64. Zeng H, Yu Y, Wang F, Zhang J, Li D (2020) Arsenic(V) removal by granular adsorbents made from water treatment residuals materials and chitosan. Colloids Surf A Physicochem Eng Asp 585
- 65. Zeng J, Qi P, Shi J, Pichler T et al (2020) Chitosan functionalized iron nanosheet for enhanced removal of As(III) and Sb(III): synergistic effect and mechanism. Chem Eng J 382
- 66. Muthu Prabhu S, Sasaki K (2017) Fabrication of chitosan-reinforced Zr<sub>x</sub>Al<sub>1-x</sub>OOH nanocomposites and their arsenite and fluoride depollution densities from single/binary systems. ChemistrySelect 2:6375–6387
- 67. Hamoudi S, Belkacemi K (2013) Adsorption of nitrate and phosphate ions from aqueous solutions using organically-functionalized silica materials: kinetic modeling. Fuel 110:107–113
- Mohsen MS (2004) Treatment and reuse of industrial effluents: case study of a thermal power plant. Desalination 167:75–86
- 69. Kumar IA, Jeyaprabha C, Meenakshi S, Viswanathan N (2019) Hydrothermal encapsulation of lanthanum oxide derived *Aegle marmelos* admixed chitosan bead system for nitrate and phosphate retention. Int J Biol Macromol 130:527–535
- Kumar IA, Jeyaprabha C, Viswanathan N (2020) Effect of polyvalent metal ions encrusted biopolymeric hybrid beads on nitrate adsorption. J Environ Chem Eng 8:103894
- 71. Banu HT, Karthikeyan P, Meenakshi S (2019) Zr<sup>4+</sup> ions embedded chitosan-soya bean husk activated bio-char composite beads for the recovery of nitrate and phosphate ions from aqueous solution. Int J Biol Macromol 130:573–583
- 72. Jiang H, Chen P, Luo S, Tu X et al (2013) Synthesis of novel nanocomposite Fe<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub>/ZrO<sub>2</sub>/ chitosan and its application for removal of nitrate and phosphate. Appl Surf Sci 284:942–949
- 73. Karthikeyan P, Banu HAT, Meenakshi S (2019) Removal of phosphate and nitrate ions from aqueous solution using La<sup>3+</sup> incorporated chitosan biopolymeric matrix membrane. Int J Biol Macromol 124:492–504
- 74. Karthikeyan P, Banu HAT, Meenakshi S (2019) Synthesis and characterization of metal loaded chitosan-alginate biopolymeric hybrid beads for the efficient removal of phosphate and nitrate ions from aqueous solution. Int J Biol Macromol 130:407–418
- 75. Karthikeyan P, Meenakshi S (2019) In-situ fabrication of cerium incorporated chitosan-β-cyclodextrin microspheres as an effective adsorbent for toxic anions removal. Environ Nanotechnol Monitor Manage 12:100272
- 76. Karthikeyan P, Meenakshi S (2019) In-situ fabrication of zirconium entrenched biopolymeric hybrid membrane for the removal of toxic anions from aqueous medium. Int J Biol Macromol 141:1199–1209
- 77. Karthikeyan P, Vigneshwaran S, Meenakshi S (2020) Al3+ incorporated chitosan-gelatin hybrid microspheres and their use for toxic ions removal: assessment of its sustainability metrics. Environ Chem Ecotoxicol 2:97–106
- Kim J-H, Kim S-B, Lee S-H, Choi J-W (2018) Laboratory and pilot-scale field experiments for application of iron oxide nanoparticle-loaded chitosan composites to phosphate removal from natural water. Environ Technol 39:770–779
- Kumar IA, Viswanathan N (2017) Development of multivalent metal ions imprinted chitosan biocomposites for phosphate sorption. Int J Biol Macromol 104:1539–1547
- Liu Q, Hu P, Wang J, Zhang L, Huang R (2016) Phosphate adsorption from aqueous solutions by zirconium (IV) loaded cross-linked chitosan particles. J Taiwan Inst Chem Eng 59:311–319
- Liu X, Zhang L (2015) Removal of phosphate anions using the modified chitosan beads: adsorption kinetic, isotherm and mechanism studies. Powder Technol 277:112–119
- Mahaninia MH, Wilson LD (2016) Cross-linked chitosan beads for phosphate removal from aqueous solution. J Appl Polym Sci 133

- Nthumbi RM, Catherine Ngila J, Moodley B, Kindness A, Petrik L (2012) Application of chitosan/polyacrylamide nanofibres for removal of chromate and phosphate in water. Phys Chem Earth 50–52:243–251
- 84. Sowmya A, Meenakshi S (2013) An efficient and regenerable quaternary amine modified chitosan beads for the removal of nitrate and phosphate anions. J Environ Chem Eng 1:906–915
- 85. Sowmya A, Meenakshi S (2014) A novel quaternized chitosan–melamine–glutaraldehyde resin for the removal of nitrate and phosphate anions. Int J Biol Macromol 64:224–232
- 86. Sowmya A, Meenakshi S (2014) Effective removal of nitrate and phosphate anions from aqueous solutions using functionalised chitosan beads. Desalin Water Treat 52:2583–2593
- Sowmya A, Meenakshi S (2015) Phosphate uptake studies on different types of lanthanumloaded polymeric materials. Environ Prog Sustain Energy 34:146–154
- 88. Sowmya A, Meenakshi S (2014) Zr(IV) loaded cross-linked chitosan beads with enhanced surface area for the removal of nitrate and phosphate. Int J Biol Macromol 69:336–343
- 89. Sowmya A, Meenakshi S (1674-1683) Effective utilization of the functional groups in chitosan by loading Zn(II) for the removal of nitrate and phosphate. Desalin Water Treat 2015:54
- Thagira Banu H, Karthikeyan P, Meenakshi S (2018) Lanthanum (III) encapsulated chitosanmontmorillonite composite for the adsorptive removal of phosphate ions from aqueous solution. Int J Biol Macromol 112:284–293
- 91. Zavareh S, Behrouzi Z, Avanes A (2017) Cu (II) binded chitosan/Fe<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub> nanocomomposite as a new biosorbent for efficient and selective removal of phosphate. Int J Biol Macromol 101:40–50
- 92. Kumar IA, Viswanathan N (2018) Preparation and testing of a tetra-amine copper(II) chitosan bead system for enhanced phosphate remediation. Carbohydr Polym 183:173–182
- 93. Kumar IA, Viswanathan N (2019) Hydrothermal fabrication of amine-grafted magnetic gelatin hybrid composite for effective adsorption of nitrate and phosphate. Ind Eng Chem Res 58:21521–21530
- 94. Kumar IA, Viswanathan N (2018) Hydrothermal fabrication of zirconium oxyhydroxide capped chitosan/kaolin framework for highly selective nitrate and phosphate retention. Ind Eng Chem Res 57:14470–14481
- 95. Kumar IA, Viswanathan N (2019) Development of magnetic particles encrusted LDH-admixed biopolymeric complex beads for selective phosphate remediation. J Chem Eng Data 64:5725–5736
- 96. Zhao T, Feng T (2016) Application of modified chitosan microspheres for nitrate and phosphate adsorption from aqueous solution. RSC Adv 6:90878–90886
- 97. Golie WM, Upadhyayula S (2017) An investigation on biosorption of nitrate from water by chitosan based organic-inorganic hybrid biocomposites. Int J Biol Macromol 97:489–502
- Banu HT, Meenakshi S (2017) One pot synthesis of chitosan grafted quaternized resin for the removal of nitrate and phosphate from aqueous solution. Int J Biol Macromol 104:1517–1527
- Hu Q, Chen N, Feng C, Hu W (2015) Nitrate adsorption from aqueous solution using granular chitosan-Fe<sup>3+</sup> complex. Appl Surf Sci 347:1–9
- 100. Zhang B, Chen N, Feng C, Zhang Z (2018) Adsorption for phosphate by crosslinked/noncrosslinked-chitosan-Fe(III) complex sorbents: characteristic and mechanism. Chem Eng J 353:361–372
- 101. Zhao Y, Guo L, Shen W, An Q et al (2020) Function integrated chitosan-based beads with throughout sorption sites and inherent diffusion network for efficient phosphate removal. Carbohydr Polym 230:115639
- 102. Teimouri A, Nasab SG, Vahdatpoor N, Habibollahi S et al (2016) Chitosan/zeolite Y/Nano ZrO<sub>2</sub> nanocomposite as an adsorbent for the removal of nitrate from the aqueous solution. Int J Biol Macromol 93:254–266

- 103. Salehi S, Hosseinifard M (2020) Optimized removal of phosphate and nitrate from aqueous media using zirconium functionalized nanochitosan-graphene oxide composite. Cellul 27:8859–8883
- 104. Yazdani MR, Virolainen E, Conley K, Vahala R (2018) Chitosan–zinc(II) complexes as a bio-sorbent for the adsorptive abatement of phosphate: mechanism of complexation and assessment of adsorption performance. Polymers 10:25
- 105. Yazdi F, Anbia M, Salehi S (2019) Characterization of functionalized chitosan-clinoptilolite nanocomposites for nitrate removal from aqueous media. Int J Biol Macromol 130:545–555
- 106. Fu C-C, Tran HN, Chen X-H, Juang R-S (2020) Preparation of polyaminated Fe<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub>@chitosan core-shell magnetic nanoparticles for efficient adsorption of phosphate in aqueous solutions. J Ind Eng Chem 83:235–246
- 107. Liu B, Yu Y, Han Q, Lou S et al (2020) Fast and efficient phosphate removal on lanthanumchitosan composite synthesized by controlling the amount of cross-linking agent. Int J Biol Macromol 157:247–258

Adv Polym Sci (2021) 287: 105–130 https://doi.org/10.1007/12\_2021\_103 © The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 Published online: 9 July 2021

# Synthesis-Structure Relationship of Chitosan Based Hydrogels



Nivethitha Ashok, Aathira Pradeep, and R. Jayakumar

# Contents

1	Introduction			
2	Preparation Methods of Chitosan Hydrogels		107	
	2.1	Neutralization	107	
	2.2	Thermo-Sensitive	108	
	2.3	Cross-Linking	109	
3	Preparation Methods of Porous Chitosan Hydrogels		115	
	3.1	Freeze–Thawing Physical Cryogels	115	
	3.2	Chemical Cryogels	116	
	3.3	Lyophilization	117	
	3.4	Porogen Leaching	117	
	3.5	Gas Foaming	118	
4	Appl	ications of Chitosan Hydrogel	118	
	4.1	Drug Delivery	118	
	4.2	Haemostasis	119	
	4.3	Tissue Engineering	120	
	4.4	Wound Healing	121	
5	Sum	nary	123	
Ret	References			

**Abstract** Chitosan is a biopolymer which is non-toxic, biocompatible and biodegradable and it is harvested from chitin by deacetylation process in the presence of a strong base. When it exists in the solution form, mucoadhesive property is observed due to the cationic nature of the polymer. The favourable characteristics and the flexibility in development process of chitosan, enables it to find a wide range of application in the biomedical field by existing in various forms such as hydrogels, scaffolds, membranes, sponges, fibres, nanoparticles, microparticles, beads, etc. Over the past decade, chitosan based hydrogels have gained much attention owing

N. Ashok, A. Pradeep, and R. Jayakumar (🖂)

Centre for Nanosciences and Molecular Medicine, Amrita Vishwa Vidyapeetham, Kochi, India e-mail: rjayakumar@aims.amrita.edu

to the similarity with that of the native extra-cellular matrix. However, modifying these hydrogels using different methods is also of utmost importance, so as to tailor their structural property which satisfies the needs of various biomedical applications. This review contributes in giving a brief insight about the various methods that are employed in preparation of these hydrogels and the associated structural changes as well as the use of these chitosan hydrogel in drug delivery, haemostasis, tissue engineering and wound healing area.

**Keywords** Chitosan · Chitosan derivatives · Chitosan hydrogel · Cross-linking · Drug delivery · Haemostasis · Porous hydrogel · Tissue engineering · Wound healing

#### 1 Introduction

Chitosan, a cationic polysaccharide, usually exists in the nature as chitin and is obtained by the process of alkaline deacetylation and consists of glycoside linkages that link D-glucosamine and N-acetyl-D-glucosamine units. Molecular weight and degree of acetylation are main parameters which have influence on the acid/base characteristics, sorption and solubility property [1]. So, chitosan with over 60% of deacetylation degree (DD, the free content of amino acids in chitosan chains) are the ones that are dissolvable in dilute acid solutions. Properties such as biological and physicochemical are dependent on the presence of functional groups such as hydroxyl and amine groups in its backbone, wherein if other suitable functional groups are introduced it provides an advantage in improving the properties of chitosan [2]. Interesting properties like mucoadhesivity, biocompatibility and biodegradability are displayed by chitosan and the degraded products from chitosan are also non-immunogenic, non-carcinogenic and non-toxic [3]. The additional advantages of chitosan compared to other polymers are that it can be prepared into different types, dosage forms, microspheres/particles [4], nanoparticles [5, 6], beads [7], fibres [8], hydrogels [9], bandages [10], sponges [11, 12] matrix or scaffolds [13]. These different forms of chitosan have potential applications in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine area. Among the different forms, chitosan hydrogels have garnered attention and accelerated research in the biomedical area. The chitosan hydrogel has shear thinning, swelling and biodegradable property. These properties can be altered by associating the hydrogels with physical or chemical modifications [14].

Chitosan based hydrogels are regarded to be smart or intelligent, in a sense that they perceive the stimuli and respond by exhibiting changes in their behaviour either physically or chemically, i.e., dramatic changes in their network structure, mechanical strength, permeability or swelling behaviours in response to internal and external stimuli of the body [15]. The above-mentioned properties can be easily obtained using appropriate preparation methods. The preparation methods employed in the processing of chitosan hydrogel bring out important changes in physicochemical properties such as swelling, degradation, porosity, solubility and drug release behaviour. It is very important to know that the different type of methods have been used for the preparation of chitosan and porous chitosan hydrogels by the researchers. So in this review, we overview the various preparation methods of different types of chitosan based hydrogels reported so far and its applications in the field of drug delivery, haemostasis, tissue engineering and wound healing.

#### 2 Preparation Methods of Chitosan Hydrogels

# 2.1 Neutralization

This method enables obtaining chitosan hydrogel without incorporating molecules such as polyions or complexation agents [16]. When exposed to alkali solvents like NaOH, urea, gaseous ammonia, NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, the protonated amine groups and charge density in the chitosan solution will induce neutralization [17-23]. The preparation method of chitosan hydrogel by neutralization method is as follows. The chitosan solution is prepared by dissolving chitosan powder in acetic acid. The obtained chitosan solution is neutralized using 1% NaOH solution. The increase in pH results in the clustering of dissolute chitosan molecules to form hydrogel due to the hydrophobic interactions and formation of hydrogen bonding [24]. The kinetics of the formation of chitosan hydrogel was studied and reported [10]. This study indicates that use of chitosan in lower concentration and NaOH in higher concentration results in faster gelation rate. This is attributed to the transportation of NaOH molecules, which diffuse through the chitosan hydrogel. The hydrogels prepared from chitosan solution and neutralized using NaOH solution were stable for longer periods at the room temperature [25]. Physically cross-linked chitosan hydrogel is obtained at varying chitosan concentrations of 5% and 10% w/w using coagulation bath having 7 M NaOH [26]. Another chitosan hydrogel, which is physically crosslinked using aq. NaOH and gaseous NH<sub>3</sub> at different concentrations of chitosan ranging from 0.5 to 10% was reported [18]. It was also found that hydrogels obtained with chitosan concentration of 1-5% (w/w) were homogeneous when compared to the concentration of 10% (w/w). Hydrogels having a concentration of 0.5% (w/w) were found to be fragile and were also breaking into fragment during handling process and washing. Two layered structure was observed in physically cross-linked hydrogels using gaseous NH<sub>3</sub> owing to the fast neutralization of the surface on chitosan solution (upon the condensation of gaseous  $NH_3$ ), whereas single-layered structured hydrogels was cross-linked by NaOH (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1 The reaction of chitosan with NaOH during neutralization process

# 2.2 Thermo-Sensitive

When the thermo-sensitive chitosan solution is injected inside the human body, owing to phase transition and solvation it transforms into hydrogel. These thermosensitive hydrogels exist in an almost liquid form in a given room temperature and change to gel state when the temperature is increased [27, 28]. The addition of polyol salts can significantly improve the solubility of chitosan at neutral pH and it also promotes the formation of shield of water around the polymer [29]. A novel thermosensitive hydrogel, which when exposed to body temperature transforms from sol to gel, containing chitosan/GP(glycerophosphate), was reported by Chenite and group [30]. The physical hydrogel is formed at body temperature, which otherwise remains in liquid state at room temperature [31]. Here, the GP has two main roles: (a) To increase the pH value of chitosan to physiological range, i.e., 7-7.4 and to prevent the immediate gelation or precipitation of chitosan and maintains its solubility at low temperature, (b) when an increase in temperature is imposed, it initiates the controlled gelation of the chitosan [32]. There are three main interactions that take place in this chitosan/GP system: (a) electrostatic attraction between phosphate group of GP and amine group of chitosan, (b) hydrogen bonding between chitosan chain, (c) chitosan-chitosan hydrophobic interactions [33]. Upon heating of this chitosan/ GP solution, the sheath of hydrated layer present over the chitosan is removed by the glycerol moiety, which induces the gelation process and letting the chitosan chains to interact among themselves through strong hydrophobic interactions [34-36]. It was studied and reported that the rheological, physicochemical and gelation properties were impacted by the chitosan concentration, degree of deacetylation and Mw as well as GP concentration [37]. The optimal deacetylation degree of chitosan that is used in the preparation of these thermo-sensitive hydrogels is 75.4% as chitosans having a different deacetylation degree showed slow gelation or remain unchanged at body temperature [38]. Owing to the transition state of gels, they are classified into two parts: (a) thermo reversible gels: Where the gel returns back to liquid state and (b) thermo-irreversible gels: where in the gel always exists in the gel state. To an extent the chitosan/GP is a thermo-reversible hydrogel and that depends on the amount of chitosan and GP added in the solution. Under temperature stimulation hydrogen bonds are not stimulated whereas the hydrophobic interactions are reversible and it is irreversible if glycerol phosphate is present in high amounts. It was found by Ganji and group that a thermo-reversible hydrogel becomes thermoirreversible in a 2% w/v chitosan solution having a GP concentration of 0.40 M, wherein the medium influences the gel transition temperature [39]. Another work by Suwantong reported that increasing the pH caused a reduction in the gelling speed, wherein the chitosan solution was fabricated using different concentrations and  $\beta$ -GP was used as the cross-linking agent [40]. Similarly it was also reported that increase in  $\beta$ -GP reduced the time taken for gelation and increased the chitosan's pH [41]. Stable structure networks with porous sizes 15-112 µm were observed in these chitosan hydrogels up to 28 days. Thermo-sensitive hydrogel was developed using 2% chitosan and 5%  $\beta$ -GP cross-linker, where the gelation time was observed to be around 9 min at  $37^{\circ}C$  [42]. This gelation time was determined by using the inverted tube test. The hydrogel showed storage modulus values approximating to 100 Pa at 100 rad/s.

Furthermore studies were carried out by using sodium bicarbonate NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, a weak base, which also induces sol-gel transition as the pH is increased and in exposure to physiological temperature [43, 44]. H<sup>+</sup> from the acidic solution containing chitosan is reacted with HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> from NaHCO<sub>3</sub> and produces CO<sub>2</sub>that helps in increasing the pH of the solution >6.5, and thereby inducing gelation with deprotonated chitosan at 37°C [21, 45]. It was reported by Rogina et al. that with increasing concentrations of NaHCO<sub>3</sub> there was a decrease in the gelation rate of chitosan [22]. A study by Liu et al. showed that NaHCO<sub>3</sub> concentrations in the range of 0.07 mol/L did not yield in the formation of chitosan hydrogel whereas gel was formed at a concentration of 0.08 and 0.12 mol/L with 2% w/v of chitosan [21]. In a particular study, thermo-sensitive hydrogels were prepared by taking chitosan in the concentration of 5 w/v% and 0.48 M NaHCO<sub>3</sub> as cross-linker [45]. After the gelation process the pH was 6.50 and the total time taken for the gelation process was observed to be 8 min.

#### 2.3 Cross-Linking

Cross-linked structure present in hydrogels is formed by temporary or permanent physical entanglements, through weak interactions, microcrystallite formation or also through strong chemical bonds [46].

#### 2.3.1 Physically Cross-Linked Hydrogels

The hydrogels falling under this category are produced easily and are also devoid of the toxicity caused by the chemical cross-linkers [17]. In physical hydrogels, the polymer network is bound together by ordered crystalline regions and also by the secondary forces including ionic, hydrophobic forces, hydrogen bonding and molecular entanglements, which by varying pH, temperature or ionic strength can be destabilized [47–49]. There exist two types of entanglement, namely cohesional and topological entanglement whereas the former is the interaction site present in between the segments of few monomer units of neighbouring polymer chains and the latter entanglement is composed of interlocked chain loops [50]. The energy of interaction at each site is minute such that they are detangled and entangled with ease, and that makes this interaction transient [51]. It was also found that with increasing cross-linking degree, the density of cross-linking also increases, which results in hydrogels having lower mesh size and swelling degree and high mechanical strength.

#### Ionic Cross-Linking

Owing to its mild preparation procedure and simplicity, ionic cross-linking method has more attention in the development of chitosan hydrogels. The interaction between ionic cross-linkers and chitosan can be modified by modulating solution's pH and charge density of the cross-linkers. It is a simple procedure consisting of formation of bridges between ionic cross-linker (having two reactive functional groups) and cationic group of the chitosan. Usually anionic molecules like sodium tripolyphosphate (STPP) (Fig. 2) and  $\beta$ -GP are used as cross-linkers [52] to prepare chitosan hydrogel. A process 'ionotropic gelation' takes place, in which they form a stable ionic complex with chitosan. The gelation process takes place immediately when the two phases are mixed together, by the formation of inter- and intra- crosslinkages within the polymer chains, and that depends on the chitosan charge density and STPP, along with ionic and pH strength of solution [53]. Hence, it can be concluded that use of different cross-linkers and their linking mechanisms emphasizes the properties and structural network of the hydrogels.

#### Hydrogen Bonding and Hydrophobic Interactions

Chitosan possesses many hydroxyl and amine groups in its polymer chain and easily bonds with other macromolecules through hydrogen bonding. When chitosan is blended with water-soluble non-ionic polymers, it forms hydrogel hydrogen bonding. One of the most common examples used to portray this type of bonding is using PVA, wherein mixing of PVA with chitosan results in formation of interpolymer complexes or crystallites after going through a series of freeze-thaw cycle. In this



Fig. 2 The reaction of chitosan with STPP

preparation method, the chain-chain interactions of chitosan and PVA act as the cross-linking sites and form hydrogel through hydrogen bonds [54–57].

In contrast to the hydrogen bonding, polymers having hydrophobic domains are cross-linked in aqueous environment by a reverse gelation chemistry known as 'solgel'. They exist in liquid form at room temperature and when subjected to increased temperature condition, they transition into solid hydrogel. Owing to the temperature increase, aggregation of hydrophobic domain takes place to reduce their surface area contacting water and thereby maximizing their solvent entropy. Concentration, structure of the polymer and length of the hydrophobic section dictate the temperature at which the gelation takes place [58].

Polyelectrolyte Complexes (PECs)

Reaction between polyanions and chitosan yields in the formation of chitosan based PECs (CS-PECs), wherein the formation of these is categorized into three main stages: (a) 1° complex formation, (b) formation process within intracomplexes and (c) intercomplex aggregations. Chitosan possesses rigid stereoregular structure with bulk pyranose rings form PEC which results in a conformational change, if other polyelectrolyte has a non-rigid structure [59]. By tweaking the chemical characteristics of the polymer components such as functional group, Mw, balance between hydrophobicity and hydrophilicity, stereo compatibility and regularity, charge

density, reaction conditions (pH, mixing ratio, concentration and temperature) and flexibility can alter the CS-PECs characteristics [60]. The degree of interaction among the individual polymers determines the properties of the PECs and they mainly depend on the global charge density of the polymers which also determines the relative composition in the PEC. PEC can also form via two ionizable polymers having opposite charge, which interprets that, at the pH values in the range of  $pK_a$ interval of the two polyelectrolytes, formation reaction of PECs can take place. The various other interactions involved in the formation of these PECs structure include van der Waals interactions, hydrogen bonding, hydrophobic interactions. Above all, change of bioactive and physicochemical functions is owed to the preparation methods and diversity of structure in the chitosan based PEC. Using PEC method, chitosan based films, scaffolds and hydrogels can be prepared for variety of biomedical applications.

#### 2.3.2 Chemically Cross-Linked Hydrogels

Hydrogels that are chemically cross-linked network by covalent bonds are formed by the reaction between cross-linking agents and functionalized monomer or polymer, which is not dissolved by any solvents until and unless there is cleavage of the covalent bond [61]. It has been observed that higher mechanical strength is present in hydrogels that are chemically cross-linked than physically cross-linked [62].

#### Chemical Cross-Linkers

Glutaraldehyde (GA) is widely used due to its ease of use and mild synthesis procedure, reliability, speed of reaction [63, 64]. In the case of GCCS i.e., glutaraldehyde cross-linked chitosan surface, the amount of protein adsorbed decreases as the amino groups present in chitosan which are positively charged are cross-linked by glutaraldehyde, however, by the formation of azomethine bonds by the amino groups, which binds the proteins with some of the aldehyde group present in the GCCS [65]. The use of GA as a cross-linking agent has also shown improvement in the mechanical performances of chitosan fibre and films [66]. A work reported by Gupta and group states about chitosan cross-linked with GA and spacer group glycine, where due to the higher swelling degree the cross-linked network can be hydrolysed in an acidic medium than at a basic pH [67]. It has been interpreted from the preliminary result that there exists a possibility of obtaining a drug delivery system using GCCS with desired pH sensitivity. By the process of solution casting chitosan films are formed which immerse in aq. GA solution for cross-linking. Using glycine, the remaining aldehyde groups are blocked. Though, these many things being said about GA, on the other hand it is neurotoxic. There is an existence of free unreacted dialdehyde in the system, which is completely unavoidable, though purified several times before administration.

Genipin is a natural, low-toxic water-soluble agent used for cross-linking chitosan under acidic or neutral conditions and forms a heterocyclic ring. Cross-linking chitosan with genipin had shown improvement in their stability and mechanical strength [68]. Mechanism of cross-linking involves two reactions [69, 70], (a) A faster nucleophilic attack from the amine group of chitosan on the genipin's C-3 atom, leading to the formation of an intermediate heterocyclic compound and (b) a slower reaction of nucleophilic substitution by the ester group of genipin by forming a secondary amide link with the chitosan. Chitosan hydrogels cross-linked with genipin show the ability to swell in aqueous medium, whereas they are insoluble in acidic and basic medium. When the cross-linking is established a colour change from transparent to deep blue is observed in the hydrogels, it indicated that the reaction takes place between amine group and genipin. It has also been observed that cross-linking using genipin has led to slow increase in viscosity and formation of chitosan hydrogels which are elastic.

An essential role is played by the environmental pH condition [71], which influences the reactions of cross-linking for the fabrication of genipin-cross-linked chitosan, and the networks formed swell in the aqueous media, but are in insoluble in alkaline and acidic medium. Sensitivity to temperature and environmental pH is exhibited by the film's swelling characteristics [68], where at a pH of 13 and 1.0 the swelling ratios are 240% and 315%, respectively, which is attributed to the hydrolysis by alkaline or acid of the amide linkages present in the cross-linked chitosan network and also to the regeneration of the amine groups and carboxyl acid. At neutral pH of 7 the swelling ratio is found to be 62%. The polyelectrolyte nature dictates the swelling behaviour. Below the  $pK_a$  of chitosan, amine groups become protonated and result in increased swelling. As the genipin, cross-linked chitosan networks have a high stereo hindrance, which allows for the permeation of lysozyme, than in comparison with GA cross-linked network, due to the presence of bulky heterocyclic nature of genipin, degradation rate of genipin cross-linked network is lesser than GA cross-linked network [72].

#### Formation of Schiff Base

Chitosan hydrogel is prepared by Schiff base reaction method. The mechanism of cross-linking involving bifunctional aldehydes involves the formation of Schiff base in them. In the reaction between the NH<sub>2</sub> group of chitosan and the aldehyde a Schiff base bridge is formed. In this way the chitosan molecules are bonded together and engender gelation, wherein the reaction takes place very fast and also stabilizes the hydrogel and improves the mechanical properties. A non-cytotoxic cross-linker, oxidized glucose was synthesized [73] and it is cross-linked with alkylated chitosan via Schiff base formation which resulted in hydrogel that was pH sensitive and acts as delivery vehicle for vitamins. Another work by Weng et al. showed oxidized dextran as a cross-linker of chitosan, where within 1–5 min the gelation triggered the formation of a Schiff base [74]. And this also stated that the gelation is faster given the oxidation degree of dextran is also higher. Chitosan hydrogel was prepared for

drug delivery applications which is injectable and prepared via Schiff base formation.

#### Michael Addition

To form cross linkages, Michael addition reactions have been used in the preparation of chitosan hydrogels [75–78], where reaction takes place between ether acrylates and thiols resulting in the formation of sulphide linkages. Recently this method has gained the interest of many researchers owing to the rapid reaction speed, benign reactivity and the biological inertness of polymeric precursors [15, 58]. Chitosan hydrogels are synthesized by Michael addition reaction of thiolated chitosan and PEG diacrylate [75]. Depending on the temperature, ratio of thiol group to aryl groups and the amount of free thiols in thiolated chitosan, the gelation time varies. Furthermore, an effective design of cross-linked hydrogels using Michael addition is facilitated by developing kinetic model approaches which will allow the prediction of rate of formation and degradation [58]. These type of models have great prospective for bottom up designing of future drug releasing vehicles.

#### Interpenetrating Network

When a cross-linked hydrogel is immersed into a solution containing monomers and polymerization initiators, it is subjected to polymerization results in the formation of interpenetrating networks [58]. If this process takes place in the existence of a cross-linking agent, that yields a fully interpenetrated network (Full IPN), and in the absence of a cross-linker Semi-IPNs are produced, wherein the linear polymers are entrapped within the cross-linked hydrogel as depicted in Fig.3. Based on the synthesis procedure they are classified as (a) Sequential IPN hydrogels: where the



Fig. 3 Schematic diagram showing the structure of Semi-IPNs and Full-IPNs

first network is synthesized followed by the formation of the second network (b) Simultaneous IPN hydrogels: where precursors for both the networks are put together and simultaneously developed. Chitosan hydrogels synthesized using this method possess controllable physical/mechanical properties which are efficient for drug loading and delivery applications in comparison with the conventional hydrogels [79].

Agnely et al. synthesized and evaluated the mechanical and swelling performances of a chitosan/PEO semi-IPN and a control chitosan hydrogel [80]. It was concluded based on the swelling study that the semi-IPN held high potential as it possesses pH dependent swelling characteristics, which lets the pH-controlled drug release when orally administered. Using UV irradiation, full IPN hydrogels were prepared using chitosan and PVA and measured the parameters such as swelling ratio, free and bound water content of the prepared IPN hydrogel [81]. It was observed that within 1 h the gels swell swiftly and attain equilibrium. By increasing the molar ratio of chitosan's hydrophilic groups, there is an increase in free water content and swelling ratio. In response to the external stimuli i.e., temperature and pH, the PVA/chitosan IPN hydrogels exhibit swelling changes. In order to improve the mechanical strength, loading capacity and in vitro mucoadhesive force, a superporous hydrogel (SPH) based on poly(acrylic acid-co-acrylamide)/ carboxymethyl chitosan(P(AA-co-AM)/O-CMC) IPNs(SPH-IPNs) was synthesized using GA cross-linker. Increase in O-CMC content, cross-linking time and GA amount decreases the swelling ratio of SPH-IPNs. Introduction of the IPN and variating the O-CMC content has significantly increased the loading capacity of the drug, mucoadhesive properties and mechanical strength [82].

#### **3** Preparation Methods of Porous Chitosan Hydrogels

# 3.1 Freeze-Thawing Physical Cryogels

Freeze-thawing (F-T) of a concentrated polymeric aqueous solution in a single or repeated cycle, can form physical cross-links through weak interactions and results in the formation of physically crosslinked cryogels [83–85]. Chitosan combined with PVA can be established as a stable 3D hydrophilic network where PVA crystallites act as junction points. During the process of F-T, polysaccharides bind to the PVA, thereby promoting hydrogen bonds which form 3D structure [86, 87]. The porosity, gel fraction yield, wound fluid absorption and mechanical characteristics of these physically cross-linked systems are obtained using the F-T process, and these mainly depend on the number of cycles, temperature and time in an F-T cycle. Employing F-T method, PVA/chitosan/zinc oxide hydrogels were prepared [88]. The essential parameters such as the number of freeze–thaw cycle, thawing time and temperature were investigated. Increase in the cycles of F-T resulted in the increase of tensile strength, elastic modulus and decrease in pore size of PVA/ZnO/chitosan cryogels [88]. The occurrence of highly interconnected

porous structure enhanced the swelling capability and water vapour permeability of the prepared cryogels by F-T process simply indicates their applications in wound healing [89].

# 3.2 Chemical Cryogels

Using this technique, highly interconnected pores containing cryogel are developed in an aqueous condition by means of free radical polymerization using cross-linkers with initiators. In this case, cross-linkers with initiators are present in frozen state (partially), where the ice crystal acts as a template [90-92]. This technique helped in the generation of cryogels that are sponge like and elastic with shape memory features, owing to the highly cross-linked polymeric walls. Chitosan/CPL (clinoptilolite) [93] composite cryogels are obtained by cross-linking chitosan with GA in the presence of particles of CPL, which resulted in the heterogeneous morphology with interconnected pores also having an average porosity of  $52 \pm 2 \mu m$ . Employing the unidirectional freezing (UF) [94, 95] approach, the morphology of the pores can be controlled, wherein mixtures of dispersion containing inorganic particles, water-soluble polymers have been frozen in liquid nitrogen unidirectionally. This resulted in the formation of composites with lamellar or micro-honeycomb like structures. Recently chitosan/gelatin scaffolds [96], chitosan/polyacrylamide(PAAm)/zeolite cryogels [97] and chitosan/poly(vinyl amine) cryogels embedded with strong base anion exchange microspheres [98] have been prepared with aligned porous structure. The parameters that affect the size between the pore wall thickness and the channel are the Mw of chitosan, primary monomer or polymer concentration and crystallization speed. A strategy that combines the cryogelation and phase separation is induced when n-butanol is added, which helps to generate 3D networks with two generations of pores [99]. Large porous chitosan based hydrogels with less compact walls have been prepared by combining the porogen leaching along with cryogelation method. PMMA (poly (methyl methacrylate)) has been used as a polymer porogen as fractionated particles to prepare chitosan cryogel. The morphology of the prepared chitosan based cryogels was very much influenced by the mesh of fractionated PMMA particles, weight ratio of PMMA/chitosan and the crystallization rate. Inner morphology of chitosan based cryogels developed using fractionated PMMA particles revealed hierarchical porosity with larger pore diameter ranging from 75 to 90 µm which has been formed via cryogelation, whereas those produced by PMMA leaching had smaller pores range in between 10 and 15  $\mu$ m [100].

#### 3.3 Lyophilization

The technique in which aqueous polymeric solution is frozen followed by solvent sublimation under vacuum, which results in macro-porous materials [101-106]. The freeze drying pressure, degree of cross-linking and polymer concentration affect the porosity, pore size and thickness of the pore walls. In a particular work, when the chitosan concentration is increased, the prepared gelatin/carboxymethyl chitosan (CMCS)/HAP hydrogels showed wide pore walls [107]. This technique has also been used to produce pores in non-porous PAAM/CS hydrogel, thus hydrogel has been first swollen and then subjected to lyophilization. The pH and concentration of cross-linker used in the synthesis mixture has influences on the morphology of the hydrogels. A novel hydroxyethyl chitosan (HECS) and cellulose hydrogel scaffold has been developed with bubble like porous structure, by merging the lyophilization method along with porogen leaching method (SiO<sub>2</sub> particles as a porogen) and chemical cross-linkers. These scaffolds showed highly interconnected biporous structure, wherein the micropores having size 10 µm due to sublimation under vacuum and macropores having size 100-250 µm due to leaching by SiO<sub>2</sub> particles [101].

# 3.4 Porogen Leaching

A technique in which the cross-linking or free radical polymerization is studied in the presence of porogens, salts, solvents or inorganic particles and once the reaction is completed it is removed from the 3D matrices [108]. By altering the concentration of porogen, the pore size in the developed 3D matrices can be controlled. However, there are certain limitations in this method. The strategy of porogen leaching has been combined with the technique of cryogelation to overcome the above mentioned issues and also to obtain controlled pore architecture. The strategy of porogen leaching has been combined with cryogelation to overcome the above-mentioned issues and to obtain controlled pore architecture [99]. Using PMMA poly(methyl methacrylate) as a polymer porogen, chitosan and poly(2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate) (PHEMA) hydrogels were synthesized. Tailoring of the porous structure of these hydrogels was carried out by using porogen leaching and ice-templating process. It was observed that the swelling characteristics of the hydrogels that were incorporated with PMMA achieved equilibrium swelling much faster than those hydrogels which aren't incorporated with PMMA [109].

# 3.5 Gas Foaming

Another method in generating 3D matrices with macropores using foaming agents like NaHCO<sub>3</sub> or NH<sub>4</sub>HCO<sub>3</sub> [110, 111]. Super-porous chitosan/HAP hydrogel scaffolds have been developed by merging gas foaming along with microwave irradiation containing NaHCO<sub>3</sub> as a blowing agent. It has also been reported that CEL/chitosan scaffold was prepared with porosity using supercritical carbon dioxide. CEL/chitosan scaffolds were prepared using two different procedures: (a) at room temperature under high pressure condition (50 bars) and (b) using gas foaming. The scaffold morphology was compared, it was observed that hydrogel prepared at room temperature had porous structures that are closed with size of 10–30 µm and the ones prepared by gas foaming exhibited pore size that were tenfold higher and had structure with interconnected pores [112, 113].

Overall, different approaches have been extensively utilized to fabricate chitosan and porous chitosan hydrogels which finds potential applications in the area of tissue engineering and regenerative medicine.

# 4 Applications of Chitosan Hydrogel

# 4.1 Drug Delivery

Chitosan hydrogel has been used for drug delivery applications [114– 116]. Annapoorna et al. developed arginine and nanocurcumin complex incorporated shear thinning chitosan hydrogel for preventing hypoxia induced endothelial damage [115]. This developed composite hydrogel system is biodegradable and showed an enhanced antioxidant activity compared to chitosan control. In acidic condition, curcumin and arginine release from the chitosan hydrogel was found to be higher, which will be useful in an ischaemic site. The efficacy of the composite chitosan hydrogel system was studied in in vitro hypoxic endothelial dysfunction model to prove the angiogenic nature. The tube formation studies of the prepared hydrogel under hypoxic condition proved angiogenic nature of the developed hydrogel. The enhanced phosphorylation of eNOS at serine 1,177 was observed under hypoxic conditions in the cultured endothelial cells. This developed chitosan composite hydrogel can simultaneously deliver curcumin drug and arginine for overcoming the hypoxia induced endothelial dysfunction [115]. In another study, pro-angiogenic drug, deferoxamine nanoparticles incorporated chitosan-hyaluronic acid hydrogel was prepared for enhancing angiogenesis [116]. Controlled deferoxamine drug release was observed in the deferoxamine loaded PLGA nanoparticles incorporated chitosan-hyaluronic acid hydrogel. The prepared hydrogel is biocompatible and has shear thinning property. The in vivo angiogenic potential of the developed hydrogel was studied in the subcutaneously implanted mice for 2-4 weeks. Deferoxamine loaded PLGA nanoparticles incorporated chitosan-hyaluronic acid hydrogel showed enhanced neovascularization compared to other groups. So the prepared deferoxamine loaded PLGA nanoparticles incorporated chitosan-hyaluronic acid hydrogel can be potentially used for therapeutic angiogenesis. Overall reported studies indicated that chitosan hydrogel is very useful in drug delivery area.

# 4.2 Haemostasis

Chitosan hydrogel has potential applications in haemostasis. Chitosan has shear thinning and mucoadhesive properties. The shear thinning and mucoadhesive properties of chitosan hydrogel helps the applied hydrogel to bond with the tissue and stay at the site of application [19, 117, 118]. Cationic chitosan hydrogel stops bleeding by interacting with the anionic membrane of red blood cells. The chitosan hydrogel takes 4–6 min to stop the bleeding at the injury site. The incorporation of inorganic ceramic nanoparticles can aid in enhancing the hemostatic property of chitosan [4, 104].

Whitlockite nanoparticles are an inorganic ceramic nanoparticle and have been extensively studied for bone regeneration [118-121]. Due to controlled release of calcium, magnesium and phosphate ions it has great potential in bone regeneration. Calcium, magnesium and phosphate ions are significantly contributing in haemostasis. Inorganic whitlockite nanoparticles ( $75 \pm 5$  nm) incorporated chitosan hydrogel were prepared and studied the haemostatic activity by in vitro and in vivo [117]. The prepared hydrogel is injectable, cyto- and hemo-compatible. The haemostatic effect of the prepared whitlockite nanoparticles incorporated chitosan hydrogel was studied in in vivo rat liver and femoral artery injury model and showed the reduced time for haemostasis  $62 \pm 3$  s and  $229 \pm 9$  s, respectively. The obtained results showed that whitlockite nanoparticles incorporated chitosan hydrogel show reduced blood clotting time than control chitosan hydrogel and commercially available haemostatic agent Floseal®. The reason for the effective haemostasis of whitlockite nanoparticles incorporated chitosan hydrogel is that the synergistic action of magnesium, calcium and phosphate ions released from whitlockite nanoparticles and amine group present in the chitosan enhanced the RBCs/platelet aggregation as well as the activation of the coagulation cascade [117]. Bioglass is an another inorganic ceramic material used for bone tissue engineering [19, 122]. It also has ionic dissolution potential similar to whitlockite nanoparticles. It is very useful in haemostasis due to calcium, silica and phosphate ions present in the bioglass nanoparticles. Nanobioglass incorporated chitosan hydrogel was developed and studied in in vivo rat liver and femoral artery injury model to know haemostatic effect [19]. The nanobioglass incorporated chitosan hydrogel exhibited the blood clotting time of 54  $\pm$  3 s and 185  $\pm$  9 s, respectively. Chitosan-nanobioglass hydrogel showed shorter blood clotting time when compared to chitosan hydrogel. This may be due to the presence of silica, phosphorous and calcium ions released from nanobioglass and amine group of chitosan synergistically enhanced the RBCs/



Fig. 4 Schematic representation of mechanism of haemostasis by nanobioglass incorporated chitosan hydrogel. Reproduced with permission, Copyright Elsevier

platelet aggregation as well as the activation of the coagulation cascade [19] (Fig. 4). Vasoconstrictor (0.25% potassium aluminium sulphate) and coagulation activator (0.25% calcium chloride) incorporated injectable composite chitosan hydrogel (2%) was developed for rapid haemostasis [123]. The developed composite hydrogel haemostasis study was done using in vivo rat femoral and liver injury model and the developed potassium aluminium sulphate and calcium chloride incorporated injectable chitosan hydrogel stopped the bleeding in  $105 \pm 31$  s and  $20 \pm 10$  s, respectively. The composite hydrogel as well as commercially available Fibrin<sup>®</sup> and Floseal<sup>®</sup>. This may be due to the synergistic effect of chitosan and potassium aluminium sulphate, which also accelerates RBC/platelet aggregation, activates the coagulation cascade thereby inducing rapid haemostasis [123]. All the reported studies clearly indicated that the addition of inorganic agents improved the chitosan haemostatic property.

# 4.3 Tissue Engineering

The applications of chitosan hydrogel are extensively studied for tendon, ligament, adipose, cartilage and bone tissue engineering. In one of the studies, a bi-layer chitosan-hyaluronic acid hydrogel coated multiscale fibrous scaffold of PCL aligned microfibres/random nanofibres and PCL random microfibres/nfibres were developed by electrospinning for ligament regeneration and characterized. Chitosan-hyaluronic acid hydrogel coated multiscale fibrous scaffold has aided in cell viability, proliferation and infiltration with enhanced protein adsorption. Chitosan-hyaluronic acid hydrogel coating acts as reservoir for cells and nutrients and this bi-layered hydrogel coated multiscale fibrous scaffold has applications in ligament regeneration [124]. In another study, electrospun aligned poly (l-lactic acid) (PLLA)nanofibres (for mimicking the aligned collagen fibre bundles in tendon) and chitosan-collagen hydrogel

coated on layered PLLA fibres with (for mimicking the glycosaminoglycans of sheath ECM) for tendon tissue regeneration [125]. Alginate gel was coated (as an outer layer) on chitosan-collagen hydrogel coated electrospun fibrous membrane to inhibit the peritendinous adhesion. The prepared scaffolds are biocompatible to tenocytes as well as showed good cell proliferation, attachment and spreading on the developed fibrous scaffolds. This biocompatible chitosan-collagen/PLLA/ alginate scaffold has potential application in flexor tendon regeneration [125]. Similarly, Twisted Chitosan hydrogel scaffold with reinforced PLLA aligned microfibrous bundle was developed and characterized for tendon tissue regeneration [126]. Nanofibrin incorporated alginate-O-Carboxymethyl chitosan hydrogels were developed for adipose tissue engineering [127]. The developed hydrogel has showed adipose derived stem cells adhesion, proliferation. The adipocytes differentiation was proven by Oil Red O staining. The nanofibrin incorporated alginate-O-Carboxymethyl chitosan hydrogels have applicability in adipose as well as other soft tissue engineering. Strontium ranelate nanoparticles  $(160 \pm 30 \text{ nm})$  incorporated chitosan/alginate/fibrin injectable gel were developed and characterized for cartilage tissue regeneration [128]. The prepared hydrogel was found to be biocompatible with human mesenchymal stem cells and it has also exhibited chondrogenic differentiation potential with enhanced proteoglycan and collagen synthesis. This strontium ranelate nanoparticles incorporated chitosan/alginate/fibrin injectable gel has potential application in cartilage tissue engineering. Overall these studies reported that chitosan hydrogel is very useful in ligament, tendon, cartilage and adipose tissue engineering.

#### 4.4 Wound Healing

Chitosan based scaffolds, sponges and hydrogels have the applicability in infectious wound healing [129–133]. Chitosan hydrogel is potentially used in the treatment of infectious wounds [132, 133]. Lysostaphin incorporated chitosan hydrogel was developed in the treatment of *Staphylococcus aureus* (*S. aureus*) infected wounds [132]. The interaction between lysostaphin and chitosan was studied using molecular docking analysis. The developed gel were found to be smooth in texture and also biocompatible in nature. The in vitro and ex vivo antibacterial studies confirmed that the developed hydrogel has significant reduction of *S. aureus* survival by  $\sim$ 3 Log10CFU/mL. The prepared hydrogel has the ability to disrupt the biofilm formed in catheter tubes and results in a reduced biofilm formation with higher percentage of lysostaphin (Fig. 5). These results demonstrated that lysostaphin incorporated chitosan hydrogel has the applicability in the treatment of infectious wounds.

In another work, tigecycline nanoparticles  $(93 \pm 13 \text{ nm})$  and platelet-rich plasma incorporated hydrogel were developed for treating *S. aureus* infected wounds and characterized [133]. The addition of tigecycline nanoparticles inhibits the *S. aureus*. The platelet-rich plasma incorporation in the chitosan helps in wound healing. The prepared hydrogel is cytocompatible, injectable and showed a sustained tigecycline



LST in LSTC gel

**Fig. 5** SEM images of catheter tubes showing the inhibition of bacterial growth by lysostaphin. Reproduced with permission, Copyright Elsevier



Fig. 6 Scratch assay performed to confirm the wound healing effects of the hydrogel. Reproduced with permission, American Chemical Society

drug release from chitosan hydrogel. The increasing concentration of platelet-rich plasma enhanced the cell proliferation and migration (Fig. 6). Finally, in vivo *S. aureus* inhibition studies of the developed hydrogels were analysed in *S. aureus* infected *Drosophila melanogaster* model. The tigecycline nanoparticles  $(93 \pm 13 \text{ nm})$  and tigecycline drug incorporated chitosan hydrogel showed an enhanced *S. aureus* inhibition. This developed hydrogel has the ability to inhibit the bacteria as well as promote the healing of wounds. These reported studies clearly indicated the applicability of chitosan hydrogel in the area of infectious wound healing.

# 5 Summary

In this review, we overviewed the different procedures that have been reported in the synthesis of chitosan and porous chitosan hydrogels. The mechanism behind the development of these hydrogels using different methods has also been discussed. These preparation methods significantly influenced the parameters such as swelling, degradation, porosity, solubility, stability and mechanical strength of the hydrogels. This change in parameters results in chitosan hydrogel possessing unique characteristics, which has vivid use in different biomedical applications. In addition, we have overviewed the applications of chitosan hydrogel in haemostasis, drug delivery, tissue engineering and wound healing. This review is very useful for the researchers who are working in the area of chitosan and chitosan based hydrogel for biomedical applications.

Acknowledgements The authors express sincere gratitude to Amrita Center for Nanosciences and Molecular Medicine, Amrita Vishwa Vidyapeetham, Kochi 682041, India for providing infrastructural support. Aathira Pradeep is grateful to the Department of Science and Technology, Government of India for the financial support through DST-Inspire Fellowship (Grant No. IF170659).

#### References

- 1. Yao K, Li J, Yao F, Yin Y (2011) Chitosan-based hydrogels: functions and applications. CRC Press, Florida
- 2. Khor E, Lim LY (2003) Implantable applications of chitin and chitosan. Biomaterials 24:2339–2349
- 3. Rinaudo M (2006) Chitin and chitosan: properties and applications. Prog Polym Sci 31:603-632
- Prabaharan M, Mano JF (2005) Chitosan-based particles as controlled drug delivery systems. Drug Deliv 12:41–57
- Anitha A, Divya Rani VV, Krishna R et al (2009) Synthesis, characterization, cytotoxicity and antibacterial studies of chitosan, O-carboxymethyl and N,O-carboxymethyl chitosan nanoparticles. Carbohydr Polym 78:672–677
- Anitha A, Deepagan VG, Divya Rani VV et al (2011) Preparation, characterization, in vitro drug release and biological studies of curcumin loaded dextran sulphate-chitosan nanoparticles. Carbohydr Polym 84:1158–1164
- 7. Jayakumar R, Reis RL, Mano JF (2007) Synthesis and characterization of pH-sensitive thiolcontaining chitosan beads for controlled drug delivery applications. Drug Deliv 14:9–17
- Jayakumar R, Prabaharan M, Nair SV, Tamura H (2010) Novel chitin and chitosan nanofibers in biomedical applications. Biotechnol Adv 28:142–150
- Annapoorna M, Sudheesh Kumar PT, Lakshman LR et al (2013) Biochemical properties of *Hemigraphis alternata* incorporated chitosan hydrogel scaffold. Carbohydr Polym 92:1470–1476
- 10. Jayakumar R, Prabaharan M, Sudheesh Kumar PT et al (2011) Biomaterials based on chitin and chitosan in wound dressing applications. Biotechnol Adv 29:322–337
- Anisha BS, Sankar D, Mohandas A et al (2013) Chitosan-hyaluronan/nano chondroitin sulfate ternary composite sponges for medical use. Carbohydr Polym 92:142–150

- Mohandas A, Anisha BS, Chennazhi KP, Jayakumar R (2015) Chitosan-hyaluronic acid/ VEGF loaded fibrin nanoparticles composite sponges for enhancing angiogenesis in wounds. Colloid Surf B 127:105–113
- 13. Anitha A, Sowmya S, Kumar PTS et al (2014) Chitin and chitosan in selected biomedical applications. Prog Polym Sci 39:1644–1667
- 14. Peppas NA, Hilt JZ, Khademhosseini A, Langer R (2006) Hydrogels in biology and medicine: from molecular principles to bionanotechnology. Adv Mater 18:1345–1360
- Bhattarai N, Gunn J, Zhang M (2010) Chitosan-based hydrogels for controlled, localized drug delivery. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 62:83–99
- 16. Sereni N, Enache A, Sudre G et al (2017) Dynamic structuration of physical chitosan hydrogels. Langmuir 33:12697–12707
- 17. Nie J, Wang Z, Hu Q (2016) Difference between chitosan hydrogels via alkaline and acidic solvent systems. Sci Rep 6:1–8
- Fiamingo A, Montembault A, Boitard SE et al (2016) Chitosan hydrogels for the regeneration of infarcted myocardium: preparation, physicochemical characterization, and biological evaluation. Biomacromolecules 17:1662–1672
- Sundaram MN, Amirthalingam S, Mony U et al (2019) Injectable chitosan-nano bioglass composite hemostatic hydrogel for effective bleeding control. Int J Biol Macromol 129:936–943
- 20. Li P, Zhao J, Chen Y et al (2017) Preparation and characterization of chitosan physical hydrogels with enhanced mechanical and antibacterial properties. Carbohydr Polym 157:1383–1392
- Liu L, Tang X, Yuanyuan Wang SG (2011) Smart gelation of chitosan solution in the presence of NaHCO3 for injectable drug delivery system. Int J Pharm 414:6–15
- Rogina A, Ressler A, Matić I et al (2017) Cellular hydrogels based on pH-responsive chitosanhydroxyapatite system. Carbohydr Polym 166:173–182
- Ressler A, Ródenas-Rochina J, Ivanković M et al (2018) Injectable chitosan-hydroxyapatite hydrogels promote the osteogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells. Carbohydr Polym 197:469–477
- 24. Rami L, Malaise S, Delmond S et al (2014) Physicochemical modulation of chitosan-based hydrogels induces different biological responses: interest for tissue engineering. J Biomed Mater Res A 102:3666–3676
- Furuike T, Komoto D, Hashimoto H, Tamura H (2017) Preparation of chitosan hydrogel and its solubility in organic acids. Int J Biol Macromol 104:1620–1625
- 26. Aussel A, Montembault A, Malaise S et al (2017) In vitro mechanical property evaluation of chitosan-based hydrogels intended for vascular graft development. J Cardiovasc Transl Res 10:480–488
- Zarrintaj P, Jouyandeh M, Ganjali MR et al (2019) Thermo-sensitive polymers in medicine: a review. Eur Polym J 117:402–423
- Maiz-Fernández S, Guaresti O, Pérez-Álvarez L et al (2020) β-Glycerol phosphate/genipin chitosan hydrogels: a comparative study of their properties and diclofenac delivery. Carbohydr Polym 248:116811
- 29. Dang JM, Sun DDN, Shin-Ya Y et al (2006) Temperature-responsive hydroxybutyl chitosan for the culture of mesenchymal stem cells and intervertebral disk cells. Biomaterials 27:406–418
- Chenite A, Chaput C, Wang D et al (2000) Novel injectable neutral solutions of chitosan form biodegradable gels in situ. Biomaterials 21:2155–2161
- Ruel-Gariépy E, Shive M, Bichara A et al (2004) A thermosensitive chitosan-based hydrogel for the local delivery of paclitaxel. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 57:53–63
- Chenite A, Buschmann M, Wang D et al (2001) Rheological characterisation of thermogelling chitosan/glycerol-phosphate solutions. Carbohydr Polym 46:39–47
- 33. Ruel-Gariépy E, Chenite A, Chaput C et al (2000) Characterization of thermosensitive chitosan gels for the sustained delivery of drugs. Int J Pharm 203:89–98

- 34. Supper S, Anton N, Seidel N et al (2014) Thermosensitive chitosan/glycerophosphate-based hydrogel and its derivatives in pharmaceutical and biomedical applications. Expert Opin Drug Deliv 11:249–267
- 35. Owczarz P, Rył A, Dziubiński M, Sielski J (2019) Injectable chitosan scaffolds with Calciumβ-Glycerophosphate as the only neutralizing agent. PRO 7:297
- 36. Wang L, Stegemann JP (2010) Thermogelling chitosan and collagen composite hydrogels initiated with β-glycerophosphate for bone tissue engineering. Biomaterials 31:3976–3985
- Liu L, Gao Q, Lu X, Zhou H (2016) In situ forming hydrogels based on chitosan for drug delivery and tissue regeneration. Asian J Pharm Sci 11:673–683
- 38. Zhou HY, Chen XG, Kong M et al (2008) Effect of molecular weight and degree of chitosan deacetylation on the preparation and characteristics of chitosan thermosensitive hydrogel as a delivery system. Carbohydr Polym 73:265–273
- Ganji F, Abdekhodaie MJ, Ramazani A (2007) Gelation time and degradation rate of chitosanbased injectable hydrogel. J Sol-Gel Sci Technol 42:47–53
- 40. Pankongadisak P, Suwantong O (2018) The potential use of thermosensitive chitosan/silk sericin hydrogels loaded with longan seed extract for bone tissue engineering. RSC Adv 8:40219–40231
- 41. Boido M, Ghibaudi M, Gentile P et al (2019) Chitosan-based hydrogel to support the paracrine activity of mesenchymal stem cells in spinal cord injury treatment. Sci Rep 9:1–16
- 42. Yao M, Chen Y, Zhang J et al (2019) Chitosan-based thermosensitive composite hydrogel enhances the therapeutic efficacy of human umbilical cord MSC in TBI rat model. Mater Today Chem 14:100192
- 43. Ravishankar K, Dhamodharan R (2020) Advances in chitosan-based hydrogels: evolution from covalently crosslinked systems to ionotropically crosslinked superabsorbents. React Funct Polym 149:104517
- 44. Gültan T, Bektaş Tercan Ş, Çetin Altındal D, Gümüşderelioğlu M (2021) Synergistic effect of fabrication and stabilization methods on physicochemical and biological properties of chitosan scaffolds. Int J Polym Mater Polym Biomater 70:1–12
- 45. Kocak FZ, Talari ACS, Yar M, Rehman IU (2020) In-situ forming ph and thermosensitive injectable hydrogels to stimulate angiogenesis: potential candidates for fast bone regeneration applications. Int J Mol Sci 21:1633
- Slaughter BV, Khurshid SS, Fisher OZ, Khademhosseini A, Peppas NA (2009) Hydrogels in Regenerative Medicine. Adv Mater 21:3307–3329
- 47. Hoffman AS (2012) Hydrogels for biomedical applications. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 64:18-23
- Ullah F, Othman MBH, Javed F et al (2015) Classification, processing and application of hydrogels: a review. Mater Sci Eng C 57:414–433
- Caló E, Khutoryanskiy VV (2015) Biomedical applications of hydrogels: a review of patents and commercial products. Eur Polym J 65:252–267
- 50. Lv Y, Lin Y, Chen F et al (2015) Chain entanglement and molecular dynamics of solution-cast PMMA/SMA blend films affected by hydrogen bonding between casting solvents and polymer chains. RSC Adv 5:44800–44811
- 51. Qian R (1997) The concept of cohesional entanglement. Macromol Symp 124:15-26
- Berger J, Reist M, Mayer JM et al (2004) Structure and interactions in covalently and ionically crosslinked chitosan hydrogels for biomedical applications. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 57:19–34
- Hamidi M, Azadi A, Rafiei P (2008) Hydrogel nanoparticles in drug delivery. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 60:1638–1649
- 54. Tang Y, Du Y (2008) Chitosan-based injectable and thermosensitive hydrogel. Prog Chem 20:239–244
- 55. Koyano T, Koshizaki N, Umehara H et al (2000) Surface states of PVA/chitosan blended hydrogels. Polymer 41:4461–4465
- 56. Tang YF, Du YM, Hu XW et al (2007) Rheological characterisation of a novel thermosensitive chitosan/poly(vinyl alcohol) blend hydrogel. Carbohydr Polym 67:491–499

- Xiao C, Gao F, Gao Y (2010) Controlled preparation of physically crosslinked chitosan-g-poly (vinyl alcohol) hydrogel. J Appl Polym Sci 117:2946–2950
- Hoare TR, Kohane DS (2008) Hydrogels in drug delivery: progress and challenges. Polymer 49:1993–2007
- 59. De Yao K, Tu H, Cheng F et al (1997) PH-sensitivity of the swelling of a chitosan-pectin polyelectrolyte complex. Angew Makromol Chem 245:63–72
- 60. Dumitriu S, Chornet E (1998) Inclusion and release of proteins from polysaccharide-based polyion complexes. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 31:223–246
- 61. González-Henríquez CM, Sarabia-Vallejos MA, Rodriguez-Hernandez J (2017) Advances in the fabrication of antimicrobial hydrogels for biomedical applications. Materials 10:232
- 62. Varaprasad K, Raghavendra GM, Jayaramudu T et al (2017) A mini review on hydrogels classification and recent developments in miscellaneous applications. Mater Sci Eng C 79:958–971
- Akhtar MF, Hanif M, Ranjha NM (2016) Methods of synthesis of hydrogels ... a review. Saudi Pharm J 24:554–559
- 64. Baldino L, Concilio S, Cardea S et al (2015) Complete glutaraldehyde elimination during chitosan hydrogel drying by SC-CO<sub>2</sub> processing. J Supercrit Fluids 103:70–76
- Haipeng G, Yinghui Z, Jianchun L et al (2000) Studies on nerve cell affinity of chitosanderived materials. J Biomed Mater Res 52:285–295
- 66. Knaul JZ, Hudson SM, Creber KAM (1999) Crosslinking of chitosan fibers with dialdehydes: proposal of a new reaction mechanism. J Polym Sci Part B Polym Phys 37:1079–1094
- 67. Gupta KC, Ravi Kumar MNV (2000) Drug release behavior of beads and microgranules of chitosan. Biomaterials 21:1115–1119
- Jin J, Song M, Hourston DJ (2004) Novel chitosan-based films cross-linked by genipin with improved physical properties. Biomacromolecules 5:162–168
- 69. Mi FL, Sung HW, Shyu SS (2000) Synthesis and characterization of a novel chitosan-based network prepared using naturally occurring crosslinker. J Polym Sci Part A Polym Chem 38:2804–2814
- Butler MF, Ng YF, Pudney PDA (2003) Mechanism and kinetics of the crosslinking reaction between biopolymers containing primary amine groups and genipin. J Polym Sci Part A Polym Chem 41:3941–3953
- Mi FL, Shyu SS, Peng CK (2005) Characterization of ring-opening polymerization of genipin and pH-dependent cross-linking reactions between chitosan and genipin. J Polym Sci Part A Polym Chem 43:1985–2000
- Mi FL, Tan YC, Liang HF, Sung HW (2002) In vivo biocompatibility and degradability of a novel injectable-chitosan-based implant. Biomaterials 23:181–191
- 73. Li F, Liu WG, De Yao K (2002) Preparation of oxidized glucose-crosslinked N-alkylated chitosan membrane and in vitro studies of pH-sensitive drug delivery behaviour. Biomaterials 23:343–347
- 74. Weng L, Romanov A, Rooney J, Chen W (2008) Non-cytotoxic, in situ gelable hydrogels composed of N-carboxyethyl chitosan and oxidized dextran. Biomaterials 29:3905–3913
- 75. Teng DY, Wu ZM, Zhang XG et al (2010) Synthesis and characterization of in situ crosslinked hydrogel based on self-assembly of thiol-modified chitosan with PEG diacrylate using Michael type addition. Polymer 51:639–646
- 76. Kim MS, Choi YJ, Noh I, Tae G (2007) Synthesis and characterization of in situ chitosanbased hydrogel via grafting of carboxyethyl acrylate. J Biomed Mater Res Part A 83:674–682
- 77. Hiemstra C, van der Aa LJ, Zhong Z et al (2007) Rapidly in situ-forming degradable hydrogels from dextram triols through Michael addition. Biomacromolecules 8:1548–1556
- 78. Van De Wetering P, Metters AT, Schoenmakers RG, Hubbell JA (2005) Poly(ethylene glycol) hydrogels formed by conjugate addition with controllable swelling, degradation, and release of pharmaceutically active proteins. J Control Release 102:619–627
- Mohamadnia Z, Zohuriaan-Mehr MJ, Kabiri K et al (2007) pH-sensitive IPN hydrogel beads of carrageenan-alginate for controlled drug delivery. J Bioact Compat Polym 22:342–356

- Khalid MN, Agnely F, Yagoubi N et al (2002) Water state characterization, swelling behavior, thermal and mechanical properties of chitosan based networks. Eur J Pharm Sci 15:425–432
- 81. Kim SJ, Park SJ, Kim SI (2003) Swelling behavior of interpenetrating polymer network hydrogels composed of poly(vinyl alcohol) and chitosan. React Funct Polym 55:53–59
- Yin L, Fei L, Cui F, Tang C, Yin C (2007) Superporous hydrogels containing poly(acrylic acid-co-acrylamide)/O-carboxymethyl chitosan interpenetrating polymer networks. Biomaterials 28:1258–1266
- Niknia N, Kadkhodaee R (2017) Factors affecting microstructure, physicochemical and textural properties of a novel gum tragacanth-PVA blend cryogel. Carbohydr Polym 155:475–482
- 84. Shams Es-Haghi S, Mayfield MB, Weiss RA (2018) Effect of freeze/thaw process on mechanical behavior of double-network hydrogels in finite tensile deformation. Macromolecules 51:1052–1057
- Fan L, Yang H, Yang J et al (2016) Preparation and characterization of chitosan/gelatin/PVA hydrogel for wound dressings. Carbohydr Polym 146:427–434
- Morgado PI, Miguel SP, Correia IJ, Aguiar-Ricardo A (2017) Ibuprofen loaded PVA/chitosan membranes: a highly efficient strategy towards an improved skin wound healing. Carbohydr Polym 159:136–145
- Khorasani MT, Joorabloo A, Moghaddam A et al (2018) Incorporation of ZnO nanoparticles into heparinised poly (vinyl alcohol)/chitosan hydrogels for wound dressing application. Int J Biol Macromol 114:1203–1215
- 88. Khorasani MT, Joorabloo A, Adeli H et al (2019) Design and optimization of process parameters of polyvinyl (alcohol)/chitosan/nano zinc oxide hydrogels as wound healing materials. Carbohydr Polym 207:542–554
- Noori S, Kokabi M, Hassan ZM (2018) Poly(vinyl alcohol)/chitosan/honey/clay responsive nanocomposite hydrogel wound dressing. J Appl Polym Sci 135:46311
- Memic A, Colombani T, Eggermont LJ et al (2019) Latest advances in cryogel technology for biomedical applications. Adv Ther 2:1800114
- 91. Lozinsky VI (2014) A brief history of polymeric cryogels. Adv Polym Sci 263:1-48
- 92. Savina IN, Ingavle GC, Cundy AB, Mikhalovsky SV (2016) A simple method for the production of large volume 3D macroporous hydrogels for advanced biotechnological, medical and environmental applications. Sci Rep 6:1–9
- Dinu MV, Cocarta AI, Dragan ES (2016) Synthesis, characterization and drug release properties of 3D chitosan/clinoptilolite biocomposite cryogels. Carbohydr Polym 153:203–211
- 94. Dinu MV, Dinu IA, Lazar MM, Dragan ES (2018) Insights into the mechanism of cu2+ binding onto chitosan-based cryogel composites: equilibrium, kinetics and thermodynamics studies. Cellul Chem Technol 52:181–192
- Aranaz I, Martínez-Campos E, Moreno-Vicente C et al (2017) Macroporous calcium phosphate/chitosan composites prepared via unidirectional ice segregation and subsequent freezedrying. Materials 10:516
- Nieto-Suárez M, López-Quintela MA, Lazzari M (2016) Preparation and characterization of crosslinked chitosan/gelatin scaffolds by ice segregation induced self-assembly. Carbohydr Polym 141:175–183
- Dinu MV, Dinu IA, Lazar MM, Dragan ES (2018) Chitosan-based ion-imprinted cryocomposites with excellent selectivity for copper ions. Carbohydr Polym 186:140–149
- 98. Dragan ES, Humelnicu D, Dinu MV, Olariu RI (2017) Kinetics, equilibrium modeling, and thermodynamics on removal of Cr(VI) ions from aqueous solution using novel composites with strong base anion exchanger microspheres embedded into chitosan/poly(vinyl amine) cryogels. Chem Eng J 330:675–691
- 99. Sen T, Ozcelik B, Ozmen MM (2019) Tough and hierarchical porous cryogel scaffolds preparation using n-butanol as a non-solvent. Int J Polym Mater Polym Biomater 68:411–416
- 100. Dinu MV, Přádný M, Drăgan ES, Michálek J (2013) Ice-templated hydrogels based on chitosan with tailored porous morphology. Carbohydr Polym 94:170–178

- 101. Wang Y, Qian J, Zhao N et al (2017) Novel hydroxyethyl chitosan/cellulose scaffolds with bubble-like porous structure for bone tissue engineering. Carbohydr Polym 167:44–51
- 102. Huang R, Tan L, Cai B et al (2018) Preparation, characterization and in vitro release study of drug-loaded sodium carboxy-methylcellulose/chitosan composite sponge. PLoS One 13: e0206275
- 103. Chen Y, Ru J, Geng B et al (2017) Charge-functionalized and mechanically durable composite cryogels from Q-NFC and CS for highly selective removal of anionic dyes. Carbohydr Polym 174:841–848
- 104. Wang T, Chen L, Shen T, Wu D (2016) Preparation and properties of a novel thermo-sensitive hydrogel based on chitosan/hydroxypropyl methylcellulose/glycerol. Int J Biol Macromol 93:775–782
- 105. Farias S, Boateng JS (2018) Development and functional characterization of composite freeze dried wafers for potential delivery of low dose aspirin for elderly people with dysphagia. Int J Pharm 553:65–83
- 106. Yang WY, Thirumavalavan M, Lee JF (2015) Effects of porogen and cross-linking agents on improved properties of silica-supported macroporous chitosan membranes for enzyme immobilization. J Membr Biol 248:231–240
- 107. Maji S, Agarwal T, Das J, Maiti TK (2018) Development of gelatin/carboxymethyl chitosan/ nano-hydroxyapatite composite 3D macroporous scaffold for bone tissue engineering applications. Carbohydr Polym 189:115–125
- Dinu MV, Dragan ES (2018) Macroporous hydrogels: preparation, properties, and applications. In: Thakur V, Thakur M (eds) Hydrogels. Gels horizons: from science to smart materials. Springer, Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-6077-9\_3
- 109. Dinu MV, Přádný M, Drăgan ES, Michálek J (2013) Morphogical and swelling properties of porous hydrogels based on poly(hydroxyethyl methacrylate) and chitosan modulated by ice-templating process and porogen leaching. J Polym Res 20:285
- 110. Bajaj P, Schweller RM, Khademhosseini A et al (2014) 3D biofabrication strategies for tissue engineering and regenerative medicine. Annu Rev Biomed Eng 16:247–276
- 111. Kar S, Kaur T, Thirugnanam A (2016) Microwave-assisted synthesis of porous chitosanmodified montmorillonite-hydroxyapatite composite scaffolds. Int J Biol Macromol 82:628–636
- 112. Sampath Udeni Gunathilake TM, Ching YC, Chuah CH et al (2018) Influence of a nonionic surfactant on curcumin delivery of nanocellulose reinforced chitosan hydrogel. Int J Biol Macromol 118:1055–1064
- 113. Gunathilake TMSU, Ching YC, Chuah CH (2017) Enhancement of curcumin bioavailability using nanocellulose reinforced chitosan hydrogel. Polymer 9:64
- 114. Mohandas A, Sun W, Nimal T et al (2018) Injectable chitosan-fibrin/nanocurcumin composite hydrogel for the enhancement of angiogenesis. Res Chem Intermed 44:4873–4887
- 115. Mohandas A, Rangasamy J (2021) Nanocurcumin and arginine entrapped injectable chitosan hydrogel for restoration of hypoxia induced endothelial dysfunction. Int J Biol Macromol 166:471–482
- 116. Vignesh S, Sivashanmugam A, Mohandas A et al (2018) Injectable deferoxamine nanoparticles loaded chitosan-hyaluronic acid coacervate hydrogel for therapeutic angiogenesis. Colloid Surf B 161:129–138
- 117. Sundaram N, Pillai M, Eswar K et al (2019) Injectable nano whitlockite incorporated chitosan hydrogel for effective hemostasis. ACS Appl Bio Mater 2:865–873
- 118. Amirthalingam S, Lee SS, Pandian M et al (2021) Combinatorial effect of nano whitlockite/ nano bioglass with FGF-18 in an injectable hydrogel for craniofacial bone regeneration. Biomater Sci 9:2439–2453
- 119. Kim HD, Park J, Amirthalingam S et al (2020) Bioinspired inorganic nanoparticles and vascular factor microenvironment directed neo-bone formation. Biomater Sci 8:2627–2637

- 120. Yegappan R, Selvaprithiviraj V, Amirthalingam S et al (2019) Injectable angiogenic and osteogenic carrageenan nanocomposite hydrogel for bone tissue engineering. Int J Biol Macromol 122:320–328
- 121. Amirthalingam S, Ramesh A, Lee SS et al (2018) Injectable in situ shape-forming osteogenic nanocomposite hydrogel for regenerating irregular bone defects. ACS Appl Bio Mater 1:1037–1046
- 122. Sowmya S, Mony U, Jayachandran P et al (2017) Tri-layered nanocomposite hydrogel scaffold for the concurrent regeneration of cementum, periodontal ligament, and alveolar bone. Adv Healthc Mater 6:1601251
- 123. Sundaram MN, Mony U, Kerala P, Jayakumar R (2021) Vasoconstrictor and coagulation activator entrapped chitosan based composite hydrogel for rapid bleeding control. Carbohydr Polym 258:117634
- 124. Deepthi S, Jeevitha K, Nivedhitha Sundaram M et al (2015) Chitosan-hyaluronic acid hydrogel coated poly(caprolactone) multiscale bilayer scaffold for ligament regeneration. Chem Eng J 260:478–485
- 125. Deepthi S, Sundaram MN, Kadavan JD, Jayakumar R (2016) Layered chitosan-collagen hydrogel/aligned PLLA nanofiber construct for flexor tendon regeneration. Carbohydr Polym 153:492–500
- 126. Sundaram MN, Deepthi S, Mony U et al (2019) Chitosan hydrogel scaffold reinforced with twisted poly (L lactic acid) aligned micro fibrous bundle to mimic tendon extracellular matrix. Int J Biol Macromol 122:37–44
- 127. Jaikumar D, Sajesh KM, Soumya S et al (2015) Injectable alginate-O-carboxymethyl chitosan/ nano fibrin composite hydrogels for adipose tissue engineering. Int J Biol Macromol 74:318–326
- 128. Deepthi S, Abdul Gafoor AA, Sivaahanmugam A et al (2016) Nanostrontium ranelate incorporated injectable hydrogel enhanced matrix production supporting chondrogenesis in vitro. J Mater Chem B 4:4092–4103
- 129. Raveendran NT, Mohandas A, Ramachandran R et al (2019) Ciprofloxacin and fluconazole containing fibrin nanoparticles incorporated chitosan bandages for the treatment of polymicrobial wound infections ciprofloxacin and fluconazole containing fibrin nanoparticles incorporated chitosan bandages for the treatment. ACS Appl Bio Mater 2:243–254
- 130. Mohandas A, Deepthi S, Biswas R, Jayakumar R (2018) Chitosan based metallic nanocomposite scaffolds as antimicrobial wound dressings. Bioact Mater 3:267–277
- 131. Anjana J, Mohandasa A, Seethalakshmya S, Suresha MK et al (2018) Bi-layered nanocomposite bandages for controlling microbial infections and overproduction of matrix metalloproteinase activity. Int J Biol Macromol 110:124–132
- 132. Nithya S, Nimal TR, Baranwal G et al (2018) Preparation, characterization and efficacy of lysostaphin-chitosan gel against *Staphylococcus aureus*. Int J Biol Macromol 110:157–166
- 133. Nimal TR, Baranwal G, Bavya MC et al (2016) Anti-staphylococcal activity of injectable nano tigecycline/chitosan-PRP composite hydrogel using *Drosophila melanogaster* model for infectious wounds. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 8:22074–22083

Adv Polym Sci (2021) 287: 131–168 https://doi.org/10.1007/12\_2021\_104 © The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 Published online: 6 July 2021

# Antimicrobial Properties of Chitosan and Its Derivatives



#### Már Másson

### Contents

1	Introduction				
2	The Antimicrobial Mechanism of Action				
	2.1	Overview	134		
	2.2	First Studies	134		
	2.3	Later Work	135		
	2.4	Other Considerations and Summary	137		
3	Synthesis of Antimicrobial Chitosan Derivatives				
	3.1	Reaction Conditions and Selectivity	138		
	3.2	Degree of Substitution and Structural Characterization	139		
4	Antimicrobial Chitosan Derivatives				
	4.1	Carboxymethyl Chitosan (CMC)	140		
	4.2	N,N,N-Trimethyl Chitosan (TMC)	141		
	4.3	N-(2-Hydroxyl) Propyl-3-Trimethyl Ammonium Chitosan (HTC)	142		
	4.4	Hydroxypropyl Chitosan (HPC)	143		
	4.5	Glycol Chitosan	144		
	4.6	Other Derivatives	144		
	4.7	Chitosan Conjugates	145		
	4.8	Nanoparticles, Hydrogels, and Coatings	147		
	4.9	Synthesis of Antimicrobial Derivatives Utilizing Protection Groups	148		
5	Structure-Antimicrobial Activity Relationship		150		
	5.1	Degree of Acetylation (DA)	150		
	5.2	Charge	151		
	5.3	Substituent Structure	152		
	5.4	Degree of Substitution (DS)	154		
	5.5	Molecular Weight	155		
	5.6	Multiple Substituents	157		
6	Sum	mary	158		
Re	References				

M. Másson (🖂)

Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, School of Health Sciences, University of Iceland, Reykjavík, Iceland e-mail: mmasson@hi.is Abstract The investigations of chitosan as an antimicrobial substance came into focus in the 1990s. The number of publications on this topic has been rapidly increasing since then, with more than 2,500 papers published in 2020. Initially, the interest was mainly related to potential applications in agriculture and food products, but currently, the emphasis on the medical use of chitosan and chitosan derivatives is continuously increasing. Common derivatives of chitosan include carboxymethyl chitosan (CMC), N,N,N-trimethyl chitosan (TMC), N-(2-hydroxyl), propyl-3trimethyl ammonium chitosan chloride (HTCC), hydroxypropyl chitosan (HPC), and glycol chitosan. All of these derivatives have been investigated as antimicrobial polymers in various applications, but most such studies involve using the cationic derivatives TMC and HTCC. Countless other antimicrobial chitosan derivatives have been reported in at least one publication. Many researchers have studied the antimicrobial mechanism of action against bacteria and fungi and found that the polymers affect the cell membrane, but the details of the interaction are still debated. Other studies have indicated intracellular nucleic acids, surface proteins, and lipopolysaccharides as possible targets. Various applications, including plant protection, food preservation, wound treatment, and water purification, have been considered to utilize the antimicrobial properties of chitosan-based materials. Structure-activity relationship studies are helpful to elucidate the function and importance of different structural characteristics that may influence activity, including the degree of acetylation (DA), charge, the structure of the substituted, degree of substitution (DS), and molecular weight (Mw).

**Keywords** Antibacterial  $\cdot$  Antifungal  $\cdot$  Antimicrobial  $\cdot$  Chemical modification  $\cdot$ Degree of acetylation (DA)  $\cdot$  Degree of substitution (DS)  $\cdot$  Mechanism of action  $\cdot$ Molecular weight (Mw)  $\cdot$  Structure-activity relationship

# 1 Introduction

The antimicrobial properties of chitosan were discovered early. The first reporting of the potential activity of chitosan and chitosan derivatives against bacteria was probably in a 1950 paper in the *Japanese Medical Journal*, titled "*Macramin, a new high molecular antibacterial substance derived from chitin*" [1]. Remarkably this early publication did not report the antibacterial activity of chitosan but of the methylated derivative, which only became an active research topic in the last decades of the twentieth century. Later, in 1964, it was reported that chitosan could inhibit fermentation in baker's yeast [2]. However, there were few publications on research into this topic in the following decades. Search in the ISI web of science reveals only 11 publications relevant to this topic in the years up to 1990. Perhaps the most notable work was described in papers by Lee A. Hadwiger and co-workers, focusing on the activity of chitosan against fungi [3–6]. This research may have been motivated by interest in the fungal cell wall composition, which

contains chitin in many species and chitosan in some species [7]. Thus it was reported by Allan and Hadwiger [3] that chitosan was active against fungal species with chitin-containing cell walls but lacked activity against fungi with chitosancontaining cell walls. In the 1990s, antimicrobial properties and applications of chitosan finally came more into focus as a subject for scientific research. Two papers published at the beginning of the decade had a significant impact. The first of these studies was by Muzzarrelli and co-workers published in a paper entitled: "Antimicrobial properties of N-Carboxybutyl chitosan," which appeared in Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy in 1990 [8]. In this work, they described the investigation of the antimicrobial activity of N-carboxybutyl chitosan against 298 strains of Grampositive and Gram-negative pathogens and Candida ssp. Furthermore, the study included some investigations of the mechanism of action based on electron microscopy imaging. This revealed that the derivative caused fraying, weakening, and local thickening of staphylococci's cell wall. They also observed that the periplasmic space of Gram-negative species expanded, and the intracellular material appeared to be less densely packed after exposure to N-carboxybutyl chitosan. The latter paper was by Sudarshan, Hoover, and Knorr entitled "antibacterial action of chitosan" published in Food Biotechnology in 1992 [9]. They showed that chitosan hydroglutamate and chitosan lactate could inactivate Gram-negative and Grampositive bacteria in 1 h. Leakage of intracellular beta-galactosidase from E. coli exposed to chitosan was also detected, indicating cell membrane permeabilization. Chitosan also caused cell agglutination at pH 5.8. In 2021 the Muzzarelli paper had been cited more than 340 times and the Sudarshan, Hoover, and Knorr paper more than 550 times. Much of the work in the following decade was focused on the potential use of chitosan as a preservative for food products [10] and plant protection in agriculture [11]. Research into the potential use for chitosan in health care and pharmaceuticals was also intensifying, but chitosan's antimicrobial properties were in general, not the main focus of this work. However, antimicrobial action can be an added benefit of using chitosan and chitosan derivatives for wound treatment [12], for bone repair [13], to improve osseointegration of implants [14], and as a mucoadhesive component in pharmaceutical formulations [15]. The research into antimicrobial properties and chitosan and chitosan derivatives applications has continuously increased in the last few decades. Whereas there was only one paper published focusing on this topic in 1990, there were between 40 and 50 ISI listed papers published in the year 2000. The number had increased in 2010 to more than 450, and in 2020, papers describing investigations into the antimicrobial properties of chitosan and chitosan derivatives were more than 2,500. Many publications are looking at the antimicrobial action of unmodified chitosan with varying degrees of acetylation and molecular weight, which is sometimes cross-linked and often mixed with other materials to prepare liquid formulations, hydrogels, coatings and finishing, microparticles, and nanoparticles [16]. These have been prepared for application in agriculture, water treatment, food products, and health care [16]. Furthermore, the chemical derivation of chitosan is a very active research field. Chitosan polymers are insoluble in alkaline aqueous solutions with pH above 7 and this limits the application. Chemical derivatives with additional polar or charged group can be highly soluble independent of pH, which can be a significant benefit. The purpose of the chemical modification is also often to enhance the antimicrobial activity and therapeutic index, especially the activity against microorganism relative to cytotoxicity toward mammalian cells. Commonly, derivation to enhance antimicrobial activity introduces groups with cationic charge [17], but other derivatives such as lipophilic N and O acyl derivatives [18], a hydroxypropyl chitosan [19], and carboxymethyl chitosan [20] have also been investigated as antimicrobial agents. Furthermore chitosan conjugates can be prepared by linking bioactive moiety with the polymer and thus modifying the biological profile. Antioxidants are commonly introduced in this way and such conjugates have also been investigated for antimicrobial activity [21]. Other antimicrobial agents such as antimicrobial peptides have also been conjugated with chitosan, chitosan derivatives, and chitosan nanoparticles. Chitosan has also been used in drug delivery systems to aid in the delivery of antimicrobial drugs.

#### 2 The Antimicrobial Mechanism of Action

#### 2.1 Overview

Chitosan and many chitosan derivatives have broad-spectrum activity against various microorganisms, including Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria and fungi. It has also been shown that these polymers can inactivate viruses such as tobacco mosaic virus [22], norovirus, calicivirus [23], and coronaviruses [24]. The mechanism for chitosan and chitosan derivatives antimicrobial action is still debated. Multiple different mechanisms have been proposed. The mechanisms implicated in the antimicrobial action include disruption of the cell membrane, blockage of the nutrient flow, binding to intracellular RNA and DNA, chelation binding of metal ions, and electrostatic binding lipoteichoic acid [17, 25]. Not all of these mechanisms are mutually exclusive, and in general, the number of possible mechanisms discussed in review papers seems to have increased over time. However, not all of these mechanisms are equally well supported by experimental data.

#### 2.2 First Studies

The first significant study into the cytotoxic mechanism action focused on soya bean (*Glycine max*) and common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris*) plant cells, not microorganisms [26, 27]. Interest in the effect of chitosan on plants stems from the importance of fungi as pests causing plant disease. Fungi contain chitin and chitosan in their cell wall, and thus the researchers were interested in finding out if polycationic chitosan released by fungi could adversely affect plant cells. These studies showed that chitosan increased membrane permeability of the membrane and caused leakage of

the electrolytes, proteins, and UV-absorbing species (such as co-enzymes and nucleic acid). Other polycations such as poly-L-lysine, DEAE-dextran, and spermine caused similar leakage. It was found that bivalent cations inhibited the effect of chitosan in the order  $Ba^{2+} > Ca^{2+} > Sr^{2+} > Mg^{2+}$ . The results indicated that chitosan induced the formation of quite large "pores" in the cell membrane. The latter paper also showed radiolabeled  $Ca^{2+}$ , bound to the cell surface, was released before chitosan-induced leakage of the cytosol content could be detected [26].

# 2.3 Later Work

Some significant studies on the antimicrobial mechanism of chitosan and chitosan derivatives were published in 2001. Helander et al. [28] studied the effect of chitosan on the Gram-negative bacteria *Escherichia coli*, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, and *Salmonella typhimurium*. Exposure to chitosan allowed the entry of 1-*N*-phenyl-naphtylamine (NPN), a hydrophobic probe normally excluded from Gram-negative bacteria, into the periplasmic space between the inner and outer membrane. This showed that chitosan, similar to other polycations, weakened the outer membrane barrier function. The effect was reduced or eliminated by MgCl<sub>2</sub>. Chitosan did not increase the release of lipid material or lipopolysaccharides (LPS), which indicated a reversible pouring of the outer membrane. Electron micrographs showed that the outer membrane of chitosan-treated cells was covered by vesicular structures and by additional material so that the cell envelope appeared considerably thickened (Fig. 1a). Se-Kwon Kim and co-workers [29] showed that low molecular weight



**Fig. 1** Microscopy observation of the effect of chitosan on bacteria and fungi: (**a**) from Helander et al. [28] showing undulating outer membrane of *E. coli* and vesicles caused by treatment with chitosan. (**b**) from Xu et al. [35] showing the internalization of fluorescein-labeled 2-AMAC-oligochitosan in cysts and germ tubes of *P. capsici*. (**c**) from Raafat et al. [37] showing *S. stimulans* cells treated for 60 min with chitosan. Irregular structures are protruding from the cell surface, which might be chitosan deposits still attached to the negatively charged surface polymers. The cell membrane became locally detached from the cell wall, giving rise to "vacuole-like" structures underneath the cell wall, possibly resulting from ion and water efflux and decreased internal pressure. (Published with permission from Elsevier and American Society for Microbiology)

chitosan (degree of polymerization (DP) 5-7) was less effective in inhibiting Grampositive bacteria, including lactic acid bacteria and Gram-negative bacteria than high molecular weight chitosan (Mw 24–7 KD). Muzarrelli et al. [30] showed that methyl pyrrolidinone chitosan, N-carboxymethyl chitosan, and N-phosphonomethyl chitosan exerted effective fungistatic action against Saprolegnia parasitica. Electron microscopy showed that the chitosan derivatives altered the morphology of the fungi, and at 4 mg/ml concentration, they seemed to precipitate together with the fungus. The cell was thickened and frayed, often coated with chitosan. Partial disappearance of the plasma membrane and damage to the internal organelles was also observed in some cases. Liu et al. [31] studied carboxymethylated chitosan and chitosan activity against E. coli. They observed fluorescently labeled oligomers inside the cells. Based on this observation the authors suggested that antimicrobial effect was mainly due to inhibition of DNA transcription. Later studies on the effect of chitosan on *E. coli* not only confirmed the observation made by Helander et al. that the permeability of the outer membrane was increased but also showed that the inner cell membrane was also damaged, causing leakage of the cytosol content [32, 33]. These studies also showed that chitosan formed complexes with phosphatidylcholine in liposomes, and this suggested interaction with anionic lipids was causing membrane damage. One of the studies also indicated that chitosan disrupted the cell membrane of Gram-positive S. aureus and mainly affecting dividing cells. In 2006 [34], similar results were also obtained for the mechanism of action for antimicrobial dimethylaminoethyl-chitosan (DMAEC) against E. coli and S. aureus. In 2007 Xu et al. [35] reported that fluorescently labeled oligochitosans, with DP 3–9, localized mainly in the cytoplasm of *P. capsici* (Fig. 1b) and showed no binding to the cell wall or the cell membrane. It was also demonstrated the oligochitosan could affect the electrophoretic mobility of the genomic DNA and total RNA. The authors, therefore, suggested that small antifungal chitosan oligomers could cross the fungal cell wall and cell membrane and bind to intracellular targets such as DNA or RNA. However, these results were contrasted by Park et al. [36] which showed that chitosan oligomers (1KD) were, in general, less effective against 9 fungal strains than higher Mw chitosan (3, 5, or 10 KD). Fluorescence studies and transmission electron microscopy studies indicated that chitosan penetrated the cell wall and accumulated in the plasma membrane. The membrane disrupting ability could also be correlated with molecular weight, and that chitosan with higher molecular weight showed increased activity and membrane disrupting ability. A major study into chitosan's mode of action against Gram-positive bacteria was published in 2008 [37]. The study included S. stimulans and two strains and different mutants of S. aureus. The average Mw of the chitosan used in the study was 243 KD, but a prior investigation had shown that molecules larger than 10 KD were required for activity. Chitosan had a depolarizing effect on the cell membrane of S. stimulans and caused the K<sup>+</sup> efflux to increase and a gradual leakage of UV-absorbing substances. However, no protein leakage was detected. The depolarizing effect of chitosan is much slower and incomplete compared to nisin, an antimicrobial peptide known to form pores in the cell membrane. Transmission electron microscopy investigations revealed that the membrane was intact but
became locally detached from the cell wall (Fig. 1c). No cell wall lysis was detected. Investigations with different mutants revealed that *tagO* mutants, which lack genes for teichoic acid biosynthesis were least susceptible to chitosan with five-fold reduction relative to parent strain. The exposure to chitosan caused up-regulation or down-regulation of various bacterial genes. The authors therefore speculated that chitosan binds to teichoic acid on the cell wall surface and this causes extraction of membrane lipids. The proposed mechanism rests on the assumption that high molecular weight chitosan cannot cross the cell wall and that chitosan is not active against Gram-negative bacteria, which lack this negatively charged copolymer on the cell surface. The latter assertion was made in a later publication by the main authors [38], but this is clearly contradicted by data from other investigators that show that chitosan is also highly active against E. coli and many other Gramnegative bacteria. The susceptibility of bacteria to chitosan can vary considerably according to species or strain. No statistical analysis has been carried out to show that either Gram-negative or Gram-positive bacteria are more susceptible to chitosan. It would also be hard to make a representative sample of the thousands of bacterial strains known to man. Studies have also been carried out for the antibacterial mechanism of chitosan and chitosan derivative microspheres against E. coli [39] and other bacteria [40]. These studies confirmed that this form of the polymer also disrupts the bacterial cell membrane. Studies with 21 genes deleted and complemented E. coli strain and showed that activity was reduced against the  $\Delta ompA$  strain lacking the Outer Membrane Protein A (OMPA) [40]. The authors speculated that chitosan binds to OMPA, but interestingly, this protein is nearly neutral and lacks a negative charge. They therefore proposed hydrogen binding as the main interaction.

#### 2.4 Other Considerations and Summary

In addition to the direct effect of inhibiting microbial growth and killing microbes, chitosan can also act indirectly by modulating infection response. Thus there is considerable research into the use of chitosan as an adjuvant in vaccinations [41] and the effect of chitosan on the human and animal immune systems [42]. The presence of chitosan and chitin oligomers and polymers may also indicate a fungal infection and stimulate host defense mechanisms in plants [43]. This topic will not be covered in the chapter, but insightful, relevant review articles are included in the references list [42, 43].

This review of past investigations into the mechanisms of action should show that it is most likely that chitosan and chitosan derivatives act to disrupt the cell membrane of bacteria and fungi. Other mechanisms, such as intracellular effect on DNA or RNA function or binding to teichoic acid, are much more speculative and often contradicted by other published work. It has been shown that chitosan can cross the cell membrane to enter into the cytosol, but it is not certain that this causes harm to the microorganism. However, the precise mechanism by which chitosan disrupts the membrane is much less well known. The replacement of membrane-bound  $Ca^{2+}$  to destabilize the membrane may play a role, and chitosan may also cause pore formation in the membrane similar to the effect of many antimicrobial peptides [44]. Further detailed studies will be required to clarify this issue.

## 3 Synthesis of Antimicrobial Chitosan Derivatives

#### 3.1 Reaction Conditions and Selectivity

Chitosan can be chemically modified to improve biological properties, including antimicrobial activity. The introduction of polar substituents can enhance aqueous solubility, contributing to higher antimicrobial activity, especially at pH above 7. Besides, the purpose of the modification is usually also that substituents should, in some way, contribute directly to increased activity.

The glucosamine monomer of chitosan has three nucleophilic groups, the C2-amino group and the C6 and C3 hydroxyl groups (Fig. 2). The amino group is commonly the target for modification. It is the most nucleophilic group under neutral or mildly basic conditions and will preferably react with electrophiles like alkyl halides, sulfonates, and epoxides [16]. However, the reaction is not always very selective, and the hydroxyl groups, especially the C6-hydroxyl group, may also react, especially when the degree of substitution is high. The amino group can react



Fig. 2 Nucleophilic groups in the glucosamine monomer and some common reactions used to modify the chitosan structure

selectively with aldehydes and ketones to form imine derivatives [45], and this can be coupled with a reduction to obtain N-alkyl derivatives [46, 47]. However, this reaction can only be utilized to form monoalkyl or dialkyl derivatives. Monoalkyl and dialkyl derivatives can react with alkyl halides to obtain guaternized N.N.Ntrialkyl derivatives [46, 48]. The amino group can also be N-acylated by reaction with acyl halides, [49] anhydrides [50, 51], N-hydroxysuccinimide esters (NHS-esters) [52], or with carboxylic acids in the presence of suitable coupling reagent such as 1-Ethyl-3-(3-dimethylaminopropyl)carbodiimide (EDC) [53]. As in the case of electrophilic reagents, these reactions are not necessarily selective for the amino group, and esters can be formed with the C6 and C3 hydroxyl groups. However, amides are more stable than esters. Unwanted ester linkages can therefore be hydrolyzed by treatment with aqueous acid or base without affecting the amide bonds [49]. The reaction conditions can also be adjusted so that the modification of the hydroxyl groups, especially the more reactive primary C6 hydroxyl group, is preferred. In anhydrous acidic conditions, the hydroxyl groups will be condensed with carboxylic acid to form esters, whereas the protonated amino group will not react. Chitosan has thus dissolved in methane sulfonic acid and reacted with carboxylic acids to form C6-O-esters [54, 55]. In more alkaline conditions (high pH), the C6 OH group will become ionized and more nucleophilic than the amino group. Then O-alkylation will be preferred in reaction with alkyl halides and other electrophiles [56, 57].

Chitosan is soluble in acidic aqueous solution and poorly soluble or insoluble in organic solvents, especially non-polar solvents. The required conditions for *N*-alkylation with electrophiles or *N*-acylation with acyl halides or anhydrides are usually basic. Conventional organic chemistry reactions are mainly carried out in aprotic organic solvents to avoid interference, especially from water, and also because many reagents are only soluble in such solvents. However, these conditions are not compatible with the solubility of chitosan. Therefore, many reported that reactions to obtain chitosan derivatives are carried out in organic solvent or organic solvent water mixtures with chitosan only partially in solution. These inhomogeneous conditions can limit the efficacy of the reaction and the selectivity.

#### 3.2 Degree of Substitution and Structural Characterization

Numerous chitosan derivatives have been reported. There are probably dozens or hundreds of new types of derivatives reported every year, depending on the definition. The derivatives can vary in the substituent's chemical structure and the degree of substitution (DS), defined as the number of substituents on each monomer unit and reported in the range 0-1 or 0-100%. Furthermore, the chitosan starting material can also vary in the degree of acetylation and molecular weight, and this will influence the final structure, molecular weight, and the general properties of the resulting chitosan derivative. Also, the distribution of the substituents along the polymer can be a factor. It is generally assumed that the distribution is more or less

random, but this is not certain. Derivatives with multiple substituents are also more common now, and the number of possible structures is therefore limitless.

In many cases, derivatives are only characterized by FTIR or elemental analysis, which gives somewhat limited information about the structure. The molecular weight or degree of acetylation for the final product is rarely reported. Information about the chitosan starting material can also be limited. Thus it is often difficult to assess the relevance of the reported antimicrobial activity of chitosan derivatives. Limited data is sometimes provided, and the actual structure of the derivative can be different from what is reported. Thus, a detailed NMR analysis should be carried out and preferably size exclusion chromatography, to determine molecular weight and size distribution. However, even when such data exist, correct interpretation can be a challenge, and errors are not uncommon.

# 4 Antimicrobial Chitosan Derivatives

Although a large number of structures derived from chitosan have been reported, some structures are much more common than others and studied in several publications. Some of these derivatives are also commercially available, which makes them accessible for antimicrobial research.

#### 4.1 Carboxymethyl Chitosan (CMC)

Carboxymethyl chitosan (CMC) is one of the more common chitosan derivatives. Muzzarelli first reported it in 1982 [58, 59], and in 2020 there were more than 300 ISI publications where CMC was used in some way. It is commercially available from many companies and can be synthesized by reaction with 2-chloroacetic acid in water/isopropanol solvent with NaOH as a base to give N, O alkylated CMC [60] (Fig. 3). Alternatively, an N-selective modification can be done by reductive alkylation with glyoxylic acid [61]. It has diverse uses, including CMC-based nanoparticles for drug delivery applications [62], absorbent to remove dye from waste-water [63], and for coating and stabilizing metallic catalytic nanoparticles [64]. The part of the structure is similar to ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA), and CMC can therefore chelate metal ions. The binding to Ca<sup>2+</sup> has been utilized to stabilize CMC nanoparticles [20] and bind the polymer to dental pulp [65]. CMCzinc complexes have been prepared and applied as antimicrobials against S. aureus and E. coli [66]. This derivative has also been used in combination with silver nanoparticles to prepare durable antibacterial cotton fabric [67], to prepare tetracycline loaded nanoparticles to treat intracellular S. aureus infections [68], and to prevent biofilm formation by Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria [69]. Carboxymethyl chitosan has also further modified for enhanced antimicrobial activity, and this has included grafting with poly(N-vinylimidazole) [70] and



Fig. 3 Carboxymethyl chitosan (CMC) synthesis and an example of a reported antimicrobial CMC derivative [71]

*N*-alkylation and further reaction with *N*-(3-chloro-2-hydroxy-propyl) trimethylammonium chloride to introduce both lipophilic and quaternary ammonium groups [71].

#### 4.2 N,N,N-Trimethyl Chitosan (TMC)

*N.N.N*-trimethyl chitosan is probably the second most studied chitosan derivative. It can be synthesized by reacting chitosan with suitable methylation reagents, such as methyl iodide or dimethyl sulfate. The solvent N-methyl pyrrolidone (NMP) is most commonly used for this reaction in combination with NaOH as the base [72]. This reaction is not fully selective, and a high level of N,N,N-trimethylation is usually accompanied by a high level of O-methylation, which can reduce the solubility of the product [73]. The O-methylation can be avoided by using alternative procedures, including reductive dimethylation followed by *N*-methylation in a second step [48] or by using  $DMF/H_2O$  as the solvent for the reaction [74]. (Fig. 4) There has been considerable interest in TMC as an absorption enhancer affecting tight junctions [75]. It has been used as an absorption enhancer on the intestinal [76], nasal [77, 78], and pulmonary [75, 79] for drug delivery. It has also been used for non-viral gene delivery [80]. TMC nanoparticles have been used for drug delivery, including insulin [81, 82] and siRNA delivery [83]. N,N,N-trimethyl chitosan has a permanent cationic charge and has good aqueous solubility independent of pH. It is more active against Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria than chitosan, especially at pH above 7 [49, 84, 85]. Antimicrobial TMC fibers have been used in wound treatment [86], antibacterial coating for polypropylene and polylactic acid nonwovens [87], and for antimicrobial filtration membranes for drinking water treatment [88]. This derivative has also been used in combination with antimicrobial drugs. Xanthar gum/TMC hydrogel has been prepared for encapsulation and delivery of ciprofloxacin and investigated for antimicrobial activity against S. aureus and E. coli and



**Fig. 4** *N,N,N*-trimethyl chitosan (TMC) synthesis and an example of a reported antimicrobial TMC derivative [91]

cytotoxicity toward human lung cell lines [89]. Vancomycin-loaded nanoparticles based on TMC have been reported and investigated for drug release kinetics and antimicrobial efficacy in vitro [90]. Investigations have also focused on analogous *N*-alkyl derivatives with longer alkyl chains such as ethyl, propyl, and hexyl. Thus *N*, *N*,*N* triethyl, *N*, *N*-dialkyl-*N*-methyl, and *N*-alkyl-*N*-methyl derivatives of chitosan have also been reported and investigated for antimicrobial activity [91–93]. Further derivation of TMC has also been reported, including C6-NH<sub>3</sub> and C6-N(CH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>3</sub> deoxy derivatives [91] and 6-O-2-hydroxypropyl-3-(trimethylammonium) derivatives [94]. According to these publications, the increased cationic charge contributed to enhanced antibacterial activity relative to TMC and chitosan. This derivative has also been used for vaccinations. This includes the use of TMC microparticles as a delivery system for mucosal adjuvant LTK63 in intranasal immunization of mice with meningococcal conjugated vaccine [95]. Recently a self-assembly of a self-adjuvanting nanovaccine delivery system from TMC and polyanionic oligopeptide has been reported [96].

# 4.3 N-(2-Hydroxyl) Propyl-3-Trimethyl Ammonium Chitosan (HTC)

N-(2-hydroxyl) propyl-3-trimethyl ammonium chitosan (HTC) or HTC chloride (HTCC) is another common quaternary ammonium derivative of chitosan with good aqueous solubility in acidic, neutral, and alkaline solutions. It is synthesized by reacting chitosan with glycidyl trimethyl ammonium chloride (Fig. 5). Pharmaceutical applications include its use in hydrogels for nasal delivery of macromolecular drugs [97] and gene delivery [98]. It has been reported to possess significant activity against Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria and pathogenic fungi, with a minimal toxic effect on human erythrocytes and embryo kidney cells [99]. It can therefore be considered as a suitable antimicrobial agent for topical applications.



**Fig. 5** *N*-(2-hydroxyl) propyl-3-trimethyl ammonium chitosan chloride (HTCC) synthesis and an HTCC derivative with a fiber-reactive group [100]

It has been modified with fiber-active group and used as antimicrobial textile finishing [100, 101] and included in nanofibrous antimicrobial mats produced by electrospinning polyvinyl from blends with rectorite and alcohol [102]. Carboxymethyl cellulose/HTTCC films have been developed and shown to be effective against S. aureus and E. coli in vitro [103]. The blend was used to coating for bananas to extend the shelf life. This chitosan derivative has also been mixed with silver nanoparticles and graphene oxide and used to produce antibacterial and antifungal contact lens [104]. These were also loaded with the antifungal drug voriconazole, to further increase the activity. The materials showed antimicrobial efficacy in vitro, and in vivo tests of the lenses demonstrated efficacy for treating fungal keratitis in a mouse model. The disinfectant chlorhexidine has been included in injectable HTCC hydrogel for periodontal application to prevent infections caused by bacteria in dental plaque [105]. HTCC capped mesoporous silica nanoparticles have been investigated as delivery system for the fungicide pyraclostrobin to be used as an agricultural pesticide to control *Phomopsis asparagi* (Sacc.) infestation [106]. Nanoclay modified with HTCC has been investigated for tissue engineering application and shown to be highly biocompatible and increase cell growth in tissue culture as well as having a bactericidal effect on S. aureus and E. coli [107]. HTCC has also been reported as a broad range inhibitor of coronavirus entry [108].

#### 4.4 Hydroxypropyl Chitosan (HPC)

Hydroxypropyl chitosan (HPC) is a derivative of chitosan with improved water solubility and film-forming properties. It is synthesized by the reaction of propylene epoxide with chitosan under alkaline conditions (Fig. 6). It has been reported to be active against *S. aureus* and *E. coli* as well as the fungal species *A. mali*, *C. diplodiella*, *F. oxysporum*, and *P. piricola* [19]. This derivative has been used to formulate medicated nail lacquers containing antifungal agents such as ciclopirox and amorolfine for treating onychomycosis, a fungal infection of the nails [109–



111]. HPC has been photo-crosslinked for application in wound dressing and conjugated [112] with cyclodextrin for drug delivery applications [113]. Antimicrobial derivatives prepared by graft co-polymerization with maleic acid [114] and HPC grafted with the antimicrobial peptide nisin have also been reported [115].

#### 4.5 Glycol Chitosan

Water-soluble glycol chitosan is prepared by treating chitin with oxirane (ethylene oxide) followed by deacetylation with a strong base (Fig. 6) [116]. This derivative is commonly used in drug delivery applications and has been modified with deoxycholic acid to self-assemble into nanoparticles [117] that have been used for tumor-specific delivery of anticancer drugs [118, 119]. It has also been *N*-acetylated with palmitic acid NHS ester and quaternized to make polysoap intended for drug delivery applications [120] and to coat liposomes to make pH-responsive drug delivery systems [121] and injectable hydrogels [122]. In contrast to other commercially available derivatives, there are relatively few investigations into the antimicrobial properties of glycol chitosan. However, there are a few examples of such application of glycol chitosan. It has been cross-linked with PEG-diglycidyl ether to form pro-angiogenic hydrogels that could inhibit *S. aureus* [123], and it has been used to coat iron oxide nanoparticles to form antibacterial superparamagnetic nanoparticles [124].

#### 4.6 Other Derivatives

Other notable chitosan derivatives include *N*-carboxybutyl chitosan. This derivative was originally reported by Muzzarelli et al. [125] and subsequently studied for wound healing [126] and as an antimicrobial substance [8] (Fig. 7). It is obtained



Fig. 7 Structure of some chitosan derivatives with reported antimicrobial activity (many of the reported derivatives had DS that is considerably <1)

by reaction with levulinic acid (4-oxo-pentanoic acid) in the presence of reducing agent. This also results in a ring formation to give 5-methyl pyrrolidone chitosan, especially with a slow addition of the reducing agent [127]. Raeba et al. [128] investigated a series of N-alkyl derivatives obtained by reductive alkylation and found that s N-(2,2-diphenylethyl) chitosan was most active against the gray mold Botrytis cinerea fungi and the rice leaf blast pathogenic fungi Pyricularia grisea. Another such derivative, N-(3-phenylpropyl) chitosan, strongly inhibited larval weight gain of the cotton leafworm Spodoptera littoralis. Benzoyl thiourea derivatives of chitosan have been synthesized and found to be active against fungi and bacteria [129, 130]. Geisberger et al. [131] reported that chitosan-thioglycolic acid (amide derivative) was considerably more effective against Gram-positive Streptococcus sobrinus, Gram-negative Neisseria subflava, and the fungi Candida albicans than either TMC or CMC. In contrast other researchers have found that similar thioglycolic acid derivatives of chitosan were not more active against bacteria than chitosan [132, 133]. The anionic derivatives chitosan sulfate [134] and sulfonated chitosan [135] have also been found to be active against E. coli and S. aureus.

### 4.7 Chitosan Conjugates

Some bioactive moieties can also be covalently linked to chitosan polymer to form conjugates. Chitosan conjugates are perhaps most commonly prepared by covalently linking natural antioxidants to the polymer. Many publications report grafting of antioxidants such as gallic acid, ferulic acid, caffeic acid, cinnamic acid, p-coumaric

acid, salicylic acid, and catechin to chitosan [136]. The grafting of antioxidants results in increased antioxidant and radical scavenging activity of polymer. Different methods have been used to graft these groups on chitosan, including the free-radical grafting method, enzyme-mediated synthesis, and activated ester mediated synthesis. These investigations are often inspired by the potential use of these chitosan conjugates in food products to serve as preservatives, reduce oxidation, or as neutraceuticals. Some investigators have reported increased antimicrobial activity resulting from the conjugation of antioxidants. Different flavonoids were enzymatically grafted onto chitosan fibers using tyrosinase and investigated for antioxidant and antimicrobial activity [137]. Some of the flavonoids increased antimicrobial activity of chitosan against Bacillus subtilis and Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Vanillin and 4-hydroxybenzaldhyde were linked to chitosan by reductive alkylation [138]. Films prepared from N-vanillyl chitosan and N-4-hydroxybenzyl chitosan were similarly effective in reducing the biomass of Aspergillus flavus fungi as films prepared from unmodified chitosan, but the films prepared from the conjugates had a marked effect of reducing  $B_1$  and  $B_2$  aflatoxins produced by the fungus by 98.9% and to non-detectable levels, respectively. Laccase from Trametes versicolor was used to graft gallic acid and caffeic acid onto chitosan [139]. This modification increased antioxidant activity and activity against Escherichia coli and Listeria monocytogenes.

Antimicrobial peptides are a part of the innate immune defense of vertebrates, plants, and invertebrates. Some peptide chitosan conjugates have been reported and investigated for antimicrobial activity. Antimicrobial ɛ-poly-L-lysine peptides were grafted onto vinyl modified chitosan using thiol-ene click chemistry [140]. The resulting conjugates showed enhanced, selective, broad-spectrum antibacterial activity toward Gram-negative E. coli and Pseudomonas aeruginosa, and Gram-positive bacteria Enterococcus faecalis and methicillin-resistant S. aureus (MRSA), and antifungal activity against Candida albicans and Fusarium solani. The antimicrobial CysHHC10 peptide was grafted to the C-2 (amino) or C-6 (hydroxyl) position of chitosan backbone via thiol-maleimide "click" conjugation, utilizing the maleimidohexanoic linkers [55]. Both peptidopolysaccharides exhibited reduced hemolytic activity and cytotoxicity relative to unmodified CysHHC10 peptide. The peptidopolysaccharides were used to prepare coatings formed via layer-by-layer assembly with tannic acid. These coatings killed the adhered bacteria upon contact while maintaining more than 60% viability for the adhered fibroblasts. We have reported grafting of a short antimicrobial peptide, anoplin, to chitosan N-(2-azido) acetyl polymers by copper-catalyzed alkyne-azide "click chemistry" coupling (CuAAC) to give conjugates with different degree of substitution (6-23%) [141] (Fig. 8). This resulted in increased activity against S. aureus, E. coli, E. faecalis, P. aeruginosa relative to chitosan and anoplin and a remarkable reduction in the hemolytic activity (HC<sub>50</sub>) for human erythrocytes. Thus, more than a 100-fold increase in selectivity (HC<sub>50</sub>/MIC<sub>*E*, coli</sub>) relative to anoplin for four conjugates and more than a 10-fold reduction for the other two conjugates.



**Fig. 8** Schematic representation of anoplin–chitosan conjugates. From reference [141]. (Published with permission from Royal Society for Chemistry)

#### 4.8 Nanoparticles, Hydrogels, and Coatings

Nanoparticles based on chitosan are a very active research field. Chitosan-based nanoparticles have been developed for various gene and drug delivery applications [142–144], and there are also numerous reported applications for nanoparticles based on chitosan derivatives such as CMC [20], HTCC [145], and TMC [146]. These nanoparticles are often functionalized with moieties targeting cellular receptors to provide more selective delivery to specific cell types or tissue. Cancer treatment is probably the most common aim for therapeutic nanoparticle development, but chitosan-based nanoparticles have also been developed as a potential treatment for infectious disease and as disinfectants. In most cases, such nanoparticles are reported as delivery systems for other antimicrobial compounds or antibiotic drugs. Examples of this include chitosan-based nanoparticles iminegrafted with the antiseptic essential oil components eugenol and carvacrol [147]. The eugenol and carvacrol grafted chitosan nanoparticles had equivalent or better antibacterial activity than that of the unmodified chitosan nanoparticles. The grafted nanoparticles were less cytotoxic toward 3T3 mouse fibroblast than pure essential oils. Then frog-skin derived antimicrobial peptide temporin B has been encapsulated in chitosan nanoparticles [148]. The encapsulation increased antibacterial activity and reduced the peptide's cytotoxicity against mammalian cells. The nanocarrier provided sustained antibacterial action against Staphylococcus epidermidis for at least 4 days, with up to 4-log reduction in the number of viable bacteria compared to chitosan nanoparticles that did not contain the peptide. Although most studies have similarly used chitosan nanoparticles to encapsulate or as substrate to graft other antimicrobial substances, there are some reports where chitosan is the only antimicrobial material used in the preparation of nanoparticles. Chitosan-alginate nanoparticles were prepared and found to be active against Propionibacterium acnes [149]. The nanoparticles also inhibited P. acnes-induced inflammatory cytokine production in human monocytes and keratinocytes. Chitosan nanoparticles were prepared by mixing the cationic polymer with anionic proteins isolated from Penicillium oxalicum [150]. These particles inhibited the growth of the fungi Pyricularia grisea, Alternaria solani, and Fusarium oxysporum.

Chitosan and chitosan derivatives have also been formulated into hydrogels intended for antimicrobial treatments. Such hydrogels are often intended for wound treatment to provide dual action for stimulating wound healing and providing antimicrobial action to prevent or treat wound infections. As with nanoparticles, it is common to include some other antimicrobial substance in such formulations, but there are also reports where chitosan or chitosan derivatives are the only antimicrobial substance. An example of this is chitosan hydrogels with deposited hydroxyapatite [151]. The biocompatibility of chitosan-hydroxyapatite composite membranes was evaluated in MTT assay and it was found that they had no effect on the growth of MG-63 osteosarcoma cells. Superabsorbent hydrogels have been prepared form HTCC-g-poly(acrylic acid-co-acrylamide) co-polymers, including N.N-'-methylenebisacrylamide (MBA) as a cross-linker [152]. The antibacterial activity against S. aureus and E. coli increased with the HTCC weight content up to 50-60% but decreased with higher content.

Chitosan and chitosan derivatives have also been used to coat other materials with the aim of reducing antimicrobial fouling of the surface. Thus HTCC has been used to coat titanium implants [153]. The coating prevented adherence of *S. epidermidis* to the surface. Medullary cavities of rat femora were contaminated with *S. epidermidis*, and a coated and untreated titanium rods were simultaneously implanted into the medullary canals. Implant-associated infection occurred in the control group with uncoated titanium implants, while the infection was prevented with HTCC-coated implants.

# 4.9 Synthesis of Antimicrobial Derivatives Utilizing Protection Groups

It can be challenging to control the synthesis of chitosan derivatives to obtain the desired DS for the substituent and avoid modification of groups (-NH<sub>2</sub> or -OH) that are not a target for the reaction. Protection groups have been introduced to allow fully regioselective and chemoselective modification of the polymer. The protection groups can also improve solubility in organic solvents. This is also beneficial because some reagents will react with water and some reactions are not compatible with aqueous solutions. This approach was mainly pioneered by Kurita and co-workers [154–156]. They reported the synthesis of various chitosan derivatives where the phthaloyl protection of the amino groups was utilized to achieve C6 regioselective modification (Fig. 9). This protection group can be introduced by reaction with phthalic anhydride in DMF. The phthaloyl protection group can be removed in the final step, following the C6 modification, by reaction with aqueous hydrazine  $(N_2H_4)$ , to obtain the desired derivative. Thus phthaloyl chitosan has been used as precursors for the synthesis of antimicrobial derivatives such as maltoside and mannoside branched chitosan [157]. The maltoside branched chitosan was less active than chitosan in suppressing Bacillus subtilis, S. aureus, E. coli, Streptococcus



Fig. 9 Some examples of synthesis of antimicrobial chitosan derivatives utilizing protection groups

*mutans*, and *C. albicans* growth, but mannoside chitosan was more active than chitosan against *B. subtilis* and *P. aeruginosa*. The phthaloyl protection was also utilized for the synthesis of 6-amino-6-deoxychitosan, which was soluble and active against *S. aureus*, *E. coli*, *P. aeruginosa*, and *A. niger* at pH 6.5 and 7.5 [158]. *N*-phthaloyl chitosan has been mixed with polyethersulfone to prepare an ultrafiltration membrane with antifouling property [159]. Fully acetylated chitin can also be used as *N*-protected chitosan, like in the synthesis of glycol chitosan [160].

Furthermore, N-phthaloyl chitosan can be used as a precursor for the synthesis of 6-O-triphenylmethyl (trityl) protected chitosan [156]. The trityl-protected chitosan can be used for N-selective modifications in NMP and the trityl group then removed by treatment with acid. This approach was for the synthesis of a series of chitosan betainates [161], N,N,N-trimethylated chitosan [84], and piperazine derivatives [162] at different degrees of substitution. These derivatives were further studied to show that the antibacterial activity is dependent on the DS [84, 163, 164]. Our group has introduced the O-selective protection of chitosan by reaction of chitosan tert-butyldimethylsilyl mesylate with chloride (TBDM-Cl) in DMSO [165, 166]. (Fig. 9) The advantage of this protection strategy is that it allows for fully chemoselective modification of the amino groups and that di-TBDMS chitosan is fully soluble in CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>. Therefore, reactions can be carried out in a solvent that is commonly used in organic chemistry and would otherwise not be compatible with chitosan as a reagent. The TBDMS protection group can be fully removed in the final step by treatment with acid or suitable fluoride ion reagent such as tetrabutylammonium fluoride (TBAF). TBDMS chitosan has been used for fully selective synthesis of N-alkyl, N-dialkyl, and N,N,N-trialkyl derivatives, quanidilated and quaternary N-acyl derivatives with up to 100% degree of substitution, which were used in the investigation of the structure-antibacterial activity relationship [85, 93, 167] and efficacy for eradicating S. aureus biofilms [168].

#### 5 Structure-Antimicrobial Activity Relationship

#### 5.1 Degree of Acetylation (DA)

It is generally agreed that an increase in the degree of acetylation (DA) will reduce the antimicrobial activity of chitosan. Fully *N*-acetylated chitosan (chitin) is not active against bacteria and also insoluble aqueous solutions. However, the effect of a moderated DA is less clear. Younes et al. [169] studied the influence of DA and molecular weight of chitosan on antimicrobial activity. They prepared 15 samples of chitosan with DA ranging from 2 to 61% and Mw ranging from 43 to 135 KD. They measured the MIC values for four Gram-positive bacteria (*S. aureus*, *B. cereus*, *E. faecalis*, and *M. luteus*) and four Gram-negative bacteria (*E. coli*, *P. aeruginosa*, K. pneumoniae, and S. typhi) as well as three types of fungi (A. niger, F. oxysporum, and A. solani). In addition, they did an agar diffusion assay and investigated the reduction in colony count. The conclusion of the study was that DA reduced activity against bacteria, whereas it had a variable effect on fungi. However, a closer look at the data shows that there was no increase or only one dilution (two-fold) increase in the MIC values with DA = 24% or less in most cases. In the case of fungi, the DA had hardly any effect with a one-dilution difference or no difference in the MIC values. Blagodatskikh et al. [170] investigated the activity of N-reacetyated oligochitosan against S. aureus and E. coli and found maximal activity when DA was 16–28%. We have investigated the antibacterial activity of N,N,N-trimethylated, and N-acyl quaternary chitosan derivatives where each derivative was synthesized from five different chitosan starting materials with DA ranging from 6 to 34% [85]. There was some difference (up to two dilutions or more) between derivatives prepared from different starting materials, but overall there was no clear trend in the influence of DA on activity. Thus it can be concluded that although a significant increase in DA may have a negative effect on the antimicrobial activity, the influence of moderated DA (up to 20-30%) is limited and can even be beneficial.

#### 5.2 Charge

Chitosan is polycationic in acidic solution, which is a unique property for a natural polysaccharide. The polycationic charge is generally thought to be the most significant factor causing an antimicrobial effect due to electrostatic interaction with the cell surface. This is also supported by the fact that other well-known antimicrobial polymers such as polyethyleneimine, poly-lysine, and DEAE dextran are also polycationic. The pKa of chitosan is around 6.5. It is often stated that chitosan is only active at pH below this value because significant electrostatic interaction between the anionic cell surface and the polymer is required for activity. However, our results and some reported work in the literature do not fully support these statements. Investigations of antimicrobial activity are complicated because the chitosan has limited solubility above pH 6. The activity may seem low simply because the sample is not fully in solution. Recently we used chitosan (Mw 103 KD, DA = 17%) as reference material for investigations of antibacterial chitosan derivatives and observed that chitosan was equally active against S. aureus at pH 5.5 and 7.2 (MIC =  $256 \,\mu$ g/ml) [133]. Chitosan was also effective against *E. coli* at 7.2. However, the MIC value for *E. coli* was four times higher at pH 7.2 (2.048 µg/ml) than at pH 5.5 (512  $\mu$ g/ml). Some publications support that chitosan lacks significant activity at pH 7 [171, 172], whereas others have reported activity at and above pH 7 [170, 173, 174]. It has also been observed that chitosan microparticles are active

against *E. coli* at pH 7 [40]. Most well-known antimicrobial chitosan derivatives such as TMC and HTCC have a quaternized ammonium group with permanent cationic charge, and this is the most common feature of many reported antimicrobial chitosan derivatives. However, some studies have reported the antimicrobial activity of derivatives like CMC and sulfonates that will be zwitterionic or have net – anionic charge under some conditions. The importance of the polycationic charge is therefore not fully understood.

#### 5.3 Substituent Structure

When new derivatives are introduced and discussed in publications, it is often implied that the increase in positive charge and/or lipophilic moieties is causing the observed increase in activity. However, there are few systematic studies to investigate the structural requirements for an active chitosan derivative. Ideally, such derivatives should be studied at around 100% DS so that different structures can be compared more accurately. We have done some studies to compare the effect of the structure of different substituents in chitosan with 100% or very high DS, on antibacterial activity. Thus we have studied the activity of N-(2-quaternary ammonium) acetyl derivatives of chitosan for activity against bacteria [49]. The N-acetyl (2-N,N,N-trimethyl ammonium) and the N-acetyl (2-pyridinium) polymer derivatives, which had a small cationic substituent, were 4 to 128 times more active, based on MIC at pH 7.2, than the amphiphilic N-acetyl (dimethyl-dodecyl ammonium) derivative (Fig. 10a). Interestingly the reverse relationship was observed with analog derivatives of glucosamine monomer and short chitosan oligomer. In this case, the N-acetyl (2-dimethyl dodecyl ammonium) derivative was active against bacteria, and the N-acetyl (2-N,N,N-trimethyl ammonium, and 2-pyridinium) derivatives lacked activity.

Similarly, we investigated the antimicrobial activity of a series of fully substituted *N*,*N*-dimethyl, *N*-alkyl and *N*-methyl, *N*,*N*-dialkyl, with methyl, ethyl, butyl, and hexyl alkyl chains against Gram-positive *S. aureus* and *E. faecalis* and Gram-negative *E. coli* and *P. aeruginosa* at pH 7.2 [93]. It was found that derivatives with shorter alkyl chains were most active against *S. aureus*. The *N*,*N*-dimethyl *N*-ethyl derivative was the most active derivative against this bacteria, whereas the activity against the other bacterial increased with alkyl chain length and the chain and in this case the *N*,*N*-dimethyl-*N*-hexyl derivative was most active. Investigation of hemolytic activity indicated that the *N*,*N*,*N*-trimethyl and *N*,*N*-dimethyl-*N*-dimethyl chitosan derivatives were more than 25 times less hemolytic and thus less toxic to erythrocytes than longer chain derivatives. A similar relationship was also observed for cytotoxicity against the Caco-2 cell line. It was concluded that *N*,*N*, *N*-alkyl quaternary chitosan derivatives with monomethyl and monoethyl chains exhibited significantly higher selectivity in antibacterial activity relative to cytotoxicity than the longer alkyl chain derivatives.



Chitosan polymer derivatives. Activity against S. aureus at pH 7.2



Glucosamine and chitosan oligomer derivatives. Activity against S. aureus at pH 7.2



Chitosan polymer derivatives. Activity against S. aureus and E. coli at pH 7.2

Fig. 10 Schematic illustration of the substituent structure-activity relationship for derivatives reported in Rúnarsson et al. [49] and Sahariah et al. [167]

We have also studied the influence of the position of the cationic charge relative to the polymer backbone. Thus *N*,*N*,*N*-trimethyl chitosan (TMC), where the cationic charge was on the polymer backbone, was compared to *N*-acetyl(2-trimethyl ammonium and 2-pyridinium) and *N*-hexanoyl (trimethyl ammonium and 2-pyridinium) derivatives where the charges were separated from the backbone with a two- and six-carbon spacer, respectively [85]. In the case of *S. aureus* the TMC derivative was most active, followed by the derivatives with two-carbon spacers. The six-carbon spacer derivatives were least active. A similar but not as clear relationship was observed for *E. coli*. A later study also confirmed these results and showed that *N*-guanidyl chitosan was highly active against *S. aureus* and *E. coli*, *N*-acetyl guanidyl chitosan was less active, and *N*-hexanoyl guanidyl chitosan lacked activity [167]

(Fig. 10b). Thus it can be concluded that activity is highly dependent on the substituent structure in fully quaternized chitosan derivatives. In polymer derivatives, small cationic substituents close to the polymer backbone seem, in general, the most active and less cytotoxic to mammalian cells than more amphiphilic derivatives. The most active derivatives have the cationic charge located on the polymer backbone, like TMC. Derivatives, where the charge is moved away from the polymer backbone by linking it through a flexible spacer, are expected to be less active.

#### 5.4 Degree of Substitution (DS)

Most new antimicrobial chitosan derivatives are reported without studying the effect of the degree of substitution on activity. However, such studies are critical to confirm the potential benefit of the reported substituent. If a substituent is genuinely contributing to the activity, a positive relationship between activity and DS should be observed. We have studied the relationship between antibacterial activity and N,N, *N*-trimethylation of chitosan. A positive relationship between DS and activity against S. aureus, S. aureus MRSA, and P. aeruginosa at pH 7.2 was observed [84, 175] (Fig. 11a). The maximum activity (defined as 1/MIC) was reached with DS = 20-30% for the quaternary group, and further increase did not increase the activity. At pH 5.5, the influence of trimethylation was much less marked, and highly trimethylated derivatives were only slightly or not more active than chitosan against S. aureus and E. coli [84, 133]. A similar relationship was observed for Nquanidylated chitosan synthesized at 15%, 35%, 55%, and 100% degree of substitution [167] (Fig. 11b). There was about a 100-fold increase in activity when DS was increased from 15 to 55%. A further increase in the DS to 100% only doubled the activity (1 dilution difference).

Interestingly our recent study has shown a negative relationship between DS, for the hydroxypropyl group (in HPC), and antibacterial activity [133] (Fig. 11c). This was also the case for HTCC, where activity against *S. aureus* at pH 5.5 and *E. coli* at pH 5.5 and 7.2 was negatively correlated with DS. In contrast, DS in the range 37–110% did not affect activity against *S. aureus* at pH 7.2. These results contradict other studies which have reported HPC and HTCC as antimicrobial derivatives. However, the derivatization has a solubilizing effect, and this may cause these derivatives appear to be more active than chitosan in some conditions. Studies of the effect of DS on activity are important, and they have conclusively shown that the *N*,*N*,*N*-trimethylation, *N*-guanidylation, and N-acetyl 2-*N*,*N*,*N*-trimethylation contribute to antibacterial activity at pH 7.2.



**Fig. 11** Relationship between DS and antibacterial activity. Based on: (**a**) data for TMC for Rathinam et al. [175] (TMC<sub>TM/DM</sub> is partially *N*,*N*,*N*-trimethylated and the remaining amino groups are *N*,*N*-dimethylated. TMC<sub>TM/NH2</sub> is partially trimethylated, whereas there is no methylation on the remaining amino groups), (**b**) data for guanidyl chitosan from Sahariah et al. (2015), and (c) data for hydroxypropyl chitosan (HPC) from Rathinam et al. [133]

#### 5.5 Molecular Weight

Almost all reviews on chitosan state that molecular weight is an important factor influencing chitosan's antimicrobial activity. However, further details on the relationship between molecular weight and activity are often not given in these reviews. Sometimes it is stated that the effect can vary considerably depending on the microorganisms. However, there is no lack of studies focusing on this topic. As early as 1984, Kendra and Hadwiger studied the antifungal effect of chitosan oligomers (DP 1–7) and chitosan polymers against fungi [6]. Since then, there have been many more studies into the relationship between antimicrobial effect

and Mw of chitosan and chitosan derivatives. Most of these have been published in the last two decades. Rhoades and Roller studied the effect of chemically and enzymatically degraded chitosan against microbes causing food spoilage such as Candida sp., Rhodotorula sp., S. ludwigii, Z. bailii, and S. cerevisiae [176]. No et al. studied the effect of chitosan with Mw ranging from 28 to 1.671 KD against 11 species of Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria [177]. Zheng and Zhu studied the inhibition of S. aureus and E. coli growth with chitosan with Mw from <5 KD to 305 KD [178]. Omura et al. studied the antibacterial activity of chitosan oligomers and polymers with Mw ranging from 0.179 to 300-400 KD [179]. Qin et al. studied the effect of Mw on the growth of S. aureus, E. coli, and C. albicans with nine chitosan samples with Mw ranging from 1.4 to 400 KD [180]. Mellegard et al. studied the influence of DA and Mw ranging from 2.3 to 224 KD on activity against B. cereus, E. coli, and S. typhimurium [181]. Tikhonov and co-workers studied the effect of pH and Mw of chitosan against S. aureus (MRSA). Later they also studied the effect of Mw ranging from 0.73 to 600 KD against five species of fungi [182]. In 2014 Younes et al. reported a study of the degree of acetylation and Mw in the range 40KD to 110 KD on the activity against eight bacteria species and three species of fungi [169]. Tikhonov and co-workers also studied the effect of Mw on the antibacterial activity of reacetylated chitosan [170] and betainated oligochitosan [183]. This is not an exhaustive list of all important studies but indicates the number of high-quality research works on the relationship between molecular weight and chitosan. Notwithstanding this large number of studies, there is no clear consensus on the relationship between Mw and activity. Researchers have come to different conclusions from studies that involve the same organisms. However, a closer look at the published data may explain the differences. The conclusions can differ because the Mw may be limited and also differ between studies, and sometimes there is too much emphasis on small variations in the activity that may be only 1–2 dilutions (2–4 difference in MIC), which is not necessarily a significant difference in our experience. In a study published in 2019, we reported the relationship between the MW of TMC (93% DS) and activity against S. aureus. The study was done with 49 samples with Mw ranging from 2 to 144 KD. The advantage of using such a high number of samples is that results for just one sample should not significantly affect the observed relationship. We found a strong positive correlation between activity at Mw and activity at Mw below molecular weight which we defined as the critical molecular weight for activity (CMW). When the molecular weight was more than CMW the activity did not change, and the activity was not influenced by a further increase in Mw (Fig. 12a). The CMW for TMC was found to be around 20 KD. When data from other studies are examined a similar relationship can be observed. This is illustrated by the examples shown in Fig. 12b, c.



Fig. 12 Molecular weight activity relationship. (a) Based on data from Sahariah et al. [184], (b) based on data from Kulikov et al. [182], and (c) on data from Omura et al. [179]

#### 5.6 Multiple Substituents

Some studies report chitosan derivatives with two or more substituents introduced on the chitosan backbone. In theory, the number of possible combinations with different DS for each substituent can be huge. This number becomes virtually limitless if there are many possible substituents and if the starting material's DA and Mw are also considered as additional variants. This large number of possibilities presents a challenge when it comes to the study of the structure-activity relationship and optimization of the structure. We have proposed to use the Design of Experiment (DOE) approach to obtain this information with a library containing a minimal number of representative chitosan derivatives. In a 2015 study, we used TBDMS protected chitosan for one-pot synthesis of derivatives with three types of substituents, *N*,*N*,N-trimethyl, *N*-stearoyl, and *N*-acetyl, introduced at different degree of substitution. A DEO software was used to propose a matrix of 15 derivatives, which were then synthesized and analyzed with the software to isolate factors with a



**Fig. 13** (a) One-pot synthesis of chitosan of a series of chitosan derivatives with three different substituents, with different DS for each substituent, (b) coefficient plot for significant factors and interactions influencing the antibacterial activity, solubility, and hemolytic activity, (c) Response contour plots for antibacterial activity, hemolytic activity, and solubility. From Sahariah et al. [185]. (Published with permission from Royal Society for Chemistry)

statistically significant effect on solubility, antibacterial activity, and hemolytic effect. It was found that the optimized chitosan derivatives had around 65% degree of trimethylation, 5% degree of acetylation, and 30% degree of steroylation (Fig. 13).

#### 6 Summary

The number of studies into the antimicrobial properties of chitosan and chitosan derivatives and potential applications in different fields such as the food industry, agriculture, health care, water treatment is continuously increasing. The

antimicrobial mechanisms of action have also been studied for more than four decades. It is often suggested that there are many different mechanisms of action and that these can vary depending on the microorganism. An impartial examination of published studies favors the cell membrane as the primary target, although the precise action mechanism is not fully understood. A large number of chitosan derivatives have been synthesized and investigated for antimicrobial properties. The more common chitosan derivatives, including CMC, TMC, HTCC, HPC, and glycol chitosan, have all been examined for antimicrobial application, but most such studies have involved using the cationic chitosan derivatives TMC and HTCC. Other reported derivatives have very diverse structures and can be either cationic, lipophilic, anionic, or zwitterionic. The drawback of many such studies is that they only report a single of few derivatives, which are often synthesized with just one DS. Investigations with a series of derivatives with different DS and prepared from starting materials with different DA and Mw are rare. In future research, there should be more emphasis on detailed studies of the structure-activity relationship. It is vital to show either a positive or a negative relationship between the DS and activity to understand the value of a new derivative fully. The Mw activity relationship has been studied for many decades, but there is still no clear consensus on the Mw activity relationship. Our recent study and reanalysis of published data suggest that most studies are showing a relationship where there is a positive relationship between Mw and activity until a specific molecular weight (CMW) is reached, and after that, there is no further increase in activity with increased Mw.

#### References

- Hatta S, KUwambara S, Miyamoto H, Aoyama K, Utosnomyia N, Tanji S (1950) Macarmin, a new high molecluar antibacterial substance derived from chitin. Jpn Med J 3:119–123
- Ralston GB, Tracey MV, Wrench PM (1964) The inhibition of fermentation in baker's yeast by chitosan. Biochim Biophys Acta Gen Subj 93:652–655
- Allan CR, Hadwiger LA (1979) Fungicidal effect of chitosan on fungi of varying cell-wall composition. Exp Mycol 3:285–287
- Hadwiger LA, Beckman JM (1980) Chitosan as a component of pea-fusarium-solani interactions. Plant Physiol 66:205–211
- Hadwiger LA, Loschke DC (1981) Molecular communication in host-parasite interactions hexosamine polymers (chitosan) as regulator compounds in race-specific and other interactions. Phytopathology 71:756–762
- Kendra DF, Hadwiger LA (1984) Characterization of the smallest chitosan oligomer that is maximally antifungal to fusarium-solani and elicits pisatin formation in pisum-sativum. Exp Mycol 8:276–281
- Steinfeld L, Vafaei A, Rosner J, Merzendorfer H (2019) Chitin prevalence and function in bacteria, fungi and protists. In: Yang Q, Fukamizo T (eds) Targeting chitin-containing organisms, 2019, Springer, pp 19–59
- Muzzarelli R, Tarsi R, Filippini O, Giovanetti E, Biagini G, Varaldo PE (1990) Antimicrobial properties of n-carboxybutyl chitosan. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 34:2019–2023
- 9. Sudarshan NR, Hoover DG, Knorr D (1992) Antibacterial action of chitosan. Food Biotechnol 6:257–272

- Shahidi F, Arachchi JKV, Jeon YJ (1999) Food applications of chitin and chitosans. Trends Food Sci Technol 10:37–51
- Doares SH, Syrovets T, Weiler EW, Ryan CA (1995) Oligogalacturonides and chitosan activate plant defensive genes through the octadecanoid pathway. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92:4095–4098
- Jayakumar R, Prabaharan M, Nair SV, Tamura H (2010) Novel chitin and chitosan nanofibers in biomedical applications. Biotechnol Adv 28:142–150
- Yang Y, Chu LY, Yang SB, Zhang HB, Qin L, Guillaume O, Eglin D, Richards RG, Tang TT (2018) Dual-functional 3D-printed composite scaffold for inhibiting bacterial infection and promoting bone regeneration in infected bone defect models. Acta Biomater 79:265–275
- Bumgardner JD, Wiser R, Gerard PD, Bergin P, Chestnutt B, Marini M, Ramsey V, Elder SH, Gilbert JA (2003) Chitosan: potential use as a bioactive coating for orthopaedic and craniofacial/dental implants. J Biomat Sci Polym Ed 14:423–438
- Abruzzo A, Bigucci F, Cerchiara T, Cruciani F, Vitali B, Luppi B (2012) Mucoadhesive chitosan/gelatin films for buccal delivery of propranolol hydrochloride. Carbohydr Polym 87:581–588
- Másson M (2021) Chitin and chitosan. In: Phillips GO, Williams PA (eds) Handbook of hydrocolloids. Woodhead publishing series in food science, technology and nutrition, 3rd edn. Elsevier, pp 1039–1072
- Sahariah P, Masson M (2017) Antimicrobial chitosan and chitosan derivatives: a review of the structure-activity relationship. Biomacromolecules 18:3846–3868
- Badawy MEI, Rabea EI, Rogge TM, Stevens CV, Smagghe G, Steurbaut W, Hofte M (2004) Synthesis and fungicidal activity of new N,O-acyl chitosan derivatives. Biomacromolecules 5:589–595
- Peng YF, Han BQ, Liu WS, Xu XJ (2005) Preparation and antimicrobial activity of hydroxypropyl chitosan. Carbohydr Res 340:1846–1851
- Anitha A, Rani VVD, Krishna R, Sreeja V, Selvamurugan N, Nair SV, Tamura H, Jayakumar R (2009) Synthesis, characterization, cytotoxicity and antibacterial studies of chitosan, O-carboxymethyl and N,O-carboxymethyl chitosan nanoparticles. Carbohydr Polym 78:672–677
- Lee DS, Woo JY, Ahn CB, Je JY (2014) Chitosan-hydroxycinnamic acid conjugates: preparation, antioxidant and antimicrobial activity. Food Chem 148:97–104
- 22. Chirkov SN (2002) The antiviral activity of chitosan (review). Appl Biochem Microbiol 38:1–8
- Su XW, Zivanovic S, D'Souza DH (2009) Effect of chitosan on the infectivity of murine norovirus, feline calicivirus, and bacteriophage MS2. J Food Prot 72:2623–2628
- 24. Milewska A, Ciejka J, Kaminski K, Karewicz A, Bielska D, Zeglen S, Karolak W, Nowakowska M, Potempa J, Bosch BJ, Pyrc K, Szczubialka K (2013) Novel polymeric inhibitors of HCoV-NL63. Antiviral Res 97:112–121
- Verlee A, Mincke S, Stevens CV (2017) Recent developments in antibacterial and antifungal chitosan and its derivatives. Carbohydr Polym 164:268–283
- 26. Young DH, Kauss H (1983) Release of calcium from suspension-cultured glycine-max cells by chitosan, other polycations, and polyamines in relation to effects on membranepermeability. Plant Physiol 73:698–702
- Young DH, Kohle H, Kauss H (1982) Effect of chitosan on membrane-permeability of suspension-cultured glycine-max and phaseolus-vulgaris cells. Plant Physiol 70:1449–1454
- Helander IM, Nurmiaho-Lassila EL, Ahvenainen R, Rhoades J, Roller S (2001) Chitosan disrupts the barrier properties of the outer membrane of gram-negative bacteria. Int J Food Microbiol 71:235–244
- Jeon YJ, Park PJ, Kim SK (2001) Antimicrobial effect of chitooligosaccharides produced by bioreactor. Carbohydr Polym 44:71–76

- Muzzarelli RAA, Muzzarelli C, Tarsi R, Miliani M, Gabbanelli F, Cartolari M (2001) Fungistatic activity of modified chitosans against *Saprolegnia parasitica*. Biomacromolecules 2:165–169
- Liu XF, Guan YL, Yang DZ, Li Z, De Yao K (2001) Antibacterial action of chitosan and carboxymethylated chitosan. J Appl Polym Sci 79:1324–1335
- 32. Li XF, Feng XQ, Yang S, Fu GQ, Wang TP, Su ZX (2010) Chitosan kills *Escherichia coli* through damage to be of cell membrane mechanism. Carbohydr Polym 79:493–499
- 33. Liu H, Du YM, Wang XH, Sun LP (2004) Chitosan kills bacteria through cell membrane damage. Int J Food Microbiol 95:147–155
- 34. Je JY, Kim SK (2006) Chitosan derivatives killed bacteria by disrupting the outer and inner membrane. J Agric Food Chem 54:6629–6633
- 35. Xu JG, Zhao XM, Wang XL, Zhao ZB, Du YG (2007) Oligochitosan inhibits Phytophthora capsici by penetrating the cell membrane and putative binding to intracellular targets. Pestic Biochem Physiol 88:167–175
- Park Y, Kim MH, Park SC, Cheong H, Jang MK, Nah JW, Hahm KS (2008) Investigation of the antifungal activity and mechanism of action of LMWS-chitosan. J Microbiol Biotechnol 18:1729–1734
- 37. Raafat D, von Bargen K, Haas A, Sahl HG (2008) Insights into the mode of action of chitosan as an antibacterial compound. Appl Environ Microbiol 74:3764–3773
- Raafat D, Sahl HG (2009) Chitosan and its antimicrobial potential a critical literature survey. J Microbial Biotechnol 2:186–201
- 39. Kong M, Chen XG, Liu CS, Liu CG, Meng XH, Yu LJ (2008) Antibacterial mechanism of chitosan microspheres in a solid dispersing system against *E coli*. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces 65:197–202
- 40. Jeon SJ, Oh M, Yeo WS, Galvao KN, Jeong KC (2014) Underlying mechanism of antimicrobial activity of chitosan microparticles and implications for the treatment of infectious diseases. PLoS One 9
- Li PL, Wang FS (2015) Polysaccharides: candidates of promising vaccine adjuvants. Drug Discov Ther 9:88–93
- 42. Li XS, Min M, Du N, Gu Y, Hode T, Naylor M, Chen DJ, Nordquist RE, Chen WR (2013) Chitin, chitosan, and glycated chitosan regulate immune responses: the novel adjuvants for cancer vaccine. Clin Dev Immunol 2013:387023
- Hadwiger LA (2013) Multiple effects of chitosan on plant systems: solid science or hype. Plant Sci 208:42–49
- 44. Zasloff M (2002) Antimicrobial peptides of multicellular organisms. Nature 415:389-395
- Antony R, Arun T, Manickam STD (2019) A review on applications of chitosan-based Schiff bases. Int J Biol Macromol 129:615–633
- 46. Benediktsdóttir BE, Gaware VS, Rúnarsson ÖV, Jónsdóttir S, Jensen KJ, Másson M (2011) Synthesis of N,N,N-trimethyl chitosan homopolymer and highly substituted N-alkyl-N,N dimethyl chitosan derivatives with the aid of di-tert-butyldimethylsilyl chitosan. Carbohydr Polym 86:1451–1460
- Hirano S, Osaka T (1983) Some o-stearoyl derivatives of chitosan prepared via its schiffs base intermediates. Agric Biol Chem 47:1389–1391
- 48. Verheul RJ, Amidi M, van der Wal S, van Riet E, Jiskoot W, Hennink WE (2008) Synthesis, characterization and in vitro biological properties of O-methyl free N,N,N-trimethylated chitosan. Biomaterials 29:3642–3649
- Rúnarsson ÖV, Holappa J, Malainer C, Steinsson H, Hjálmarsdóttir M, Nevalainen T, Másson M (2010) Antibacterial activity of N-quaternary chitosan derivatives: synthesis, characterization, and structure activity relationship investigations (SAR). Eur Polym J 46:1251–1267
- Shagdarova BT, Il'ina AV, Varlamov VP (2016) Antibacterial activity of alkylated and acylated derivatives of low-molecular weight chitosan. Appl Biochem Microbiol 52:222–225
- 51. Hirano S, Ohe Y, Ono H (1976) Selective n-acylation of chitosan. Carbohydr Res 47:315-320

- 52. Guo P, Anderson JD, Bozell JJ, Zivanovic S (2016) The effect of solvent composition on grafting gallic acid onto chitosan via carbodiimide. Carbohydr Polym 140:171–180
- Khan I, Ullah S, Oh DH (2016) Chitosan grafted monomethyl fumaric acid as a potential food preservative. Carbohydr Polym 152:87–96
- Huang HB, Li ZH, Chen Y, Liu WY, Zeng GS, Qin CR (2019) Synthesis, characterization and antibacterial activity of O-Ester functionalized chitosan. J Biobaased Mater Bioenergy 13:338–345
- 55. Pranantyo D, Xu LQ, Kang ET, Chan-Park MB (2018) Chitosan-based peptidopolysaccharides as cationic antimicrobial agents and antibacterial coatings. Biomacromolecules 19:2156–2165
- 56. Curti E, de Britto D, Campana SP (2003) Methylation of chitosan with iodomethane: effect of reaction conditions on chemoselectivity and degree of substitution. Macromol Biosci 3:571–576
- 57. Gabriel L, Heinze T (2020) Structure design of polysaccharides chemoselective sulfoethylation of chitosan. Eur Polym J 140
- Muzzarelli RAA, Tanfani F (1982) N-(ortho-carboxybenzyl) chitosan, n-carboxymethyl chitosan and dithiocarbamate chitosan – new chelating derivatives of chitosan. Pure Appl Chem 54:2141–2150
- 59. Muzzarelli RAA, Tanfani F, Emanuelli M, Mariotti S (1982) N-(carboxymethylidene)chitosans and n-(carboxymethyl)-chitosans – novel chelating polyampholytes obtained from chitosan glyoxylate. Carbohydr Res 107:199–214
- Chen XG, Park HJ (2003) Chemical characteristics of O-carboxymethyl chitosans related to the preparation conditions. Carbohydr Polym 53:355–359
- Muzzarelli RAA, Ilari P, Petrarulo M (1994) Solubility and structure of n-carboxymethylchitosan. Int J Biol Macromol 16:177–180
- 62. Anitha A, Maya S, Deepa N, Chennazhi KP, Nair SV, Tamura H, Jayakumar R (2011) Efficient water soluble *O*-carboxymethyl chitosan nanocarrier for the delivery of curcumin to cancer cells. Carbohydr Polym 83:452–461
- 63. Dai YN, Li P, Zhang JP, Wang AQ, Wei Q (2008) A novel pH sensitive N-succinyl chitosan/ alginate hydrogel bead for nifedipine delivery. Biopharm Drug Dispos 29:173–184
- 64. Laudenslager MJ, Schiffman JD, Schauer CL (2008) Carboxymethyl chitosan as a matrix material for platinum, gold, and silver nanoparticles. Biomacromolecules 9:2682–2685
- 65. Sun LP, Du YM, Fan LH, Chen X, Yang JH (2006) Preparation, characterization and antimicrobial activity of quaternized carboxymethyl chitosan and application as pulp-cap. Polymer 47:1796–1804
- 66. Patale RL, Patravale VB (2011) O,N-carboxymethyl chitosan-zinc complex: a novel chitosan complex with enhanced antimicrobial activity. Carbohydr Polym 85:105–110
- 67. Xu QB, Xie LJ, Diao HLN, Li F, Zhang YY, Fu FY, Liu XD (2017) Antibacterial cotton fabric with enhanced durability prepared using silver nanoparticles and carboxymethyl chitosan. Carbohydr Polym 177:187–193
- 68. Maya S, Indulekha S, Sukhithasri V, Smitha KT, Nair SV, Jayakumar R, Biswas R (2012) Efficacy of tetracycline encapsulated O-carboxymethyl chitosan nanoparticles against intracellular infections of *Staphylococcus aureus*. Int J Biol Macromol 51:392–399
- Tan YL, Han F, Ma S, Yu WG (2011) Carboxymethyl chitosan prevents formation of broadspectrum biofilm. Carbohydr Polym 84:1365–1370
- Sabaa MW, Mohamed NA, Mohamed RR, Khalil NM, El Latif SMA (2010) Synthesis, characterization and antimicrobial activity of poly (N-vinyl imidazole) grafted carboxymethyl chitosan. Carbohydr Polym 79:998–1005
- Mohamed NA, Sabaa MW, El-Ghandour AH, Abdel-Aziz MM, Abdel-Gawad OF (2013) Quaternized N-substituted carboxymethyl chitosan derivatives as antimicrobial agents. Int J Biol Macromol 60:156–164
- Wu MY, Long Z, Xiao HN, Dong CH (2016) Recent research progress on preparation and application of N, N, N-trimethyl chitosan. Carbohydr Res 434:27–32

- Sieval AB, Thanou M, Kotze AF, Verhoef JE, Brussee J, Junginger HE (1998) Preparation and NMR characterization of highly substituted N-trimethyl chitosan chloride. Carbohydr Polym 36:157–165
- Rúnarsson ÖV, Holappa J, Jónsdóttir S, Steinsson H, Másson M (2008) N-selective 'one pot' synthesis of highly N-substituted trimethyl chitosan (TMC). Carbohydr Polym 74:740–744
- 75. Benediktsdottir BE, Baldursson O, Masson M (2014) Challenges in evaluation of chitosan and trimethylated chitosan (TMC) as mucosal permeation enhancers: from synthesis to in vitro application. J Control Release 173:18–31
- 76. van der Merwe SM, Verhoef JC, Verheijden JHM, Kotze AF, Junginger HE (2004) Trimethylated chitosan as polymeric absorption enhancer for improved peroral delivery of peptide drugs. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 58:225–235
- Pardeshi CV, Belgamwar VS (2016) Controlled synthesis of N,N,N-trimethyl chitosan for modulated bioadhesion and nasal membrane permeability. Int J Biol Macromol 82:933–944
- du Plessis LH, Kotze AF, Junginger HE (2010) Nasal and rectal delivery of insulin with chitosan and N-trimethyl chitosan chloride. Drug Deliv 17:399–407
- 79. Benediktsdottir BE, Gudjonsson T, Baldursson O, Masson M (2014) N-alkylation of highly quaternized chitosan derivatives affects the paracellular permeation enhancement in bronchial epithelia in vitro. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 86:55–63
- Mao ZW, Ma L, Jiang Y, Yan M, Gao CY, Shen JC (2007) N,N,N-trimethylchitosan chloride as a gene vector: synthesis and application. Macromol Biosci 7:855–863
- 81. Liu M, Zhang J, Zhu X, Shan W, Li L, Zhong JJ, Zhang ZR, Huang Y (2016) Efficient mucus permeation and tight junction opening by dissociable "mucus-inert" agent coated trimethyl chitosan nanoparticles for oral insulin delivery. J Control Release 222:67–77
- Jin Y, Song YP, Zhu X, Zhou D, Chen CH, Zhang ZR, Huang Y (2012) Goblet cell-targeting nanoparticles for oral insulin delivery and the influence of mucus on insulin transport. Biomaterials 33:1573–1582
- 83. Gao YK, Wang ZY, Zhang JH, Zhang YX, Huo H, Wang TY, Jiang TY, Wang SL (2014) RVG-peptide-linked trimethylated chitosan for delivery of siRNA to the brain. Biomacromolecules 15:1010–1018
- 84. Rúnarsson ÖV, Holappa J, Nevalainen T, Hjálmarsdóttir M, Järvinen T, Loftsson T, Einarsson JM, Jónsdóttir S, Valdimarsdótti M, Másson M (2007) Antibacterial activity of methylated chitosan and chitooligomer derivatives: synthesis and structure activity relationships. Eur Polym J 43:2660–2671
- 85. Sahariah P, Gaware VS, Lieder R, Jónsdóttir S, Hjálmarsdóttir MÁ, Sigurjonsson OE, Másson M (2014) The effect of substituent, degree of acetylation and positioning of the cationic charge on the antibacterial activity of quaternary chitosan derivatives. Mar Drugs 12:4635–4658
- 86. Zhou ZZ, Yan D, Cheng XJ, Kong M, Liu Y, Feng C, Chen XG (2016) Biomaterials based on N,N,N-trimethyl chitosan fibers in wound dressing applications. Int J Biol Macromol 89:471–476
- Stawski D, Sahariah P, Hjalmarsdottir M, Wojciechowska D, Puchalski M, Masson M (2017) N,N,N-trimethyl chitosan as an efficient antibacterial agent for polypropylene and polylactide nonwovens. J Text Inst 108:1041–1049
- Tabriz A, Alvi M, Niazi MBK, Batool M, Bhatti MF, Khan AL, Khan AU, Jamil T, Ahmad NM (2019) Quaternized trimethyl functionalized chitosan based antifungal membranes for drinking water treatment. Carbohydr Polym 207:17–25
- 89. Hanna DH, Saad GR (2019) Encapsulation of ciprofloxacin within modified xanthan gum-chitosan based hydrogel for drug delivery. Bioorg Chem 84:115–124
- Xu JJ, Xu BH, Shou D, Xia XJ, Hu Y (2015) Preparation and evaluation of vancomycinloaded N-trimethyl chitosan nanoparticles. Polymers 7:1850–1870
- Sadeghi AMM, Amini A, Avadi MR, Siedi F, Rafiee-Tehrani M, Junginger HE (2008) Synthesis, characterization, and antibacterial effects of trimethylated and triethylated 6-NH2-6-deoxy chitosan. J Bioact Compat Polym 23:262–275

- 92. Kim CH, Choi JW, Chun HJ, Choi KS (1997) Synthesis of chitosan derivatives with quaternary ammonium salt and their antibacterial activity. Polym Bull 38:387–393
- 93. Sahariah P, Benediktssdottir BE, Hjalmarsdottir MA, Sigurjonsson OE, Sorensen KK, Thygesen MB, Jensen KJ, Masson M (2015) Impact of chain length on antibacterial activity and hemocompatibility of quaternary N-alkyl and N,N-dialkyl chitosan derivatives. Biomacromolecules 16:1449–1460
- 94. Xu T, Xin MH, Li MC, Huang HL, Zhou SQ, Liu JZ (2011) Synthesis, characterization, and antibacterial activity of N,O-quaternary ammonium chitosan. Carbohydr Res 346:2445–2450
- 95. Baudner BC, Verhoef JC, Giuliani MM, Peppoloni S, Rappuoli R, Del Giudice G, Junginger HE (2005) Protective immune responses to meningococcal C conjugate vaccine after intranasal immunization of mice with the LTK63 mutant plus chitosan or trimethyl chitosan chloride as novel delivery platform. J Drug Target 13:489–498
- 96. Nevagi RJ, Dai W, Khalil ZG, Hussein WM, Capon RJ, Skwarczynski M, Toth I (2019) Selfassembly of trimethyl chitosan and poly(anionic amino acid)-peptide antigen conjugate to produce a potent self-adjuvanting nanovaccine delivery system. Bioorg Med Chem 27:3082–3088
- 97. Wu J, Wei W, Wang LY, Su ZG, Ma GH (2007) A thermosensitive hydrogel based on quaternized chitosan and poly(ethylene glycol) for nasal drug delivery system. Biomaterials 28:2220–2232
- 98. Xiao B, Wan Y, Wang XY, Zha QC, Liu HM, Qiu ZY, Zhang SM (2012) Synthesis and characterization of N-(2-hydroxy)propyl-3-trimethyl ammonium chitosan chloride for potential application in gene delivery. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces 91:168–174
- 99. Hoque J, Adhikary U, Yadav V, Samaddar S, Konai MM, Prakash RG, Pararnanandham K, Shome BR, Sanyal K, Haldar J (2016) Chitosan derivatives active against multidrug-resistant bacteria and pathogenic Fungi: in vivo evaluation as topical antimicrobials. Mol Pharm 13:3578–3589
- 100. Lim SH, Hudson SM (2004) Synthesis and antimicrobial activity of a water-soluble chitosan derivative with a fiber-reactive group. Carbohydr Res 339:313–319
- 101. Lim SH, Hudson SM (2004) Application of a fiber-reactive chitosan derivative to cotton fabric as an antimicrobial textile finish. Carbohydr Polym 56:227–234
- 102. Deng HB, Lin PH, Xin SJ, Huang R, Li W, Du YM, Zhou X, Yang JH (2012) Quaternized chitosan-layered silicate intercalated composites based nanofibrous mats and their antibacterial activity. Carbohydr Polym 89:307–313
- 103. Hu DY, Wang HX, Wang LJ (2016) Physical properties and antibacterial activity of quaternized chitosan/carboxymethyl cellulose blend films. Lwt Food Sci Technol 65:398–405
- 104. Huang JF, Zhong J, Chen GP, Lin ZT, Deng YQ, Liu YL, Cao PY, Wang BW, Wei YT, Wu TF, Yuan J, Jiang GB (2016) A hydrogel-based hybrid theranostic contact lens for fungal keratitis. ACS Nano 10:6464–6473
- 105. Ji QX, Zhao QS, Deng J, Lu R (2010) A novel injectable chlorhexidine thermosensitive hydrogel for periodontal application: preparation, antibacterial activity and toxicity evaluation. J Mater Sci Mater Med 21:2435–2442
- 106. Cao LD, Zhang HR, Cao C, Zhang JK, Li FM, Huang QL (2016) Quaternized chitosan-capped mesoporous silica nanoparticles as nanocarriers for controlled pesticide release. Nanomaterials (Basel) 6(7):126
- 107. Aliabadi M, Dastjerdi R, Kabiri K (2013) HTCC-modified nanoclay for tissue engineering applications: a synergistic cell growth and antibacterial efficiency. Biomed Res Int 2013
- 108. Milewska A, Kaminski K, Ciejka J, Kosowicz K, Zeglen S, Wojarski J, Nowakowska M, Szczubialka K, Pyrc K (2016) HTCC: broad range inhibitor of coronavirus entry. PLoS One 11
- 109. Monti D, Saccomani L, Chetoni P, Burgalassi S, Saettone MF, Mailland F (2005) In vitro transungual permeation of ciclopirox from a hydroxypropyl chitosan-based, water-soluble nail lacquer. Drug Dev Ind Pharm 31:11–17

- 110. Monti D, Saccomani L, Chetoni P, Burgalassi S, Senesi S, Ghelardi E, Mailland F (2010) Hydrosoluble medicated nail lacquers: in vitro drug permeation and corresponding antimycotic activity. Br J Dermatol 162:311–317
- 111. Baran R, Tosti A, Hartmane I, Altmeyer P, Hercogova J, Koudelkova V, Ruzicka T, Combemale P, Mikazans I (2009) An innovative water-soluble biopolymer improves efficacy of ciclopirox nail lacquer in the management of onychomycosis. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 23:773–781
- 112. Lu GZ, Ling K, Zhao P, Xu ZH, Deng C, Zheng H, Huang J, Chen JH (2010) A novel in situformed hydrogel wound dressing by the photocross-linking of a chitosan derivative. Wound Repair Regen 18:70–79
- 113. Prabaharan M, Mano JF (2005) Hydroxypropyl chitosan bearing beta-cyclodextrin cavities: synthesis and slow release of its inclusion complex with a model hydrophobic drug. Macromol Biosci 5:965–973
- 114. Xie WM, Xu PX, Wang W, Liu Q (2002) Preparation and antibacterial activity of a watersoluble chitosan derivative. Carbohydr Polym 50:35–40
- 115. Zhu C, Zou SQ, Rao ZQ, Min L, Liu M, Liu LL, Fan LH (2017) Preparation and characterization of hydroxypropyl chitosan modified with nisin. Int J Biol Macromol 105:1017–1024
- 116. Kim SE, Kim HJ, Rhee JK, Park K (2017) Versatile chemical derivatizations to design glycol chitosan-based drug carriers. Molecules 22
- 117. Kwon S, Park JH, Chung H, Kwon IC, Jeong SY, Kim IS (2003) Physicochemical characteristics of self-assembled nanoparticles based on glycol chitosan bearing 5 beta-cholanic acid. Langmuir 19:10188–10193
- 118. Kim JH, Kim YS, Park K, Lee S, Nam HY, Min KH, Jo HG, Park JH, Choi K, Jeong SY, Park RW, Kim IS, Kim K, Kwon IC (2008) Antitumor efficacy of cisplatin-loaded glycol chitosan nanoparticles in tumor-bearing mice. J Control Release 127:41–49
- 119. Park JH, Kwon S, Lee M, Chung H, Kim JH, Kim YS, Park RW, Kim IS, Seo SB, Kwon IC, Jeong SY (2006) Self-assembled nanoparticles based on glycol chitosan bearing hydrophobic moieties as carriers for doxorubicin: in vivo biodistribution and anti-tumor activity. Biomaterials 27:119–126
- 120. Uchegbu IF, Sadiq L, Arastoo M, Gray AI, Wang W, Waigh RD, Schatzleina AG (2001) Quaternary ammonium palmitoyl glycol chitosan – a new polysoap for drug delivery. Int J Pharm 224:185–199
- 121. Yan L, Crayton SH, Thawani JP, Amirshaghaghi A, Tsourkas A, Cheng Z (2015) A pH-responsive drug-delivery platform based on glycol chitosan-coated liposomes. Small 11:4870–4874
- 122. Ding CX, Zhao LL, Liu FY, Cheng J, Gu JX, Shan D, Liu CY, Qu XZ, Yang ZZ (2010) Dually responsive injectable hydrogel prepared by in situ cross-linking of glycol chitosan and benzaldehyde-capped PEO-PPO-PEO. Biomacromolecules 11:1043–1051
- 123. Tripodo G, Trapani A, Rosato A, Di Franco C, Tamma R, Trapani G, Ribatti D, Mandracchia D (2018) Hydrogels for biomedical applications from glycol chitosan and PEG diglycidyl ether exhibit pro-angiogenic and antibacterial activity. Carbohydr Polym 198:124–130
- 124. Inbaraj BS, Tsai TY, Chen BH (2012) Synthesis, characterization and antibacterial activity of superparamagnetic nanoparticles modified with glycol chitosan. Sci Technol Adv Mater 13
- Muzzarelli R, Weckx M, Filippini O, Lough C (1989) Characteristic properties of normalcarboxybutyl chitosan. Carbohydr Polym 11:307–320
- 126. Muzzarelli RAA, Toschi E, Ferioli G, Giardino R, Fini M, Rocca M, Biagini G (1990) N-carboxybutyl chitosan and fibrin glue in cutaneous repair processes. J Bioact Compat Polym 5:396–411
- 127. Rinaudo M, Desbrieres J, Le Dung P, Binh PT, Dong NT (2001) NMR investigation of chitosan derivatives formed by the reaction of chitosan with levulinic acid. Carbohydr Polym 46:339–348

- 128. Rabea EI, El Badawy M, Rogge TM, Stevens CV, Steurbaut W, Hofte M, Smagghe G (2006) Enhancement of fungicidal and insecticidal activity by reductive alkylation of chitosan. Pest Manag Sci 62:890–897
- 129. Eweis M, Elkholy SS, Elsabee MZ (2006) Antifungal efficacy of chitosan and its thiourea derivatives upon the growth of some sugar-beet pathogens. Int J Biol Macromol 38:1–8
- 130. Zhong ZM, Xing RE, Liu S, Wang L, Cai SB, Li PC (2008) Synthesis of acyl thiourea derivatives of chitosan and their antimicrobial activities in vitro. Carbohydr Res 343:566–570
- 131. Geisberger G, Gyenge EB, Hinger D, Kach A, Maake C, Patzke GR (2013) Chitosanthioglycolic acid as a versatile antimicrobial agent. Biomacromolecules 14:1010–1017
- 132. Han B, Wei Y, Jia XL, Xu J, Li G (2012) Correlation of the structure, properties, and antimicrobial activity of a soluble thiolated chitosan derivative. J Appl Polym Sci 125: E143–E148
- 133. Rathinam S, Solodova S, Kristjánsdóttir I, Hjálmarsdóttir MÁ, Másson M (2020) The antibacterial structure-activity relationship for common chitosan derivatives. Int J Biol Macromol 165:1686–1693
- 134. Huang RH, Du YM, Zheng LS, Liu H, Fan LH (2004) A new approach to chemically modified chitosan sulfates and study of their influences on the inhibition of *Escherichia coli* and *Staphylococcus aureus* growth. React Funct Polym 59:41–51
- 135. Sun ZM, Shi CG, Wang XY, Fang Q, Huang JY (2017) Synthesis, characterization, and antimicrobial activities of sulfonated chitosan. Carbohydr Polym 155:321–328
- 136. Nagy V, Másson M (2010) Chitosan–antioxidant conjugates. In: Kim SK (ed) Encyclopedia of marine biotechnology. section IV: biomaterials. Wiley, pp 1031–1050
- 137. Sousa F, Guebitz GM, Kokol V (2009) Antimicrobial and antioxidant properties of chitosan enzymatically functionalized with flavonoids. Process Biochem 44:749–756
- 138. Jagadish RS, Divyashree KN, Viswanath P, Srinivas P, Raj B (2012) Preparation of N-vanillyl chitosan and 4-hydroxybenzyl chitosan and their physico-mechanical, optical, barrier, and antimicrobial properties. Carbohydr Polym 87:110–116
- Bozic M, Gorgieva S, Kokol V (2012) Laccase-mediated functionalization of chitosan by caffeic and gallic acids for modulating antioxidant and antimicrobial properties. Carbohydr Polym 87:2388–2398
- 140. Su YJ, Tian L, Yu M, Gao Q, Wang DH, Xi YW, Yang P, Lei B, Ma PX, Li P (2017) Cationic peptidopolysaccharides synthesized by 'click' chemistry with enhanced broad-spectrum antimicrobial activities. Polym Chem 8:3788–3800
- 141. Sahariah P, Sorensen KK, Hjalmarsdottir MA, Sigurjonsson OE, Jensen KJ, Masson M, Thygesen MB (2015) Antimicrobial peptide shows enhanced activity and reduced toxicity upon grafting to chitosan polymers. Chem Commun 51:11611–11614
- 142. Chen MC, Mi FL, Liao ZX, Hsiao CW, Sonaje K, Chung MF, Hsu LW, Sung HW (2013) Recent advances in chitosan-based nanoparticles for oral delivery of macromolecules. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 65:865–879
- 143. Naskar S, Sharma S, Kuotsu K (2019) Chitosan-based nanoparticles: an overview of biomedical applications and its preparation. J Drug Deliv Sci Tech 49:66–81
- 144. Agnihotri SA, Mallikarjuna NN, Aminabhavi TM (2004) Recent advances on chitosan-based micro- and nanoparticles in drug delivery. J Control Release 100:5–28
- 145. Xu YM, Du YM, Huang RH, Gao LP (2003) Preparation and modification of N-(2-hydroxyl) propyl-3-trimethyl ammonium chitosan chloride nanoparticle as a protein carrier. Biomaterials 24:5015–5022
- 146. Amidi M, Romeijn SG, Borchard G, Junginger HE, Hennink WE, Jiskoot W (2006) Preparation and characterization of protein-loaded N-trimethyl chitosan nanoparticles as nasal delivery system. J Control Release 111:107–116
- 147. Chen F, Shi ZL, Neoh KG, Kang ET (2009) Antioxidant and antibacterial activities of eugenol and Carvacrol-grafted chitosan nanoparticles. Biotechnol Bioeng 104:30–39
- 148. Piras AM, Maisetta G, Sandreschi S, Gazzarri M, Bartoli C, Grassi L, Esin S, Chiellini F, Batoni G (2015) Chitosan nanoparticles loaded with the antimicrobial peptide temporin B

exert a long-term antibacterial activity in vitro against clinical isolates of *Staphylococcus* epidermidis. Front Microbiol 6

- 149. Friedman AJ, Phan J, Schairer DO, Champer J, Qin M, Pirouz A, Blecher-Paz K, Oren A, Liu PT, Modlin RL, Kim J (2013) Antimicrobial and anti-inflammatory activity of chitosan alginate nanoparticles: a targeted therapy for cutaneous pathogens. J Investig Dermatol 133:1231–1239
- 150. Sathiyabama M, Parthasarathy R (2016) Biological preparation of chitosan nanoparticles and its in vitro antifungal efficacy against some phytopathogenic fungi. Carbohydr Polym 151:321–325
- 151. Madhumathi K, Shalumon KT, Rani VVD, Tamura H, Furuike T, Selvamurugan N, Nair SV, Jayakumar R (2009) Wet chemical synthesis of chitosan hydrogel-hydroxyapatite composite membranes for tissue engineering applications. Int J Biol Macromol 45:12–15
- 152. He GH, Ke WW, Chen X, Kong YH, Zheng H, Yin YH, Cai WQ (2017) Preparation and properties of quaternary ammonium chitosan-g-poly(acrylic acid-co-acrylamide) superabsorbent hydrogels. React Funct Polym 111:14–21
- 153. Peng ZX, Ao HY, Wang L, Guo SR, Tang TT (2015) Quaternised chitosan coating on titanium provides a self-protective surface that prevents bacterial colonisation and implant-associated infections. RSC Adv 5:54304–54311
- 154. Kurita K (2006) Chitin and chitosan: functional biopolymers from marine crustaceans. Marine Biotechnol 8:203–226
- 155. Kurita K, Shimada K, Nishiyama Y, Shimojoh M, Nishimura S (1998) Nonnatural branched polysaccharides: synthesis and properties of chitin and chitosan having alpha-mannoside branches. Macromolecules 31:4764–4769
- 156. Nishimura SI, Kohgo O, Kurita K, Kuzuhara H (1991) Chemospecific manipulations of a rigid polysaccharide – syntheses of novel chitosan derivatives with excellent solubility in common organic-solvents by regioselective chemical modifications. Macromolecules 24:4745–4748
- 157. Kurita K, Akao H, Yang J, Shimojoh M (2003) Nonnatural branched polysaccharides: synthesis and properties of chitin and chitosan having disaccharide maltose branches. Biomacromolecules 4:1264–1268
- 158. Yang JH, Cai J, Hu Y, Li DL, Du YM (2012) Preparation, characterization and antimicrobial activity of 6-amino-6-deoxychitosan. Carbohydr Polym 87:202–209
- Ghiggi FF, Pollo LD, Cardozo NSM, Tessaro IC (2017) Preparation and characterization of polyethersulfone/N-phthaloyl-chitosan ultrafiltration membrane with antifouling property. Eur Polym J 92:61–70
- 160. Kurita K (2001) Controlled functionalization of the polysaccharide chitin. Prog Polym Sci 26:1921–1971
- 161. Holappa J, Nevalainen T, Savolainen J, Soininen P, Elomaa M, Safin R, Suvanto S, Pakkanen T, Masson M, Loftsson T, Jarvinen T (2004) Synthesis and characterization of chitosan N-betainates having various degrees of substitution. Macromolecules 37:2784–2789
- 162. Holappa J, Nevalainen T, Safin R, Soininen P, Asplund T, Luttikhedde T, Masson M, Jarvinen T (2006) Novel water-soluble quaternary piperazine derivatives of chitosan: synthesis and characterization. Macromol Biosci 6:139–144
- 163. Holappa J, Hjalmarsdottir M, Masson M, Runarsson O, Asplund T, Soininen P, Nevalainen T, Jarvinen T (2006) Antimicrobial activity of chitosan N-betainates. Carbohydr Polym 65:114–118
- 164. Másson M, Holappa J, Hjálmarsdóttir M, Rúnarsson ÖV, Nevalainen T, Järvinen T (2008) Antimicrobial activity of piperazine derivatives of chitosan. Carbohydr Polym 74:566–571
- 165. Rúnarsson ÖV, Malainer C, Holappa J, Sigurdsson ST, Másson M (2008) Tertbutyldimethylsilyl O-protected chitosan and chitooligosaccharides: useful precursors for N-modifications in common organic solvents. Carbohydr Res 343:2576–2582
- 166. Song W, Gaware VS, Rúnarsson ÖV, Másson M, Mano JF (2010) Functionalized superhydrophobic biomimetic chitosan-based films. Carbohydr Polym 81:140–144

- 167. Sahariah P, Oskarsson BM, Hjalmarsdottir MA, Masson M (2015) Synthesis of guanidinylated chitosan with the aid of multiple protecting groups and investigation of antibacterial activity. Carbohydr Polym 127:407–417
- 168. Sahariah P, Masson M, Meyer RL (2018) Quaternary ammoniumyl chitosan derivatives for eradication of *Staphylococcus aureus* biofilms. Biomacromolecules 19:3649–3658
- 169. Younes I, Sellimi S, Rinaudo M, Jellouli K, Nasri M (2014) Influence of acetylation degree and molecular weight of homogeneous chitosans on antibacterial and antifungal activities. Int J Food Microbiol 185:57–63
- 170. Blagodatskikh IV, Kulikov SN, Vyshivannaya OV, Bezrodnykh EA, Tikhonov VE (2017) N-reacetylated oligochitosan: pH dependence of self-assembly properties and antibacterial activity. Biomacromolecules 18:1491–1498
- 171. Li KC, Xing RG, Liu S, Qin YK, Yu HH, Li PC (2014) Size and pH effects of chitooligomers on antibacterial activity against *Staphylococcus aureus*. Int J Biol Macromol 64:302–305
- 172. Park SC, Nah JW, Park Y (2011) pH-dependent mode of antibacterial actions of low molecular weight water-soluble chitosan (LMWSC) against various pathogens. Macromol Res 19:853–860
- 173. Kulikov S, Tikhonov V, Blagodatskikh I, Bezrodnykh E, Lopatin S, Khairullin R, Philippova Y, Abramchuk S (2012) Molecular weight and pH aspects of the efficacy of oligochitosan against methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA). Carbohydr Polym 87:545–550
- 174. Chang SH, Lin HTV, Wu GJ, Tsai GJ (2015) pH effects on solubility, zeta potential, and correlation between antibacterial activity and molecular weight of chitosan. Carbohydr Polym 134:74–81
- 175. Rathinam S, Ólafsdóttir S, Jónsdótti S, Hjálmarsdóttir MÁ, Másson M (2020) Selective synthesis of N, N,N-trimethylated chitosan derivatives at different degree of substitution and investigation of structure-activity relationship for activity against *P. aeruginosa* and MRSA. Int J Biol Macromol 160:548–557
- 176. Rhoades J, Roller S (2000) Antimicrobial actions of degraded and native chitosan against spoilage organisms in laboratory media and foods. Appl Environ Microbiol 66:80–86
- 177. No HK, Park NY, Lee SH, Meyers SP (2002) Antibacterial activity of chitosans and chitosan oligomers with different molecular weights. Int J Food Microbiol 74:65–72
- 178. Zheng LY, Zhu JAF (2003) Study on antimicrobial activity of chitosan with different molecular weights. Carbohydr Polym 54:527–530
- 179. Omura Y, Shigemoto M, Akiyama T, Saimoto H, Shigemasa Y, Nakamura I, Tsuchido T (2003) Atimicrobial activity of chtiosan wtih different degrees of aceylation and moelcular weights. Biocontrol Sci 8:25–30
- 180. Qin CQ, Li HR, Xiao Q, Liu Y, Zhu JC, Du YM (2006) Water-solubility of chitosan and its antimicrobial activity. Carbohydr Polym 63:367–374
- 181. Mellegard H, Strand SP, Christensen BE, Granum PE, Hardy SP (2011) Antibacterial activity of chemically defined chitosans: influence of molecular weight, degree of acetylation and test organism. Int J Food Microbiol 148:48–54
- 182. Kulikov SN, Lisovskaya SA, Zelenikhin PV, Bezrodnykh EA, Shakirova DR, Blagodatskikh MV, Tikhonov VE (2014) Antifungal activity of oligochitosans (short chain chitosans) against some Candida species and clinical isolates of *Candida albicans*: molecular weight-activity relationship. Eur J Med Chem 74:169–178
- 183. Blagodatskikh IV, Vyshivannaya OV, Alexandrova AV, Bezrodnykh EA, Zelenikhin PV, Kulikov SN, Tikhonov VE (2018) Antibacterial activity and cytotoxicity of betainated oligochitosane derivatives. Microbiology 87:725–731
- 184. Sahariah P, Cibor D, Zielinska D, Hjalmarsdottir MA, Stawski D, Masson M (2019) The effect of molecular weight on the antibacterial activity of N,N,N-trimethyl chitosan (TMC). Int J Mol Sci 20
- 185. Sahariah P, Snorradottir BS, Hjalmarsdottir MA, Sigurjonsson OE, Masson M (2016) Experimental design for determining quantitative structure activity relationship for antibacterial chitosan derivatives. J Mater Chem B 4:4762–4770

Adv Polym Sci (2021) 287: 169–202 https://doi.org/10.1007/12\_2021\_90 © The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 Published online: 2 July 2021

# Flavor-Related Applications of Chitin and Chitosan in Foods: Effect of Structure and Properties on the Efficacy



Shang-Ta Wang, Cheng-Che Tsai, Ming-Chih Shih, and Min-Lang Tsai

# Contents

1	Introduction	170
2	Applications of Chitin and Chitosan for Improving Saltiness Perception	171
	2.1 Strategies for Reducing Sodium Intake	171
	2.2 Chitin and Chitosan as Saltiness Enhancers	172
3	Chitin and Chitosan Prevent Food from Loss in the Quality of Flavor	179
	3.1 Flavor Loss and Off-Flavor Development of Foods	179
	3.2 Chitin and Chitosan for Improving the Flavor Stability of Foods	180
4	Chitin and Chitosan for Food Debittering	188
	4.1 The Bitter Taste in Food and debitterization Technologies	188
	4.2 Chitin and Chitosan for Debitterization Use in Foods and Herbal Extracts	189
5	Summary	196
Re	eferences	197

**Abstract** Chitin and chitosan are natural and abundant polymers with extensive structural possibilities for physical and chemical modification. The well-known inherent astringency of chitin and chitosan limits their use in the food industry. However, structural and chemical modifications may be explored for their potential in improving the flavor of foods. This chapter reviews the flavor-related applications of chitin and chitosan including enhancing saltiness perception, improving flavor

S.-T. Wang and M.-L. Tsai (🖂)

C.-C. Tsai

Department of Forestry, National Chung Hsing University, Taichung, Taiwan

M.-C. Shih (🖂)

Department of Food Science, National Taiwan Ocean University, Keelung, Taiwan e-mail: tml@mail.ntou.edu.tw

Department of Nutrition and Health Sciences, Chinese Culture University, Taipei, Taiwan e-mail: smz2@ulive.pccu.edu.tw

stability, and reducing the bitter taste of food products. Also, it focuses on the effects of the physical and chemical properties on the potency of utilization.

**Keywords** Chitin · Chitosan · Debitterization · Flavor modulator · Flavor stability · Saltiness perception · Warmed-over flavor

#### 1 Introduction

Chitosan is a biopolymer derived from chitin which can be found in many places in nature, including the exoskeletons of crustaceans, insects, mollusks, and fungi [1–3]. The exoskeleton of crustaceans is the major source of biomass for chitin and chitosan production in industry [4] with an estimated 1.5 billion tons available worldwide. Derived from N-deacetylation of chitin, chitosan is the most abundant cationic natural polysaccharide. It consists of  $\beta$  1–4-linked D-glucosamine and N-acetyl-D-glucosamine [5] (Fig. 1). The degree of deacetylation (DD) ranges from 40 to 98%, and the molecular weight ranges from 5 × 10<sup>4</sup> to 2 × 10<sup>6</sup> Da [3, 6, 7]. Chitosan has a broad array of applications such as in agricultural, water purification, food, cosmetics, textile, and biomedical industries, owing to its biodegradable, biocompatible, biofunctional, low toxicity, gelatinous, and antimicrobial properties [1, 3, 4, 8, 9]. The DD and the molecular weight of the polymer are two important parameters dictating the use of chitosan for various applications. For example, a high DD and low molecular weight lead to a relatively high ionization



Fig. 1 Structure of chitin and chitosan

capability of chitosan, which could make it soluble in biological fluids and suitable for use in pharmaceutical fields.

Recently, the development of chitosan for use in food applications has progressed significantly and rapidly. In the food industry field, chitosan has an advantage over synthetic polymers, as it is considered to be GRAS (Generally Recognized as Safe) by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA). In food-related products, it functions as a clarifying agent, preservative, pasting agent, dietary fiber, and flavor modulator. Among these applications, chitosan has received increasing attention and has been extensively explored in flavor modulation [7, 10]. The flavor of food is largely a combination of taste and odor, those are sensations that result when specialized nerve receptors in the mouth and nose detect molecules. It can be the primary quality attribute that contributes to consumer acceptance and preference. There is increasing evidence to suggest that flavor is becoming more important, perhaps because of more demanding consumers who ask for food with desirable organoleptic properties [10]. Unfortunately, some healthy food choices and ingredients with specialized biological functions are often viewed to be in conflict with enjoyable flavor. Moreover, food processing and storage are associated with losing preferable flavors and generating undesirable flavors. Therefore, it is a big challenge for academic and industrial researchers to design food products without sacrificing food flavor [11]. This review focuses on the most recent advances in the flavor-improving applications of chitosan in the food industry. This includes its use in taste masking, as a saltiness enhancer, and in preventing foods from developing off-flavors.

# 2 Applications of Chitin and Chitosan for Improving Saltiness Perception

#### 2.1 Strategies for Reducing Sodium Intake

Sodium chloride (NaCl) is commonly used to season food. When dissolved in biological fluids, NaCl provides free Na<sup>+</sup> ions to the system which may bind to the taste bud receptor to cause a saltiness perception. As a food additive, NaCl not only provides a saltiness perception, but it also reduces the water activity of foods, which may inhibit microbial growth and therefore prolong the shelf-life of foods [12]. Moreover, it is implicated in several enzymatic reactions in food systems to modulate the texture, color, taste, and odor of food substances [13].

For the human body, sodium intake is necessary to maintain fluid balance in the body, and it is vital to muscle and nerve function. Research has indicated that 75–80% of sodium intake is from processed food products. Bakery products accounted for 13% of the sodium intake, while cereal products for 5%, processed meats for 18%, and sauces and spreads for about 11%. Spices, herbs, and salt purchased separately were responsible for 23% of the sodium intake [14]. However, excess sodium intake is associated with increased risk of non-communicable

diseases (NCDs) including stroke, hypertension, and cardiovascular disease, which are the leading causes of death globally. The World Health Organization (WHO) (2007) has recommended a daily NaCl intake (RDI) of less than 5 g. Nevertheless, the average daily NaCl intake in the USA, United Kingdom, and Asia is approximately 8.2–9.4 g, 9.4 g, and 12.0 g [15], respectively, which are much higher than the RDI suggested by WHO. Hence, techniques to reduce the salt levels in foods should be considered in order to help bring dietary sodium intake closer to those recommended for promoting public health.

Common methods for reducing the sodium level and improving the saltiness perception of foods include using substitutes such as KCl, CaCl<sub>2</sub>, and MgSO<sub>4</sub> [16] as well as using flavor enhancers such as citric acid and monosodium glutamate [17]. However, the use of those metal salts and acids provides astringency and metallic flavors in food systems, thus their actual applications in food preparations are limited. Moreover, the release of sodium from the food matrix and its dissolution rate in the oral cavity have proven to be crucial for saltiness perception. Consequently, approaches such as modulating the size and shapes of salt crystals and altering the food texture have been explored recently for their potential as salt reduction substitutes [18, 19]. Saltiness is primarily perceived from free sodium ions rather than those bound with the food matrix. When consuming foods, a high proportion of sodium may be retained in the food matrix in a bound form even after being swallowed. This suggests that a significant amount of sodium might be taken into the body without being perceived [20]. Based on this principle, a higher proportion of free sodium ions released from the food matrix means that less salt addition is required in foods systems, and less sodium would be consumed [21]. Accordingly, the presence of negatively charged molecules in the food matrix (e.g., milk protein, soy protein, xanthan gum, and k-carrageenan) would reduce saltiness perception, owing to the increased electrostatic interactions between sodium ions and the food matrix [22]. In contrast, positively charged groups interact with negatively charged groups through ionic interactions, which may therefore help release more free sodium ions and enhance saltiness perception [10].

#### 2.2 Chitin and Chitosan as Saltiness Enhancers

The scientific publications reporting chitin and chitosan for saltiness enhancement applications are addressed in Table 1.

#### 2.2.1 Particle-Shaped Chitin and Chitosan as Saltiness Enhancers

Free Na<sup>+</sup> generates the salty taste in food. Negatively charged food ingredients adsorb Na<sup>+</sup> through static electricity, creating bound Na<sup>+</sup> and reducing the level of saltiness [22]. However, positively charged food ingredients interact with negatively charged food ingredients to decrease the amount of bound Na<sup>+</sup>, resulting in more
Materials	Physicochemical properties	Forms	Applied foods	Outcome	Reference
Chitin	21–22% DD, 5.1–9.3 nm diameters	Nanofiber	Model solution	0.15 and 0.3 g/L of CNF showed remarkable saltiness enhancement potential (scored at 4.4 and 4.0 compared to 3.3 and 2.8 for groups without CNF, respectively)	[10]
	22.89–53.36 DD, 15.01– 17.24 nm diameters	Nanocrystal, nanofiber	Model solution	The saltiness perception of CNC and DACNF suspensions performed higher than that of CNF suspension, inferring that lower aspect ratio and higher DD result in higher saltiness	[9]
	16.2% DD, 111 nm diameter	Nanofiber	Tilapia fillets	Curing solutions with 0.12–0.18 g/L of CNF are capable of providing stronger saltiness perception in the fillet than that without addition of CNF	[23]
	32.67–50.67 particle sizes	Nanoparticles	Model solution	Compared with the control group, the saltiness intensity of $0.03\%$ chitin nanoparticle solution treated with ultrasonication was increased by about $30\%$	[5]
Chitosan	78.3% DD, 186.3 kDa molecular weight	Microparticles	Popcorn	The use of chitosan/NaCl microparticles provided a saltiness taste stronger than the general NaCl group. The level of saltiness can be maintained while the NaCl used can be decreased by up to $54.4\%$	[24]
	76.5% DD, 213.2 kDa molecular weight	Microparticles	Popcorn	Up to 45% of salt reduction can be achieved without a reduction of the saltiness perception of seasoned popcorn; the yield could be improved with addition of maltodextrin	[25]

Table 1 Scientific publications reporting the saltiness enhancement applications of chitin and chitosan

DD degree of deacetylation, CNF chitin nanofibers, CNC chitin nanocrystals, DACNF deacetylated chitin nanofibers



free Na<sup>+</sup> and enhancing the level of saltiness [10]. Chitin and chitosan are nitrogencontaining linear polysaccharides composed of  $\beta$ -1,4 linked units of N-acetyl glucosamine, which have a positive charge under a weakly acidic environment. The positive charges from protonated amino groups may interact with the negatively charged ions in food systems, such as chloride ions from NaCl and carboxylate ions from proteins. The quantity of free sodium ions in solution may therefore be elevated, and this would be followed by an increased saltiness perception.

Recently, research has been conducted to explore the opportunities and challenges in the use of chitin and chitosan for enhancing the saltiness perception in food systems. Yi et al. [24] prepared chitosan (78.3  $\pm$  2.5% degree of deacetylation (DD),  $186.3 \pm 12.4$  kDa weight average molecular weight)/acid/NaCl microparticles by the spray drying method (Fig. 2) for popcorn seasoning. It showed a promising capability for maintaining saltiness sensory perception with reduced salt addition. They dissolved chitosan and NaCl into various organic acid solutions including acetic acid, citric acid, and lactic acid. This was followed by a spray drying process to obtain the microparticles. Loss of the organic acids via evaporation occurred along with the spray drying process. The NaCl content was slightly raised from 25.0-66.7% to 30.2-80.8% in the microparticle systems. The rate of moisture absorption of the prepared microparticles was between 0.83 and 3.19 g/100 g/h, representing that these particles may rapidly dissolve in the oral cavity to provide the saltiness perception. Moreover, the prepared chitosan/acid/NaCl composites are hollow particles with relatively large sizes, and NaCl concentrations in the system ranged from 15.4 to 32.0 µm. A comparison of the saltiness in sensory evaluations of ground NaCl, chitosan/acid/NaCl microparticles, and general (ungrounded) NaCl has been carried out. Postgraduate students of the Department of Food Science at National Taiwan Ocean University (Keelung, Taiwan) were volunteers who



participated in a hedonic taste test. The panel consisted of 20 untrained subjects (10 females and 10 males, 23-26 years old). Twenty grams of corn kernels was popped, and 1 g of test substances was added. The mixture was stirred for 3 min to allow the seasoning agents to spread over the popcorn. The salinity of the unground NaCl group was given a score of 0 and set as the standard for comparison with the other groups. Groups with less saltiness than that of the NaCl group were given a negative score as low as -5, whereas those with saltier taste were given a positive score as high as 5. The results shown in Fig. 3 indicated that the use of chitosan/acid/ NaCl microparticles provided a saltiness taste comparable to the ground NaCl group and stronger than the general NaCl group. Because the tested microparticles had only 45.6-80.8% NaCl content, this result indicated that the level of saltiness can be maintained while the amount of NaCl used can be decreased by 19.2-54.4%. The decrease in NaCl used may be associated with the numerous small NaCl crystals on the surfaces of the chitosan/acid/NaCl. Also, the cationic effect of chitosan may play a role in increased release of free Na<sup>+</sup> ions. Thus, these microparticles show promise for reducing sodium addition to surface-salted foods.

Lu et al. [25] used a similar strategy and further incorporated maltodextrin into microparticles to optimize the shape and physical properties of products. Chitosan was prepared from shrimp shells and had an average DD of 76.5% and a weight average molecular weight of  $213.2 \pm 3.2$  kDa. It was subsequently mixed with maltodextrin at weight ratios of 2:0, 1:1, and 0:2 for further use. The mixtures were then dissolved in 1% organic acid solution (acetic acid and lactic acid) at a concentration of 1%. Three percent NaCl was then dissolved in the solution as well, and the microparticles were obtained by a spray drying method. In addition, microparticles without chitosan and organic acid were prepared as the blank group. The size, density, organic acid content, NaCl content, rate of moisture absorption, and surface morphology of the particles were investigated. Along with the different acids used and the ratio of chitosan/maltodextrin, different morphological changes were observed by microscopy. Sodium chloride crystals were attached to the surface of both acetic acid and lactic acid groups, and the surface of both groups presented depressions and wrinkles, while groups without chitosan showed obvious cohesion

and could not form solid microparticles. The size of each group was between 2.3 and 9.7  $\mu$ m. The average hygroscopic rates ranged from 3.4 to 5.7 g/100 g/h, and the apparent densities were between 1.7 and 1.9 g/cm<sup>3</sup>; these results were similar to Yi et al. [24]. However, with addition of maltodextrin, the yield of microparticles was greatly improved. Sensory evaluation was carried out by panelists at the laboratory level using a 5-point hedonic rating scale. The salinity of popcorn mixed with ground NaCl was given a score of 0 and set as the standard for comparison with those mixed with microparticles. As a result, chitosan/maltodextrin/NaCl particles could effectively provide salinity, and it is worth mentioning that up to 45% salt reduction could be conducted without a reduction of the saltiness perception of seasoned popcorn.

Results from Yi et al. [24] and Lu et al. [25] indicated that chitosan/NaCl and chitosan/maltodextrin/NaCl microparticles can provide a better saltiness perception than ordinary table salt. It could be concluded that the average particle size ( $<32 \mu m$ ) is less than ordinary salt (about 500  $\mu m$ ), and there are a large number of micrometersized NaCl crystals ( $<4 \mu m$ ) distributed on the surface of the particles. Therefore, NaCl crystals can rapidly dissolve in the oral cavity and elevate the concentration of Na<sup>+</sup>, which results in a strong saltiness perception. However, both studies revealed that this strategy is not suitable for use in a liquid food system such as soups and stews where the dissolved particles do not retain this dominant structure and therefore do not enhance the perception of saltiness but instead have an astringent taste owing to the chitosan in the system.

Interestingly, Somsak et al. [5] revealed that chitin nanoparticles are capable of acting as a saltiness enhancer in a solution system. They prepared  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -chitin from shrimp shells and squid pens, respectively. Chitins were then introduced into an ultrasonication treatment of 30, 45, and 60 min, respectively, followed by homogenization at 12,000 rpm for 20 min to produce chitin nanoparticle suspensions. Afterwards, the chitin nanoparticle suspensions were freeze-dried and ground into powder to obtain the final products. The particle sizes of the  $\alpha$ -chitin nanoparticles were between 32.67 and 41.33 nm, while those of the  $\beta$ -chitin nanoparticles were between 42.60 and 50.67 nm. The particle sizes decreased with an increase in the ultrasonication treatment time. Then, the test solutions were prepared by mixing 0.03% dried nanoparticles and 0.3% NaCl in deionized water; a 0.3% NaCl solution without chitin nanoparticles was used as the control group. A panel of eight trained panelists was selected for sensory evaluation to test the ability of chitin nanocrystals to enhance the saltiness perception. The salty intensity ratings of  $\alpha$ -chitin nanoparticles/NaCl solutions were 35.79, 43.70, and 47.33 mm on a 150-mm scale, while those of  $\beta$ -chitin nanoparticles/NaCl solutions were 35.89, 41.91, and 45.66 mm, respectively, for samples after 30, 45, and 60-min of ultrasonication treatment. The ratings were comparable between control groups and the 30 mintreated group, whereas there were significant increases in saltiness intensities in 45-60 min-treated groups. Compared with the control group, the saltiness intensity of 60 min-treated groups increased by about 30%. This may be related to the extremely small particle size of chitin nanoparticles by which chitin could rapidly provide amine (-NH<sup>3+</sup>) groups in the solution system to bind to Cl<sup>-</sup> and form a Stern layer by electrostatic interactions that caused an elevated ratio of free  $Na^+$  in the diffuse layer and, in turn, improved saltiness. In addition, increasing ultrasonication time may improve the high specific surface area and high porosity of chitin nanoparticles, which could improve their ability to adsorb negative ions in the solution system.

# 2.2.2 Chitin Nanofibers/Nanocrystals for Improving Saltiness Perception

Due to the existence of numerous intramolecular and intermolecular hydrogen bonds, the chitin molecules are difficult to dissolve in water and general solvents. Chitin can only be dissolved in a few special solvents such as LiCl/ dimethylacetamide [26], NaOH/urea solvent systems [27], and ionic liquids [28]. This greatly limits its application and development in biomedical fields [2]. To deal with this issue, chitin could be processed into nanomaterials, such as chitin nanofibers (CNF) and chitin nanocrystals (CNC), which can increase their dispersion in water and form a colloidal solution. Methods used for preparing chitin nanomaterials include mechanical disassembly, chemical modification, and electrospinning. The mechanical disassembly methods feature the grinding method [29, 30], ultrasonication [10, 25], the starburst system [31], dynamic high pressure homogenization [32], and micro-fluidization technology [33], whereas acid hydrolysis [34], 2,2,6,6-tetramethylpiperidine-1-oxy radial (TEMPO)-mediated oxidation [35], and partial deacetylation [36] could be involved in chemical modification. These prepared chitin nanomaterials are generally stable in aqueous systems and may therefore be introduced as saltiness enhancers in liquid foods.

Nanofibers are generally defined as those with a diameter less than 100 nm and an aspect ratio greater than 100. Chitin nanofiber is composed of approximately 18–25 chitin molecular chains arranged in parallel and bonded by strong hydrogen bonds (crystallization region) to form a fiber with a diameter of about 2–5 nm and a length of about 300 nm [10, 37, 38]. Due to their size and structure, chitin nanofibers not only maintain chitin properties but also have advantages such as high surface area to volume ratio, excellent mechanical properties, high flexibility, easy chemical modification, and antiviral and anti-tumor activity [34, 39]. They could potentially be used in filtration, recovery of metal ions, controlled release of drugs, tissue engineering, enzyme carriers, wound healing, cosmetics, biosensors, and medical implants [25, 37, 40, 41].

Jiang et al. [10] prepared a 0.3 g/L  $\beta$ -chitin aqueous suspension, and then treated it by ultrasonication at 20 kHz and 200 W for 30, 45, and 60 min. After centrifugation, the supernatant was collected as chitin nanofibers, represented as CNF30, CNF45, and CNF60, respectively. The DD were determined by FTIR at 21–22%, and the diameters of CNF30, CNF45, and CNF60 were analyzed by TEM and found to be 9.3, 5.6, and 5.1 nm, respectively. Sensory evaluation was conducted; 0.075–0.3 g/L chitin nanofiber suspensions were added with 3 g/L sodium chloride to obtain the test sample. The panel consisted of 20 untrained and volunteer subjects (10 females and 10 males, 23-26 years of age). Every panelist was asked to drink 5 mL of 3.0 g/L NaCl as well as the CNF and CNF/NaCl solutions of varying concentrations before assessing the saltiness and astringency of the solutions which were evaluated using a 7-point scale (1 = very weak, 4 = moderate, 7 = very strong). The results showed that there was no significant effect for promoting saltiness perception observed in the 0.075 g/L CNF group, whereas the 0.15 and 0.3 g/L CNF groups showed remarkable saltiness enhancement potential (scored at 4.4 and 4.0 compared to 3.3 and 2.8 of groups without CNF), indicating that CNF had the ability to improve the salty taste. In addition, CNF60, the group with longest ultrasonication treatment time, had the best saltiness promoting effect. This was possibly because CNF can provide -NH3<sup>+</sup> to adsorb anions such as Cl<sup>-</sup> and OH<sup>-</sup> in the Stern layer, so that the concentration of free Na<sup>+</sup> in the solution is higher than that of the control group. Moreover, chitin and chitosan are often hindered in the food industry by their astringency. However, with the participation of NaCl, the astringency of CNF30, CNF45, and CNF60 groups was significantly reduced compared to the group without NaCl. The astringency of chitin and chitosan could increase from the increasing in positive charges on the molecular chain [42]. When sodium chloride is added, the positive charge on chitin nanofibers will be neutralized by chlorine ions due to the interaction of charge, so its astringency will be decreased [10].

To explore the relationship between physicochemical properties and the saltinessimproving capacity of chitin nanomaterials, Tsai et al. [6] used ultrasonication treatment to prepare deacetylated chitin nanofibers (DACNF) and acid hydrolysis to prepare chitin nanocrystals (CNC) (rod-shaped in morphology with lower aspect ratios than the original nanofibers). The DDs of the original nanofibers (CNF, CNC, and DACNF) were 22.89%, 23.43%, and 53.36%, respectively. CNF, CNC, and DACNF had diameters of 17.24, 16.05, and 15.01 nm and lengths of 1.73, 0.12, and 1.81 µm, respectively. When suspended in deionized water, the overall zeta potential of chitin nanomaterials is 19.73-30.08 mV, and the concentration (0.04-0.074 mg/ mL) has no obvious influence on the tested value. Sensory evaluation was also conducted using a 7-point scale to evaluate the saltiness of each group. Accordingly, the DD and the aspect ratio played roles in saltiness-improving capacity. The saltiness perception of CNC and DACNF suspensions was higher than that of the CNF suspension, inferring that lower aspect ratio and a higher DD result in higher saltiness. This may be due to the ionization of the surface amine group from deacetylated molecules under the pH < 7 environment. These amine groups are able to adsorb Cl<sup>-</sup>, OH<sup>-</sup>, and other negative ions, increasing the proportion of free Na<sup>+</sup> in the solution and thus improving the saltiness perception (Fig. 4). Moreover, the number of molecules and total surface area of CNC and DACNF were both larger than CNF, so more negative ions could be absorbed, resulting in more free Na<sup>+</sup> in the solution and a strong salty perception.

Another approach to using CNF for replacing NaCl from a curing solution of tilapia fillets was conducted by Hsueh et al. [23]. Curing solutions with CNF (with a DD of 16.2% and mean diameter of 111.6  $\pm$  45.4 nm) at concentrations between 0.12 and 0.18 g/L were able to provide a stronger saltiness perception than those without the addition of CNF. More free Na<sup>+</sup> ions are assumed to be present in the



Fig. 4 The mechanism of chitin nanofibers for enhancing saltiness perception

CNF/NaCl curing solution, resulting in a higher proportion of a combination of these ions on the surface of tilapia fillets. Moreover, adding 3 g/L citric acid or 4 g/L malic acid to CNF/NaCl curing solution could effectively improve the saltiness of fish fillets without generating obvious sourness. The addition of these organic acids provided environments with a lower pH value. This may facilitate the  $(-NH_3^+)$  degree of protonation of amine groups in the molecular chain. As evidenced, the addition of lactic acid in CNF/NaCl curing solution capacity of anions. It could also be concluded that the saltiness of sodium chloride at a specific concentration range may be enhanced by the addition of a small amount of acid [43, 44].

# **3** Chitin and Chitosan Prevent Food from Loss in the Quality of Flavor

# 3.1 Flavor Loss and Off-Flavor Development of Foods

The most important factor that maximizes food quality is its flavor, and there is increasing attention on the stability of flavor. The quality attribute of food flavor stability can be affected by the chemical reactivity of food flavors and the environment of food such as the availability of light and atmospheric oxygen [45]. Flavor compounds can be susceptible to chemical changes occurring from various kinds of interactions. Among the many reactions taking place in the food system, oxidation is generally considered to affect flavor stability during storage [46]. For example, meat or meat products are highly susceptible to lipid oxidation which leads to rapid generation of rancidity or a warmed-over flavor [47]. When meat is stored after cooking, lipid oxidation occurs rapidly, and this is followed by a deterioration in flavor; this phenomenon is termed warmed-over flavor (WOF). The flavor is described as "rancid," "stale," and like "cardboard" and even compared to "damp

dog hair" [48]. WOF was scientifically considered to be an organoleptic challenge to meat products, as cooking and subsequent refrigeration is commonly introduced when preserving foods with meat. Once cooked meat is exposed to oxygen, it could develop off-flavors in a short time. Irreversible conversion of iron from the ferrous to the ferric form of myoglobin pigments occurs during heating, and this is an important cause of rapid oxidation of lipids in meats during cooking. Concern about flavor deterioration of oxidized lipids in meats has prompted the study of antioxidants for preventing or controlling lipid oxidation [49].

Another crucial factor that causes negative effects on flavor stability is microbial spoilage. Under particular storage conditions, specific spoilage organisms (SSOs) produce metabolites responsible for off-flavors and cause organoleptic rejection of the product [50, 51]. Off-flavor production is one of the major indicators used by consumers when they evaluate the freshness of raw food materials [52]. Compounds with a specific smell such as nitrogen-related compounds, sulfuric compounds, ketones, aldehydes, and esters are mainly produced by various microorganisms during food spoilage [50, 51, 53]. One of the highly perishable foods is fish which readily undergoes autolysis followed by consumption by the microorganism. The chemical changes of flavor compound precursors, including amino acids, nucleotides, trimethylamine oxide (TMAO), and volatile organic compounds (VOC) may generate off-flavors and cause organoleptic rejection [54]. The post-mortem chemical changes related to biochemical reactions and microbial metabolism can cause deterioration of texture and flavor and finally loss of edibility.

# 3.2 Chitin and Chitosan for Improving the Flavor Stability of Foods

Chitosan has a remarkable antioxidant and antibacterial capacity [55, 56], and it may attenuate lipid oxidation and inhibit the growth of spoilage bacteria in food systems during storage. Since chitosan is reported to possess better antioxidation and antimicrobial capacity than chitin [57], it was preferred over chitin for use in preventing the generation of off-flavors in foods. The action of chitosan for improving the flavor stability of foods would involve antioxidant and antimicrobial pathways. Chitosan is able to adhere to the membranes of microorganisms, subsequently changing its permeability. Moreover, it can act as a trace metal chelating agent, which may inhibit the growth of microbes, or it may effectively bind to the microbial DNA and interfere with the synthesis of mRNA and proteins. Chitosan tends to adhere to or penetrate the cells depending on whether its molecular weight is high or low, respectively (Fig. 5) [58]. The addition of 0.05 and 0.1% chitosan inhibited the growth of common spoilage microorganisms, including B. cereus, S. aureus, E. coli, and P. fluorescens in vitro, while S. typhimurium was partially inhibited [59]. In addition, chitosan is able to chelate the free iron released from meat heme proteins, thereby inhibiting the catalytic potential of iron ions in the initial stage of lipid





autoxidation [60]. Xue et al. [61] reported that the protective action of chitosan toward the deterioration of foods is also effective when it is used as a protective film, where it acts as a barrier against oxygen [62]. The scientific publications reporting chitin and chitosan for improving flavor stability are addressed in Table 2.

#### 3.2.1 Chitin and Chitosan Promote Flavor Stability in Muscle Food Products

Muscle food products are highly susceptible to off-flavor and rancidity development by the autoxidation of their unsaturated lipids. St. Angelo and Vercellotti [63] introduced chitosan at a concentration of 1% in meat and this resulted in a 70% decrease of 2-thiobarbituric acid (TBA) values, while a 93% reduction of TBA and a 99% inhibition in hexanal content were observed with N-carboxymethyl chitosan treatment after 3 days of storage at 4°C. N,O-carboxymethyl chitosan (NOCC) showed a similar effect in controlling the flavor deterioration of cooked meat within a 9-day storage period [64]. Researchers from Korea conducted a series of studies to reveal the application of chitosan as preservative agent in processed sausage, where it could potentially reduce or replace the use of nitrite [78-81]. Interestingly, they found that the preservative capacity of chitosan is increased along with increasing its molecular weight [80]. This phenomenon could be completely interpreted as chitosan with high molecular weight having bioadhesive properties such that it can attach to cells and form a covering around them. Subsequently it can alter their structure, permeability, and functioning and inhibit the survival of microorganisms. This action takes place mainly against Gram-positive bacteria because their cell wall is composed of a thick layer of peptidoglycan rather than the outer membrane [58]. The most frequent spoilage bacteria that can be identified in sausages are Lactobacillus sakei and Brochothrix thermosphacta [82], which are classified as Gram-positive bacteria. Therefore, these bacteria could be affected by high molecular weight chitosan. In addition, as a food additive, chitosan is known to form an astringent taste in a food system. However, research has indicated that addition of 0.1% chitosan with relatively high molecular weights of 150-1,250 kDa (DD = 85-87%) into reduced-fat Chinese-style sausage had no adverse effect on the sensory characteristics [66]. Also, addition of chitosan with low molecular weight (5 kDa, 0.2%) did not negatively affect the sensory characteristics of sausage, and it was certainly able to prevent the sausage from lipid oxidation within 3-week storage [66]. These results suggest a promising application of chitosan for improving flavor stability in sausage.

Serrano and Bañón [67] reported that the use of 0.02% or 0.05% chitosan (molecular weight of 340 kDa, 80% DD) can reduce the SO<sub>2</sub> required to preserve pork burgers and effectively enhance the flavor stability at 2°C storage for up to 21 days. The addition of either 0.02% or 0.05% chitosan was not detected by sensory analysis, but it significantly reduced the generation of undesirable odors including rancid, acidic, and putrid odors within the storage time. In the quantitative descriptive analysis, a linear intensity five-point scale was used to quantify the sensory

Table 2 Sci	entific publications reporting th	e flavor stability improving applications	s of chitin and chite	San	
Applied methods	Materials	Physicochemical properties	Applied foods	Outcome	Reference
Immersing	NCC	Not available	Meat	93% decrease of TBA and a 99% reduc- tion in hexanal content by treating with 3% N-carboxymethyl chitosan after 3 days of storage at 4°C	[63]
	NOCC	Not available	Cooked meat	The mean deterioration inhibitory effect of NOCC at $500-3,000$ ppm was $43.4-69.9\%$ at $4^{\circ}$ C, for 9 days as reflected in their TBA values	[64]
	Water-soluble chitosan	80–82% DD	Oysters	Retained better freshness flavor during storage	[65]
Intact addition	Chitosan	Chitosans of different viscosity (14 cP, 57 cP, and 360 Cp)	Comminuted flesh of herring	The formation of hydroperoxides and TBARS in herring samples containing 200 ppm chitosan was reduced after 8 days of storage by 61% and 52%, respectively	[00]
	Chitosan	85–87% DD, 5 kDa molecular weight	Reduced-fat Chinese-style sausage	Addition of chitosan (0.2%) did not negatively affect the sensory characteris- tics of sausage, and it was certainly able to prevent the sausage from lipid oxida- tion within 3-week storage	[66]
	Chitosan	80% DD, 340 kDa molecular weight	Pork burger	The addition of either 0.02% or 0.05% chitosan was not detected by sensory analysis, but it significantly reduced the generation of undesirable odors including rancid, acidic, and putrid odors at $2^{\circ}$ C storage for up to 21 days	[67]
	Chitosan nanoparticles	562 nm of average diameter	Milk	All of the sensory parameters were not significantly affected by the addition of	[68]
					(continued)

Flavor-Related Applications of Chitin and Chitosan in Foods: Effect of...

Table 2 (coi	ntinued)				
Applied methods	Materials	Physicochemical properties	Applied foods	Outcome	Reference
				the nano-chitosan solution when stored for 15 days at 4°C	
Edible coating	Chitin nanofibers	50–70 nm of diameters	Raw beef	The odor and overall acceptability were significantly improved by coating the gelatin-CMC films incorporated with chitin nanofiber for 12 days of storage at 4°C	[69]
	Chitosan film	Not available	Horse mackerel	The flavor could be retained well (scored at 3.5 compared to 2.2 of sample without chitosan packing, in a five-point scaled quantitative descriptive analysis) after 8 days of storage	[02]
	Chitosan film	85% DD, 400 kDa molecular weight	Grass carp fillets	Chitosan coatings resulted in significant attenuation of off-flavor compounds, such as trimethylamine, hypoxanthine, and histidine. They promoted the overall acceptance from 1.00 to up to 3.24 in a five-point scaled sensory evaluation at the 15th day of storage at 4°C	[54]
	Chitosan coating incorpo- rated with the lactoperoxidase system	85% DD, medium molecular weight	Rainbow trout	The sensory score of odor can be improved from 2.58 and 2.53 to 6.87 and 6.70 and overall acceptability in a 9-point scaled description by this coating system	[12]
	Chitosan	85% DD, 160 kDa molecular weight	Silver carp	After 30 days of refrigerated storage, the chitosan-coated group received a better score (about 4.8) than the control group (about 3.8) in a nine-point hedonic scale	[72]

184

	Chitosan	89% DD	Strawberries	1% of chitosan treatment showed no significant improvement in flavor stabil- ity when stored for 1 week at 2°C	[73]
	Chitosan	High molecular weight, 82.7% DD	Strawberries	2% of chitosan treatment could maintain edible quality of tested sample from 3 days to 21 days of storage	[74]
	Chitosan	95% DD	Papaya	The fruits showed acceptable quality in flavor, scored at 3.13 and 4.24 in a 5-point scale, for samples treated with 1.0 and 1.5% of chitosan solution, respectively	[75]
	Moringa oil/chitosan nanoparticles embedded gel- atin nanofibers	85% DD	Cheshire ched- dar cheese	Sensory scores for taste and overall acceptability were significantly improved with this treatment	[76]
	Water-soluble azido chitin derivative film	70 kDa molecular weight, degree of substitution of the azido derivative was 0.8	Ricotta Cheese	After 28 days of the storage experiment, the flavor and odor scored at 4-excellent for the 2% chitin treated sample whereas it was 2-fair for the untreated one	[77]
John L	Old NOCON NOCON	Componential abiteces OW compose	and all and a second	DD downo of doccontribution TDA thicked	deithing a sold

NCC N-carboxymethyl chitosan, NOCC N,O-carboxymethyl chitosan, CMC carboxymethyl cellulose, DD degree of deacetylation, TBA thiobarbituric acid, TBARS thiobarbituric acid reactive substances

descriptors. In the fresh burgers preserved with low  $SO_2$  (150 mg/kg), the sensory scores of rancid, acidic, and putrid odors developed were from 1.08, 1.08, and 1.05 to 2.14, 2.15, and 2.12, respectively, at the 21st day of storage, whereas with 0.02% and 0.05% chitosan addition, the scores of those odors were 1.76, 1.76, 1.56 and 1.59, 1.59, 1.85, respectively. Similar results were found in the storage of cooked pork burgers. The addition of chitosan could reduce the development of rancid odors, rancid flavors, putrid odors, and putrid flavors and retard the loss of meat odor and meat flavor during storage.

On the other hand, although chitin is considered to possess lower antioxidant and antimicrobial capabilities than chitosan, its nanofiber (CNF) formed materials could still be effective for improving the flavor stability of foods. Azarifa et al. [69] prepared a gelatin-CMC film incorporated with chitin nanofiber and reported that it could have a promising effect on the flavor stability of refrigerated raw beef. The odor and overall acceptability were significantly improved during 12 days of storage by coating the beef with the nanocomposite. The interaction between positively charged groups of CNF and the negative charges of the microbial membrane affected the permeability of the cell membrane, and this is considered to be the major mechanism for the antimicrobial effect of CNF.

Chitosan applications also promoted the flavor stability of aquatic products efficiently. Ahn and Lee [70] used chitosan film for packing lightly-salted horse mackerel, and they found that the flavor could be retained well (scored 3.5 compared to 2.2 for a sample without chitosan packing, in a five-point scaled quantitative descriptive analysis) after 8 days of storage. Yu et al. [54] investigated the effects of chitosan (400 kDa molecular weight, 85% DD) based coatings on flavor retention of refrigerated grass carp fillets. The results indicated that chitosan coatings resulted in a significant attenuation of off-flavor compounds such as trimethylamine, hypoxanthine, and histidine. Meanwhile, favorable flavor compounds such as inosine monophosphate and umami-associated free amino acid could be accumulated with this treatment. In sensory evaluation, chitosan coatings significantly retarded the sensory deterioration during storage, which could improve the overall acceptance from 1.00 to up to 3.24 in a five-point scaled quantitative descriptive analysis at the 15th day of storage at 4°C. Jasour et al. [71] used a chitosan (medium molecular weight, 85% DD) coating incorporated with the lactoperoxidase system to prevent rainbow trout from flavor deterioration during refrigerated storage for a period of 16 days. They evaluated the color, odor, texture, and general acceptability using a 9-point scaled description. The sensory score for odor could be improved from 2.58 and 2.53 to 6.87 and 6.70 of odor and overall acceptability by this coating system. Even coating with chitosan alone revealed a positive effect for improving the flavor stability; both the odor and acceptability were scored at 5.54. Fan et al. [72] compared the capability of chitosan (molecular weight of 160 kDa, 85% DD) and glacial acetic acid for improving the flavor stability of silver carp. After 30 days of refrigerated storage, the chitosan-coated group received a better score (about 4.8) than did the glacial acetic acid group (about 3.8) in a nine-point hedonic scale, owing to its ability to reduce the generation of TBA and total volatile basic nitrogen (TVB-N). Cao et al. [65] revealed that oysters pretreated by immersing in watersoluble chitosan (80–82% DD) solution retained better freshness flavor during storage. This was due to the growth inhibition effect of chitosan toward microorganisms.

#### 3.2.2 Other Foods

Due to their notable antioxidation and antimicrobial activities, chitin and chitosan can also be used to preserve the flavor of fruits, dairy, and cereal products. Strawberries could be one of the most perishable fruits, and they are characterized by a short shelf-life. Han et al. [73] developed 1% chitosan (89% DD) based solutions (containing 6% of organic acids) for coating strawberries. A trained panel developed appearance, texture, and flavor descriptors by evaluating chitosan-coated strawberries stored for 1 week at 2°C. However, the results indicated that no significant amelioration in the flavor of treated strawberries after the storage period. Another approach was conducted by Jesmin et al. [74], 2% of gamma radiation treated high molecular weight chitosan solution (82.7% DD, viscosity less than 200 mPa s and 2% acetic acid) was used to treat the test strawberries. They suggested that the treatment could remarkably prevent strawberries from weight loss (17% to about 2%) and the growth of microbes  $(2.00 \times 10^5 \text{ to } 1.04 \times 10^4 \text{ CFU/g})$ . Results from sensory evaluation showed that the treatment could maintain the edible quality of the tested samples from 3 days to 21 days of storage. From these results, it can be concluded that the concentration of chitosan used may play a crucial role in improving the flavor stability of strawberries. Han et al. [83] suggested that a 2% chitosan solution treatment could control the mold growth of strawberries, whereas the mold decay incidence of 1% chitosan treated strawberries was estimated to be over 70% after 2 weeks [73]. Cell wall degrading enzymes are suggested to be secreted onto the surface of strawberries along with the growth of microbes, and this results in the disruption of receptacles and the loss of flavor compounds. Furthermore, chitosan treatment can also help retard the flavor loss of papaya. Ali et al. [75] revealed that treatments with 1.0 and 1.5% of chitosan (95% DD) solution promoted the flavor stability of papaya. The fruits showed acceptable flavor quality; samples treated with 1.0 and 1.5% of chitosan solution scored 3.13 and 4.24 (in a 5-point scale), respectively. Interestingly, samples treated with 2.0% chitosan solution were not ripened properly during the experimental period of cold storage, and they were removed from the test due to unacceptable quality.

Dairy products are rich in nutrients and are good medium for growth of various microbes. The presence of undesirable bacteria in milk may cause a deterioration in flavor such as souring of milk, which may further lead to economic loss [84]. Several studies were conducted to use chitin and chitosan in controlling the development of undesirable flavors in dairy products. Seo et al. [68] prepared chitosan nanoparticles with an average diameter of 562 nm by a grinding method, dissolved them into a 0.3% ascorbic acid solution, and then added them into commercial milk at various concentrations. In the sensory evaluation, 8 trained sensory panelists were investigated and the rancidity, bitterness, astringency, and overall acceptability were investigated

on a 7-point scale. However, all of the sensory parameters were not significantly affected by the addition of the nano-chitosan solution when the milk was stored for 15 days at 4°C. Lin et al. [76] introduced chitosan (85% DD) moringa oil/chitosan nanoparticle embedded gelatin nanofibers as a preserving agent for reducing the flavor loss of Cheshire cheddar cheese. The cheese samples were wrapped with the nanofibers and stored at 25°C for 4 days. The sensory score for taste and overall acceptability were significantly improved with this treatment, owing to the inhibition activity toward the growth of L. monocytogenes and S. aureus. Most recently, Kritchenkov et al. [77] developed water-soluble azido chitin derivatives, which possessed high antibacterial activity, to preserve Ricotta cheese. This novel material was prepared by an ultrasound-assisted treatment of chitin (70 kDa) with 1-azido-3chloropropan-2-ol at 80°C. The prepared chitin had a degree of substitution of the azido derivative of 0.8, and it could be dissolved in water. Two percent of the azido chitin solution was used to treat the cheese sample. After 28 days of the storage experiment, the flavor and odor scored at 4-excellent for the treated sample, whereas it was 2-fair for the untreated one.

#### 4 Chitin and Chitosan for Food Debittering

# 4.1 The Bitter Taste in Food and debitterization Technologies

Bitterness is widely distributed in foods, and basically each chemical class contains bitter molecules [85]. This sensation originates from taste receptors (TR) localized on taste buds in the oral cavity. Humans have the ability to identify a broad range of materials as bitter, which indicates that bitter molecules occur in many variations. The most important representative bitter molecules are identified as certain alkaloids (e.g., nicotine, quinine, caffeine), terpenoids (e.g., isoalpha acid, amarogentine, limonoids), and flavonoids (e.g., naringin, neohesperidin, epigallocatechin gallate) [85]. Bitter taste can be considered a major problem in the food and pharmaceutical industries, owing to its negative hedonic impact on ingestion [86, 87]. In the past, bitterness reduction technology was focused on pharmaceuticals, however, recently, most research is conducted on the reduction of bitter taste or astringency in functional food or beverage applications. These foods and beverages possess inherent off-tastes because of their fortification with healthy but poor-tasting additives. Only in limited cases will consumers accept a strong bitter taste in food and beverages (e.g., in black or green tea, black coffee, beer, grapefruit products, or bitter lemons). For most other cases, a bitter taste has to be eliminated from food or masked since it is not desirable [85].

Foods, unlike drugs, are mainly selected by the consumer based on their sensory properties. Hindering the taste of drugs should be acceptable, whereas foods should taste delicious [88]. Recently, due to the demand for healthier foods or beverages, the problem of bitter-tasting food products is surfacing again. The ingestion of these foods/beverages is not only perceived as bitter but also as astringent and/or sour.

Reduced sugar, fat, and sodium for healthy benefits can also indicate sourness, astringency, and bitterness in the base matrices. Each modality is translated by different molecular sensing mechanisms in the oral cavity, and the sensation consciously recognized is a mixture that is difficult to separate into individual sensory tastes. Therefore, the complex mixture of sensations of foods makes masking off-tastes a big challenge [85].

Methods for dealing with this issue can be varied. In general, plant breeding has selected for less-bitter varieties and processing often involves chopping and peeling to remove the bitterest parts of the plant [88]. Another example is in the juice industry. Raw orange juices are debittered by using naringinase to cleavage the bitter naringin into the less bitter naringenin or naringin-7-O-glucoside. On the other hand, most of cloudy raw apple juices are processed to remove most of the bittertasting or astringent polyphenols to yield clear beverages [85]. Moreover, most commonly, bitterness is masked by additives. Among the most used additives are sodium ions which antagonize the bitter taste of a broad array of compounds. However, their activity varies a great deal, depending on the chemical nature of the bitter-tasting molecule, and in some cases, they have been proven to be quite inactive. Although bitter-taste blockers have been much explored, only a few have shown a wide spectrum of activity. In fact, none of them is known to be effective against all bitter compounds. Among other bitter-taste blockers, we can mention cyclodextrins, adenosine monophosphate, and certain protein combinations such as lactoglobulin bound to phosphatidic acid [89].

# 4.2 Chitin and Chitosan for Debitterization Use in Foods and Herbal Extracts

Due to its natural polycationic property, chitosan is known to act as clarification agent in the juice and beverage industries [90]. It could be effective in coagulating suspended particles through ionic interaction with negatively charged molecules and thus help separate them from juice and beverages. A wide array of successful applications have been reported in the literature such as in apple, grape, lemon, passion fruit, and pomegranate juices [90–92]. Along with the clarification process, some of the major bitter-tasting molecules, such as tannins and flavonoids in juice, could be removed and give products with a lower bitterness perception.

Another debitterization technology feature in chitosan application is encapsulation, which was frequently used in masking bitter-tasting bioactive molecules in herbal extracts and functional foods. Chitosan acts as a bitter taste blocker in this technology. It enables the bitter bioactive molecules to be encapsulated into the form of free-flowing micro/nano-capsules and then reduces the solubility of such bitter bioactives by providing a physical barrier to the taste buds [87, 93–98]. The resulting microcapsules can be blended with other ingredients for food formulation and processing. The advantage of encapsulation for taste-masking of bitter bioactives in functional foods is in the wide variety of dosage forms and product applications. In general, the coating polymer, chitosan, can be insoluble in a salivary environment at pH 6.8 and either readily dissolve in gastric fluid at pH 1.2 or it may be insoluble in gastric fluid but decomposed in the intestine fluids to release the bioactives [93]. This strategy may prevent the release of bitter-tasting bioactive molecules in the oral cavity after ingestion but allow their release where they should be absorbed. The technology can be achieved by dissolving/dispersing chitosan in a solvent or by incorporating the bitter-tasting bioactive molecule in a chitosan solution. Nowadays, most encapsulation in industry is achieved using fluidized bed processors where the coating solution is sprayed through a nozzle and dried with warm air.

Moreover, because of their high protein affinity, chitin and chitosan are promising supports for the immobilization of specific debitterization enzymes such as naringinase and exopeptidases in the food industry [99, 100]. The basic applications of chitosan for debitterization can thus be included in the aforementioned strategies (Fig. 6). The scientific publications of chitin and chitosan for Debitterization applications are addressed in Table 3.

#### 4.2.1 Chitin and Chitosan as Carriers for Debittering Enzymes

In the food industry, immobilized naringinase is used for enzymatic debittering of several citrus juices. It can promote the hydrolysis of bitter-tasting naringin into rhamnose and prunin and further cleave prunin to glucose and naringenin [109]. In this aspect, chitin and chitosan were both used as carriers for immobilization of naringinase. Tsen and Tsai [107] used a one-step method employing glutaraldehyde and sodium borohydride to immobilize naringinase from *Penicillium* sp. on chitin. The naringin content in grapefruit juice could be reduced to about 40% within 60 min of treatment with a capacity of about 10 times the column volume. Bodakowska-Boczniewicz and Garncarek [108] obtained chitosan (medium molecular weight) microspheres by reversed-phase suspension methodology, whereby glutaraldehyde was introduced as a cross-linking reagent for the immobilization of naringinase. The immobilization yields could be up to 31.97%, and the immobilized enzyme microspheres were used for debittering grapefruit juice. Compared to the soluble form of enzyme, the Km value of the immobilized naringinase was higher (2.56 vs. 6.59 mM), and the immobilized naringinase had good recycling stability. It retained 88.1% of its initial activity after 10 runs of the hydrolysis process from fresh grapefruit juice.

#### 4.2.2 The Removal of Bitter-Tasting Molecules in Foods by Chitosan

Chang and Juang [104] proposed chitosan (1,850 kDa molecular weight, 97.2% DD)/activated clay composite beads for removing tannic acid, the most important bitter-tasting molecules in various juices, from a model liquid system. The beads were found to effectively adsorb tannic acid with a quantitated capacity of 1,490 g/





	T T		-		
		Physicochemical			
Mechanism	Materials	properties	Applied foods	Outcome	Reference
Encapsulation	Chitosan-CDs adduct	70 kDa molecular weight	Caffeine and artichoke leaves, aloe and gentian extracts	Chitosan-β-CD adduct conferred the better debittering capacity than other tested groups (chitosan alone, CDs alone, and chitosan-γ-CD). It remarkably reduced the bitterness scores from 4.0 to 0.2 against caffeine, 5.0 to 0.9 against artichoke extract, 3.0 to 0.0 against gentian extract, and 3.0 to 0.0 against aloe extract in a 5-point scaled sensory evaluation	[68]
	Chitosan-coated alginate microcapsules	Medium-molecular weight, 75–85% DD	Flavoniods-rich herbal extract	Chitosan-coated alginate microcapsules had an efficiency for flavonoids up to 77.97% at optimum conditions: sodium alginate concentration 1.49%, extract concentration 1.58%, and CaCl <sub>2</sub> concentration 0.84%. The loaded flavonoids could be released gently in simulated gastric fluid and rapidly in simulated intestinal fluid	[101]
	Chitosan nanoparticles	75–98% DD, 10– 235 kDa molecular weight	Xanthohumol and lupulone from hop extract	Nanoparticles composed of chitosan with the lowest DD and highest molecular weight can retain a small amount of bitter compounds, indicating that the encapsulation may prevent those bitter-tasting molecules from attaching to the taste buds to give a bitter perception. The release of bitter-tasting bioactives increased by increasing the molecular weight of chitosan in a pH = 7 buffer system	[102]
	Chitosan nanoparticles	Not available	Bacoside-rich <i>Bacopa</i> monnieri extract	Nanoparticles composed of 0.1% chitosan, 0.15% TPP, and 15 mg/mL of extract have an average particle size about 220 nm, and the effi- ciency of encansulation was 52.0%	[103]

Table 3 Scientific publications reporting the Debitterization applications of chitin and chitosan

[104]	[105]	[106]	[107]	[108]	[66]
Chitosan/activated clay composite beads were found to effectively adsorb tannic acid with a quantitated capacity of 1,490 g/kg	Chitosan with the lowest DD of 81.23% could have the highest capacity for reducing the con- tents of major bitterness molecules, limonin (58.56%) and naringin (22.26%)	2% of carboxymethyl chitosan at pH 7.5 for 58 min may greatly reduce the content of $\alpha$ -acid, $\beta$ -acid, and iso- $\alpha$ -acid	Naringin content could be reduced to about 40% within 60 min of treatment with a capacity of about 10 times of column volume	Immobilized naringinase had a km value of 6.59 mM towards naringin; it retained 88.1% of its initial activity after 10 runs of hydrolysis process	The immobilized porcine pancreatic exopepti- dases was effective in releasing the free amino acids from peptides, leading to the removal or a decrease in bitterness
Model liquid system	Lime juice	Yeast paste derived from beer process	Grapefruit juice	Grapefruit juice	Casein hydrolysates
97.2% DD, 1,850 kDa molecular weight	81.23–90.54% DD	85% DD, 80% degree of substitution	Not available	Medium molecular weight	Not available
Chitosan/activated clay composite	Chitosan	Carboxymethyl chitosan	Chitin	Chitosan microspheres	Chitin
Adsorption			Enzyme carriers		

DD degree of deacetylation, CD cyclodextrin, TPP tripolyphosphate

kg, which is much higher than those previously reported on organoclay and activated carbon, 110 and 25 g/kg, respectively [110]. Deatcheewa and Buri [105] investigated the effect of DD and concentrated chitosan on the reduction of lime juice bitterness. They found that chitosan with the lowest DD of 81.23% could have the highest capacity for reducing the content of the major bitterness molecules, limonin (58.56%) and naringin (22.26%), among all tested groups. Consequently, the decrease in the DD of chitosan resulted in a decrease of bitterness scoring in sensory evaluation. However, the molecular weights of these tested chitosans were addressed in this study. In general, the deacetylation process is frequently followed by a significant decrement in the molecular weight of chitosan, hinting that the chitosan tested with relatively high DD may have lower molecular weight than others. Therefore, the molecular weight of chitosan may also play a role in this study. Jiang et al. [106] attempted to recover the yeast paste derived from beer processing and use it as a novel healthy food. Carboxymethyl chitosan (85% DD, 80% of degree of substitution) was used for debittering the paste, focusing on the removal of  $\alpha$ -acid,  $\beta$ -acid, and iso- $\alpha$ -acid. The optimal conditions determined by response surface methodology (RSM) experiments were treatment by adding 2% of carboxymethyl chitosan at pH 7.5 for 58 min. Ye et al. [111] further described the debittering capacity of carboxymethyl chitosan in this food system. They found that a 15.19–19.49 mg/L reduction of iso- $\alpha$ -acid concentration could be achieved by 1 g of carboxymethyl chitosan. Li et al. [112] constructed a chitosan (550 kDa molecular weight, 85.3% DD)-Ce<sup>4+</sup> microsphere resin system to remove the bitter-tasting molecules in processed orange juice. The adsorption system could effectively remove 43.2% of limonin and 54.86% of naringin from juice without significant nutrition loss.

Taking the aforementioned studies into consideration, chitosan was not only capable of removing bitter-tasting phenolics in juice products, but it also shows a high capacity for interacting with non-phenolic compounds such as limonin and iso- $\alpha$ -acid which provide significant bitterness in foods.

#### 4.2.3 Encapsulation Technology

Chitosan itself presents strong astringency when dissolved in acidic medium, and this limits its use in oral ingestion [113]. However, when integrated with other polymers into composites or by reducing the particle size to nano-scale, it is capable of acting as an effective bitter-taste-blocker for bitterness bioactives instead of providing an astringent perception. Binello et al. [89] prepared chitosan (70 kDa molecular weight) cyclodextrin (CD) adducts using a malonyl or a succinyl bridge between these two polymers by a series of chemical syntheses, and they tested the bitter-masking potential of these materials against caffeine and artichoke leaves and aloe and gentian extracts. As a result, the chitosan- $\beta$ -CD adduct conferred better debittering capacity than other tested groups (chitosan alone, CDs alone, and chitosan- $\gamma$ -CD). It remarkably reduced the bitterness scores from 4.0 to 0.2 against caffeine, 5.0 to 0.9 against artichoke extract, 3.0 to 0.0 against gentian extract, and 3.0 to 0.0 against aloe extract in a 5-point scaled sensory evaluation. It is worth mentioning that chitosan alone provided a notable debittering effect as well, but it was accompanied by a strong unpleasant astringent sensation which may limit its use. Another composite proposed by Khorshidian et al. [101] also demonstrated its capability for encapsulating bitter-tasting molecules. Medium-molecular weight chitosan (75–85% DD) was introduced to prepare chitosan-coated alginate micro-capsules by using the CaCl<sub>2</sub> method followed by filtration and centrifugation. The microcapsules were then loaded with herbal galactagogue extract (containing *Foeniculum vulgare, Cuminum cyminum, Trigonella foenum,* and *Anethum graveolens* extracts, rich in flavonoids). The encapsulation efficiency of flavonoids can be up to 77.97% at the optimum conditions: sodium alginate concentration of 1.49%, extract concentration of 1.58%, and CaCl<sub>2</sub> concentration of 0.84%. The loaded flavonoids could be released gently in simulated gastric fluid (SGF) and rapidly in simulated intestinal fluid (SIF); this demonstrated a desirable controlled release profile.

Leonida et al. [102] investigated the encapsulation properties of chitosan toward two specific compounds in hop extracts, xanthohumol and lupulone. These are known for their antimicrobial activity, but this is accompanied by an extremely bitter taste. Researchers prepared chitosan (varied in molecular weights and DDs) nanoparticles by ultrasonication-assisted ionic interaction with tripolyphosphate (TPP). The particle sizes ranged from 28.1 to 49.4 nm when loaded with the bioactive compounds. Notably, two different types of chitosan were used in this study, including chitosan prepared from shrimp shells (190-235 kDa molecular weight, 75% DD) and from enzymatic treatment (4, 10, and 50 kDa molecular weight, 98% DD). In the in vitro release study, they found that the release of bitter-tasting bioactives was increased by increasing the molecular weight of chitosan in a pH = 7 buffer system. Nanoparticles composed of shrimp shell chitin (with a relatively high molecular weight and low DD) can retain a small amount of bitter compounds. This indicated that encapsulation may prevent those bitter-tasting molecules from attaching to the taste bud to perform the bitter perception because the pH value of saliva is around 6.2–7.6, which is similar to the test condition. On the other hand, it may also hint that the release would be low in a neutral intestinal environment as well, which could limit the absorption and further bioavailability. However, the results still recommend the nanocomposites as interesting for further study in food applications as preservatives and for oral administration. Anand et al. [103] also demonstrated the potential of chitosan-TPP nanoparticles as encapsulation matrices that reduce the bitterness of bacoside-rich Bacopa monnieri extract (BME). They used RSM experiments to find the optimal conditions which were 0.1% chitosan, 0.15% TPP, and 15 mg/mL of BME. The nanocomposites prepared in these conditions had an average particle size of about 220 nm, and the efficiency of encapsulation was 52.0%. These technologies may facilitate the supplementation of bioactive compounds in various functional food formulations through their biochemical and physiological activity.

# 5 Summary

In food industry, products are mainly preferred by consumers based on their sensory qualities, and flavor is the most important among all indices. Chitin and chitosan are versatile materials with proven flavor-improving capabilities for specific food products. Physical and chemical modifications including three flavor-improving strategies using chitin and chitosan have been reviewed: (1) the particle or fibril form of materials as saltiness enhancers; (2) intact addition or edible film/coatings for improving flavor stability; (3) removing or encapsulating bitter-tasting molecules.

For use in saltiness enhancement, chitosan/NaCl and chitosan/maltodextrin/NaCl microparticles had a stronger salty perception than common market table salt. This is mainly because the average particle size ( $<32 \mu m$ ) is less than the general salt products (about 500  $\mu$ m), and there are a large number of NaCl crystals (<4  $\mu$ m) distributed on the surface of the particle matrix. Therefore, in the oral cavity, NaCl crystal can quickly dissolve and rapidly improve the concentration of Na<sup>+</sup> and have a strong salty perception. This strategy belongs to the particle size and shape alteration/enhanced dissolution rate in the aspect of sodium reduction applications. It can be used as highly salty sprinkle salt with low sodium content to season the surface of dried foods such as popcorn and chips. However, it is not suitable for use in liquid foods where the dissolved particles do not retain this dominant structure and therefore do not enhance the perception of saltiness. Instead the particles produce an astringent taste due to the presence of chitosan in the system. Chitin is particularly hard to dissolve in water. By mechanical disassembly or chemical modification methods, chitin nanomaterials, including chitin nanofibers and chitin nanocrystals, can be obtained, and these are able to form a stable suspension in water. When NaCl is added to a chitin nanomaterial suspension, the amine groups on chitin are able to absorb chloride ions due to the electrostatic interaction, resulting in a decrease in the zeta potential of the suspension system, which could reduce the astringency of the suspension as well as increase the concentration of free Na+ in the solution, resulting in an improved saltiness perception. This could be categorized into the alteration of food composition sodium reduction strategy, which can be used in soups, sauces (such as soy sauce, oyster sauce, bean paste), pickled foods, and seasoning bags of ready-to-eat food to achieve the purpose of reducing sodium.

Furthermore, chitosan possesses significant antioxidation and antimicrobial activities. It is able to improve the flavor stability of various foods by directly incorporating it into the composition or by coating it onto the surface. Chitosan with high molecular weight can inhibit the growth of Gram-positive bacteria, which would likely make it suitable for use in meat foods such as sausage. When used as a coating solution, the concentration of chitosan may significantly affect the preserving capacity. The use of chitin in this field is limited due to its lower DD than that of chitosan, resulting in relatively low antioxidation and antimicrobial activities. However, it could be applicable when it undergoes specific structural or chemical modification.

Moreover, chitosan revealed high adsorption capacity toward specific bittertasting molecules. Therefore, it could act as a coagulant and remove them from the food system. Also, due to the remarkable binding capacity toward negatively charged compounds, it could effectively encapsulate the bitterness bioactives to prevent them from being perceived by bitter sensors in the oral cavity. Chitin and chitosan could also be used as carriers for Debittering enzyme immobilization in order to obtain products with desirable flavor.

Acknowledgment The authors express their appreciation for the financial support from the Ministry of Science and Technology, Taiwan, ROC (MOST 109-2320-B-019-006 and MOST 106-2320-B-019-002-MY3).

# References

- Bakshi PS, Selvakumar D, Kadirvelu K, Kumar NS (2020) Chitosan as an environment friendly biomaterial – a review on recent modifications and applications. Int J Biol Macromol 150:1072–1083
- Kaya M, Baran T, Erdoğan S, Menteş A, Özüsağlam MA, Çakmak YS (2014) Physicochemical comparison of chitin and chitosan obtained from larvae and adult Colorado potato beetle (*Leptinotarsa decemlineata*). Mater Sci Eng C 45:72–81
- 3. Yadav M, Goswami P, Paritosh K, Kumar M, Pareek N, Vivekanand V (2019) Seafood waste: a source for preparation of commercially employable chitin/chitosan materials. Bioresour Bioprocess 6(1):8
- 4. Philibert T, Lee BH, Fabien N (2017) Current status and new perspectives on chitin and chitosan as functional biopolymers. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 181:1314–1337
- Somsak P, Sriwattana S, Prinyawiwatkul W (2020) Ultrasonic-assisted chitin nanoparticle and its application as saltiness enhancer. Int J Food Sci Technol. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijfs.14715
- Tsai WC, Wang ST, Chang KLB, Tsai ML (2019) Enhancing saltiness perception using chitin nanomaterials. Polymers 11:719
- 7. Rinaudo M (2006) Chitin and chitosan: properties and applications. Prog Polym Sci 31:603-632
- Chang FS, Chin HY, Tsai ML (2018) Preparation of chitin with puffing pretreatment. Res Chem Intermed 44:4939–4955
- Hsu CH, Chen SK, Chen WY, Tsai ML, Chen RH (2015) Effect of the characters of chitosans used and regeneration conditions on the yield and physicochemical characteristics of regenerated products. Int J Mol Sci 16:8621–8634
- Jiang WJ, Tsai ML, Liu T (2017) Chitin nanofiber as a promising candidate for improved salty taste. LWT-Food Sci Technol 75:65–71
- Shamshina JL, Berton P, Rogers RD (2019) Advances in functional chitin materials: a review. ACS Sustain Chem Eng 7(7):6444–6457
- Panouillé M, Saint-Eve A, de Loubens C, Déléris I, Souchon I (2011) Understanding of the influence of composition, structure and texture on salty perception in model dairy products. Food Hydrocoll 25:716–723
- Albarracín W, Sánchez IC, Grau R, Barat JM (2011) Salt in food processing; usage and reduction: a review. Int J Food Sci Technol 46:1329–1336
- 14. Daugirdas JT (2013) Potential importance of low-sodium bread and breakfast cereal to a reduced sodium diet. J Ren Nutr 23(1):1–3
- Liem DG, Miremadi F, Keast RS (2011) Reducing sodium in foods: the effect on flavor. Nutrients 3:694–711
- 16. Desmond E (2006) Reducing salt: a challenge for the meat industry. Meat Sci 74:188-196

- Campagnol PCB, dos Santos BA, Terra NN, Pollonio MAR (2012) Lysine, disodium guanylate and disodium inosinate as flavor enhancers in low-sodium fermented sausages. Meat Sci 91:334–338
- Kilcast D, Den Ridder C (2007) Sensory issues in reducing salt in food products. In: Kilcast D, Angus F (eds) Reducing salt in foods, vol 10. Woodhead, Sawston, pp 201–220
- Koliandris AL, Morris C, Hewson L, Hort J, Taylor AJ, Wolf B (2010) Correlation between saltiness perception and shear flow behaviour for viscous solutions. Food Hydrocoll 24:792–799
- Phan VA, Yven C, Lawrence G, Chabanet C, Reparet JM, Salles C (2008) In vivo sodium release related to salty perception during eating model cheeses of different textures. Int Dairy J 18:956–963
- Quilaqueo M, Duizer L, Aguilera JM (2015) The morphology of salt crystals affects the perception of saltiness. Food Res Int 76:675–681
- 22. Mosca AC, Andriot I, Guichard E, Salles C (2015) Binding of Na<sup>+</sup> ions to proteins: effect on taste perception. Food Hydrocoll 51:33–40
- Hsueh CY, Tsai ML, Liu T (2017) Enhancing saltiness perception using chitin nanofibers when curing tilapia fillets. LWT-Food Sci Technol 86:93–98
- Yi C, Tsai ML, Liu T (2017) Spray-dried chitosan/acid/NaCl microparticles enhance saltiness perception. Carbohydr Polym 172:246–254
- 25. Lu YY, Wang ST, Shih MC, Tsai ML (2019) Chitosan/NaCl microparticles used as sodium reduction strategy: studies on the physicochemical characteristics and optimization of preparation conditions. J Fish Soc Taiwan 46(1):65–77
- 26. Tseng H, Ki F, Sakamoto M (1995) Bromination of regenerated chitin with Nbromosuccinimide and triphenylphosphine under homogeneous conditions in lithium bromide-N,N-dimethylacetamide. Carbohydr Res 270(2):149–161
- Hu X, Du Y, Tang Y, Wang Q, Feng T, Yang J, Kennedy JF (2007) Solubility and property of chitin in NaOH/urea aqueous solution. Carbohydr Polym 70(4):451–458
- Mine S, Izawa H, Kaneko Y, Kadokawa JI (2009) Acetylation of α-chitin in ionic liquids. Carbohydr Res 344(16):2263–2265
- Ifuku S, Nogi M, Abe K, Yoshioka M, Morimoto M, Saimoto H, Yano H (2009) Preparation of chitin nanofibers with a uniform width as alpha-chitin from crab shells. Biomacromolecules 10:1584–1588
- 30. Ifuku S, Nogi M, Yoshioka M, Morimoto M, Yano H, Saimoto H (2010) Fibrillation of dried chitin into 10–20 nm nanofibers by a simple grinding method under acidic conditions. Carbohydr Polym 81:134–139
- Suenaga S, Nikaido N, Totani K, Kawasaki K, Ito Y, Yamashita K, Osada M (2016) Effect of purification method of beta-chitin from squid pen on the properties of beta-chitin nanofibers. Int J Biol Macromol 91:987–993
- 32. Salaberria AM, Fernandes SC, Dia RH, Labidi J (2015) Processing of α-chitin nanofibers by dynamic high pressure homogenization: characterization and antifungal activity against *A. niger*. Carbohydr Polym 116:286–291
- Mushi NE, Butchosa N, Salajkova M, Zhou Q, Berglund LA (2014) Nanostructured membranes based on native chitin nanofibers prepared by mild process. Carbohydr Polym 112:255–263
- 34. Goodrich JD, Winter WT (2007) α-Chitin nanocrystals prepared from shrimp shells and their specific surface area measurement. Biomacromolecules 8:252–257
- 35. Fan Y, Saito T, Isogai A (2008) Chitin nanocrystals prepared by TEMPO-mediated oxidation of  $\alpha$ -chitin. Biomacromolecules 9:192–198
- 36. Fan Y, Saito T, Isogai A (2010) Individual chitin nano-whiskers prepared from partially deacetylated α-chitin by fibril surface cationization. Carbohydr Polym 79:1046–1051
- 37. Ding F, Deng H, Du Y, Shi X, Wang Q (2014) Emerging chitin and chitosan nanofibrous materials for biomedical applications. Nanoscale 6:9477–9493

- Ifuku S, Saimoto H (2012) Chitin nanofibers: preparations, modifications, and applications. Nanoscale 4:3308–3318
- 39. Ifuku S, Nogi M, Abe K, Yoshioka M, Morimoto M, Saimoto H, Yano H (2011) Simple preparation method of chitin nanofibers with a uniform width of 10–20 nm from prawn shell under neutral conditions. Carbohydr Polym 84:762–764
- 40. Mincea M, Negrulescu A, Ostafe V (2012) Preparation, modification, and applications of chitin nanowhiskers: a review. Rev Adv Mater Sci 30:225–242
- Jayakumar R, Prabaharan M, Nair SV, Tamura H (2010) Novel chitin and chitosan nanofibers in biomedical applications. Biotechnol Adv 28(1):142–150
- 42. Luck P, Vårum KM, Foegeding EA (2015) Charge related astringency of chitosans. Food Hydrocoll 48:174 –178
- Breslin PA (1996) Interactions among salty, sour and bitter compounds. Trends Food Sci Technol 7(12):390–399
- 44. Keast RS, Breslin PA (2003) An overview of binary taste–taste interactions. Food Qual Prefer 14(2):111–124
- 45. Drost BW, Van den Berg R, Freijee FJM, Van der Velde EG, Hollemans M (1990) Flavor stability. J Am Soc Brew Chem 48(4):124–131
- Weerawatanakom M, Wu JC, Pan MH, Ho CT (2015) Reactivity and stability of selected flavor compounds. J Food Drug Anal 23(2):176–190
- 47. No HK, Meyers SP, Prinyawiwatkul W, Xu Z (2007) Applications of chitosan for improvement of quality and shelf life of foods: a review. J Food Sci 72(5):R87–R100
- 48. Sato K, Hegarty GR (1971) Warmed-over flavor in cooked meats. J Food Sci 36 (7):1098–1102
- 49. St. Angelo AJ, Bailey ME (eds) (1987) Warmed-over flavor of meat. Elsevier, London
- Dalgaard P (2003) Spoilage of seafood. In: Caballero B, Trugo L, Finglas P (eds) Encyclopedia of food science and nutrition. Academic Press, London, pp 2462–2472
- 51. Gram L, Huss HH (1996) Microbiological spoilage of fish and fish products. Int J Food Microbiol 33:121–137
- Oehlenschläger J (2014) Seafood quality assessment. In: Boziaris IS (ed) Seafood processing: technology, quality and safety. IFST advances in food science series. Wiley-Blackwell, Hoboken, pp 361–386
- 53. Olafsdottir G, Martinsdbttir E, Oehlenschbger J, Dalgaard P, Jensen B, Undeland I, Mackie IM, Henehan G, Nielsen J, Nilsen H (1997) Methods to evaluate fish freshness in research and industry. A review. Trends Food Sci Technol 8:258–265
- 54. Yu D, Xu Y, Regenstein JM, Xia W, Yang F, Jiang Q, Wang B (2018) The effects of edible chitosan-based coatings on flavor quality of raw grass carp (*Ctenopharyngodon idellus*) fillets during refrigerated storage. Food Chem 242:412–420
- 55. Kamil JY, Jeon YJ, Shahidi F (2002) Antioxidative activity of chitosans of different viscosity in cooked comminuted flesh of herring (*Clupea harengus*). Food Chem 79:69–77
- 56. No HK, Park NY, Lee SH, Meyers SP (2002) Antibacterial activity of chitosans and chitosan oligomers with different molecular weights. Int J Food Microbiol 74:65–72
- 57. Hafsa J, Smach MA, Charfeddine B, Limem K, Majdoub H, Rouatbi S (2016) Antioxidant and antimicrobial proprieties of chitin and chitosan extracted from *Parapenaeus longirostris* shrimp shell waste. Ann Pharm Fr 74(1):27–33
- Zheng LY, Zhu JF (2003) Study on antimicrobial activity of chitosan with different molecular weights. Carbohydr Polym 54(4):527–530
- Kanatt SR, Chander R, Sharma A (2008) Chitosan and mint mixture: a new preservative for meat and meat products. Food Chem 107(2):845–852
- Kamil YVVA, Jeon Y, Shahidi F (2002) Antioxidative activity of different viscosity in cooked comminuted flesh of herring (*Clupea harengus*). Food Chem 79(1):69–77
- 61. Xue C, Yu G, Hirata T, Terao J, Lin H (1998) Antioxidative activities of several marine polysaccharides evaluated in a phosphatidylcholine-liposomal suspension and organic solvent. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 62(2):206–209

- Jeon YJ, Shahidi F, Kim SK (2000) Preparation of chitin and chitosan oligomers and their applications in physiological functional foods. Food Rev Int 16(2):159–176
- 63. St. Angelo AJ, Vercellotti JR (1989) Inhibition of warmed-over flavor and preserving of uncured meat containing materials. US Patent 4,871,556
- Shahidi F, Arachchi JKV, Jeon YJ (1999) Food applications of chitin and chitosans. Trends Food Sci Technol 10(2):37–51
- 65. Cao R, Xue CH, Liu Q (2009) Changes in microbial flora of Pacific oysters (*Crassostrea gigas*) during refrigerated storage and its shelf-life extension by chitosan. Int J Food Microbiol 131(2–3):272–276
- 66. Jo C, Lee JW, Lee KH, Byun MW (2001) Quality properties of pork sausage prepared with water-soluble chitosan oligomer. Meat Sci 59:369–375
- 67. Serrano R, Bañón S (2012) Reducing SO<sub>2</sub> in fresh pork burgers by adding chitosan. Meat Sci 92(4):651–658
- Seo MH, Chang YH, Lee S, Kwak HS (2011) The physicochemical and sensory properties of milk supplemented with ascorbic acid-soluble nano-chitosan during storage. Int J Dairy Technol 64(1):57–63
- 69. Azarifar M, Ghanbarzadeh B, Abdulkhani A (2020) The effects of gelatin-CMC films incorporated with chitin nanofiber and *Trachyspermum ammi* essential oil on the shelf life characteristics of refrigerated raw beef. Int J Food Microbiol 318:108493
- 70. Ahn CB, Lee EH (1992) Utilization of chitin prepared from the shellfish crust 2. Effect of chitosan film packing on quality of lightly-salted and dried horse mackerel. Korean J Fish Aquat Sci 25(1):51–57
- 71. Jasour MS, Ehsani A, Mehryar L, Naghibi SS (2015) Chitosan coating incorporated with the lactoperoxidase system: an active edible coating for fish preservation. J Sci Food Agric 95 (6):373–1378
- 72. Fan W, Sun J, Chen Y, Qiu J, Zhang Y, Chi Y (2009) Effects of chitosan coating on quality and shelf life of silver carp during frozen storage. Food Chem 115(1):66–70
- Han C, Lederer C, McDaniel M, Zhao Y (2005) Sensory evaluation of fresh strawberries (*Fragaria ananassa*) coated with chitosan-based edible coatings. J Food Sci 70(3):S172–S178
- 74. Jesmin S, Al-Jubayer A, Bin Eusuf S, Kamal AHM, Islam JM, Ferdoush F, Kabir SE, Khan MA (2016) Gamma radiation treated chitosan solution for strawberry preservation: physico-chemical properties and sensory evaluation. Int Lett Nat Sci 60:30–37
- 75. Ali A, Muhammad MTM, Sijam K, Siddiqui Y (2011) Effect of chitosan coatings on the physicochemical characteristics of Eksotika II papaya (*Carica papaya L.*) fruit during cold storage. Food Chem 124(2):620–626
- 76. Lin L, Gu Y, Cui H (2019) Moringa oil/chitosan nanoparticles embedded gelatin nanofibers for food packaging against *Listeria monocytogenes* and *Staphylococcus aureus* on cheese. Food Packag Shelf Life 19:86–93
- 77. Kritchenkov AS, Kletskov AV, Egorov AR, Tskhovrebov AG, Kurliuk AV, Zhaliazniak NV, Shakola TV, Khrustalev VN (2020) New water-soluble chitin derivative with high antibacterial properties for potential application in active food coatings. Food Chem 343:128696
- 78. Park SM, Youn SK, Kim HJ, Ahn DH (1999) Studies on the improvement of storage property in meat sausage using chitosan-I. J Korean Soc Food Sci Nutr 28(1):167–171
- Youn SK, Park SM, Kim YJ, Ahn DH (1999) Effect on storage property and quality in meat sausage by added chitosan. J Chitin Chitosan 4(4):189–195
- Youn SK, Park SM, Ahn DH (2000) Studies on the improvement of storage property in meat sausage using chitosan-II. Difference of storage property by molecular weight of chitosan. J Korean Soc Food Sci Nutr 29(5):849–853
- Youn SK, Park SM, Kim YJ, Ahn DH (2001) Studies on substitution effect of chitosan against sodium nitrite in pork sausage. Korean J Food Sci Technol 33(5):551–559
- Dias FS, Ramos CL, Schwan RF (2013) Characterization of spoilage bacteria in pork sausage by PCR-DGGE analysis. Food Sci Technol 33(3):468–474

- 83. Han C, Zhao Y, Leonard SW, Traber MG (2004) Edible coatings to improve storability and enhance nutritional value of fresh and frozen strawberries (*Fragaria× ananassa*) and raspberries (*Rubus ideaus*). Postharvest Biol Technol 33(1):67–78
- Saha BK, Ali MY, Chakraborty M, Islam Z, Hira AK (2003) Study on the preservation of raw milk with hydrogen peroxide (HO). Pak J Nutr 2(1):36–42
- 85. Ley JP (2008) Masking bitter taste by molecules. Chemosens Percept 1(1):58-77
- 86. Drewnoswki A (2001) The science and complexity of bitter taste. Nutr Rev 59(6):163-169
- Drewnowski A, Gomez-Carneros C (2000) Bitter taste, phytonutrients, and the consumer: a review. Am J Clin Nutr 72(6):1424–1435
- Coupland JN, Hayes JE (2014) Physical approaches to masking bitter taste: lessons from food and pharmaceuticals. Pharm Res 31(11):2921–2939
- Binello A, Cravotto G, Nano GM, Spagliardi P (2004) Synthesis of chitosan–cyclodextrin adducts and evaluation of their bitter-masking properties. Flavour Fragr J 19(5):394–400
- 90. Chatterjee S, Chatterjee S, Chatterjee BP, Guha AK (2004) Clarification of fruit juice with chitosan. Process Biochem 39(12):2229–2232
- 91. Tastan O, Baysal T (2015) Clarification of pomegranate juice with chitosan: changes on quality characteristics during storage. Food Chem 180:211–218
- 92. Domingues RCC, Junior SBF, Silva RB, Cardoso VL, Reis MHM (2012) Clarification of passion fruit juice with chitosan: effects of coagulation process variables and comparison with centrifugation and enzymatic treatments. Process Biochem 47(3):467–471
- 93. Sun-Waterhouse D, Wadhwa SS (2013) Industry-relevant approaches for minimizing the bitterness of bioactive compounds in functional foods: a review. Food Bioproc Tech 6 (3):607–627
- Young SL, Sarda X, Rosenberg M (1993) Microencapsulating properties of whey proteins.
  Combination of whey proteins with carbohydrates. J Dairy Sci 76:2878–2885
- Yoo SH, Song YB, Chang PS, Lee HG (2006) Microencapsulation of alpha-tocopherol using sodium alginate and its controlled release properties. Int J Biol Macromol 38(1):25–30
- 96. Mozafari MR, Khosravi-Darani K, Borazan GG, Jian C, Pardakhty A, Yurdugul S (2008) Encapsulation of food ingredients using nanoliposome technology. Int J Food Prop 11 (4):833–844
- 97. Given PS (2009) Encapsulation of flavors in emulsions for beverages. Curr Opin Colloid Interface Sci 14(1):43–47
- Lee JS, Kim HW, Chung D, Lee HG (2009) Catechin-loaded calcium pectinate microparticles reinforced with liposome and hydroxypropylmethylcellulose: optimization and in vivo antioxidant activity. Food Hydrocoll 23(8):2226–2233
- 99. Ge SJ, Zhang LX (1996) The immobilized porcine pancreatic exopeptidases and its application in casein hydrolysates debittering. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 59(2):159–165
- 100. Tsen HY (1984) Factors affecting the inactivation of naringinase immobilized on chitin during debittering of fruit juice. J Ferment Technol 62(3):263–267
- 101. Khorshidian N, Mahboubi A, Kalantari N, Hosseini H, Yousefi M, Arab M, Cruz AG, Mortazavian A, Mahdavi FS (2019) Chitosan-coated alginate microcapsules loaded with herbal galactagogue extract: formulation optimization and characterization. Iran J Pharm Res 18(3):1180
- 102. Leonida MD, Belbekhouche S, Benzecry A, Peddineni M, Suria A, Carbonnier B (2018) Antibacterial hop extracts encapsulated in nanochitosan matrices. Int J Biol Macromol 120:1335–1343
- 103. Anand T, Jalarama RK, Ramya S, Khanum F (2018) Optimization of conditions for nanoencapsulation of bacoside rich extract by RSM technique and its characterization. Front Nanosci Nanotechnol 4:1–7
- 104. Chang MY, Juang RS (2004) Adsorption of tannic acid, humic acid, and dyes from water using the composite of chitosan and activated clay. J Colloid Interface Sci 278(1):18–25

- 105. Deatcheewa N, Waiprib Y (2008) Effect of degree of deacetylation of chitosan on reduction of lime juice bitterness. In: Proceedings of the 46th Kasetsart University annual conference, Kasetsart, Thailand, pp 163–170
- 106. Jiang QH, Ye SQ, Wang Y (2012) Optimization of carboxymethyl chitosan debittering beer paste via response surface methodology. Guangdong Agr Sci 23:88–91
- 107. Tsen HY, Tsai SY (1988) Comparison of the kinetics and factors affecting the stabilities of chitin-immobilized naringinases from two fungal sources. J Ferment Technol 66(2):193–198
- Bodakowska-Boczniewicz J, Garncarek Z (2019) Immobilization of naringinase from *Peni*cillium decumbens on chitosan microspheres for debittering grapefruit juice. Molecules 24 (23):4234
- 109. Sindhu R, Shiburaj S, Sabu A, Fernandes P, Singhal R, Mathew GM, Nair IC, Jayachandran K, Vidya J, Vandenberghe LPS, Deniz I, Madhavan A, Binod P, Sukumaran RK, Kumar SS, Anusree M, Nagavekar N, Soumya M, Jayakumar A, Radhakrishnan EK, Karp SG, Giovana M, Pagnoncelli MGB, Pereira GVM, Soccol CR, Dogan S, Pandey A (2021) Enzyme technology in food processing: recent developments and future prospects. In: Knoerzer K, Muthukumarappan K (eds) Innovative food processing technologies: a comprehensive review. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 191–215
- 110. Hsieh CT, Teng H (2000) Influence of mesopore volume and adsorbate size on adsorption capacities of activated carbons in aqueous solutions. Carbon 38(6):863–869
- 111. Ye SQ, Han R, Lin CC, Jiang QH (2017) Debittering effect of carboxymethyl chitosan on beer-brewing yeast slurry. Modern Food Sci Technol 33(4):149–153. 194
- 112. Li HY, Wang DF, Yu LN, Zhu WJ (2008) Effects of resins of chitosan-Ce(4+) microspheres on bittering and quality of orange juice. Chin Rare Earths 29(4):21–25
- 113. Rodriguez MS, Albertengo LA, Vitale I, Agullo E (2003) Relationship between astringency and chitosan-saliva solutions turbidity at different pH. J Food Sci 68(2):665–667

# Modified Chitosan Films/Coatings for Active Food Packaging



#### P. K. Dutta, Srasti Yadav, and G. K. Mehrotra

# Contents

1	History of Packaging: An Introduction	 204
2	Desirable Properties of Bio-Based Packaging Films	 205
3	Chitosan for Food Packaging	 206
	3.1 Preparative Methods of Modified Chitosan	 206
	3.2 Structure–Property Relationships	 207
	3.3 UV–Vis Spectroscopy	 213
	3.4 Water Vapor Permeability (WVP)	 214
	3.5 Water Solubility	 215
	3.6 Swelling Properties	 216
	3.7 Oxygen Permeability (OP)	 217
	3.8 Antioxidant Activity	 217
	3.9 Antibacterial Activity	 219
4	Smart Packaging Property	 220
	4.1 Nanotechnology	 220
	4.2 Sensing Ability	 221
5	Other Chitosan Food Packaging Films	 221
6	Other Chitosan Coating Forming Food Packaging	 221
7	Modern Food Packaging Techniques	 224
	7.1 3D Printing for Food	 224
	7.2 Plasma Technology	 225
8	Concluding Remarks	 226
Re	eferences	 226

**Abstract** Chitosan (glucosamine) the first derivative of chitin is considered more promising in food packaging due to its versatility in all aspects. Chitosan can easily be modified by chemical reactions, forming composite by incorporating many active

P. K. Dutta (🖂), S. Yadav, and G. K. Mehrotra

Polymer Research Laboratory, Department of Chemistry, Motilal Nehru National Institute of Technology, Allahabad, Uttar Pradesh, India e-mail: pkd@mnnit.ac.in

components to obtain film/coating. The bio-molecular architecture of chitosan provides excellent properties which are very much essential to active food packaging. This chapter aims to review the application of modified chitosan films/coatings with an emphasis on the structure–property relationship, a crucial component in search for the best composite material as a green substitute for plastics. The future course of research in the area of active food packaging and the significant role of chitosan as an important biomaterial in advanced techniques such as plasma and digitized 3D printing processes have also been highlighted in brief.

**Keywords** 3D printing · Chitosan · Food packaging · Nanocomposite film/coating · Plasma techniques

#### 1 History of Packaging: An Introduction

The word packaging, in general, refers to the materials such as boxes, bags, papers, etc., in which goods are to be covered or protected before they are transported and sold. This definition clearly indicates that the goods need to be protected from any other external aggression so that they reach up to the consumer in as original shape and quality as possible. With regard to food stuffs, the packaging not only protects food but also very often enhances its shelf-life and helps in keeping its nutritional value intact. In earlier times wood/metal/glass/ceramic containers or foils, papers, clothes, etc., were used for packaging of foods. In recent couple of decades, however, all of those packaging materials got replaced by plastics. All kinds of man-made polymeric materials like polyethylene, polypropylene, PVC, polyesters, etc., have been employed in packaging and we know very well that they are basically non-biodegradable. The environmentalists have rightly raised their serious concerns about the use of non-biodegradable packaging materials as they are simply unsustainable. The utmost necessity of biodegradable packaging has also paved the way for active food packaging materials. Within and across the terms "synthetic" and "natural" the list of biodegradable materials is very exhaustive. However, we can classify biodegradable polymers from the point of view of potential food packaging materials (Fig. 1). We intend to discuss one of the most promising naturally occurring biodegradable polymers obtained from exo-skeleton of crustacean shells as a natural material, named chitin (an acetyl glucosamine), which is incidentally the most abundant polysaccharide after cellulose. Chitosan (glucosamine) is the deacetylated derivative of chitin. The presence of amino group in chitosan makes it much more versatile reactant than even cellulose. In the present short review an account of some recent studies carried out by us as well as by other authors on the synthesis and characterization of modified chitosan films/coatings for active food packaging is presented [1-14].



Fig. 1 Classification of biodegradable polymers for food packaging

# 2 Desirable Properties of Bio-Based Packaging Films

Natural biopolymers have long been limited in their use as main components of packaging material because of their poor physical properties, which are deemed inferior to conventional synthetic and petroleum-derived products. Improving the barrier and mechanical properties and antimicrobial properties has been a major challenge that prompted research on modification of these biopolymer matrices [15]. To address these problems, various researchers adopted an approach which has been to incorporate naturally derived biodegradable products into synthetic polymers [16, 17]. However, these composite materials of nanoclays, glass, carbon fibers, and carbon nanotubes with synthetic polymers of both aliphatic and aromatic nature such as polyesters, polyesteramides, polyvinyl alcohols, and polystyrene, etc., pose another problem which is toxicity. Along with their non-biodegradability and endangering ingestion by animals, plants, and marine species they eventually get absorbed into the food chain [18–20]. Chitosan with its many desirable properties such as biodegradability, non-toxicity, and low cost fits as the most suitable candidate among all naturally derived biomaterials to fabricate biocomposites [21].

#### 3 Chitosan for Food Packaging

As outlined above, due to the environmental concerns the waste polysaccharides mainly from animal sources and inherent characteristics property have attracted the attention in the food packaging industry resulting chitin and chitosan containing bionanocomposites show attractive properties that make them suitable for application as active food packaging materials, viz. films and coatings [22].

#### 3.1 Preparative Methods of Modified Chitosan

High moisture sensitivity of chitosan restricts its direct application in food packaging. This limitation can be overcome if it is blended with other hydrophobic substances. Thus, reinforcing chitosan with other polymer/biopolymer, small functional molecules, and non-toxic metal nanoparticles, etc., can lead to synthesis/fabrication of novel composites with enhanced physical properties, such as water resistance without loss in biodegradability. Here we described the preparation and properties of some novel chitosan-based bioactive films, viz. Quercetin-starch based Chitosangelatin (Ch-ge-Q), Chitosan-ZnO NPs loaded gallic acid (Ch-ZnO@gal), and Chitosan-PVA based NiNPs composite (Ch-PVA-NiNPs) films.

#### 3.1.1 Preparation of Ch-ge-Q

Quercetin-starch based complex (Q) with Ch-ge was prepared with some modification as described elsewhere [23]. Q was designated as (1) containing OH linkages. Ch-ge conjugates (2) were formed by electrostatic interaction (hydrogen bonding). The Ch-ge-Q (3) film was prepared by solution casting method. The schematic presentation for preparation of Ch-ge-Q (3) is shown in Fig. 2.

#### 3.1.2 Preparation of Ch-ZnO@gal

Preparation of ZnO NPs is a well-known method today [24]. Preparation of Ch-ZnO@gal with different ZnO@gal ratios was made by solution casting method. The systematic preparation of Ch-ZnO@gal film is shown in Fig. 3.

The size of the nanoparticles lied between 15 and 30 nm (Particle size analyzer (DLS) measurement as well as XRD data also well agreement with the results [25]). ZnO@gal nanoparticles diameter measured around 19.2 nm. The FTIR spectra confirmed the blending in Ch-ZnO@gal films.



Fig. 2 Schematic presentation for preparation of Ch-ge-Q (3) from Q (1) and Ch-ge (2)

#### 3.1.3 Preparation of Ch-PVA-NiNPs

Ni nanoparticles (NiNPs) were prepared using rose petals extract [26]. DLS of the dispersion of the Ni nanoparticles showed that NiNPs exhibit narrow size distribution and the resulting mean size was lying between 90 and 110 nm. Preparation of Ch-PVA-NiNPs film was made by PVA and chitosan solution with the addition of Ni nanoparticles by solution casting method (Fig. 4).

# 3.2 Structure–Property Relationships

Various synthetic methods for modification of chitosan have been employed in the past so as to make it suitable for wrapping/coating food. Herein an attempt has been made to establish a relationship between the molecular architecture, i.e. amino functionality at C2 position and its significance with the properties needed for food packaging applications [27–29]. These outcomes of the results established



Fig. 3 Preparation of Ch-ZnO@gal film



Fig. 4 Preparation of Ch-PVA-NiNPs by solution casting method

correlations for utilization of chitosan in food packaging industries (Fig. 5). This work especially deals with this aspect attempts to fine-tune the molecular structure of the resulting chitosan films/coatings in such a way that a systematic relationship


Fig. 5 Structure-property relationship of chitosan based film/coating for food packaging material

between their structure and desirable properties (WVP, mechanical, OP, sensing ability, odor, opacity, swelling, smart sensing, functional, etc.) can be deciphered.

Mechanical properties play an important role for packaging films/coatings when foods are being transported, stored without losing its acceptability. In this way mechanical property acts as a barrier and thus maintaining the food product quality and its freshness. The mechanical as well as barrier properties based on selection of chitosan in which mode like pure or modified chitosan, films, or coating forms for effective food packaging.

It has already been described in preparative method section that modification is possible in various ways like reinforcing of nanoparticles (NPs) with biopolymers/ other synthetic polymers/small molecules, etc., with chitosan for enhancing the shelf-life of foods [30, 31].

## 3.2.1 Mechanical Properties of Ch-ge-Q Film

As per the finding of the composite film the mechanical properties were affected significantly (Fig. 6). The higher tensile strength (TS) of Ch-ge-Q ( $17.11 \pm 0.3464$  MPa) in comparison to Ch-ge film ( $16.10 \pm 0.1414$ ) showed better compatibility of Ch-ge and Q. The structural change in Ch-ge-Q film as well as more molecular interaction between Ch-ge and Q leads to establish good TS in the film [33]. The structure of the polymer matrix in the films makes a good correlation with property like density and distribution of interaction like intra and intermolecular nature which finally is responsible for better mechanical properties of films [34]. Further the active components of gelatin/Q mixed with chitosan film significantly reduced EAB of Ch-ge-Q films due to formation of the microspores and cavities in the films and as a result of interdiction, the flexibility of the films observed. This property clearly indicates the branched structure of the Ch-ge-Q film. The UV irradiated films as per pre-requisite assumption show lower TS and higher % EAB.

## 3.2.2 Mechanical Properties of Ch-ZnO@gal

The improved TS as well as EAB values were observed in ZnO@gal loaded chitosan films in comparison to pristine chitosan films (Fig. 7). Further with the increase of ZnO@gal ratio in Ch-ZnO@gal films TS and EAB both values were increased and Ch-ZnO@gal3 film was the highest with 70 mg loading of ZnO@gal. ZnO NPs effective space fillers in the chitosan matrix modified its molecular architecture and thus Ch-ZnO@gal property remodeled to strong interfacial interactions with large surface area. Shankar et al. and some other studies also suggested that addition of ZnO NPs greatly improved the mechanical property of bionanocomposite films [36–38].

## 3.2.3 Mechanical Properties of Ch-PVA-NiNPs

The mixing of NiNPs into Ch-PVA films increased TS and EAB values. Same as ZnO NPs, NiNPs behave like effective space fillers in the composite matrix [39]. Thus molecular architecture complied to the property due to large surface area of NPs and strong interfacial interaction with Ch-PVA molecules. The mechanical properties of different chitosan films as described above are compared in Table 1.









Mechanical property	Ch-ZnO@gal3	Ch-ge-Q	Ch-PVA-NiNPs
Thickness (mm)	$0.1031 \pm 0.0276$	$0.1233 \pm 0.0093$	$0.1343 \pm .0055$
Tensile strength	$54.83 \pm 0.1414$	$17.11 \pm 0.3464$	$12.64 \pm 0.88062$
(MPa)		$(8.345 \pm 0.3134)^{a}$	
EAB (%)	$52.17 \pm 0.2192$	$5.100 \pm 0.3162$	$14.71 \pm 0.3001$
		$(11.37 \pm 0.07071)^{\mathrm{a}}$	

Table 1 Mechanical properties of different chitosan films

<sup>a</sup>After UV irradiation

# 3.3 UV–Vis Spectroscopy

UV-shielding films in terms of barrier properties focused much on food packaging due to generation of free radicals by UV irradiation which can adversely affect food quality. Thus filtering of UV light to protect foods in the form of films is very essential. The evaluations of UV-protection of films are done by scanning of UV light in 200–700 nm regions.

## 3.3.1 UV–Vis Spectroscopy of Ch-ZnO@gal

The light transmission of Ch-ZnO@gal films in 200–800 nm UV–vis wavelength was used for the barrier properties of the films. The homogeneously dispersed ZnO@gal NPs in chitosan significantly reduced the transmission of light vis-a-vis the light barrier property of the composite film improved by blocking both of transmission and scattering light [40]. The nanocomposite with change in molecular structure the transmission light was more reduced than pure chitosan film. The opacity is usually decided for transparency of the films (Fig. 7). Ch-ZnO@gal films showed better opacity as well as lower transparency. Like mechanical property higher ZnO@gal NPs loaded films showed more opaque light barrier property [41].

## 3.3.2 UV–Vis Spectroscopy of Ch-ge-Q

The film showed slightly enhanced absorption in 200–400 nm region as well as extended absorption in 400–500 nm regions (Fig. 6). The filtration of high energy UV rays by the film indicated less exposure of UV rays to protect the quality of packed foods [42].

#### 3.3.3 UV–Vis Spectroscopy of Ch–PVA-NiNPs Film

The preparation of NiNPs from the green synthesis method was physically verified by the change of color from green to brown and this is also confirmed by a UV–

Visible spectrophotometer, at 270 nm showing a narrow spectral band attributing to surface plasmon resonance effect of the NiNPs [27, 43].

## 3.4 Water Vapor Permeability (WVP)

Structural and chemical properties of molecular architecture of chitosan, hydrophobic interaction of active components of films, additives concentration and its type decide the WVP to study moisture transfer across the films. The packaging film capacity is evaluated through minimization of moisture transfer between food and surrounding environment of film [44]. The lower WVP value indicates the more freshness of foods. In this way chitosan films help to decrease the transfer of water between the environment and wrapped product; consequently the product's loss of water is decreased.

#### 3.4.1 WVP of Ch-ge-Q

The WVP value of chitosan film  $(1.01 \times 10^{-7} \text{ g m}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1} \text{ Pa}^{-1})$  is shown in Fig. 6. The amino and hydroxyl groups of chitosan backbones served as water molecules binding sites and thus decreased water loss of packed foods. The WVP phenomena occurred in adsorption-diffusion step where hydrophilic domains of Ch-ge-Q films more easily adsorbed water vapor, substantially improved the diffusion step in comparison to Ch-ge film.

#### 3.4.2 WVP of Ch-ZnO@gal

In comparison to pristine chitosan films  $(91.13 \pm 0.1411 \times 10^{-7} \text{ g m}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1} \text{ Pa}^{-1})$ , Ch-ZnO@gal3 films showed lower WVP values  $(11.76 \pm 0.2157 \times 10^{-7} \text{ g m}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1} \text{ Pa}^{-1})$ . The more dispersion of ZnO@gal NPs into the films decreased WVP values. It is due to the complicated path of the water molecules pass through the molecular structure. Further, good dispersion of ZnO@gal NPs into the films restricted the void spaces of the network structure of the macromolecule and thus interaction between NPs and chitosan molecules is increased. In this way structure–property correlates the condensed macromolecular network structure with lower WVP values [45]. Some previous researchers also concluded that WVP values of biopolymer composites with ZnONPs decreased [37, 46].

#### 3.4.3 WVP of Ch-PVA-NiNPs

Ch-PVA-Ni nanocomposite film had a lower value of the WVP compared to only chitosan film [47]. The only chitosan film had a higher WVP value is

 $101.13 \times 10^{-7}$  g m<sup>-1</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> Pa<sup>-1</sup>. Incorporation of NiNPs into Ch-PVA film showed lower WVP value. Water solubility, WVP, and OP of all above chitosan nanocomposite films are shown in Table 2.

#### 3.5 Water Solubility

Like WVP of chitosan based films, water solubility is also an essential parameter for food packaging application. Food packaging films should have water resistance property.

#### 3.5.1 Water Solubility of Ch-ge-Q

Ch-ge-Q films retained its shape in water while Ch-ge films changed its shape consequently. Hence Ch-ge-Q films have water resistance property (Fig. 6). The molecular architecture of chitosan nanocomposite's particularly the amino groups present in chitosan and gelatin make interaction with phenolic compound of the active component Q and consequent upon showed high water resistance property [48].

#### 3.5.2 Water Solubility of Ch-ZnO@gal

The Ch-ZnO@gal films showed reduced water solubility. The presence of ZnO@gal NPs made the films denser and thus more sealing. The hydroxyl groups bounded, interface formed between chitosan and nanomaterials which disturbed the intermolecular attraction, and thus unscrambled the chitosan matrix. Investigation made by [49, 50] in chitosan nanocomposites also described similar kind of phenomena. However, water solubility of Ch-ZnO@gal films slightly decreased with the increase of ZnO@gal addition (Fig. 7).

			Ch-PVA-Ni
Property	Ch-ZnO@gal3	Ch-ge-Q	nanocomposite
Solubility in water, %	$16.34 \pm 0.8627$	$41.23 \pm 0.4638$	$20.83 \pm 0.3573$
$WVP \times 10^{-7} (g m^{-1} h^{-1} Pa^{-1})$	$11.76 \pm 0.2157$	$0.757 \pm 0.09192$	$43.60 \pm 0.7308$
Oxygen permeability (OP) $\times 10^{-6}$	$55.70 \pm 0.3051$	$3.582 \pm 0.1393$	-
(cc/m·24 h·atm)			

Table 2 Water solubility, WVP, and OP of different chitosan films

#### 3.5.3 Water Solubility of Ch-PVA-NiNPs

The result of only chitosan film and Ch-PVA-NiNPs film appeared that Ch-PVA-Ni nanocomposite films have lower values of water solubility. The functioning of reduced water solubility may be the same as described for Ch-ZnO@gal films. Therefore, NiNPs into chitosan film decreased the solubility of the synthesized films.

# 3.6 Swelling Properties

The swelling degree as well as water solubility of bionanocomposite films is highly interconnected. Like water solubility, the swelling degree is also indicative of moisture resistance [51, 52]. Hence swelling of chitosan films can also be considered as an important property in the field of food packaging application (Fig. 5).

## 3.6.1 Swelling Properties of Ch-ge-Q Film

The swelling degree in 24 h of Ch-ge-Q film (220%) was lower in comparison to Ch-ge film (382%) (Fig. 6). Interaction between hydrophobic groups in Q and hydrogen bonding of chitosan is responsible for lower swelling values, at the same time less exposure of polar side-chain groups to water molecules made possible reduction of water uptake by gelatin molecules (Fig. 2). Hence molecular architecture of chitosan based nanocomposites is indicative of a good correlation with their swelling property which make them suitable for application in food packaging.

#### 3.6.2 Swelling Degree of Ch-ZnO@gal

The Ch-ZnO@gal films showed reduced swelling in comparison to neat chitosan films (Fig. 7). The possible reason for lower swelling as described in water solubility for Ch-ZnO@gal films is same because the swelling degree, water solubility as well as WVP of bionanocomposite films are very much interconnected [49]. Here also, swelling index of Ch-ZnO@gal films slightly decreased with the increase of ZnO@gal addition (Fig. 7).

#### 3.6.3 Swelling Degree of Ch-PVA-NiNPs

As explained above, the swelling degree of chitosan decreased after the incorporation of nanoparticles. Therefore, the incorporation of NiNPs into the chitosan-PVA film, the swelling degree of the synthesized films also decreased.

## 3.7 Oxygen Permeability (OP)

As described above in case of mechanical property and UV-shielding for chitosan based films, the barrier property plays an important role to find out the appropriateness of packaging materials for food application. Similarly, it is true in case of barrier property against the permeation of oxygen for chitosan based films. OP values of chitosan based films may be compared with commercial ethylene vinyl alcohol copolymer films, polyvinylidene dichloride (PVDC), and polyethylene films.

#### 3.7.1 Oxygen Permeability (OP) of Ch-ge-Q

As shown in Table 2, the value of OP decreased in Ch-ge-Q film  $(3.582 \times 10^{-6} \text{ cc/m} \cdot 24 \text{ h} \cdot \text{atm})$  in comparison to neat chitosan film  $(7.0347 \times 10^{-6} \text{ cc/m} \cdot 24 \text{ h} \cdot \text{atm})$  [53, 54] explained the oxygen permeability of chitosan films which was basically association of O<sub>2</sub> with NH<sub>3</sub><sup>+</sup>. The Q component mainly transforms the molecular structure of composite film and thus resulted for decrease in permeation of oxygen value.

#### 3.7.2 OP of Ch-ZnO@gal

The Ch-ZnO@gal films showed reduced OP values  $(8.772-5.570) \times 10^{-5}$  cc/m·24 h·atm in comparison to neat chitosan film  $(9.487 \pm 0.2304 \times 10^{-5}$  cc/m·24 h·atm) (Fig. 7). The possible reason for lower OP value may be explained as due to the ZnO@gal component which is responsible for molecular structure transformation of nanocomposite film. Similarly, the incorporation of NiNPs into the chitosan-PVA film, the OP value of the synthesized films also decreased [32, 53].

## 3.8 Antioxidant Activity

The main advantage of antioxidant active packaging is to provide sustained release of antioxidants during storage of foods. The incorporation of antioxidant compounds in the film for food packaging is done by various methods. Without having antioxidant activity of packaging films deteriorate the food quality by losing it sensorial and nutritional value. Hence antioxidant activity of food packaging films plays very important role. Here we described DPPH and ABTS assay methods used for the determination of antioxidant activity.

## 3.8.1 Antioxidant Activity of Ch-ge and Ch-ge-Q Film

DPPH Radical Scavenging Activity

Our laboratory used DPPH assay method for Ch-ge film and Ch-ge-Q film by absorbance value at wavelength 517 nm. Both films showed radical scavenging activity, respectively, 31.2% and 81.45% at a concentration of 1 mg/mL [55]. Obviously, the addition of Q in Ch-ge film showed better antioxidant activity (Fig. 6).

ABTS<sup>.+</sup> Scavenging Activity

ABTS<sup>++</sup> method where 2, 2-azino-bis (3-ethyl benzothiazoline-6-sulfonate) was used to measure the antioxidant activity. The films decolorized due to the presence of antioxidant. In ABTS assay the stabilization of unstable free radicals was faster in comparison to DPPH assay. ABTS assay of both films were found, respectively, 18.11% and 72.2% at a concentration of 1 mg/mL (Fig. 6).

## 3.8.2 Antioxidant Activity of Ch-ZnO@gal

DPPH Radical Scavenging Activity

As above similar DPPH scavenging activity was made for Ch-ZnO@gal films (Fig. 7). ZnO@gal NPs in chitosan films increased DPPH radical scavenging ability significantly (64.66–68.51%) in comparison to neat chitosan films (55.56%).

ABTS<sup>+</sup> Scavenging Activity

Similarly, the % scavenging activity of chitosan film and Ch-ZnO@gal films were measured at a concentration of 1 mg/mL (Fig. 7). In this method also ZnO@gal NPs in chitosan films increased ABTS radical scavenging ability significantly (76.38–83.43%) in comparison to chitosan films (48.96%).

## 3.8.3 DPPH Radical Scavenging Activity of Ch-PVA-NiNPs

The DPPH radical scavenging activity of Ch-PVA-NiNPs film showed the reducing ability of as estimated with the absorbance value at wavelength 517 nm. When increasing the concentration of the sample films, decreased the absorbance value. The result of the DPPH radical % scavenging assay of only chitosan film is 38.00 at concentration 1 mg/m and for Ch-PVA-Ni nanocomposite film is 58.05. The

presence of NiNPs in chitosan films greatly improved DPPH radical scavenging ability [35].

# 3.9 Antibacterial Activity

The results of the antibacterial activity of chitosan films are generally estimated against *B. Subtilis* the gram positive bacteria and *E. coli* the gram negative bacteria with film concentration of 1% acetic acid in 0.5 mg/mL. The mechanism behind excellent antibacterial of chitosan may be the interaction occurring between negatively charged macromolecules containing groups present in proteins and nucleic acid. This phenomenon results in structural changes and distortion in the cell wall and membrane of bacteria, which causes interruption of the metabolic process and finally bacteria death [56, 57].

## 3.9.1 Antibacterial Activity of Ch-ge-Q

The zone of inhibition (ZOI) for prepared films was in the order of Ch-ge-Q > Ch-ge > Ch (Fig. 6) which implies Ch-ge-Q film showed better antibacterial activity in comparison to Ch-ge and neat chitosan films. ZOI (mm) for the chitosan based films is shown in Fig. 6. As per structural formation of the nanocomposite, Q acts as a potential antimicrobial agent and thus enhances the ZOI of the film The structure–property relationship helped to select the best possible materials (here Ch-ge-Q film) in food packaging for effective shelf-life of products.

## 3.9.2 Antibacterial Activity of Ch-ZnO@gal

The antibacterial activity of Ch-ZnO@gal films linearly increased with the addition of ZnO@gal NPS where Ch-ZnO@gal3 showed best result (Fig. 7). Reactive oxygen species (ROS) as generated by NPs and presence of  $Zn^{2+}$  ions jointly attacked the cell wall of bacteria having negatively charged and thus leakage occurred which ultimately is responsible for death of bacteria. This property of Ch-ZnO@gal films may make it suitable for active food packaging for various kinds of fruits, vegetables, etc.

## 3.9.3 Antibacterial Activity of Ch-PVA-NiNPs

Different mechanisms have been proposed for a synergistic increase in the antibacterial property of chitosan and metal nanoparticle composites. One of them is the damage of the bacterial cell membrane due to the depolarization of membrane due to the interaction of the cationic amino group with the negatively charged cell



**Fig. 8** Inhibition zone of (**a**) Chitosan film (**b**) Ch-PVA-Ni composite film against *B. subtilis* (**c**) Chitosan film (**d**) Ch-PVA-NiNPs film against *E. coli* 

membrane of bacteria, which could result in cell leakage, loss of membrane penetrability, and eventually the cells death [32, 58]. From the results of ZOI, it was found that Ch-PVA-NiNPs films have greater activity [25] (Fig. 8).

## 4 Smart Packaging Property

The structure–property relationship in one way identified the smart food packaging property by selecting the active, intelligent, and green components like edible as well as biodegradable materials, plant extracts, nanomaterials of organic or inorganic nature which synergistic effect yields a most promising food packaging system. Thus smart packaging approaches an excellent direction for minimization of food loss and maximization of food quality throughout the food supply chain process. Smart packaging may be referred to green and sustainable technology in packaging systems with the advent of nanotechnology and sensing ability [59].

# 4.1 Nanotechnology

Through active packaging systems chitosan film/coating formed by various active components using nanotechnology bears different selective properties for protection of foods during transportation and storage as well as it enhances its shelf-life. Nanostructured coating/nanocoatings are made by ultra-thin nanoscale layers with less than 100 nm onto surfaces of foods/packaging products which helps to improve the barrier performance as well as antimicrobial aspects of both [60].

# 4.2 Sensing Ability

The sensing ability of foods and packages is determined by using of sensors or indicators to check the quality and integrity of packed food products [61]. Anthocyanin-based natural dye is one of the plant constituents known as flavonoids when added to coating/film, the decolorization is identified by its expiry date of using the products [62]. Yong et al. recently studied chitosan based rich purple-fleshed sweet potato extract (PSPE) and anthocyanin mixed composite to investigate the visible color changes of the films. Here the antioxidant and pH-sensing property of the films helped to monitor the quality vis-à-vis extending the shelf-life of food products [63].

Bai et al. reported carboxymethyl chitosan (CMCS)-quercetin composite films for sensing of Al<sup>3+</sup> ions. The study of color index and UV–Vis spectrophotometry of composite films helped to detect Al<sup>3+</sup>-sensing materials in food packaging using antioxidant and intelligent property. This kind of detection may be done in deep-fried dough sticks and steamed buns packed foods [64].

Chitosan derivative for  $CN^-$  recognition was studied by Nigam et al. [65]. The anion sensing property of azo-based chitosan derivatives used as biosensors for biological toxic cyanide in various food systems as a facile visual detection method. The sensing ability of chitosan derivative may be utilized for the toxicity level of food products [65].

## 5 Other Chitosan Food Packaging Films

There have been many reports on other kind of modified chitosan films using active components, food borne pathogens on different foods. Here in Table 3 we summarized other chitosan based antimicrobial food packaging films.

## 6 Other Chitosan Coating Forming Food Packaging

Chitosan has been extensively studied for edible coatings onto the surface of foods or packaging materials to functionalize them by different methods like embedding, immobilization (covalent/ non-covalent), deposition by layers, photo grafting, etc. Food coatings can cause them to become more palatable. It can improve the food quality by delaying moisture loss and enhancing product appearance. Further, chitosan based coatings exhibit good OP and  $CO_2$  barrier properties. The presence of coatings acts as barriers for intrinsic antimicrobial, antioxidant, and color protection properties to retard microorganisms development, reduce lipid oxidation and discoloration of foods and synergistically all such kind of properties extend the shelf-life as well as effective environmental friendly packaging [101, 102]. The

Active components used with chitosan	Functioning of films/Food borne	Food item used	References
Agroindustrial residue (AIR) extracts	To enhance the antibacterial prop- erty of the chitosan film and improve shelf-life of chicken product	Chicken product	[66]
Apricot kernel essential oil (AKEO)	To enhance the antibacterial prop- erties against <i>B. subtilis</i> and <i>E. coli</i>	Sliced bread	[67]
Bamboo vinegar (BV)	To improve the antibacterial prop- erties against <i>Enterobacteriaceae</i> spp., and <i>Pseudomonas</i> spp., lactic acid bacteria (LAB)	Ready to cook (RTC) meat product	[68]
Cinnamon essential oil (CEO)	Lactic acid bacteria, yeasts, and molds, <i>Enterobacteriaceae</i> spp., <i>S. aureus</i>	Beef patties	[69]
Crosslinked PVA	Inhibitory effect of film using E. coli, S. aureus, and B. subtilis	Tomato	[70]
Lemon essential oil (LEO)	Fungus, Botrytis cinerea	Strawberry fruits	[71]
Lysozyme (L)	To enhance the antibacterial prop- erties against lactic acid bacteria, yeasts and molds, mesophilic, psychrotrophic	Semi-hard, unripened cheese (halloumi cheese)	[72]
Melissa officinalis essen- tial oil (MOEO)	E. coli	Antimicrobial film	[73]
Nisin (N)/gallic acid	To determine the total viable count (TVC)	Pig meat (pork loin)	[74]
Nisin (N)	Lactobacillus spp.	Mutton meat	[75]
Nisin (N)	Listeria monocytogenes	Cheese	[76]
Oregano essential oil (OEO)	L. monocytogenes	Raw chicken meat fillets	[77]
Oregano essential oil (OEO)	Yeast and molds	Sliced bread	[78]
Plum peel extract (PPE)	To improve the antibacterial activ- ity against gram negative bacteria ( <i>E. coli, Salmonella</i> ) and gram positive bacteria ( <i>S. aureus,</i> <i>L. monocytogenes</i> )	Food packaging	[79]
Spirulina extract (SE)	To enhance antibacterial property against E. coli, B. subtilis, L. monocytogenes, S. aureus, P. aeruginosa, S. typhimurium, and B. cereus	Active food packaging	[80]
Thyme oil (TO)	Yeasts and molds and <i>pseudomonad</i>	Shiitake ( <i>Lentinus</i> <i>edodes</i> ) mushroom	[81]

 Table 3
 Active components used with chitosan for antimicrobial food packaging films

(continued)

Active components used	Functioning of films/Food borne		
with chitosan	pathogens	Food item used	References
Thyme essential oil (TEO)	NA	Rainbow trout fish	[82]
PVA and pectin	To study positive antimicrobial activity of the film against patho- genic bacteria	Food packaging	[83]
TiO <sub>2</sub> NPs	To enhance the antibacterial prop- erties against <i>S. aureus, E. coli,</i> <i>C. albicans,</i> and <i>Aspergillus niger</i>	Food packaging	[84]
TiO <sub>2</sub> NPs	To enhance the antibacterial prop- erties against <i>E. coli, S. aureus,</i> <i>Salmonella, and L. monocytogenes</i>	Food packaging	[79]
Cu NPs	To improve the antibacterial prop- erties against <i>Alternaria solani</i> , and <i>Fusarium oxysporum</i>	Food packaging	[85]
CuO NPs	To enhance the antibacterial prop- erties against <i>E. coli, Listeria</i> <i>monocytogenes,</i> and <i>Pseudomonas</i> <i>aeruginosa</i>	Food packaging	[86]
CuO NPs (MMTCuO) nanocomposite	To enhance the antibacterial prop- erties against <i>B. cereus, S. aureus</i> and gram <i>P. aeruginosa, E. coli</i>	Food packaging	[87]
Gelatin/AgNPs films	To enhance red grapes shelf-life up to 14 days	Red grapes	[88]
TiO <sub>2</sub>	To enhance antibacterial properties of film and improve shelf-life of the red grapes up to 15 days	Red grapes	[84]
TiO <sub>2</sub>	To improve the antibacterial prop- erty and prepared film delayed the ripening process of tomatoes	Tomato fruit	[89]
ZnO nanocomposite film	At room temperature to enhance the shelf-life of okra up to 12 days	Okra or ladyfinger	[90]
AgNPs bacterial cellu- lose nanocrystals (BCNC)	To enhance the mechanical, physi- cal, and antimicrobial properties of chitosan based film after the addi- tion of silver nanoparticles and BCNC	Antimicrobial nanocomposite film	[91]
ZnONPs	To improve carrot shelf-life	Carrot pieces	[92]
Sulfur nanoparticles	To enhance antimicrobial proper- ties of the prepared food packaging film	Antimicrobial food	[93]
Ag <sub>2</sub> O NPs	To enhance microbial safety and extend food shelf-life	Food packaging	[94]
Nanocellulose (NC)	To decreased the LAB count in ground meat and extende shelf-life of ground meat up to 6 days	Ground meat	[95]

Table 3 (continued)

(continued)

Active components used with chitosan	Functioning of films/Food borne pathogens	Food item used	References
Carvacrol microcapsules and grape seed extract (GSE)	To increase the shelf-life of Salmon (refrigerated) up to 7 days	Salmon (Salmo salar)	[96]
Pink pepper residue (PPR) and peanut skin	To maintain the quality of chicken and decreasing microbial count	Chicken meat	[66]
Gelatin and grape seed extract Ziziphora clinopodioides essential oil	To improve the shelf-life of bone- less fish up to a certain period of time	Minced trout fillet	[97]
Oregano essential oil	To enhance the shelf-life of fish tissue up to 12 days	Grass carp muscle	[98]
Kombucha tea extract (KTE)	The quality of beef maintained and shelf-life extended by 3 days	Minced beef meat	[99]
Zinc acetate dihydrate as nano ZnO antimicrobial flexible pouches	To enhance the antibacterial prop- erties of the chitosan films and maintain the shelf-life of raw meat	Raw meat	[100]

Table 3 (continued)

active components used with chitosan for food coating packaging are shown in Table 4.

# 7 Modern Food Packaging Techniques

In the space of global digitalization modern techniques brought the advancement in packaging, where the names of a few like 3D-printing and plasma radiation can be considered for effective food packaging.

# 7.1 3D Printing for Food

3D printing food is now becoming more of a reality where many of the features of printing modes like multi materials additives, customized nutrition content, custom molds, desirable shape of any of complex design, requirement of no or very less human interaction, flexibility, CAD software based integration, wastages of food can be minimized as compared to other conventional methods [112, 113].

Active components used with chitosan	Food borne pathogens/post coating results	Food item used	References
TiO <sub>2</sub> NPs	To facilitate for superior antibacterial assessment	For food packaging	[103]
Oregano EO	To improve the sensory quality of chicken meat	Chicken breast	[104]
Pomegranate peel extract	To enhance the antioxidant property and also maintain the overall fruit quality	Guava ( <i>Psidium</i> guajava L.) fruit	[105]
Aloe vera extract	Coating of <i>Aloe vera</i> in chitosan films improved the shelf-life of blue berry up to 5 day.	Blueberry	[106]
Coating of chitosan in guava fruit	Coating of chitosan improved the antioxidant property might be delayed the ripening property of guava	Guava fruit	[107]
Bioactive compounds and essential oils (EOs)	To improve the antibacterial property of the vegetable	Fresh cut broccoli	[108]
Different molecular weight of chitosan $(M_W = 150 \text{ or } 300 \text{ kDa})$	To extend shelf-life of fruits within a week at room temperature	Papaya fruits	[109]
Chlorophyllin (Chl)	To improve the postharvest life of the fruits	Strawberries	[110]
Pullulan	To enhance the shelf-life of papaya fruits after the coating of pullulan in chitosan film	Рарауа	[111]
Resveratrol powder and alginate coating	To decrease the growth of microbiological	Sea bass ( <i>Dicentrarchus</i> <i>labrax</i> ) fillets	[90]

 Table 4
 Active components used with chitosan for food coating packaging

Chitosan coated with PLA, polyethylene (PE) enhanced antimicrobial properties and thus to be used either in food

# 7.2 Plasma Technology

Cold plasma technology is one of the most novel technologies which find widespread potential as surface modification technique in the field of food packaging; this technique has recently emerged as a powerful tool for surface decontamination of both foodstuffs and food packaging materials [114, 115]. Chitosan has played versatile roles in almost all aspects of industrial and biomedical fields. The latest advancement in 3D printing and plasma technology for food and packaging will quickly be grasped by chitosan.

## 8 Concluding Remarks

Nowadays many of the biopolymers, chitosan has been deeply investigated for its suitability in applications for food packaging due to its characteristics increase of shelf-life of all sorts of fresh fruits, vegetables, and meat products. The addition of not only nanomaterials like NPs of silver, copper, copper oxides, zinc oxides, titanium dioxide, etc., phytochemicals (natural extracts) and modified composite substrates like numerous biopolymers, including gelatin, alginate, carrageenan, etc., and synthetic polymers also into chitosan matrices as active carrier compounds helps to improve the structure as well as property of antimicrobial, mechanical, and other barrier properties of the films/coatings, resulting in enhanced shelf-life and food safety. The use of more numbers of modified chitosan films/coating in food packaging will draw the attention of clean environment by reducing the use of conventional plastics and chemicals to support organic food and an organic climate. Here molecular architecture of chitosan and various properties relevant to food packaging relationship have been described taking three modified chitosan as prepared in our research laboratory. The advancement of food packaging research and global digitalization focused on 3D printing process and plasma techniques where chitosan may put its significant contribution in near future. In the potential expansion of further nutritious products with respect to food hygiene, the minimum presence of human interaction during food production would be less likely to contaminate the food, with high yields anticipated. The present chapter is expected to think over the large-scale manufacturers and marketing players of packaging industries to maximize the utility of chitosan based food packaging systems.

Acknowledgements This article has largely been written based on authors' original research including both published and student PhD thesis works. We wish to acknowledge the contribution of research scholars Ms. Shefali Jaiswal and Mr. Nazrul Hasn for drawing some figures of this article.

# References

- Fahmy HM, Salah E, Abu S, Gomaa NM, AboElmagd GM, Salem SA, Elsayed ZA, Edree A, Shams-Eldin E, Shalan AE (2020) Advances in nanotechnology and antibacterial properties of biodegradable food packaging. RSC Adv 10:20467–20484
- Romanazzi G, Feliziani E, Sivakumar D (2018) Chitosan, a biopolymer with triple action on postharvest decay of fruit and vegetables: eliciting, antimicrobial and film-forming properties. Front Microbiol 9:1–9
- 3. Halonen N, Pálvölgyi PS, Bassani A, Fiorentini C, Nair R, Spigno G, Kordas K (2020) Bio-based smart materials for food packaging and sensors – a review. Front Mater 7:1–14
- Han J, Garcia L, Qian J, Yang X (2018) Food packaging: a comprehensive review and future trends. Compr Rev Food Sci Food Saf 17:860–877
- Xing Y, Xu Q, Li X, Chen C, Ma L, Li S, Che Z, Lin H (2016) Chitosan-based coating with antimicrobial agents: preparation, property, mechanism, and application effectiveness on fruits and vegetables. Int J Polym Sci 2016:24

- Sangroniz A, Zhu JB, Tang X, Etxeberria, Chen EYX, Sardon H (2019) Packaging materials with desired mechanical and barrier properties and full chemical recyclability. Nat Commun 10:3559
- Wang H, Qian J, Ding F (2018) Emerging chitosan-based films for food packaging applications emerging applications films for food packaging. J Agric Food Chem 66:395–413
- Priyadarshi R, Rhim J (2020) Chitosan-based biodegradable functional films for food packaging applications. Innov Food Sci Emerg Technol 62:102346
- 9. Ansorena MR, Marcovich NE, Pereda M (2018) Food biopackaging based on chitosan. In: Martinez et al (eds) Handbook of ecomaterials. Springer, Berlin
- 10. Wang W, Xue C, Mao X (2020) Chitosan: structural modification, biological activity and application. Int J Biol Macromol 164:4532–4546
- 11. Sharma R, Mahdi S, Sharma S (2020) Antimicrobial bio-nanocomposites and their potential applications in food packaging. Food Control 112:107086
- 12. Al-Tayyar NA, Youssef AM, Al-Hindi R (2020) Antimicrobial food packaging based on sustainable bio-based materials for reducing foodborne pathogens: a review. Food Chem 310:125915
- 13. Kumar S, Mukherjee A, Dutta J (2020) Chitosan based nanocomposite films and coatings: emerging antimicrobial food packaging alternatives. Trends Food Sci Technol 97:196–209
- 14. Haghighi H, Licciardello F, Fava P, Siesler H, Pulvirenti A (2020) Recent advances on chitosan-based films for sustainable food packaging applications. Food Packag Shelf Life 26:100551
- 15. Cazon P, Velazquez G, Ramirez JA, Vazquez M (2017) Polysaccharide-based films and coatings for food packaging: a review. Food Hydrocoll 68:136–148
- Dutta PK, Kumar MNVR, Dutta J (2002) Chitin and chitosan for versatile applications. JMS-Polym Rev C42:307–354
- 17. Vroman I, Tighzert L (2009) Biodegradable polymers. Materials 2:307-344
- Dutta J, Tripathi S, Dutta PK (2012) Progress in antimicrobial activities of chitin, chitosan & oligosaccharides: a systematic study needs for food applications. Food Sci Technol Int 18:1–32
- Dutta J, Dutta PK (2010) Antimicrobial activity of chitin, chitosan and their oligosaccharides. In: Kim SK (ed) Chitin, chitosan, oligosaccharides and their derivatives. Taylor & Francis Group, New York
- Dutta PK, Dutta J, Chattopadhyaya MC, Tripathi VS (2004) Chitin and chitosan: Novel biomaterials waiting for future developments. J Polym Mater 21:321–333
- 21. Nambiar RB, Sellamuthu PS, Perumal AB, Emmanuel Rotimi Sadiku OAA (2019) The use of chitosan in food packaging applications. In: Gnanasekaran D (ed) Green biopolymers and their nanocomposites. Springer, Singapore
- 22. Vasile C, Rapa M (2020) Chitin- and chitosan-based bionanocomposites for active packaging. In: Jacob J, Loganathan S, Thomas S (eds) Chitin- and chitosan-based biocomposites for food packaging applications. CRC Press, Boca Raton
- 23. Priyadarshi R, Negi YS (2017) Effect of varying filler concentration on zinc oxide nanoparticle embedded chitosan films as potential food packaging material. J Polym Environ 25:1087–1098
- 24. Lee J, Choi KH, Min J, Kim H, Jee J, Park B (2017) Functionalized ZnO nanoparticles with gallic acid for antioxidant and antibacterial activity against methicillin-resistant S. aureus. Nanomaterials 7:365
- Bi C, Li J, Peng L, Zhang J (2017) Biofabrication of zinc oxide nanoparticles and their in-vitro cytotoxicity towards gastric cancer (MGC803) cell lines. Biomed Res 28:2065–2069
- 26. Yadav S (2021) Phd thesis submitted MNNIT Allahabad, Prayagraj, India
- Dutta PK, Dutta J, Tripathi VS (2004) Chitin and chitosan: chemistry, properties and application. J Sci Ind Res 63:20–31
- Bucknall DG (2019) Packaging plastics-structure property relationships. APS March Meeting 64(2):B51.00002

- Bordenave N, Grelier S, Pichavant F, Coma V (2007) Water and moisture susceptibility of chitosan and paper-based materials: structure-property relationships. J Agric Food Chem 55:9479–9488
- Fernandez-Saiz P (2011) Chitosan polysaccharide in food packaging applications. Multifunctional and nanoreinforced polymers for food packaging, pp 571–593
- Materials N, Group N (2011) Multifunctional and nanoreinforced polymers for food packaging. Woodhead Publishing, Cambridge, pp 1–28
- 32. Yadav S, Mehrotra GK, Bhartiya P, Singh A, Dutta PK (2020) Preparation, physicochemical and biological evaluation of quercetin based chitosan-gelatin film for food packaging. Carbohydr Polym 227:115348
- Leceta I, Guerrero P, De La Caba K (2013) Functional properties of chitosan-based films. Carbohydr Polym 93:339–346
- 34. Ojagh SM, Rezaei M, Razavi SH, Hosseini SMH (2010) Development and evaluation of a novel biodegradable film made from chitosan and cinnamon essential oil with low affinity toward water. Food Chem 122:161–166
- Yadav S, Mehrotra GK, Dutta PK (2021) Chitosan based ZnO nanoparticles loaded gallic-acid films for active food packaging. Food Chem 334:127605
- Shankar S, Teng X, Li G, Rhim JW (2015) Preparation, characterization, and antimicrobial activity of gelatin/ZnO nanocomposite films. Food Hydrocoll 45:264–271
- Mohammadi H, Kamkar A, Misaghi A (2018) Nanocomposite films based on CMC, okra mucilage and ZnO nanoparticles: Physico mechanical and antibacterial properties. Carbohydr Polym 181:351–357
- Oun AA, Rhim JW (2017) Preparation of multifunctional chitin nanowhiskers/ZnO-Ag NPs and their effect on the properties of carboxymethyl cellulose-based nanocomposite film. Carbohydr Polym 169:467–479
- Azizi S, Bin AM, Hussein MZ, Ibrahim NA (2014) Preparation and properties of poly (vinyl alcohol)/chitosan blend bionanocomposites reinforced with cellulose nanocrystals/ZnO-Ag multifunctional nanosized filler. Dovepress 2014:1909–1917
- Sahraee S, Ghanbarzadeh B, Milani JM, Hamishehkar H (2017) Development of gelatin bionanocomposite films containing chitin and ZnO nanoparticles. Food Bioprocess Technol 10:1441–1453
- 41. Tang E, Tian B, Zheng E, Fu C, Cheng G (2008) Preparation of zinc oxide nanoparticle via uniform precipitation method and its surface modification by methacryloxypropyltrimethoxysilane. Chem Eng Commun 195:479–491
- 42. Gómez-Guillén MC, Ihl M, Bifani V, Silva A, Montero P (2007) Edible films made from tunafish gelatin with antioxidant extracts of two different murta ecotypes leaves (Ugni molinae Turcz). Food Hydrocoll 21:1133–1143
- Chandra S, Kumar A, Tomar PK (2011) Synthesis of Ni nanoparticles and their characterizations. J Saudi Chem Soc 18:437–442
- 44. Aguirre-Loredo RY, Rodríguez-Hernández AI, Morales-Sánchez E, Gómez-Aldapa CA, Velazquez G (2016) Effect of equilibrium moisture content on barrier, mechanical and thermal properties of chitosan films. Food Chem 196:560–566
- 45. Yu J, Yang J, Liu B, Ma X (2009) Preparation and characterization of glycerol plasticized-pea starch/ZnO-carboxymethylcellulose sodium nanocomposites. Bioresour Technol 100:2832–2841
- 46. Shahmohammadi Jebel F, Almasi H (2016) Morphological, physical, antimicrobial and release properties of ZnO nanoparticles-loaded bacterial cellulose films. Carbohydr Polym 149:8–19
- 47. Narasagoudr SS, Hegde VG, Chougale RB, Mastri SP, Vootla S, Malabadi RB (2020) Physico-chemical and functional properties of rutin induced chitosan/poly (vinyl alcohol) bioactive films for food packaging applications. Food Hydrocoll 109:106096
- 48. Yai H (2013) Mechanical, thermal and structural properties of rice starch films reinforced with rice starch nanocrystals. Int Food Res J 20:439–449

- 49. Liu Y, Kim H (2012) Characterization and antibacterial properties of genipin crosslinked chitosan/poly(ethylene glycol)/ZnO/Ag nanocomposites. Carbohydr Polym 89:111–116
- Das K, Maiti S, Liu D (2014) Morphological, mechanical and thermal study of ZnO nanoparticle reinforced chitosan based transparent biocomposite films. J Inst Eng Ser D 95:35–41
- 51. Peña C, de la Caba K, Eceiza A, Ruseckaite R, Mondragon I (2010) Enhancing water repellence and mechanical properties of gelatin films by tannin addition. Bioresour Technol 101:6836–6842
- 52. Roger S, Talbot D, Bee A (2006) Preparation and effect of Ca<sup>2+</sup> on water solubility, particle release and swelling properties of magnetic alginate films. J Magn Magn Mater 305:221–227
- McDonnell MT, Greeley DA, Kit KM, Keffer DJ (2016) Molecular dynamics simulations of hydration effects on solvation, diffusivity, and permeability in chitosan/chitin films. J Phys Chem B 120:8997–9010
- 54. Martins JT, Cerqueira MA, Vicente AA (2012) Influence of α-tocopherol on physicochemical properties of chitosan-based films. Food Hydrocoll 27:220–227
- 55. Roy K, Sarkar C, Ghosh C (2014) Plant-mediated synthesis of silver nanoparticles using parsley (Petroselinum crispum ) leaf extract: spectral analysis of the particles and antibacterial study. Appl Nanosci 5:945–951
- Dutta PK, Tripathi S, Mehrotra GK, Dutta J (2009) Perspectives for chitosan based antimicrobial films in food applications. Food Chem 114:1173–1182
- 57. Yadav S, Tripathi S, Mehrotra GK, Dutta PK (2018) Antimicrobial chitosan-gelatin based film incorporated with tannic acid loaded starch nanoparticles for food packaging. Asian Chitin J 14(2):44–45
- Wang C, Virgilio N, Wood-adams PM, Heuzey M (2018) A gelation mechanism for gelatin / polysaccharide aqueous mixtures. Food Hydrocoll 79:462–472
- 59. Wang L, Wu Z, Cao C (2019) Technologies and fabrication of intelligent packaging for perishable product. Appl Sci 9:4858
- Mihindukulasuriya SDF, Lim LT (2014) Nanotechnology development in food packaging: a review. Trends Food Sci Technol 40:149–167
- 61. Fuertes G, Soto I, Carrasco R, Vargas M, Sabattin J, Lagos C (2016) Intelligent packaging systems : sensors and nanosensors to monitor food quality and safety. J Sens 2016:8
- 62. Khoo HE, Azlan A, Tang ST, Lim SM (2017) Anthocyanidins and anthocyanins: colored pigments as food, pharmaceutical ingredients, and the potential health benefits. Food Nutr Res 61:21
- 63. Roy S, Rhim J, Roy S (2020) Anthocyanin food colorant and its application in pH-responsive color change indicator films change indicator films. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr 16:1–29
- 64. Bai R, Zhang X, Yong H, Wang X, Liu Y, Liu J (2019) Development and characterization of antioxidant active packaging and intelligent Al<sup>3+</sup>-sensing films based on carboxymethyl chitosan and quercetin. Int J Biol Macromol 126:1074–1084
- Nigam N, Kumar S, Dutta PK, Ghosh T (2018) A novel design strategy for chitosan containing azo based Schiff bases for colorimetric sensing of anions. J Polym Mater 35:137–148
- 66. Serrano-León JS, Bergamaschi KB, Yoshida CMP, Saldana E, Selani MM, Rios-Mera JD, Alencar SM, Contreras-Castillo CJ (2018) Chitosan active films containing agro-industrial residue extracts for shelf life extension of chicken restructured product. Food Res Int 108:93–100
- 67. Priyadarshi R, Sauraj KB, Deeba F, Kulshreshtha A (2018) Chitosan films incorporated with apricot (Prunus armeniaca) kernel essential oil as active food packaging material. Food Hydrocoll 85:158–166
- 68. Zhang H, He P, Kang H, Li X (2018) Antioxidant and antimicrobial effects of edible coating based on chitosan and bamboo vinegar in ready to cook pork chops. Lwt 93:470–476
- 69. Ghaderi-Ghahfarokhi M, Barzegar M, Sahari MA, Gavlighi HA, Gardini F (2017) Chitosancinnamon essential oil nano-formulation: application as a novel additive for controlled release and shelf life extension of beef patties. Int J Biol Macromol 102:19–28

- Tripathi S, Mehrotra GK, Dutta PK (2009) Physicochemical and bioactivity of cross-linked chitosan-PVA film for food packaging applications. Int J Biol Macromol 45:372–376
- Perdones A, Sánchez-González L, Chiralt A, Vargas M (2012) Effect of chitosan-lemon essential oil coatings on storage-keeping quality of strawberry. Postharvest Biol Technol 70:32–41
- 72. Mehyar GF, Al Nabulsi AA, Saleh M, Olaimat AN, Holley RA (2018) Effects of chitosan coating containing lysozyme or natamycin on shelf-life, microbial quality, and sensory properties of halloumi cheese brined in normal and reduced salt solutions. J Food Process Preserv 42:1–9
- 73. Sani IK, Pirsa S, Tağı Ş (2019) Preparation of chitosan/zinc oxide/melissa officinalis essential oil nano-composite film and evaluation of physical, mechanical and antimicrobial properties by response surface method. Polym Test 79:106004
- 74. Cao Y, Warner RD, Fang Z (2019) Effect of chitosan/nisin/gallic acid coating on preservation of pork loin in high oxygen modified atmosphere packaging. Food Control 101:9–16
- 75. He L, Zou L, Yang Q, Xia J, Zhou K, Zhu Y, Han X, Biao H, Pu B, Hu B, Deng W, Liu S (2016) Antimicrobial activities of nisin, tea polyphenols, and chitosan and their combinations in chilled mutton. J Food Sci 81:1466–1471
- 76. Divsalar E, Tajik H, Moradi M, Forough M, Lotfi M, Kuswandi B (2018) Characterization of cellulosic paper coated with chitosan-zinc oxide nanocomposite containing nisin and its application in packaging of UF cheese. Int J Biol Macromol 109:1311–1318
- 77. Khanjari A, Karabagias IK, Kontominas MG (2013) Combined effect of N,O-carboxymethyl chitosan and oregano essential oil to extend shelf life and control Listeria monocytogenes in raw chicken meat fillets. LWT Food Sci Technol 53:94–99
- Passarinho ATP, Dias NF, Camilloto GP, Cruz RS, Otoni CG, Moraes ARF, Soares NDFF (2014) Sliced bread preservation through oregano essential oil-containing sachet. J Food Process Eng 37:53–62
- 79. Zhang X, Liu Y, Yong H, Qin Y, Liu J, Liu J (2019) Development of multifunctional food packaging films based on chitosan, TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles and anthocyanin-rich black plum peel extract. Food Hydrocoll 94:80–92
- 80. Balti R, Ben MM, Sayari N, Yacoubi L, Rabaoui L, Brodu N, Masse A (2017) Development and characterization of bioactive edible films from spider crab (Maja crispata) chitosan incorporated with spirulina extract. Int J Biol Macromol 105:1464–1472
- Jiang T, Feng L, Zheng X (2012) Effect of chitosan coating enriched with thyme oil on postharvest quality and shelf life of shiitake mushroom (Lentinus edodes). J Agric Food Chem 60:188–196
- Chamanara V, Shabanpour B, Gorgin S, Khomeiri M (2012) An investigation on characteristics of rainbow trout coated using chitosan assisted with thyme essential oil. Int J Biol Macromol 50:540–544
- Tripathi S, Mehrotra GK, Dutta PK (2010) Preparation and physicochemical evaluation of chitosan/poly(vinyl alcohol)/pectin ternary film for food packaging applications. Carbohyd Polym 79:711–716
- 84. Zhang X, Xiao G, Wang Y, Zhao Y, Su H, Tan T (2017) Preparation of chitosan-TiO<sub>2</sub> composite film with efficient antimicrobial activities under visible light for food packaging applications. Carbohydr Polym 169:101–107
- Saharan V, Sharma G, Yadav M, Choudhari M, Sharma SS, Pal A, Raliya R, Biswas P (2015) Synthesis and in vitro antifungal efficacy of Cu-chitosan nanoparticles against pathogenic fungi of tomato. Int J Biol Macromol 75:346–353
- Almasi H, Jafarzadeh P, Mehryar L (2018) Fabrication of novel nanohybrids by impregnation of CuO nanoparticles into bacterial cellulose and chitosan nanofibers: characterization, antimicrobial and release properties. Carbohydr Polym 186:273–281
- Nouri A, Yaraki MT, Ghorbanpour M, Agarwal S, Gupta VK (2018) Enhanced antibacterial effect of chitosan film using montmorillonite/CuO nanocomposite. Int J Biol Macromol 109:1219–1231

- Kumar S, Shukla A, Baul PP, Mitra A, Halder D (2018) Biodegradable hybrid nanocomposites of chitosan/gelatin and silver nanoparticles for active food packaging applications. Food Packag Shelf Life 16:178–184
- Kaewklin P, Siripatrawan U, Suwanagul A, Lee YS (2018) Active packaging from chitosantitanium dioxide nanocomposite film for prolonging storage life of tomato fruit. Int J Biol Macromol 112:523–529
- Al-Naamani L, Dutta J, Dobretsov S (2018) Nanocomposite zinc oxide-chitosan coatings on polyethylene films for extending storage life of okra (Abelmoschus esculentus). Nano 8:479
- 91. Salari M, Sowti Khiabani M, Rezaei Mokarram R, Ghanbarzadeh B, Kafil HS (2018) Development and evaluation of chitosan based active nanocomposite films containing bacterial cellulose nanocrystals and silver nanoparticles. Food Hydrocoll 84:414–423
- 92. Saral Sarojini K, Indumathi MP, Rajarajeswari GR (2019) Mahua oil-based polyurethane/ chitosan/nano ZnO composite films for biodegradable food packaging applications. Int J Biol Macromol 124:163–174
- Shankar S, Pangeni R, Park JW, Rhim JW (2018) Preparation of sulfur nanoparticles and their antibacterial activity and cytotoxic effect. Mater Sci Eng C 92:508–517
- Tripathi S, Mehrotra GK, Dutta PK (2011) Chitosan–silver oxide nanocomposite film: preparation and antimicrobial activity. Bull Mater Sci 34:29–35
- 95. Dehnad D, Mirzaei H, Emam-Djomeh Z, Jafari SM, Dadashi S (2014) Thermal and antimicrobial properties of chitosan-nanocellulose films for extending shelf life of ground meat. Carbohydr Polym 109:148–154
- 96. Alves VLCD, Rico BPM, Cruz RMS, Vicente AA, Khmelinski I, Vieira MC (2018) Preparation and characterization of a chitosan film with grape seed extract-carvacrol microcapsules and its effect on the shelf-life of refrigerated Salmon (Salmo salar). LWT Food Sci Technol 89:525–534
- 97. Kakaei S, Shahbazi Y (2016) Effect of chitosan-gelatin film incorporated with ethanolic red grape seed extract and Ziziphora clinopodioides essential oil on survival of listeria monocytogenes and chemical, microbial and sensory properties of minced trout fillet. LWT Food Sci Technol 72:432–438
- 98. Wu J, Ge S, Liu H, Wang S, Chen S, Wang J, Li J, Zhang Q (2014) Properties and antimicrobial activity of silver carp (Hypophthalmichthys molitrix) skin gelatin-chitosan films incorporated with oregano essential oil for fish preservation. Food Packag Shelf Life 2:7–16
- 99. Ashrafi A, Jokar M, Mohammadi Nafchi A (2018) Preparation and characterization of biocomposite film based on chitosan and kombucha tea as active food packaging. Int J Biol Macromol 108:444–454
- 100. Rahman PM, Mujeeb VMA, Muraleedharan K (2017) Flexible chitosan-nano ZnO antimicrobial pouches as a new material for extending the shelf life of raw meat. Int J Biol Macromol 97:382–391
- 101. Souza VGL, Pires JRA, Rodrigues C, Coelhoso IM, Fernando AL (2020) Chitosan composites in packaging industry – current trends and future challenges. Polymers 12:417
- 102. Joshi SN (2015) Post harvest management of agro-products using biopolymer coated fabric bags. Asian Chitin J 11:17–22
- 103. Tripathi P, Gupta AK, Dutta PK (2013) Titanium dioxide impregnated chitosan based nanocomposite: a facile approach for superior antibacterial assessment for food packaging. Asian Chitin J 9:7–10
- 104. Petrou S, Tsiraki M, Giatrakou V, Savvaidis IN (2012) Chitosan dipping or oregano oil treatments, singly or combined on modified atmosphere packaged chicken breast meat. Int J Food Microbiol 156:264–271
- 105. Nair MS, Saxena A, Kaur C (2018) Effect of chitosan and alginate based coatings enriched with pomegranate peel extract to extend the postharvest quality of guava (Psidium guajava L.). Food Chem 240:245–252

- 106. Vieira JM, Flores-López ML, de Rodríguez DJ, Sousa MC, Vicente AA, Martins JT (2016) Effect of chitosan-Aloe vera coating on postharvest quality of blueberry (Vaccinium corymbosum) fruit. Postharvest Biol Technol 116:88–97
- 107. Hong K, Xie J, Zhang L, Sun D, Gong D (2012) Effects of chitosan coating on postharvest life and quality of guava (Psidium guajava L.) fruit during cold storage. Sci Hortic 144:172–178
- 108. Alvarez MV, Ponce AG, del Moreira MR (2013) Antimicrobial efficiency of chitosan coating enriched with bioactive compounds to improve the safety of fresh cut broccoli. LWT Food Sci Technol 50:78–87
- 109. Dotto GL, Vieira MLG, Pinto LAA (2015) Use of chitosan solutions for the microbiological shelf life extension of papaya fruits during storage at room temperature. LWT Food Sci Technol 64:126–130
- 110. Luksiene Z, Buchovec I (2019) Impact of chlorophyllin-chitosan coating and visible light on the microbial contamination, shelf life, nutritional and visual quality of strawberries. Innov Food Sci Emerg Technol 52:463–472
- 111. Zhang L, Huang C, Zhao H (2019) Application of pullulan and chitosan multilayer in fresh papayas. Coatings 745:1–10
- 112. Mantihal S, Kobun R, Lee B-B (2020) 3D food printing of as the new way of preparing food: a review. Int J Gastron Food Sci 22:100260
- 113. Le-Bail A, Maniglia BC, Le-Bail P (2020) Recent advances and future perspective in additive manufacturing of foods based on 3D printing. Curr Opin Food Sci 35:54–64
- 114. Mir SA, Shah MA, Mir MM (2016) Understanding the role of plasma technology in food industry. Food Bioprocess Technol 9:734–750
- 115. Pankaj SK, Bueno-Ferrer C, Misra NN, Milosavljević V, O'Donnell CP, Bourke P, Keener KM, Cullen PJ (2014) Applications of cold plasma technology in food packaging. Trends Food Sci Technol 35:5–17

# **Chitosan-Based Biosensor Fabrication and Biosensing Applications**



Sivashanmugam Amirthalingam and Jayakumar Rangasamy

# Contents

1 1	Introduction	234	
2	Principles of Surface-Based Biosensor	235	
3	Role of Chitosan in Biosensor	238	
4	Preparing Chitosan-Based Biosensors	239	
4	4.1 Chitosan Coating on the Electrode	239	
4	4.2 Immobilization of BRE in the Chitosan Substrate	241	
5	5 Recent Survey of Chitosan in Biosensing Applications		
:	5.1 Chitosan-Based DNA Biosensors	243	
:	5.2 Chitosan-Based Immunosensors	246	
:	5.3 Chitosan-Based Enzyme Biosensors	247	
6	Conclusion and Future Perspective	250	
Refe	erences	250	

**Abstract** Recent years have seen tremendous interest among researchers in the field of biosensors for the application of medical and agricultural products, processed food, and environmental monitoring. To prepare a stable and reliable biosensor, immobilization of biological responses elements (BRE) plays a critical role. Chitosan, a natural polysaccharide with non-toxic and gellable properties, and the presence of functional groups would act as a suitable substrate material. The presence of functional groups would provide cross-linking moieties increasing the mechanical stability, immobilization of BRE and nanomaterials. Additionally, a chitosan composite/nanocomposite-based biosensor would provide enhanced conductivity and sensitivity of detecting various biological analytes such as glucose,  $H_2O_2$ , antigens, DNA, and biomolecules. This review provides a comprehensive understanding of various strategies of utilizing chitosan as a substrate for various biosensing applications.

S. Amirthalingam and J. Rangasamy (🖂)

Centre for Nanosciences and Molecular Medicine, Amrita Vishwa Vidyapeetham, Kochi, India e-mail: rjayakumar@aims.amrita.edu

Keywords Biosensor  $\cdot$  Chitosan  $\cdot$  DNA  $\cdot$  Electrodeposition  $\cdot$  Enzyme  $\cdot$  Immunosensor

## 1 Introduction

Over the past few decades, research in the field of biosensors has resulted in expanding the application into various areas including the medical field [1-3], food quality control [4-6], and environmental monitoring [7-9], etc. As a result of the biosensor's simplified process, very less consumption of chemical reagents and energy, a small quantity of the sample requirement, cost-efficient process with high accuracy, and small form factor are possible [10]. Typically, a biosensor is described as an analytical device to detect the soluble analyte by binding to the biological or biologically derived target, also described as biological recognition element (BRE) which would be either closely associated or immobilized in the transducer device to detect the target analyte concentration [11]. The transducer in the biosensor works to convert the interaction between the target analyte and BRE, to easily quantify the concentration of the analyte through the physicochemical way: such as optical, piezoelectric, electrochemical, electroluminescent, pyroelectric, electronic, acoustic, and so forth [10, 12]. The transduced signal is further depicted in the user-friendly interface for easy understanding through the reader device. The reader device is custom built to user requirements and is generally regarded as one of the costly parts of the device present in the biosensor.

Clark invented the first biosensor for oxygen concentration measurement in the year 1956 [13], further his group expanded the applicability of biosensors for various analytes and had discussed the process of making an "intelligent electrochemical biosensor" by including "enzyme transducers" [14]. A system was created that was sensitive to glucose level by the fact that the glucose oxidase (GOx) enzyme utilizes oxygen for converting glucose from the sample to glucono-δ-lactone [15]. The oxygen consumption was in proportion to glucose content. Since then, the biosensor field has seen rapid development in the measurement of various biological analytes such as pH, ion concentration, dopamine, and so forth. The size of the biosensor also had seen a vast size reduction over the period. In the present scenario, the biosensor could also be included in the watch for ECG and atrial fibrillation [16], in socks for gait monitoring [17], in a contact lens for ocular diagnostics [18], so forth (Fig. 1).



**Fig. 1** Historical evolution of biosensors. Reproduced with permission from [14], Copyrights (1962). John Wiley and Sons, Reproduced with permission from [16], Copyrights (2018). Springer Nature, Reproduced under terms of the CC-BY license [17], Reproduced under terms of the CC-BY license [18]

## 2 Principles of Surface-Based Biosensor

In the biosensor, when the target analyte binds to the BRE, which is pinned down to the surface of the biosensor, it is regarded as a surface-based biosensor. A typical surface-based biosensor is schematically described in Fig. 2, which has the following elements [10, 19]:

- 1. a bio-component that reacts or attaches with the sample;
- 2. an interface material that is immobilized with a biological recognition element, wherein
- 3. the reaction takes place that results in an electrical signal in the electrical interface;
- 4. signal recovery and amplification circuit;
- 5. digital signal processing unit for analyzing the obtained signal, and
- 6. display unit for human-interface.

Single-stranded deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) [20] and antibodies [21] are some of the BRE used in the biosensor. The binding of the target analyte to these BREs would result in structural changes and would result in the disturbance of its milieu. These disturbances can be transformed into an electrical signal using transducers. At





the same time, an enzyme-based biosensor utilizes catalytic activity between the target analyte and immobilized enzyme [22]. Once the target analyte is applied to the sensor, an oxidation-reduction reaction would be achieved, which would be converted into an electrical signal and analyzed using techniques such as amperometry, voltammetry, potentiometry, impedance spectroscopy, and so forth [10].

With many studies, it is being understood that biosensor's performance is associated with the innate properties of BRE in the detection of target analyte [23]. At the same time, the base/substrate material to which the BRE is immobilized also plays an important role as it could affect the binding properties of an analyte with the BRE, binding kinetics, and structure of immobilized BRE. The commonly utilized supportive matrix for the biosensor includes quartz/silicon, silicon dioxide (SiO<sub>2</sub>), precious metal/metal oxides, carbon, biopolymers, and thin films. The general characteristics of the substrate need to be toxic-free, physio-chemically stable material, electrically conductive and high charge-carrying material [23].

The next important aspect to be seen in the biosensor is the type of immobilization of BRE to the substrate. It is of two types: i) physical adsorption and ii) chemically cross-linked or covalently bound [25]. The physical adsorption is a low-cost method of adhering BRE to the substrate; however, because of the non-covalent linkage, this method suffers from low probe coverage and non-uniform covering of BRE. In the case of covalently bound BRE, it provides reliable results; however, it needs additional steps to prepare, which adds to the cost [25]. For example, 1-Ethyl-3-(3-dimethylaminopropyl) carbodiimide hydrochloride (EDC)-N-hydroxy succinimide (NHS) mediated coupling of protein molecule was attached to electrode with a linker molecule of 3-Aminopropyl ethoxy silane [26].

The next step in the biosensor that needs to be addressed is blocking. This step is essential to avoid the non-specific binding of analytes and to improve specificity and selectivity. Blocking agents such as tween 20, bovine serum albumin (BSA), casein, poly ethylene glycol (PEG), and so forth are commonly used [27]. One of the important aspects in selecting the blocking agent is that it should be compatible with the BRE and it should replace the BRE.

To improve the limit of detection (LOD) for the biosensor, the density of BRE immobilized on the surface would play an important role. Increasing the BRE density would also improve the specificity of the sensor [28]. This is a general consideration for improving the LOD, additional requirements are needed to be fulfilled, which ultimately depends on the type of biosensor used. For example, in the case of immunosensors (biosensors that utilize antibodies as BRE), it requires a specific orientation of the antibody to bind with the target analyte. This ensures the active site in the antibody is available for the capture of the antigen [29]. In the case of DNA-based biosensors, optimization of DNA concentration in the substrate is required, as single-stranded DNA is negatively charged and a higher concentration of DNA would result in repulsion and reduce the sensitivity of the biosensor [30]. In addition to the above-mentioned requirements, BRE immobilized on the substrate should be durable and preserve the active site for binding, as they are of importance in out-door usage, where the environmental factors could affect the properties of the biosensors [31]. In this regard, a chitosan-based substrate for BRE binding has

shown long-term stability [32, 33]. In the next section, the applicability of chitosan, based on its chemical and functional properties relevant to biosensor application would be discussed.

## **3** Role of Chitosan in Biosensor

Chitosan is an aminoglucopyran with a linear chain predominantly containing glucosamine and a lower presence of N-acetyl glucosamine in a randomly arranged manner, with  $\beta(1 \rightarrow 4)$  linkage [33]. It is a very important derivative of naturally derived polymer, chitin. Chitin is mostly found in the shells of crustaceans such as crab, shrimp, and so forth, the cell wall of fungi, beaks of cephalopods, and insect's wings [34]. Naturally derived polymers such as chitin are highly cost-effective due to the fact that it is derived from marine food industry's "waste." Further processing of chitin, i.e., deacetylation would result in chitosan. Chitin is insoluble in most of the organic solvents. It had been found that chitin dissolves in saturated CaCl<sub>2</sub>.2H<sub>2</sub>O/Methanol, 5%LiCl-Dimethylacetamide and urea/NaOH solvent mixture [34–36]. However, chitosan is readily soluble in acids (Fig. 3). Another unique aspect of chitosan is cationic, as most of the naturally derived polymers such as hyaluronic acid, chondroitin sulfate, dextran, fucoidan, carrageenan, and so forth are anionic [37]. This unique characteristic allows chitosan to readily form a composite with other synthetic [38] or naturally derived anionic polymer [39]. Chitosan is a versatile polymer having application in tissue engineering [39–42], drug delivery [43, 44], and hemostatic applications [45–47], owing to their physio-chemical properties such as bio-compatible, bio-degradable, tuneable into various forms



**Fig. 3** Advantages of chitosan for biosensor application. The solubility of chitosan, high processability into a hydrogel, macroporous scaffolds and thin films, availability of functional groups for immobilization of BRE, electrodeposition of chitosan to the cathode, higher biocompatibility, and large-scale availability at low cost provide a new window of application for chitosan

(hydrogel, electrospun membrane, thin-film, sponges, scaffold, and so forth), and low cost.

Chitosan could be manufactured at a wide range with a degree of deacetylation and molecular weight. Chitin in the natural form has a molecular weight in MDa. However, in the large-scale extraction process, random cleavage happens in the polymer backbone. Further, the deacetylation process in a strong alkali bath would also reduce the molecular weight [48]. Currently, chitosan is marketed as powder, flakes, and small beads with high (>~500 kDa), medium (~50–500 kDa), and low (<~50 kDa) molecular weight. The solubility of chitosan could be adjusted (usually <pH 6.5) depending on the biosensor application requirement. Additionally, chitosan possesses free amine and hydroxyl groups which could be utilized in covalent conjugation with the BRE. The presence of a free  $-NH_2$  group in the polymeric backbone provides an opportunity for side group attachment and covalent binding to the BRE under mild reaction conditions [49]. Chitosan could also be electrodeposited to the cathode through electrolysis of water, causing local pH [19] (Fig. 3).

The importance of substrate selection has been mentioned earlier, to improve the BRE concentration and specificity. Chitosan provides a multitude of advantages, as chitosan could be prepared into hydrogel material, which would provide a 3-dimensional architecture for the BRE binding and provides stability of the immobilized BRE in it [50]. Further, if chitosan had to be utilized in a dry environment, then it could be processed into a 3-D porous scaffold with the pore size in the order of microns [51]. The porous structure would increase the specific surface area, thereby providing more room for the BRE binding and increasing the concentration of it. This is more advantageous over the use of a planar biosensor, as increasing the BRE concentration over the unit volume would amplify the signal output. Additionally, chitosan is non-toxic, renewable polymer derived from the marine industry "waste" and it is bio-degradable [34] (Fig. 3).

## 4 Preparing Chitosan-Based Biosensors

#### 4.1 Chitosan Coating on the Electrode

Chitosan solubility could be modified with a simple pH change and this provides a simpler reaction method for forming a chitosan layer over the electrode with control over its thickness. Chitosan dissolves in acidified aqueous media and regenerative into an insoluble form of chitosan above pH 7–9 [52]. This process could be utilized to coat the electrode with chitosan. The thickness of the coating could be adjusted with the concentration of the chitosan solution. But it may not be able to achieve a very thin coating. To achieve a thin and dense coating of chitosan, a spin coating technique could be utilized [53]. Alternatively, a layer-by-layer technique could help achieve thin coating, with the benefit of introducing another substrate material that could add an advantage to the biosensor [54]. One of the major shortcomings of

casting, layer-by-layer and spin coating technique is that these methods are only suitable for smooth and defined surfaced electrode, as when these methods are used to coat chitosan on to porous or complex surfaced electrode, they could result in local accumulation and uneven coating on the electrode [55].

#### 4.1.1 Electrodeposition of Chitosan

Chitosan coating/deposition could be carried out by electrodeposition, which was first reported by Wu et al. [56]. Even though chitosan is not a conductive material, the term electrodeposition may not be the correct terminology to call, as there is no redox conversion of coat-forming material itself. It is regarded as "electrodeposition," as chitosan is deposited over the cathode through electrolysis of water. The instrumental setup and the mechanism are depicted in Fig. 4. During the process, consumption of protons at the cathodic end and generation of hydroxide ions at the interface cause local pH change. The local milieu in pH change is sufficient for the



**Fig. 4** Schematic representation and mechanism for electrodeposition of chitosan. Instrumental setup of electrodeposition of chitosan thin film on to cathode (**a**) and mechanistic aspect of chitosan deposition (**b**). Reproduced with permission from [19]. Copyright (2013) American Chemical Society

chitosan to undergo sol-gel transition and get deposited at the cathode. Further, to improve the stability of the deposited chitosan, intrinsic functional groups or newly introduced reactive groups could be utilized to cross-link the polymeric strands. Commonly used cross-linkers of chitosan are EDC/NHS, glutaraldehyde, glyoxal, N, N'-methylenebisacrylamide, ethylene glycol diglycidyl, genipin, sodium tripolyphosphate, and so forth [57–60]. Another interesting aspect of chitosan is that the free electron pair of nitrogen could be utilized for internal complex formation and metal binding [61].

Electrodeposition of chitosan is particularly important, as it could be deposited onto the miniature electrodes in biosensor and point of interest areas in the micro and nano arrayed electrodes that are not achievable using classical techniques such as casting and spin coating. Wu et al. [62] displayed spatio-selective deposition of chitosan in the gold band electrode arrays in a stimuli-responsive manner. The results displayed that chitosan could be electrodeposited to a 20 um band electrode array which is separated by a distance of 20 µm. Buckhout-White et al. [63] showed that electrodeposition could be controlled to a resolution of  $0.5-1 \mu m$  thick coating. The anodic deposition of chitosan was achieved by electrolysis of chloride to generate chlorine species, which further oxidizes chitosan, yielding chitosan aldehyde [64]. The aldehyde form of chitosan would covalently bind with the amino group of chitosan through Schiff base reaction. The swellable gel gets deposited in the anodic part of the sensor electrode. The chlorine species could also affect the BRE, resulting in BRE's instability. To circumvent the problem, Geng et al. [65] deposited a coordinated chitosan complex on the copper film anode. Cu<sup>2+</sup> would coordinate with the chitosan molecules and then results in a blue color hydrogel, which gets deposited on to copper anode. The formed hydrogel was stable enough to peel from the electrode. This method also helped in depositing the complex structure of the electrode (Fig. 5). Islam et al. electrodeposited chitosan on the copper anode and cathode [66]. The results showed that coordinated chitosan was deposited on the copper anode and chitosan hydrogel was deposited on the cathode. Further, carbonization of the anodic hydrogel resulted in macroporous carbon/Cu composite exhibiting 15-fold enhanced electrical conductivity compared to carbon obtained from the cathodic hydrogel.

## 4.2 Immobilization of BRE in the Chitosan Substrate

One of the important aspects of biosensor fabrication is substrate coating on the electrode and BRE immobilization in the substrate. In the previous section, the substrate coating on the electrode was discussed. In this section, the immobilization of BRE will be discussed. BRE could be entrapped in the chitosan hydrogel during the neutralization of the chitosan solution. The porous morphology of the chitosan scaffold allows the BRE to be exposed to the surface of the chitosan substrate. Chitosan sol-gel transition wasn't affected by adding BRE to the chitosan solution [55]. Thus, by the simple addition of BRE to the chitosan solution, BRE-chitosan



Fig. 5 Coordinate electrodeposition of chitosan. Peeled chitosan/ $Cu^{2+}$  hydrogel (**a**), complex patterning of chitosan hydrogel on the copper wire (**b**) and mechanism of Coordinate electrodeposition (**c**). Reproduced from [65]

could be coated by simple casting or by electrodeposition to the desired area of the electrode. It is expected that BRE molecules would be entrapped inside the chitosan substrate even without covalent cross-linking or by electrostatic attraction. A simple entrapment method is sufficient to hold the BRE in the chitosan substrate. One of the important requirements for this method is that BRE needs to be stable in an acidic environment. Even though entrapment is simpler and cost-effective, it suffers from poor stability of BRE, as BRE could be leaked out from the chitosan substrate during testing due to their weak interaction [67, 68].

BRE immobilization to the chitosan substrate can be achieved by covalent crosslinking. Free amino group (-NH<sub>2</sub>) present in chitosan provides an opportunity for covalent cross-linking, which is depicted in Fig. 6. For example, glutaraldehyde could be utilized for coupling the amino group of chitosan with the amino group of BRE. Wang et al. utilized glutaraldehyde as an arm linker between chitosan/ multiwalled carbon tube and ss-DNA probe [69]. Biotin-avidin is one of the strong interaction complexes, which could be utilized for the immobilization of BRE. Singh et al. fabricated chitosan/Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> with avidin conjugation. The biotinylated ss-DNA probe was immobilized to the substrate through the biotin–avidin interaction [70]. The phosphate group of ss-DNA could be utilized to conjugate with the amino group chitosan through EDC/NHS chemistry. In this scenario, EDC would act as the activator of the phosphate group and form a stable intermediate. NHS



**Fig. 6** Immobilization techniques of BRE to the chitosan substrate. Utilization of glutaraldehyde (a) for cross-linking amino group of chitosan and amine of BRE (for example: ss-DNA), avidin/ biotin (b) based immobilization of BRE (for example: ss-DNA) and EDC/NHS (c) based coupling of the amino group of chitosan and phosphate group of BRE for example: ss-DNA. Reproduced with permission from [19]. Copyright (2013) American Chemical Society

activated chitosan would react with the DNA, yielding covalent linkage between phosphate and amino group [71].

In addition to the homogeneous chitosan substrate, a chitosan nanocomposite substrate is also utilized. Nanomaterials such as carbon nanotubes, graphene, metal oxides, and so forth had been added to the chitosan matrix. Carbon-based nanomaterials are hydrophobic and uniformly disperses in the chitosan matrix, providing stability to the biosensor. Nanocomposite chitosan substrate has good electrical conductivity [72] and surface flatness [73], compared to homogeneous chitosan matrix. Thus, the composite substrate opens a new window for high-performance biosensors.

## 5 Recent Survey of Chitosan in Biosensing Applications

## 5.1 Chitosan-Based DNA Biosensors

Biosensing of target analytes such as ss-DNA, short-chain oligonucleotide, and so forth from biological samples, which were regarded as clinical biomarkers for identifying the disease conditions using conventional techniques such as DNA chips and microarrays is a well-established field [74–76]. Even though these

methods are regarded as the gold standard, in certain situations, better analytical techniques are warranted. Recently, DNA biosensors have attracted interest among researchers, owing to their simple and rapid detection, yet with high sensitivity and selectivity of the target analyte and doesn't require trained personnel and extensive procedure for performing experiments [77-79]. The required parameters for biosensing of DNA samples in a clinical setting were identification and synthesis of DNA probe for detecting oligonucleotides, accurate binding and immobilization of oligonucleotide to the DNA probe, and finally detection, amplification, and processing of signal generated due to the DNA hybridization. The most commonly used electrode material in electrochemical biosensing is gold, although carbon and metal oxide are also used. DNA probe immobilization utilizes a strong binding force between Au and sulfur atoms, which produces self-assembly of DNA molecules onto the Au surface with the introduction of sulfhydryl groups (-SH) containing organic molecules [80]. The sulfhydryl-based immobilization of DNA is limited to Au surface and other chemical cross-linking techniques are required to immobilize DNA probe to the surface of the biosensor such as glass, carbon, metal oxide, or platinum electrode. Many studies have utilized chitosan in a neat form or chitosan nanocomposite for immobilization or DNA hybridization detection. Chitosan-based DNA fixation works either by chemical or physical immobilization, wherein the physical immobilization utilizes cationic group (-NH<sub>2</sub>) of chitosan and anionic group  $(-PO_4)$  of DNA backbone. For the chemical immobilization, cross-linkers such as glutaraldehyde (- $NH_2$  group of chitosan is cross-linked with  $-NH_2$  group of DNA) [69], avidin-biotin (avidin conjugated chitosan is complexed with biotinylated DNA) [70], EDC/NHS (-NH<sub>2</sub> group of chitosan is cross-linked with  $-PO_4$  group of DNA) [71], and so forth are used.

The nanocomposite chitosan provides many advantages in the biosensor compared to bare chitosan, such as uniformity and evenness of chitosan, enhanced electrical conductivity, and better hybridization [81, 82]. Recently, Tiwari et al., fabricated а biosensor, wherein graphene oxide/nickel ferrite/chitosan nanocomposite was electrodeposited on to indium tin oxide (ITO) electrode and the probe DNA was immobilized on to it [83]. Differential pulse voltammetry (DPV) was utilized for studying the DNA hybridization of Escherichia coli with methylene blue (MB) used as a redox indicator (Fig. 7). A linear response was obtained for a range of 1 µM to 0.1 fM with LOD of 0.1 fM. Similarly, Heydarzadeh et al. fabricated a DNA biosensor with a glassy carbon electrode (GCE) modified with chitosan nanocomposite containing multiwalled carbon nanotube and Au nanoparticles [84]. Here, Au-thiol group interaction was used for immobilizing probe DNA (thiolated DNA probe was used) onto the substrate. The DPV method was utilized with MB as a redox indicator to detect the DNA at a concentration range of 90 fM to 1 µM with LOD of 7.2 fM. A label-free method for detecting Escherichia coli was developed by Xu et al., wherein chitosan/graphene oxide (GO/CS) nanocomposite (physical cross-inking) was immobilized onto GCE for detecting [85]. Under the DNA hybridization, the prepared biosensor showed a linear concentration of DNA at a range of 10 fM to 10 nM using electrochemical impedance spectroscopy (EIS). The LOD for the prepared biosensor was  $3.584 \times 10^{-15}$  M.




Further studies showed that even 1-mismatched DNA was able to distinguish complementary DNA probe. However, Xu et al. [85] reported label-free had a lower detection range compared to the Tiwari et al. [83] labeled (MB as the redox indicator) biosensor. To overcome the above-mentioned problem, Zuo et al. reported label-free biosensing of bacterial DNA with nanocomposite chitosan as a substrate, which contains iron oxide nanoparticles (Fe<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub>)/multiwalled carbon nanotubes for detection of Bacillus cereus [86]. The EIS was utilized to study the DNA hybridization with a linear detection obtained for a concentration of 0.2 pM to 2  $\mu$ M with a LOD of 2 pM of DNA. Similarly, Qian et al. utilized a label-free biosensing method for detecting foodborne pathogen Clostridium perfringens by immobilizing DNA probe on to CeO2/chitosan-coated electrode surface through metal coordination [87]. Two morphologies of CeO<sub>2</sub> were prepared by adjusting the pH during the synthesis route. CeO<sub>2</sub> nanorods were found to have a higher surface charge compared to nanoparticles, thereby having higher DNA adsorption performance. The EIS was utilized to detect the complementary DNA with a linear detection range of 10 fM to 10  $\mu$ M and LOD of 7 fM.

## 5.2 Chitosan-Based Immunosensors

Immunosensors take advantages of the specific recognition of antigens over their complementary antibodies. With the strong affinity-based recognition, immunosensors at the optimized parameters can detect the target antigens at attomolar concentration [88, 89] and studies have reported even sub-attomolar concentration [90]. This has led to many applications of immunosensors and added interest in the research community. One of the important requirements for the immunosensors is a higher concentration of antibody (immune-sensing component) in the electrode for good sensitivity of the target antigen [91, 92]. Accordingly, simple and effective methods such as the incorporation of chitosan in various form have increased the surface area, thereby providing more room for the antibody for detecting antigens.

Recently, Wang et al. developed an electrochemical immunosensor for detecting food contaminant T2-toxin by modifying the GCE electrode using Au nanoparticles/ carboxyl acid group terminated single-walled carbon nanotubes in chitosan matrix with EDC/NHS cross-linking. Anti-T2-toxin was immobilized to the substrate and a secondary antibody conjugated with alkaline phosphatase (ALP) was used for indirect detection of antigen. Finally, hydrolysis of  $\alpha$ -naphthyl phosphate by ALP enzyme produced the electrochemical signal. The LOD of the developed device was 0.13 ng mL<sup>-1</sup>. Label-free immunosensor was developed by Sarkar et al. with a biosensing system containing ITO electrode modified with chitosan-carbon dots by drop-cast method for detection of vitamin-D<sub>2</sub> by conjugating anti-vitamin D<sub>2</sub> antibodies and bovine serum albumin (BSA) on to the substrate using EDC-NHS method [94]. With the help of DPV, the dynamic linear range of detection was 10–50 ng mL<sup>-1</sup> and LOD was 1.35 ng mL<sup>-1</sup>. Soares et al. reported low-cost

immunosensors made of a microfluidic device with an interdigitated electrode coated with chitosan and chondroitin sulfate by layer-by-layer (LbL) technique, which contained physically adsorbed S. aureus antibodies [95]. The LOD for the fabricated device containing 10 LbL was 2.83 CFU mL<sup>-1</sup>. High sensitivity and selectivity of the device was attributed to the projection of EIS data to an interactive document mapping, resulting in identification of *E. coli* and *Salmonella* contamination in milk. Devarakonda et al. reported a paper-based, label-free biosensor for detection of the influenza virus. The immunosensors were fabricated by modifying the paper with spraying of hydrophobic silica nanoparticles onto it and stencil-printed electrodes [93]. The stencil-printed electrodes were modified with single-walled carbon nanotubes and chitosan with immobilization of antibodies with glutaraldehyde (Fig. 8). The fabricated device showed LOD of 113 PFU mL $^{-1}$  by the DPV method. The LOD is sufficient for the on-site diagnosis of the disease. To improve the antibody loading and sensitivity. Choosang et al. fabricated a highly sensitive immunosensor with chitosan nanocomposite made of graphene, ionic liquid, and ferrocene with glutaraldehyde as the cross-linker [96]. The drop-casted material was freeze-dried to obtain 3-D porous chitosan nanocomposite. Further, the prostatespecific antigen (PSA) antibody and Au nanoparticles were immobilized. The developed porous substrate showed enhanced electron transfer and electrical conductivity. It showed a very high sensitivity for PSA with a detection range of  $1.0 \times 10^{-7}$  to  $1.0 \times 10^{-1}$  ng mL<sup>-1</sup> with LOD of  $4.8 \times 10^{-8}$  ng mL<sup>-1</sup>.

As most cancers express more than one cancer marker, detecting one marker is discouraged. To address this, simultaneous detection of cancer markers is warranted. One such example is Cotchim et al. developed multiplexed detection of carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA), cancer antigens 153 (CA153), and cancer antigen 125 (CA125) [97]. The multiplexed working electrode (E) of E1, E2, and E3 was prepared by depositing graphene on top of ITO. Chitosan-MB complex is drop-cast and allowed to dry to obtain cryogel. Further, anti-CEA, anti-CA153, and anti-CA125 were immobilized onto the surface of E1, E2, and E3, respectively. The LOD for all three antigens was  $0.04 \text{ pg mL}^{-1}$ .

#### 5.3 Chitosan-Based Enzyme Biosensors

Chitosan acts as an intermediate material between enzyme and sensor, as it provides immobilization surface for the enzyme and accessibility to an active region of the enzyme for substrate and co-factor binding, due to its porous structure. Compared to immunosensors, relaxed enzyme orientation is required and enzymes are relatively larger in size, making chitosan a suitable option as a substrate or dispersion material for enzyme-based biosensors. The addition of nano-component such as nanoparticles, carbon nanotubes, and graphene nanosheets has provided enhanced electrical conductivity, electron charge transfers, and surface flatness. From the first preparation of enzyme-based biosensors, several works have been carried out in this area.



**Fig. 8** Schematic representation of spraying hydrophobic silica nanoparticles onto the paper electrode (a) and functionalization scheme of the modified electrode with single-walled carbon nanotubes and chitosan with immobilization of antibodies with glutaraldehyde. Reproduced from [93]



**Fig. 9** Schematic representation of a modified FTO electrode with chitosan/PVP/graphene oxide nanofibers, cross-linked with glutaraldehyde. Laccase enzyme was immobilized onto the substrate for the detection of EE. Reproduced with permission from [103]. Copyrights (2018) Elsevier

Representative examples of enzyme-based chitosan biosensors are mentioned below. Lipinska et al. developed a laser processed Au-Ti electrode with chitosan with immobilized GOx for detecting glucose [98]. The sensitivity of the developed device was 23.5  $\mu$ A mM<sup>-1</sup> cm<sup>-2</sup> with the LOD of 1.75  $\mu$ M. Juska et al. developed Au-foam to increase the specific surface area and they acted as a 3-D porous matrix for deposition of multiwalled carbon nanotube and chitosan [99]. To the matrix, the dual-enzyme component of GOx and horse-radish peroxidase (HRP) was immobilized. The sensitivity of the developed system for glucose is 261.8  $\mu$ A mM<sup>-1</sup> cm<sup>-2</sup> with LOD of 0.025 mM. Kim et al. developed biosensing of glucose molecules by preparing chitosan-poly-y glutamic acid hydrogel containing GOx and magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (MNPs) [100]. The device relied on the generation of  $H_2O_2$  from the oxidation of glucose by GOx. The generated H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> would activate peroxidase-like MNPs for the conversion of chromogen to a green-colored product. Devaraj et al fabricated enzyme biosensor with GCE containing graphene oxidechitosan substrate with Au nano chains [101]. The enzyme HRP was immobilized to the substrate by physical adsorption. The developed device was used to measure hydrogen peroxide.

To further exploit the versatility of chitosan, researchers developed various architecture of chitosan, thereby increasing the specific surface area and porosity. El-Moghazy et al. developed electrospun nanofibers made of chitosan/polyvinyl alcohol with acetylcholinesterase (AChE) for detecting pirimiphos-methyl [102]. The studies showed that the electrospun system yielded a two-fold increase in electrical current compared to the cast membrane. The prepared device was used to pirimiphos-methyl with LOD of 0.2 nM. Similarly, Pavinatto et al. developed nanoarchitecture by electrospinning chitosan/poly (vinyl pyrrolidone) (PVP)/ reduced graphene oxide with functionalization of laccase enzyme [103]. The nanocomposite fiber is deposited on the fluorine-doped tin oxide electrode (FTO)

(Fig. 9). The developed device was used to detect  $17\alpha$ -ethinylestradiol (EE) (endocrine disruptor), an endocrine hormonal analogue of  $17\alpha$ -estradiol. Amperometric detection of EE was studied with the LOD of 0.15 pmol L<sup>-1</sup>.

#### 6 Conclusion and Future Perspective

Chitosan is a derivative of one of the most abundant polymers, chitin. Chitosan has numerous advantages of being non-toxic, low-cost, bio-degradable, and tunable physical properties. Numerous advantages of chitosan in the biosensing field include functional groups (-NH<sub>2</sub> and -OH) for cross-linking and hydrogel formation with the simple adjustment of pH. In this review, we emphasized the role of chitosan in biosensing application by DNA, enzyme, and antibody-based biosensors. The clinical samples contain various substances, which could cause interferences and result in false-positive. Hence, future works should include biological samples with large testing scenarios and samples. Further, the stability of the biosensors needs to be noted, as they would be used in outside laboratory conditions. A low-cost paperbased device, which is use and throw type could be an added advantage for large population screening of diseases. The sensitivity and specificity of the developed device are very important for developing into commercial-scale products. The future outlook of the chitosan-based biosensors should be focused on developing products that can be wearable gadgets, point-of-care diagnostic kits, and also used for environmental real-time monitoring.

## References

- Andryukov BG, Lyapun IN, Matosova EV, Somova LM (2020) Biosensor technologies in medicine: from detection of biochemical markers to research into molecular targets. Sovrem Tehnol Med 12:70–85
- Kirsch J, Siltanen C, Zhou Q, Revzin A, Simonian A (2013) Biosensor technology: recent advances in threat agent detection and medicine. Chem Soc Rev 42:8733–8768
- Sireesha M, Babu VJ, Kiran ASK, Ramakrishna S (2018) A review on carbon nanotubes in biosensor devices and their applications in medicine. Nano 4:36–57
- 4. Bhavaniramya S, Vanajothi R, Vishnupriya S, Premkumar K, Al-Aboody MS, Vijayakumar R, Baskaran D (2019) Enzyme immobilization on nanomaterials for biosensor and biocatalyst in food and biomedical industry. Curr Pharm Des 25:2661–2676
- Bougadi ET, Kalogianni DP (2020) Paper-based DNA biosensor for food authenticity testing. Food Chem 322:126758
- Lu YC, Yang QQ, Wu J (2020) Recent advances in biosensor-integrated enrichment methods for preconcentrating and detecting the low-abundant analytes in agriculture and food samples. Trac-Trend Anal Chem 128:115914
- Nakamura H (2018) Current status of water environment and their microbial biosensor techniques – part II: recent trends in microbial biosensor development. Anal Bioanal Chem 410:3967–3989

- Uniyal S, Sharma RK (2018) Technological advancement in electrochemical biosensor based detection of organophosphate pesticide chlorpyrifos in the environment: a review of status and prospects. Biosens Bioelectron 116:37–50
- 9. Kumar H, Kumari N, Sharma R (2020) Nanocomposites (conducting polymer and nanoparticles) based electrochemical biosensor for the detection of environment pollutant: its issues and challenges. Environ Impact Asses 85:106438
- 10. Gu N, Liu SQ (2020) Introduction to biosensors. J Mater Chem B 8:3168-3170
- 11. Lei JP, Ju HX (2012) Signal amplification using functional nanomaterials for biosensing. Chem Soc Rev 41:2122–2134
- 12. Lowe CR (1985) An introduction to the concepts and technology of biosensors. Biosensors  $1{:}3{-}16$
- Clark LC (1956) Monitor and control of blood and tissue oxygen tensions. T Am Soc Art Int Org 2:41–48
- Clark Jr LC, Lyons C (1962) Electrode systems for continuous monitoring in cardiovascular surgery. Ann N Y Acad Sci 102:29–45
- Huggett AS, Nixon DA (1957) Use of glucose oxidase, peroxidase, and O-dianisidine in determination of blood and urinary glucose. Lancet 273:368–370
- Chon KH, McManus DD (2018) Detection of atrial fibrillation using a smartwatch. Nat Rev Cardiol 15:657–658
- Zhang ZX, He TYY, Zhu ML, Sun ZD, Shi QF, Zhu JX, Dong BW, Yuce MR, Lee CK (2020) Deep learning-enabled triboelectric smart socks for IoT-based gait analysis and VR applications. NPJ Flex Electron 4:29
- 18. Kim J, Kim M, Lee MS, Kim K, Ji S, Kim YT, Park J, Na K, Bae KH, Kim HK, Bien F, Lee CY, Park JU (2017) Wearable smart sensor systems integrated on soft contact lenses for wireless ocular diagnostics. Nat Commun 8:14997
- Suginta W, Khunkaewla P, Schulte A (2013) Electrochemical biosensor applications of polysaccharides chitin and chitosan. Chem Rev 113:5458–5479
- 20. Wang Y, Huang XW, Li H, Guo LL (2017) Sensitive impedimetric DNA biosensor based on (Nb,V) codoped TiO<sub>2</sub> for breast cancer susceptible gene detection. Mater Sci Eng C 77:867–873
- 21. Li GB, Xue Q, Feng JJ, Sui WP (2015) Electrochemical biosensor based on nanocomposites film of thiol graphene-thiol chitosan/nano gold for the detection of carcinoembryonic antigen. Electroanalysis 27:1245–1252
- 22. Shi WT, Ma ZF (2010) Amperometric glucose biosensor based on a triangular silver nanoprisms/chitosan composite film as immobilization matrix. Biosens Bioelectron 26:1098–1103
- Yoo EH, Lee SY (2010) Glucose biosensors: an overview of use in clinical practice. Sensors-Basel 10:4558–4576
- Jiang Y, Wu J (2019) Recent development in chitosan nanocomposites for surface-based biosensor applications. Electrophoresis 40:2084–2097
- Nguyen HH, Kim M (2017) An overview of techniques in enzyme immobilization. Appl Sci Converg Tech 26:157–163
- 26. Qian P, Ai SY, Yin HS, Li JH (2010) Evaluation of DNA damage and antioxidant capacity of sericin by a DNA electrochemical biosensor based on dendrimer-encapsulated au-pd/chitosan composite. Microchim Acta 168:347–354
- 27. Shen W, Li SQ, Park MK, Zhang ZW, Cheng ZY, Petrenko VA, Chin BA (2012) Blocking agent optimization for nonspecific binding on phage based magnetoelastic biosensors. J Electrochem Soc 159:B818–B823
- de Avila BEF, Watkins HM, Pingarron JM, Plaxco KW, Palleschi G, Ricci F (2013) Determinants of the detection limit and specificity of surface-based biosensors. Anal Chem 85:6593–6597
- Trilling AK, Beekwilder J, Zuilhof H (2013) Antibody orientation on biosensor surfaces: a minireview. Analyst 138:1619–1627

- 30. Svorc L, Jambrec D, Vojs M, Barwe S, Clausmeyer J, Michniak P, Marton M, Schuhmann W (2015) Doping level of boron-doped diamond electrodes controls the grafting density of functional groups for DNA assays. Acs Appl Mater Inter 7:18949–18956
- 31. Xiao XQ, Kuang ZF, Slocik JM, Tadepalli S, Brothers M, Kim S, Mirau PA, Butkus C, Farmer BL, Singamaneni S, Hall CK, Naik RR (2018) Advancing peptide-based biorecognition elements for biosensors using *in-silico* evolution. Acs Sens 3:1024–1031
- Shukla SK, Mishra AK, Arotiba OA, Mamba BB (2013) Chitosan-based nanomaterials: a state-of-the-art review. Int J Biol Macromol 59:46–58
- 33. Kumar MNVR (2000) A review of chitin and chitosan applications. React Funct Polym 46:1–27
- 34. Anitha A, Sowmya S, Kumar PTS, Deepthi S, Chennazhi KP, Ehrlich H, Tsurkan M, Jayakumar R (2014) Chitin and chitosan in selected biomedical applications. Prog Polym Sci 39:1644–1667
- 35. Sivashanmugam A, Charoenlarp P, Deepthi S, Rajendran A, Nair SV, Iseki S, Jayakumar R (2017) Injectable shear-thinning CaSO4/FGF-18-incorporated chitin PLGA hydrogel enhances bone regeneration in mice cranial bone defect model. ACS Appl Mater Inter 9:42639–42652
- 36. Kumar RA, Sivashanmugam A, Deepthi S, Iseki S, Chennazhi KP, Nair SV, Jayakumar R (2015) Injectable chitin-poly(ε-caprolactone)/nanohydroxyapatite composite microgels prepared by simple regeneration technique for bone tissue engineering. ACS Appl Mater Inter 7:9399–9409
- Sionkowska A (2011) Current research on the blends of natural and synthetic polymers as new biomaterials: review. Prog Polym Sci 36:1254–1276
- 38. Ferreira NN, Granja S, Boni FI, Prezotti FG, Ferreira LMB, Cury BSF, Reis RM, Baltazar F, Gremiao MPD (2020) Modulating chitosan-PLGA nanoparticle properties to design a co-delivery platform for glioblastoma therapy intended for nose-to-brain route. Drug Deliv Trans Res 10:1729–1747
- 39. Vignesh S, Sivashanmugam A, Mohandas A, Janarthanan R, Iyer S, Nair SV, Jayakumar R (2018) Injectable deferoxamine nanoparticles loaded chitosan-hyaluronic acid coacervate hydrogel for therapeutic angiogenesis. Coll Surf B 161:129–138
- 40. Sundaram MN, Deepthi S, Mony U, Shalumon KT, Chen JP, Jayakumar R (2019) Chitosan hydrogel scaffold reinforced with twisted poly(l lactic acid) aligned microfibrous bundle to mimic tendon extracellular matrix. Int J Biol Macromol 122:37–44
- Deepthi S, Venkatesan J, Kim SK, Bumgardner JD, Jayakumar R (2016) An overview of chitin or chitosan/nano ceramic composite scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. Int J Biol Macromol 93:1338–1353
- 42. Deepthi S, Gafoor AAA, Sivashanmugam A, Nair SV, Jayakumar R (2016) Nanostrontium ranelate incorporated injectable hydrogel enhanced matrix production supporting chondrogenesis in vitro. J Mater Chem B 4:4092–4103
- 43. Raveendran NT, Mohandas A, Menon RR, Menon AS, Biswas R, Jayakumar R (2019) Ciprofloxacin- and fluconazole-containing fibrin-nanoparticle-incorporated chitosan bandages for the treatment of polymicrobial wound infections. ACS Appl Bio Mater 2:243–254
- 44. Rajitha P, Gopinath D, Biswas R, Sabitha M, Jayakumar R (2016) Chitosan nanoparticles in drug therapy of infectious and inflammatory diseases. Expert Opin Drug Del 13:1177–1194
- 45. Sundaram MN, Amirthalingam S, Mony U, Varma PK, Jayakumar R (2019) Injectable chitosan-nano bioglass composite hemostatic hydrogel for effective bleeding control. Int J Biol Macromol 129:936–943
- 46. Pillai NSM, Eswar K, Amirthalingam S, Mony U, Varma PK, Jayakumar R (2019) Injectable nano whitlockite incorporated chitosan hydrogel for effective hemostasis. ACS Appl Bio Mater 2:865–873
- Sundaram MN, Mony U, Varma PK, Rangasamy J (2021) Vasoconstrictor and coagulation activator entrapped chitosan based composite hydrogel for rapid bleeding control. Carbohydr Polym 258:117634

- Zargar V, Asghari M, Dashti A (2015) A review on chitin and chitosan polymers: structure, chemistry, solubility, derivatives, and applications. Chembioeng Rev 2:204–226
- 49. Jayakumar R, Menon D, Manzoor K, Nair SV, Tamura H (2010) Biomedical applications of chitin and chitosan based nanomaterials-a short review. Carbohyd Polym 82:227–232
- Tavakoli J, Tang YH (2017) Hydrogel based sensors for biomedical applications: an updated review. Polym Basel 9:364
- Madihally SV, Matthew HWT (1999) Porous chitosan scaffolds for tissue engineering. Biomaterials 20:1133–1142
- 52. Madhumathi K, Shalumon KT, Rani VVD, Tamura H, Furuike T, Selvamurugan N, Nair SV, Jayakumar R (2009) Wet chemical synthesis of chitosan hydrogel-hydroxyapatite composite membranes for tissue engineering applications. Int J Biol Macromol 45:12–15
- 53. Zhang D, Sun Y, Wu Q, Ma PY, Zhang H, Wang YP, Song DQ (2016) Enhancing sensitivity of surface plasmon resonance biosensor by Ag nanocubes/chitosan composite for the detection of mouse IgG. Talanta 146:364–368
- 54. Pedano ML, Martel L, Desbrieres J, Defrancq E, Dumy P, Coche-Guerente L, Labbe P, Legrand JF, Calemczuk R, Rivas GA (2004) Layer-by-layer deposition of chitosan derivatives and DNA on gold surfaces for the development of biorecognition layers. Anal Lett 37:2235–2250
- 55. Koev ST, Dykstra PH, Luo X, Rubloff GW, Bentley WE, Payne GF, Ghodssi R (2010) Chitosan: an integrative biomaterial for lab-on-a-chip devices. Lab Chip 10:3026–3042
- 56. Wu LQ, Gadre AP, Yi HM, Kastantin MJ, Rubloff GW, Bentley WE, Payne GF, Ghodssi R (2002) Voltage-dependent assembly of the polysaccharide chitosan onto an electrode surface. Langmuir 18:8620–8625
- Gupta KC, Jabrail FH (2006) Effects of degree of deacetylation and cross-linking on physical characteristics, swelling and release behavior of chitosan microspheres. Carbohyd Polym 66:43–54
- Yuan Y, Chesnutt BM, Utturkar G, Haggard WO, Yang Y, Ong JL, Bumgardner JD (2007) The effect of cross-linking of chitosan microspheres with genipin on protein release. Carbohyd Polym 68:561–567
- Szymanska E, Winnicka K (2015) Stability of chitosan-a challenge for pharmaceutical and biomedical applications. Mar Drugs 13:1819–1846
- 60. Yang WJ, Fu J, Wang T, He NY (2009) Chitosan/sodium tripolyphosphate nanoparticles: preparation, characterization and application as drug carrier. J Biomed Nanotechnol 5:591–595
- No HK, Meyers SP (2000) Application of chitosan for treatment of wastewaters. Rev Environ Contam T 163:1–27
- 62. Wu LQ, Yi HM, Li S, Rubloff GW, Bentley WE, Ghodssi R, Payne GF (2003) Spatially selective deposition of a reactive polysaccharide layer onto a patterned template. Langmuir 19:519–524
- Buckhout-White SL, Rubloff GW (2009) Spatial resolution in chitosan-based programmable biomolecular scaffolds. Soft Mater 5:5044–5044
- 64. Gray KM, Liba BD, Wang YF, Cheng Y, Rubloff GW, Bentley WE, Montembault A, Royaud I, David L, Payne GF (2012) Electrodeposition of a biopolymeric hydrogel: potential for one-step protein electroaddressing. Biomacromolecules 13:1181–1189
- 65. Geng ZH, Wang X, Guo XC, Zhang Z, Chen YJ, Wang YF (2016) Electrodeposition of chitosan based on coordination with metal ions *in situ*-generated by electrochemical oxidation. J Mater Chem B 4:3331–3338
- 66. Islam M, Arya N, Weidler PG, Korvink JG, Badilita V (2020) Electrodeposition of chitosan enables synthesis of copper/carbon composites for H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> sensing. Mater Today Chem 17
- Salman S, Soundararajan S, Safina G, Satoh I, Danielsson B (2008) Hydroxyapatite as a novel reversible *in situ* adsorption matrix for enzyme thermistor-based FIA. Talanta 77:490–493

- Alsarra IA, Betigeri SS, Zhang H, Evans BA, Neau SH (2002) Molecular weight and degree of deacetylation effects on lipase-loaded chitosan bead characteristics. Biomaterials 23:3637–3644
- 69. Wang QX, Zhang B, Lin XQ, Weng W (2011) Hybridization biosensor based on the covalent immobilization of probe DNA on chitosan-mutiwalled carbon nanotubes nanocomposite by using glutaraldehyde as an arm linker. Sensor Actuat B 156:599–605
- Singh R, Verma R, Kaushik A, Sumana G, Sood S, Gupta RK, Malhotra BD (2011) Chitosaniron oxide nano-composite platform for mismatch-discriminating DNA hybridization for neisseria gonorrhoeae detection causing sexually transmitted disease. Biosens Bioelectron 26:2967–2974
- Taufik S, Yusof NA, Tee TW, Ramli I (2011) Bismuth oxide nanoparticles/chitosan/modified electrode as biosensor for DNA hybridization. Int J Electrochem Sci 6:1880–1891
- Ates M (2013) A review study of (bio)sensor systems based on conducting polymers. Mater Sci Eng C 33:1853–1859
- Hassanein A, Salahuddin N, Matsuda A, Kawamura G, Elfiky M (2017) Fabrication of biosensor based on chitosan-ZnO/polypyrrole nanocomposite modified carbon paste electrode for electroanalytical application. Mater Sci Eng C 80:494–501
- 74. Mahtouk K, Hose D, De Vos J, Moreaux J, Jourdan M, Rossi JF, Reme T, Goldschmidt H, Klein B (2007) Input of DNA microarrays to identify novel mechanisms in multiple myeloma biology and therapeutic applications. Clin Cancer Res 13:7289–7295
- 75. Staege MS, Hattenhorst UE, Neumann I, Hutter C, Foja S, Burdach S (2003) DNA-microarrays as tools for the identification of tumor specific gene expression profiles: applications in tumor biology, diagnosis and therapy. Klin Padiatr 215:135–138
- 76. Stoughton RB (2005) Applications of DNA microarrays in biology. Annu Rev Biochem 74:53-82
- 77. Hai X, Li YF, Zhu CZ, Song WL, Cao JY, Bi S (2020) DNA-based label-free electrochemical biosensors: from principles to applications. Trac-Trend Anal Chem:133
- Kowalczyk A (2020) Trends and perspectives in DNA biosensors as diagnostic devices. Curr Opin Electrochem 23:36–41
- Leonardo S, Toldra A, Campas M (2021) Biosensors based on isothermal DNA amplification for bacterial detection in food safety and environmental monitoring. Sensors-Basel 21:602
- 80. Sun YH, Kong RM, Lu DQ, Zhang XB, Meng HM, Tan WH, Shen GL, Yu RQ (2011) A nanoscale DNA-Au dendrimer as a signal amplifier for the universal design of functional DNA-based Sers biosensors. Chem Commun 47:3840–3842
- 81. Xu SC, Zhan J, Man BY, Jiang SZ, Yue WW, Gao SB, Guo CG, Liu HP, Li ZH, Wang JH, Zhou YQ (2017) Real-time reliable determination of binding kinetics of DNA hybridization using a multi-channel graphene biosensor. Nat Commun 8:14902
- Hills KD, Oliveira DA, Cavallaro ND, Gomes CL, McLamore ES (2018) Actuation of chitosan-aptamer nanobrush borders for pathogen sensing. Analyst 143:1650–1661
- 83. Tiwari I, Singh M, Pandey CM, Sumana G (2015) Electrochemical detection of a pathogenic escherichia coli specific DNA sequence based on a graphene oxide-chitosan composite decorated with nickel ferrite nanoparticles. RSC Adv 5:67115–67124
- 84. Heydarzadeh S, Roshanfekr H, Peyman H, Kashanian S (2020) Modeling of ultrasensitive DNA hybridization detection based on gold nanoparticles/carbon-nanotubes/chitosan-modified electrodes. Coll Surf A 587:124219
- 85. Xu SC, Zhang YY, Dong K, Wen JN, Zheng CM, Zhao SH (2017) Electrochemical DNA biosensor based on graphene oxide-chitosan hybrid nanocomposites for detection of escherichia coli o157:H7. Int J Electrochem Sci 12:3443–3458
- 86. Zuo LM, Qu Q, Li L, Ran X, Gui JW, Wang Q, Cui XH, Jiang CL (2018) Electrochemical DNA biosensor based on magnetite/multiwalled carbon nanotubes/chitosan nanocomposite for bacillus cereus detection of potential marker for gold prospecting. Electroanalysis 30:910–920

- 87. Qian XC, Qu Q, Li L, Ran X, Zuo LM, Huang R, Wang Q (2018) Ultrasensitive electrochemical detection of clostridium perfringens DNA based morphology-dependent DNA adsorption properties of ceo2 nanorods in dairy products. Sensors 18:1878
- 88. Ambrico M, Ambrico PF, Minafra A, De Stradis A, Vona D, Cicco SR, Palumbo F, Favia P, Ligonzo T (2016) Highly sensitive and practical detection of plant viruses via electrical impedance of droplets on textured silicon-based devices. Sensors 16:1946
- Choi YJ, Takahashi T, Taki M, Sawada K, Takahashi K (2021) Label-free attomolar protein detection using a mems optical interferometric surface-stress immunosensor with a freestanding PMMA/parylene-C nanosheet. Biosens Bioelectron 172:112778
- Wu XL, Gao FL, Xu LG, Kuang H, Wang LB, Xu CL (2015) A fluorescence active gold nanorod-quantum dot core-satellite nanostructure for sub-attomolar tumor marker biosensing. RSC Adv 5:97898–97902
- George SM, Tandon S, Kandasubramanian B (2020) Advancements in hydrogelfunctionalized immunosensing platforms. ACS Omega 5:2060–2068
- Sharafeldin M, McCaffrey K, Rusling JF (2019) Influence of antibody immobilization strategy on carbon electrode immunoarrays. Analyst 144:5108–5116
- Devarakonda S, Singh R, Bhardwaj J, Jang J (2017) Cost-effective and handmade paper-based immunosensing device for electrochemical detection of influenza virus. Sensors-Basel 17:2597
- Sarkar T, Bohidar HB, Solanki PR (2018) Carbon dots-modified chitosan based electrochemical biosensing platform for detection of vitamin D. Int J Biol Macromol 109:687–697
- Soares AC, Soares JC, Rodrigues VC, Oliveira ON, Mattoso LHC (2020) Controlled molecular architectures in microfluidic immunosensors for detecting staphylococcus aureus. Analyst 145:6014–6023
- 96. Choosang J, Khumngern S, Thavarungkul P, Kanatharana P, Numnuam A (2021) An ultrasensitive label-free electrochemical immunosensor based on 3D porous chitosangraphene-ionic liquid-ferrocene nanocomposite cryogel decorated with gold nanoparticles for prostate-specific antigen. Talanta 224:121787
- Cotchim S, Thavarungkul P, Kanatharana P, Limbut W (2020) Multiplexed label-free electrochemical immunosensor for breast cancer precision medicine. Anal Chim Acta 1130:60–71
- Lipinska W, Siuzdak K, Karczewski J, Dolega A, Grochowska K (2021) Electrochemical glucose sensor based on the glucose oxidase entrapped in chitosan immobilized onto laserprocessed au-ti electrode. Sensor Actuat B 330:129409
- 99. Juska VB, Pemble ME (2020) A dual-enzyme, micro-band array biosensor based on the electrodeposition of carbon nanotubes embedded in chitosan and nanostructured au-foams on microfabricated gold band electrodes. Analyst 145:402–414
- 100. Kim HS, Lee JS, Il Kim M (2020) Poly-gamma-glutamic acid/chitosan hydrogel nanoparticles entrapping glucose oxidase and magnetic nanoparticles for glucose biosensing. J Nanosci Nanotechnol 20:5333–5337
- 101. Devaraj M, Rajendran S, Jebaranjitham JN, Ranjithkumar D, Sathiyaraj M, Manokaran J, Sundaravadivel E, Santhanalakshmi J, Ponce LC (2020) Horseradish peroxidase-immobilized graphene oxide-chitosan gold nanocomposites as highly sensitive electrochemical biosensor for detection of hydrogen peroxide. J Electrochem Soc 167:147517
- 102. El-Moghazy AY, Soliman EA, Ibrahim HZ, Marty JL, Istamboulie G, Noguer T (2016) Biosensor based on electrospun blended chitosan-poly (vinyl alcohol) nanofibrous enzymatically sensitized membranes for pirimiphosmethyl detection in olive oil. Talanta 155:258–264
- 103. Pavinatto A, Mercante LA, Facure MHM, Pena RB, Sanfelice RC, Mattoso LHC, Correa DS (2018) Ultrasensitive biosensor based on polyvinylpyrrolidone/chitosan/reduced graphene oxide electrospun nanofibers for 17 α-ethinylestradiol electrochemical detection. Appl Surf Sci 458:431–437

Adv Polym Sci (2021) 287: 257–300 https://doi.org/10.1007/12\_2021\_100 © The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 Published online: 5 June 2021

## Physical and Chemical Modification of Chitin/Chitosan for Functional Wound Dressings



#### Wanpen Tachaboonyakiat

## Contents

1	Introduction					
2	Wound Healing Process and Factors Effecting Wound Healing		260			
	2.1 Hemostasis and Coagulation Phase		260			
	2.2 Inflammatory Phase		262			
	2.3 Proliferative Phase		263			
	2.4 Remodeling Phase		263			
3	Fabrication of Chitin/Chitosan Wound Dressings in Various Forms					
	3.1 Hydrogels		264			
	3.2 Membranes		265			
	3.3 Fiber and Electrospun Mat		267			
	3.4 Sponges and Scaffolds		269			
	3.5 Hydrocolloids		270			
4	Commercially Available Chitin and Chitosan Wound Dressings					
5	Physical and Chemical Modification of Chitin and Chitosan for Wound Dressing					
	in Specific Purposes		272			
6	Chitin and Chitosan-Based Functional Wound Dressings		274			
	6.1 Hemostatic (Blood Coagulant) Wound Dressings		274			
	6.2 Antimicrobial Wound Dressings		275			
	6.3 Wound Dressings for Burn Wounds		282			
	6.4 Wound Dressings for Diabetic Ulcers		283			
7	Conclusion		290			
Re	References					

Abstract This chapter provides insight into the functionalization of chitin and chitosan for general and specific-purpose wound dressings, such as hemorrhage,

W. Tachaboonyakiat (🖂)

Department of Materials Science, Faculty of Science, Chulalongkorn University, Bangkok, Thailand

e-mail: wanpen.ta@chula.ac.th

infected, burn, and diabetic ulcer wounds. The understanding of different kinds of wounds, wound healing process, and factors affecting wound healing is essential for the design of well-functioning biomaterials as well as the fabrication of wound dressings. Functionalization of chitin/chitosan, including physical and chemical modification to form functional wound dressings for specific purposes, is described in this chapter.

Keywords Chitin · Chitosan · Functionalization · Modification · Regeneration · Wound dressing · Wound healing

## 1 Introduction

Skin is the largest organ in our body and serves its primary function as a protective barrier against external impacts. Wounds can present a cause of serious illness and mortality in everyday pathology [1, 2], and so can require complicated clinical intervention. Wounds can be categorized into acute and chronic wounds according to the duration of their healing [3, 4]. The healing of acute wounds proceeds via the normal healing pathway with both anatomical and functional restoration. Acute wounds can be caused by a traumatic loss of tissue, surgical procedure, abrasions, or even laceration (deep cuts on the skin) associated with infection [3–5]. Chronic wounds are associated with diseases, such as diabetic and pressure ulcers [3–5], and can be defined as hard to heal wounds. The current potential wound healing approaches are based on autograft, allograft, cultured epithelial autograft, and wound dressing [6]. Wound dressings function to preserve hydration within the wound in order to optimize regeneration, protect against infection, and avoid disruption of the wound base.

An ideal wound dressing should absorb exudates, maintain a moist environment at the wound interface, act as a barrier to microorganisms, and be breathable or allow gaseous exchange. It also should be non-allergenic, non-toxic, and non-adherent so as to be easily removable without trauma. Many polymeric materials have been investigated for the purpose of wound dressings, including synthetic polymers, such as polyurethane [7, 8], polycaprolactone [9, 10], poly(lactic acid) [11, 12], polyethylene glycol (PEG) [13, 14], silicone rubber [15, 16], etc., as well as natural or bio-based polymers. Increasing attention has been paid to biopolymer-based wound dressing materials because of their inherent properties, such as biocompatibility, biodegradability, hemostatic activity, moist maintaining ability, and the ability to support tissue regeneration and differentiation, leading to an accelerated wound healing [17]. Most of the currently available biodegradable polymer-based wound dressings are made from chitin/chitosan [18, 19], hyaluronic acid [20, 21], collagen [22, 23], alginate [24, 25], and so on.

Interestingly, chitin and chitosan have a high potential for wound healing applications because of their prominent properties, such as exudates absorbability,



stimulating hemostasis, and accelerating tissue regeneration [26]. Chitin, [ $\beta$ -(1-4)-2acetamido-2-deoxy-D-glucose], is the second most abundant natural polysaccharide after cellulose and occurs in nature as ordered crystalline microfibrils forming structural components in the exoskeleton of arthropods, mostly in crabs and shrimp shells [27]. Chitin also can be found in the cell walls of fungi and yeast [27]. Chitosan, [ $\beta$ -(1-4)-2-amino-2-deoxy-D-glucose] is the *N*-deacetylated derivative of chitin. Chitin can be extracted by decalcification and deproteinization, while chitosan is obtained by deacetylation of chitin. Therefore, chitin and chitosan are commonly copolymers categorized by degree of acetylation (DA) or degree of deacetylation (DD) representing the amount of *N*-acetyl glucosamine and *N*-glucosamine in their monomeric unit.

The *N*-acetyl glucosamine present in chitin and chitosan is structurally like hyaluronic acid, an extracellular matrix (ECM) component of dermal tissue that is essential for wound repair [28]. Since chitin and chitosan are biodegradable, non-toxic, and biocompatible, they also have received considerable attention in various fields of biomedical and pharmaceutical applications. The monomeric structure of chitin and chitosan is presented in Fig. 1.

Owing to their structures, chitin and chitosan are multifunctional polymers and amenable to chemical modification. Chitin has primary and secondary hydroxyl groups at the C-6 and C-3 positions, respectively, and acetamido groups at the C-2 position, while chitosan has amino groups at C-2 position. Due to the availability of the free amino groups in chitosan, it can be protonated and carries a positive charge. Considering its biodegradability, chitin and chitosan are metabolized by the human enzyme lysozyme, making it biodegradable. The biodegradation activity by lysozyme is mainly controlled by the DA or DD and also by the distribution of Nacetylglucosamine residues as well as molecular weight (MW) [29]. Chitin and chitosan are degraded into oligosaccharides of variable length and are non-toxic in nature. These oligosaccharides can be introduced in the metabolic pathways and degraded into N-glucosamine and N-acetylglucosamine. The amino sugar of Nglucosamine can be incorporated into the glycosaminoglycan (GAG) and glycoprotein pathways or otherwise excreted from the system [30]. N-Acetyl glucosamine also initiates fibroblast proliferation, supports an ordered collagen deposition, and stimulates an increased level of natural hyaluronic acid synthesis at the wound site, leading to faster wound healing and scar prevention [31]. Besides, chitin and chitosan can be fabricated in various forms, such as hydrogels, membranes, fibers, electrospun mats, sponges, scaffolds, and so on.

In order to design effective chitin and chitosan wound dressings, this chapter gives information on the wound healing process and factors effecting wound healing in Sect. 2, the fabrication methods of chitin and chitosan wound dressings in Sect. 3, commercially available chitin- and chitosan-based wound dressings in Sect. 4, and the physical and chemical modification of chitin and chitosan (Sect. 5) for making functional wound dressings, such as hemostatic, antimicrobial, burn, and diabetic ulcer wound dressings in Sect. 6.

## 2 Wound Healing Process and Factors Effecting Wound Healing

A wound is defined as a damage or destruction to the normal anatomical structure, biological feature, and function [3]. For skin, the damage can range from a simple tear of the skin surface or deep cuts into the subcutaneous tissue with damage to other surrounding tissues, such as muscles, tendons, vessels, nerves, and bone [5]. Wound healing is a complex and dynamic process starting at the moment of injury. The mechanism underlying this process consists of four continuous, overlapping, and precise programmed phases [5, 32]: (1) hemostasis and coagulation, (2) inflammation, (3) proliferation, and (4) remodeling. The normal wound healing process and biological events are schematically presented in Fig. 2. The individual phases are described below. In addition, those wound healing phases involve multiple cell types, synthesis of the extracellular matrix (ECM) proteins, and the action of mediators including growth factors and cytokines. Therefore, the bio-physiological events and major factors mediating the wound healing process are summarized in Table 1.

## 2.1 Hemostasis and Coagulation Phase

This phase begins immediately after injury and serves to prevent bleeding, protect the vascular system to allow it to close intact, and provide a matrix for combating invasive cells in the later phase [3, 5]. The injured vessels lightly close due to the contraction of vascular smooth muscle cells. However, the vascular smooth muscle can prevent bleeding only for a few minutes and bleeding resumes again due to the hypoxia and acidosis in the wound wall. Therefore, the coagulation mechanism is activated with platelet aggregation and clot formation to limit bleeding. The platelets and blood components come into contact with the exposed collagen and other ECM components triggering the release of clotting factors (comprised of fibronectin, fibrin, vitronectin, and thrombospondin) [33], which leads to the formation of a blood clot. Numerous proteins are contained in the  $\alpha$ -granules of platelets: plateletderived growth factor (PDGF), transforming growth factor (TGF), platelet factors,



Fig. 2 Schematic illustration of the normal wound healing phases

Phase	Bio-physiological events [32]	Major mediated factors
Hemostasis	1. Vascular contraction	PDGF, TGF, IL-1, PDAF
	2. Platelet aggregation	VEGF, EGF, IGF
	3. Blood clot formation	Fibronectin
Inflammation	1. Neutrophil infiltration	TGF, FGF, collagenase
	2. Monocyte infiltration and differentiation to mac-	IL-1, IgG
	rophage	
	3. Lymphocyte infiltration	
Proliferation	1. Re-epithelialization	PDGF, TGF, FGF, VEGF
	2. Angiogenesis	
	3. Collagen synthesis	
	4. GTF (ECM formation)	
Remodeling	1. Collagen remodeling	PDGF, TGF, FGF
	2. Vascular maturation and regression	

Table 1 Bio-physiological events and major factors mediated normal wound healing

interleukin (IL)-1, platelet-derived angiogenesis factor (PDAF), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), epidermal growth factor (EGF), insulin-like growth factor (IGF), and fibronectin [34]. These molecules promote the activities of neutrophils, macrophages, endothelial cells, and fibroblasts in later phase.

## 2.2 Inflammatory Phase

The second (inflammatory) phase aims to establish an immune barrier against invading microorganisms. The early inflammatory phase initiates the infiltration of the wound sites by neutrophils. Neutrophils function to prevent infection by removing foreign substances, bacteria, and tissue debris via phagocytosis. The redundant neutrophils after completing the task of phagocytosis are eliminated to the wound surface by apoptosis without potentiating the inflammatory response or damaging the tissues [35]. Initially, blood monocytes undergo differentiation with phenotypic changes to become macrophages on arrival into the wound. Macrophages appear at wound sites in the late inflammatory phase to continue the process of phagocytosis of apoptotic cells, including neutrophils [35], and so pave the way for the resolution of inflammation. The infiltrating macrophages also provide an abundant amount of potent tissue growth factors and mediators, such as TGF, collagenase, and fibroblast growth factors (FGFs) to stimulate keratinocytes, fibroblasts, and endothelial cells to proliferate, and so promote tissue regeneration [36] towards the end of this second phase and into the third (proliferative) phase.

Lymphocytes, which are the last cells to enter the wound site, arrive during the late inflammatory phase by chemotactic attraction to IL-1 and the breakdown products of immunoglobulin G (IgG) [35, 37]. The IL-1 plays a vital role in collagenase regulation, being needed for collagen production and degradation of the ECM components, and regulating wound healing [35, 37]. If the wound is

associated with various pathological alterations, including an increased protease activity and infection, the inflammation may persist for months or years and it is then classified as a chronic wound.

## 2.3 Proliferative Phase

The proliferative phase generally follows and overlaps with the inflammatory phase, and starts with fibroblast migration induced by the action of TGF and PDGF and deposition of a newly produced ECM, leading to the replacement of the temporary matrix composed of several proteins of fibronectin, hyaluronan, GAG, proteogly-cans, and types I and III collagen [5, 32, 37]. Therefore, the granulation tissue formation (GTF) and wound contraction can be seen macroscopically in this phase of the wound healing process. Endothelial cells are responsive to numerous angiogenic factors, including FGF, PDGF, VEGF, and TGF, to regenerate epithelial tissue (re-epithelialization) and restore the vascular network [5, 6]. Keratinocytes are involved in repairing the epidermal barrier, while endothelial cells and fibroblasts are responsible for angiogenesis and GTF as part of the ECM formation [5, 6].

#### 2.4 Remodeling Phase

The remodeling phase involves reorganization and contraction of the newly formed ECM as well as scar formation [5, 6, 37] and may last for several years. This phase is controlled by regulatory mechanisms that are designed to maintain a balance between synthesis and degradation, leading to normal healing. This process is regulated by a number of factors, including PDGF, TGF, and FGF [5].

It should be noted that exogenous and endogenous factors can modulate such events and influence the healing process. Especially, systemic disorder diseases, including diabetes, immunosuppression, and venous stasis, may disturb the process of wound healing, resulting in chronic or non-healing wounds [5]. In addition, external agents, such as the utilization of corticosteroid, inflection, smoking, alcohol consumption, stress, etc., can hinder the early closure of the wound [32, 38]. These complicating factors may also cause the appearance of keloids and hypertrophic scars [38].

Keloids and hypertrophic scars are fibroproliferative disorders of the skin that result from abnormal healing of injured or irritated skin. They can be called pathological or inflammatory scars. A hypertrophic scar occurs directly after the initial repair and develops into thick skin that does not spread beyond the original wound, whilst a keloid may occur after healing and continues to grow and spread, invading the surrounding healthy tissue. Tension on the skin around the wound results in prolonged and/or repeated inflammation and generates abnormal numbers of blood vessels as well as collagen and nerve fibers in the dermal reticular layer [39]. The mechanobiology of the dermis and blood vessels, along with genetic and systemic factors, are possible factors that promote pathological scar development by inducing endothelial dysfunction (vascular hyperpermeability) during the inflammatory stage of wound healing. The continued presence of these factors prolongs the influx of inflammatory cells and factors, thereby leading to fibroblast dysfunction [39]. A scar is formed from the overgrowth of granulation tissue (proliferation of collagen fibers).

# **3** Fabrication of Chitin/Chitosan Wound Dressings in Various Forms

Chitin and chitosan have been widely used in many fields of biomedical applications, such as tissue engineering, drug carriers, and wound dressings, because of their processibility into various forms. The fabrication of chitin/chitosan wound dressings has been performed in different processes depending on the specific purpose. Chitin and chitosan can be formed into various forms, including hydrogels, membranes, scaffolds, hydrocolloids, and so on, by many methods or processing techniques. Chitin is insoluble in common organic solvents as a direct result of the strong intra- and intermolecular hydrogen bonding, while chitosan can be dissolved in dilute acid, making chitin less processable. However, chitin is more favorable than chitosan in certain applications, especially in the biomedical fields. This is because of the fact that the acetamide group present in chitin is similar to the amide linkage of protein in living tissues [40], which makes chitin more biocompatible than chitosan. This chapter describes briefly the main fabrication techniques used for making chitin-/chitosan-based wound dressings for different applications.

## 3.1 Hydrogels

Hydrogels are interesting for biomedical applications because of their high-water absorbability and biocompatibility. Progress in the synthesis and designing of hydrogels for wound healing has advanced. Hydrogels can absorb tissue extrudates, provide a moist environment to prevent wound dehydration, and allow transportation of oxygen [41]. The most commonly used fabrication methods for chitin- and chitosan-based hydrogels are described as follows.

#### 3.1.1 Chitin-Based Hydrogel

Fabrication of a chitin hydrogel is difficult because of the limited solubility of chitin, making it hard to perform further processing [42]. Among many attempts, chemical

modification of chitin with various chemical reagents to substitute hydrophilic groups onto the surface of the chitin chains seems to be a promising method to enhance its water sorption ability and solubility [43]. Modification of chitin has mostly been performed in a sodium hydroxide (NaOH)/urea solvent system, and then reacted with other reagents, such as acrylamide [42], propylene oxide [44], and 2-aminoethyl chloride hydrochloride (2-AECH) [45]. Typically, chitin or chitin derivatives were cast in a container and allowed to form a gel, perhaps with the addition of some crosslinkers or physical polymerization.

#### 3.1.2 Chitosan-Based Hydrogel

Fabrication of a hydrogel from chitosan is more attractive than that from chitin due to the N-deacetyl groups or amino groups of chitosan, making chitosan more hydrophilic than chitin and so it is easy to dissolve in dilute acid. In order to prepare the chitosan hydrogel, most methods have started from chitosan dissolved in acetic acid [46–48]. The addition of additives or bioactive substances into the hydrogel can improve the physiochemical and biological properties of the chitosan hydrogel for specific purposes. Some drugs or hormones, such as thyroxine [46], heparin, and bemiparin [47], have been loaded during the preparation of a chitosan hydrogel with the aim of stimulating angiogenesis and giving anticoagulant properties, respectively. In many reports, silver (Ag), in form of nanoparticles (AgNPs), was incorporated into the chitosan hydrogel in order to enhance other biological activities, such as antimicrobial and anti-inflammatory properties [48, 49]. Moreover, chitosan can be blended with other polymers, such as PEG [48] and lignin-polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) [50] to enhance its water absorbability and mechanical strength. Finally, the chitosan solution mixture was cast on a setting container and frozen overnight to stabilize the hydrogel structure, followed by neutralization. In some cases, a crosslinking agent has been applied instead of the freezing process.

In addition, a water soluble derivative of chitosan, carboxymethyl chitosan (CMCTS), was synthesized by chemical modification of chitosan with monochloroacetic acid [51]. The CMCTS can be easily dissolved in water over a wide range of concentrations [49, 52], and the CMCTS aqueous solution can be fabricated into a hydrogel under room temperature by complexing with polyelectrolytes [49] or chemically crosslinked with a crosslinker, such as genipin [52].

Hydrogels prepared from chitin, chitosan, and their derivatives can function as active substance carriers. Figure 3 illustrates the chitin and chitosan hydrogels as carriers of active substances, such as drugs, Ag, and growth factors, in order to enhance the wound healing process.

## 3.2 Membranes

A membrane, as a very thin film, has considerable advantages as a wound dressing, including its high surface-to-volume ratio, permeability, and breathability for



Fig. 3 Schematic illustration of using chitin or chitosan hydrogels as carriers of bioactive agents and applying the hydrogels to enhance wound healing

biological events. The application of a membrane requires the capability to control the transportation, diffusion, or separation of small molecules (such as gas and water) as well as ions. The most commonly used fabrication methods for chitinand chitosan-based membranes are described as follows.

## 3.2.1 Chitin-Based Membranes

The casting process has always been used to prepare chitin membranes. The chitin is dissolved in a lithium chloride and dimethylacetamide solvent system [53, 54] and cast on a petri dish, with the dense membrane being obtained by gradual coagulation. Otherwise, after casting in a container, it was moved to soak in different kinds of solvents, washed with water, and dried to obtain the porous chitin membrane [54, 55].

## 3.2.2 Chitosan-Based Membranes

Currently, one of the most promising approaches for wound healing that mimics the structural similarities of the skin epidermal and dermal layers is the use of asymmetric membranes. The inner layer is a porous structure that functions as an exudate absorption matrix and supporting matrix for cell adhesion, migration, and

proliferation as well as allowing gaseous exchange and nutrients flow. Whereas, the outer layer is a dense layer mimicking the epidermis of the skin that functions as barrier to protect the wound from external threats (physical, chemical, and infection). Several techniques, such as electrospinning, bioprinting, wet-phase inversion method, dry/wet method, and supercritical carbon dioxide (scCO<sub>2</sub>)-assisted phase inversion technique, have been explored to produce asymmetric membranes [56].

The fabrication of a chitosan-titanium dioxide composite membrane [57] and a membrane of gelatin/chitosan/cinnamaldehyde crosslinked with glutaraldehyde [58] have been obtained using the wet-phase inversion method. Briefly, the chitosan mixture is cast and then immersed in a non-solvent coagulant bath. The procedure is similar to the wet-phase inversion method, but the dry/wet method adds one more step of pre-evaporation (drying) of the cast membrane before immersion of the polymer matrix into the coagulation bath. This pre-evaporation stage increases the concentration of the polymeric solution and creates a dense outer top layer that acts as barrier to protect the wound against external contamination [59]. The preparation of a silver sulfadiazine (AgSD)-incorporated asymmetric chitosan membrane [59] and fabrication of a sponge-like asymmetric chitosan [60] are examples of those fabricated by the dry/wet method.

Figure 4a illustrates asymmetric chitin and chitosan membranes with the incorporation of some active substances, while Fig. 4b presents the wet-phase inversion method and dry/wet method. The scCO<sub>2</sub>-assisted phase inversion method was proposed for the first time as an alternative technique to produce an asymmetrical membrane for skin wound healing. Being a green technology, it can form solventfree membranes with short processing times and no collapse of the structure. Furthermore, scCO<sub>2</sub>-assisted phase inversion allows the production of dry, clean, and ready-to-use membranes with a highly controlled morphology (by changing the pressure, temperature, and/or depressurization rate) and reduces the solvent recovery costs. The process does not require additional post-treatments or any potential organic solvents [61].

A traditionally famous method is the freeze-dried technique, in which samples are frozen and dried under vacuum to obtain porous membranes. Chitosan containing polyurethane modified with *N*-isopropyl acrylamide membrane [62] and bacterial cellulose-chitosan composite membrane [63] are examples of wound dressing membranes fabricated by the freeze-dry method.

## 3.3 Fiber and Electrospun Mat

Electrospinning is a simple and inexpensive method for producing nanofibers. It has become a popular fabrication method for porous fibrous materials that can be applied for tissue engineering scaffolds and wound dressings. The advantages of an electrospun mat made from ultrafine polymer fibers are its high porosity and nanoscale diameters, variable pore-size distribution, high surface to volume ratio, and, most importantly, its morphological similarity to the natural ECM in the skin



Fig. 4 Schematic illustration of (a) asymmetric chitin and chitosan membranes and (b) wet-phase inversion method and dry/wet method

[64]. The electrospun mat promotes cell attachment and proliferation. For this reason, the electrospinning technique has been used in many studies to prepare chitin and chitosan fibrous mats for wound dressing applications. However, electrospinning of natural polymers, such as chitosan and alginate, is more difficult than that of synthetic polymers. Chitosan presents a very low solubility in most organic solvents, and the use of dilute or concentrated acid solutions seems to be the most reliable option to properly dissolve it [65], since the protonation of amine groups of chitosan greatly contributes to its solubility. The spinnability of pure chitosan is challenging due to its polycationic nature and high viscosity in solution, and specific intra- and inter-molecular interactions. Indeed, formation of three-



Fig. 5 Schematic illustration of the electrospinning fabrication of a chitin or chitosan fibrous mat

dimensional (3D) strong hydrogen bonds prevents the free movement of the polymeric chain segments exposed to the electrical field, making the formation of a stable jet problematic. In order to overcome these issues, blending with synthetic polymers, such as polyethylene oxide [65–67], PVA [64, 68], and poly (vinyl pyrrolidone) [69], are generally used as both a spinning enabler/enhancer and a hydrophilicity improver [65, 66]. The electrospinning fabrication of chitin and chitosan fibrous mat is represented in Fig. 5.

## 3.4 Sponges and Scaffolds

Sponge dressings with a porous structure exhibit a huge porosity, high strength, and high specific surface area, beneficial to meet the demands of a higher gas permeability, tunable water vapor evaporation, more wound exudate absorption, presence of good hemostatic properties, and protecting the wound from infection and dehydration [70]. While polymeric scaffolds are also a 3D porous structure that provides support for cell attachment, proliferation, and differentiation, they must possess biocompatibility, high porosity, and a good mechanical strength [17]. There are many processes to fabricate chitosan sponges, including gas foaming and particulate leaching, but the most common method is through the process of lyophilization. Lyophilization, also called freeze-drying, sublimates liquid from frozen materials, which helps to reduce damage to the material and preserves the structural and chemical integrity of proteins and natural substances. In the case of chitosan sponges, lyophilization creates pores, which in turn creates a greater surface area than dense forms of chitosan [71].

Many researchers have used the lyophilization method in their studies [72–76]. Some researchers have added the natural product *Aloe vera* extract [72, 73], metallic particles (AgNPs [73], aluminium monostearate [74], and AgSD [75]), or blended with other polymers (PVA [76]), in order to obtain an antibacterial property



Fig. 6 Schematic illustration of chitin and chitosan sponge fabrication procedures

or improve the mechanical properties of chitosan. On the other hand, there are few studies on the fabrication of an asymmetric wettable chitosan-based sponge. A wound dressing with an asymmetric surface wettability is of great interest in wound healing. The hydrophobic surface could effectively prevent the external contamination (water, blood, and bacteria) to the dressing, while the hydrophilic surface could preserve the comfortable, moist environment to promote wound healing. One side of chitosan sponge can be modified with a thin layer of stearic acid to provide the asymmetric chitosan sponge [77].

For a chitin-based sponge, several studies have reported the use of modified chitin. Chitin was modified in form of quaternized chitin, where partial deacetylation occurred during the quaternization in a NaOH/urea solvent system. Glutaraldehyde was then used as a crosslinker of the quaternized chitin and the sponge was obtained after lyophilization [78]. The fabrication of chitin and chitosan sponges is illustrated in Fig. 6.

## 3.5 Hydrocolloids

Hydrocolloid dressings absorb the wound fluid and change into a jelly-like materials. Hydrocolloid dressings consist of two different structures. The inner hydrocolloid are particles that can absorb exudate to form a hydrated gel over the wound, creating a moist environment that promotes healing and protects the new tissue. The outer matrix (film, foam, or gel) not only protects the wound from bacterial contamination, and foreign debris, but it also maintains a moist environment and helps prevent shearing [79–81]. Classical hydrocolloids always contain a gel forming agent, such as carboxymethyl cellulose (CMC), pectin, gelatin, or sodium CMC [81, 82].

Only a few fabrications of hydrocolloid wound dressing have been generated from chitin or chitosan. Tripolyphosphate, as a crosslinking agent, was added to the chitosan solution in order to obtain chitosan microbeads dispersed in the chitin solution and later transformed into a chitin hydrogel by gradual coagulation [83]. A calcium alginate hydrocolloid with chitin, chitosan, and fucoidan was reported. The dry powders of alginates, chitin, chitosan, and fucoidan were mixed and crushed. The mixed powders were then spread on filter paper and sprayed with distilled water to partially dissolve the powder into a paste. The paste on the supporter was immersed in calcium chloride solution to generate the calcium alginate hydrocolloid, which was then crosslinked with ethylene glycol diglycidyl ether [84]. Figure 7 presents the chitin and chitosan hydrocolloid dressing and its application over the wound to absorb the wound exudate as well as protect the wound from bacterial infection.

## 4 Commercially Available Chitin and Chitosan Wound Dressings

The ordered regeneration of wounded tissues requires the fabrication of chitin and chitosan mostly in the forms of nonwoven, fibrils, hydrocolloid, films, and sponges. With the advantages of chitin and chitosan that can be fabricated in various forms and with the variety of fabrication methods mentioned above (Sect. 3), introducing wound dressing materials based on chitin, chitosan, and their derivatives are well



Fig. 7 Schematic illustration of the application of a chitin or chitosan hydrocolloid dressing to absorb the wound exudate and protect the wound from bacterial infection

known on the market and are produced and commercialized in many forms. The commercially available chitin- and chitosan-based wound dressings and their functional usages related to wound healing are summarized in Table 2.

## 5 Physical and Chemical Modification of Chitin and Chitosan for Wound Dressing in Specific Purposes

The worthwhile intrinsic properties of chitin and chitosan, including their biodegradability, biocompatibility, non-toxicity, hemostaticity, antimicrobial activity, anti-inflammatory, and antioxidant properties, make them appropriate for use as wound dressings. However, in order to develop chitin- and chitosan-based wound dressings for more specific purposes, they can be modified by means of physical or chemical modifications to add new functions, features, and to enhance some certain properties. Modification may be achieved through both covalent and noncovalent means.

There is considerable interest in providing chitin and chitosan with desired functionalities that have not been chemically modified. One investigated approach is property modification via physical modification. Physical or physicochemical modification is primarily considered because it does not require a complicated chemical reaction. Appropriate active substances are added for the specific purpose, enhancing the physicochemical properties, and might only absorb or disperse within the chitin or chitosan matrix without covalent bond formation.

Furthermore, chitosan has chemically active multiple functional groups, including the amino  $(-NH_2)$ , and primary and secondary hydroxyl (-OH) groups, whereas chitin has the chemically active functional groups of primary and secondary hydroxyl groups. Thus, it is feasible to perform chemical modification to improve their physical and chemical properties, while their biodegradability, biocompatibility, and non-toxicity should be maintained. Furthermore, the clear definition of the positions of functional groups in their repeating units is crucial to exploit regioselectivity in the chemical modification reactions in order to perform precise and well-controlled structural modifications of chitin and chitosan derivatives.

The most favorable way for chemical modification of chitin is O-substitution, in which the reaction occurs at hydroxyl groups (–OH), since the acetamido group (– NHCOCH<sub>3</sub>) of chitin is not chemically active unless partially deacetylated into amino groups. Whilst, the most favorable way for chemical modification of chitosan is *N*-substitution, in which the reaction occurs at the amino group (–NH<sub>2</sub>) of chitosan, *O*-substitution can be performed similar to chitin. Since the amino groups have a higher reactivity than hydroxyl groups, the *O*-substitution of chitosan alone requires the protection and deprotection of the primary amino groups. The individual *N*- or *O*-substituted derivatives of chitin and chitosan provide new functional groups, giving different bulk and chemical properties belonging to well-designed molecular structure.

			Functions related to	
Based			wound healing	
materials	Trademark (company)	Forms	process	Ref.
Chitin	Beschitin (Unitika)	Chitin nonwoven	<ol> <li>Treat traumatic and surgical wounds</li> <li>Favor early GTF, no retractive scar formation</li> </ol>	[85]
	Chitipack S (Eisai Co. Ltd.)	Foam, sponge	<ol> <li>Treat traumatic and surgical wounds</li> <li>Favor early GTF</li> </ol>	[85–87]
	Chitipack P (Eisai Co. Ltd.)	Chitin hydrocolloid in poly(ethylene terephthalate)	<ol> <li>Treat large skin defects and those dif- ficult to suture</li> <li>Favor early GTF</li> </ol>	[85, 87]
	Syvek-Patch (Marine Polymer Technologies)	Fibrils, fibrous material	<ol> <li>Control bleeding at vascular access sites</li> <li>Accelerate hemo- static process</li> </ol>	[85, 86, 88]
Chitosan	HemCon <sup>®</sup> Bandage (HemCon Medical Technologies Inc.)	Sponge	<ol> <li>Accelerate hemo- static process</li> <li>Support antimicro- bial activity</li> <li>Use in emergency and civilian</li> </ol>	[85, 86, 89, 90]
	TraumaStat (Ore-Medix)	Sponge	<ol> <li>Treat traumatic wounds</li> <li>Accelerate hemo- static process</li> </ol>	[85, 86, 91]
	Chitopack C (Eisai Co. Ltd.)	Cotton-like chitosan nonwoven	<ol> <li>Repair body tissue completely</li> <li>Rebuild normal subcutaneous tissue</li> <li>Regenerate skin regularly</li> </ol>	[85, 87]
	Tegasorb and Tegaderm (3 M)	Chitosan hydrocol- loid and film	Suitable for leg ulcers, sacral, and chronic wounds	[85, 87]

 Table 2
 Commercially available chitin- and chitosan-based wound dressings and their functional uses related to wound healing

Therefore, both physical and chemical modification are the appropriate approaches to enhance the functional properties of chitin- and chitosan-based wound dressings in specific purposes.

## 6 Chitin and Chitosan-Based Functional Wound Dressings

Wound dressing should remove excess exudates, keep the wound interface moist, allow gaseous exchange, and act as a barrier to microorganisms. It should also fulfill the fundamental concerns of being non-toxic, non-allergenic, non-adherent, and easily removed without trauma. Beyond these fundamental requirements, functional wound dressings should be designed to provide certain other functional properties suitable for different wound types. In addition to the conducting ability of materials to promote and allow the migration and proliferation of epithelial, fibroblast, and endothelial cells, the synthesis of ECM components is also required in wound repair and skin regeneration [92]. Therefore, insight into the details of developing chitin-and chitosan-based wound dressings through their physical and chemical modification to acquire functional applications, such as the treatment hemorrhage (hemostatic wound dressings), infection (antimicrobial wound dressings), are mentioned in this chapter.

## 6.1 Hemostatic (Blood Coagulant) Wound Dressings

Hemorrhage is a major mortality plan from traumatic injuries, which frequently happens in accidents, battlefields, and operation rooms [93]. Hemostasis is the first phase of wound healing and effective hemostasis is mandatory to stem life-threatening bleeding. Hemostatic agents derived from chitosan have been widely studied for their fast absorbing and localized hemostatic effects. Chitosan is also well known for its antimicrobial properties, where its protection against a wide range of bacteria enhances its appeal as a bandage. Several chitosan wound dressings have been developed for the rapid and effective control of bleeding. Some of them have been commercialized, such as ChitoFlex<sup>®</sup>, CELOX<sup>TM</sup>, QuikClot<sup>®</sup>, and HemCon<sup>®</sup> [94].

Chitosan dressings were prepared by dissolving chitosan in dilute aqueous acetic acid, placing into a mold, lyophilized, and then neutralization with NaOH [95]. The obtained chitosan dressing presented a fast absorption rate of human whole blood in less than 5 s, owing to its homogeneous and penetrating porous structure. However, it showed a slow clotting rate when tested with human whole blood containing a normal (250,000 platelets/mL) platelet number.

Chitosan electrospun mats have been prepared to enlarge the porosity, and they showed a higher rate of blood clotting than chitosan sponges [96]. This result indicated that the thrombogenic activity of chitosan was enhanced by increasing the pore size and porosity [96]. The addition of polyphosphate to chitosan led to a more potent hemostat [97]. Polyphosphate can ionically interact with chitosan to form polyelectrolyte complexes. Both components activated coagulation by a different mechanism. The protonated amino groups of chitosan attracted negatively

charged residues on red blood cell membranes, causing strong hemagglutination [98]. Chitosan also adsorbed fibrinogen and plasma proteins, enhancing platelet aggregation [99]. In contrast, polyphosphate specifically shortened both the time lag for initial thrombin generation and the time to peak thrombin generation [100].

Although numerous studies have reported the hemostatic property of chitosan, its insolubility and weak antibacterial activity are still limitations. Surface modification of chitosan, such as carboxymethylation and quaternization, has been investigated to improve its water solubility and antibacterial activity. Accordingly, nonwoven of carboxymethyl chitosan (CMCS), *N*-succinyl chitosan (NSCS), and *N*,*N*,*N*-trimethyl chitosan (TMCS) were prepared to examine the hemostatic property. It was found that the nonwoven CMCS, NSCS, and TMCS all showed a better hemostatic property than nonwoven chitosan [101]. However, nonwoven TMCS had a lower blood absorption than the others, which might be due to the quaternary ammonium cationic group leading to hemolysis [101]. The negative charges on the surface of NSCS and CMCS could accelerate blood coagulation by activation of the intrinsic coagulation pathway along with the hemostatic mechanism of chitosan [101].

Superabsorbent polymers (SAPs) derived from chitosan and its derivatives are promising hemostatic materials with a good absorption capability and potential hemostatic ability [102]. The SAP formed from carboxymethyl chitosan grafted poly(acrylic acid) (CMCTS-g-PAA) was prepared by graft copolymerization of acrylic acid on the CMCTS [103]. The porous structure of CMCTS-g-PAA was obtained by precipitation of the hydrogel in ethanol, and was found to be non-toxic, with a high swelling capacity and with a good hemostatic performance in the treatment of the hemorrhage model in rabbits [104]. This excellent hemostatic property results from the synergistic effect of the protonated amino groups of chitosan and the strong swelling capacity of the porous materials.

During the hemostasis and wound healing, bacterial infection is also a serious issue. If there is no infection, the wound healing proceeds more smoothly. However, infection may cause a series of bacteremia reactions and greatly threaten human life. Therefore, antimicrobial wound dressings have been designed to protect wounds from infection for better wound healing.

## 6.2 Antimicrobial Wound Dressings

It is well known that one of the main problems in wound care treatment is wound infection. Bacterial wound infection delays the wound healing process and possibly gives rise to life-threatening complications [105]. Generally, a large amount of fluid loss and bacterial infection would lead to serious consequences in severe burns or extensive skin loss. Widely spread opinions among wound care practitioners are that Gram-positive bacteria, such as *Staphylococcus aureus* (*S. aureus*), and Gramnegative bacteria, like *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (*P. aeruginosa*), are the primary causes of delayed healing and infection in both acute and chronic wounds [106]. Wound dressings not only stop blood loss, but also protect the wound from

bacterial infection and accelerate the wound healing process. In addition, the wound exudates between the wound and the dressing can also lead to an infection. Therefore, the application of antibacterial wound dressings with a broad activity spectrum and high bactericidal activity is one of the effective approaches for treating infected wounds.

Chitin itself does not exhibit any marked antibacterial activity [107], while chitosan exhibits antibacterial activity when the amino groups are protonated in an acidic condition, but not in a neutral (physiological) condition [108]. At a neutral pH, the antibacterial activity of chitosan increased as the MW decreased [108]. It was found that a low solubility and negative zeta potential values were determined for chitosan with a MW of more than 29.2 kDa, which may explain the loss of its antibacterial activity at pH 7.0 [108]. Therefore, the most simple physical modification of chitin and chitosan wound dressings for antibacterial activity was by the incorporation of antibacterial agents, like inorganic metal NPs and organic bioactive substances. In addition, some chemical modifications of chitin and chitosan have been developed to improve the antibacterial properties of wound dressings.

## 6.2.1 Physical Modification of Chitin and Chitosan for Antimicrobial Wound Dressings

Incorporation of AgNPs or Ag<sup>+</sup>

Many research groups have been focused on incorporation of various NPs in chitin and chitosan matrices, including those of Ag, zinc oxide (ZnO), and gold [109]. Among those metal and metal oxide NPs, AgNPs are the most widely used in wound dressings and wound healing, since they exhibit significant antimicrobial activities over a wide spectrum of pathogenic and drug-resistant strains [110], as well as an anti-inflammatory activity [111]. Structurally, AgNPs are clusters of silver atoms with particle sizes ranging in diameter from 1 to 100 nm, and so provide a high surface area. They have been prepared by the reduction of silver nitrate into AgNPs using sodium citrate as the reducing agent [112]. The minimum inhibitory concentration and minimum bactericidal concentration of AgNPs are in the range of 1.56 to 6.25 µg/mL and 12.5 µg/mL, respectively, against a broad spectrum of microorganisms, including Escherichia coli (E. coli), P. aeruginosa, Salmonella abony, Salmonella typhimurium, Klebsiella aerogenes, Proteus vulgaris, S. aureus, Bacillus subtilis, and Staphylococcus epidermidis [113]. The addition of AgNPs at concentrations of 0.001, 0.003, and 0.006% (w/w) into chitin hydrogels was evaluated for their antibacterial activity against E. coli and S. aureus, whole blood clotting, and cell viability on vero (epithelial) cells [112]. Owing to the physical absorption of AgNPs within the chitin hydrogels, the AgNPs were released from the chitin hydrogels and exhibited antibacterial activity against E. coli and S. aureus. The bacterial inhibition zone increased with increasing concentrations of AgNPs. The Gram-negative bacteria (E. coli) were more susceptible to the AgNPs than the Gram-positive bacteria (*S. aureus*), which might be due to the limited penetration ability of AgNPs through the thick peptidoglycan wall of Gram-positive bacteria.

The bactericidal mechanism is certainly due to the released  $Ag^+$  ions that act as reservoirs for the  $Ag^+$  bactericidal agent. The  $Ag^+$  ions are known to exert several antibacterial mechanisms. One is the interaction with phosphorus and sulfur groups of the bacterial cell wall and plasma membrane proteins [114, 115]. The interaction between  $Ag^+$  and the membrane leads to dysfunction of the proteins, causing bacterial death. The  $Ag^+$  ions can also bind to negatively charged components of the bacterial membrane, creating holes, leading to cytoplasmic leakage, and causing cell death. Once inside the cell, the  $Ag^+$  ions can also disturb the bacterial electron transport [116]. In addition, the bactericidal effect of silver is achieved through cell membrane disruption, followed by protein dysfunction and breakage of DNA strands, resulting in an increased level of intracellular reactive oxygen species (ROS) [116]. The mode of action of  $Ag^+$  is similar to that of AgNPs, but with stronger antibacterial efficiency [117].

In addition, chitin hydrogels with a high concentration of AgNPs shorten the blood clotting time [113, 118], while remaining non-toxic to vero cells. Indeed, low doses of AgNPs were reported to be non-toxic both in vitro and in vivo [113]. However, in contrast, the addition of AgNPs into a chitin/silk fibroin scaffold at 0.001, 0.01, and 0.1% (w/w) revealed cytotoxicity to HFF2 (fibroblast) cells, where the higher the AgNP concentration, the lower the HFF2 cell viability, especially at 0.1% (w/w) AgNPs [118].

Hybridization of Chitosan and ZnO

The addition of AgNPs at high concentrations causes a change in color and induces cell cytotoxicity, which seriously limits their applications. An alternative way to reduce the cytotoxicity but enhance the antibacterial activity is the hybridization of chitosan with other metal oxides, such as ZnO. A 0.3% (w/v) chitosan/2 mM ZnO hybrid was developed and coated on cotton fabric by sonochemical coating to a ZnO/chitosan mass ratio of around 0.086 [119]. The physicochemical properties of the individual composite were probably due to the formation of the Zn<sup>2+</sup>/chitosan complex within the hybrid coatings, following the dissolution of ZnO in the chitosan/acetic acid solution. Therefore, two possible models for hybridization of metal ions with chitosan were the pendant model, where an ion was bound to only one amino group of chitosan, and the bridge model, where an ion was bound to several amino and hydroxyl groups of one or bridging more chitosan molecules [119]. The fabrics coated with the chitosan/ZnO hybrid were tested for their antibacterial activity with a 60 min contact time and exhibited a reduction in the bacterial viability of around 98% and 99% against S. aureus and E. coli, respectively, compared to 61 and 31% for ZnO and chitosan individually, respectively, against S. aureus and 78 and 99% against E. coli, respectively.

Chitosan and ZnO have been widely reported as efficient antibacterial agents. The mode of antibacterial action of ZnO involves the oxide dissolution to  $Zn^{2+}$  and the

association of  $Zn^{2+}$  with oxidative stress in bacteria cells and generation of ROS, which subsequently oxidized the cell contents and cause cell death [120]. The mode of antimicrobial activity by chitosan has been reported to be as follows: (1) interaction with negatively charged components in microbial membranes to alter the cell permeability and (2) binding to the DNA of bacterial cells to inhibit protein synthesis [121]. The hybrid complexes of chitosan with metal ions exhibited several-fold enhanced antibacterial properties compared to the individual components.

The cytotoxicity of chitosan, ZnO, and chitosan/ZnO hybrid was determined using an indirect contact method with fibroblasts for 24 h. The fibroblast cell viability following exposure to the ZnO-coated fabric dropped to less than 5%, whilst the chitosan and the chitosan/ZnO hybrid coating did not induce considerable cytotoxicity. Therefore, the synergistic effects of chitosan and ZnO NPs resulted in an enhanced antibacterial efficiency compared to the individual chitosan or ZnO coatings, as well as avoiding the risk of adverse effects on human health [119].

# 6.2.2 Chemical Modification of Chitin and Chitosan for Antimicrobial Wound Dressings

Currently, the usage of broad spectrum antibiotics is generally regarded as the most effective solution to such infections. Nevertheless, the overuse of antibiotics frequently leads to the evolution and spread of multi-drug-resistant bacteria. Therefore, new antibacterial agents from natural polymeric materials are worth developing. The amino groups of chitosan are protonated (positively charged) under an acidic condition, giving chitosan an interesting inherent antibacterial property. The antibacterial activity of chitosan is greater than chitin because it has a greater number of exposed protonated amino groups that can electrostatically interact with negatively charged proteins, lipids, and carbohydrates on the surface of bacterial cells, resulting in the inhibition of bacterial growth. Owing to their own comparatively low antibacterial activities at physiological pH (unprotonated state), several studies have proposed the synthesis of new chitin and chitosan derivatives for antibacterial agents. In particular, chitin derivatives can be produced by O-modification, while chitosan derivatives can be produced by O-modification, N-modification, or N,Omodification as mentioned above (Sect. 5). Thus, chitin, chitosan, and their derivatives have become one of the desirable materials for fabrication of antibacterial wound dressings. Several research works have focused on developing new derivatives of chitin and chitosan, especially quaternary ammonium derivatives, and to fabricate them as hydrogels or apply them as a textile finishing with an outstanding inherent antibacterial activity for wound therapy.

The modification of chitin and chitosan with quaternary ammonium groups enhances their water solubility and antibacterial properties, but only a limited amount of research has been focused on developing the quaternary derivatives of chitin compared to that for chitosan. Aminoethyl chitin [122] was synthesized by the heterogeneous reaction in alkaline condition of a mixed NaOH/isopropanol solvent with 2-AECH [122]. Amino ethyl chitin hydrogels have a good antibacterial activity against *S. aureus*, where it is hypothesized that the antibacterial activity of chitin derivatives is related to the amino groups, and so the introduction of a multi-amino chitin derivative of poly(aminoethyl) chitin (PAEMC) was prepared via grafting aminoethyl moieties onto alkaline chitin chains with an excess amount of 2-AECH [123]. The PAEMC was synthesized in the form of polymerized amino ethyl monomers and exhibited a higher antimicrobial activity against Gram-positive bacteria than against Gram-negative ones [123]. The PAEMC exerted its antibacterial activity by a membrane damage mechanism.

Poly(amino ethyl) chitosan (PAEMCS) was also synthesized by the deacetylation of PAEMC [45], and its hydrogels were fabricated under the participation of dipotassium hydrogen phosphate. The resulting hydrogels showed a higher antibacterial activity against *E. coli* and *S. aureus* than that of chitosan, implying that the increased amount of amino groups improved the antibacterial activity. However, increasing the density of amino groups in PAEMCS showed a mild cytotoxicity to the L929 mouse fibroblast cell line and human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs). Similarly, PAEMCS also exhibited a higher antimicrobial activity against Gram-positive bacteria than Gram-negative ones [45].

Hydroxypropyl trimethylammonium chitin (HPTMAC) [124] was synthesized by a heterogeneous reaction in an alkaline condition using a NaOH/isopropanol solvent with 3-chloro-2-hydroxypropyltrimethylammonium chloride [124]. In addition, HPTMAC can also be synthesized by the homogeneous reaction in other green systems of a NaOH/urea aqueous solution [125] or a potassium hydroxide/urea aqueous solution [126] with 2,3-epoxypropyltrimethylammonium chloride. The obtained quaternary derivatives exhibited antibacterial activity. For HPTMAC, it exhibited excellent antimicrobial activities against *E. coli, S. aureus, Candida albicans*, and *Rhizopus oryzae* and revealed biocompatibility and significant accelerating consequences on the healing of uninfected, *E. coli*-infected, and *S. aureus*infected wounds. Thus, it can be applied as a novel wound dressing for skin regeneration, particularly for infected wounds [126].

Moreover, chitin betainate was modified to enhance its antibacterial activity over a wide pH range [107]. It was prepared by the acylation of chitin with carboxymethyl trimethyl ammonium chloride (CMA). Chitin betainate at 10 mg/mL exhibited complete bactericidal activity against *E. coli* within 10 min, but a 45.2% and 78% reduction in *S. aureus* viability after 10 min and 24 h exposure, respectively, whilst chitin did not exhibit any significant antibacterial activity. The bactericidal activity was concentration-dependent against both bacteria, but it was more efficient against *E. coli* than *S. aureus* [107]. A chitin betainate hydrogel was prepared for antibacterial wound dressing purposes and had good water absorption by forming an interpenetrating network with PEG.

In order to investigate the structural effect of the quaternary ammonium chitin on the antibacterial activity and specificity against *E. coli* and *S. aureus*, chitin was modified with three different quaternary ammonium groups and spacers: (1) CMA to obtain CTCMA or chitin betainate as mentioned before, (2) 3-carboxypropyl trimethyl ammonium chloride to yield CTCPA, and (3) 3-carboxypropyl-*N*dodecyl-*N*,*N*-dimethylammonium chloride to give CTDDMAB [127]. The CTCMA consisted of an *N*,*N*,*N*-trimethyl substituent with a C1 (methyl) spacer; CTCPA consisted of an *N*,*N*,*N*-trimethyl substituent with a C3 (propyl) spacer; and CTDDMAB consisted of *N*-dodecyl-*N*,*N*-dimethyl substituent with a C3 spacer. Thus, CTCPA had the similar quaternary substituent as CTCMA but with a longer spacer (C3) between the chitin and quaternary substituent, whilst CTDDMAB had the same C3 spacer as CTCPA but with an *N*- long alkyl substituent.

The chemical structure of these quaternary ammonium chitin derivatives showed specificity and strongly influenced the antibacterial activity against *E. coli* and *S. aureus*. The outer cell wall of *E. coli*, which is rich in negatively charged lipopolysaccharide, is susceptible to the positively charged quaternary ammonium substituents of CTCMA and CTCPA, while the thick peptidoglycan cell wall of *S. aureus* functions as a barrier against penetration of polar substances. Accordingly, CTDDMAB with its longer propyl (C3) spacer or the *N*-long alkyl substituent in its structure enhanced the penetration and antibacterial activity against *S. aureus*. Therefore, the antibacterial activity of quaternary ammonium substituents to contact with the outermost cell wall, while that against *S. aureus* required not only the length of the spacer, but also the *N*-long alkyl substituents.

Since chitosan itself exhibits antimicrobial activity without modification, but at comparatively low antibacterial activities at neutral or physiological conditions. Therefore, research on chemical modification of chitosan has focused on enhancing its antimicrobial activities. Quaternization of chitosan can be performed by two common ways, which are substitution of quaternary ammonium groups onto the chitosan backbone and substitution of those groups as the side chains. N.N.Ntrimethyl chitosan (TMC), which has quaternary ammonium groups on the chitosan backbone, was synthesized by first treating chitosan with formic acid and formaldehyde, followed by methylation with methyl iodide [128]. The antibacterial activity of TMC was more effective than chitosan at pH 5.5, but less effective at pH 3.5. Because the lower pH represses the ionization of trimethylated amino groups of TMC [128]. For N-[(2-hydroxy-3-trimethyl ammonium) propyl] chitosan (HTCC), with quaternary ammonium groups as side chains, it was synthesized by coupling glycidyltrimethylammonium chloride to chitosan in water [129, 130]. Then, the HTCC was further chemically modified to obtain double bond containing derivatives of O-acrylamidomethyl-HTCC, which is chemically bound with cellulose or cotton fabrics, to make a promising antibacterial fabric. For N,N,N-trimethyl-O-(2-hydroxy-3-trimethylammonium propyl)chitosan (TMHTMAPC), with quaternary ammonium groups on both the backbone and O-side substituent, it was synthesized by chemical modification of TMC with 3-chloro-2-hydroxypropyl trimethyl ammonium chloride. The obtained TMHTMAPC exhibited a higher antibacterial activity than TMC [131], indicating that quaternization of the more flexible side chains enhanced the interaction between the positively charged chitosan derivatives and the negatively charged bacterial cell envelope [131]. Representative schemes for the quaternization of chitin/chitosan derivatives are summarized in Fig. 8.



N - [(2-hydroxyl-3-trimethylammonium) propyl] chitosan

N, N, N - trimethyl -O-[2-hydroxyltrimethylammonium propyl] chitosan

ĊH<sub>3</sub>


Apart from the quaternary ammonium derivatives of chitin and chitosan, further information on the synthesis of chitin/chitosan derivatives and their molecular design for novel antimicrobial agents, mode of antimicrobial actions/mechanisms related to outermost membranes of microbes (bacteria, fungi, and viruses), and their compositions, as well as the effect of their MW and DA/DD on the antimicrobial activity has been presented elsewhere [132]. From the development of chitin and chitosan derivatives as antimicrobial agents, it is of great significance to fabricate them into antibacterial hydrogel wound dressings, taking advantage of their beneficial properties, including biodegradability, biocompatibility, non-toxicity, hemostatic, and antibacterial properties. Many molecularly designed chitin and chitosan derivatives appear to be promising candidates for antibacterial wound dressings.

### 6.3 Wound Dressings for Burn Wounds

The depth of a burn can be described as superficial, moderate partial thickness, deep partial thickness, or full thickness. A first-degree (superficial) burn is when the epidermis is injured with no significant structural damage, while a moderate second-degree (moderate partial-thickness) burn represents a superficial dermis injury. A deep second-degree (deep partial-thickness) burn is when the deep dermis is injured but the hair follicles and sweat glands remain intact, while a third-degree (full-thickness) burn is when the entire dermis is injured. Finally, a fourth-degree (full-thickness) burn is when the entire dermis is injured and it extends to the fat, muscle, and bone [133].

A superficial burn of the skin heals in a short time without a scar by epidermal resurfacing through the regeneration and migration of keratinocytes. A moderate second-degree burn heals within 1–2 weeks by epithelialization, but the skin pigmentation, somehow, changes. In contrast, a deep second-degree burn wound may not heal within 3–4 weeks by epithelialization, and it may form scars. Third- and fourth-degree burn wound healing requires tissue granulation followed by epithelialization. It often undergoes early surgical intervention [133].

Healing of a burn wound is one of the most complex healing process, causing severe discomfort and other complications. For treatment of burns of a high surface area, the patient might face a high risk of lethality and disability during the healing process. Patients are highly vulnerable to invasive microbial infections until complete re-epithelialization or recovery of the wound area has occurred. Consequently, burn wound sepsis is a major cause of mortality among these patients. Topical application of antibacterial ointment is the first choice of treatment in order to provide a moist environment together with antibacterial agents. Since chitosan itself possesses antimicrobial activity, it is particularly useful in wound treatment. The MW and DD of chitosan are structural parameters that influence its physicochemical, mechanical, and biological properties, such as its susceptibility to biodegradation by lysozyme and wound healing properties [134].

The effect of the MW and DD of chitosan on the wound healing process has been evaluated by topically applying three samples of chitosan gels with a different MW and DD on burn wounds in rats [135]. The gels were prepared at a concentration of 2% (w/v) in dilute aqueous acetic acid as CH-H (MW of 200,0000; DD of 92%), CH-M (MW of 750,000; DD of 75%), and CH-L (MW of 70,000; DD of 63%). The high MW (CH-H) gel resulted in the formation of significantly more epithelial tissue and wound contraction (around 80% within 8 days) than the wounds treated with the CH-M or CH-L gels, while the control wounds (no gel treatment) healed very slowly with a wound contraction of only around 40% after 12 days. It is evident that chitosan with a high DD and MW led to an accelerated wound healing and induced GTF or re-epithelialization in the early stages of wound healing [135]. Moreover, the incorporation of EGF at 10 µg/mL into a 2% (w/w) chitosan gel was reported to fasten the epithelialization rate and to stimulate GTF and tissue formation [136]. As known, EGF acts by binding to the EGF receptor-tyrosine kinase, thereby initiating a series of events that ultimately regulates cell proliferation [137]. Although present in small amounts, EGF exerts a powerful influence on the process of wound repair.

Wound dressings usually lead to rapid wound closure by preventing wound sepsis and excessive fluid loss through the open wounds. Therefore, suitable wound dressings should effectively prevent subsequent microbial invasion of the burn wounds as well as absorb excessive exudate. Chitosan acetate bandage (HemCon<sup>®</sup>), which is normally used as a hemostatic dressing, was applied to third-degree burns in mice infected with fatal doses of two invasive bacterial species (P. aeruginosa and P. mirabilis) [138]. The survival rates within 4 weeks of infection with P. aeruginosa and P. mirabilis were 73.3% and 66.7%, respectively, in mice treated with chitosan acetate bandages, whilst they were 13.3% and 0%, respectively, in the untreated (control) groups. The chitosan acetate bandage effectively controlled the growth of bacteria in the burn and prevented the development of systemic sepsis that led to fatality. Therefore, a chitosan acetate bandage could act as an effective topical antimicrobial dressing for infected burns. Furthermore, when Ncarboxymethyl chitosan (NCMC), a water soluble chitosan derivative, was applied on deep second-degree burn wounds, the healing time of the wound was reduced to 25 days compared to 35 days for the untreated control group [139]. On day 25, a number of fibroblasts in the dermis could be observed in the NCMC treated groups, revealing that GTF was accelerated by the application of the NCMC. The GTF was required for the permanent closure of the wound because it filled the wound defect and prepared a route for epithelialization.

### 6.4 Wound Dressings for Diabetic Ulcers

Diabetes mellitus (DM), commonly known as diabetes, is a group of metabolic disorders characterized by a high blood sugar level over a long period of time (chronic hyperglycemia) caused by a low insulin level. Diabetes is due to either the pancreas not producing enough insulin or the cells of the body not responding

properly to the produced insulin. The progression of wound healing normally undergoes the four phases of hemostasis, inflammation, proliferation, and remodeling, as mentioned above (Sect. 2). However, wound healing in diabetics is complicated. A failure of completely healed diabetic foot ulcers (DFU) [140] is a consequence of chronic inflammation, peripheral neuropathy, impaired vascular function, or impaired angiogenesis [140, 141]. Moreover, fibroblasts fail to produce ECM proteins, while keratinocytes do not form an epithelium. The DFU is associated with a high risk of limb loss as a consequence of amputation and leads to a reduced survival [142]. To reduce the risk, much attention had been paid to the design and development of wound dressings that are suitable for diabetics. This chapter mentioned in detail on chitin- and chitosan-based wound dressings that have been developed through physical or chemical modification to promote the wound healing process for diabetic ulcers, which are categorized by those impaired consequences.

#### 6.4.1 Wound Dressings Involved in Chronic Inflammation

A DFU is mostly at risk of infection due to the long existence of extensive sloughs, bacteria, and biofilms, which results in a delayed inflammatory phase. Therefore, wound dressings are often incorporated with antibacterial agents to promote their antibacterial activity, even though some polymeric materials, such as chitosan, may already have an antibacterial property. Several physical and chemical modifications of chitin and chitosan wound dressings involved in reducing chronic inflammation are mentioned in this section.

Physical Modification of Chitin and Chitosan Wound Dressings Involved in Chronic Inflammation

#### Incorporation of AgNPs or Ag<sup>+</sup>

Both  $Ag^+$  and AgNPs have been known as an antibacterial agent for a long time. Their toxicity to human cells is significantly lower than that to bacteria, which is the most favorable feature of silver [143], giving it a high availability for various applications, including wound dressing. In diabetes induced rabbits, the AgNP-loaded chitosan-PEG hydrogels were found to exhibit an excellent antibacterial activity against both Gram-positive (*S. aureus, B. subtilis,* and *B. pumilus*) and Gram-negative bacteria (*P. aeruginosa* and *E. coli*) [144]. Moreover, the AgNP-loaded chitosan-PEG hydrogels also offered a better wound healing capacity with a greater anti-inflammatory response and accelerated the re-epithelialization and collagen deposition compared to that with the blank hydrogel without AgNPs [144]. The wound healing potential of the AgNP-incorporated chitosan-PEG hydrogel was even faster than the blank hydrogel without AgNPs, indicating that the

combination of AgNPs and chitosan hydrogel significantly and synergistically enhanced wound healing in diabetes induced rabbits.

In addition to the anti-inflammatory function, the incorporation of growth factors into the AgNP-chitosan gel, such as EGF, can enhance keratinocyte and fibroblast proliferation, GTF, and ECM protein synthesis, and so result in promoting the efficiency of wound repair for diabetics. However, the antimicrobial activity of AgNPs may be considerably diminished after binding with proteins, such as growth factors [145]. Such unfavorable conditions likely occur even when  $Ag^+$  and proteins are immobilized in the same matrix, whereby the usability of Ag<sup>+</sup> in the EGF-embedded hydrogel is seriously hindered. An alternative way is to encapsulate EGF into chitosan NPs and then disperse these into a AgNP-incorporated chitosan-PVA hydrogel, i.e. AgNPs and EGF-encapsulated chitosan hydrocolloid in chitosan-PVA hydrogel (SNP<sub>F</sub>CHG) [145]. The SNP<sub>F</sub>CHG was incorporated with different amounts of AgNPs (reduced from Ag<sup>+</sup> concentrations of 6, 12, 24, and 48 mM) and different concentrations of EGF (0.6, 6, and 60 µg/mL). Owing to the release of Ag<sup>+</sup>, the SNP<sub>E</sub>CHG exhibited antimicrobial activity against S. aureus and S. epidermidis when the hydrogel contained more than 24 mM Ag<sup>+</sup>, whilst the cytotoxicity of the hydrogels to both fibroblasts and keratinocytes increased in a AgNP concentrationdependent manner. Therefore, for an effective antimicrobial activity and minimal cytotoxicity, the optimal Ag<sup>+</sup> dose in the hydrogel was 24 mM, while the optimal dose of EGF for promoting cell growth was around 60 µg/mL [145]. Furthermore,  $SNP_FCHG$  revealed a clear efficiency for diabetic wound healing, which was ascribed to its antimicrobial and cell growth promoting activities compared to treatment with AgNPs alone, EGF alone, or without silver and EGF [145].

#### Incorporation of Curcumin (Cur)

In addition to AgNPs, Cur, the main bioactive substance of turmeric, has been evaluated for its anti-inflammatory and antioxidant potential [146]. It is well known that macrophages play an important role in regulating the inflammatory response as well as in removing dead cells and cell debris from the wound. The delayed wound healing in diabetes is attributed to the prolonged inflammation, which is always induced by a large amount of inflammatory mediators secreted by macrophages. Curcumin-loaded chitosan NPs (Cur-CS-NPs) could effectively inhibit macrophage-mediated inflammation and reduce the release of inflammatory factors from the RAW264.7 mouse mononuclear macrophage leukemia cell line and attenuated local inflammation in the wound site of diabetic rats, thereby promoting the wound healing process to shift from the inflammatory phase to the proliferation and remodeling phases [147]. Furthermore, Cur-CS-NPs enhanced angiogenesis by promoting proliferation and migration of HUVECs as well as to the diabetic wound site [147]. Moreover, Cur-CS-NPs accelerated the wound closure rates, revealing that it significantly promoted wound contraction and accelerated wound healing.

Chemical Modification of Chitin and Chitosan Wound Dressings Involved in Chronic Inflammation

The addition of antimicrobial substances is straightforward to the specific purposes of developing anti-inflammatory wound dressings. However, as mentioned before, dysfunctional macrophages can induce chronic inflammation and impair tissue regeneration in diabetic wounds. Therefore, improving macrophage behaviors and functions may enhance the therapeutic effects of diabetic wound healing [148]. The incorporation of exogenous cytokines to improve macrophage behaviors is, however, subject to the instability of cytokines, their high cost, and uncertain dosage. To improve the macrophage response, the design of a functional biomaterial without the addition of cytokines is of interesting in diabetic wound healing.

Sulfated chitosan (SCS), a heparin-like substance, was crosslinked with collagen type I (Col I/SCS) and evaluated for its activity on cultured peritoneal macrophage (PM) in terms of the inflammatory response [148]. Macrophages polarize their functional phenotypes from pro-inflammatory (M1) to anti-inflammatory (M2) and provide different functions. Pro-inflammation macrophages (M1) remove pathogens and tissue debris and secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines (e.g., TNF-a, IL-6, and IL-1 $\beta$ ), ROS, and proteases, while the anti-inflammation macrophages (M2) secrete growth factors (e.g., FGF, EGF, and VEGF) and anti-inflammatory cytokines (e.g. IL-4 and IL-10) to resolve inflammation and stimulate tissue regeneration. It was found that Col I/SCS hydrogel reduced the expression of IL-6 and increased the expression of IL-4, IL-10, and TGF-β1 in macrophages, i.e. a Col I/SCS hydrogel promoted the secretion of anti-inflammatory cytokines and reduced the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines in macrophages [148], implying it could improve the shift of wound healing phases. Furthermore, the Col I/SCS hydrogel promoted the transdifferentiation of macrophages into fibroblasts, which enhanced collagen deposition and accelerated wound contraction in diabetic wounds.

#### 6.4.2 Wound Dressings Involved in Neuroactive Substances

Incorporation of Neuropeptides

It is evident that peripheral nerves and cutaneous neurobiology contribute to diabetic wound healing [149], where a loss of peripheral sensory and autonomic nerves along with diminished neuropeptide production precedes the clinical symptoms of neuropathy [149]. Peripheral sensory neuropathy is considered to be a major contributor to the increased risk of foot amputations. Therefore, neuropeptides are an important link that directly connects neuropathy to wound healing. Neurotensin (NT) are bioactive neuropeptides that are widely distributed in the brain and in several peripheral tissues. They are involved in the activation, growth, migration, and maturation of specific skin cells, such as keratinocytes, macrophages, and mast cells, and affect new vessel formation and enhance angiogenesis during wound healing [141]. However, local administration of neuropeptides has the problem of

their short half-life and loss of bioactivity in the wound environment. Therefore, an alternative way is to load NT into chitosan-based wound dressings for their sustained delivery [150].

A water soluble chitosan derivative of 5-methyl pyrrolidinone chitosan (MPC) was synthesized and used as an NT carrier in wound dressing. A different healing profile was observed different for the non-loaded and NT-loaded MPC treated wounds in both the control (normal) and diabetic mice. Interestingly, wound reduction was evidently observed at around 20 and 40% on day 1, and at around 50 and 70% on day 10 post-wounding with MPC and NT-loaded MPC treatment in diabetic mice, respectively, indicating that an NT-loaded MPC was significantly more effective than MCP treatment alone. Moreover, granulation tissue filled the wound bed quicker in the early phase of wound healing in diabetic mice treated with NT and/or MPC. These phenomena indicated that NT-loaded MPC wound dressing improved the early wound healing in diabetics. Histopathological observation of the wound on day 10 revealed specific re-epithelialization profiles from the bottom to the top with basal cells in the epidermis covering the scar in control mice, whilst that occurred over the granulation inflammatory tissue which was undergoing repair [150].

#### Incorporation of Melatonin

Melatonin (N-acetyl-5-methoxytryptamine; Mel), the main hormone released from the pineal gland release, possesses widespread neuroprotective, antioxidant, and anti-inflammatory properties [151]. Its neuroprotective property makes it beneficial for treatment in neurological diseases, such as stroke, Alzheimer's disease, and Parkinson's disease [152]. Its antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties, together with its neuroprotective property, make Mel an interesting potential therapeutic agent for application in wound healing related to the peripheral neuropathy of diabetic wounds. However, Mel is highly susceptible to oxidation, and so encapsulation of Mel into polymeric NPs is used to prevent its degradation. Therefore, Mel was loaded in lecithin-chitosan NPs (Mel-NP) [153]. The volume of the formulations was calculated according to the individual daily weight and locally dropped on the wound of diabetic rats at a Mel dose of 1.2 mg/kg rats/day. The wounds of the Mel-NP and NP alone treated groups were almost closed on day 7 with significant wound reduction on day 14, compared to the free Mel treated groups. In addition, NP alone stimulated fibroblast proliferation, whilst Mel-NP accelerated collagen deposition and blood vessel proliferation [153].

Another study of Mel loaded in a chitosan hydrogel also supported that Mel-loaded hydrogels promoted angiogenesis in the early stage of wound healing and reduced inflammation in the late stage [154]. The Mel-loaded hydrogel also markedly increased the expression of collagen III,  $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin and TGF- $\beta$ 1 proteins and reduced collagen I expression. These results suggested that Mel-loaded hydrogel promoted GTF and accelerated wound healing by reducing inflammation and promoting angiogenesis and collagen deposition [154].

Diabetes or hyperglycemia increases the levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines, including IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, and TNF- $\alpha$ , and increases oxidative stress, which mainly cause an impaired wound healing. Excessive production of ROS results in damage to cellular membranes, lipids, proteins, and DNA as well as becoming harmful to wound healing [151]. Melatonin down-regulates a variety of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, and TNF- $\alpha$ , by preventing the translocation of nuclear factor-kappa B to the nucleus and its binding to DNA, as well as reducing oxidative stress [155]. Moreover, the molecular mechanisms of Mel action on diabetic wound healing had been examined in high glucose (HG) cultured keratinocytes [151]. It was found that (1) Mel reduced the mRNA expression level and release of pro-inflammatory cytokine in HG cultured keratinocytes, (2) reduced HG-induced oxidative stress in keratinocytes, (3) inhibited HG-induced activation of nucleotide binding and oligomerization domain-like receptor family pyrin domaincontaining three inflammasome, and (4) enhanced proliferation and migration as well as reduced apoptosis of keratinocytes. Therefore, Mel contributes to diabetic wound healing, including via inflammation suppression, oxidative stress attenuation, proliferation, migration promotion, and apoptosis inhibition.

#### 6.4.3 Wound Dressings Involved in Angiogenesis

#### Incorporation of Bioactive Substances

Angiogenesis, the main step in the proliferative phase of wound healing, involves the formation of new blood vessels into the wound site and provides nutrition for wound healing [156]. Wound dressings can be used to deliver bioactive agents to wound sites for promoting epithelialization and treatment of severe injuries. To this purpose of promoting angiogenesis and wound healing, several research works have been reported to incorporate bioactive substances into the chitin or chitosan matrix. The analysis of non-healing acute or chronic wounds in vivo and in vitro demonstrated that those wounds were de-regulated for various growth factors, such as PDGF, VEGF, and basic (b)FGF [157]. Therefore, using exogenous growth factors and cytokines suggests a potential therapy for non-healing wounds, such as DFUs, pressure ulcers, and chronic venous leg ulcers.

Basic FGF, released by platelets, is a potent modulator for fibroblasts and the proliferation and angiogenesis of vascular endothelial cells [157]. The application of bFGF solution onto the wound, however, cannot accelerate wound healing because the bFGF is rapidly washed off at the wound site by the exudate. The incorporation of bFGF into chitosan-based wound dressings is an alternative way to stabilize and control the release of growth factors [158]. A bFGF was mixed with hydroxypropyl chitosan (HPCH) acetate, and cast as  $1 \times 1 \text{ cm}^2$  films with total bFGF concentrations of 0.6, 2, and 6 µg/film. The bFGF-HPCH films with different bFGF concentrations and HPCH film were placed onto full-thickness wounds excised on the back of diabetic mice. Normal saline was used in the control group. The wound sizes in the HPCH film and control groups were similar, indicating no significant acceleration of

impaired wound healing by the application of the HPCH film alone [158]. On the other hand, bFGF-HPCH films accelerated the wound healing in a bFGF dose-dependent manner. The wound sizes in the bFGF-HPCH film groups (2  $\mu$ g and 6  $\mu$ g/film) were significantly smaller than those in the three other groups, which indicated that the bFGF-HPCH film provided a sustained release of bFGF and accelerated wound healing in genetically diabetic mice [158].

However, the growth factors absorbed in a chitosan matrix are diffusible in vivo. The bFGF mostly caused a burst release with a low long-term accumulation at the wound sites. In order to maintain the bFGF concentration in the therapeutic range, a high dose administration is required. However, a high concentration of bFGF will lead to a vascular tumor and cancer angiogenesis [159]. To this end, bFGF immobilized onto the chitin binding domain (ChtBD) was made and named ChtBD-bFGF [160]. The ChtBD was derived from the chitinase of Bacillus circulans WL-12 and the ChtBD-bFGF or bFGF were absorbed onto the surface of chitin films by immersion. The amount of ChtBD-bFGF absorbed on the surface of the chitin film was determined by immunofluorescence and found to be 3.02-fold higher than that of bFGF. On the other hand, the ChtBD-bFGF showed a sustained release manner from the chitin film, whilst bFGF without ChtBD immobilization had a high burst release. The chitin films bound with ChtBD-bFGF or bFGF were subsequently evaluated for their ability in wound healing in terms of cell proliferation and promoting vascularity. It was found that the number of fibroblast cells induced by ChtBD-bFGF was twofold higher than by bFGF with a regular cell morphology, and an orderly and parallel actin filament. Furthermore, the endothelial cell-specific protein marker (CD31) was used to evaluate neovascularization at the implanted site. No obvious neovascularization was observed at the implanted site of the bFGF chitin film or chitin film alone, but was highly observed at the implanted site of the ChtBD-bFGF chitin film, indicating the promotion of angiogenesis [160].

The impaired wound healing of diabetic wounds is attributed to the low levels of endogenous growth factors, including VEGF, that normally stimulate multiple phases of wound healing. Besides, chronic diabetic wounds exhibit high levels of matrix metalloproteinases and give rise to the degradation of growth factors [161]. Therefore, attention had been paid to the incorporation of VEGF-loaded NPs to a chitosan-hyaluronic acid composite sponge, which served as a growth factor releasing wound dressing [162]. The released VEGF was sufficient to enhance tube formation in endothelial cells (HUVECs) in vitro, whilst the chitosan-hyaluronic acid sponge did not show any such property. The mechanism by which VEGF induced angiogenesis involves activation of integrins, which is essential for endothelial cell proliferation [162].

Moreover, as multiple proteins are involved in the wound healing process, it might be insufficient to use a single growth factor to accelerate wound closure in diabetic ulcers. While VEGF induces endothelial cell proliferation and migration, bFGF is a potent mitogen for fibroblasts and keratinocytes, and is involved in the proliferative phase of wound repair. It has been demonstrated that combined gene transfers of VEGF and FGF improves the reparative processes in the wounded skin of diabetic mice better than the single-agent treatment [163].

Clinical treatment of applying mixed growth factors from an autologous plateletrich plasma gel (PRP) combined with a porous chitosan-alginate membrane to venous chronic ulcers has been reported [164]. Various proteins necessary for tissue repair and healing process are secreted by three types of granules (alpha, delta, and lambda) located inside the platelets. Alpha-granules are the most abundant platelet granule, and their degranulation releases several growth factors, such as PDGF, PDEGF, VEGF, TGF- $\beta$ , EGF, IGF, and other bioactive substances, such as fibrinogen, fibronectin, osteocalcin, vitronectin, IL-1, and thrombospondin-1 [34]. The combination of various growth factors within the PRP gel and chitosan-alginate membrane gave the effective results of GTF and angiogenesis [164]. One of the most favorable results was the pain reduction in wounds from the early treatment, which was probably due to the acceleration of wound healing that resulted in a decreased analgesic intake by the patients. Owing to its high swelling capability, the exudate released was well absorbed into porous membrane and contributed significantly to the reduction in the intensity of a bad smell [164].

### 7 Conclusion

Chitin and chitosan both have a high potential for wound healing applications because of their prominent properties, such as exudates absorbability, stimulating hemostasis, and accelerating tissue regeneration. They can be fabricated into various forms, such as hydrogels, membranes, fibrous mats, sponges, and hydrocolloids, making chitin and chitosan promising materials for wound dressings and being commercially available. Beyond the fundamental requirements of non-toxic, non-allergenic, and non-adherent, many functional wound dressings of chitin and chitosan have been designed to provide certain other functional properties suitable for different wound types.

In order to design effective chitin and chitosan wound dressings, this chapter provided an insight information into the wound healing process and factors effecting wound healing, the fabrication methods of chitin and chitosan wound dressings, commercially available chitin- and chitosan-based wound dressings as well as the physical and chemical modification of chitin and chitosan to make more functional wound dressings, such as hemostatic, antimicrobial, burn, and diabetic ulcer wound dressings.

# References

- 1. Epstein FH, Singer AJ, Clark RA (1999) Cutaneous wound healing. N Engl J Med 341:738-746
- Korting HC, Schöllmann C, White RJ (2011) Management of minor acute cutaneous wounds: importance of wound healing in a moist environment. J Eur Acad Dematol Venereol 25:130–137

- Robson MC, Steed DL, Franz MG (2001) Wound healing: biologic features and approaches to maximize healing trajectories. Curr Probl Surg 38:72–140
- Lazurus GS, Cooper DM, Knighton DR, Margolis DJ, Pecoraro RE, Rodeheaver G, Robson MC (1994) Definitions and guidelines for assessment of wounds and evaluation of healing. Arch Dermatol 130:489–493
- Velnar T, Bailey T, Smrkolj V (2009) The wound healing process: an overview of the cellular and molecular mechanisms. J Int Med Res 37:1528–1542
- Dreifke MB, Jayasuriya AA, Jayasuriya AC (2015) Current wound healing procedures and potential care. Mater Sci Eng C 48:651–662
- Hinrichs WL, Lommen EL, Wildevuur CR, Feijen J (1992) Fabrication and characterization of an asymmetric polyurethane membrane for use as a wound dressing. J Appl Biomater 3:287–303
- Akita S, Akino K, Imaizumi T, Tanaka K, Anraku K, Yano H, Hirano A (2006) A polyurethane dressing is beneficial for split-thickness skin-graft donor wound healing. Burns 32:447–451
- Joseph B, Augustine R, Kalarikkal N, Thomas S, Seantier B, Grohens Y (2019) Recent advances in electrospun polycaprolactone based scaffolds for wound healing and skin bioengineering applications. Mater Today Commun 19:319–335
- Chen H, Huang J, Yu J, Liu S, Gu P (2011) Electrospun chitosan-graft-poly (ε-caprolactone)/ poly (ε-caprolactone) cationic nanofibrous mats as potential scaffolds for skin tissue engineering. Int J Biol Macromol 48:13–19
- Gomaa SF, Madkour TM, Moghannem S, El-Sherbiny IM (2017) New polylactic acid/ cellulose acetate-based antimicrobial interactive single dose nanofibrous wound dressing mats. Int J Biol Macromol 105:1148–1160
- Echeverría C, Muñoz-Bonilla A, Cuervo-Rodríguez R, López D, Fernández-García M (2019) Antibacterial PLA fibers containing Thiazolium groups as wound dressing materials. ACS Appl Bio Mater 2:4714–4719
- 13. Chen SL, Fu SH, Liao SF, Liu SP, Lin SZ, Wang YC (2018) A PEG-based hydrogel for effective wound care management. Cell Transplant 27:275–284
- 14. Shingel KI, Di Stabile L, Marty JP, Faure MP (2006) Inflammatory inert poly(ethylene glycol)–protein wound dressing improves healing responses in partial- and full-thickness wounds. Int Wound J 3:332–342
- 15. Xu R, Luo G, Xia H, He W, Zhao J, Liu B, Tan J, Zhou J, Liu D, Wang Y, Yao Z, Zhan R, Yang S, Wu J (2015) Novel bilayer wound dressing composed of silicone rubber with particular micropores enhanced wound re-epithelialization and contraction. Biomaterials 40:1–11
- 16. Pinese C, Jebors S, Stoebner PE, Humblot V, Verdie P, Causse L, Garric X, Taillades H, Martinez J, Mehdi A, Subra G (2017) Bioactive peptides grafted silicone dressings: a simple and specific method. Mater Today Chem 4:73–83
- Jayakumar R, Prabaharan M, Sudheesh Kumar PT, Nair SV, Tamura H (2011) Biomaterials based on chitin and chitosan in wound dressing applications. Biotechnol Adv 29:322–337
- Moeini A, Pedram P, Makvandi P, Malinconico M, Gomez d'Ayala G (2020) Wound healing and antimicrobial effect of active secondary metabolites in chitosan-based wound dressings: a review. Carbohydr Polym 233:115839
- Cunha CS, Castro PJ, Sousa SC, Pullar RC, Tobaldi DM, Piccirillo C, Pintado MM (2020) Films of chitosan and natural modified hydroxyapatite as effective UV-protecting, biocompatible and antibacterial wound dressings. Int J Biol Macromol 159:1177–1185
- Graça MFP, Miguel SP, Cabral CSD, Correia IJ (2020) Hyaluronic acid based wound dressings: a review. Carbohydr Polym 241:116364
- 21. Duan Y, Lia K, Wang H, Wu T, Zhao Y, Li H, Tang H, Yang W (2020) Preparation and evaluation of curcumin grafted hyaluronic acid modified pullulan polymers as a functional wound dressing material. Carbohydr Polym 238:116195

- 22. Gaspar-Pintiliescu A, Stanciuc A-M, Craciunescu O (2019) Natural composite dressings based on collagen, gelatin and plant bioactive compounds for wound healing: a review. Int J Biol Macromol 138:854–865
- 23. Ying H, Zhou J, Wang M, Su D, Ma Q, Lv G, Chen J (2019) In situ formed collagenhyaluronic acid hydrogel as biomimetic dressing for promoting spontaneous wound healing. Mater Sci Eng C 101:487–498
- 24. Varaprasad K, Jayaramudu T, Kanikireddy V, Toro C, Sadiku ER (2020) Alginate-based composite materials for wound dressing application: a mini review. Carbohydr Polym 236:116025
- Zhang M, Zhao X (2020) Alginate hydrogel dressings for advanced wound management. Int J Biol Macromol 162:1414–1428
- 26. Radhakumary C, Antonty M, Sreenivasan K (2011) Drug loaded thermoresponsive and cytocompatible chitosan based hydrogel as a potential wound dressing. Carbohydr Polym 83:705–713
- 27. Rinaudo M (2006) Chitin and chitosan: properties and applications. Prog Polym Sci 31:603-632
- Singh DK, Ray AR (2000) Biomedical applications of chitin, chitosan and their derivatives. J Macromol Sci Rev Macromol Chem Phys C 40:69–83
- 29. Aiba S (1992) Studies on chitosan: 4. Lysozymic hydrolysis of partially N-acetylated chitosans. Int J Biol Macromol 14:225–228
- 30. Pangburn S, Trescony P, Heller J (1982) Lysozyme degradation of partially deacetylated chitin, its films and hydrogels. Biomaterials 3:105–108
- Paul W, Sharma CP (2004) Chitin and alginates wound dressings: a short review. Trends Biomater Artif Organs 18:18–23
- 32. Guo S, DiPietro LA (2010) Factors affecting wound healing. J Dent Res 89:219-229
- Bergmeier W, Hynes RO (2012) Extracellular matrix proteins in hemostasis and thrombosis. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 4:a005132
- 34. Lubkowska A, Dolegowska B, Banfi G (2012) Growth factor content in PRP and their applicability in medicine. J Biol Regul Homeost Agents 26(2 Suppl 1):3S–22S
- 35. Hart J (2002) Inflammation. 1: its role in the healing of acute wounds. J Wound Care 11:205–209
- Mosser DM, Edwards JP (2008) Exploring the full spectrum of macrophage activation. Nat Rev Immunol 8:958–969
- 37. Singh S, Young A, McNaught C (2017) The physiology of wound healing. Surgery 35:473–477
- Gonzalez AC, Costa TG, Andrade ZA, Medrado ARAP (2016) Wound healing a literature review. An Bras Dermatol 91:614–620
- 39. Ogawa R, Akaishi S (2016) Endothelial dysfunction may play a key role in keloid and hypertrophic scar pathogenesis – keloids and hypertrophic scars may be vascular disorders. Med Hypotheses 96:51–60
- Muzzareli RRA (1985) Chitin. In: Mark HF, Bikales NM, Overberger CG, Menges G, Kroschwitz JI (eds) Encyclopedia of polymer science and engineering, vol 3. Wiley, New York, pp 430–440
- 41. Li H, Cheng F, Wei X, Yi X, Tang S, Wang Z, Zhang YS, He J, Huang Y (2021) Injectable, self-healing, antibacterial, and hemostatic N,O-carboxymethyl chitosan/oxidized chondroitin sulfate composite hydrogel for wound dressing. Mater Sci Eng C 118:111324
- 42. Balitaan JNI, Hsiao C-D, Yeh J-M, Santiago KS (2020) Santiago innovation inspired by nature: biocompatible self-healing injectable hydrogel based on modified-β-chitin for wound healing. Int J Biol Macromol 162:723–736
- 43. Tanodekaew S, Prasitsilp M, Swasdison S, Thavornyutikarn B, Pothsree T, Pateepasen R (2004) Preparation of acrylic grafted chitin for wound dressing application. Biomaterials 25:1453–1460

- 44. Ma M, Zhong Y, Jiang X (2020) Thermosensitive and pH-responsive tannin-containing hydroxypropyl chitin hydrogel with long-lasting antibacterial activity for wound healing. Carbohydr Polym 236:116096
- 45. Zhang Y, Dang Q, Liu C, Yan J, Cha D, Liang S, Li X, Fan B (2017) Synthetic, characterization, and evaluation of poly(aminoethyl) modified chitosan and its hydrogel used as antibacterial wound dressing. Int J Biol Macromol 102:457–467
- 46. Shahzadi L, Bashir M, Tehseen S, Zehra M, Mehmood A, Chaudhry AA, Rehman I, Yar M (2020) Thyroxine impregnated chitosan-based dressing stimulate angiogenesis and support fast wounds healing in rats: potential clinical candidates. Int J Biol Macromol 160:296–306
- 47. Cifuentes A, Gómez-Gil V, Ortega MA, Asúnsolo Á, Coca S, Romná JS, Álvarez-Mon M, Buján J, García-Honduvilla N (2020) Chitosan hydrogels functionalized with either unfractionated heparin or bemirin improve diabetic wound healing. Biomed Pharmacother 129:110498
- Masood N, Ahmed R, Tariq M, Ahmed Z, Masoud MS, Ali I, Ashar R, Andleeb A, Hasan A (2019) Silver nanoparticle impregnated chitosan-PEG hydrogel enhances wound healing in diabetes induced rabbits. Int J Pharm 559:23–26
- 49. Yang J, Chen Y, Zhao L, Feng Z, Peng K, Wei A, Wang Y, Tong Z, Chen B (2020) Preparation of a chitosan/carboxymethyl chitosan/AgNPs polyelectrolyte composites physical hydrogel with self-healing ability, antibacterial properties, and good biosafety simultaneously, and its application as a wound dressing. Compos B Eng 197:108139
- Zhang Y, Jiang M, Zhang Y, Cao Q, Wang X, Han Y, Sun G, Li Y, Zhou J (2019) Novel lignin-chitosan-PVA-composite hydrogel for wound dressing. Mater Sci Eng C 104:110002
- Bukzem AL, Signini R, dos Santos DM, Lião LM, Ascheri DPR (2016) Optimization of carboxymethyl chitosan synthesis using response surface methodology and desirability function. Int J Biol Macromol 85:615–624
- 52. Wang D, Zhang N, Meng G, He J, Wu F (2020) The effect of form of carboxymethyl-chitosan dressings on biological properties in wound healing. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces 194:111191
- Singh R, Singh D (2014) Chitin membranes containing silver nanoparticles for wound dressing application. Int Wound J 11:264–268
- 54. Singh R, Chacharkar MP, Mathur AK (2008) Chitin membrane for wound dressing application – preparation, characterization and toxicological evaluation. Int Wound J 5:665–673
- Chakravarty J, Semerdzhiev D, Silby MW, Ferreira T, Brigham CJ (2019) Properties of solvent-cast chitin membranes and exploration of potential applications. Materialia 8:100452
- Miguel SP, Moreica AF, Correia IJ (2019) Chitosan based-asymmetric membranes for wound healing: a review. Int J Biol Macromol 127:460–475
- 57. Behera SS, Das U, Kumar A, Bissoyi A, Singh AK (2017) Chitosan/TiO<sub>2</sub> composite membrane improves proliferation and survival of L929 fibroblasts cells: application in wound dressing and skin regeneration. Int J Biol Macromol 98:329–340
- Kenawy E, Omer AM, Tamer TM, Elmeligy MA, Eldin MSM (2019) Fabrication of biodegradable gelatin/chitosan/cinnamaldehyde crosslinked membranes for antibacterial wound dressing application. Int J Biol Macromol 139:440–448
- 59. Mi F-L, Wu Y-B, Shyu S-S, Chao A-C, Lai J-Y, Su C-C (2003) Asymmetric chitosan membranes prepared by dry/wet phase separation: a new type of wound dressing for controlled antibacterial release. J Membr Sci 212:237–254
- Mi F-L, Shyu S-S, Wu Y-B, Lee S-T, Shyong J-Y, Huang R-N (2001) Fabrication and characterization of a sponge-like asymmetric chitosan membrane as a wound dressing. Biomaterials 22:165–173
- Morgado PI, Lisboa PF, Ribeiro MP, Miguel SP, Simões PC, Correia IJ, Aguiar-Ricardo A (2014) Poly (vinyl alcohol)/chitosan asymmetrical membranes: highly controlled morphology toward the ideal wound dressing. J Membr Sci 469:262–271

- 62. Yang JM, Yang SJ, Lin HT, Wu T-H, Chen H-J (2008) Chitosan containing PU/poly (NIPPAm) thermosensitive membrane for wound dressing. Mater Sci Eng C 28:150–156
- Lin W-C, Lien C-C, Yeh H-J, Yu C-M, Hsu S-H (2013) Bacterial cellulose and bacterial cellulose-chitosan membranes for wound dressing applications. Carbohydr Polym 94:603–611
- 64. Ignatova M, Starbova K, Markova N, Manolova N, Rashkov I (2006) Electrospun nano-fiber mats with antibacterial properties from quanternised chitosan and poly (vinyl alcohol). Carbohydr Res 341:2098–2107
- Trinca RB, Wastin CB, Silva JAF, Moraes ÂM (2017) Electrospun multilayer chitosan scaffolds as potential wound dressings for skin lesions. Eur Polym J 88:161–170
- 66. Naseri N, Algan C, Jacobs V, John M, Oksman M, Mathew AP (2014) Electrospun chitosanbased nanocomposite mats reinforce with chitin nanocrystals for wound dressing. Carbohydr Polym 109:7–15
- 67. Chen J-P, Chang G-Y, Chen J-K (2008) Electrospun collagen/chitosan nanofibrous membrane as wound dressing. Colloids Surf A Physiochem Eng Aspects 313–314:183–188
- Zou P, Lee W-H, Gao Z, Qin D, Wang Y, Liu J, Sun T, Gao Y (2020) Wound dressing from polyvinyl alcohol/chitosan electrospun fiber membrane loaded with OH-CATH30 nanoparticles. Carbohydr Polym 232:115786
- 69. Ignatova M, Manolova N, Rashkov I (2007) Novel antibacterial fibers of quaternized chitosan and poly (vinyl pyrrolidone) prepared by electrospinning. Eur Polym J 43:1112–1122
- 70. Hao Y, Zhao W, Zhang L, Zeng X, Sun Z, Zhang D, Shen P, Li Z, Han Y, Li P, Zhou Q (2020) Bio-multifunctional alginate/chitosan/fucoidan sponges with enhances angiogenesis and hair follicle regeneration for promoting full-thickness wound healing. Mater Des 193:108863
- Berretta J, Bumgardner JD, Jennings JA (2017) Lyophilized chitosan sponges. Chitosan Based Biomater 1:239–253
- 72. Anbazhagan S, Thangavelu KP (2018) Application of tetracycline hydrochloride loadedfungal chitosan and *Aloe vera* extract based composite sponges for wound dressing. J Adv Res 14:63–71
- Sathiyaseelan A, Shajahan A, Kalaichelvan PT, Kaviyarasan V (2017) Fungal chitosan based nanocomposites sponges – an alternative medicine for wound dressing. Int J Biol Macromol 104:1905–1915
- 74. Phaechamud T, Yodkhum K, Charoenteeraboon J, Tabata Y (2015) Chitosan-aluminum monostearate composite sponge dressing containing asiaticoside for wound healing and angiogenesis promotion in chronic wound. Mater Sci Eng C 50:210–225
- 75. Shao W, Wu J, Wang S, Huang M, Liu X, Zhang R (2017) Construction of silver sulfadiazine loaded chitosan composite sponges as potential wound dressings. Carbohydr Polym 157:1963–1970
- Chen C, Liu L, Huang T, Wang Q, Fang Y (2013) Bubble template fabrication of chitosan/ poly (vinyl alcohol) sponges for wound dressing application. Int J Biol Macromol 62:188–193
- 77. Xia G, Zhai D, Sun Y, Hou L, Guo X, Wang L, Li Z, Wang F (2020) Preparation of a novel asymmetric wettable chitosan-based sponge and its role in promotion chronic wound healing. Carbohydr Polym 227:115296
- 78. Fang Y, Xu Y, Wang Z, Zhou W, Yan L, Fan X, Liu H (2020) 3D porous chitin sponge with high absorbency, rapid shape recovery, and excellent antibacterial activities for noncompressible wound. Chem Eng J 388:124169
- Barnes HR (1993) Wound care: fact and fiction about hydrocolloid dressings. J Gerontol Nurs 19:23–26
- Dumville JC, Deshpande S, O'Meara S, Speak K (2012) Hydrocolloid dressings for healing diabetic foot ulcer (review). Cochrane Collab 2:1–52
- Ousey K, Cook L, Young T, Fowler A (2012) Hydrocolloids in practice made easy. Wounds 8 (1):1–6
- Schoukens G (2019) Bioactive dressings to promote wound healing. Adv Textiles Wound Care 2:135–167

- Hiranpattanakul P, Jongjitpissamai T, Aungwerojanawit S, Tachaboonyakiat W (2018) Fabrication of a chitin/chitosan hydrocolloid wound dressing and evaluation of its bioactive properties. Res Chem Intermed 44:4913–4928
- 84. Yanagibayashi S, Kishimoto S, Ishihara M, Murakami K, Aoki H, Takikawa M, Fujita M, Sekido M, Kiyosawa T (2012) Novel hydrocolloid-sheet as wound dressing to stimulate healing-impaired wound healing in diabetic *db/db* mice. Biomed Mater Eng 22:301–310
- Muzzarelli RAA (2009) Chitins and chitosans for the repair of wounded skin, nerve, cartilage and bone. Carbohydr Polym 76:167–182
- 86. Francesko A, Tzanov T (2011) Chitin, chitosan and derivatives for wound healing and tissue engineering. In: Nyanhongo GS, Steiner W, Gübitz GM (eds) Biofunctionalization of polymers and their applications: advances in biochemical engineering biotechnology, vol 125. Springer, Heidelberg, pp 1–28
- 87. Liu H, Wang C, Li C, Qin Y, Wang Z, Yang F, Li Z, Wang J (2018) A functional chitosanbased hydrogel as a wound dressing and drug delivery system in the treatment of wound healing. RSC Adv 8:7533–7449
- Fischer TH, Connolly R, Thatte HS, Schwaitzberg SS (2004) Comparison of structural and hemostatic properties of the poly-N-acetyl glucosamine Syvek Patch with products containing chitosan. Microsc Res Tech 63:168–174
- Burkatovskaya M, Tegos GP, Swietlik E, Demidova TN, Castano AP, Hamblin MR (2006) Use of chitosan bandage to prevent fatal infections developing from highly contaminated wounds in mice. Biomaterials 27:4157–4164
- Brown MA, Daya MR, Worley JA (2009) Experience with chitosan dressings in a civilian EMS system. J Emerg Med 37:1–7
- Arnaud F, Teranishi K, Okada T, Parreño-Sacdalan D, Hupalo D, McNamee G, Carr W, Burris D, McCarron R (2011) Comparison of combat gauze and TraumaStat in two severe groin injury models. J Surg Res 169:92–98
- 92. Balakrishnan B, Mohanty M, Umshanakar PR, Jayakrishnan A (2005) Evaluation of an *in situ* forming hydrogel wound dressing based on oxidized alginate and gelatin. Biomaterials 26:6335–6342
- Yang X, Liu W, Li N, Wang M, Liang B, Ullah I, Neve AL, Feng Y, Chen H, Shi C (2017) Design and development of polysaccharide hemostatic materials and their hemostatic mechanism. Biomater Sci 5:2357–2368
- 94. Devlin JJ, Kircher S, Kozen BG, Littlejohn LF, Johnson AS (2011) Comparison of ChitoFlex<sup>®</sup>, CELOX<sup>™</sup>, and QuikClot<sup>®</sup> in control of hemorrhage. J Emerg Med 41:237–245
- 95. Kang P-L, Jen Chang S, Manousakas I, Lee CW, Yao C-H, Lin F-H, Kuo SM (2011) Development and assessment of hemostasis chitosan dressings. Carbohydr Polym 85:565–570
- 96. Gu BK, Park SJ, Kim MS, Kang CM, Kim J-I, Kim C-H (2013) Fabrication of sonicated chitosan nanofiber mat with enlarged porosity for use as hemostatic materials. Carbohydr Polym 97:65–73
- 97. Ong S-Y, Wu J, Moochhala SM, Tan M-H, Lu J (2008) Development of a chitosan-based wound dressing with improved hemostatic and antimicrobial properties. Biomaterials 29:4323–4332
- 98. Yang J, Tian F, Wang Z, Wang Q, Zeng YJ, Chen SQ (2008) Effect of chitosan molecular weight and deacetylation degree on hemostasis. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 84:131–137
- Chou TC, Fu E, Wu CJ, Yeh JH (2003) Chitosan enhances platelet adhesion and aggregation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 302:480–483
- 100. Smith SA, Mutch NJ, Baskar D, Rohloff P, Docampo R, Morrissey JH (2006) Polyphosphate modulates blood coagulation and fibrinolysis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:903–908
- 101. Yan D, Hu S, Zhou Z, Zeenat S, Cheng F, Li Y, Feng C, Cheng X, Chen X (2018) Different chemical groups modification on the surface of chitosan nonwoven dressing and the hemostatic properties. Int J Biol Macromol 107:463–469

- 102. Hattori H, Amano Y, Nogami Y, Takase B, Ishihara M (2010) Hemostasis for severe hemorrhage with photocrosslinkable chitosan hydrogel and calcium alginate. Ann Biomed Eng 38:3724–3732
- 103. Chen Y, Tan HM (2006) Crosslinked carboxymethylchitosan-g-poly(acrylic acid) copolymer as a novel superabsorbent polymer. Carbohydr Res 341:887–896
- 104. Chen Y, Zhang Y, Wang F, Meng W, Yang X, Li P, Jiang J, Tan H, Zheng Y (2016) Preparation of porous carboxymethyl chitosan grafted poly(acrylic acid) superabsorbent by solvent precipitation and its application as a hemostatic wound dressing. Mater Sci Eng C 63:18–29
- 105. Wang Y, Beekman J, Hew J, Jackson S, Issler-Fisher AC, Parungao R, Lajevardi SS, Li Z, Maitz P (2018) Burn injury: challenges and advances in burn wound healing, infection, pain and scarring. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 123:3–17
- 106. Bowler PG, Duerden BI, Armstrong DG (2001) Wound microbiology and associated approaches to wound management. Clin Microbiol Rev 14:244–269
- 107. Tachaboonyakiat W, Sukpaiboon E, Pinyakong O (2014) Development of an antibacterial chitin betainate wound dressing. Polym J 46:505–510
- 108. Chang S-H, Lin H-T V, Wu G-J, Tsai GJ (2015) pH effects on solubility, zeta potential, and correlation between antibacterial activity and molecular weight of chitosan. Carbohydr Polym 134:74–81
- 109. Mohandas A, Deepthi S, Biswas R, Jayakumar R (2018) Chitosan based metallic nanocomposite scaffolds as antimicrobial wound dressings. Bioact Mater 3:267–277
- 110. Rahimi M, Noruzi EB, Sheykhsaran E, Ebadi B, Kariminezhad Z, Molaparast M, Mehrabani MG, Mehramouz B, Yousefi M, Ahmadi R, Yousefi B, Ganbarov K, Kamounah FS, Shafiei-Irannejad V, Kafil HS (2020) Carbohydrate polymer-based silver nanocomposites: recent progress in the antimicrobial wound dressing. Carbohydr Polym 231:115696
- 111. Hebeish A, El-Rafie MH, EL-Sheikh MA, Seleem AA, El-Naggar ME (2014) Antimicrobial wound dressing and anti-inflammatory efficacy of silver nanoparticles. Int J Biol Macromol 65:509–515
- 112. Sudheesh Kumar PT, Abhilash S, Manzoor K, Nair SV, Tamura H, Jayakumar R (2010) Preparation and characterization of novel β-chitin/nanosilver composite scaffolds for wound dressing applications. Carbohydr Polym 80:761–767
- 113. Jain J, Arora S, Rajwade JM, Omray P, Khandelwal S, Paknikar KM (2009) Silver nanoparticles in therapeutics: development of an antimicrobial gel formulation for topical use. Mol Pharm 6:1388–1401
- 114. Yamanaka M, Hara K, Kudo J (2005) Bactericidal actions of a silver ion solution on *Escherichia coli*, studied by energy-filtering transmission electron microscopy and proteomic analysis. Appl Environ Microbiol 71:7589–7593
- 115. Priyadarshini S, Gopinath V, Meera Priyadharsshini N, MubarakAli D, Velusamy P (2013) Synthesis of anisotropic silver nanoparticles using novel strain, *Bacillus flexus* and its biomedical application. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces 102:232–237
- 116. Jung WK, Koo HC, Kim KW, Shin S, Kim SH, Park YH (2008) Antibacterial activity and mechanism of action of the silver ion in *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Escherichia coli*. Appl Environ Microbiol 74:2171–2178
- 117. Li W-R, Sun T-L, Zhou S-L, Ma Y-K, Shi Q-S, Xie X-B, Huang X-M (2017) A comparative analysis of antibacterial activity, dynamics, and effects of silver ions and silver nanoparticles against four bacterial strains. Int Biodeter Biodegr 123:304–310
- 118. Mehrabani MG, Karimian R, Mehramouz B, Rahimi M, Kafil HS (2018) Preparation of biocompatible and biodegradable silk fibroin/chitin/silver nanoparticles 3D scaffolds as a bandage for antimicrobial wound dressing. Int J Biol Macromol 114:961–971
- 119. Petkova P, Francesko A, Fernandes MM, Mendoza E, Perelshtein I, Gedanken A, Tzanov T (2014) Sonochemical coating of textiles with hybrid ZnO/chitosan antimicrobial nanoparticles. Appl Mater Interfaces 6:1164–1172

- 120. Applerot G, Lipovsky A, Dror R, Perkas N, Nitzan Y, Lubart R, Gedanken A (2009) Enhanced antibacterial activity of nanocrystalline ZnO due to increased ROS-mediated cell injury. Adv Funct Mater 19:842–852
- 121. Tao Y, Qian L-H, Xie J (2011) Effect of chitosan on membrane permeability and cell morphology of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Staphylococcus aureus*. Carbohydr Polym 86:969–974
- 122. He G, Wang Z, Zheng H, Yin Y, Xiong X, Lin R (2012) Preparation, characterization and properties of aminoethyl chitin hydrogels. Carbohydr Polym 90:1614–1619
- 123. Liang S, Dang Q, Liu C, Zhang Y, Wang Y, Zhu W, Chang G, Sun H, Cha D, Fan B (2018) Characterization and antibacterial mechanism of poly(aminoethyl) modified chitin synthesized via a facile one-step pathway. Carbohydr Polym 195:275–287
- 124. Chen Q, Wu Y, Pu Y, Zheng Z, Shi C, Huang X (2010) Synthesis and characterization of quaternized β-chitin. Carbohydr Res 345:1609–1612
- 125. Ding F, Shi X, Li X, Cai J, Duan B, Du Y (2012) Homogeneous synthesis and characterization of quaternized chitin in NaOH/urea aqueous solution. Carbohydr Polym 87:422–426
- 126. Xu H, Fang Z, Tian W, Wang Y, Ye Q, Zhang L, Cai J (2018) Green fabrication of amphiphilic quaternized β-chitin derivatives with excellent biocompatibility and antibacterial activities for wound healing. Adv Mater 30:1801100
- 127. Morkaew T, Pinyakong O, Tachaboonyakiat W (2017) Structural effect of quaternary ammonium chitin derivatives on their bactericidal activity and specificity. Int J Biol Macromol 101:719–728
- 128. Xu T, Xin M, Li M, Huang H, Zhou S (2010) Synthesis, characteristic and antibacterial activity of N,N,N-trimethyl chitosan and its carboxymethyl derivatives. Carbohydr Polym 81:931–936
- 129. Kim JY, Lee JK, Lee TS, Park WH (2003) Synthesis of chitooligosaccharide derivative with quaternary ammonium group and its antimicrobial activity against *Streptococcus mutans*. Int J Biol Macromol 32:23–27
- 130. Lim S-H, Hudson SM (2004) Synthesis and antimicrobial activity of a water-soluble chitosan derivative with a fiber-reactive group. Carbohydr Res 339:313–319
- 131. Xu T, Xin M, Li M, Huang H, Zhou S, Liu J (2011) Synthesis, characterization, and antibacterial activity of *N*,*O*-quaternary ammonium chitosan. Carbohydr Res 346:2445–2450
- 132. Tachaboonyakiat W (2017) Antimicrobial applications of chitosan. In: Jennings JA, Bumgardner JD (eds) Chitosan based biomaterials, vol 2. Woodhead Publishing, Cambridge, pp 245–274
- 133. Panasci K (2014) Burns and wounds In: Paz JC, West MP (eds) Acute care handbook for physical therapists. 5th edn. W.B. Saunders, St. Louis, pp 283–311
- 134. Cho Y-W, Cho Y-N, Chung S-H, Yoo G, Ko S-W (1999) Water-soluble chitin as a wound healing accelerator. Biomaterials 20:2139–2145
- 135. Alsarra IA (2009) Chitosan topical gel formulation in the management of burn wounds. Int J Biol Macromol 45:16–21
- 136. Alemdaroğlu C, Değim Z, Celebi N, Zor F, Oztürk S, Erdoğan D (2006) An investigation on burn wound healing in rats with chitosan gel formulation containing epidermal growth factor. Burns 32:319–327
- 137. Wenczak BA, Lynch JB, Nanney LB (1992) Epidermal growth factor receptor distribution in burn wounds. Implications for growth factor-mediated repair. J Clin Invest 90:2392–2401
- 138. Dai T, Tegos GP, Burkatovskaya M, Castano AP, Hamblin MR (2009) Chitosan acetate bandage as a topical antimicrobial dressing for infected burns. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 53:393–400
- 139. Chang J, Liu W, Han B, Peng S, He B, Gu Z (2013) Investigation of the skin repair and healing mechanism of *N*-carboxymethyl chitosan in second-degree burn wounds. Wound Repair Regen 21:113–121
- 140. Moura LIF, Dias AMA, Carvalho E, de Sousa HC (2013) Recent advances on the development of wound dressings for diabetic foot ulcer treatment – a review. Acta Biomater 9:7093–7114

- 141. da Silva L, Carvalho E, Cruz MT (2010) Role of neuropeptides in skin inflammation and its involvement in diabetic wound healing. Expert Opin Biol Ther 10:1427–1439
- 142. Morbach S, Furchert H, Gröblinghoff U, Hoffmeier H, Kersten K, Klauke GT, Klemp U, Roden T, Icks A, Haastert B, Rümenapf G, Abbas ZG, Bharara M, Armstrong DG (2012) Long-term prognosis of diabetic foot patients and their limbs: amputation and death over the course of a decade. Diabetes Care 35:2021–2027
- 143. Clement JL, Jarrett PS (1994) Antibacterial silver. Metal-Based Drugs 1:467-482
- 144. Masood N, Ahmed R, Tariq M, Ahmed Z, Masoud MS, Ali I, Asghar R, Andleeb A, Hasan A (2019) Silver nanoparticle impregnated chitosan-PEG hydrogel enhances wound healing in diabetes induced rabbits. Int J Pharm 559:23–36
- 145. Lee Y-H, Hong Y-L, Wu T-L (2021) Novel silver and nanoparticle-encapsulated growth factor co-loaded chitosan composite hydrogel with sustained antimicrobility and promoted biological properties for diabetic wound healing. Mater Sci Eng C 118:111385
- 146. Meng B, Li J, Cao H (2013) Antioxidant and antiinflammatory activities of curcumin on diabetes mellitus and its complications. Curr Pharm Des 19:2101–2113
- 147. Li F, Shi Y, Liang J, Zhao L (2019) Curcumin-loaded chitosan nanoparticles promote diabetic wound healing via attenuating inflammation in a diabetic rat model. J Biomater Appl 34:476–486
- 148. Shen T, Dai K, Yu Y, Wang J, Liu C (2020) Sulfated chitosan rescues dysfunctional macrophages and accelerates wound healing in diabetic mice. Acta Biomater 117:192–203
- 149. Lindberger M, Schröder HD, Schultzberg M, Kristensson K, Persson A, Ostman J, Link H (1989) Nerve fibre studies in skin biopsies in peripheral neuropathies. I Immunohistochemical analysis of neuropeptides in diabetes mellitus. J Neurol Sci 93:289–296
- 150. Moura LIF, Dias AMA, Leal EC, Carvalho L, de Sousa HC, Carvalho E (2014) Chitosanbased dressings loaded with neurotensin – an efficient strategy to improve early diabetic wound healing. Acta Biomater 10:843–857
- 151. Song R, Ren L, Ma H, Hu R, Gao H, Wang L, Chen X, Zhao Z, Liu J (2016) Melatonin promotes diabetic wound healing in vitro by regulating keratinocyte activity. Am J Transl Res 8:4682–4693
- 152. Alghamdi BS (2018) The neuroprotective role of melatonin in neurological disorders. J Neurosci Res 96:1136–1149
- 153. Correa VLR, Martins JA, de Souza TR, de Castro Nunes Rincon G, Miguel MP, de Menezes LB, Amaral AC (2020) Melatonin loaded lecithin-chitosan nanoparticles improved the wound healing in diabetic rats. Int J Biol Macromol 162:1465–1475
- 154. Chen K, Tong C, Yang J, Cong P, Liu Y, Shi X, Liu X, Zhang J, Zou R, Xiao K, Ni Y, Xu L, Hou M, Jin H, Liu Y (2021) Injectable melatonin-loaded carboxymethyl chitosan (CMCS)based hydrogel accelerates wound healing by reducing inflammation and promoting angiogenesis and collagen deposition. J Mater Sci Technol 63:236–245
- 155. Reiter RJ, Tan DX, Osuna C, Gitto E (2000) Actions of melatonin in the reduction of oxidative stress: a review. J Biomed Sci 7:444–458
- 156. Folkman J, Shing Y (1992) Angiogenesis. J Biol Chem 267:10931-10934
- 157. Barrientos S, Brem H, Stojadinovic O, Tomic-Canic M (2014) Clinical application of growth factors and cytokines in wound healing. Wound Repair Regen 22:569–578
- 158. Mizuno K, Yamamura K, Yano K, Osada T, Saeki S, Takimoto N, Sakurai T, Nimura Y (2003) Effect of chitosan film containing basic fibroblast growth factor on wound healing in genetically diabetic mice. J Biomed Mater Res 64A:177–181
- 159. Giavazzi R, Sennino B, Coltrini D, Garofalo A, Dossi R, Ronca R, Tosatti MP, Presta M (2003) Distinct role of fibroblast growth factor-2 and vascular endothelial growth factor on tumor growth and angiogenesis. Am J Pathol 162:1913–1926
- 160. Wang Y, Fu C, Wu Z, Chen L, Chen X, Wei Y, Zhang P (2017) A chitin film containing basic fibroblast growth factor with a chitin-binding domain as wound dressings. Carbohydr Polym 174:723–730

- 161. Trengove NJ, Stacey MC, MacAuley S, Bennett N, Gibson J, Burslem F, Murphy G, Schultz G (1999) Analysis of the acute and chronic wound environments: the role of proteases and their inhibitors. Wound Repair Regen 7:442–452
- 162. Mohandas A, Anisha BS, Chennazhi KP, Jayakumar R (2015) Chitosan–hyaluronic acid/ VEGF loaded fibrin nanoparticles composite sponges for enhancing angiogenesis in wounds. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces 127:105–113
- 163. Jazwa A, Kucharzewska P, Leja J, Zagorska A, Sierpniowska A, Stepniewski J, Kozakowska M, Taha H, Ochiya T, Derlacz R, Vahakangas E, Yla-Herttuala S, Jozkowicz A, Dulak J (2010) Combined vascular endothelial growth factor-A and fibroblast growth factor 4 gene transfer improves wound healing in diabetic mice. Genet Vaccines Ther 8:6
- 164. Muñoz AL, Merchán WH, Resende Pires AL, Moraes ÂM, Gómez LA (2019) Biostimulation of venous chronic ulcers with platelet-rich plasmariaa gel and biocompatible membranes of chitosan and alginate: a pilot study. Wound Med 26:100161

Adv Polym Sci (2021) 287: 301–318 https://doi.org/10.1007/12\_2021\_87 © The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 Published online: 23 July 2021

# Preparation of Chitin Nanofiber and Its Derivatives from Crab Shell and Their Efficient Biological Properties



Shinsuke Ifuku, Makoto Anraku, and Kazuo Azuma

# Contents

1	Introduction	302
2	Novel Materials from Crab Shell: Chitin Nanofibers	303
	2.1 Preparation of Chitin Nanofibers from Crab Shell	303
	2.2 Preparation of Partially Deacetylated Chitin Nanofibers	306
3	Application of Chitosan Nanofibers to Medical Fields by Oral Administration	306
	3.1 Effects of Chitosan Nanofibers on Chronic Kidney Diseases (CKD) Model Rats	307
	3.2 Effects of Chitosan Nanofibers on Non-alcoholic Steatohepatitis (NASH)	
	Model Rats	309
	3.3 Applications for Inflammatory Bowel Disease Using the Combination Between	
	Chitosan Nanofibers and Sulfobutyl Ether β-Cyclodextrin	311
4	Biological Properties of Chitin Nanofibers on Skin	313
5	Summary	314
Re	ferences	315

**Abstract** Chitin nanofibers were prepared from crab shell for the purpose of utilizing crab shells. After the series chemical treatment and wet pulverization treatment, a uniform fibrous substance having a width of about 10 nm was obtained. The reason why fine fibrous chitin can be obtained is the structure of the crab shell. A characteristic of chitin nanofibers is their high dispersibility in water. Therefore,

S. Ifuku (🖂)

M. Anraku

#### K. Azuma

Graduate School of Engineering, Tottori University, Tottori, Japan e-mail: sifuku@tottori-u.ac.jp

Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Sojo University, Kumamoto, Japan e-mail: anraku@ph.sojo-u.ac.jp

Department of Veterinary Clinical Medicine, Tottori University, Tottori, Japan e-mail: kazu-azuma@muses.tottori-u.ac.jp

processing ability is improved, and biological properties of the nanofibers can be evaluated. Chitin nanofibers whose surface is modified to chitosan can be obtained after treatment with a relatively medium concentration of sodium hydroxide. Since chitosan nanofibers have an amino group on the surface, they are positively charged in an acidic aqueous solution. Chitin and chitosan nanofibers have various physiological functions when taken or applied to the skin. Effects of oral ingestion of chitosan nanofibers on chronic kidney disease (CKD) model, non-alcoholic steatohepatitis model, and inflammatory bowel disease model were studied. Furthermore, the biological effects of chitin and chitosan nanofibers for the skin are also investigated.

**Keywords** Atopic dermatitis  $\cdot$  Chitin nanofiber  $\cdot$  Chitosan nanofiber  $\cdot$  Chronic renal failure  $\cdot$  Hair growth  $\cdot$  Inflammatory bowel disease  $\cdot$  Non-alcoholic steatohepatitis  $\cdot$  Wound healing

# 1 Introduction

Tottori Prefecture has the largest landing volume of crab in Japan, and Matsuba crab (snow crab) are known as a special product. Every year, when the landing season started in November, the crab attracts many tourists. "Itsuki Boshi," the selected premium brand of Matsuba crab, which is less than 1.5% of the total, meets the five top criteria such as size and weight. The premium crab fetched the highest price of five million yen per crab at the year's first auction held in 2019 in Tottori, and was recognized by the Guinness World Records as the world's most expensive crab. Sakaiminato city, located at the western end of Tottori Prefecture, is known as one of Japan's leading red snow crab and snow crab landing bases. Leg of red snow crab is mainly used as a frozen food after taking out meat part from crab leg with shell. Therefore, in Sakaiminato city, a large amount of crab shells is generated as food residue throughout the year. Crab shells generated from marine product companies are not mixed with other food residues, so clean waste shells can be obtained. Therefore, we started the study about utilization of crab shells, which is an unused resource, by taking advantage of the land of Tottori. That is, we are making efforts to convert chitin, which is the main component of crab shells, into nanofibers and effectively use it as a functional raw material. In this book chapter, preparation of chitin nanofiber and its derivative and efficient biological properties by oral administration and application on skin are described.

### 2 Novel Materials from Crab Shell: Chitin Nanofibers

### 2.1 Preparation of Chitin Nanofibers from Crab Shell

Chitin is a long-chain polysaccharide consisting of N-acetylglucosamine repeating units, linked by 1,4 beta glycosidic bonds. Since cellulose is a polysaccharide consisting of glucose units, its structures are very similar to each other. Chitin is a primary component not only of the exoskeleton of crustaceans or insects, but also of the squid pens, and in the cell walls in fungi and mushroom. Therefore, these organisms mainly produce and use chitin as a structural material that supports their skeleton. The annual synthetic amount of chitin is estimated to be  $1 \times 10^{11}$ t [1], which is comparable to cellulose and is the most abundant biomass on the earth. However, while cellulose is stored in large quantities in nature as a tree, organisms producing chitin have a short lifespan, and when those organisms die, the chitins are rapidly enzymatically decomposed by microorganisms, so the storage amount of chitin is smaller than that of cellulose. The weight ratio of chitin contained in crab shells accounts for about 20% or more, but varies depending on the parts or species. Since the non-edible part is about 70% of the body weight of the crab, it is estimated that about 10% of the body weight is chitin. The raw material of chitin for industrial use is mainly crab and shrimp shells generated from food processing plants. In addition to chitin, the shell contains inorganic salts of CaCO<sub>3</sub> as the main component, proteins, pigments, and lipids. These coexisting substances can generally be removed by aqueous hydrochloric acid, hot aqueous sodium hydroxide, alcohol extraction, or chlorine bleaching, respectively. Since the protein called tropomyosin, which is a causative substance of crustacean allergy, is derived from crab muscle fiber, the crab shell protein is not an allergen. The phenomenon that crabs turn red when boiled is due to the release of astaxanthin, a type of carotenoid, from proteins. By a series of these extraction processes, white high-purity chitin can be obtained (Fig. 1). On the other hand, wood-derived cellulose was mainly prepared by the pulp



Fig. 1 Crab shell (left) and chitin purified from crab shell (right)



Fig. 3 Hierarchical structure of crab shell

manufacturing method, but amorphous polysaccharide called hemicellulose remains to some extent, which affects the dispersibility of cellulose nanofibers.

Chitin nanofibers are obtained by adding a large amount of water to chitin and mechanical treatment. Therefore, like cellulose nanofibers, chitin nanofibers are usually obtained as a dilute aqueous dispersion of a few percent concentration. After the wet pulverization treatment, a uniform fibrous substance having a width of about 10 nm can be observed (Fig. 2) [2].

The reason why fine fibrous chitin can be obtained by mechanical grinding is the structure of the crab shell (Fig. 3). Chitin molecules are synthesized by enzymes and self-assemble to form the so-called antiparallel chain crystalline nanofibers in which reducing ends are alternately arranged ( $\alpha$ -chitin). Chitin nanofibers bind to proteins on their surface to form a complex. Furthermore, the complex is stacked so as to spontaneously spiral. Calcium carbonate crystallizes and fills the gap [3]. It is considered that calcium carbonate plays a role of a filler that gives elasticity to the crab shell, and protein plays a role of a nucleating agent that promotes the precipitation of calcium carbonate crystals. When calcium is removed, the shells lost their support and are easily disintegrated into chitin nanofibers by grinding.

Various wet crushers can be used in the production of nanofibers. We have confirmed that nanofibers can be obtained using a stone mill type grinder, cone mill, ball mill, high-pressure homogenizer [4], high-speed blender [5], ultrasonic



Fig. 4 Chitin nanofibers prepared from (left) cicada shells and (right) silkworm pupa

crusher, etc. Since the crushing mechanism is different for each, there are differences in the shape such as the length and thickness of the obtained nanofibers and their distribution. Care must be taken because such differences affect physical properties such as viscosity, transparency, and dispersibility. Innumerable fine fibers are dispersed in a limited space and have physical and chemical interactions between the fibers, so that they have high viscosity even at a low concentration. A characteristic of chitin nanofibers is their high dispersibility in water. The high viscosity, transparent to translucent appearance suggests that finer fibers than visible light are homogeneously dispersed [4]. Therefore, chitin nanofibers can be processed into a film [6] or sponge depending on the application. In addition, it can be blended with commercially available cosmetics or foods to make a prototype. Furthermore, it can be evaluated in vitro or in vivo to explore physiological functions. Although chitin is abundant biomass in nature, it is mainly used as an intermediate of chitosan obtained by deacetylation and glucosamine obtained by hydrolysis, and has a track record of industrial use of chitin itself as wound covering materials, sutures, and hemostatic agents. The reason why there are only some medical devices is that they dissolve only in a special solvent due to strong hydrogen bonds between molecules due to acetamido groups and hydroxyl groups and dipole interactions, and their workability is poor. Since chitin nanofibers are uniformly dispersed in water, the moldability and processability are improved. These characteristics of chitin nanofibers are important to promote the practical use of chitin. Chitin nanofibers can also be obtained from raw materials other than crab shells. This is because all-natural chitins exist as aggregates of nanofibers. For example, nanofibers are obtained from shrimp shells [7] and mushrooms [8]. Since shrimp shells are generated in large quantities as food residues likewise crab shells, chitin derived from shrimp shells is commercially available and can be used as a raw material for nanofibers. In addition, mushrooms are also cultivated in large quantities, and non-standard products that cannot be commercialized may be used as raw materials. Chitin nanofibers are also obtained from cicada shells and silkworm pupa (Fig. 4). If the characteristics of chitin nanofibers of different origins are clarified, it will be useful academically and industrially.

# 2.2 Preparation of Partially Deacetylated Chitin Nanofibers

Chitosan is a deacetylated derivative of chitin prepared by heating in a concentrated alkaline aqueous solution. That is, chitosan is a polysaccharide consisting of D-glucosamine units, but usually also contains N-acetylglucosamine units. The ratio of the two constituent units is expressed by the "deacetylation degree," but it should be noted that there is no clear definition of the deacetylation degree that distinguishes between chitin and chitosan. Chitosan is soluble in hydrochloric acid and many aqueous organic acids. This is because the amino groups are neutralized with acid to form salts. Generally, a high-concentration sodium hydroxide aqueous solution is used for producing chitosan. For example, when heat-treated with 40% sodium hydroxide, the degree of deacetylation reaches approximately 70–95%. This is because sodium hydroxide converts the hydroxyl group of chitin into an alkoxide (-ONa), swells strong chitin crystals, and promotes a deacetylation reaction (alkali chitin). On the other hand, when chitin is treated with a relatively medium concentration of sodium hydroxide, the chitin crystals do not swell, so the surface of the pulverized product is partially deacetylated, but the chitin crystals inside are retained. Therefore, chitin nanofibers whose surface is modified to chitosan can be obtained [9]. The partially deacetylated chitin nanofibers are called Chitosan Nanofibers in this chapter. Since chitosan nanofibers have an amino group on the surface, they are positively charged in an acidic aqueous solution, so that they have an electrostatic repulsive force, promote solvation with water molecules, and have an osmotic effect to dilute the salt concentration. As a result, the interaction between the nanofibers is weakened, the dispersibility is improved, and the efficiency of grinding is improved. In addition, the same properties as chitosan (antifungal [10] and diet effects [11]) have been clarified.

# **3** Application of Chitosan Nanofibers to Medical Fields by Oral Administration

Chitosan has been used as a supplement for reduction of the absorption of bile acids and several lipids. Recently, we also suggested that chitosan possesses an antioxidative potential and anti-lipidemic action in metabolic patients or metabolic rats [12, 13]. Further, our studies have reported the antioxidative potential as well as anti-uremic effects of chitosan in renal failure model rats or hemodialysis patients [14, 15]. However, the treatment of chitosan nanofibers has not reported in several oxidative stress related disease such as renal failure and metabolic syndrome, although chitosan nanofibers have been attracting a lot of attention. In this section, we introduce the in vivo antioxidant and related factors of chitosan nanofibers treatment established from oxidative stress related diseases using animal models.

# 3.1 Effects of Chitosan Nanofibers on Chronic Kidney Diseases (CKD) Model Rats

CKD has been a global health problem which often required kidney replacement therapy since it can become a cause of the progression of cardiovascular and end-stage renal failure [16]. The development of CKD is associated with the increment of some uremic toxins with detrimental effects, but the mechanism of this syndrome is not fully clear. For instance, in CKD patients, uremic solutes bound to proteins such as indoxyl sulfate (IS) accumulate in blood and kidney [17, 18]. In general, uremic toxins are known to damage renal tubules and endothelium by the increment of oxidative stress [19, 20]. An oral carbon adsorbent, Kremezin<sup>®</sup> is normally used for patients of pre-dialysis during the uremic stage in CKD. The adsorption of indole which is a precursor substance of IS was by Kremezin<sup>®</sup> in gut, leads to delay the progression of CKD and the initiation of dialysis treatment [21, 22]. Further, the antioxidative potential of Kremezin<sup>®</sup> in blood of CKD model rats has led to reduce CKD-related oxidative stress [23]. However, Kremezin® is usually applied for a short period of time in pre-dialysis patients. Furthermore, the dosage form using activated charcoal for Kremezin<sup>®</sup> was very difficult to take for many CKD patients, so that many patients have frequent non-compliance [24].

In our previous studies, the effects of a commercial chitosan supplement on oxidative stress and the renal petameters in CKD using CKD model rats were investigated. Oral administration of chitosan supplement for 4 weeks showed a significant reduction in renal parameters and oxidative stress, compared to the non-treated group [14]. The effects of a commercial chitosan supplement ingestion on renal factors and oxidative injury in hemodialysis patients were also investigated. Oral administration of chitosan supplement for 12 weeks showed a significant reduction of phosphate levels, IS, and oxidative stress in blood [15]. On the other hand, after the end of chitosan ingestion, an increase in blood IS concentration was confirmed. In order to take a continuous ingestion of chitosan that can be taken for a long period of time.

Recently, chitosan nanofibers, a safe naturally-occurring cationic polysaccharide, have been attracting a lot of attention in various medical fields, because of their multi-functional activities [25, 26]. The surface amino groups of chitosan nanofibers can create electrostatic interactions with an anionic charge of another component. Thus, high dispersibility would allow chitosan nanofibers to be applied for an oral adsorbent at a lower dosage than Kremezin<sup>®</sup> or non-fibered deacetylated chitin (DAC). We also showed that the binding ratio of indole to the chitosan nanofibers was almost same as Kremezin<sup>®</sup> treatment, and this ratio was higher than that for DAC in in vitro studies (Fig. 5).

Interestingly, this phenomenon could not observe the other polysaccharides such as cellulose or its nanofiber. Therefore, these results suggested that the smaller dose of chitosan nanofibers treatment in CKD model rats specifically increased the antioxidative potential and reduced CKD progression more effectively than



Fig. 6 The possible inhibition mechanism of chitosan nanofibers for CKD

Kremezin<sup>®</sup> or DAC [27]. Thus, oral administration of chitosan nanofibers shows a significant decrease in uremic toxins as a pro-oxidant in the gut, thereby reducing the subsequent progression of oxidative stress in blood (Fig. 6).

Further, some reports suggested that chitosan nanofibers ingestion enhances the levels of 5-HT and ATP in plasma via the intestinal flora activation [11, 28], so that the anti-lipidemic effects of chitosan nanofibers ingestion might be due to reform of the population of gut microbiota. In general, probiotics and prebiotics are believed to be powerful agents that reduce the uremic toxins in CKD rats, because gut

microbiota metabolize amino acids uremic toxins as a precursor substance. Further, some studies suggested that chitosan nanofibers as a probiotic can show renal protective effects in CKD rats by reducing the systemic inflammation [29]. Although the bio-availability of chitosan nanofibers after oral ingestion has not been fully examined, chitosan was shown to be excreted from the body within 4 h [30]. Therefore, in the future, chitosan nanofibers might be co-administrated with Kremezin<sup>®</sup> as a new strategy for antioxidative therapy, since the antioxidative mechanism of chitosan nanofibers is different from typical antioxidants such as ascorbic acids.

# 3.2 Effects of Chitosan Nanofibers on Non-alcoholic Steatohepatitis (NASH) Model Rats

The one of common chronic liver diseases, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), has been defined by fat accumulation in the absence of high alcohol consumption [31]. NASH as a serious disease of NAFLD has been a worldwide health problem due to overeating and reduced physical exertion, but the pathophysiology of NASH is not fully elucidated. On the other hand, the major trigger of pathogenic mechanism of NASH seems to be associated with cooperative factors throughout hepatic injury, obesity, oxidative stress, and the gut microbiota [31–33]. Therefore, the inhibitory effects of NASH by treatment of chitosan nanofibers were recently examined SHRSP5/Dmcr rat as a NASH model that is similar to NASH patients for 8 weeks.

The administration of chitosan nanofibers showed a significant reduction of hepatic injury, compared to the non-treated group. The mechanism for anti-hepatic injury might be due to the reduction of certain lipids absorption in the gut by chitosan nanofibers because it has high barrier and viscosity for the mucosal membrane of the gut. For instance, the decrease in the absorption of triglycerides by chitosan nanofibers treatment for a corn oil-loading test of rats was observed in our recent studies. Thus, chitosan nanofibers have the adsorption effect of certain lipids in the gut, thereby reducing the increment of plasma and hepatic factors due to the development of NASH. In base of this hypothesis, chitosan nanofibers ingestion also showed a decrease in the levels of TNF- $\alpha$  and TGF- $\beta_1$  in hepatic tissue, thereby decreasing the fibrosis at 8 weeks (Fig. 7). Until recently, the progression of oxidative stress was also thought to be one of important factors of NASH. Thus, a significant reduction of oxidative stress in the systemic circulation suggests that oral administration of chitosan nanofibers causes a significant reduction of lipid substances as pro-oxidants in the gut, thereby reducing the subsequent oxidation in blood.

The change of intestinal flora is also a major risk factor for NASH [34, 35]. The intestinal flora in normal rats was dominated by major phyla such as *Proteobacteria*, *Bacteroidetes*, *Firmicutes*, and *Verrucomicrobia*. An increment of *Fusobacteria* and *Firmicutes* and a decrease in *Proteobacteria* and *Bacteroidetes* were observed in the



**Fig. 7** Histopathological changes of livers in NASH model rats with or without chitosan nanofibers treatment. (**a**) HE (non-treatment). (**b**) HE (with SDACNFs). (**c**) AZAN (non-treatment). (**d**) AZAN (with SDACNFs) [41]

intestinal flora of the chitosan nanofibers ingestion, compared with that of the non-treatment, suggesting that chitosan nanofibers ingestion induced a lower *Bacteroidetes* to *Firmicutes* (B/F) ratio (Fig. 8a). Some reports have suggested that the B/F ratio in NASH subjects is higher than that of healthy subjects [36, 37]. In the genus level, the abundance of *Prevotella* was significantly decreased by a chitosan nanofibers ingestion (Fig. 8b, c). On another front, the genus *Blautia* was significantly enhanced by the chitosan nanofibers ingestion (Fig. 8c). In previous studies, the abundance of *Blautia* is also shown to be higher in healthy subjects than that of NASH patients. Further, the increment of *Blautia* decreases the inflammation and enhances intestinal peristalsis [37–39].

A positive relationship between Liver/Total weight ratio and the number of *Blautia* was also observed. Thus, *Blautia* might be a significant genus, which is associated with visceral fat accumulation. The genus *Prevotella* were lower in healthy individuals than in arthritis patients with high inflammatory [40]. These results suggested that the reconstruction of genus such as *Prevotella* and *Blautia* in the gut by chitosan nanofibers ingestion might induce the cooperative effects during anti-inflammatory, anti-hepatic, and antioxidant potential in NASH model. We



**Fig. 8** Effect of chitosan nanofibers on the intestinal microbiota in NASH model. (a) Phylum level. (b) Genus level. (c) Significant differences in LDA scores [41]

therefore conclude that chitosan nanofibers exert anti-hepatic and antioxidant potential not only by adsorbing certain lipids but also by reconstructing the community of intestinal flora in the gut [41].

# 3.3 Applications for Inflammatory Bowel Disease Using the Combination Between Chitosan Nanofibers and Sulfobutyl Ether β-Cyclodextrin

The surface amino groups of chitosan nanofibers can create electrostatic interactions with an anionic charge of another component. Cyclodextrins (CD) usually form inclusion complexes with various molecules, and such compounds have been improved the pharmaceutical properties of drugs. In the various CDs, sulfobutyl ether  $\beta$ -CD (SBE- $\beta$ -CD), as a clinical additive, was shown to form a rigid and non-fluid elastic gel, while other gels prepared from neutral CDs formed weak, rather fluid gels [42–44]. Further, we prepared the NFs-CDs elastic gel that included prednisolone (PD/NFs-CD gels) and examined the therapeutic effect of this gel on a dextran sulfate sodium (DSS)-induced colitis model mouse. As a result, the potential for using PD/NFs-CD gels for therapy in DSS-induced colitis was found to be as



Fig. 9 Effects of PD/NFs-CD gels on biological parameters in colitis model [45]

efficient and as effective as that of a commercially available PD formulation (Fig. 9) [45]. Further, chitosan nanofibers/SBE- $\beta$ -CD gels can be used to prepare homogeneous high-content gels that are able to transport poorly water-soluble drugs. Hypertension or hyperlipidemia medication is often used in treating CKD, but these materials are poorly water-soluble. If chitosan nanofibers/SBE-\beta-CD gels could be used to prepare homogeneous high-content gels that are capable of transporting poorly water-soluble drugs such as drugs that are used in hypertension or hyperlipidemia treatment, the drug/NFs-CDs gel has the potential for use in the therapeutic treatment of CKD patients.

### 4 Biological Properties of Chitin Nanofibers on Skin

Skin is the outer barrier for our body, and it prevents from external stress such as UV, bacteria, immunological cells [46]. Previously, many beneficial effects of chitin, chitosan, and its derivatives were reported for skin functions [47]. Moreover, the complex with chitin, chitosan, and its derivatives are also developed for the skin application. There are some beneficial points of chitin, chitosan, and its derivatives for the skin application. One is biological efficiencies such as direct or indirect effects for the cells, anti-microbial activities, and decomposing [48]. The other is high processability [25, 47]. Chitin, chitosan, and its derivatives can be applied such as powder, solution, gel, sponge, etc. More recently, the biological effects of chitin nanofibers and related nanofibers for the skin are also investigated. The biological activities of chitin, chitosan, and its derivatives based nanofibers are summarized.

Ito et al. evaluated the effect of skin condition by chitin nanofibers and chitin nanocrystals using an experimental model such as three-dimensional skin culture model and Franz cells [49]. The results show that chitin nanofibers and chitin nanocrystals improved the heights of the epithelial granular layer and induced the increase of granular density of the skin. Moreover, applications of chitin nanofibers and chitin nanocrystals to the skin induced a lower production of TGF- $\beta$  compared to that of the control group.

Ito et al. also reported combination of chitin nanofibers with other substances provides an enhanced protective effect against UVB radiation [50]. Urocanic acid (UCA), a major UV-absorbing chromophore was used in their studies. They prepared UCA chitin nanofibers and examined its protective effect against UVB radiation. The combination of UCA and nanofibers has higher protective effects against UVB radiation compared to the UCA alone.

Izumi et al. investigated the anti-inflammatory effects of chitin nanofiber on the experimental model of atopic dermatitis (AD) [51]. Application of the chitin nanofibers suppressed hypertrophy and hyperkeratosis of the epidermis in the experimental model. Application of the chitin nanofibers suppressed the inflammatory responses by suppressing nuclear factor-kappa B, cyclooxygenase-2, and inducible nitric oxide synthase activations. Especially, chitin nanofibers suppressed skin inflammation and IgE serum levels in AD early stage.

Chemically modified chitin nanofibers also have some biological effects. Izumi et al. studied the effects of partially deacetylated chitin nanofiber (chitosan nanofiber) on wound healing process [52]. They used circular excision wound model of the rats. The results indicated that chitosan nanofibers induced the regenerations of epithelium. Chitosan nanofibers also induced the proliferation of the fibroblasts and collagen tissue. On the other hand, chitosan nanofibers did not show severe systemic inflammation in experimental wound model. The data indicated that chitosan nanofibers effectively induced the proliferation and re-modeling phases compared with chitin or chitosan nanofibers.

The effects of chitosan nanofibers and chitosan on hair growth were investigated [53]. At first, in vitro study was performed. Chitosan nanofibers and chitosan

increased the growth of human follicle dermal papilla cells on day 3 after the initiation of treatment. Moreover, chitosan nanofibers and chitosan also stimulated the fibroblast growth factor-7 (FGF-7) production. In an in vivo study, applications of the chitosan nanofibers and chitosan were investigated. Chitosan nanofibers and chitosan promoted hair growth in the dorsal skin. In both groups, the high expression levels of FGF-7 and Sonic hedgehog were observed in hair follicles.

The complex using chitosan nanofibers also have interesting bioactivities for the treatments of the skin. Tabuchi et al. developed a freeze-dried gel composed of chitosan nanofibers, reinforced with an anionic cyclodextrin, sulfobutyl ether  $\beta$ -cyclodextrin (SBE- $\beta$ -CD) [54]. The rat wound model were used for evaluating the effects of a new biomaterial. In the groups both chitosan nanofibers gel with or without SBE- $\beta$ -CD, the wound areas were decreased. Additionally, these effects were higher than that of commercially available dressings. The drug releases from the gels were also compared by using the poorly water-soluble drugs such as prednisolone (PD). The rate of release of PD from the freeze-dried chitosan nanofibers/SBE- $\beta$ -CD was much quicker than that from chitosan nanofibers alone without SBE- $\beta$ -CD.

Goto et al. developed pelleted preparations from chitosan nanofibers and sacran (Sac), an anionic, sulfated, carboxyl-containing polysaccharide [55]. Tetrahydrocurcumin (THC) was used as a model drug. The THC was complexed with 2-hydroxypropyl- $\beta$ -cyclodextrin (HP- $\beta$ -CD). As a result, its water solubility was increased. According to the rate of release of THC, Sac/chitosan nanofiber (1:1) and Sac alone pellets performed extended-release for THC.

These evidence indicate that chitin nanofiber and chitosan nanofiber have various biological activities for skin. Moreover, chitin nanofiber and chitosan nanofiber have good affinities with other polysaccharides. It is indicated that chitin nanofiber and chitosan nanofiber have good potencies as new biomaterials for the skin. However, there are some points to solve for the development as biomaterials. The action mechanism of chitin nanofiber and chitosan nanofiber is not clear. Investigations of the action mechanisms of chitin nanofiber and chitosan nanofiber are necessary to apply in the medical fields. The other is that the data are still only experimental data. The clinical examination must be performed for the evaluation of the clinical efficiencies of the chitin nanofiber and chitosan nanofiber.

### 5 Summary

The authors have manufactured chitin nanofibers for the purpose of utilizing a large amount of crab shells generated in the Tottori Prefecture and have clarified their various functions. Currently, products containing chitosan nanofiber as a functional raw material are on sale. Since all-natural chitins are aggregates of nanofibers, they are relatively easy to mass-produce by pulverization. On the other hand, it is difficult to explore the functions of nanofibers and identify effective applications based on social needs. As mentioned above, chitin nanofibers have various physiological functions when taken or applied to the skin. New potential functions have been discovered because the chitin nanofibers are homogeneously dispersed in water. Since technical expertise forming a community of chitin and chitosan research ranged over various areas such as medicine, veterinary medicine, agriculture, and engineering, it is easy to collaborate interdisciplinary research. We believe that the potential functions of this new material will continue to be discovered, mainly in the fields related to healthcare.

### References

- 1. Gopalan Nair K, Dufresne A (2003) Crab shell chitin whisker reinforced natural rubber nanocomposites. 1. Processing and swelling behavior. Biomacromolecules 4:657–665
- 2. Ifuku S, Nogi M, Abe K, Yoshioka M, Morimoto M, Saimoto H, Yano H (2009) Preparation of chitin nanofibers with a uniform width as  $\alpha$ -chitin from crab shells. Biomacromolecules 10:1584–1588
- Raabe D, Romano P, Sachs C, Fabritius H, Al-Sawalmih A, Yi S.-B, Servos G, Hartwig HG (2006) Microstructure and crystallographic texture of the chitin–protein network in the biological composite material of the exoskeleton of the lobster *Homarus americanus* Mater Sci Eng A 421:143–153
- Ifuku S, Yamada K, Morimoto M, Saimoto H (2012) Nanofibrillation of dry chitin powder by star burst system. J Nanomater 2012:1–7
- Shams MI, Ifuku S, Nogi M, Oku T, Yano H (2011) Fabrication of optically transparent chitin nanocomposites. Appl Phys A 102:325–331
- Ifuku S, Morooka S, Nakagaito AN, Morimoto M, Saimoto H (2011) Preparation and characterization of optically transparent chitin nanofiber/(meth)acrylic resin composites. Green Chem 13:1708–1711
- Ifuku S, Nogi M, Abe K, Yoshioka M, Morimoto M, Saimoto H, Yano H (2011) Simple preparation method of chitin nanofibers with a uniform width of 10–20nm from prawn shell under neutral conditions. Carbohydr Polym 84:762–764
- Ifuku S, Nomura R, Morimoto M, Saimoto H (2011) Preparation of chitin nanofibers from mushrooms. Materials 4:1417–1425
- 9. Fan F, Saito T, Isogai A (2010) Individual chitin nano-whiskers prepared from partially deacetylated  $\alpha$ -chitin by fibril surface cationization. Carbohydr Polym 79:1046–1051
- Ifuku S, Ikuta A, Egusa M, Kaminaka K, Izawa H, Morimoto M, Saimoto H (2013) Preparation of high-strength transparent chitosan film reinforced with surface-deacetylated chitin nanofibers. Carbohydr Polym 98:1198–1202
- 11. Azuma K, Izumi R, Kawata M, Nagae T, Osaki T, Murahata Y, Tsuka T, Imagawa T, Ito N, Okamoto Y, Morimoto M, Izawa H, Saimoto H, Ifuku S (2015) Effects of oral administration of chitin nanofiber on plasma metabolites and gut microorganisms. Int J Mol Sci 16:21931–21949
- 12. Anraku M, Michihara A, Yasufuku T, Akasaki K, Tsuchiya D, Nishio H, Maruyama T, Otagiri M, Maezaki Y, Kondo Y, Tomida H (2010) The antioxidative and antilipidemic effects of different molecular weight chitosans in metabolic syndrome model rats. Biol Pharm Bull 33:1994–1998
- Anraku M, Tomida H, Michihara A, Tsuchiya D, Iohara D, Maezaki Y, Uekama K, Maruyama T, HIratyama F (2012) Antioxidant and renoprotective activity of chitosan in nephrectomized rats. Carbohydr Polym 89:302–304
- 14. Anraku M, Tanaka M, Hiraga A, Nagumo K, Imafuku T, Maezaki Y, Iohara D, Uekama K, Watanabe H, Hirayama F, Maruyama T, Otagiri M (2014) Effects of chitosan on oxidative stress and related factors in hemodialysis patients. Carbohydr Polym 112:152–157

- Go AS, Chertow GM, Fan D, McCulloch CE, Hsu CY (2004) Chronic kidney disease and the risks of death, cardiovascular events, and hospitalization. N Engl J Med 351:1296–1305
- Barreto FC, Barreto DV, Canziani MEF (2017) Uremia retention molecules and clinical outcomes. Contrib Nephrol 191:18–31
- Niwa T (2017) The role of carbon adsorbent in the conservative management of chronic kidney disease. Panminerva Med 59:139–148
- 18. Shimizu H, Hirose Y, Goto S, Nishijima F, Zrelli H, Zghonda N, Niwa T, Miyazaki H (2012) Indoxyl sulfate enhances angiotensin II signaling through upregulation of epidermal growth factor receptor expression in vascular smooth muscle cells. Life Sci 91:172–177
- Watanabe H (2013) Molecular mechanisms for uremic toxin-induced oxidative tissue damage via a cardiovascular-renal connection. Yakugaku Zasshi 133:889–895
- 20. Niwa T (2011) Role of indoxyl sulfate in the progression of chronic kidney disease and cardiovascular disease: experimental and clinical effects of oral sorbent AST-120. Ther Apher Dial 15:120–124
- Owada A, Nakao M, Koike J, Ujiie K, Tomita K, Shiigai T (1997) Effects of oral adsorbent AST-120 on the progression of chronic renal failure: a randomized controlled study. Kidney Int Suppl 63:S188–S190
- 22. Shimoishi K, Anraku M, Kitamura K, Tasaki Y, Taguchi K, Hashimoto M, Fukunaga E, Maruyama T, Otagiri M (2007) An oral adsorbent, AST-120 protects against the progression of oxidative stress by reducing the accumulation of indoxyl sulfate in the systemic circulation in renal failure. Pharm Res 24:1283–1289
- Niwa T (2013) Targeting protein-bound uremic toxins in chronic kidney disease. Expert Opin Ther Targets 17:1287–1301
- 24. Ifuku S, Saimoto H (2012) Chitin nanofibers: preparations, modifications, and applications. Nanoscale 4:3308–3318
- Ifuku S (2014) Chitin and chitosan nanofibers: preparation and chemical modifications. Molecules 19:18367–18380
- 26. Anraku M, Tabuchi R, Ifuku S, Nagae T, Iohara D, Tomida H, Uekama K, Maruyama T, Miyamura S, Hirayama F, Otagiri M (2017) An oral absorbent, surface-deacetylated chitin nano-fiber ameliorates renal injury and oxidative stress in 5/6 nephrectomized rats. Carbohydr Polym 161:21–25
- 27. Azuma K, Nishihara M, Shimizu H, Itoh Y, Takashima O, Osaki T, Itoh N, Imagawa T, Murahata Y, Tsuka T, Izawa H, Ifuku S, Minami S, Saimoto H, Okamoto Y, Morimoto M (2015) Biological adhesive based on carboxymethyl chitin derivatives and chitin nanofibers. Biomaterials 42:20–29
- 28. Azuma K, Ifuku S, Osaki T, Okamoto Y, Minami S (2014) Preparation and biomedical applications of chitin and chitosan nanofibers. J Biomed Nanotechnol 10:2891–2920
- Chae SY, Jang MK, Nah JW (2005) Influence of molecular weight on oral absorption of water soluble chitosans. J Control Release 102:383–394
- 30. Younossi Z, Anstee QM, Marietti M, Hardy T, Henry L, Eslam M, George J, Bugianesi E (2018) Global burden of NAFLD and NASH: trends, predictions, risk factors and prevention. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 15:11–20
- 31. Velagapudi VR, Hezaveh R, Reigstad CS, Gopalacharyulu P, Yetukuri L, Islam S, Felin J, Perkins R, Boren J, Oresic M, Bäckhed F (2010) The gut microbiota modulates host energy and lipid metabolism in mice. J Lipid Res 51:1101–1112
- 32. Tilg H, Cani PD, Mayer EA (2016) Gut microbiome and liver diseases. Gut 65:2035-2044
- Fukui H (2017) Gut microbiome-based therapeutics in liver cirrhosis: basic consideration for the next step. J Clin Transl Hepatol 5:249–260
- 34. Velagapudi VR, Hezaveh R, Reigstad CS, Gopalacharyulu P, Yetukuri L, Islam S, Felin J, Perkins R, Boren J, Oresic M, Bäckhed F (2015) The gut microbiota modulates host energy and lipid metabolism in mice. J Lipid Res 51:1101–1112

- 35. Wikoff WR, Anfora AT, Liu J, Schultz PG, Lesley SA, Peters EC, Siuzdak G (2009) Metabolomics analysis reveals large effects of gut microflora on mammalian blood metabolites. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:3698–3703
- 36. Sobhonslidsuk A, Chanprasertyothin S, Pongrujikorn T, Kaewduang P, Promson K, Petraksa S, Ongphiphadhanakul B (2018) The Association of gut Microbiota with nonalcoholic steatohepatitis in Thais. Biomed Res Int:9340316
- 37. Zhu L, Baker SS, Gill C, Liu W, Alkhouri R, Baker RD, Gill SR (2013) Characterization of gut microbiomes in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) patients: a connection between endogenous alcohol and NASH. Hepatology 57:601–609
- 38. Zhang J, Guo Z, Xue Z, Sun Z, Zhang M, Wang L, Wang G, Wang F, Xu J, Cao H, Xu H, Lv Q, Zhong Z, Chen Y, Qimuge S, Menghe B, Zheng Y, Zhao L, Chen W, Zhang H (2015) A phylofunctional core of gut microbiota in healthy young Chinese cohorts across lifestyles, geography and ethnicities. ISME J 9:1979–1990
- 39. Ozato N, Saito S, Yamaguchi T, Katashima M, Tokuda I, Sawada K, Katsuragi Y, Kakuta M, Imoto S, Ihara K, Nakaji S (2019) Blautia genus associated with visceral fat accumulation in adults 20-76 years of age. NPJ Biofilms Microbiomes 5:28
- 40. Scher JU, Sczesnak A, Longman RS, Segata N, Ubeda C, Bielski C, Rostron T, Cerundolo V, Abramson ES, Huttenhower C, Littman D (2013) Expansion of intestinal Prevotella copri correlates with enhanced susceptibility to arthritis. Elife 2:e01202
- 41. Goto M, Iohara D, Michihara A, Ifuku S, Azuma K, Kadowaki D, Maruyama T, Otagiri M, Hirayama F, Anraku M (2020) Effects of surface-deacetylated chitin nanofibers on non-alcoholic steatohepatitis model rats and their gut microbiota. Int J Biol Macromol 164:659–666
- 42. Anraku M, Iohara D, Hiraga A, Uekama K, Ifuku S, Pipkin JD, Hirayama F (2015) Formation of elastic gels from deacetylated chitin nanofibers reinforced with sulfobutyl ether β-cyclodextrin. Chem Lett 44:285–287
- 43. Anraku M, Gebicki JM, Iohara D, Tomida H, Uekama K, Maruyama T, Hirayama F, Otagiri M (2018) Antioxidant activities of chitosans and its derivatives in in vitro and in vivo studies. Carbohydr Polym 199:141–149
- 44. Anraku M, Hiraga A, Iohara D, Pipkin JD, Uekama K, Hirayama F (2015) Slow-release of famotidine from tablets consisting of chitosan/sulfobutyl ether β-cyclodextrin composites. Int J Pharm 487:142–147
- 45. Tabuchi R, Azuma K, Izumi R, Tanou T, Okamoto Y, Nagae T, Iohara D, Uekama K, Otagiri M, Hirayama F, Ifuku S, Anraku M (2017) Surface-deacetylated chitin nanofibers reinforced with a sulfobutyl ether β-cyclodextrin gel loaded with prednisolone as potential therapy for inflammatory bowel disease. Carbohydr Polym 174:1087–1094
- 46. Eming SA, Martin P, Tomic-Canic M (2014) Wound repair and regeneration: mechanisms, signaling, and translation. Sci Transl Med 6:265sr6
- 47. Ahmad SI, Ahmad R, Khan MS, Kant R, Shahid S, Gautam L, Hasan GM, Hassan MI (2020) Chitin and its derivatives: structural properties and biomedical applications. Int J Biol Macromol 1:526–539
- Matica MA, Aachmann FL, Tøndervik A, Sletta H, Ostafe V (2019) Chitosan as a wound dressing starting material: antimicrobial properties and mode of action. Int J Biol Macromol 20:5889
- 49. Ito I, Osaki T, Ifuku S, Saimoto H, Takamori Y, Kurozumi S, Imagawa T, Azuma K, Tsuka T, Okamoto Y, Minami S (2014) Evaluation of the effects of chitin nanofibrils on skin function using skin models. Carbohydr Polym 30:464–470
- 50. Ito I, Yoneda T, Omura Y, Osaki T, Ifuku S, Saimoto H, Azuma K, Imagawa T, Tsuka T, Murahata Y, Ito N, Okamoto Y, Minami S (2015) Protective effect of chitin urocanate nanofibers against ultraviolet radiation. Mar Drugs 19:7463–7475
- 51. Izumi R, Azuma K, Izawa H, Morimoto M, Nagashima M, Osaki T, Tsuka T, Imagawa T, Ito N, Okamoto Y, Saimoto H, Ifuku S (2016) Chitin nanofibrils suppress skin inflammation in atopic dermatitis-like skin lesions in NC/Nga mice. Carbohydr Polym 1:320–327

- 52. Izumi R, Komada S, Ochi K, Karasawa L, Osaki T, Murahata Y, Tsuka T, Imagawa T, Itoh N, Okamoto Y, Izawa H, Morimoto M, Saimoto H, Azuma K, Ifuku S (2015) Favorable effects of superficially deacetylated chitin nanofibrils on the wound healing process. Carbohydr Polym 5:461–467
- 53. Azuma K, Koizumi R, Izawa H, Morimoto M, Saimoto H, Osaki T, Ito N, Yamashita M, Tsuka T, Imagawa T, Okamoto Y, Inoue T, Ifuku S (2019) Hair growth-promoting activities of chitosan and surface-deacetylated chitin nanofibers. Int J Biol Macromol 1:11–17
- 54. Tabuchi R, Azuma K, Izumi R, Tanou T, Okamoto Y, Nagae T, Iohara D, Uekama K, Otagiri M, Hirayama F, Ifuku S, Anraku M (2016) Biomaterials based on freeze dried surface-deacetylated chitin nanofibers reinforced with sulfobutyl ether beta-cyclodextrin gel in wound dressing applications. Int J Pharm 511:1080–1087
- 55. Goto M, Ifuku S, Azuma K, Arima H, Kaneko S, Iohara D, Hirayama F, Anraku M (2019) Preparation and evaluation of freeze dried surface-deacetylated chitin nanofiber/sacran pellets for use as an extended-release excipient. Int J Biol Macromol 1:888–894
# **Chitosan–Platelet Interactions**



C. D. Hoemann and G. -E. Rivard

### Contents

1	Chitosan Structure and Solubility	320
2	Platelets	322
3	Chitosan Interfacing with Blood Plasma	326
4	Chitosan–Platelet Interactions	328
5	Conclusions and Future Perspectives	336
Re	ferences	337

Abstract Since chitosan was identified as a hemostatic agent in the 1980s, "chitosan and platelets" has developed into a topic of intense interest. This chapter gives an overview of platelet biogenesis, composition, activation, and mechanisms implicated in chitosan-platelet interactions. Chitosan is a unique acid-soluble cationic glucosamine polysaccharide with tunable molecular weight, glucosamine/Nacetyl glucosamine content, and acetylation pattern. Platelets are small anuclear cells with anionic surfaces that are released to the blood stream by megakaryocytes that reside in bone marrow and the lung. Platelets are stocked with granules that contain a plethora of bioactive wound-healing and procoagulant factors. Upon activation by agonists, or adhesion to von Willebrand factor "strings" under shear stress, platelets aid in fibrin clot formation to seal off a wound and initiate wound repair. Purified platelets rapidly adhere to a variety of solid chitosan and chitin substrates but show inconsistent levels of activation in the absence of calcium. Chitosans with a positive charge state bind to platelets and potentiate alpha granule release in whole blood or recalcified platelet-rich plasma (PRP). Platelet activation kinetics were accelerated by higher chitosan deacetylation levels and molecular weight (95% vs. 80%

C. D. Hoemann (🖂)

G. -E. Rivard

Department of Bioengineering, George Mason University, Manassas, VA, USA e-mail: choemann@gmu.edu

Division of Hematology-Oncology, Hôpital Sainte-Justine, CHU Sainte-Justine, Montreal, QC, Canada

deacetylated, 177 kDa vs. 102 kDa), but mis-timed platelet degranulation prior to thrombin activation led to weaker clot tensile strength. Neutral-soluble chitosans (oligomers, 50% reacetylated chitosans) do not activate platelets and hydrophobic butyryl-chitosan coatings inhibit platelet adhesion. Collective data suggest two mechanisms underlying chitosan-platelet interactions: (1) non-specific electrostatic binding of anionic platelets to positively charged chitosan surfaces, and (2) platelet binding to blood plasma factors adsorbed on chitosan or chitin surfaces. Future directions include deepening our understanding of the molecular basis for thrombocyte-chitosan interactions, and the performance of platelet-activating chitosan formulations in clinically relevant contexts where platelet physiology is altered by medications, trauma, or disease.

Keywords Alpha granule · Calcium · Chitin · Chitosan · Coagulation · Platelets

#### 1 Chitosan Structure and Solubility

According to the Web of Science, the topic of "chitosan and platelets" started gaining attention by the early 2000s, with around 30 papers published per year on this topic. Since then, the number of publications has progressively soared to over 3,200 papers in 2020 alone, with a particular focus in the areas of hemorrhage control and wound repair. To appreciate the molecular and cellular basis of chitosan–platelet interactions, it is first important to understand that chitosan is a family of polymers with distinct chemical structure and physical forms that collectively influence the way the polymer "presents" to platelets.

Chitosan is obtained by chemical N-deacetylation of chitin, a naturally occurring polysaccharide with linearly arranged  $\beta$ -(O)-1-4-linked N-acetyl-D-glucosamine (GlcNAc) residues [1]. The deacetylation step can be simply achieved by autoclaving chitin particles in a 25% w/v sodium hydroxide solution [2, 3]. During this treatment, exposed acetyl groups are stripped from GlcNAc to generate glucosamine (Glc). It was proposed that GlcNAc groups buried in the nucleus of an insoluble chitin particle are protected from deacetylation, giving rise to a "block" acetylation pattern [4]. "Block" acetylation refers to consecutive clusters of GlcNAc residues (i.e., AADA, AAAA, ADAA) interspersed throughout the poly-Glc chain [5, 6]. Repeated autoclaving of chitosan under alkaline conditions can be used to reach >98% DDA, which for all practical purposes is considered fully deacetylated [2]. Because each autoclave cycle produces chain scission, chitosan  $M_n$  is inevitably diminished compared to the chitin starting material. Fully deacetylated chitosan can be reacetylated to different % DDA levels using acetic anhydride; this produces chitosans with a random acetylation pattern [2, 7]. All of these production steps create heterogeneities in each chitosan preparation. It is important to recognize that each batch of chitosan has a number-average molecular weight  $(M_n)$ , degree of deacetylation (DDA), and pattern of acetylation, along with a certain level of



Fig. 1 For chitosan preparations with a molecular weight  $\geq 10$  kDa and 60–100% DDA, solution pH controls whether chitosan is (a) cationic and soluble or (b) neutral and mostly insoluble

polydispersity for each of these characteristics. Each of these structural features can influence the manner in which chitosan interfaces with blood plasma.

As the major structural component of exoskeletons of crustaceans and insects, chitin has evolved to remain firmly insoluble under aqueous conditions. Therefore, chitin particles and scaffolds are by nature insoluble in blood and present slightly hydrophobic poly-GlcNA surfaces to blood components [8, 9]. By contrast, chitosan powders can be dissolved in slightly acidic solutions when at least half of the Glc subunits are protonated (i.e., R-NH<sub>3</sub><sup>+</sup>) [10]. In other words, chitosan will only remain soluble at a pH equal to or below the chitosan  $pK_0$ . Because all chitosans (60–100% DDA) have a p $K_0$  6.0–6.5 that is altogether below neutral pH [10, 11], this means that acid-soluble chitosan chains will spontaneously transition into insoluble microparticles upon mixing with neutral pH cell culture medium, blood plasma, or whole blood [12-14] (Fig. 1). When soluble chitosan chains shift to insoluble microparticles in the presence of serum, the microparticles adopt a slight negative zeta potential suggesting that chitosan-anionic serum factor complexes form spontaneously [12, 14]. Solid freeze-dried chitosan scaffolds generated from fully protonated chitosan solutions will spontaneously solubilize in whole blood or platelet-rich plasma and then disperse as microparticles in the coagulum [15-17]. By contrast, chitosan matrices treated with alkaline solutions and/or organic solvents show depressed surface energy and wettability compared to Glc and GlcNAc monomers [18]. Chitosan matrices cured in alkaline conditions have neutral amine groups and present neutral, insoluble surfaces to blood components (Fig. 1b). Chitosan neutral-solubility is enhanced by decreasing molecular weight and by very low deacetylation levels (i.e., 50% DDA) [7, 19]. Small chitosan oligomer chains  $(\leq 5 \text{ kDa})$  are fully soluble at neutral pH for all DDA levels [2, 20].

## 2 Platelets

Platelets are small anuclear disc-shaped cells released by megakaryocytes into the blood circulation [21]. Megakaryocytes are large multinuclear cells derived from a common myeloid progenitor that normally develop and reside in the bone marrow. At full maturity these cells can reach a ploidy up to 64 N [22]. Megakaryocytes are also found in the circulation and are known to populate heart and lung tissues [22-25]. According to the "pulmonary platelet production model", a significant portion of platelets could be produced in the lung [22]. It was suggested that shear forces in the lung vasculature shred apart "proplatelets" released by bone marrow megakarvocytes, while other studies using transgenic mice carrying green fluorescent protein-expressing megakaryocytes revealed that circulating megakaryocytes can lodge in pulmonary vessels and eject platelets directly into the pulmonary vasculature [22, 24, 26]. Circulating platelet levels are under the control of a humoral factor, thrombopoietin (TPO), that is released to the circulation mainly by the liver [22]. Platelet counts in normal adult peripheral blood range from around 115 to  $400 \times 10^{6}$ /mL. Platelet counts vary with sex and ethnicity, with higher average levels reported for Caucasians compared to Afro-Caribbean and African groups and relatively higher levels in women compared to men [27]. Activated platelets can generate small vesicles called microparticles; microparticles are sub-micron lipid vesicles released from a variety of cell types, including platelets, that wind up in the circulation [28]. Several markers are used to identify and characterize platelets, including membrane receptors P-selectin (CD62P), GPIb/IX/V (CD42), and the GPIIb/IIIa integrin complex (CD41/CD61) (Table 1).

Like red blood cells, platelets have anionic surfaces that repel their spontaneous adhesion to endothelial cells, erythrocytes, and leukocytes whose surfaces are also negatively charged [29]. The platelet glycocalyx is around 20–30 nm thick, an anionic coating of integral membrane glycoproteins, proteoglycans, glycolipids, and factors adsorbed from the blood plasma [30]. Platelets also carry blood group antigens at variable levels on several transmembrane receptors including GPIb and GPIIa and GPIIIa [31]. ABH antigens are fucosylated carbohydrate modifications of blood glycoproteins and glycolipids known to influence the risk of thrombosis in certain disease states [32–34]. In a cohort of 313 Japanese healthy volunteers, platelets showed a "high ABH antigen expressor" phenotype in 7% of the donors [31]. These data highlight donor-specific variations in the platelet glycome. In keeping with other cells, platelets show membrane asymmetry with negatively charged phospholipids hidden in the internal membrane.

Platelets can be activated through distinct mechanisms in static whole blood samples and under shear stress generated by blood flow. During whole blood coagulation initiated in vitro by the extrinsic pathway, thrombin activation initiates platelet activation, and activated platelets help propagate clot formation. Platelet activation is often monitored by the release of alpha granule contents. In a kinetic studies of tissue factor (TF)-induced clotting of recalcified citrated whole blood [35, 36], early thrombin activation (as measured by the appearance of fibrinogen

Table 1	Platelet	characteristics
---------	----------	-----------------

Membrane	Concentration in plasma (baseline)	Concentration in clot serum
Sphingosine-1 phosphate	190 pmol/mL [78]	480 pmol/mL [78]
Alpha granule factors	Concentration in plasma (baseline)	Concentration in clot serum
Platelet factor 4 (PF4/CXCL4) <sup>a</sup> (present in alpha granules at about $20,000 \times$ higher than plasma concentration)	84 ± 203 IU/mL [79] 12.5 ng/mL [80]	2,345 ± 158 IU/mL [79] 4,400 ng/mL [36]
β-Thromboglobulin (CXCL7; NAP2) <sup>a</sup>	$\begin{array}{l} 1.75 \pm 0.09 \text{ ng/mL [81]} \\ (a) \\ 2.06 \pm 0.06 \text{ ng/mL [81]} \\ (b) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} 9.4 \pm 3.5 \text{ ng/mL [82]} \\ 206.9 \pm 23.3 \text{ ng/mL [83] (a)} \\ 182.8 \pm 20.1 \text{ ng/mL [83] (b)} \\ 8.424.2 \ \mu\text{g/million platelets [37]} \end{array}$
Thrombospondin-1 (TSP/THBS1) <sup>b</sup>	0.16 μg/mL [42]	4,900 μg/mL in platelets [42]
Fibrinogen	2–4 mg/mL [84, 85]	140 μg/million platelets [37]
Transforming growth factors $\beta 1$ (TGF- $\beta 1$ )	$0.98 \pm 0.26$ ng/mL [79]	23.7 ± 4.9 ng/mL [79]
Platelet derived growth factor (PDGF-bb)	0 ng/mL [71]	4.2 ± 0.9 ng/mL [71]
Osteonectin	6.9 ± 1.2 nM [35]	44.6 ± 6.7 nM [35]
Alpha granule transmembrane receptors	Ligand	
P-selectin (CD62P) transmembrane receptor	(Inside alpha granules of circulating platelets)	(Exposed on the outer membrane of activated platelet)
GPIIb/IIIa ( $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ ; CD41/CD61; Integrin alpha 2b, ITGA2B)	Fibrin, collagen, vitronectin, fibronectin, thrombospondin [42]	(In alpha granules and on the outer membrane, clusters upon activation)
GPIV (CD36)	Collagen type II, thrombospondin [42]	(Appears on the surface after activation)
Tubular elements	Plasma concentration	Platelet concentration
von Willebrand factor (vWF) <sup>b</sup>	10 μg/mL in plasma [42] 98 U/dL (type O) [86] 130 U/dL (non-O) [86]	34 µg/mL in platelets [42]
Factor V	6.6 μg/mL in plasma [85]	4.4 ng/million platelets [37]
Dense (delta) granule factors	Plasma concentration	Platelet concentration
Polyphosphate (i.e., 60 to 100 phosphate units)	N/A	$0.92 \pm 0.19 \text{ nmol/}10^8 \text{ platelets},$ intragranular polyP ~130 nM [87]
Calcium	2–2.5 mM [88]	$22 \pm 2.8$ nM in platelet cytosol [87]
ATP, ADP	N/A	23.8, 14.5 nmol/mg platelet protein [37]
Serotonin	N/A	1.5–2.5 nmol/mg platelet protein [37]
P-selectin (CD62P) transmem- brane receptor [22] (ligand is PSGL-1)	N/A	(Inside alpha granules of circulating platelets, exposed upon activation)

Outer membrane (resting platelets)	Ligand [42]	Function
GPIb/IX/V (CD42b/CD42a; GP1BA/GP9/GP5)	Surface-bound vWF, IIa	Adhesion
GPIIb/IIIa ( $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ ; CD41/CD61; ITGA2B or ITGAB/ITGB3)	Fibrin (mainly), collagen, vitronectin, fibronectin, thrombospondin	Aggregation, adhesion
GPIa/GPIIa ( $\alpha_2\beta_1$ ; CD49b/CD29; VLA-2/VLA-4beta; ITGA2/ ITGB1)	Collagen type I (mainly); fibronectin	Adhesion
GPIc*/IIa ( $\alpha_5\beta_1$ ; CD49e/CD29; VLA-5; ITGA5)	Fibronectin	Adhesion
GPIc/IIa ( $\alpha_6\beta_1$ ; CD49f/CD29; VLA-6; ITGA6)	Laminin	Adhesion
GPIV (CD36)	Collagen type II, thrombospondin (THBS)	Adhesion, aggregation

Table 1 (continued)

N/R not reported, N/A not applicable, IIa activated thrombin

[35] N = 18, from N = 5 healthy male and N = 5 healthy female human TF-activated recalcified citrated whole blood

[36] non-aspirin-using normal human donors (unspecified number of donors), whole blood +32 µg/ mL corn trypsin inhibitor, 40 pmol/L TF, 80 nmol/L phosphatidylserine/phosphatidylcholine (PSPC)

[71] N = 3 healthy non-fasting adult female donors, unmodified peripheral blood coagulated for 30 min at 37°C

[78] N = 6 healthy adults, venous blood combined with 15% volume ACD (acid citrate-dextrose) 2,000 × g 15 min for plasma, or glass tube-induced venous blood clotted at RT for 60 min, 15% ACD added then 2,000 × g for 15 min

[79] N = 12 healthy participants in their twenties, venous blood poured into 7.5% potassium-EDTA tubes, ice for 1–2 h, or allowed to clot in unspecified tubes for 1–2 h at RT then 1,000 × g for 20 min 4°C, re-centrifuge 3,000 × g 10 min 4°C

[80] Blood with unspecified anticoagulant from N = 217 patients undergoing computed coronary artery angiography

[81] Either (a) N = 42 healthy blood donors,  $57 \pm 1$  years old, 22% women, or (b) N = 45 patients with critical limb ischemia (CLI),  $58 \pm 2$  years old 18% women or N = 59 patients,  $57 \pm 1$  years old 22% women with CLI and type 2 diabetes mellitus; unspecified blood collection method, blood plasma analyzed by ELISA for NAP-2/CXCL7

[82] N = 7 orthopedic patients, 3 females, 4 males; mean age  $= 35 \pm 7$  years (range = 29-52) without inflammatory diseases who had undergone epidural anesthesia, serum collection method not described

[83] (a) N = 21 newly diagnosed patients not yet treated with depression; (b) N = 25 age-matched controls

[86] N = 123 healthy females, multi-ethnic, citrated platelet-poor plasma

<sup>a</sup>Heparin-binding factor

<sup>b</sup>Expressed in platelets and in endothelial cells

peptide A) occurred at 1 min, platelet activation (measured by release of osteonectin, or platelet factor 4, PF4/CXCL4) occurred at 2–3.5 min, and clotting time (measured by appearance of "clumps" on the sidewalls of the tubes) was observed at 4.7 min [35, 36]. It was estimated that platelets had degranulated around 50% of their alpha granule contents at clotting time [36]. In addition to PF4 and osteonectin, platelet alpha granules release a plethora of bioactive factors: platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), transforming growth factor \u03b31 (TGF-\u03b31), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), as well as procoagulant factors Factor V (FV), von Willebrand factor (vWF), fibrinogen, and thrombospondin [37]. Activated platelets release other factors from delta granules: adenosine nucleotide diphosphate (ADP) and adenosine triphosphate (ATP), serotonin, calcium, and polyphosphate to name a few (Table 1). Upon activation, platelets change their shape from disc-shaped to spiked spheres, adhere to surfaces, and aggregate. Activated platelets undergo cytosolic calcium spikes, release alpha and delta granule contents, express GPIIb/ IIIa on the platelet surface, internalize GPIb, and lose plasma membrane asymmetry which exposes phosphatidylserine on the outer membrane [30]. Phosphatidylserine is a docking site for calcium-dependent binding of activated gla-domain coagulation factor assemblies at the platelet membrane [38]. Generation of thromboxane and thrombin at the platelet surface, along with delta granule release of serotonin and ADP, further promotes platelet activation via platelet surface receptors for each of these agonists [39].

Shear-stress induced platelet activation uses vWF to immobilize platelets at the damaged endothelial cell surface. vWF is a large multimeric glycoprotein that is present in the circulation and stored in platelet alpha granules and in Weibel-Palade bodies of endothelial cells [40]. Upon endothelial damage under blood flow-induced shear stress, vWF "strings" are ejected into the blood stream, forming an attachment site for platelets through GPIb/IX/V receptors [41]. Following platelet activation, the platelet integrin receptor GPIIb/IIIa becomes clustered which enables it to engage with subendothelial collagen fibers, fibrin, vWF and thrombospondin through an RGD sequence [30, 42]. Platelet aggregation during coagulation, and anchoring to fibrin through GPIIb/IIIa receptor interactions, is an essential step in clot retraction and hemostasis [42]. The platelet plug forms a "white thrombus" to seal a damaged blood vessel. Given the essential role for platelets in hemostasis, biomaterial features that stimulate platelet activation are clearly important for applications in hemorrhage control. In other applications involving vascular stents, however, attention has focused on formulating chitosan in a manner to inhibit platelet activation [43].

All of the studies analyzed in this chapter used "normal" or "healthy" donor platelets for chitosan interaction studies, however it is important to keep in mind that platelets from unhealthy individuals could potentially show different responses [33]. Evidence has been accumulating to suggest that platelet composition could be altered by certain disease states. Bone marrow megakaryocytes in normal individuals experience a process termed "emperipolesis" [30, 44]. Emperipolesis is a phenomenon distinct from phagocytosis and involves megakaryocyte ingestion of neutrophils, eosinophils, erythrocytes, and lymphocytes without destruction of ingested cell integrity [30]. This remarkable event was originally suggested to

serve as a mechanism for neutrophil transit from the bone marrow into the vasculature [30]. Emperipolesis is enhanced by endotoxin [45] and in experimental models of idiopathic myelofibrosis [44]. Video-epifluorescence microscopy showed that megakaryocyte uptake of neutrophils resulted in mingling of megakaryocyteneutrophil membranes and the appearance of neutrophil membranes on circulating platelets [46]. The potential implications of these observations, notably in contexts where emperipolesis involves the trans-cellular transit of inflammatory neutrophils, remain to be identified.

### **3** Chitosan Interfacing with Blood Plasma

Chitosan membranes, sponges, and solid scaffolds are readily created by processes that neutralize or chemically cross-link glucosamine residues, either before or after electrospinning, surface coating, freeze-drying, precipitation or gelation [1]. These chitosan matrices and substrates are intended to remain intact after immersion in blood or blood plasma [47, 48]. Extensive modification of chitosan amine groups by chemical cross-linking reduces the density of cationic residues available for interaction with anionic blood factors. Furthermore, when solid chitosan matrices are treated with alkaline solutions or organic solvents, they strongly resist dissolving, even when hydrated in acidic aqueous solutions. In hemorrhage control, use of a solid matrix is important because chitosan solutions or powders were found to slow bleeding from capillaries but were unable to arrest arterial bleeding without additional pressure to seal off the broken blood vessel.

In certain wound-repair applications, formulations that generate chitosan microparticles are preferred [16, 49]. For example, when a liquid 80% DDA chitosan isotonic solution pH 4.5 is dispersed into unmodified whole blood and allowed to clot in a glass tube for 30 min at 37°C, the soluble chitosan chains can be observed to precipitate due to the neutral pH environment to form a hybrid biomaterial clot with chitosan microparticles interspersed in the fibrin network (Fig. 2a, b). In another approach, a freeze-dried (FD)-chitosan formulation is prepared with a fully protonated chitosan solution (pH 2.5) under controlled lyophilization conditions (inset, Fig. 2c). When this FD-chitosan scaffold is immersed in recalcified citrated plateletpoor plasma and kept at 37°C for an hour to permit fibrin clot formation (Fig. 2c), the chitosan scaffold rehydrates and disperses to form micro-hydrogel particles within the resulting fibrin clot network (Fig. 2d) [16]. Other FD-chitosan formulations intended for PRP mixing were optimized to contain ~83% DDA ~40 kDa chitosan, lyoprotectant, and calcium chloride. These FD-chitosan cakes solubilize, disperse in platelet-rich plasma (PRP), and form a micro-hydrogel particle scaffold network within the PRP fibrin clot structure [50].

As a cationic polysaccharide, chitosan is capable of forming electrostatic complexes with a variety of blood factors, most of which are anionic. Benesch and Tengvall showed that chitosan-coated surfaces develop a 10 nm thick layer of serum protein that includes serum albumin and complement C3 [51]. It was subsequently



**Fig. 2** In certain wound-repair applications, chitosan microparticles are preferred. Two chitosan formulations incorporated with rhodamine isothiocyanate (RITC)-chitosan tracer were used to form hybrid whole blood or recalcified platelet-poor plasma clots and imaged by epifluorescence microscopy. A 1.6% w/v chitosan/100 mM glycerol phosphate solution (RITC-chitosan 80.6% DDA,  $M_n$  46.7 kDa) was mixed at a 1:3 v/v ratio with peripheral whole rabbit blood collected under IRB-approved protocols, and solidified ex vivo in a glass tube to form (**a**) a cylindrical hybrid clot implant with (**b**) RITC-chitosan particles interspersed in the blood clot. (**c**) FD-chitosan (1% w/v chitosan/HCl, pH 2.5, inset) was placed in recalcified citrated human platelet-poor plasma (Precision Biologics, Halifax, Canada) with glass beads to activate coagulation. The FD-chitosan scaffold spontaneously rehydrated and dispersed as micro-hydrogel particles in the fibrin clot (**d**). Panel (**d**) is reprinted from *Materialia*, Vol 9, Hoemann CD et al. Guided bone marrow stimulation for articular cartilage repair through a freeze-dried chitosan microparticle approach, 100609, 2020, with permission from Elsevier

shown that in platelet-poor plasma (PPP), chitosan microparticles form electrostatic complexes with anionic zymogens C3, C5, and Factor B without activating complement [14]. When liquid chitosan is mixed with blood, the chitosan chains form complexes with red blood cells and induce red blood cell agglutination [52]; this bioactivity is attributed to electrostatic binding between chitosan and sialic acid residues on the RBC surface [53]. Platelet activation also activates the complement cascade, therefore chitosan preparations that activate platelets in whole blood or PRP may also drive complement activation indirectly at the platelet surface [14, 54].

The blood stream is maintained in a fluid state partly through its anionic environment. Endothelial cells are coated with a 0.5 mm thick glycocalyx with dense negatively charged heparan sulfate, chondroitin sulfate, and hyaluronan that is shed into the circulation [55]. The platelet surface carries GPIb receptors with O-linked glycosylations capped with sialic acid, which contribute significantly to the platelet's negatively charged surface [42]. vWF carbohydrate chains are also capped with sialic acid [40, 41]. Desialvlation of vWF by neuraminidase leads to its clearance by the liver through the asialoglycoprotein receptor (ASGPR), also called the Ashwell receptor [41, 56]. The Ashwell receptor was also found to be responsible for clearing desialylated platelets that arise during sepsis by the action of bacterial neuraminidase [57]. Fibrinogen is also sialylated [58]. Sialyl groups in fibrinogen were suggested to serve as low-affinity calcium binding sites that favor fibrin self-assembly and branching of fibrin fibers [58]. Because platelet-vWF and platelet-fibrin interactions are mediated through integrin protein receptor interactions (GPIb:vWF; GPIIb/IIIa: fibrin), sialic acid residues in vWF, fibrin, and GPIb are free to interact with other binding partners including cationic glucosamine residues in chitosan. To summarize, the sialic acid modification of glycosylations in many blood factors, blood cell surface receptors, and platelet receptors represents a "sialome" [59] that creates a physicochemical basis for cationic chitosan complex formation. Other anionic blood proteins have a  $pK_a$  6.0 or lower, which enables their binding to chitosan through electrostatic protein-polysaccharide interactions [14].

## 4 Chitosan–Platelet Interactions

One of the earliest clues that chitosan has procoagulant activity came from experiments by Malette et al., who observed that a porous DeBakey Dacron graft soaked in a 2 mg/mL chitosan solution, but not saline, prevented acute fatal bleed-out when stitched over the excised aorta of heparinized canines [60]. One day later, the chitosan coagulum was found "inside the graft, plugging the interstices" [60]. Klokkevold et al. subsequently observed that lingual hemostasis in rabbits could be accelerated by application of an 80% DDA chitosan solution in acetic acid [61]. In these early reports, the hemostatic mechanism of action was assumed to result from chitosan-induced red blood cell agglutination which creates a "red" thrombus. It was subsequently shown that chitosan-coated microtiter plates, acidic chitosan solutions and chitosan or chitin solid microparticles induce rapid platelet adhesion, aggregation, and elevated surface expression of GPIIb/IIIa in the absence of calcium [62, 63], with one report that chitosan particles could enhance the release of platelet alpha granule contents under calcium-free assay conditions [63] (Table 2). By contrast, neutral-soluble chitosans including chitosan oligomers showed no ability to induce platelet aggregation in vitro and were even slightly anticoagulant [64, 65].

Since these original reports, a variety of hemostatic chitosan devices have been developed, the majority of which are solid matrices, films, coatings, gels, filaments, or sponges that produce hemostasis through mechanisms purporting to involve red blood cell agglutination and/or platelet activation [66, 67]. These devices are intended to promote hemostasis and reside temporarily in the wound. It is important

	Chitin/chitosan	Platelet preparation	Effect of chitin/chitosan
Calcium-free	e assays		
Chou [62]	Chitosan Mw 50 kDa, >90% DDA (Primex Norway). Dissolve in 2.5% citrate, mix with platelets or use to coat microtiter plates	Rabbit EDTA blood spun at 160 g, 10 min to obtain PRP, platelets washed in calcium- free Tyrode's solution with BSA. $3 \times 10^8$ platelets/ mL	Rapid platelet adhesion after 5– 30 min on chitosan-coated wells. Dose-dependent (10–150 $\mu$ g/mL chitosan) platelet aggregation and enhanced GPIIb/IIIa expression. When 1 mM external Ca <sup>2+</sup> is added, chitosan evoked a rise in platelet intracellular Ca <sup>2+</sup> .
Okamoto [63]	Chitin Mw 300 kDa <10% DDA, 2.8 µm and 6.9 µm particles; chitosan, >80% DDA, Mw 80 kDa, 2.8 µm and 6.2 µm particles (Sunfive Co, Japan). Suspend in PBS pH 7.2, 30 mg/mL	18 mL whole blood from the jugular vein of an unidentified species, mixed with 2 mL 3.8% sodium cit- rate, 200 g 15 min spin, collect super- natant. Platelets $3 \times 10^5$ cells/mL washed in calcium- free Tyrode's buffer, $3 \times 500g$ 15 min washes. For cytokine release, PRP and chitosan spun at 1,000 g 10 min, then cleared at 10,000 g for 10 min before ELISA	Platelet aggregation ratio (%) was highest at 1 mg/mL with plasma. At 0.3 mg/mL platelet aggregation ratio without or with plasma: chitin 2.8 µm: 14% vs. 19.7%; chitin 6.9 µm: 9.6% vs. 32.3%; chitosan 2.8 µm: 14.2% vs. 15.3%; chitosan 6.2 µm: 14.2% vs. 16.5%. 150% TGF-b1 and 180% PDGF- AB were released by chitosan particles vs. PBS in calcium-free PRP
Thierry [43]	Chitosan (CH) >85% DDA (Sigma), applied layer-by-layer with hyaluronic acid (HA) to NiTi disks or wires	Whole blood from healthy medication- free volunteers col- lected in ACD, PRP collected at 1800 rpm 15 min, then 2,200 rpm 10 min for PPP supernatant. Plate- lets labeled with <sup>111</sup> InCl <sub>3</sub> suspended in citrate buffer at $2.5 \times 10^6$ platelets/ mL. (no Ca added)	50 min incubation with LbL chitosan-HA surfaces gentle shaking, measure adhesion via gamma counter ( <sup>111</sup> InCl <sub>3</sub> ). Observe one million platelets per cm <sup>2</sup> adhered to NiTi, and 600,000 platelets per cm <sup>2</sup> adhered to HA(CH/HA) <sub>4</sub>
Lin [64]	Chitosan (Koyo Chemical, Japan) nitrite-depolymerized to $M_n$ 0.6 to 2.2 kDa, partly acetylated or fully deacetylated.	Whole venous blood from normal healthy non-aspirin volunteers, 1:9 sodium citrate, $100 \times g$ 15 min RT	Combine 50 µL chitosan +450 µL PRP. Positive control: 20 µM ADP. Oligos had an anticoagulation effect in whole blood. Turbidimetric aggregation measures showed platelet activation

 Table 2
 Studies on chitosan-platelet interactions

	Chitin/chitosan	Platelet preparation	Effect of chitin/chitosan
	Chitosan at 10% w/v in PBS pH 7.4	(PRP) then 2,000 $\times$ g 15 min (PPP)	by ADP and not by any chitosan oligos
Fischer [8]	Syvek Patch fibers (50 full acetylated chitin poly-GlcNAc, 3,000 kDa, $\leq$ 100 nm fibers) Clo-Sur PAD (87 $\pm$ 10% DDA) ChitoSeal (chitosan- coated polyethylene terephthalate, PET) matrix	Fresh human PRP, separated from plasma proteins by gel filtration or centrifugation. $1.5 \times 10^8$ platelets/ mL in citrated PPP were combined with scaffolds for 3 min, then fixed in forma- lin, ESEM scanned. (Calcium was only added to PRP with- out chitin or chitosan)	Syvek fibers: a grape-like platelet-fiber complex with non-discoid morphology was intercalated in the thin chitin fibers Clo-Sur PAD: platelet clusters on the surface, suggested non-specific electrostatic adhesion ChitoSeal: altered platelet mor- phology, some spreading on the scaffold surface (non-discoid morphology)
Thatte [9]	Poly-N-acetyl glucos- amine fibers or chitosan (Marine Polymer Tech., MA, USA)	Fresh human citrated anticoagulated blood diluted 1:20 v/v in HBSS (for surface PS); PRP from sodium citrated blood, purify platelets, adjust to $1.5 \times 10^8$ platelets/mL in PPP or Tyrode's buffer, incubate directly with fiber slurry or chitosan solution (polymer 1.1 mg/ mL)	Platelets that were washed of plasma proteins associated after 3 min. with poly-GlcNAc fibers that were much thinner in diameter than platelets. Calcium orange dye-loaded platelets incubated with poly-GlcNAc fibers induced intracellular calcium spike in HBSS after 10 min at RT. Citrate blood in HEPES incubated with 0.35 mg/mL poly-GlcNA showed annexin V binding (exposed phosphatidylserine) vs. controls no GlcNAc
Mao [77]	Cellulose films coated with O-butyryl chitosan (OBCS) grafted with p-azidobenzoic acid. Chitosan starting material: $6.7 \times 10^5$ g/mol, 90% DDA (Lianyungang Biolog- icals Inc, China)	PRP of human blood supplied by Blood Center of Nanjing Red Cross, China (addition of calcium not mentioned)	After 1 h of contact, platelets adhered abundantly to cellulose membranes but not to OBCS- grafted cellulose membrane surfaces
Romani [68]	Chitosan 95/50 (HMC +, Germany) dissolved in acetic acid, salts, and sugars, heat-dried and treated in 5% w/v KOH for	Blood from $N = 4$ healthy volunteers with 3.2% citrate, $400 \times g$ 10 min, then $200 \times g$ 20 min at room temp. Film	Platelets adhered to chitosan films but remained discoid in shape and did not express P-selectin strongly compared to platelets adhered to glass or plastic coverslips

Table 2 (continued)

### Table 2 (continued)

	Chitin/chitosan	Platelet preparation	Effect of chitin/chitosan
	12 h, washed in water until neutral. Sterilize in 75% ethanol, air dry, incubate in PBS	overlaid with PRP for 1 to 2 h at 37°C. Wash with PBS to remove poorly adherent platelets, fix with formalin	
Zhao [75]	Glycidyl methacrylate functionalized quaternized chitosan (shape-memory gel)	PRP from ADC-whole blood spun 115 $\times$ g 10 min. Drip onto cryogel disks, incubate 37°C 1 h. (no calcium added)	Platelet adhesion and aggregation on the gel surfaces. Propose electrostatic binding of cells, fibronectin, to cationic chitosan quaternary amines
Calcium-con	itaining assays		
Thatte [9]	Poly-N-acetyl glucos- amine fibers or chitosan (Marine Polymer Tech., MA, USA). Poly-GlcNAc was used as a suspen- sion in saline. Chitosan solution was created with unspecified pH and osmolality	Fresh human PRP from sodium citrated blood, purify platelets, adjust to $1.5 \times 10^8$ platelets/mL in PPP or Tyrode's buffer, add CaCl <sub>2</sub> , incubate directly with fiber slurry or chitosan solution (polymer 1.1 mg/mL)	In recalcified PRP, poly-GlcNAc fibers incorporated into the fibrin clot (strongest gel with 0.5 mg/mL chitin fibers), observed P-selectin and $\alpha$ IIb $\beta$ 3 on platelet surfaces. Chitosan solution failed to activate platelets. Diminished fibrin clot formation when platelets were pre-treated with anti-GPIIb/IIIa or anti-CD49f before recalcifying with 0.5 mg/mL poly-GlcNAc (this experiment was missing PRP-only controls no poly-GlcNAc)
Hoemann [71]	Chitosan 81.6% DDA, Mn 176 kDa, PDI 1.4, <500 EU/g (BioSyntech, Canada) 1.6% w/v chitosan, 100 mM glycerol phosphate pH 6	Healthy human unmodified periph- eral whole blood, combine or not with chitosan-GP, 0.5 mL clots incu- bated in glass tubes at 37°C for up to 4 h	Chitosan-GP/blood clots burst released 2.8 ng/mL PDGF to serum at 30 min post-clotting vs. 4 ng/mL from whole blood and LPS/blood clots
Hattori [65]	Chitosan 85.3% DDA, 888 kDa or 87.6% DDA 247 kDa (Primex, Iceland); chitosan dimers, hexamers (Seikagaku, Japan), 75–85%DDA 50–190 kDa (Sigma) and Primex-derived lower Mw (9–58 kDa) reacetylated chitosans	Male Sprague- Dawley rats, cardiac puncture whole blood in 3.13% sodium citrate, and PRP: 250 g 10 min then 3,000 g, 15 min, recalcify and combine with chitosan solutions in PBS (0.005–0.2% w/v)	Higher erythrocyte sedimentation rates (indirect measure of RBC agglutination) after adding 75–87.6% DDA chitosan, but not 33.6–50.3% DDA chitosan, oligomers, or 275 kDa chitosan. Increased PRP turbidity and disappearance of liquid phase platelets for 75–88% DDA chitosans but not oligomers
Deprés- Tremblay [17]	Chitosan (in-house) 80% DDA, <i>M</i> n 38 kDa, dissolved in	N = 3 male and N = 3 female human donors, PRP	Chitosan inhibited PRP clot retraction; chitosan found to coat platelets by ESEM, suppress

	Chitin/chitosan	Platelet preparation	Effect of chitin/chitosan
	28 mM HCl, Freeze- dried: 1% w/v chitosan, 24.2 mM CaCl <sub>2</sub> , 1% w/v trehalose	using ACE E-Z PRP system. 160 g, 10 min spin, then 400 g 10 min. $9.3 \times 10^8$ /mL platelets	platelet aggregation, enhance surface P-selectin, and enhance PDGF and EGF release
Chevrier [15]	Chitosans (in-house), 80–85% DDA; 4–11, 28–56, 79–154 kDa, Freeze-dried: 0.56– 1.5% w/v chitosan with lyoprotectant and 42.2 mM CaCl <sub>2</sub>	Sodium citrate whole blood (12.9 mM citrate) from 5 human donors. 150 g 10 min then 400 g 10 min; $3 \times$ enriched for platelets	Mixture of FD-chitosan and PRP accelerated clotting time from 15 min (PRP-only) to ~2.5 min (FD-chitosan/PRP) and created a "paste-like" PRP
Dwivedi [74]	Chitosan (in-house, 80.2% DDA, $M_n$ 36.6 kDa), Freeze- dried with lyoprotectant and CaCl <sub>2</sub>	9 mL NZW rabbit blood +1 mL 3.8% citrate, 160 g, 10 min, then con- centrate platelets at 400 g, 10 min. 3× enriched for platelets	Chitosan-PRP implant showed residency in a microdrilled carti- lage lesion in the knee trochlea and after 8 weeks of repair stimulated twofold higher collagen type II content in cartilage repair tissues vs microdrill control defects treated with PRP-alone
Sundaram [69]	Chitosan (Source- Crab, Kyoto chemicals, Japan) Mw 100–150 kDa; 80– 85% DDA	Rat whole blood in 3.2% sodium citrate. 500 g, 5 min, then 200 g, 15 min (PRP) or 2,000 g 10 min (PPP), added to 2% chitosan (Cs) with 0.25 potassium alumi- num (Al) or 0.25% calcium (Ca) for 5 min at 37°C, rinse to remove unaggregated platelets	LDH (OD490) of adherent platelets used as a measure of platelet aggregation: Greatest OD490 with Cs-Al-Ca. Gel induced RBC agglutination hypothesize electrostatic interactions mediate platelet-chitosan and RBC- Si-chitosan binding. Hemostatic effect in rat liver and femoral artery hemorrhage models (effective for low pressure bleeding contexts)

Table 2 (continued)

to note that platelet-chitosan interaction assays have been carried out either in calcium-free (citrated) plasma or buffers, or in the presence of calcium which permits induction of thrombin and subsequent platelet activation by thrombin and a variety of other endogenous agonists.

Depending on the physical form of a chitosan device, platelets may interact with a 2-D or 3-D chitosan surface, filament, microparticle, or soluble chitosan chain. The Syvek patch is composed of solid chitin fibers, whereas Clo-sur PAD and ChitoSeal are solid patches containing chitosan. Platelets were found to adhere to all three

scaffolds, with evidence of induced P-selectin and GPIIb/IIIa expression when calcium-activated PRP was combined with a slurry of GlcNAc fibers [8, 9]. Platelets also adhered and aggregated on the smoother surfaces of chitosan-based Clo-sur PAD after 3 min, but were mainly observed adhering to exposed polyethylene terephthalate (PET) polymer surfaces on ChitoSeal [8]. In a swine splenic capsular stripping hemorrhage model, the Syvek patch produced hemostasis after three compressions compared to 8–10 for gauze, Clo-sur PAD or ChitoSeal [8]. In another study analyzing platelet adhesion under calcium-free conditions by Romani et al., alkaline-cured chitosan films supported platelet adhesion but the platelets remained discoid in shape and scarcely expressed P-selectin, while platelets adhering to glass coverslips became spiked and had strong P-selectin expression [68]. In another study by Sundaram et al., a chitosan-aluminum sulfate-calcium hydrogel was created that induced platelet aggregation, RBC agglutination, and more rapid hemostasis in rat hemorrhage models [69] (Table 2).

For wound-healing applications, some chitosan devices have been formulated to intermingle as micron-sized hydrogel particles within blood or platelet-rich plasma clots. As mentioned above, viscous isotonic chitosan solutions can be mixed with unmodified whole blood and allowed to coagulate to form a hybrid blood clot [53]. Mixture of liquid chitosan-glycerol phosphate solutions into whole blood produces a hybrid clot that, like whole blood, solidifies through the common pathway of the coagulation enzyme cascade [70]. In thromboelastography (TEG) tests, hybrid clots containing 80% DDA chitosan showed thrombin activation starting at 20 min, followed by burst platelet activation around 30 min marked by release of PF4/CXCL4 and PDGF- $\beta\beta$  into the serum [70, 71]. The dispersion of 80% DDA chitosan microparticles in the hybrid clot implant was found to inhibit clot retraction, protect the clot from lysis by plasmin, promote longer in situ clot residency, attract neutrophils and M2 macrophages, and exert favorable effects on osteochondral wound repair [72, 73].

Here we report the effect of chitosan structure on platelet activation in whole blood, using a library of chitosans with 80% or 95% DDA and low (80L, 95L) or high viscosity (80M, 95M) [12]. Each chitosan was prepared as a 1.6% w/v solution in 100 mM glycerol phosphate (pH 6.0) and mixed or not with unmodified human whole blood from 4 healthy donors. Samples were either harvested immediately, submitted to a TEG assay at 37°C for 160 min to assess clotting time and clot tensile strength, or cultured at 37°C for 240 min in glass tubes. As a model system, blood clots held at body temperature have the potential to reflect platelet responses that could occur in a blood clot device in vivo. At different time points (t = 0, 160 or 240 min), using previously described methods [70], samples were vortexed in ice cold quench buffer, centrifuged, and the supernatant analyzed by Western blotting for PF4, or ELISA assay for thrombin-antithrombin (TAT) complex (Dade) (Fig. 3).

95M chitosan (high DDA and medium viscosity) had a unique effect on inducing instant release of PF4 at t = 0 in all 4 donors (lane 4, Fig. 3a), prior to thrombin activation (Fig. 3b). 95M also created a rapid increase in blood viscosity that was "read" by the TEG instrument as a more rapid "clotting time" compared to all other



**Fig. 3** Chitosan structure influenced the timing of platelet degranulation, clotting time and clot tensile strength in unmodified whole human blood. Under IRB-approved protocols, whole blood from 4 healthy human donors was mixed at 3:1 ratio with chitosan-glycerol phosphate solutions (80L, 80M, 95L, 95M) to evaluate (**a**) PF4 levels in plasma or serum using equal amounts of protein per lane and purified PF4 as a control, (**b**) TAT complex formation in plasma or serum, (**c**) clotting time (R, min), and (**d**) clot amplitude at 160 min (A, mm) by TEG assay. Chitosan (DDA and  $M_n$ ) were 80L (80.2%, 108 kDa), 80M (80.6%, 144 kDa), 95L (94.6%, 102 kDa), 95M (94.6%, 177 kDa) [12]. Graphs show the median, 50% inter-quartile range, min-max, and differences due to condition were evaluated by Least Squares Means Differences with Tukey HSD post-hoc (JMP Pro 14.1.0, SAS). *R* clotting time, *NA* not available, *WB* whole blood, *TAT* thrombin-antithrombin, *PF4* platelet factor 4, *M* male, *F* female

chitosans (Fig. 3c). All chitosan-GP/blood mixtures coagulated and showed robust TAT generation at 160 and 240 min (Fig. 3b). However lower molecular weight chitosans (80L, 95L) delayed clotting time (Fig. 3c), and 95L induced a weaker clot

tensile strength compared to other clot samples (Fig. 3d). After 240 min at 37°C, PF4 was detected in serum of all chitosan-GP/blood samples, with the highest PF4 levels in 95L and 95M serum (lanes 5–8, Fig. 3a).

In this experiment, unmodified whole blood had a median 18.9 min clotting time, 47.0 mm clot tensile strength (Fig. 3c, d), robust TAT levels after 240 min (48 µg/ mL, Fig. 3b), and variable serum PF4 levels at 160 min (lane 9, Fig. 3a). Donor-to-donor differences in serum PF4 levels at 160 min were not explained by selected donor characteristics (Fig. 3a). These results are consistent with previous analyses of healthy donor whole blood:  $15.3 \pm 4.8$  min clotting time,  $55.2 \pm 5.7$  mm maximal amplitude, ~37 µg/mL TAT, and burst appearance of PF4 at 30 min that decayed over time [70]. Altogether, these data suggested that highly deacetylated cationic chitosan chains formed complexes with factors that degrade PF4. These results also suggested that platelet responses to chitosan can be influenced by the chitosan charge state at the time of platelet contact and that cationic chitosan is an effective platelet-activating biomaterial. However strong chitosan platelet–interactions by 95L were accompanied by prolonged clotting time and weaker clot tensile strength, which are considered anti-hemostatic effects.

Many experiments analyzing chitosan-platelet interactions are carried out with PRP (Table 2). PRP is generated from citrated whole blood by sequential centrifugation (200 g 15 min to pellet RBC and WBC, then 1,300 g 10 min to pellet platelets). Citrate chelates all plasma calcium and serves as an anticoagulant because calcium is required for propagation of the coagulation factor enzyme cascade leading to thrombin activation and conversion of fibrinogen to fibrin. Therefore, PRP must be recalcified to produce a PRP fibrin clot. Mixture of freeze-dried chitosan containing calcium chloride with PRP resulted in solubilization of chitosan in plasma followed by chitosan coating of platelet surfaces, hybrid chitosan/PRP clot formation, inhibition of PRP fibrin clot retraction, enhanced release of PDGF- $\beta\beta$ , and higher P-selectin expression [15, 17, 50]. Unlike other chitosan-platelet interactions, this FD-chitosan preparation enhanced platelet degranulation while inhibiting platelet aggregation [17]. It was suggested that chitosan inhibited clot retraction in these PRP samples by coating the platelet surfaces and preventing their aggregation [17]. FD-chitosan/PRP showed beneficial biological effects compared to PRP-alone in promoting chondrogenesis in a rabbit cartilage repair model, with greater repair tissue collagen type II content compared to PRP-alone [74]. In other applications, a shape-memory gel containing glycidyl methacrylate functionalized quaternized chitosan, with a permanent positive charge, showed platelet adhesion and aggregation on the surfaces after incubating with citrated PRP for 1 h at 37°C [75]. In the latter study, calcium was not added to the PRP preparation, suggesting the interaction was based on electrostatic interactions between anionic platelet surfaces and the cationic quaternized chitosan.

Platelet adhesion is an undesired event for vascular stents. Coating of a NiTi surface with layer-by-layer (LbL) hyaluronic acid (HA) and chitosan, with the final layer being HA was shown to reduce platelet adhesion from 1 million to 0.6 million platelets/cm<sup>2</sup> [43]. The persistent platelet interactions with LbL-HA(Chitosan/HA)<sub>4</sub>

could be due to an irregular surface coating by HA after only 4 bi-layers that left exposed chitosan, as another study suggested that at least 6 alternating layers are needed to create a uniform anionic polyelectrolyte surface [76]. By contrast, surface coatings created with chitosans derivatized with hydrophobic butyryl functional groups and covalently attached to cellulose were shown to repel platelets and inhibit platelet adhesion and activation [77] (Table 2).

### **5** Conclusions and Future Perspectives

To summarize, current data suggest that chitosan–platelet interactions occur through two mechanisms. By one mechanism, electrostatic binding between the anionic platelet surface and cationic chitosan poly-glucosamine residues produces platelet adhesion that can trigger a rise in intracellular calcium, degranulation, and appearance of integrin and P-selectin receptors at the platelet surface [8, 62, 69, 75] (Fig. 4). Platelet GPIb is heavily sialylated and could potentially mediate this interaction. Neutral chitosan and chitin have little capacity to induce these responses. Although most solid matrices used as hemostatic devices have no charge (poly-GlcNAc), or are neutralized during manufacturing, recent advances have created quaternary chitosans with a permanent cationic charge state [75], which enables mechanism 1. By a second mechanism that is likely to take place in blood or PRP, abundant anionic blood plasma proteins (i.e., sialyl-fibrinogen, fibronectin, sialyl-vWF, albumin) rapidly bind to chitosan surfaces. Blood proteins are also expected to deposit on chitin surfaces. Deposition of these matricellular factors, also called "biofouling" presents a surface that permits platelet adhesion, activation, GPIIb/IIIa clustering,



**Fig. 4** Two mechanisms are proposed to explain chitosan–platelet interactions. By mechanism 1, platelet anionic surfaces form non-specific electrostatic interactions with chitosan amine groups that are initially protonated at the time of contact with whole blood or PRP. Because anionic blood proteins (including sialylated proteins such as fibrinogen) vastly outnumber platelets, most platelet interactions in PRP or blood likely occur through mechanism 2. In mechanism 2, soluble factors in blood plasma form complexes with chitosan or chitin and display binding sites, some of which may be specific high-affinity interactions via platelet surface receptors (i.e., integrin GPIIb/IIIa, GPIV, GPIc/IIa, GPIc\*/IIa, GPIb/IX/V). The schematics show only one side of the platelet surface and are not to scale: platelets are on average 2  $\mu$ m in diameter [30]. Note that chitosan microparticles that form in blood plasma can have a similar or smaller size compared to platelets, or a much larger size when chitosan aggregates are formed [12]

and the potential for specific receptor–ligand interactions between platelet integrins and RGD motifs in the protein coating (Fig. 4). Evidence for this second mechanism comes from slightly greater platelet aggregation induced by 2.8–6.9  $\mu$ m chitin or chitosan particles in the presence of plasma proteins compared to platelets washed to remove plasma proteins [63]. Future directions on this topic will benefit from further elucidation of molecular mechanisms involved in chitosan-platelet adhesion and experiments that show the biological relevance of these interactions in whole blood where erythrocytes vastly outnumber platelets. More information is also needed on the performance of platelet-activating chitosan devices in clinical contexts, most notably where platelet physiology is altered by medications, trauma, or disease state.

Acknowledgements We thank Catherine Marchand for PF4 and TAT analyses and J. Guzmán-Morales and J. Sun for hybrid blood clot images. Funding: Canadian Institutes of Health Research Operating grant; Prima-Ortho grant; George Mason University start-up funds.

*Competing interest statement:* C. Hoemann is a shareholder and on the Scientific Advisory Board of Ortho RTi.

### References

- 1. Khor E, Lim LY (2003) Implantable applications of chitin and chitosan. Biomaterials 24:2339–2349. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0142-9612(03)00026-7
- Fong D, Grégoire-Gélinas P, Cheng AP, Mezheritsky T, Lavertu M, Sato S, Hoemann CD (2017) Lysosomal rupture induced by structurally distinct chitosans either promotes a type 1 IFN response or activates the inflammasome in macrophages. Biomaterials 129:127–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2017.03.022
- Chang KLB, Tsai G, Lee J, Fu W-R (1997) Heterogeneous N-deacetylation of chitin in alkaline solution. Carbohydr Res 303:327–332. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0008-6215(97)00179-1
- 4. Lamarque G, Viton C, Domard A (2004) Comparative study of the first heterogeneous deacetylation of  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ -chitins in a multistep process. Biomacromolecules 5:992–1001. https://doi.org/10.1021/bm034498j
- Vårum KM, Anthonsen MW, Grasdalen H, Smidsrød O (1991) 13C-N.m.r. studies of the acetylation sequences in partially N-deacetylated chitins (chitosans). Carbohydr Res 217:19–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/0008-6215(91)84113-S
- 6. Sashiwa H, Saimoto H, Shigemasa Y, Ogawa R, Tokura S (1991) Distribution of the acetamide group in partially deacetylated chitins. Carbohydr Polym 16:291–296. https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0144-8617(91)90114-R
- Kubota N, Tatsumoto N, Sano T, Toya K (2000) A simple preparation of half N-acetylated chitosan highly soluble in water and aqueous organic solvents. Carbohydr Res 324:268–274. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0008-6215(99)00263-3
- Fischer TH, Connolly R, Thatte HS, Schwaitzberg SS (2004) Comparison of structural and hemostatic properties of the poly-N-acetyl glucosamine Syvek Patch with products containing chitosan. Microsc Res Tech 63:168–174. https://doi.org/10.1002/jemt.20017
- Thatte HS, Zagarins S, Khuri SF, Fischer TH (2004) Mechanisms of poly-N-acetyl glucosamine polymer-mediated hemostasis: platelet interactions. J Trauma 57:S13–S21. https://doi.org/10. 1097/01.TA.0000136743.12440.89
- Rinaudo M, Pavlov G, Desbrières J (1999) Influence of acetic acid concentration on the solubilization of chitosan. Polymer 40:7029–7032. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0032-3861(99) 00056-7

- Filion D, Lavertu M, Buschmann MD (2007) Ionization and solubility of chitosan solutions related to thermosensitive chitosan/glycerol-phosphate systems. Biomacromolecules 8:3224–3234. https://doi.org/10.1021/bm700520m
- Hoemann CD, Guzmán-Morales J, Tran-Khanh N, Lavallée G, Jolicoeur M, Lavertu M (2013) Chitosan rate of uptake in HEK293 cells is influenced by soluble versus microparticle state and enhanced by serum-induced cell metabolism and lactate-based media acidification. Molecules 18:1015–1035. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules18011015
- Hoemann CD, Hurtig M, Rossomacha E, Sun J, Chevrier A, Shive MS, Buschmann MD (2005) Chitosan-glycerol phosphate/blood implants improve hyaline cartilage repair in ovine microfracture defects. J Bone Joint Surg 87:2671–2686. https://doi.org/10.2106/JBJS.D.02536
- Marchand C, Bachand J, Périnêt J, Baraghis E, Lamarre M, Rivard GE, De Crescenzo G, Hoemann CD (2009) C3, C5, and factor B bind to chitosan without complement activation. J Biomed Mater Res 9999A. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.32638
- 15. Chevrier A, Darras V, Picard G, Nelea M, Veilleux D, Lavertu M, Hoemann CD, Buschman MD (2018) Injectable chitosan-platelet-rich plasma implants to promote tissue regeneration: *in vitro* properties, *in vivo* residence, degradation, cell recruitment and vascularization: chitosan-PRP injectable implants for tissue repair. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 12:217–228. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/term.2403
- 16. Hoemann CD, Guzmán-Morales J, Picard G, Chen G, Veilleux D, Chevrier A, Sim S, Garon M, Quenneville E, Lafantaisie-Favreau C-H, Buschmann MD, Hurtig MB (2020) Guided bone marrow stimulation for articular cartilage repair through a freeze-dried chitosan microparticle approach. Materialia 9:100609. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mtla.2020.100609
- Deprés-Tremblay G, Chevrier A, Tran-Khanh N, Nelea M, Buschmann MD (2017) Chitosan inhibits platelet-mediated clot retraction, increases platelet-derived growth factor release, and increases residence time and bioactivity of platelet-rich plasma *in vivo*. Biomed Mater 13:015005. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-605X/aa8469
- Cunha AG, Fernandes SCM, Freire CSR, Silvestre AJD, Neto CP, Gandini A (2008) What is the real value of Chitosan's surface energy? Biomacromolecules 9:610–614. https://doi.org/10. 1021/bm701199g
- Onishi H, Machida Y (1999) Biodegradation and distribution of water-soluble chitosan in mice. Biomaterials 20:175–182. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0142-9612(98)00159-8
- Aam BB, Heggset EB, Norberg AL, Sørlie M, Vårum KM, Eijsink VGH (2010) Production of Chitooligosaccharides and their potential applications in medicine. Mar Drugs 8:1482–1517. https://doi.org/10.3390/md8051482
- George JN, Colman RW (2001) Platelets. In: Hemostasis & thrombosis: basic principles & clinical practice. 4th edn. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Baltimore, pp 381–386
- Kuter DJ (2001) Megakaryopoiesis and thrombpoiesis. In: Williams hematology. 6th edn. McGraw-Hill, New York, pp 1339–1355
- Cunin P, Nigrovic PA (2019) Megakaryocytes as immune cells. J Leukoc Biol 105:1111–1121. https://doi.org/10.1002/JLB.MR0718-261RR
- 24. Lefrancais E, Ortiz-Munoz G, Caudrillier A, Mallavia B, Liu F, Sayah D, Thornton E, Headley M, David T, Coughlin S, Krummel M, Leavitt A, Passegué E, Looney M (2017) The lung is a site of platelet biogenesis and a reservoir for hematopoietic progenitors. Nature 544. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature21706
- Rapkiewicz AV, Mai X, Carsons SE, Pittaluga S, Kleiner DE, Berger JS, Thomas S, Adler NM, Charytan DM, Gasmi B, Hochman JS, Reynolds HR (2020) Megakaryocytes and platelet-fibrin thrombi characterize multi-organ thrombosis at autopsy in COVID-19: a case series. EClinicalMedicine 24:100434. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eclinm.2020.100434
- Lefrançais E, Looney MR (2019) Platelet biogenesis in the lung circulation. Physiology (Bethesda) 34:392–401. https://doi.org/10.1152/physiol.00017.2019
- Ryan DH (2001) Examination of the blood. In: Williams hematology. 6th edn. McGraw-Hill, New York, pp 9–16

- Owens AP, Mackman N (2011) Microparticles in hemostasis and thrombosis. Circ Res 108:1284–1297. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.110.233056
- 29. Alphonsus CS, Rodseth RN (2014) The endothelial glycocalyx: a review of the vascular barrier. Anaesthesia 69:777–784. https://doi.org/10.1111/anae.12661
- 30. Cramer EM (2001) Platelets and megakaryocytes: analtomy and structural organization. In: Hemostasis & thrombosis: basic principles & clinical practice. 4th edn. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Baltimore, pp 411–428
- Ogasawara K, Ueki J, Takenaka M, Furihata K (1993) Study on the expression of ABH antigens on platelets. Blood 82:993–999. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.V82.3.993.993
- 32. Cooling L (2015) Blood groups in infection and host susceptibility | clinical microbiology reviews. Clin Microbiol Rev 28:801–870. https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.00109-14
- 33. Verhoef PA, Kannan S, Sturgill JL, Tucker EW, Morris PE, Miller AC, Sexton TR, Koyner JL, Hejal R, Brakenridge SC, Moldawer LL, Hotchkiss RS, Blood TM, Mazer MB, Bolesta S, Alexander SA, Armaignac DL, Shein SL, Jones C, Hoemann CD, Doctor A, Friess SH, Parker RI, Rotta AT, Remy KE, for the B. and T.S.C. of the R.S. for the S. of C.C (2021) Medicine, severe acute respiratory syndrome–associated coronavirus 2 infection and organ dysfunction in the ICU: opportunities for translational research. Critic Care Explor 3:e0374. https://doi.org/10. 1097/CCE.000000000000374
- 34. Stowell SR, Stowell CP (2019) Biologic roles of the ABH and Lewis histo-blood group antigens part II: thrombosis, cardiovascular disease and metabolism. Vox Sang 114:535–552. https://doi.org/10.1111/vox.12786
- 35. Brummel KE, Paradis SG, Butenas S, Mann KG (2002) Thrombin functions during tissue factor-induced blood coagulation. Blood 100:148–152. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.V100.1. 148
- Rand MD, Lock JB, van't Veer C, Gaffney DP, Mann KG (1996) Blood clotting in minimally altered whole blood. Blood 88:3432–3445
- Fukami MH, Holmsen H, Kowalska A, Niewiarowski S (2001) Platelet secretion. In: Hemostasis & thrombosis: basic principles and clinical practice. 4th edn. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Baltimore, pp 561–573
- Contreras-García A, D'Elía NL, Desgagné M, Lafantaisie-Favreau C-H, Rivard G-E, Ruiz J-C, Wertheimer MR, Messina P, Hoemann CD (2019) Synthetic anionic surfaces can replace microparticles in stimulating burst coagulation of blood plasma. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces 175:596–605. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2018.11.066
- 39. Rivera J, Lozano ML, Navarro-Nunez L, Vicente V (2009) Platelet receptors and signaling in the dynamics of thrombus formation. Haematologica 94:700–711. https://doi.org/10.3324/ haematol.2008.003178
- Lenting PJ, Christophe OD, Denis CV (2015) von Willebrand factor biosynthesis, secretion, and clearance: connecting the far ends. Blood 125:2019–2028. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2014-06-528406
- Bryckaert M, Rosa J-P, Denis CV, Lenting PJ (2015) Of von Willebrand factor and platelets. Cell Mol Life Sci 72:307–326. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-014-1743-8
- Parise LV, Smyth SS, Coller BS (2001) Platelet morphology, biochemistry, and function. In: Williams hematology. 6th edn. McGraw-Hill, New York, pp 1357–1408
- Thierry B, Winnik FM, Merhi Y, Silver J, Tabrizian M (2003) Bioactive coatings of endovascular stents based on polyelectrolyte multilayers. Biomacromolecules 4:1564–1571. https://doi.org/10.1021/bm0341834
- 44. Schmitt A, Jouault H, Guichard J, Wendling F, Drouin A, Cramer EM (2000) Pathologic interaction between megakaryocytes and polymorphonuclear leukocytes in myelofibrosis. Blood 96:1342–1347. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.V96.4.1342
- 45. Tanaka M, Aze Y, Shinomiya K, Fujita T (1996) Morphological observations of megakaryocytic emperipolesis in the bone marrow of rats treated with lipopolysaccharide. J Vet Med Sci 58:663–667. https://doi.org/10.1292/jvms.58.663

- 46. Cunin P, Bouslama R, Machlus KR, Martínez-Bonet M, Lee PY, Wactor A, Nelson-Maney N, Morris A, Guo L, Weyrich A, Sola-Visner M, Boilard E, Italiano JE, Nigrovic PA (2019) Megakaryocyte emperipolesis mediates membrane transfer from intracytoplasmic neutrophils to platelets. Elife 8:e44031. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.44031
- 47. Sun Y, Wu B, Yan S, Zhang J, Zhang R, Zhu S (2013) Preparation of hemostatic sponge used for dressing, involves preparing chitosan aqueous solution, injecting into mold, freezing chitosan aqueous solution in mold, freeze-drying frozen material and post-processing chitosan sponge. CN103028135-A, 2013–N96850
- 48. Kim C, Lee S, Lim J, Son Y, Kim K, Gin Y, Kim CH, Lee SJ, Lim IJ, Son YS (2017) Method of producing a porous chitosan scaffold comprises freeze-drying of an aqueous acidic solution having chitosan and a solvent, and neutralizing the aqueous acidic solution. WO2007111416-A1
- 49. Lafantaisie-Favreau C-H, Guzmán-Morales J, Sun J, Chen G, Harris A, Smith TD, Carli A, Henderson J, Stanish WD, Hoemann CD (2013) Subchondral pre-solidified chitosan/blood implants elicit reproducible early osteochondral wound-repair responses including neutrophil and stromal cell chemotaxis, bone resorption and repair, enhanced repair tissue integration and delayed matrix deposition. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 14:27. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2474-14-27
- 50. Ghazi Zadeh L, Chevrier A, Lamontagne M, Buschmann MD, Hoemann CD, Lavertu M (2019) Multiple platelet-rich plasma preparations can solubilize freeze-dried chitosan formulations to form injectable implants for orthopedic indications. Biomed Mater Eng 30:349–364. https://doi. org/10.3233/BME-191058
- 51. Benesch J, Tengvall P (2002) Blood protein adsorption onto chitosan. Biomaterials 23:2561–2568. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0142-9612(01)00391-X
- 52. Rao SB, Sharma CP (1997) Use of chitosan as a biomaterial: studies on its safety and hemostatic potential. J Biomed Mater Res 34:21–28
- Hoemann CD, Hurtig M, Rossomacha E, Sun J, Chevrier A, Shive MS, Buschmann MD (2005) Chitosan-glycerol phosphate/blood implants improve hyaline cartilage repair in ovine microfracture defects. The Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery 87:2671–2686. https://doi.org/10. 2106/JBJS.D.02536
- del Conde I, Crúz MA, Zhang H, López JA, Afshar-Kharghan V (2005) Platelet activation leads to activation and propagation of the complement system. J Exp Med 201:871–879. https://doi. org/10.1084/jem.20041497
- Uchimido R, Schmidt EP, Shapiro NI (2019) The glycocalyx: a novel diagnostic and therapeutic target in sepsis. Crit Care 23:16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13054-018-2292-6
- 56. Ellies LG, Ditto D, Levy GG, Wahrenbrock M, Ginsburg D, Varki A, Le DT, Marth JD (2002) Sialyltransferase ST3Gal-IV operates as a dominant modifier of hemostasis by concealing asialoglycoprotein receptor ligands. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:10042–10047. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.142005099
- 57. Grewal PK, Uchiyama S, Ditto D, Varki N, Le DT, Nizet V, Marth JD (2008) The Ashwell receptor mitigates the lethal coagulopathy of sepsis. Nat Med 14:648–655. https://doi.org/10. 1038/nm1760
- Dang CV, Shin CK, Bell WR, Nagaswami C, Weisel JW (1989) Fibrinogen sialic acid residues are low affinity calcium-binding sites that influence fibrin assembly. J Biol Chem 264:15104–15108. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9258(18)63817-7
- 59. Varki A, Schauer R (2009) Sialic acids. In: Varki A, Cummings RD, Esko JD, Freeze HH, Stanley P, Bertozzi CR, Hart GW, Etzler ME Essentials of glycobiology. 2nd edn. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Cold Spring Harbor, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK1920/. Accessed 20 Mar 2021
- 60. Malette WG, Quigley HJ, Gaines RD, Johnson ND, Rainer WG (1983) Chitosan: a new hemostatic. Ann Thorac Surg 36:55–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0003-4975(10)60649-2

- Klokkevold PR, Lew DS, Ellis DG, Bertolami CN (1991) Effect of chitosan on lingual hemostasis in rabbits. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 49:858–863. https://doi.org/10.1016/0278-2391 (91)90017-G
- 62. Chou T-C, Fu E, Wu C-J, Yeh J-H (2003) Chitosan enhances platelet adhesion and aggregation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 302:480–483. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-291X(03)00173-6
- Okamoto Y, Yano R, Miyatake K, Tomohiro I, Shigemasa Y, Minami S (2003) Effects of chitin and chitosan on blood coagulation. Carbohydr Polym 53:337–342. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0144-8617(03)00076-6
- 64. Lin C-W, Lin J-C (2003) Characterization and blood coagulation evaluation of the watersoluble Chitooligosaccharides prepared by a facile fractionation method. Biomacromolecules 4:1691–1697. https://doi.org/10.1021/bm034129n
- 65. Hattori H, Ishihara M (2015) Changes in blood aggregation with differences in molecular weight and degree of deacetylation of chitosan. Biomed Mater 10:015014. https://doi.org/10. 1088/1748-6041/10/1/015014
- 66. Whang HS, Kirsch W, Zhu YH, Yang CZ, Hudson SM (2005) Hemostatic agents derived from chitin and chitosan. J Macromol Sci C 45:309–323. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 15321790500304122
- Behrens AM, Sikorski MJ, Kofinas P (2014) Hemostatic strategies for traumatic and surgical bleeding: hemostatic strategies for traumatic and surgical bleeding. J Biomed Mater Res 102:4182–4194. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.35052
- 68. Romani AA, Ippolito L, Riccardi F, Pipitone S, Morganti M, Baroni MC, Borghetti AF, Bettini R (2013) In vitro blood compatibility of novel hydrophilic chitosan films for vessel regeneration and repair. Adv Biomater Sci Biomed Appl. https://doi.org/10.5772/52706
- Sundaram MN, Mony U, Varma PK, Rangasamy J (2021) Vasoconstrictor and coagulation activator entrapped chitosan based composite hydrogel for rapid bleeding control. Carbohydr Polym 258:117634. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2021.117634
- Marchand C, Rivard G-E, Sun J, Hoemann CD (2009) Solidification mechanisms of chitosan– glycerol phosphate/blood implant for articular cartilage repair. Osteoarthr Cartil 17:953–960. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2008.12.002
- Hoemann CD, Chen G, Marchand C, Tran-Khanh N, Thibault M, Chevrier A, Sun J, Shive MS, Fernandes MJG, Poubelle PE, Centola M, El-Gabalawy H (2010) Scaffold-guided subchondral bone repair: implication of neutrophils and alternatively activated Arginase-1+ macrophages. Am J Sports Med 38:1845–1856. https://doi.org/10.1177/0363546510369547
- 72. Bell AD, Hurtig MB, Quenneville E, Rivard G-É, Hoemann CD (2017) Effect of a rapidly degrading Presolidified 10 kDa chitosan/blood implant and subchondral marrow stimulation surgical approach on cartilage resurfacing in a sheep model. Cartilage 8:417–431. https://doi.org/10.1177/1947603516676872
- 73. Guzmán-Morales J, Lafantaisie-Favreau C-H, Chen G, Hoemann CD (2014) Subchondral chitosan/blood implant-guided bone plate resorption and woven bone repair is coupled to hyaline cartilage regeneration from microdrill holes in aged rabbit knees. Osteoarthr Cartil 22:323–333. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2013.12.011
- 74. Dwivedi G, Chevrier A, Hoemann CD, Buschmann MD (2019) Injectable freeze-dried chitosan-platelet-rich-plasma implants improve marrow-stimulated cartilage repair in a chronic-defect rabbit model. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 13:599–611. https://doi.org/10.1002/ term.2814
- 75. Zhao X, Guo B, Wu H, Liang Y, Ma PX (2018) Injectable antibacterial conductive nanocomposite cryogels with rapid shape recovery for noncompressible hemorrhage and wound healing. Nat Commun 9:2784. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-04998-9
- 76. Ghavidel Mehr N, Hoemann CD, Favis BD (2015) Chitosan surface modification of fully interconnected 3D porous poly(ε-caprolactone) by the LbL approach. Polymer 64:112–121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymer.2015.03.025

- 77. Mao C, Qiu Y, Sang H, Mei H, Zhu A, Shen J, Lin S (2004) Various approaches to modify biomaterial surfaces for improving hemocompatibility. Adv Colloid Interface Sci 110:5–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cis.2004.02.001
- Yatomi Y, Igarashi Y, Yang L, Hisano N, Qi R, Asazuma N, Satoh K, Ozaki Y, Kume S (1997) Sphingosine 1-phosphate, a bioactive sphingolipid abundantly stored in platelets, is a Normal constituent of human plasma and serum. J Biochem 121:969–973. https://doi.org/10.1093/ oxfordjournals.jbchem.a021681
- 79. Jeon J-H, Kim Y-S, Choi E-J, Cheon S, Kim S, Kim J-S, Jang JS, Ha WS, Park ST, Park CS, Park K, Park B-K (2001) Implication of co-measured platelet factor 4 in the reliability of the results of the plasma transforming growth factor-β1 measurement. Cytokine 16:102–105. https://doi.org/10.1006/cyto.2001.0895
- Erbel C, Korosoglou G, Ler P, Akhavanpoor M, Domschke G, Linden F, Doesch AO, Buss SJ, Giannitsis E, Katus HA, Gleissner CA (2015) CXCL4 plasma levels are not associated with the extent of coronary artery disease or with coronary plaque morphology. PLoS One 10:e0141693. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0141693
- 81. Du Q, Li E, Liu Y, Xie W, Huang C, Song J, Zhang W, Zheng Y, Wang H, Wang Q (2018) CTAPIII/CXCL7: a novel biomarker for early diagnosis of lung cancer. Cancer Med 7:325–335. https://doi.org/10.1002/cam4.1292
- 82. Franciotta D, Zardini E, Ravaglia S, Piccolo G, Andreoni L, Bergamaschi R, Romani A, Tavazzi E, Naldi P, Ceroni M, Marchioni E (2006) Cytokines and chemokines in cerebrospinal fluid and serum of adult patients with acute disseminated encephalomyelitis. J Neurol Sci 247:202–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jns.2006.05.049
- Neubauer H, Petrak F, Zahn D, Pepinghege F, Hägele A-K, Pirkl P-A, Uhl I, Juckel G, Mügge A, Herpertz S (2013) Newly diagnosed depression is associated with increased betathromboglobulin levels and increased expression of platelet activation markers and platelet derived CD40-CD40L. J Psychiatr Res 47:865–871. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2013. 03.011
- 84. Roberts HR, Monroe DM III, Hoffman M (2001) Molecular biology and biochemistry of the coagulation factors and pathways of hemostasis. In: Williams hematology. 6th edn. McGraw-Hill, New York, pp 1409–1434
- Butenas S, Mann KG (2002) Blood coagulation. Biochemistry (Mosc) 67:3–12. https://doi.org/ 10.1023/a:1013985911759
- Miller CH, Haff E, Platt SJ, Rawlins P, Drews CD, Dilley AB, Evatt B (2003) Measurement of von Willebrand factor activity: relative effects of ABO blood type and race. J Thromb Haemost 1:2191–2197. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1538-7836.2003.00367.x
- Ruiz FA, Lea CR, Oldfield E, Docampo R (2004) Human platelet dense granules contain polyphosphate and are similar to Acidocalcisomes of bacteria and unicellular eukaryotes. J Biol Chem 279:44250–44257. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M406261200
- Klemm KM, Klein MJ (2017) Biochemical markers of bone metabolism (chapter 15). In: Henry's clinical diagnosis and management by laboratory methods. 23rd edn. Elsevier, St Louis, pp 188–204

# **Chitosan–Stem Cell Interactions**



Lalitha Sarad Yamini Nanduri

## Contents

1	Intro	duction	344
2	Chito	osan–Stem Cell Interactions	345
	2.1	Bone Marrow-Derived MSCs	345
	2.2	Adipose-Derived MSCs (AD-MSCs)	348
	2.3	Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells	350
	2.4	Stem Cell-Derived Extracellular Vesicles	352
3	Sum	nary and Future Perspectives	353
Re	ferenc	es	356

Abstract Chitosan, the deacetylated form of chitin, has been extensively used for tissue engineering in the form of hydrogel, scaffolds, microparticles, nanoparticles, and nanofibers. To develop composite constructs with targeted tissue regeneration, chitosan is often combined with hydroxyapatite, collagen, gelatin, hyaluronic acid, silk fibroin, etc. biomaterials. In addition to this, chitosan is often modified with varied physico-chemical properties. For regenerative application, to improve the efficacy of constructs, chitosan in various forms is combined with various stem cells, among which mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) have been studied widely. In this review we focused on the studies that exclusively used chitosan in combination with multipotent adipose and bone marrow-derived MSCs and pluripotent-induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs). When cultured on chitosan, stem cells displayed greater affinity in terms of cellular adhesion, proliferation, and differentiation into functional cell types both in vitro albeit different potential. When transplanted in vivo, stem cell-laden chitosan constructs showed greater integrity into the host system, differentiated into targeted cells, and demonstrated improved repair of the damaged tissue. These studies provide great insight into the current and future potential of chitosan for regenerative applications.

L. S. Y. Nanduri (🖂)

Department of Radiation Oncology, Albert Einstein College of Medicine, Bronx, NY, USA

Keywords Cell-laden constructs  $\cdot$  Chitosan–stem cell interaction  $\cdot$  Exosomes  $\cdot$  Stem cells

## 1 Introduction

Chitin is a polysaccharide obtained from the coat of the crustaceans. Various form of chitin has been generated by chemical and physical modifications. Chitosan (CS) is one such form generated by deacetylation of chitin [1-5]. The degree of deacetylation has an influence on its properties [6]. CS is mainly composed of D-glucosamine and N-acetyl-D-glucosamine that are linked randomly with β-1,4-linkage. These components in CS interact with the extracellular matrix components and modulate regenerative signals. Till date CS has been widely investigated in the form of hydrogels, scaffolds, nanoparticles, nanotubes. Depending on the application chitosan is used either alone or in combination with other biomaterials such as chitin, hyaluronic acid, hydroxyapatite (HA), collagen, silk fibroin, agarose, and/or not limited to graphene [2, 3, 7] (Fig. 1). For instance, CS in combination with HA is tested widely for bone regeneration. CS is biodegradable, biocompatible, anti-microbial [8, 9], and non-toxic which makes it an interesting biomaterial of choice for various regenerative [10, 11] biological applications. In addition to tissue regeneration, CS has been tested for anti-microbial [12] drug delivery [13]. CS has been tested for wound healing [4, 14-16], bone regeneration [17], neuronal regeneration [7], soft tissue regeneration [18], epithelial branching morphogenesis [19], skin regeneration [20-22], and with intestinal epithelial cells [23, 24].

Stem cells (SCs) are known as the rare and undifferentiated cells of a tissue with unique potential to self-renew and differentiate into functional cells. For instance, in healthy tissues, loss of functional cells is balanced by the addition of new cells by resident SCs of the tissue. SCs self-renew to maintain their own number to be



Fig. 1 Schematic showing different forms and applications of chitosan. Made with Biorender.com

supportive for tissue homeostasis for years to come. However, factors such as aging or irreversible tissue damage might diminish the number and potential of stem cells, which eventually leads to loss of tissue functionality. Based on their origin, stem cells are divided into two categories, adult SCs are obtained from adult tissues and embryonic SCs are obtained from fetal tissues; another category is the induced pluripotent SCs (iPSCs)-developed in in vitro. Adult and iPSCs are widely investigated for regenerative application. Various adult SCs, such as mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) derived from adipose (AD-MSCs), bone marrow (BM-MSCs), and umbilical cord blood (UC-MSCs) and to some extent iPSCs were studied for their interaction with the biomaterial—chitosan.

Either injectable hydrogels, scaffolds, or grafts, the success of tissue engineering constructs depends mostly on the biomaterial of choice and cell type. The main expectation of the biomaterial to be used is to be non-toxic and support the growth of cells in vitro and in vivo. Various factors such as chemistry of components, pore size, stiffness, stability etc. are known to influence the interaction between biomaterial and cells. Therefore, to develop successful tissue engineering strategies, it is a prerequisite to understand how a biomaterial such as CS interacts with various types of cells. In this review, we focused on reports from literature that have investigated the potential of different SCs to interact with chitosan and interesting findings thereof. In the interest of regenerative application, we have focused here mainly on the interaction of various stem cells with chitosan.

#### 2 Chitosan–Stem Cell Interactions

Mesenchymal stem or stromal cells popularly known as "medicinal signaling cells" have been widely investigated for regenerative applications for various diseases including the most recent COVID-19. According to the guidelines of International Society of Cell and Gene Therapy, MSCs are defined to express CD73, CD90, and CD105 on surface and possess multi-lineage differentiation into osteocytes, chondrocytes, and adipocytes [25]. In addition to the multi-lineage differentiation potential, MSCs are known to be immunomodulatory and regenerative. However, based on their source of origin, adipose, bone marrow, or cord blood, the MSCs possess distinct differentiation and regenerative potential [26].

### 2.1 Bone Marrow-Derived MSCs

Midha et al. [27] have tested the osteogenesis potential of BM-MSCs, using a highly porous, multi-material composite made of chitosan/hydroxyapatite/ polycaprolactone (CHT/HA/PCL) in 3:3:2 (wt/vol). They observed that 21-day post-culture of  $5 \times 10^4$  cells/composite, AD-MSCs<BM-MSCs<WJ-MSCs showed an increasing cellular activity with WJ-MSCs showing maximal activity.

When subjected to osteogenic differentiation on the composites, BM-MSCs showed significant fibroblastic cellular morphology at day 7, stellate-shaped at day 14, and showed mineralization at day 21 (increased OCN expression), when compared to AD-MSCs and WJ-MSCs, indicative of their successful cell-matrix interaction. In addition, BM-MSCs showed a two times increase in mRNA level expression of Col I expression, protein level (immunostaining) expression of COL I at day 7, β-CATENIN, OCN etc. in comparison to AD-MSCs on the composites. Composites were cultured for 7 days with undifferentiated BM-MSCs and implanted into rats with 3 mm load-bearing defect and followed over time using micro-CT and histology, acellular constructs were control. In addition to complete integration of composites at 6-week post-implant, BM-MSC laden composites showed improved bone regeneration, 21% increase in trabecular BV/TV compared to 16% in acellular composites. HE, Masson trichome staining of the bone confirmed the neobone formation in rats implanted with BM-MSC laden composites. This study concluded that in vitro screening has identified a better choice of BM-MSCs for osseointegration in vivo which resulted in improved integration and neobone formation in the bone defect model.

Yan et al. [28] have investigated the BM-MSC laden collagen-chitosan scaffold for the recovery of neuropathological injury using traumatic brain injury (TBI) model. Collagen/chitosan scaffolds of  $3 \times 3 \times 2$  mm with 80–200 µm pore size were prepared and cultured with  $2 \times 10^6/\mu$ L of (rat BM-MSCs) for 48 h. TBI was made in rats with a 10 mm diameter craniotomy adjacent to the sagittal suture and midway between lambda and bregma, and 72 h post-TBI, cell-laden scaffolds were transplanted in situ into the injured area. TBI with BM-MSC laden scaffold with and without immunosuppressor and TBI + BMSCs stereotactic injection without the scaffold and TBI without transplant were the control groups. Modified Neurological Severity Scores (mNSS) on day 1 and day 7 were significantly declined in all groups especially those with BMSC-scaffold, when compared to TBI only control. Average frequency of crossing the platform (Morris water maze test) showed a significant reduction in the transplanted groups indicative of recovery, in comparison to TBI only control up to days 35 post-transplant. Also, average escape latency (Morris water maze test) was improved in BMSC-scaffold and BMSC alone groups, compared to TBI only control. Histological evaluation post-30 days showed more GFAP positive BrU-labeled BM-MSCs at day 7 and day 14. This study concluded that BM-MSCs accelerated the functional recovery of rats after transplant.

As an alternate to cell-laden constructs, Wang et al. [29] investigated the potential of magnetic lanthanum-doped hydroxyapatite/chitosan (MLaHA/CS) scaffolds to facilitate endogenous stem cell recruitment for bone regeneration. They have used freeze-drying method to generate CS scaffolds with SrFe<sub>12</sub>O<sub>19</sub> nanoparticles, Ca<sup>+2</sup>, La<sup>3+</sup>, and PO<sub>4</sub><sup>3-</sup> ions, and nanorod bundles of LaHA were deposited on the surface and characterized for their pore size, hydrophilicity, magnetic, thermal, ion release, mechanical and biocompatible properties. They observed that when 1 × 10<sup>4</sup> rat BM-MSCs seeded/scaffold, MLaHA/CS showed higher viability (CCK-8 assay) and attracted more BM-MSCs (cell migration assay) when compared to LaHA/CS than HA/CS scaffolds. When tested for anti-inflammatory property with RAW264.7

macrophages, MLaHA/CS showed less M1 more number of M2 (CD206), anti-inflammatory and pro-regenerative macrophages in comparison to controls. In addition, MLaHA/CS showed higher osteogenic induction as indicated by increase in mRNA levels of ALP, BMP-2, OCN, RUNX-2, and activation of p-smad pathway in comparison to HA/CS and LaHA/CS scaffolds. To test the in vivo bone regenerative potential,  $5 \times 2$  mm scaffolds were prepared and implanted into transosseous defect in the cranium of rats, calcein and alizarin red were injected 4- and 6-week post-implantation to detect the neobone formation. Micro-CT data 12-week postimplant showed new bone formation, higher BV/TV%, higher TBNs and TBTs with MLaHA/CS scaffolds. Calcitonin, alizarin red staining in the implant area was more and showed significantly enhanced generation of newly formed and mineralized bone in MLaHA/CS implant groups at 4 and 8 weeks, respectively, when compared to controls. At 12-week post-implantation, more M2 polarization was detected in MLaHA/CS scaffold group, together confirming overall improved bone regeneration with MLaHA/CS scaffolds when compared to HA/CS and LaHA/CS scaffolds.

Liu et al. [30] have studied the potential of BM-MSC incorporated, thermosensitive chitosan hydrogel to repair myocardial infarction in mice. BM-MSCs expressing Fluc and GFP were isolated from transgenic mice and  $1 \times 10^4$  cells/well were seeded together with different concentrations of CS hydrogel (0.5-2 mg/mL) and found that 1 mg/mL of CS hydrogel showed an optimal proliferation of BM-MSCs based on CCK8 assay and mRNA expression of epidermal (EGF), platelet-derived (PGF), hepatocyte (HGF), and insulin (IGF) growth factors. After induction of myocardial infarction in mice,  $2 \times 10^5$  BMSCs/20 µL CS hydrogel (1 mg/mL) was transplanted with 30-gauge needle into 2 position adjacent to the infarcted area, PBS was injected as control. In 30-day post-transplant echocardiography, left ventricle (LV) showed significant enlargement, anterior and posterior walls of LV were thinned. BM-MSC/CS hydrogel recipients showed a significant decrease in LVIDd and LVIDs of hearts after infarction, maintained LV contractile function with increases in FS and EF in comparison to CS only and PBS controls. CD31 (endothelial cell marker) staining at day 30 showed a significant increase in capillary density in the border region. In addition, day 5 post-transplant, a significant reduction in IL-6, TNF-a, IL-1b, IL-18, caspase-11, and caspase-1 was observed in BM-MSC/CS group, then in BM-MSC alone group and PBS only treated group. BM-MSC/CS group showed relatively less expression of caspase-1 in vascular endothelial cells (CD31<sup>+</sup>) compared to the controls, indicating a reduction in pyroptosis in BM-MSC treated group. When LPS and ATP treated human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) were treated with the conditioned media of BM-MSC/CS, they observed survival of HUVECs and decrease in pyroptosis related genes caspasae-1 and GSDMD, in comparison to the BMSCs alone controls. This study concluded the promising cardiac regenerative potential of CS hydrogel when incorporated with BM-MSCs.

## 2.2 Adipose-Derived MSCs (AD-MSCs)

Altman et al. [31] have investigated the effect of 75:25 silk fibroin: chitosan blend scaffold (SFCS) on seeding and in vivo delivery of human adipose-derived SCs (hASCs) on wound healing. hASCs between passages 1-8 either alone or were transfected with lentiviral eGFP and  $1 \times 10^5$  cells were seeded/cm<sup>2</sup> of the SFCS scaffold and cultured for 24-48 h, washed with PBS and sutured into 6 mm diameter cutaneous wound, and followed for 0-10 days. Planimetric analysis on day 8 posttransplantation revealed a wound closure of  $55 \pm 17\%$  in control without graft,  $75 \pm 11\%$  in acellular-SFCS group and  $90 \pm 3\%$  in ASC-SFCS group and by day 14 they observed a complete epithelialization in ASC-SFCS treated group. Post-2 weeks, microvascular density of wound bed biopsy specimen showed an increase in 7.5  $\pm$  1.1 vessels/high power field in ASC-SFCS group, compared to 5.1  $\pm$  1.0 vessels/high power field in acellular-SFCS group. At 2 weeks post, GFP<sup>+</sup> cells were observed in the dermis and cutaneous appendages and were positive for Ki67, SMA, vascular smooth muscle marker and HSP-47. At 4 weeks post, GFP<sup>+</sup> cells co-stained with cytokeratin19 (CK19) and no GFP<sup>+</sup> cells were observed 4 cm away from the site of graft. This study concluded that SFCS can support migration, proliferation, and differentiation of the seeded cells.

Liu et al. [32] have tested the rat AD-MSCs in an injectable chitosan hydrogel system to improve myocardial infarction (MI). Improper angiogenesis, inflammation, reactive oxygen species (ROS) in the MI microenvironment make it very hostile for the regenerative stem cells to home. Therefore, first they studied the role of components in CS to rescue the impaired cellular adhesion of AD-MSCs, against ROS in vitro. When seeded on culture plates, 30  $\mu$ M H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> inhibited the adhesion of AD-MSCs to  $63.6 \pm 1.37\%$ , which was improved to  $89 \pm 4.32\%$  and  $88.3 \pm 4.97\%$ , when treated with 0.5 mg/mL pf N-AC-Glu and D-Glu, the components of CS, respectively. RT-PCR data showed that ROS treatment reduced the mRNA level of integrin  $\beta$ 1 and  $\alpha$ V, decreased phosphorylation of FAK, Src, and p-AKt, and increased cleaved-caspase3, which were significantly restored when treated with N-AC-Glu and D-Glu. Further luciferase labeled  $4 \times 10^{6}$  AD-MSCs in 100 µL CS hydrogel (ADSC/CS) were injected along the border of infract areas with 28-guage needle in male SD-rats and ADSC/PBS was injected as control in infract hearts. Bioluminescence imaging (BLI) at day 7 and day 14 showed a twoand four-time increase, respectively, in ADSC/Chitosan compared to ADSC/PBS, indicating cellular retention, whereas at day 28, no signal observed in ADSC/PBS whereas significant signals remained in ADSC/chitosan group, indicating retention, engraftment, and survival of ADSCs. Echocardiography data at 4 weeks showed an improved left ventricular fractional shorting (LVFS) and increased  $52.92 \pm 5.76\%$ left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) when compared to PBS control (42.64  $\pm$  3.8%). In addition, ADSC/chitosan treated rats showed improved hemodynamics, relatively decreased post-ischemic apoptosis (TUNEL staining), reduced infarct size, and improved arteriole density when compared to PBS control. Further the histological analysis showed luciferase-ADSCs co-staining with cTnT and

a-Sarcomeric actin, whereas some ADSCs were positive for vWAg and CD31, vascular markers, indicating differentiation of transplanted ADSCs.

Cheng et al. [33] have shown improved spheroid formation, upregulation of pluripotency genes, and increased transdifferentiation efficiency of human AD-MSCs (hASCs). Time-lapse live cell imaging showed that ASCs were motile and readily aggregated on CS coated plates and showed increase in spheroid formation with increase in cell densities from  $1.5 \times 10^3$  to  $5 \times 10^4$  cells/cm<sup>2</sup>. which did not compromise cell viability when compared to cells in monolayer. ASCs in spheroids showed decrease in expression of CD29, CD90, CD105 and increase in expression of CD34, CD44, and PECAM, reduced apoptosis, increase in fibronectin, laminin when compared to those in monolayer. Quantification of mRNA levels showed a 7.7, 4.9, and 2.9 fold increase in expression of pluripotent markers Sox-2, Oct-4, and Nanog in ASC spheroids on day 3 compared to that at day 0, similar increase was observed at day 7 ASC-spheroids. When seeded back to tissue culture plates without coating, ASC-spheroids spread and show a 2.5-fold increase in activity index at day 3, a 3.2-fold and 2.7-fold increase in activity index at day 5 and day 7, respectively. When ASC spheroids were trypsinized, the single cells obtained were cultured for 14 days and showed increase in number of  $71.3 \pm 2.5$  colony forming units (CFU), whereas monolayer derived ASCs showed  $30.6 \pm 8.1$  CFUs. RT-PCR data showed a significant improvement in osteogenic induction (Runx2) of ASC-spheroids when compared to monolayer cells; however, no such difference observed with adipogenic induction (PPAR- $\gamma$ ). In addition, they observed increase in mRNA and protein levels of Nestin and albumin in ASC spheroids when cultured for 14 days in neurogenic and hepatogenic media. When dissociated and intra-muscularly transplanted into hind limbs of nude mice, ASC-spheroids showed more HNA-positive cells/injection group at day 7 and day 21 post-transplant. This data indicated a non-chemical based activation of AD-MSCs, using chitosan which improved sphere formation, stem cell marker expression, transdifferentiation in vitro and better cellular retention postintramuscular injection in vivo.

Liu et al. [34] have isolated stromal vesicular fraction (SVF) from 9-day-old piglets and obtained AD-MSCs (pADSCs) that expressed CD29, CD44, and MHC I and negative for CD31, CD45, and MHC II and were able to differentiate into adipo, osteo, and chondrocytes. pADSCs were cultured on 1% chitosan coated tissue culture plate and differentiated into pancreatic islet-like clusters (PILC). Immunostaining data showed increased production of  $\beta$ -cell signature markers Pdx-1, ISL-2 and insulin was relatively more in CS coated plates at day 3. RT-PCR data showed that CS increased  $\beta$ -cell development gene, Pax4 and also for Pdx-1, glucokinase and insulin and maintained the expression of Glut2, Pdx-1 from day 6–day 15, whereas these levels not maintained in the absence of CS. When supplemented with 5.5 mM to 25 mM doses of glucose, increased secretion of insulin 1.0 ng/µg of protein and 1.5 ng/µg of protein was observed in the presence of CS at day 9 and day 15 to 25 mM glucose concentration, respectively. Nine days post-withdrawal of differentiation medium, PILCs on CS plated showed 1.2–2 ng/µg of protein, higher than those on regular plates (0.7–1.5 ng/µg of protein). Together

this suggested that CS improved the potential of porcine ADSCs to differentiate into pancreatic islet-like clusters, with improved functionality.

### 2.3 Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells

Induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) are obtained by in vitro reprogramming of somatic cells to embryonic like pluripotent state, to be able to differentiate into multiple germ layers [35]. This makes them a great alternate to embryonic stem cells (ESCs). iPSCs can be generated from the tissue (skin or blood) of the same patient that will receive transplantation, without immune rejection. This leads to the development of personalized cell therapeutics for a broad array of diseases. Since their discovery in 2006, iPSCs have been used to generate various differentiated cell types, organoids to model diseases, etc. Till date iPSCs have been differentiated into pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells [36], cardiomyocytes [37], cholangiocytes [38], kidney organoids [39], lung organoids [40], cardiac organoids [41], etc. As the field of cellular therapeutics is evolving, strategies to improve the viability, functionality, and retention of cells post-transplantation gained importance. Tissue engineering strategies with biomaterials such as chitosan is one such approach. Therefore, here we focused on the studies that have used iPSCs and chitosan for regenerative applications.

Zhang et al. [42] have investigated whether ultrafine fibers' topography that mimic tendon extracellular matrix might induce tendon like differentiation of iPSC-MSCs. Ultrafine fibers (891  $\pm$  71 nm) with 6 times more tensile strength and four-fold high Young's modulus more than random ones were prepared using SJES and CES techniques. Human iPSCs were differentiated into MSCs at 3-weeks confirmed by CD29, CD44, CD73, CD90, CD105 marker expression, adipo, osteo, and chondrogenic differentiation. Further  $2 \times 10^4$  cells/cm<sup>2</sup> were seeded on ultrafine fiber scaffolds and cultured for 3 days. iPSC-MSCs cultured on aligned fibers showed increased expression of Mkx (tendon-related marker), and at day 14, increased mRNA levels of tendon-related genes SCX (two-fold), MKX (>tenfold), HoxA11 (two-fold), Tnmd (two-fold), Epha4 and Bgn (>40-fold) Col1a1 (>50-fold) were observed compared to those on random fibers, in addition to decreased osteogenic differentiation (alizarin red) together confirming tenogenic differentiation of hiPSC-MSCs in vitro. Dil-labeled  $14.5 \times 10^5$  hiPSC-MSCs/ scaffold was transplanted into 6 mm wound created by removal of Achilles tendon in rats that were pre-treated for 24 h with cyclophosphamide. Anti-human nuclear staining showed viable cells at 2- and 4-week post-transplant with high degree of alignment along the axis of tensile load, better histology score, more collagen fiber deposition in the aligned fiber group, when compared to random fiber scaffold. Tendon ECM-related markers such as Col1a1, Col5a1, and Bgn were three-fold, five-fold, and six-fold increased 4-week post-align fiber transplant compared to random fibers. In addition, deposition of Coll and DCN, diameter of collagen fibers and stiffness were significantly higher in the aligned fiber group than the random fiber scaffolds. Collectively this suggested ultrafine fiber induced differentiation and tendon regeneration by human iPSC-MSCs.

iPSCs from human gingival fibroblasts (hGFs) were generated by Ji et al. [43] and further tested their osteogenic differentiation potential using nanohydroxyapatite/ chitosan/gelatin (HCG) scaffolds. hGFs were reprogrammed with Yamanaka factors and embryoid bodies (EBs) were generated, from which ESC like iPSC colonies were developed. Thus generated hiPSCs showed enhanced osteogenic differentiation (alizarin red) compared to hGFs. Composite scaffolds with different ratios of nHA particles, chitosan, and gelatin (HCG-111 and HCG-311) were prepared with different densities and characterized for phase separation, pore size, stiffness, adsorption, and compatibility with hiPSCs. HCG-111 showed larger pore width  $(51.1 \pm 4.5 \text{ um})$ , smoother pore walls (SEM), but HCG-311 had more nHA particles on the surface and showed more adsorption with  $\alpha$ -MEM medium. 12-week postculture, HCG-311 scaffold was filled with cells, ECM showed an increased boneassociated gene expression (OCN and OPN), lower expression of early markers (ALP and Col1) and was less degraded than the HCG-111. hiPSC-derived  $1 \times 10^6$ Stro-1 positive cells were seeded onto  $8 \times 5$  mm scaffolds and transplanted subcutaneously into nude mice after 1 week of incubation. Post-12-weeks, transplanted mice showed new bone formation, larger bone formation observed with HCG-311, with increased RUNX-2 and OCN expression compared to HCG-111 scaffolds, suggesting improved neobone regeneration with hiPSCs and HCG-311 scaffolds.

Worthington et al. [44] have used surfactant (DTAB and Brij 56) templated methacrylated chitosan hydrogels (MeCTS) for neuronal differentiation of iPSCs. Post fabrication, hydrogels were washed to remove the surfactants and incubated with pluripotency media for 24 h. Mouse fibroblast derived  $2 \times 10^4$  iPSCs/well were seeded and tested for cytocompatibility. Cell attachment and growth was observed on non-templated and DTAB templated MeCTS hydrogels; however, Brij56 templated hydrogels did not support the growth of iPSCs. 1-week post-culture pluripotency markers Nanog, Oct4, Sox2, Lin28, Dnmt1, and Klf4 were expressed in iPSCs cultured on non-templated and DTAB templated hydrogels. Post-2 weeks, iPSCs expressed mRNA levels of neural retina markers Pax6, Otx2, and Rx and protein levels of neuronal differentiation marker Tuj-1 on non-templated and DTAB templated MeCTS hydrogels. Functionality of these cells cultured on MeCTS hydrogels needs to be determined.

Chitosan (CS) and chitosan-hyaluronic acid (CS/HA) membranes were prepared by Chang et al. [45] and their effect on the 3D spheroid formation, differentiation potential of human iPSCs (cell lines form cell bank, Tokyo) was studied and compared with that of vitronectin (VTN) substrates. At a cell density of  $5 \times 10^4$ cells/mL, 90% of hiPSC spheroids of <200 µm diameter were formed on CS and CS-HA when cultured for 2–4 days. High alkaline phosphatase (AP) activity, increase in Oct4, Nanog, Tra1–60, SSEA4 was observed in the 3D spheroids on the CS membranes. EB formation, differentiation into ectodermal (Nestin), mesodermal ( $\alpha$ -SMA), endodermal (GATA4) lineages were showed by both VTN and CS derived hiPSCs. Teratoma formation with ecto, meso, and endoderm layers was observed 12-weeks post in NOD/SCID mice. RNA sequencing data showed that relative to VTN-derived, the CS-derived iPSCs showed differential expression of 400 genes (DEGs), with 243 upregulated and 189 downregulated genes. The DEGs were related to response to metal ions, hypoxia, might be due to 3D spheroid formation. An increase in naive marker genes was observed when cultured on CS and CS-HA membranes, however pluripotent markers Oct4, Sox2 and Sall4 did not change significantly. When passaged, the hiPSC-3D spheroids survived up to 100 passages, with high AP activity and pluripotency markers and germ layer differentiation potential. When BMP and TGF<sup>β</sup> signaling were inhibited, hiPSC-3D spheroids showed neural stem cell like phenotype (Sox9, Pax6, Msi1, Sox2, and Nestin). When modulated with Wnt signaling for a week, beating cardiomyocytelike spheroids were observed after 2 weeks, with cardiomyocyte marker (Actn2, Tnnc1, and Tnnt2) gene expression and cardiac troponin T (cTnT) at 3 and or 15-weeks post-differentiation. hiPSC-3D spheroids when induced on CS membranes showed hepatocyte differentiation (Alb, Cyp3a4, Ugt1a1) with albumin and E-cadherin expression at 20 days. This data suggests that CS membranes are a promising alternate to maintain and differentiate hiPSCs in 3D spheroid form, better than the conventional VTN substrates.

### 2.4 Stem Cell-Derived Extracellular Vesicles

Extracellular vesicles (EVs) or previously known as exosomes are released by cells as an inter-cellular communication network that carries information in the form of proteins, lipids, nucleic acids (RNA, DNA), etc. [46]. Based on the type and state of the cells, these signals could be regenerative, destructive, immunomodulatory, etc. Stem cell-derived EVs seem to be more interesting with respect to the regenerative property and paracrine signaling of stem cells, such as MSCs. Their small size (50–200 nm) and non-immunogenic properties make the EV therapeutics a promising alternate to cellular therapeutics. However, challenges remain in clinical grade and scale of EV production from stem cells, route of delivery of EVs due to their short life span, etc.

Chitosan is widely studied for its drug delivery. In the study by Tao et al. [47] MSCs were isolated from the Synovium (SMSCs) and miR-126-3p was overexpressed, exosomes were obtained and were incorporated in chitosan hydrogel tested for their potential to repair cutaneous wounds. SMSCs were positive for CD73, CD44 and negative for CD34, CD45 and were able to differentiate into osteo, chondro, and adipocytes. 48 h SMSC conditioned media was subjected to ultracentrifugation and filtration to obtain EVs that were 30–150 nm and positive for Alix, Tsg101, CD9, CD63, and CD81 markers. miR-126 was overexpressed in SMSCs using lentivirus, and exosomes were isolated from these cells and incorporated into chitosan hydrogel and freeze dried to remove water (CS-SMSC-126-Exo) and characterized in comparison to CS hydrogel alone. Both hydrogels exhibited some weight loss during preparation, CS-SMSC-126-Exo showed higher

exothermic peaks, 10 µm macropores, nanoparticles of CS and C, O, and H according to SEM and EDS data. Immersion of CS-SMSC-126-Exo for 6 days in media showed a total of  $183.08 \pm 15.44 \times 10^8$  exosome particles (ExoELISA) and Dil labeling also confirmed the release and presence of exosomes in perinuclear region of HMEC-1. Increase in miR-126 was confirmed by qRT-PCR in the SMSC-126-Exo. When added to HMEC1, SMSC-126-Exo increased the proliferation, migration, and tube formation potential of HMEC-1 cells and activated AKT and ERK1/2 pathways. In in vivo, CS-SMSC-126-Exo transplanted wounds were closed significantly faster by day 3, 7, and 14 with better healing than the controls. A significantly increased blood vessel number was observed in CS-SMSC-126-Exo transplanted wounds at day14 as observed with micro-CT. Further histological scoring confirmed re-epithelialization, thicker and mature granulation tissue, collagen deposition, development of hair follicles and sebaceous glands with CS-SMSC-126-Exo treated group. More number of newly formed vessels were identified with CD31 and α-SMA co-staining in CS-SMSC-126-Exo group at day 7 and day 14 in comparison to CS alone and non-treated groups. This study suggests that incorporation of miR-126 overexpressing SMSC-exosomes could be regenerative postencapsulation into CS hydrogel and is a promising delivery method for EV

therapeutics.

## **3** Summary and Future Perspectives

The goal of this review is to bring together the knowledge on different forms of chitosan and its interaction with multiple stem cell types such as adipose-derived MSCs, bone marrow-derived MSCs, induced pluripotent stem cells (Table 1). Successful regeneration and long-term functional recovery of tissue engineering constructs depends largely on their biocompatibility, stability, long-term integrity, and functionality, which in turn is influenced by the affinity between biomaterial and cells. As discussed in this review chitosan (CS) has been used in the form of hydrogel, scaffold either alone or in combination such as hydroxyapatite, collagen, gelatin, silk fibroin, etc. Studies that focused on the use of stem cells with chitosan largely focused on bone regeneration, myocardial infarct repair, and wound healing (Fig. 2). With the same type of CS hydrogel, three different cell types, AD-MSCs, BM-MSCs, and WJ-MSCs showed distinct osteogenic potential [27]. Especially with complex chemistry, the composite scaffold has broader properties, which need to be often tested with multiple cell types to identify a most compatible-functional cell type. Components such as cellular signaling modulating growth factors, cytokines, chemokines could be incorporated to enhance the endogenous stem or somatic cell stimulation, for example, like VEGF to stimulate endothelialization. Most of the studies focused on achieving recovery or successful repair of damage; however, more insight into mechanism of recovery, whether mediated by chemical or physical properties of hydrogels/scaffolds could provide better understanding of the materials' potential. This knowledge could be extrapolated to other models of

le 1 Tat	le showi	ng differer	tt reports that have used chitosar	n and AD-MSCs, F	3M-MSCs, and iPSCs fo	r regenerative applicatior	_	
	stem cell	stem cell		Modification of	Hydrogel/scaffold		Species	
ences	type	source	Stem cell characterization	cells	type	Application	tested	Model
	BM- MSCs	Rat	CD29, CD45	NA	Collagen-chitosan porous scaffold	Neuropathological repair	Rat	Traumatic brain injury
	BM- MSCs	Human	Characterized previously	NA	Chitosan/hydroxyap- atite/PCL	Bone regeneration	Rat	Bone defect model-tibia
	BM- MSCs	Rat	Characterized previously	NA	Ferrite NP incorpo- rated hydroxyapatite/ chitosan (HA/CS) scaffold	Bone regeneration	Rat	Bone calvarial defect model
	BM- MSCs	Mouse	Characterized previously	Transgenic mice expressing luciferase and GFP	Chitosan hydrogel	Cardiac regeneration	Mouse	Myocardial Infraction
	AD- MSCs	Human	Characterized previously	Lentiviral eGFP	Silk-fibroin-chitosan scaffold	Wound repair	Mouse	Cutaneous wound
	AD- MSCs	Rat	CD31, CD45, CD90, CD29; alizarin red, oil red O staining	Lentiviral firefly- luciferase and mRFP	Chitosan hydrogel	Cardiac regeneration	Rat	Myocardial Infraction
	AD- MSCs	Human	CD31, CD45, CD90, CD29; alizarin red, oil red O staining	NA	Chitosan coated plates	Stemness maintenance	In vitro only	
	AD- MSCs	Porcine	CD29, CD44 positive, tri-lineage differentiation	NA	Chitosan coated plates	Insulin secretion	In vitro only	
	iPSC- MSCs	Human	Nanog, Oct4, SSEA4; CD31, CD45, CD90, CD29; alizarin red, oil red O staining etc.	NA	Chitosan-based ultrafine fibers	Tendon regeneration	Rat	Achilles tendon defect

354
Nude mice		
Mouse	In vitro only	In vitro only
Osteogenic differentiation	Neuronal differentiation	3D culture, neuronal, hepatocyte, and cardiomyocyte differentiation
Nanohydroxyapatite/ chitosan/gelatin scaffolds	Surfactant templated chitosan hydrogel	Chitosan hyaluronic acid membranes
NA	NA	NA
Characterized previously	Characterized previously	Characterized previously
Human	Mouse	Human
iPSCs	iPSCs	iPSCs
[43]	[44]	[45]



Fig. 2 Schematic showing regenerative end points that were considered with chitosan-based materials in different models of wound healing, bone regeneration, and myocardial infarction. Made with Biorender.com

regeneration. Liu et al. [32] have used myocardial infarct model and suggested that CS might have a recovery effect on ROS laden microenvironment. ROS is one of the major consequences in normal tissues when exposed to radiation. Therefore, ROS scavengers, mitigators are of great interest for tissue regeneration post-radiation damage. CS and other biomaterials with such properties need to be studied using radiation models to get better insight into their potential.

In addition to stem cells, stem cell-derived products such as exosomes, 3D organoids could be more tested for regenerative application, for instance, by incorporating into hydrogels or scaffolds. EV therapeutics is currently an accelerating field and seem to hold great future in regenerative medicine. Storage of EVs is more challenging and studies that could investigate freeze-drying or lyophilization of EV incorporated hydrogels might solve the problem of storage, delivery, and in vivo sustained release of EVs.

Though we could not cover all the studies within the scope of this review, there are many interesting studies with acellular composite CS scaffolds in various small and large animal models of diseases.

## References

- 1. Yang TL (2011) Chitin-based materials in tissue engineering: Applications in soft tissue and epithelial organ. Int J Mol Sci:1936–1963
- Deepthi S, Venkatesan J, Kim SK, Bumgardner JD, Jayakumar R (2016) An overview of chitin or chitosan/nano ceramic composite scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. Int J Biol Macromol 93:1338–1353
- Anitha A, Sreeranganathan M, Chennazhi KP, Lakshmanan VK, Jayakumar R (2019) Corrigendum to "In vitro combinatorial anticancer effects of 5-fluorouracil and curcumin loaded N, O-carboxymethyl chitosan nanoparticles toward colon cancer and in vivo pharmacokinetic studies" (European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics (2014) 88(1) (238–251), (S0939641114001349), (10.1016/j.ejpb.2014.04.017)). Eur J Pharm Biopharm:44–46

- 4. Jayakumar R, Prabaharan M, Sudheesh Kumar PT, Nair SV, Tamura H (2011) Biomaterials based on chitin and chitosan in wound dressing applications. Biotechnol Adv:322–337
- 5. Mohan K, Ganesan AR, Muralisankar T, Jayakumar R, Sathishkumar P, Uthayakumar V et al (2020) Recent insights into the extraction, characterization, and bioactivities of chitin and chitosan from insects. Trends Food Sci Technol:17–42
- Hsiao YC, Chen CN, Chen YT, Yang TL (2013) Controlling branching structure formation of the salivary gland by the degree of chitosan deacetylation. Acta Biomater 9:8214–8223
- Ojeda-Hernández DD, Canales-Aguirre AA, Matias-Guiu J, Gomez-Pinedo U, Mateos-Díaz JC (2020) Potential of chitosan and its derivatives for biomedical applications in the central nervous system. Front Bioeng Biotechnol Front Media
- Elbi S, Nimal TR, Rajan VK, Baranwal G, Biswas R, Jayakumar R et al (2017) Fucoidan coated ciprofloxacin loaded chitosan nanoparticles for the treatment of intracellular and biofilm infections of Salmonella. Coll Surf B Biointerf 160:40–47
- Sandhya M, Aparna V, Maneesha KS, Raja B, Jayakumar R, Sathianarayanan S (2018) Amphotericin B loaded sulfonated chitosan nanoparticles for targeting macrophages to treat intracellular Candida glabrata infections. Int J Biol Macromol 110:133–139
- Prabaharan M, Sivashankari PR (2015) Prospects of bioactive chitosan-based scaffolds in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine. Chitin Chitosan Regen Med:41–59
- Patil SV, Nanduri LSY (2017) Interaction of chitin/chitosan with salivary and other epithelial cells – an overview. Int J Biol Macromol:1398–1406
- 12. Mohandas A, Deepthi S, Biswas R, Jayakumar R (2018) Chitosan based metallic nanocomposite scaffolds as antimicrobial wound dressings. Bioact Mater:267–277
- 13. Rajitha P, Gopinath D, Biswas R, Sabitha M, Jayakumar R (2016) Chitosan nanoparticles in drug therapy of infectious and inflammatory diseases. Expert Opin Drug Deliv:1177–1194
- Gomathysankar S, Halim AS, Yaacob NS (2014) Proliferation of keratinocytes induced by adipose-derived stem cells on a chitosan scaffold and its role in wound healing, a review. Arch Plast Surg:452–457
- 15. Azuma K, Izumi R, Osaki T, Ifuku S, Morimoto M, Saimoto H et al (2015) Chitin, chitosan, and its derivatives for wound healing: old and new materials. J Funct Biomater 6:104–142
- Zhang Y, Jiang X, Ren L (2019) Optimization of the adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cell delivery time for radiation-induced lung fibrosis treatment in rats. Sci Rep 9:1–10. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41598-019-41576-5
- 17. Kumar RA, Sivashanmugam A, Deepthi S, Iseki S, Chennazhi KP, Nair SV, et al. (2015) Injectable chitin-poly(#-Caprolactone)/Nano hydroxyapatite composite microgels prepared by simple regeneration technique for bone tissue engineering [internet]. http://pubs.acs.org
- Bushkalova R, Farno M, Tenailleau C, Duployer B, Cussac D, Parini A et al (2019) Alginatechitosan PEC scaffolds: a useful tool for soft tissues cell therapy. Int J Pharm:571
- Miyajima H, Matsumoto T, Sakai T, Yamaguchi S, An SH, Abe M et al (2011) Hydrogel-based biomimetic environment for in vitro modulation of branching morphogenesis. Biomaterials 32:6754–6763
- 20. Ikemoto S, Mochizuki M, Yamada M, Takeda A, Uchinuma E, Yamashina S et al (2006) Laminin peptide-conjugated chitosan membrane: application for keratinocyte delivery in wounded skin. J Biomed Mater Res Part A 79:716–722
- 21. Shen Y, Jiang X, Meng L, Xia C, Zhang L, Xin Y (2018) Transplantation of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells prevents radiation-induced artery injury by suppressing oxidative stress and inflammation. Oxidative Med Cell Longev 2018
- 22. Revi D, Paul W, Anilkumar TV, Sharma CP (2014) Chitosan scaffold co-cultured with keratinocyte and fibroblast heals full thickness skin wounds in rabbit. J Biomed Mater Res Part A 102:3273–3281
- Vllasaliu D, Casettari L, Fowler R, Exposito-Harris R, Garnett M, Illum L et al (2012) Absorption-promoting effects of chitosan in airway and intestinal cell lines: a comparative study. Int J Pharm 430:151–160

- 24. Muanprasat C, Wongkrasant P, Satitsri S, Moonwiriyakit A, Pongkorpsakol P, Mattaveewong T et al (2015) Activation of AMPK by chitosan oligosaccharide in intestinal epithelial cells: Mechanism of action and potential applications in intestinal disorders. Biochem Pharmacol 96:225–236
- 25. Dominici M, Le Blanc K, Mueller I, Slaper-Cortenbach I, Marini FC, Krause DS et al (2006) Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. Int Soc Cell Ther Position Statement Cytother 8:315–317
- 26. Martin I, Galipeau J, Kessler C, Le Blanc K, Dazzi F (2019) Challenges for mesenchymal stromal cell therapies. Sci Trans Med:11
- 27. Midha S, Jain KG, Bhaskar N, Kaur A, Rawat S, Giri S et al (2020) Tissue-specific mesenchymal stem cell-dependent osteogenesis in highly porous chitosan-based bone analogs. Stem Cells Transl Med
- 28. Yan F, Li M, Zhang HQ, Li GL, Hua Y, Shen Y et al (2019) Collagen-chitosan scaffold impregnated with bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells for treatment of traumatic brain injury. Neural Regen Res 14:1780–1786
- 29. Wang Q, Tang Y, Ke Q, Ke Q, Yin W, Zhang C et al (2020) Magnetic lanthanum-doped hydroxyapatite/chitosan scaffolds with endogenous stem cell-recruiting and immunomodulatory properties for bone regeneration. J Mater Chem B 8:5280–5292
- 30. Liu Y, Li P, Qiao C, Wu T, Sun X, Wen M, Zhang W (2020) Chitosan hydrogel enhances the therapeutic efficacy of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells for myocardial infarction by alleviating vascular endothelial cell pyroptosis. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 75(1):75–83. https://doi.org/10.1097/FJC.000000000000760
- 31. Altman AM, Yan Y, Matthias N, Bai X, Rios C, Mathur AB et al (2009) IFATS collection: human adipose-derived stem cells seeded on a silk fibroin-chitosan scaffold enhance wound repair in a murine soft tissue injury model. Stem Cells 27:250–258
- 32. Liu Z, Wang H, Wang Y, Lin Q, Yao A, Cao F et al (2012) The influence of chitosan hydrogel on stem cell engraftment, survival and homing in the ischemic myocardial microenvironment. Biomaterials 33:3093–3106
- Cheng NC, Wang S, Young TH (2012) The influence of spheroid formation of human adiposederived stem cells on chitosan films on stemness and differentiation capabilities. Biomaterials 33:1748–1758
- 34. Liu HY, Chen CC, Lin YY, Chen YJ, Liu BH, Wong SC et al (2017) Chitosan-assisted differentiation of porcine adipose tissue-derived stem cells into glucose-responsive insulinsecreting clusters. PLoS One 12
- 35. Takahashi K, Tanabe K, Ohnuki M, Narita M, Ichisaka T, Tomoda K et al (2007) Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell 131:861–872
- 36. Pagliuca FW, Millman JR, Gürtler M, Segel M, Van Dervort A, Ryu JH et al (2014) Generation of functional human pancreatic  $\beta$  cells in vitro. Cell
- 37. Ronaldson-Bouchard K, Ma SP, Yeager K, Chen T, Song LJ, Sirabella D et al (2018) Advanced maturation of human cardiac tissue grown from pluripotent stem cells. Nature
- Ogawa M, Ogawa S, Bear CE, Ahmadi S, Chin S, Li B et al (2015) Directed differentiation of cholangiocytes from human pluripotent stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 33:853–861
- 39. Takasato M, Er PX, Chiu HS, Maier B, Baillie GJ, Ferguson C et al (2015) Kidney organoids from human iPS cells contain multiple lineages and model human nephrogenesis. Nature 526:564–568
- 40. Jacob A, Morley M, Hawkins F, McCauley KB, Jean JC, Heins H et al (2017) Differentiation of human pluripotent stem cells into functional lung alveolar epithelial cells. Cell Stem Cell 21:472–488.e10
- 41. Voges HK, Mills RJ, Elliott DA, Parton RG, Porrello ER, Hudson JE (2017) Development of a human cardiac organoid injury model reveals innate regenerative potential. Dev Company Biol 144:1118–1127
- 42. Zhang C, Yuan H, Liu H, Chen X, Lu P, Zhu T et al (2015) Well-aligned chitosan-based ultrafine fibers committed Teno-lineage differentiation of human induced pluripotent stem cells for Achilles tendon regeneration. Biomaterials 53:716–730

- 43. Ji J, Tong X, Huang X, Zhang J, Qin H, Hu Q (2016) Patient-derived human induced pluripotent stem cells from gingival fibroblasts composited with defined Nanohydroxyapatite/ chitosan/gelatin porous scaffolds as potential bone graft substitutes. Stem Cells Trans Med 5:95–105. https://doi.org/10.5966/sctm.2015-0139
- 44. Worthington KS, Green BJ, Rethwisch M, Wiley LA, Tucker BA, Guymon CA et al (2016) Neuronal differentiation of induced pluripotent stem cells on surfactant templated chitosan hydrogels. Biomacromolecules 17:1684–1695
- 45. Chang P-H, Chao H-M, Chern E, Hsu S (2020) Chitosan 3D cell culture system promotes naïvelike features of human induced pluripotent stem cells: a novel tool to sustain pluripotency and facilitate differentiation. Biomaterials:120575
- 46. Witwer KW, van Balkom BWM, Bruno S, Choo A, Dominici M, Gimona M et al (2019) Defining mesenchymal stromal cell (MSC)-derived small extracellular vesicles for therapeutic applications. J Extracell Vesicles 8
- 47. Tao S-C, Guo S-C, Li M, Ke Q-F, Guo Y-P, Zhang C-Q (2017) Chitosan wound dressings incorporating exosomes derived from MicroRNA-126-overexpressing synovium mesenchymal stem cells provide sustained release of exosomes and heal full-thickness skin defects in a diabetic rat model. Stem Cells Trans Med 6:736–747